

SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCE AND EDUCATION DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION AND DIETETICS

"Assessment of genetic variants and lifestyle determinants in obesityrelated traits modifications" Doctoral Thesis

Maria Kafyra,

Dietitian-Nutritionist, MSc

Athens, 2023



ΣΧΟΛΗ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΩΝ ΥΓΕΙΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΑΓΩΓΗΣ ΤΜΗΜΑ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΗΣ ΔΙΑΙΤΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ-ΔΙΑΤΡΟΦΗΣ

«Αξιολόγηση γενετικών δεικτών και χαρακτηριστικών του τρόπου ζωής στη διαμόρφωση δεικτών που σχετίζονται με την παχυσαρκία»

Διδακτορική Διατριβή

Μαρία Καφύρα,

Διαιτολόγος-Διατροφολόγος, MSc

Αθήνα, 2023



SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCE AND EDUCATION DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION AND DIETETICS

Declaration of Committee

George V. Dedoussis (Supervisor)

Vice Rector of Academic of Affairs and Quality Assurance, Professor of Molecular Genetics – Nutrigenetics, School of Health Science and Education, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Harokopio University of Athens.

Iraklis, Varlamis (Examiner)

Associate Professor, School of Digital Technology, Department of Informatics and Telematics, Harokopio University of Athens

Sofia, Siest (Examiner)

Director of Research, INSERM, Director of Research Unit: EA_1122; IGE-PCV «Interactions Gène-Environnement en Physiopathologie Cardio-Vasculaire», Director of Biological Ressources Centre: BRC IGE-PCV, University of Lorraine, President of the Santorini Conference (SCs) Association – For Research Innovation in Health, President of the biannual Santorini Conferences

Andriana C. Kaliora (Examiner)

Associate Professor in Human Nutrition and Food, School of Health Science and Education, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Harokopio University of Athens

George Papanikolaou (Examiner)

Assistant Professor in Pathophysiology and Human Genetics, School of Health Science and Education, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Harokopio University of Athens

Constantine Tsigos (Examiner)

Professor in Endocrinology, Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Health Science and Education, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Harokopio University of Athens

Maria Dimitriou (Examiner)

Assistant Professor Nutrition, Toxicity, Metabolic Disease, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, University of Peloponnese The acceptance of the PhD Thesis from the Department of Nutrition and Dietetics of Harokopio University does not imply the acceptance of the author's point of view.

The PhD Thesis was supported the following factors: The research conducted in the context of the iMPROVE study was co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Social FundESF) through the Operational Programme «Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning 2014-2020» in the context of the project "SUPPORT OF YOUNG RESEARCHERS – CALL B', ESPA 2014-2020": 61109" (MIS 5048457). The research conducted in the context of the Gutenberg project was funded by "La Région Grand Est, France-GUTENBERG chair 2018, grant number 18CP-1413". Salary for Maria Kafyra was partly provided by "Agence Nationale de la Recherche, Programme d'Investissements d'Avenir", grant number ANR-15RHU-0004. Maria Kafyra was awarded a Visiting Research Student Grant from Fulbright Athens for the spring semester (months February to May) of the academic year 2021-2022.

Ethics and Copyright Statement

I, Maria Kafyra hereby declare that:

1) I am the owner of the intellectual rights of this original work and to the best of my knowledge, my work does not insult persons, nor does it offend the intellectual rights of third parties.

2) I accept that Library and Information Centre of Harokopio University may, without changing the content of my work, make it available in electronic form through its Digital Library, copy it in any medium and / or any format and hold more than one copy for maintenance and safety purposes.

3) I have obtained, where necessary, permission from the copyright owners to use any third-party copyright material reproduced in the master thesis while the corresponding material is visible in the submitted work.

Dedicated to my Family.

"There are two ways to live: you can live as if nothing is a miracle; you can live as if everything is a miracle."

— Albert Einstein

"In all things of nature there is something of the marvelous." "For the activity of the mind is life" — Aristotle

> "Genetics is where we come from. It's deeply natural to want to know." — Ellen Ullman

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor George V. Dedoussis, for our exceptional cooperation and his continuous support and guidance throughout the entirety of this Doctoral Dissertation. I wholeheartedly thank the professor for welcoming me into his team, providing me with life-changing opportunities to enhance my scientific knowledge to broaden my professional horizons and perception, and tirelessly supporting me in feeling confident in my abilities.

Moreover, I could not finish this Dissertation without the invaluable guidance of Dr Sofia Siest, to whom I am deeply grateful for welcoming me into her team in the Research Unit "Interactions Gène-Environnement en Physiopathologie Cardio-Vasculaire (IGE-PCV)" of the Institut National de la Santé Et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) and Université de Lorraine and for always being there to support me in providing invaluable advice and fruitful guidance in the many projects we collaborated on during all these years. To boot, I am sincerely grateful to Professor Iraklis Varlamis for always being available to provide me with insightful advice and guidance throughout this Dissertation. Furthermore, special thanks to Professor Andiana C. Kaliora for her valuable guidance, advice and input throughout the duration of the iMPROVE study.

Special thanks and my deepest gratitude go out to Dr Toshiko Tanaka, for welcoming me into the team of the "Longitudinal Study Section (LSS)" of the National Institute of Aging (NIA). My stay with the NIA constituted an irreplaceable, crucial part of my Dissertation journey, practically enhancing my scientific knowledge and centrally shaping my professional identity. My sincere gratitude also goes out to the Fulbright Foundation Athens for providing me with the Visiting Research Student Grant and making this life-changing dream into reality.

My sincere gratitude goes to my colleagues and external collaborators in Professor Dedoussis' team, namely Ioanna Panagiota Kalafati; Panagiotis Moulos and Garyfallia Stefanou, for their valuable contributions to the nodes of the projects presented in this Dissertation. Additionally, special thanks go out to all Professor Dedousis' team members, namely Panagiota Giardoglou, Effymia Katsarelli, Effymia Grigoriou, Athina Amanatidou, Maria Tsota, Ioanna Gavra and Despina Brekou for our cooperation and the insightful experiences we shared during this period.

My appreciation also goes out to the directors of the Laboratory of Biology, Biochemistry, Physiology and Microbiology, Professor Adamantini Kyriakoy and the Laboratory of Nutrition and Dietetics, Professor Constantine Tsigos, for hosting this Doctoral Dissertation. Moreover, I would like to thank all the members of said laboratories as well as IGE-PCV, namely Charalampia Americanou; Evi Mitsou; Maria Stathopoulou and Brigitte Hiegel for their guidance during all these past years. Additionally, I would like to thank all the undergraduate and postgraduate students who participated in the nodes of the projects included in this Dissertation, namely: Marina Markantoni; Ioannis Papafilis; Konstantinos Andriopoulos; Dimitra Efthymiopoulou; Eirini Drimaropoulou; Sofia Lamprinou; Spyridoula Tsioni; Athina Doulme-Iosifidou; Souzana Ioakeimidou; Panagiota Irakleous; Danai Lachana and Ilias Makrodimitris. Special thanks to all the volunteers who participated in the iMPROVE study for their imperative and fruitful collaboration. Last and most importantly, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to all my family and friends for their continuous support and understanding throughout this journey. This Dissertation is attributed to my sister Kyriaki, mother, Ioanna and late father Dimitris, for without their sacrifices, continuous support, love and help, none of this would be possible. This Dissertation is attributed to them as a small attestation to the heroic, honest and tireless efforts of their life journey and serves as the swan song to celebrate my father's life and legacy.

Relevant Publications

The present thesis is supported by the following scientific article publications submitted and published in peer-reviewed journals, as well as one published book chapter:

- Kafyra, M., Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Personalized Approaches to Cardiometabolic Disease Prevention and Treatment: A short review. J Atherosclerosis Prev Treat. 2023; Jan-Apr;14(1):35-43. doi.: 10.53590/japt.02.1045.
- ii. <u>Kafyra, M</u>.,Kalafati, I.P., Gavra, I., Ntalla, I., Siest, S., Dedoussis, G.V. Associations of VEGF-A-related variants with adolescent cardiometabolic and dietary parameters. Nutrients 2023; 15(8):1884. doi.org/10.3390/nu15081884 (PubMed IF: 6.706)
- iii. <u>Kafyra, M</u>., Kalafati, I.P., Dimitriou, M., Grigoriou E., Kokkinos, A., Rallidis, L., Kolovou, G., Trovas, G., Marouli, E., Deloukas, P., Moulos, P., George V Dedoussis. Robust bioinformatics approaches result in the first Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek adults. *J. Pers. Med.* 2023;13(2):327. Published 2023 Feb 14. doi.org/10.3390/jpm13020327. (PubMed IF: 3.508)
- iv. <u>Kafyra M</u>, Gioxari A; Chapter 15: Genetic Predisposition and Body Weight (Greek: «Γενετική Προδιάθεση και Σωματικό Βάρος»); Human Molecular Genetics (Greek: «Μοριακή Γενετική του Ανθρώπου»); Georgios Dedoussis; Utopia Publishing; Athens, Greece; 2022, ISBN: 9786185173531.
- Kafyra, M., Kalafati, I. P., Katsareli, E. A., Lambrinou, S., Varlamis, I., Kaliora, A. C., & Dedoussis, G. V.The iMPROVE Study; Design, Dietary Patterns, and Development of a Lifestyle Index in Overweight and Obese Greek Adults. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(10): 3495. Published 2021 Oct 3. doi.org/10.3390/nu13103495. (PubMed IF: 6,706)
- vi. <u>Kafyra, M</u>., Kalafati, I. P., Kumar, S., Kontoe, M. S., Masson, C., Siest, S., & Dedoussis, G. V. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(1): 198. Published 2021 Jan 10. doi.org/10.3390/nu13010198. (PubMed IF: 6,706)

Abstract in Greek	15
Abstract in English	16
List of Figures	17
List of Tables	19
Abbreviations	22
Glossary	25
1. Introduction	26
1.1 Overweight and Obesity	26
1.1.1. Epidemiological Data	26
1.1.2. Body Weight and Composition Assessment Methods	29
1.1.3. Body Weight Regulation	37
1.1.4. Genetics and Epigenetics of Overweight and Obesity	46
1.1.5. Metabolomics of Overweight and Obesity	56
1.1.6. The Role of Lifestyle in Overweight and Obesity	59
1.1.7. Gene-Lifestyle Interactions in Overweight and Obesity	63
1.1.8. Genetic Risk Scores in the field of Weight Management	65
1.2. Connective dots between body weight and cardiometabolic risk fac	tors
	73
1.2.1. Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile	73
1.2.2. Inflammatory Status	75
1.2.3. Genetics of Cardiometabolic Risk Factors	76
1.3. Weight Loss	79
1.3.1. Influencing Parameters of Weight Loss	79
1.3.2. Metabolomics of Weight Loss	85
1.3.3. Gene-Lifestyle Interactions in Weight Loss	86
1.4. Current Gaps in Literature and Thesis Research Questions	91
1.5. Thesis Aims and Objectives	91
2. Methodology	93
2.1. The iMPROVE Study	93
2.1.1 Ethics, Study Registration and Study Aims and Objectives	93
2.1.2. Study Population and Study Design	94
2.1.3. Project Outcomes	99
2.1.4. Anthropometric, Body Composition and Dietary Asses	sment
	100
2.1.5. Laboratory Analyses	100
2.1.6. Statistical Analyses	102
2.2. 2018 Gutenberg Chair Project: TEENAGE and STANISLAS Cohorts	109
2.2.1. Ethics and Registration of Studies and Project Aims and	
Objectives	109
2.2.2. Study Designs and Study Populations	109
2.2.3. Project Outcomes	110
2.2.4. Anthropometric and Lifestyle Assessment	110
2.2.5. Laboratory Analyses	111
2.2.6. Statistical analyses	111
2.3. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS ar	ıd
OSTEOS studies	114

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Objectives	
	115
2.3.2. Study Designs and Study Populations	115
2.3.3. Project Outcomes	115
2.3.4. Anthropometric Measurements	115
2.3.5. Laboratory Analyses	115
2.3.6. Statistical analyses	115
3. Results and Discussion	117
3.1. The iMPROVE Study	117
3.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Study Population	117
3.1.2. Study Results on Body Weight and WHR	136
3.1.3. Study Results on Secondary Outcomes	146
3.1.4. Genetic Predisposition and BMI/Weight Loss	152
3.1.4.1. Baseline Associations	152
3.1.4.2. Associations with changes post-intervention	157
3.1.5. Discussion	166
3.2. 2018 Gutenberg Chair Project: TEENAGE and STANISLAS Cohorts	178
3.2.1. Baseline Characteristics and Dietary Patterns of the Studie	s'
Populations	178
3.2.2. VEGF-A variants and cardiometabolic and dietary paramet	ers in
the TEENAGE study	189
3.2.3. Discussion	199
3.3. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS ar	nd
OSTEOS studies	205
3.3.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Studies' Populations	205
3.3.2. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index	206
4. Conclusive Remarks	112
4. Conclusive Remarks	214
References	216
Appendix A: Scientific Publications Polated to Thesis Introduction	
Appendix A. Scientific Publications Related to mesis introduction	
A1. <u>Kafyra, M.</u> , Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Person	alized
Appendix A. Scientific Publications Related to mesis infroduction A1. <u>Kafyra, M.,</u> Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Person Approaches to Cardiometabolic Disease Prevention and Treatme	alized ent: A
Appendix A. Scientific Fubications Related to mess infroduction A1. <u>Kafyra, M.,</u> Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Person Approaches to Cardiometabolic Disease Prevention and Treatme short review. <i>J Atherosclerosis Prev Treat</i> . 2023; Jan-Apr;14(1):35-43	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
Appendix A: Sciencific Publications Related to mess infroduction A1. <u>Kafyra, M.,</u> Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Person Approaches to Cardiometabolic Disease Prevention and Treatme short review. <i>J Atherosclerosis Prev Treat</i> . 2023; Jan-Apr;14(1):35-43 10.53590/japt.02.1045.	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to mess infroduction A1. <u>Kafyra, M.,</u> Dedoussis, G. V. Polygenic Risk Scores and Persor Approaches to Cardiometabolic Disease Prevention and Treatmeshort review. <i>J Atherosclerosis Prev Treat</i>. 2023; Jan-Apr;14(1):35-43: 10.53590/japt.02.1045. Appendix B: iMPROVE Study-related documents 	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to mess infroduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to messis introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to mess infroduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to messis introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A. Scientific Publications Related to mess introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.:
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to messis introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.: wrinou, Study; dex in
 Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to messis introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.: wrinou, Study; dex in 3495.
 Appendix A. Scientific Publications Related to mess introduction	alized ent: A 3. doi.: wrinou, Study; dex in 3495.

D1. <u>Kafyra, M</u>., Kalafati, I. P., Kumar, S., Kontoe, M. S., Masson, C., Siest, S., & Dedoussis, G. V. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(1): 198. Published 2021 Jan 10. doi.org/10.3390/nu13010198.2
D2. <u>Kafyra, M</u>.,Kalafati, I.P., Gavra, I., Ntalla, I., Siest, S., Dedoussis, G.V. Associations of VEGF-A-related variants with adolescent cardiometabolic and dietary parameters. Nutrients 2023; 15(8):1884. doi.org/10.3390/nu15081884

Appendix E: Scientific Publication on Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index E1. Scientific Paper: Kafyra, M., Kalafati, I.P., Dimitriou, M., Grigoriou E., Kokkinos, A., Rallidis, L., Kolovou, G., Trovas, G., Marouli, E., Deloukas, P., Moulos, P., George V Dedoussis. Robust bioinformatics approaches result in the first Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek adults. J. Pers. Med. 2023;13(2):327. Published 2023 Feb 14. doi.org/10.3390/jpm13020327..... Appendix F: Supplementary Material F1. iMPROVE Study..... F2. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS studies.....

Abstract in Greek

Η ύπαρξη υπερβάλλοντος βάρος αποτελεί βασικό βοηθητικό παράγοντα για την εκδήλωση καρδιομεταβολικών νοσημάτων. Η δραματική αύξηση της παγκόσμιας συχνότητας της παχυσαρκίας αποδίδεται τόσο στην ύπαρξη ευνοϊκών εξωτερικών ερεθισμάτων όσο και στην αλληλεπίδρασή τους με ευνοϊκούς προδιαθεσικούς γενετικούς παράγοντες. Η αποτρέψιμη φύση της διαταραχής κάνει την ανάγκη για αποτελεσματική πρόληψη και αντιμετώπισή της προτεραιότητα στην προσπάθεια αντιμετώπισης και άλλων μη μεταδοτικών ασθενειών. Σε μια προσπάθεια εμβάθυνσης της κατανόησης των μηχανισμών της πολυπαραγοντικής αιτιολογίας της παχυσαρκίας, η παρούσα εργασία διερεύνησε αλληλεπιδράσεις γονιδίων και παραγόντων τρόπου ζωής και διατροφής στη διαμόρφωση χαρακτηριστικών που σχετίζονται με αυτή.

Η μελέτη χρησιμοποιήσε δεδομένα από 202 συμμετέχοντες της μελέτης iMPROVE για να εξετάσει το αντίκτυπο μιας υποθερμιδικής δίαιτας διαφορετικού μακροθρεπτικού περιεχομένου σε ανθρωπομετρικούς δείκτες και δείκτες του τρόπου ζωής Ελλήνων ενηλίκων. Παρόμοιες παράμετροι εξετάστηκαν και σε εφηβικούς πληθυσμούς, χρησιμοποιώντας δεδομένα από 766 και 287 συμμετέχοντες των μελετών ΤΕΕΝΑGE και STANISLAS. Τέλος, ένα πολυγονιδιακό σκορ κινδύνου (ΠΣΚ) για το Δείκτη Μάζας Σώματος (ΔΜΣ) ενηλίκων δημιουργήθηκε χρησιμοποιώντας δεδομένα από τις μελέτες NAFLD, THISEAS και OSTEOS.

Το διαφορετικό μακροθρεπτικό περιεχόμενο δεν επηρέασε τις αλλαγές που παρατηρήθηκαν στους συμμετέχοντες της μελέτης iMPROVE. Φορείς των αλληλομόρφων των παραλλαγών FTO-rs1421085 και MC4R-rs17782313 που συσχετίζονται με το ΔΜΣ έδειξαν μειωμένη απώλεια βάρους μετά την παρέμβαση.

Στους εφηβικούς οληθυσμούς, ένα γενετικό σκορ κινδύνου για αυξημένα επίπεδα VEGF-A συσχετίστηκε με αυξημένο ΔΜΣ, συστολική πίεση και μειωμένη χοληστερόλη HDL. Τέλος, το ΠΣΚ για το ΔΜΣ ενηλίκων παρουσίασε περαιτέρω επεξήγηση του δείκτη κατά 2.3% στο δείγμα των τριών μελετών. Η αξιολόγηση διατροφογενετικών συσχετίσεων οδήγησε στη διαμόρφωση ενδιαφέροντων αποτελεσμάτων σε πληθυσμούς ενηλίκων και εφήβων, θέτοντας τις βάσεις για περαίτερω μελλοντική έρευνα στο πεδίο.

Λέξεις-κλειδιά: Γενετική, Παχυσαρκία, Διατροφογενετική, Τρόπος Ζωής, Διαχείριση Σωματικού Βάρους

Abstract in English

Excess weight is seen as sine qua non for the manifestation of cardiometabolic comorbidities. The dramatic increase in obesity prevalence is attributed both to the existence of favorable external stimuli and to their interactions with favorable genetic makeup. The preventable nature of the disorder renders its successful prevention and treatment a priority in the effort to tackle non-communicable disease (NCD) prevalence. In an effort to deepen the understanding of the modus operandi of the multifactorial obesity aetiology, the present thesis sought to investigate gene-lifestyle and -diet interactions on the formation and modification of obesity-related traits.

The study used data from 202 participants of the iMPROVE cohort to investigate a hypocaloric diet of different macronutrient composition in anthropometric and lifestyle indices of Greek adults. Similar parameters were explored in adolescent populations, using data from 766 and 287 participants of the TEENAGE and STANISLAS Studies. Lastly, a Polygenic Risk Score (PRS) for adult Body Mass Index (BMI) was created using data from the NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS studies.

Different macronutrient content did not affect changes in the iMPROVE participants. Carriers of the BMI alleles for the FTO-rs1421085 and MC4R-rs17782313 variants showed reduced rates of weight loss. In the adolescent populations, a VEGF-A unweighted genetic risk score was associated with increased levels of BMI, systolic blood pressure (SBP) and reduced high-density cholesterol (HDL-C). Lastly, the constructed PRS for BMI accounted for an overall 2.3% of the observed BMI variance in the three studies.

Assessment of the nutrigenetic associations displayed interesting results in both adult and adolescent populations of European ancestry, laying the ground for future work in the field.

Keywords: Genetics, Obesity, Nutrigenetics, Lifestyle, Body Weight Management

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig.1: Worldwide prevalence of adult overweight and obesity for 201626
Fig.2: Projected trends in obesity prevalence in Greece for 203527
Fig.3: Percentage of obesity-attributed deaths in Europe and trend of obesity-
attributed deaths in Greece for the time period 1990-2019
Fig.4: Associations between obesity with the 17 United Nations SDGs28
Fig.5: BMI-for age percentiles
Fig.6: Body component models and respective body composition methods35
Fig.7: Hormonal regulation of energy metabolism
Fig.8: Stages of hormonal control of energy homeostasis in the different human
organs
Fig.9: Energy Balance during A. Optimal metabolic Status and B. During increased
energy intake
Fig.10: Effect of energy surplus on energy metabolism42
Fig.11: Gut-brain axis in energy metabolism in general versus B. gut-brain axis in
energy metabolism in the presence of obesity45
Fig.12: Obesity-related metabolomic biomarkers57
Fig.13: Metabolomic signatures and cardiometabolic risk factors in obesity58
Fig.14: Basis of gene-diet interactions based on current literature65
Fig.15: Polygenic Risk Score (PRS) in Personalized Recommendations71
Fig.16: Major obesity-related diseases73
Fig.17: Linking mechanisms of obesity and cardiometabolic diseases74
Fig.18: Overlap between obesity-related genes and genes implicated in T2D
pathogenesis77
Fig.19: Papers concerning gene-diet interactions in weight loss
Fig.20: Macronutrient distribution of the proposed diets95
Fig.21: iMPROVE Study Online Questionnaire Tool99
Fig.22: Baseline scoring of the four lifestyle questionnaires, based on extensive BMI
categories121
Fig.23: Clustered boxplots depicting A. BMI, B. WC, C. WHR and D. body fat in kg, per
MedDiet Score/ PA group, at baseline133
Fig.24: CONSORT 2010 Flow Diagram for the iMPROVE study136
Fig.25: Trajectories of weight (xxA) and BMI (xxB) change from baseline up to the end
of month 3 of the intervention, per diet group (1=high carbohydrate and 2=high
protein)
Fig.26: Clustered boxplot depicting the changes in A. weight and B. BMI from
baseline up to the end of month 3 of the intervention, shown per adherence group
(Adherent vs Non-adherent participants)145

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity presence in adult populations of	f
different ethnicities	Ĺ
Table 2: WC cut-offs in adult populations of different ethnicities 32	2
Table 3: Genes implicated in monogenic obesity 49)
Table 4: List of SNPs in hormonal regulation-related genes and their associations with	۱
obesity-related: traits51	L
Table 5: List of SNPs in key genes associated with obesity-related traits	5
Table 6: List of FTO SNPs associated with obesity-related traits	5
Table 7: List of indicative genes and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs))
associated with T2D and glycemic traits78	3
Table 8: Summary of key dietary interventions investigating the effect of different	t
macronutrient content on weight loss82	<u>)</u>
Table 9: Summary of key personalized or nutrigenetic interventions investigating the	ć
effect of different macronutrient content on weight loss)
Table 10: Table adapted from Martinez et Milagro, summarizing gene-diet interactions	5
in the weight loss observed in adults following lifestyle interventions)
Table 11: List of the BMI-related SNPs (n=10) investigated for associations in the	ć
iMPROVE cohort	5
Table 12: List of the fat-related SNPs (n=10) investigated for associations in the	č
IMPROVE cohort	/
Table 13: Baseline characteristics of the iMPROVE cohort, by sex	/ r
Table 14: Anthropometric, clinical, dietary characteristics and characteristics of	ſ
depression, quality of sleep, and health status in the iMPROVE cohort, by weight group)
Table 15: Multivariate linear regression analyses on the relation between lifestyle	5
characteristics and RMI and body fat baseline values	; 1
Table 16: Mean consumption and PCA factor loadings of the 32 EEO-derived food	1
arouns	2
Table 17: Multivariate linear regressions between the extracted dietary natterns and	,
indices of anthronometric and biochemical characteristics	ñ
Table 18: Multivariate linear regressions between anthronometric and clinical	`
characteristics and the constructed lifestyle index)
Table 19: Multivariate linear regressions between anthropometric and clinical	`
characteristics and the constructed MedDiet score/PA groups	1
Table 20: Weight, BMI and WHR measurements at the main points of the study137	7
Table 21: Weight, BMI, and WHR measurements during the three months of the study	
	7
Table 22: Weight, BMI and WHR measurements at the main points of the study, per	
diet group)
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months	
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group140)
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group140 Table 24: Comparison of baseline weight and change in weight at 3 months across)
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group140 Table 24: Comparison of baseline weight and change in weight at 3 months across the categories of possible categorical predictors) L
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group140 Table 24: Comparison of baseline weight and change in weight at 3 months across the categories of possible categorical predictors) L
Table 23: Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group140 Table 24: Comparison of baseline weight and change in weight at 3 months across the categories of possible categorical predictors	D

Table 26: Mean change in weight for overall population and the mean difference
between diet groups at 3 months (in kg)143
Table 27: Mean change in weight by diet group at 3 months (in kg)143
Table 28: Differences between weight and BMI change at 3 months per adherence and
diet groups
Table 29: Body composition measurements at the main points of the study 146
Table 30: Changes in body composition measurements per diet group, during the
three months of the study 1/7
Table 31: AIS SE-PCS-12 and SE-MCS-12 measurements at the main points of the
study
Table 32: AIS SE-DCS-12 and SE-MCS-12 measurements during the three months of
the study 148
Table 22: AIS SE DCS 12 and SE MCS 12 measurements per diet group at the main
noints of the study 140
Table 24: Changes in AIS SE RCS 12 and SE MCS 12 per diet group during the three
Table 54. Changes III Als, SF-PCS-12 and SF-MCS-12 per diet group during the time
Table 25: Associations between the schort's baseline characteristics and the uCPS and
Table 26: Accessizations between the sebert's baseline characteristics and the 10
rable 50. Associations between the conort's baseline characteristics and the 10
Table 27: Interactions between the cohort's baseline characteristics, distance patterns
and the UCPS
and the uGRS
and the wCPS
and the wGRS
Table 39: Statistically significant interactions between the conort's baseline
characteristics, dietary patterns and the 10 candidate, Bivil-related variants
Table 40. Multivariate linear regressions between the constructed GRSs and imputed
Table 41: Multiveriate linear regressions between the 10 eveningd SNDs and
imputed weight less past intervention in the everall sample
Table 42: Mean changes in weight and DMI next intervention, next CPS groups in the
Table 42: Mean changes in weight and Bivil post-intervention, per GRS groups in the
Table 42: Mass shares in weight and DMI next intervention, nor groups of the 10
Table 43: Mean changes in weight and Bivil post-intervention, per groups of the 10
Candidate variants in the overall sample
Table 44: Associations between the changes observed post-intervention and the 10
Candidate, Bivil-related SNPS
interactions between the changes observed post-intervention and the
Table 46: Accessizations between the changes observed pact intervention in fat
rable 40. Associations between the changes observed post-intervention in fat-
related indices and the interactions between diet group the 10 candidate, lat-related
Table 47: Deceline observatoristics of the adelescent observation of the TEENACE Study
Table 47: Baseline characteristics of the adolescent conort of the TEENAGE Study
(N=700)
Table 46: Baseline characteristics of the adolescent conort of the STANISLAS STUDY.
Table 40: Dringing Components Applysis' factor loadings for the 15 feed groups in
Table 49. Principal Components Analysis Tactor loadings for the 15 food groups in
the reenage study (n = 766)

Table 50: Linear Regression Analyses on the association between the dietary
patterns, anthropometric indices and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control in
the TEENAGE study
Table 51: Principal Components Analysis' factor loadings for the 15 food groups in
the STANISLAS Family study (n = 287)
Table 52: Linear Mixed Model Analyses on the association between the dietary
patterns and measured indices in the STANISLAS Family study187
Table 53: List of the VEGF-A-related Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) (n=11)
investigated for cardiometabolic associations in the TEENAGE cohort
Table 54: Associations between the 11 VEGF-A-related SNPs and cardiometabolic
indices in the TEENAGE cohort
Table 55: Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS and selected cardiometabolic
indices in the TEENAGE cohort
Table 56: Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A and dietary patterns in
the TEENAGE cohort
Table 57: Descriptive characteristics of the NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS study
populations
Table 58: List of PRS SNPs with known associated traits in GWAS Catalog208

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning				
Acb	Nucleus Accumbens				
ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex				
ACTH	Adrenocotricotropic hormone				
AgRP	Agouti-related protein-expressing neurons				
AHEI	Alternate Healthy Eating Index				
AHO	Albright Hereditary Osteodystrophy				
AIS	Athens Insomnia Scale				
α-MSH	α-Melanocyte-stimulating hormone				
ARC	Arcuate Nucleus				
BAT	Brown Adipose Tissue				
BIA	Bioelectrical Impendence Analysis				
BBB	Brain-blood barrier				
BBS	Bardet-Bield Syndrome				
BCAA	Branched chain amino acids				
BDNF	Brain-derived Neurotrophic Factor				
BMC	Bone Mineral Content				
BMI	Body Mass Index				
BMR	Basic Metabolic Rate				
CART	Cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript				
ССК	Cholecystokinin				
CESD-R-10	Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Score				
CRP	C-reactive Protein				
СТ	Computerized tomography				
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease				
DASH	Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension				
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure				
DEE	Died-induced Energy Expenditure				
DEXA	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry				
DIT	Diet-induced Thermogenesis				
DOHaD	Developmental Origins of Health and Disease				
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program				
DQI	Diet Quality Index				
EASO	European Association for the Study of Obesity				
EECs	Enteroendocrine cells				
EI	Energy Intake				
ENS	Enteric Nervous System				
FFQ	Food Frequency Ouestionnaire				
FTO	Fat mass and obesity- associated gene				
BGA	Gut-brain axis				
GABA	Gamma-aminobutvric acid				
GEL	Gene-Environment Interactions				

GHSR	Growth hormone secretagogue receptors 1a				
GIANT	Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits				
GLB	Group Lifestyle Balance				
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1				
GRS	Genetic Risk Score				
GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Study(-ies)				
HC	Hip Circumference				
HDL-C	High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol				
HICs	High-Income Countries				
HPA	Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal axis				
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium				
ICHI	Ideal Cardiovascular Health Index				
IL-6	Interleukin-6				
IQR	Interquartile Range				
LCFA	Long-chain Fatty Acids				
LD	Linkage Disequilibrium				
LEP	Leptin				
LepR	Leptin receptor				
LI	Lifestyle Index				
LDL-C	Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol				
LMICs	Low- Middle- Income Countries				
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides				
MC3R, MC4R	Melanocortin 3 and 4 Receptors				
MD	Mediterranean Diet				
MedDietScore	Mediterranean Diet Score				
MetS	Metabolic Syndrome				
МНО	Metabolically Healthy Obese				
MONW	Metabolically Obese Normal Weight				
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging				
MUFA	Mono-unsaturated Fatty Acids				
MUO	Metabolically Unhealthy Obese				
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease				
NCDs	Non-Communicable Diseases				
NKs	Natural Killer cells				
NTRK2	Neurotrophic receptor tyrosine kinase 2				
NTS	Nucleus Tractus Solitarii				
NPY	Neuropeptide Y				
PA	Physical Activity				
PAL	Physical Activity Level				
PCA	Principal Component Analysis				
PCC	Posterior cingulate cortex				
PCSK1	Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 1				
POMC	Proopiomelanocortin				

PP	Pulse Pressure / Pancreatic Peptide			
PUFA	Poly-unsaturated Fatty Acids			
PVN	Paravetricular Nucleus			
PWS	Prader-Willi Syndrome			
ΡΥΥ	YY peptide			
RMR	Resting Metabolic Rate			
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure			
SCFA	Short-chain Fatty Acid			
SD	Standard Deviation			
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals			
SE	Standard Error			
SES	Socioeconomic Status			
SFA	Saturated Fatty Acids			
SF-PCS-12	Physical component of the SF-12 short questionnaire			
SF-MCS-12	Mental component of the SF-12 short questionnaire			
SGOT	Serum glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase			
SGPT	Serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase			
SIM1	Single-minded homolog 1			
SNPs	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism(s)			
STANISLAS	Suivi Temporaire Annuel Non Invasif de la Sante des Lorrains Assures Sociaux			
TBW	Total Body Water			
ТС	Total Cholesterol			
TEF	Thermic Effect of Food			
TEENAGE	Teens of Attica: Genes and Environment			
TG	Triglycerides			
TMAO	Trimethylamine N-oxide			
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor-α			
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes			
uGRS	unweighted Genetic Risk Score			
VEGF-A	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A			
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein			
VMN	Ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus			
WAGR	Wilms Tumor Aniridia, Genitourinary abnormalities, mental retardation			
	syndrome			
WAT	White Adipose Tissue			
WC	Waist Circumference			
WD	Western Diet			
WHO	World Health Organization			
WHR	Waist-to-hip ratio			
wGRS	weighted Genetic Risk Score			
2-C model	Model: 2-component model of body composition			
3-C model	Model: 3-component model of body composition			
4-C model	Model: 4-component model of body composition			

- **Genetic/Polygenic Risk Score (GRS, PGS):** The aggravated score calculated by the summation of multiple genetic variants and used to assess the heritable risk for a particular phenotype in question.
 - **Unweighted Genetic Risk Score (uGRS):** The sum of the number of risk alleles related to a particular phenotype.
 - Weighted Genetic Risk Score (wGRS) or Polygenic Risk Score: The sum of the number of risk alleles related to a particular phenotype, each multiplied by their estimated weight coefficient for said phenotype.
- **Genotype:** The sum of an organism's genes and their genetic variations.
- **Nutrigenetics:** The scientific field investigating the impact of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) on gene nutrient interaction and their role in metabolic pathways.
- **Nutrigenomics:** The scientific field investigating the effect of nutrients on gene expression.
- Phenotype: A noticeable characteristic attributed to gene expression.
- **Pleiotropy:** The phenomenon during which expression of a single gene can simultaneously affect more than one unrelated phenotypes.

1. Introduction

1.1. Overweight and Obesity

1.1.1. Epidemiological Data

The classic definition of overweight and obesity comes from the World Health Organization (WHO), who traditionally defines their existence as *"abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health"* [1]. Prevalence of overweight or obesity has increased steadily in the last decades, with the latter being currently regarded as a chronic disease [2]. The dramatic rise in obesity rates during the past decades has led WHO to reshape our perception of the disorder in a global epidemic, currently even using the term "globesity" to describe it [3]. According to data up to 2016, 39% of the global, adult population were presented either overweight or obesity, with 13% solely presenting obesity. As of March 2023, the World Obesity Atlas suggested that about half of the global population will present either overweight or obesity by the end of 2015 [4].

Augmenting rates are partly attributed to the vast global increase of the double burden of malnutrition, as obesity also currently presents higher rates than underweight in specific developing



Figure 1. Worldwide prevalence of adult overweight and obesity for 2016 [6].

countries (sub-Saharan Africa and Asia). Presence of overweight appears dominating across the world, with regions such as the majority of Europe, the United States of America (USA), Russia, Australia and North Africa to be presenting a respective prevalence of above 40%. Similarly, obesity maintains a corresponding augmented prevalence of more than 25% in the USA, South America, Europe, Russia, Australia and Saudi Arabia [6]. More specifically, data deriving from 2016 (Figure 1) estimates show that region-specific prevalence percentages of adult overweight or obesity were at 70.2% for the United States, 40 to 60% for the European Region, 50-60% for the region of Latin America, 70-80% for Asia and 60 to 70% for Australia [7]. According to

Eurostat, in Greece, up to the year 2014, about 48% and 17% of adult men presented overweight and obesity, respectively, while the rates for adult women reached a respective 65% and 19% [8]. Current projections for Greece dictate rising rates for all men, women, boys and girls by 2035, with a projected 2035 obesity prevalence of 39%. Annual rates appear elevating for both adult and childhood obesity, with a respective 2% and 2.4% rise until the year 2035 [4]. Indicatively, when referring to children and adolescents, from the period 1988-1994 up to the period 2013-2014, prevalence of obesity appeared to be increasing, with about 21% of female adolescents in the United States classified as obese in the year 2014 [9]. According to WHO, the prevalence of overweight of obesity in children and adolescents increased from 4% in 1975 to 18% in 2016 [1].



Figure 2. Projected trends in obesity prevalence in Greece for 2035 [4].

Excessive weight directly increases the risk for a variety of other cardiometabolicrelated, non-communicable diseases (NCDs), such as cardiovascular disease (CVD), type 2 diabetes (T2D), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and cancer [10]. Its continuous and propound contributions to increasing multimorbidity render obesity an ongoing public health emergency. Indicatively, about 44% of T2D and a range of 7-41% of various types of cancer cases are met in persons with overweight or obesity [8,11]. Subsequently, according to Our World in Data, obesity was the cause for 8% of global deaths in 2017. This percentage varied across regions, with high-income countries (HICs) to note a range of 8-10%, middle-income countries (MICs) to reach up to 15% and low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) to show a percentage lower than 5% [6]. In the region of Greece, relevant deaths showed a 10.6% prevalence in 2019 and presented an increase from 1990 up to 2012, with the reported rates steadily remaining above 10% ever since 1997. A region high was observed in 2012 where the rates touched 12.77%, whereas a respective low of 9.64% was noted in 1990 (Figure 3) [6].

Note::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	Leaths attributed to obesity, 2019 Jat having aboy-mass index (MMI) equal to or greater than 30. BMI is a person? a wided by the height in meters squared. Shows in the share of total deaths, and wided the height in meters squared. Shows in the share of total deaths, and wide the height is the state of the share of total deaths, and the share of the share of total deaths, the obesity as an attributed risk factor. Europe	Share of deaths attributed to obesity, 1990 to 2019 Obesity is defined as having a body-mass index (BMI) equal to or greater than 30. BMI is a person's weight in kilograms divided by their height in meters squared. Shown is the share of total deaths, from any cause, with obesity as an attributed risk factor.
10% 10%		+ Add country
No data 0% 5% 6% 6% Source: H-MG, Clobal Burders of Disase (2019) 0urWorldin/Datacegiblesity + CC (PV 4% 4% 1990 2019 2% 2% 0% 1990 2005 2010 2015 2%		10% Greece
No data 05 5% 10% 15% 20% 6% Snorce II-MG, Global Burden of Disease (2019) OurWorldinData.org/blenity + CC IIV 4% 4% 1990 2019 2019 2% 0% 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2%		8%
No detta 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%	2 Same and	6%
2% 0% 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 20:	No data 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%	4%
0% 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 201	2019	2%
Source: IHME, Global Burden of Disease (2019) OurWorldInData.or		0% 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2019 Source: IHME. Global Burden of Diresse (2019) Our WorldInData.org/obesity • CC B'
▶ 1990 ●		▶ 1990 ○ 2019

Figure 3. Percentage of obesity-attributed deaths in Europe and trend of obesityattributed deaths in Greece for the time period 1990-2019 and Projected Trends in the Prevalence of Obesity in Greece up to 2035 [6].

Due to its widespread impact but preventable nature, the need for effective obesity prevention, prognosis and treatment strategies and policies is currently highlighted. It is in this context that within their framework of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) for 2030, the United Nations have set the achievement of good health and well-being in the third place of their seventeen targets [12].



Figure 4 Associations between obesity with the 17 United Nations SDGs [12].

A massive focal point aims at the reduction of NCD-related mortality via successful prevention and treatment, essentially putting obesity-tacking strategies at the centre of current and future efforts (Figure 4) [13]. In this spectrum, a WHO resolution for obesity was shaped as of 2020, aiming at recognizing the severity of the disease. Its effective monitoring and creation of prevention and treatment strategies has also been brought to the forefront with system-based approaches, such as the ones outlined in the context of the ROOTS framework [12]. Naturally, nutrition lies at the center of these efforts, with WHO focusing on the importance of nutrition such strategies [14].

As it will be further analysed below, these increasing trends appear associated to the increased food availability and accessibility observed in the developed countries [11,15]. Another factor lies concerns the increased adherence to dietary regimes with high consumption of energy-dense foods [11,15] (such as the western diet-WD) in various parts of the world. The etiology for overweight and/or obesity development is multifactorial with causes referring to genetic predisposition, ethnicity, family and medical history, environmental factors, such as food availability and accessibility and lifestyle habits, such as low levels of physical activity (PA) [1]. This need for efficient prognosis, diagnosis and treatment of overweight and obesity is currently dictating the development of effective methodologies for disease handling in the daily practice. These demand the use of all helpful information available, such as the integration of genetic information in the form of Genetic and Polygenic Risk Scores (GRS and PRSs).

1.1.2. Body Weight and Composition Assessment Methods

Although current perceptions on overweight and obesity reflect their role as chronic diseases pertaining to long-term effects in cardiometabolic status, stigma surrounding increased body weight remains prevalent in modern societies. In an effort to enhance the notion of overweight and obesity as established disorders of multifactorial etiology, rather than lifestyle choices of reduced willpower, the use of a weight-neutral terminology is now strongly suggested as a means to promote references on weight assessment, as well as well-being interventions, without strengthening weight stigma. Indeed, the European Association for the Study of Obesity (EASO) recommends the use of *"people-first language"* (eg use of terms such as individuals with overweight or obesity in the place of overweight or obese individuals) as a means to highlight the role of the latter as significant diseases. Accordingly, the present study will henceforward use the corresponding terminology to refer to relevant study populations, characteristics and findings [16].

A variety of methods implemented in the assessment of body weight and body composition contribute to the diagnosis of overweight and/or obesity. To date, the most widely used approach to assessing body weight status remain anthropometric measurements, with the primary one being the calculation of Body Mass Index (BMI). BMI is calculated when dividing an individual's weight in kilos to their respective squared height in squared meters [Weight (kg)/ Heigh^{t2} (m²)]. According to the majority of global organizations, i.e. WHO, the Centre for Disease Prevention (CDC), World Obesity Federation (WOF), the classification in the rankings of overweight or obesity categories takes place according to the following cut-offs:

 An individual with BMI< 18.5kg/m² is considered to present underweight, with mild thickness if in the range 17-18.49 kg/m², moderate thickness if in the values of 16-16.99 kg/m² and severe thickness if their BMI is below 16.00 kg/m²; [6]

- An individual with a BMI of 18.5 to 25 kg/m² is considered to present normal weight;
- An individual with 25 <BMI ≤29.99 kg/m² is considered to present overweight;
- An individual with 30 ≤BMI ≤34.99 kg/m² is considered to present obesity (class 1 obesity);
- An individual with 35 ≤BMI ≤39.99 kg/m² is considered to present obesity (class 2 obesity); and
- An individual with BMI≥40.00 kg/m² is considered to present obesity (class 3 obesity) [17]

Nowadays, BMI cut-off values for the identification of overweight and/or obesity presence are not universally the same. As will be further analyzed below, use of analytic body composition methods has revealed differences in the body composition of individuals with similar BMI, but different ethnic backgrounds, which can be potentially attributed to a variety of genetic, epigenetic and environment factors. Multiple studies demonstrate variations in the BMI proposed categories and corresponding body fat percentages among populations of different ethnicities, highlighting the potential effect in the corresponding risk for weight-related, cardiometabolic comorbidities [17]. One of the most prominent differences lie in the populations of Asians, who have reportedly demonstrated smaller body structure and, thus, smaller BMI values, when compared to individuals of Caucasian or African-American descent. Although lower levels of body fat and a lower risk to overweight/obesity and related comorbidities would be expected for Asian populations due to their lower BMI levels, in reality they tend to paradoxically display higher levels of body fat percentage for same BMI values when compared to Caucasian populations. More specifically, Asians display a steady 3-5% increased body fat levels, when compared to Europeans of the same BMI [18,19]. Similarly, it has also been shown that for a given percentage body fat, Asian individuals presented a 3-4 unit lower BMI [19]. As such, Chinese and other Asian populations present higher risk for abdominal obesity and, thus, higher prevalence of other obesity-related disorders, such as type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease, at lower BMIs [18, 19] Additionally, another contrast is found in African-American populations who present lower body fat and higher muscle mass percentages, when compared to Caucasians of the same BMI [18,19].

Although the WHO first declined to adjust BMI cut-offs for the different populations, appearance of multiple scientific studies has provided the evidence needed to allow a variety of groups to set different metrics for the different populations, as well as prompt WHO to set cut-off values for obesity and weight-related disorders' screening and onset of corresponding interventions. In this context, WHO suggests initiating interventions among increased and high-risk Asians with a BMI of 23kg/m² and 25 kg/m², respectively [20,21]. For Asian and south Asian populations, same cut-offs are used for overweight or obesity diagnosis [2]. Similarly, presence of overweight and obesity is set at a BMI of 24 kg/m² and 28 kg/m², respectively, for Chinese and Japanese populations. Moreover, thresholds for populations of Indian or Pacific Island descent are set at 23 kg/m² and 26 kg/m², as well as 27 kg/m² and 32 kg/m² for overweight and obesity presence, respectively. A

summary of the population-adjusted cut-off values for BMI categories is presented in Table 1.

	BMI values (kg/m ²)				
	Caucasian populations	Asian- South Asian populations	Chinese- Japanese populations	Indian populations	Pacific Islander populations
Overweight	25≤BMI<30	23≤BMI<35	24≤BMI<28	23≤BMI<26	27≤BMI<32
Obesity	≥30	≥25	≥28	≥26	≥32

Table 1. BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity presence in adult populations of different ethnicities.

Although BMI is known for not taking body composition into account, and thus not being the most reliable tool in representing body status, it continues to acquire the title of the gold standard method, mainly due to its character as a non-invasive, rapid, easy and inexpensive measurement. One of the greatest advantages of BMI use is the fact that its calculation only requires information on weight and height, which are usually easy to acquire across a variety of different settings and environments. Furthermore, the widespread use of BMI allows for universal comparisons between populations [22].

However, as BMI is more of a measure representing excess weight rather than increased fat accumulation [22], it may lead to underestimation of the presence of overweight and/or obesity in individuals with a BMI that falls into the normal weight range but who present increased percentage of body fat. In this context, BMI also does not provide information on the type of body fat presented in the individual (eg visceral, subcutaneous, etc). Similarly, assessment of BMI alone may lead to overestimation of overweight/obesity risk in individuals with a high percentage of body muscle mass which contributes to their reported, increased body weight. More considerations in BMI use include the fact that older adults and women tend to present higher levels of body fat when compared to younger adults and men, respectively, who present an equivalent BMI [22].

The importance of body fat percentage is crucial in determining the relatively attributed risk for cardiometabolic disorders. In this spectrum and as body fat is deemed essential in determining adiposity, further anthropometric measurements come to complement BMI in assessing body weight status, with special attention to the presence of central/abdominal obesity. Correspondingly, Waist Circumference (WC) and Waist-to-Hip ratio (WHR) are widely used to assess obesity and risk of cardiometabolic health risks. Sex specific cut-off values for the latter refer to a ratio of 0.85 for women and 1.00 for men being the indicative threshold above which lies increased risk for cardiometabolic reverse outcomes.

When referring to WC measurements, a generally accepted rule of thumb remains with the suggestion that an individual's WC ought not to exceed the half of their respective height measurement [19]. The generalized recommendation of the ATP III criteria for WC measurements includes a threshold of 88cm and 102cm for males and females, respectively. However, in line with the current considerations for the role of ethnicity in the formation of BMI levels and the key part of abdominal obesity in subsequent cardiometabolic risk, the International Diabetes Federation has proceeded to the formation of recommended cut-off points for abdominal obesity based on different ethnic groups. As depicted in Table 2, the existing ATP III recommendation can still be used for clinical reasons, however a lower threshold for both sexes is uniformly suggested for Europid, South Asian, Chinese and Japanese populations.

	WC (cm)							
	European, North American, Sub-Saharan African, Eastern Mediterranean, Middle East, populations		South Asian, Ethnic South and Central American populations	Chinese populations	Japanese populations			
Men	≥102 (clin. purposes),	≥94	≥90	≥90	≥90			
Women	≥98 (clin. purposes),	≥80	≥80	≥80	≥80			

Table 2.	WC cut-offs in	adult po	pulations	of different	ethnicities	[18]
				•. •		r=~1.

To boot, assessment of overweight and/or obesity existence varies not only based on ethnicity characteristics, but also differs when taking age into consideration. In children and adolescent populations, existence of overweight and/or obesity is primarily determined by BMI values specifically adjusted for age and sex and referred to as *BMI-for-age* [23]. Use of the adjusted value of BMI for age and sex, otherwise known as *BMI z score or zBMI*, is also widely used to assess body weight in populations below the age of 18. As shown in Figure 5, for the ages 2 to 20 years old, BMI is classified using percentile ranking, as follows [1]:

- An individual with a ranking under the 5th percentile is considered to present underweight;
- An individual with a 5th percentile < ranking < 85th percentile is considered of normal weight;
- An individual 85th percentile ≤ ranking ≤ 95th percentile is considered to present overweight;
- An individual with ranking ≥ 95th percentile is considered to present obesity [6,9].



Figure 5. BMI-for age percentiles for A. 2 to 20 years in Boys; and B. b.2 to 20 years in Girls. Assessment of body weight and classification in the categories of underweight, presenting overweight or obesity for children and adolescents from 2 to 20 years old takes place via calculation of their BMI to the corresponding percentile [24].

In the same context, a differentiated concept concerns the existence of metabolically health obesity (MHO). This term is used to describe obesity existence with a BMI over 30 kg/m², accompanied by the absence metabolic dysfunction usually observed in the obese state, such as altered glucose or lipid metabolism, increased blood pressure and/or inflammatory or cardiorespiratory indices [22]. Prevalence of MHO ranges from 10 to 30% of adults with obesity, depending on factors of age and sex. On the contrary, the term metabolically unhealthy obesity (MUO) concerns people with obesity presenting multiple cardiometabolic risk factors and frequently elevated risk for related disorders like cardiovascular disease [22].

The simultaneous use of metabolic health and obesity in the MHO definition has been controversial, as the obese state is by nature considered a circumstance of altered metabolic profile. The need for the creation of a specified definition led to the international effort conducted in the nodes of the BioShare-EU Healthy Obese project, which set out to specify the definition criteria for MHO. The initiative concluded that MHO was defined in the absence of increased blood pressure, blood glucose of over 110 mg/dL, high density cholesterol (HDL-C) lower that 40 mg/dL, triglyceride (TG) levels above 150mg/dL and the existence of CVD [23]. Lavie et al attempted to set stricter criteria by defining MHO as all the aforementioned but with a lower threshold for fasting glucose (<100mg/dL) and the absence of receiving glucose-related or antihypertensive treatment [24]. A different definition by Zembic et al focused solely on blood pressure and anthropometrics by stating MHO as the existence of systolic blood pressure levels lower than 130 mmHg and a WHR of less than 1.03 in men and 0.95 in women [22, 25, 26]. Overall, as MHO definitions are mainly focused on cardiometabolic contributors, the need for including more metabolic-related indices such as indicators of inflammation, liver or immune function in future revisiting of the criteria is also underlined [27]. Existence of the state has also been observed in children, where MHO prevalence ranges from 3-87% according to factors of ancestry and puberty level [27]. An internationally accepted definition for MHO in children was provided in 2018 by Damanhoury et al. who included the standardized BMI values of the WHO growth charts, the percentile cut-offs for blood pressure (<90mmHg) and the suggested cut-offs for glucose, HDL-C and TG levels (≤ 100, >40 and ≤150mg/dL, respectively) [27, 28].

Although at increased risk for cardiometabolic-related disease manifestation than persons with normal weight, individuals with MHO present lower risk for such disorders when compared to people with MUO [22]. It appears that maintenance of satisfactory levels of physical activity and cardio-respiratory condition in MHO can allow for the reduction of CVD risk [22,24]. In children, MHO is linked to lower BMI, WC and body fat measurements promoting better outcomes of insulin sensitivity and inflammatory status [27]. The growing aspect accompanying this age group is also taken into account where visceral fat can be seen reducing due to its observed expansion [27] due to both weight gain, but also developmental growth. Similar to the case in the adults, data from the GENOBOX study also showed that children with MHO and greater physical activity showed better status than their peers with MUO [29]. Roberge et al further demonstrated that children with obesity who adhered to healthier diet (i.e. increased consumption of fruit and vegetables and lower intake of fats and sugars) had lower changes of developing MUO than children with MHO and adherence to an unbalanced diet.

It is worth mentioning that similar discrepancies are also detected among individuals with increased weight when compared to persons with normal weight. The notion described as the "obesity paradox" is used to summarize findings indicating better cardiometabolic or mortality outcomes or prognosis in individuals with increased weight than people with a BMI below 25kg/m² [23, 30]. Indeed, patients with overweight and other disease have presented lower all-cause mortality that patients with normal BMI [31, 32].

Although several factors can be considered in promoting this phenomenon [eg increased metabolic reserve, muscle mass and strength, use of pharmaceutical medication and less cachexia in the overweight or obesity state [31], it is mostly possible that cardio-related positive outcomes are accredited to the effect of other factors indirectly related to obesity like physical activity, respiratory and liver function, the smooth maintenance of which probably positively affects the preservation of a good cardiometabolic profile, rather than obesity presence in itself. Additionally, a different phenotype described as metabolic obese normal weight (MONW) is also used for individuals with a BMI in the normal weight range but who present increased disrupted cardiometabolic profile when compared to people with overweight or obesity [33]. Therefore, the advantage noticed in the case of overweight or obesity could also be attributed to the existence of altered cardiometabolic status in individuals with normal weight. This is why more studies are needed to specify the definition criteria for each phenotype as well as how each might prevail to the others.

Such findings underline the need for the proper acquisition of all information related to weight and body composition by emphasizing that individual evaluation should consider detailed both from BMI calculation, as well as the use of a body composition analysis method with information on body tissue content and ratios. In the case of overweight or obesity, special attention is given to the evaluation of body fat using a variety of methods deriving from different principal bases. While using skinfold measurements to assess body fat is a relatively straightforward and easy-toapply method, employment of methods which assess body composition using different compartment sections is more widely used in current practice.



Figure 6. Body component models and respective body composition methods [34]. Kasper et al. describe the compartment models of body composition and further

categorize assessment methods based on invasiveness. The only direct method refers to cadaveric dissection, while the remaining methods are separated to indirect (skinfold thickness measurements, hydrodensitometry, air displacement, plethysmography, ultrasounds and DEXA) and double indirect methods, where predictive equations are additionally used to estimate tissue levels (BIA, photonic scanning and body fat percentage estimated via ultrasound or skinfolds) [34, 35].

Use of the latter methods is based on the models dividing body composition in distinct components, according to which: a) the two-component (2-C) model focuses on fat distribution by referring to a fat-mass and fat-free mass component; b) the three-component (3-C) model describes the body at fat-mass, fat-free mass and bone mineral content (BMC) levels and; c) the four-component (4-C) model further divides the body at fat mass, metabolic tissue, BMC and total body water (TBW) separate compartments (Figure 6) [34]. Different, multi-component models further separate body compartments, a) by highlighting the existence of essential and non-essential lipid, total body water, protein, bone mineral, soft-tissue mineral and glycogen components or b) by referring to atomic, molecular, cellular, tissue-system and whole-body levels [35].

Indicatively, methods to evaluate body composition based on the 2-C model include: a) hydrodensitometry, which is considered the most reliable and, thus, the gold-standard standard method. Based on the Archimedes' principle on water displacement, in hydrodensitometry an individual's weight is calculated both outside and inside water and the difference between the two values reflects the power of buoyancy to determine body density; b) plethysmography, which is based on Boyle's law of perfect gases and where body density is the ratio of body mass to body volume; and c) calculation of radio-isotopes, which estimates fat and fat-free mass via measurement of total body water or potassium isotopes [36]. Despite their increased accuracy and validity, the aforementioned do not represent the go-to assessment methodology due to their invasive nature, extensive need for appropriate machinery and increased cost.

Use of methods based on more component models is widely met both in current practice and research, primarily due to their increased accessibility and relatively increased accuracy of quick results. Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) constitutes a widely implemented approach where a weak electrical current is applied to the individual, structured on the principle that water, as opposed to fat tissue, is a good conductor of electricity. Therefore, fat, muscle and body water densities are measured according to the observed resistance to the current's flow. A different approach refers to the implementation of the Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) method. Through using low-power x-ray beams, DEXA measures body fat and fat-free mass, in addition to bone mineral density. Given its increased predictive value, DEXA is extensively used in cases focusing on bone density assessment [34-36].

Similarly based to multi-component principles as in the case of DEXA and primarily used in the evaluation of abdominal obesity, use of computerized tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can increase the individual's detailed assessment due to their ability to differentiate between visceral and subcutaneous fat [34-36].
1.1.3. Body Weight Regulation

Body weight is mainly dependent on the hormonal regulation of energy homeostasis. Homeostatic mechanisms surrounding metabolism heavily involve the reciprocal cooperation of multiple organ systems, namely the nervous, the endocrine and the gastrointestinal ones. Multiple hormonal peptides included in key processes (i.e. cortisol, ghrelin and leptin) are further subject to circadian regulation, i.e. the 24hour periodic variation of substances involved in numerous human biological procedures [37]. Pathways regulating systemic metabolism operate under the control of the autonomous nervous system via involvement of the vagus nerve, as well as afferent and non-afferent nerves, responsible for receiving endocrine and paracrine signals and subsequently regulating brain-controlled metabolic responses [36,37]. Via both mobilizing and responding to hormonal signals related to food intake, energy homeostasis is dependent on brain-controlled metabolic pathways mainly located on the hypothalamus' arcuate nucleus (ARC), the paraventricular nucleus (PVN), the brainstem's nucleus tractus solitarii (NTS) and nucleus accumbens (Acb). This approach to energy regulation involving multiple organ systems under control of the brain is summarized in what is known as "Homeostatic Control/Mechanism of Energy Balance" [36,37].

Energy control centers around the anorexigenic effect of the proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons and the opposite orexigenic influence of the neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related protein expressing (AgRP) neurons. The latter stimulate the production for the anorexigenic a-melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH), which promotes catabolic processes and satiety via binding to the corresponding melanocortin receptors located throughout the nervous system (Melanocortin 3 and Melanocortin 4 receptors – MC3R, MC4R) [36]. In a similar manner, a different hormone, the Brain-derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF), also promotes MC4R activation and subsequent anorexigenic signaling by responding to peripheral hormone production such as leptin. Similarly, expression of the cocaine-and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) in the brain's ARC, PVN and Acb, has also been shown to associate with anorexigenic effects, while presenting co-storage in regions with high POMC neuron content [38]. On the contrary, the same MC4R receptor antagonist agouti protein, which is produced by NPY and AgPR, promotes food consumption by increasing orexigenic stimuli [36,39] (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Hormonal regulation of energy metabolism [36].

Energy intake is a multi-sectoral process, where the interaction between hormones secreted throughout the gastrointestinal tract and the vagus nerve instrument collaborative procedures in promoting food consumption or satiety and dictate macronutrient storage or breakdown. Key substances involved in energy regulation follow the order of the digestive system (Figure 37), where more specifically:

- oxyntic glands in the stomach produce ghrelin in response to absence of food, which prompts orexigenic signaling to promote food consumption via binding to vagus nerve receptors. Ghrelin binding to the (Growth Hormone Secretagogue Receptors 1a- (GHSR) affects the vagus nerve projections to the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus (VMN) and the dorsal vagal complex of the brain (DVC), where orexigenic NPY and AgPR neurons are stimulated;
- small intestine I-cells secrete cholecystokinin (CCK) which stimulates the production of amylase, lipase, bile and other pancreatic enzymes and responsively binds to vagus nerve receptors to inhibit further food intake;
- enteroendocrine L-cells in the small intestine and colon produce the glucagonlike peptide-1 enzyme (GLP-1), promoting glucose and lipid metabolism while simultaneously acting as an anorexigenic agent;
- enteroendocrine L-cells in the ileum and colon of the large intestine cells produce the YY peptide (PYY) and oxyntomodulin prompting satiety via binding to the vagus nerve.

A dual role for both the digestive and the endocrine system is found in the function of pancreas, where secretion of the pancreatic peptide (PP) by the pancreatic polypeptide cells stimulates bile release and vagovagal afferent signals in promoting anabolic processes, while production of insulin in response to glucose presence promotes glucose metabolism and storage [36]. Moreover, large contribution is attributed to adipose tissue-derived hormones called adipokines, such as leptin and adiponectin. Production and binding of the former to the leptin receptors (LepR) in the brain induces satiety and energy expenditure, while secretion of the latter promotes insulin-controlled glucose anabolism and lipid metabolism [36,40]. More specifically, leptin is produced by adipose tissue cells, crosses the blood-brain barrier and enters the hypothalamus, where it binds to the leptin receptor and contributes to: i) signalling the suppression of energy intake; ii) inhibiting the expression of the orexigenic Neuropeptide Y (NPY); iii) inducing the expression of further anorexigenic peptides, such as proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and α -Melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH) (under the control of the MC3R and MC4R genes). On the contrary, ghrelin is an orexigenic hormone produced by the stomach, which increases the expression of other such molecules, like NPY. Although the levels of direct ghrelin transport to the brain are potentially quite low, ghrelin is one of the hormones which can cross the brain-blood barrier (BBB) and directly induce brain responses to food intake [41]. Another orexigenic peptide is the melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH), which contributes to appetite and the beginnings of eating episodes [42,43] (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Stages of hormonal control of energy homeostasis in the different human organs [42].

Another pillar affecting metabolic regulation and energy homeostasis refers to implications involving the gut. Energy homeostatic mechanisms involve the activation of the bidirectional gut-brain axis (GBA) leading to a cascade of events affecting metabolic pathways, macronutrient synthesis and breakdown and, even, inflammatory response. The secretion of various hormones from endocrine cells throughout the gastrointestinal tract as a response to nutrient influx, acts as a stimulus to responses of the enteric (ENS) and subsequently the autonomous and central nervous systems, via endocrine or paracrine functions from enteroendocrine cells (EECs) to vagal afferents of the GI epithelium and simultaneous activation of pathways in multiple visceral organs [41, 44]. The latter extend to brain regions such as the NTS which, in turn, affect hypothalamus, ARC and PVN, essentially uniting the two systems in regulating metabolic responses based on the existing food availability [45].

Hormonal activation of brainstem-derived neurons of vagal afferents spread throughout the gastrointestinal tract (GI tract) is central in the stimulation of the gutbrain axis. One of the greatest examples lies in the activities of the intestine-secreted,

anorexigenic CCK. With its levels rising after meal intake, the latter promotes satiety and suppresses further food consumption both directly via increase in the peripheral regulation which ultimately creates responses reaching the CCK receptors located in the brain, and indirectly through activation of vagal afferents connected to the gut and ultimately reaching the NTS. Through its role in the activation of the neural-gut connections, CCK is further implicated in more mechanisms responding to food intake, such as the post-prandial suppression of the production of glucose in the liver [41, 46]. A different mechanism refers to the anorexigenic actions of the GLP-1 peptide, the secretion of which appears to be stimulated by neural signals even in the early stages of the nutrient influx in the GI tract. GLP-1 binds to the GLP-1 receptors located in neurons of vagal afferents throughout the GI tract and brain regions, directly stimulating the responses to food presence and regulating the glycemic metabolic responses. Lastly, although studies remain inconclusive on a definite role of PYY on the activation of the axis, the current notion supports that the intestine-produced peptide YY can act in promoting long-term satiety by activating vagal afferents leading to stimulation of POMC neurons through inhibition of NPY [41, 46]. It is worth mentioning that the pathways via which the stimulation of hormonal secretion occurs can be differentiated based on the different macronutrients metabolized. For example, glucose-stimulated release of CCK or GLP-1 from the intestinal cells takes place via different pathways than the one initiated by long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) [41]. However, as food intake predominantly involves the simultaneous metabolism of the different quantities of all macronutrients, it is possible that all candidate pathways are activated at the same time in an effort to promote the systemic responses needed to promote satiety and suppress further food intake.

Furthermore, essential to the role of the nutrient-stimulated hormones is the function of gut-microbiome affected-chemoreceptors located throughout the GI tract. The symbiotic association between the host and gut microbiota creates a bilateral environment, where nutrient influx affects microbiome development and microbiota subsequently affect metabolic and immune pathways [41]. The crucial role of gut microbiota in the activation of the gut-brain axis is summarized in the following actions, the up- or down-regulation of each one can directly impact the regulation of all others. More specifically, GBA is involved in: i) the modulation or production of multiple metabolites, such as SCFA, tryptophan, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), catecholamines and bile acids), which further affect metabolic and physiological pathways; ii) the modulation of 5-hydrotryptamine -or serotonin- production from intestinal cells, which is positively influenced by other gut metabolites (i.e. bile acids and SCFA) and, in turn, impacts the activation of enteric nervous system (ENS) or vagal afferents [41]; iii) the impairment in the function of ENS through production of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) by Gram-negative gut bacteria [41,45]; and iv) the indirect activation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis through production of multiple metabolites.

Modulation and production of metabolites is key in the gut-associated activation of metabolic cascades. BAs can bind in corresponding receptors in the ECCs or even increase their transcription factors (G protein-coupled bile acid receptor-1), promoting the production of GLP-1 [41]. Production of SCFAs such as butyrate, acetate and propionic acids resulting from the breakdown of complex carbohydrates, can also bind to ECC and vagal receptors [41] and help regulate glucose metabolism and the enteral stimulation of production of metabolic hormones such as the GLP-1 or PYY [45]. Propionate is used in gluconeogenesis, while acetate passes to the peripheral circulation and can even cross the BBB and directly affect energy homeostatic pathways [46]. Moreover, gut-derived neurotransmitters, such as GABA, which is produced by bacterial strains like Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus [41, 45], can also cross the BBB and directly enter the brain affecting multiple metabolic- and other type- metabolic responses [45]. To boot, microbial byproducts like the LPS are recognized by the ENS and lead to the activation of a cascade of signals increasing cytokines and immune system activation [45]. As it will be further analyzed below, these functions are most apparent in the existence of external stressors -such as stress and high fat diets- and can be further associated with activation of the HPA via increase in stress-related hormones like the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) [45].

Weight gain occurs during a steady state of positive energy balance, where the individual's El is greater than their energy expenditure (i.e. the sum of Basal Metabolic Rate-BMR, Diet-Induced Thermogenesis-DIT and the Thermic Effect of Food-TEF). The latter leads to the creation of energy surplus to be stored in the form of glycogen (muscle tissue) or triglycerides (muscle and adipose tissues) [47] (Figure 9). Increased EI and storage inevitably lead to the augmentation of fat cells in the respective different kinds of adipose tissues, subsequently increasing the production of adipose tissue-related hormones (Figure 10).



Figure 9. Energy Balance during A. Optimal metabolic Status and B. During increased energy intake [47]

Both the white and the brown adipose tissues (WAT and BAT) contribute to energy metabolism through their ability to store fat cells and participate in fat oxidation and thermogenesis, respectively. For that reason and given the increased endocrine and paracrine metabolic action observed throughout its entirety, adipose tissue is nowadays viewed as an active endocrine gland. Behaviors surrounding food intake entail multiple individual factors, such as genetic predisposition or health status, but also involve contextual determinants, like environmental factors or socioeconomic, family and education status. Originally, research focused on the role of CNS in the pathogenesis of obesity due to its central part in maintaining energy homeostasis and dictating switches on food consumption. In an effort to unravel the neural parameter of food intake, various patterns have been used to describe the human eating tendencies, namely: i) the model of "reflexive eating", which emphasizes on the human proclivity to overeat as a means to prepare for potential future circumstances of food scarcity and has been shown to implicate brain region like the ARC and the brainstem; and ii) the model of "reflective" eating, which further takes into account cognitive parameters on health and social status related to body shape [48].



Figure 10. Effect of energy surplus on energy metabolism [49].

The role of the human factor in ultimately shaping metabolic processes was further highlighted in the context of the "Hedonic Mechanism of Energy Balance", which differentiates itself from the aforementioned Homeostatic Mechanism, by underlining the importance of complementary brain regions, such as the hippocampus and amygdala, in dictating food behavior by shaping the will and not the need for food consumption [50]. Thusly, various studies have focused on the potential impact of key brain regions directly or indirectly involved in the regulation of metabolic pathways such multiple brain cortices, which are also implicated in biological processes affected or connected to emotional response (e.g. sadness or reward seeking behavior). In this context, the central role of the brain's anterior and posterior cingulate cortices (ACC and PCC) in emotional regulation is mainly attributed to their ability to receive information and extend projections to the hypothalamus [51], ACC's ability to control reward-related actions and outcomes, as well as PCC's capacity as an actioncoordinating domain [17]. Davidson et al. first focused on the potential interaction between altered brain activity and energy homeostasis [52]. Indeed, hippocampal activity was variously related to food intake, namely due to the negative effect of increased fat intake on BDNF expression, the existence of receptors for insulin and

leptin, and its sensitivity to satiety stimuli. The latter promote brain-gut-axis activity via gut-hippocampal signaling and subsequent interactions between the hippocampus and other brain regions involved in energy regulation [51]. Studies in rats further supported that altered hippocampal activity was associated to energy regulation, potentially due to the disrupted function of learning processes that, in turn, affect appetite and consumption [53,54]. Similarly, the amygdala region is also shown to interact with energy-related metabolites. Pineda et al highlighted the anorexigenic effect of the POMC neurons that are projected from ARC to the amygdala as well as the potential effect of amygdala-located NPY receptors. Additionally, α -MSH binding to MC4Rs expressed in the amygdala, also demonstrated a potential effect on the regulation of feeding behavior [55]. A different study in mice demonstrated the positive association between activation of amygdala-located neurons that implicated in neurotensin expression with preference for increased-energy consumption and hedonic eating [56].

Another connective link between emotional state and energy metabolism might refer to the role of the cingulate cortex, due to the ACC's association to food-related stimuli, emotional processing and subsequent decision-making, and PCC's projections to the hippocampus [57]. Indeed, individuals with higher BMI, obesity or binge-eating disorder have repeatedly shown disrupted brain and ACC activity [58-60]. Whiting et al demonstrated that patients with anorexia showed increased ACC activity in response to food images and hypermetabolic activity in the hippocampus and amygdala [61]. A different study in men of normal weight showed an association between ACC activation and ad libidum food consumption [62] and other studies have directly looked at the effect of emotions on BMI levels or presented a partly physiologically-attributed, positive relationship between overeating and BMI in individuals with depression. Furthermore, sums of reactions associated to emotional stimuli are now regarded as part of corresponding "systems" entailing relative cascades of physiological and metabolic responses, such as the PANIC/GRIEF and the SEEKING systems. Activation of the PANIC/GRIEF system occurs in emotional states of sadness and can provoke hormonal adaptations, which can, in turn, affect metabolic pathways related to energy homeostasis. By principle, increased corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) levels (noticed during PANIC/GRIEF system stimulation) lead to decreased feelings of appetite and prolactin, which are associated with lower food intake. At the same time frame but on a contradictory action, the decreased levels of oxytocin observed during the PANIC/GRIEF activity might increase the need for food consumption [63]. Complementing the action of the PANIC/GRIEF system, the arousal of the SEEKING system during the first stages of feeling emotions of despair might increase the drive for food-seeking behavior and thus elevate food consumption. Such notions can be further supported by the hypothalamic and dopamine-regions' imbalance observed in orexin during depression [64].

Presence of obesity directly leads to hormonal imbalances, especially in hormones of the adipose tissue. Individuals with excessive weight show a progressive decline in post-prandial ghrelin levels which results in prolonged tolerance and promotion of its orexigenic signal [36]. Although leptin levels are elevated due to the increase in the number and size of adipocytes, as fat tissue expands the intensity of the hormone's anorexigenic effect appear to grow weaker [36] (i.e. leptin resistance). The observed increase in leptin levels shows presents a dual metabolic disadvantage, as it not only negatively influences appetite suppression but also leads to establishment of lowgrade inflammation. As a consequence to elevated leptin, T-cells, Natural Killer (NK) cells, macrophage proliferate and cytokine production grows (eg Tumor Necrosis Factor α -TNF- α , Interleukin 6 -IL-6), aiding the establishment of oxidative stress and a low-grade, but continuous inflammatory state [65].

Another pillar in excessive weight presence refers to its reciprocal relationship with misaligned circadian rhythms. In the case of humans, the circadian clock refers to the mammal's innate capacity to regulate the stable secretion of various hormones according to external environmental stimuli, such as light presence or absence, during the 24-hour-day period. On the one hand, disrupted circadian rhythms due to factors unrelated to weight at first reading, such as sleep disturbances, can indirectly lead to increase of weight due to the observed metabolic imbalances of circadian hormones [66]. Conversely, the existence of obesity and the cascade of metabolic dysregulation that come with it and aggravate circadian disturbances and lead to further homeostatic misalignment [67].

Lastly, another major connective point with weight imbalances refers to disruptions in the gut-brain axis leading to alterations in gut microbiome [68]. In a reciprocal manner similar to the ones previously analyzed, excessive weight also affects the gut microbiota-host relationship disrupting the latter's part in macronutrient metabolism [69]. Indicatively, gut microbiota are responsible for carbohydrate fermentation and the production of metabolic byproducts rendering them indispensable in the maintenance of gastrointestinal tract homeostasis [69]. Changes in the intake of dietary compounds such as carbohydrates, fiber and fat directly affects microbiome metabolic procedures and subsequent glucose and fat homeostasis by increase or decrease of produced substances, such as the fiberenhanced production of SCFA [70,71]. Presence of obesity has been connected to altered microbiome profile, with literature dictating increases in strains such as the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio [72]. These can, in turn, affect metabolic and inflammatory pathways aiding in further metabolic dysregulation. Figure 11 presents the transition from the interaction between gut macronutrient metabolism in normal weight versus in the presence of obesity.



Figure 11. Gut-brain axis in energy metabolism in general versus [41] versus B. gutbrain axis in energy metabolism in the presence of obesity [45].

1.1.4. Genetics and Epigenetics of Overweight and Obesity

Obesity can be a result of multidisciplinary etiology. Different types of obesity presence concern: i) obesity associated with the existence of a specific syndrome-syndromic obesity; ii) obesity attributed to the effect of a single gene-monogenic obesity; and obesity related to the simultaneous and reciprocal influence of multiple genes-polygenic obesity.

Syndromic Obesity

Regarding the first category, syndromic diseases are usually inheritable in autosomal or sex-linked dominant or recessive manners and the severity of their symptoms can vary according to the degree of genetic penetrance and expressivity. The term syndromic obesity refers to the presence of obesity as a phenotype in the context of the manifestation of a diagnosed syndrome along with other signs and symptoms usually involving disabilities, organ abnormalities and/or developmental delay and mental disability [73]. This type of obesity can result from changes in the number or structure of chromosomes [36] or the pleiotropic action of one or multiple genes [36, 73].

One of the most well-studied cases of syndromic obesity concerns the Prader-Willi Syndrome (PWS). The disorder is attributed to the loss of gene function of chromosome 15 due to paternal genomic imprinting. This affects hypothalamic function, resulting in reduced expression of growth hormone and disruptions in metabolic pathways related to energy homeostasis and food consumption [36]. Children with PWS present high rates of morbid obesity due to excessive appetite and overeating appearing after the age of 4, as well as developmental delay, growth abnormalities and learning and behavioral difficulties [74]. In an attempt to further understand the genetic aspects and interactions involved in the disorder, in 2021, the Foundation for Prader-Willi Research announced the PWS Genome Project; the first attempt to conduct whole genome sequencing in PWS patients [36].

A similar case of syndromic obesity is encountered in the presence of the Bardet-Bield Syndrome (BBS) which is caused by multiple mutations in the BBS1-BBS21 chromosomic region and is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner [36]. The disorder is characterized by disrupted vision, cardiac and kidney functions, central obesity and hypogonadism [36]. Due to the observed disruption in energy homeostasis and the high penetrance of genetic mutations related to insulin resistance, patients with BBS present a high risk for type 2 diabetes [36].

Other disorders where the obesity phenotype is manifested as part of syndromic genetic disruption include: i) the Albright Hereditary Osteodystrophy (AHO) syndrome which is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner due to maternal genomic imprinting and includes disruptions in the metabolism of parathormone and growth hormone; ii) the Alstrom Syndrome (ALMS) inherited in an autosomal recessive way and related to disrupted vision, hearing and glucose metabolism; iii) the fragile X syndrome, which is attributed to repetitions of the CGG triplet in the FMR1 gene, related to mental disability and associated with the presence of a Prader-Willi-like obesity phenotype; iv) the Wilms Tumor Aniridia, Genitourinary abnormalities, mental retardation syndrome (WAGR) which is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner and accompanies disruptions in BDNF expression due to loss of genes in the

chromosome 11; v) the Angelman syndrome caused by maternal genomic imprinting in chromosome 15 and associated with mental and developmental retardation; and vi) the Smith-Magenis syndrome, which might occur either randomly or via autosomal dominant inheritance and entails deletions and mutations in chromosome 11 [36].

Monogenic Obesity

Moving on from syndromic obesity, increased weight can further be a result of the disruptive function of a single key-gene. The term monogenic obesity is used to describe the existence of the disorder being attributed to the altered function of one single gene, usually involved in key metabolic pathways. Most forms of monogenic obesity are associated with mutations in genes implicated in the leptin-melanocortin pathway, such the leptin (LEP), leptin receptor (LEPR), POMC, the Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 1 (PCSK1), BDNF, neurotrophic receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (NTRK2), the Single-minded homolog 1 (SIM1), and MC4R genes (Table 3) [75,76]. Given the fact that most such mutations are inherited in a recessive manner, homozygote status is a-priori associated with heavy phenotypic manifestations and increased symptom severity. However, cases of heterozygotes may also present "intermediate" phenotypes, where symptom gravity can resemble the one attributed to susceptibility to common obesity [75].

The most well-studied genes related to this rare form of obesity concern the presence of mutations in genes involved in leptin transcription and expression pathways, namely the LEP and LEPR genes. Congenital leptin deficiency is a characteristic example resulting in monogenic obesity, where individuals do not produce sufficient amounts of the hormone due to disruptions in LEP expression [77]. LEP mutations are inherited in an autosomal recessive manner and are further responsible for the presence of hyperphagia in the early stages of life, leading to severe obesity, as well as hyperinsulinemia leading to an increased risk for T2D development [78]. Their presence can also lead to accompanying phenotypes like hypogonadism and late puberty onset attributed to general disruptions in hormones of the HPA axis such as the follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, thyroidstimulating hormone and growth hormone-releasing hormone [36]. Additionally, deficiency of the hormone can also generate disruptions in immune responses due to reduction in inflammatory cell and cell regulators' inhibitors protecting tissue damage (e.g. serine protease inhibitor a1-antitrypsin). Simultaneously, accumulation of inflammatory cell regulators triggers further metabolic disruptions leading to an increased state of inflammation, such as insulin resistance or hepatic steatosis [78]. In reviewing cases of leptin deficiency, Rodrigues Salum et al underlined the potential effect of the different kinds of mutations in differentiating the severity of the observed manifestations, highlighting the association between mutation homozygote status and increased expression of weight-related altered phenotypes. As of 2021, the study reported a total of 17 different mutations in 67 individuals across the globe [78].

Also inherited in an autosomal recessive manner, mutations in the LEPR additionally promote the onset and establishment of monogenic obesity by inhibiting hormone binding and subsequent signaling. Compared to leptin deficiency alone, reduction in the receptor expression has been associated with the expression of more severe neuroendocrine disruptions (eg more severe hypogonadotropic hypogonadism), potentially due to the loss of its ligand-independent activity [77].

Mutations in LEPR are fairly uncommon, with less than 100 cases having been reported worldwide [36,76].

POMC is a different gene heavily implicated in energy metabolism, mutations in which can be inherited in an autosomal manner (dominant or recessive). Disruptions in POMC expression affect leptin signaling-due to leptin influencing POMC-expressing neurons- and MC4R neurons' activations via reduction of α -MSH production [76]. Newborns with POMC mutations will soon present cortisol and ACTH deficiency, mild central hypothyroidism and hyperphagia leading to the establishment of severe obesity [76,79]. Interestingly, reduction of α -MSH signaling has been associated with the presence of red hair in Caucasian populations [80], providing evidence for the potential effect of different ancestry in phenotype expressivity.

To boot, PCSK1 expression is involved in the production of the prohormone convertase 1/3 family who are, in turn, implicated in the cleavage of metabolism-related prohormones and the subsequent activation of multiple functioning hormones, such as insulin, glucagon, GLP-1, α -MSH, TSH and GnRH [36,76]. Mutations in the PCSK1 gene are subsequently associated with severe obesity and consequences following the disruption of the HPA axis, similar to the ones mentioned above (e.g. hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, adrenal insufficiency [79].

Apart from genes solely involved in energy homeostatic mechanisms, mutations in genes related to neurophysiological activity are also shown to affect the onset of severe obesity. Rare cases of mutations in the BDNF and the NTRK2 gene have been observed and associated with the presence of severe obesity and cognitive impairment in two cases of young children (an 8-year-old girl presenting insufficiency of BDNF and an 8-year-old boy presenting hyperphagia and obesity with a de novo mutation in NTRK2) [76,79]. In more detail, the NTRK2 gene is responsible for expressing both BDNF and its tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor, being, thus, involved in energy metabolism through MC4R-affected cascades [79]. More cases of less severe mutations in its entirety have been observed in patients with obesity or cognitive impairment, without, however, their direct effect on the obesity phenotype to have been fully elucidated [79]. A different characteristic example of gene mutations involved in neurological functions involved in energy homeostasis refer to mutations in the SIM1 gene. As the latter is involved in the development of PVN and subsequent cascade of POMC signaling, mutations in its entirety have been associated with obesity phenotypes, hyperphagia and other neurological dysfunctions. Those can, in turn, affect brain centers indirectly related to energy homeostasis, such as regions affecting cognitive abilities, memory and hypopituitarism [76,79].

Finally, also autosomal inherited, monogenic obesity-related mutations are further observed in the MC4R gene. Innately implicated in energy homeostasis, MC4R mutations are account for 0.2-5.8% of severe obesity cases [80] and are heavily involved in disrupted satiety signaling, leading to severe obesity onset due to hyperphagia; a tendency which appears to reduce over the aging years. Homozygote status appears to be of importance in phenotype severity, as heterozygotes for MC4R mutations can present great variability in weight-related phenotypes and allelic heterogeneity appears to be related with different pathogenic mechanisms [76]. As it will be further analyzed below, such mutations penetrance and expressivity greatly varies also based on the interactive effect of environment. MC4R mutations are, therefore, placed in the range between monogenic and polygenic obesity, with Huvenne et al characterizing them as contributing to "oligogenic" obesity [79]. Oligogenic obesity, such as melanocortin 4 receptor(MC4R)-linked obesity, is characterized by a variable severity of obesity, partly dependent on environmental factors and the absence of a specific phenotype. This type of obesity is responsible for 2–3% of obesity in adults and children [79].

Gene	Chromosomic	Inheritance	Obesity-related phenotypes
	position	Manner	
LEP	7:128241278- 128257629	Autosomal Recessive	Morbid Obesity, Hyperphagia, Hyperinsulinemia, Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism, observed within days after birth
LEPR	1:65420652- 65641559	Autosomal Recessive	Morbid Obesity, Extreme Hyperphagia, Hyperinsulinemia, Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism, observed within days after birth
POMC	2:25160853- 25168903	Autosomal Dominant or Recessive	Morbid Obesity, Hyperphagia, Hyperinsulinemia, observed within months after birth
PCSK1	5:96390333- 96434143	Autosomal Recessive	Hyperphagia, Hyperinsulinemia, HPA axis disturbance, observed during early childhood
BDNF	11:27654893- 27722058	-	Morbid Obesity, Hyperphagia, observed during childhood/adulthood
NTRK2	9:84668375- 85095751	-	Hyperphagia, increased weight gain, observed within months after birth
SIM1	6:100385009- 100464921	-	Hyperphagia, increased weight gain, observed during childhood
MC4R	18:60371062- 60372775	Autosomal Dominant or Recessive	Hyperphagia, increased weight gain, observed during early childhood

Table 3. Genes implicated in monogenic obesity [36, 76].

Polygenic Obesity

The majority of cases of overweight or obesity are, however, attributed to the cumulative action of a multitude of genes, usually exerting an aggravated impact in the presence of favorable contextual factors such as unbalanced diet or lack of physical activity. Obesity is, thus, viewed as a multifactorial disorder with many an interesting approach attempting to lay the ground for the principles of its understanding. Perhaps two of the most well-known theories surrounding obesity etiology lie in the "Thrifty" and "Drifty" gene hypotheses. The former argues that the existence of genes implicated in the etiology of diabetes survived through the ages via the process of natural selection. In this way, sufficient weight gain and fat accumulation promoted survival in times when food intake or availability were scarce [36,81]. Due to the lack of backing evidence such as the fact that not all people who have survived presented the same "protective" genotype as the "Thrifty" hypothesis would dictate, the "Drifty" hypothesis rose to eminence. The latter argues that the observed increase in obesity prevalence derives from the genetic drift favoring appetite-regulating genes, which cannot be controlled under the process of natural selection [36, 82]. A milestone in the research surrounding the genetic effect on obesity incidence concerns the creation of the Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits (GIANT) consortium [83]. To date, GIANT constitutes the cornerstone of BMI-related genetic research, by accumulating the majority of

genome-wide association studies (GWAS) in large populations from around the world. Evidently, it is found that approximately 40-70% of the variation in BMI levels can be attributed to genetic factors, while the same percentage reaches the 30-60% range when it comes to WHR [83,84].

It is, therefore, arguable that the action of genes participating in energy-regulating metabolic pathways lies in the center of the synergistic procedures taking place for the onset and the establishment of polygenic obesity. As shown in Tables 4 and 5 current literature has identified a multitude of observed SNPs located in key genes affecting the regulation of energy-related hormones. A key gene in the research surrounding obesity onset and gravity concerns the cornerstone fat mass and obesityassociated (FTO) gene. GWAS conducted during the past two decades has demonstrated constituent associations between SNPs located in this chromosome 16 gene and an increased risk for commo obesity, elevated BMI, body fat accumulation [85], cardiometabolic or T2D risk [86] and even cancer onset [87-89]. Despite exhaustive efforts in rodents and humans, the mechanisms by which FTO SNPs contribute to obesity establishment have yet to be fully elucidated [85]. Current evidence suggests that FTO presents significant enzymatic activity, in turn affecting pathways related to energy metabolism. One of its most significant roles discovered to date concerns its potential epitranscirptomic action as a N6-methyl-adenosine (m(6)A) RNA demethylase promoting m(6)A demethylation, which is essential for fat metabolism and adipogenesis [90,91]. Moreover, the FTO-produced protein has been implied to play a part in mRNA regulating factors, therefore centrally shaping RNA transcription and translation processes [90,91]. Recent systematic reviews and metaanalyses have underlined the effect of several FTO SNPs on obesity-related outcomes, namely the rs9939609, rs1421085, rs8050136, rs17817449, rs1121980 [90,91]. Out of those, the former constitutes perhaps the most well-known one, with Ali et al underlining the distinct association between presence of the A risk allele and increased chances for obesity, in their recent 2021 meta-analysis [92]. Table 6 summarizes the properties of the most well-identified, obesity-related FTO variants.

Hormone	Function	Gene Name	Chromosomic	Associated	Alleles	MAF	Associated Index	Effect	Direction of Effect
	- · ·		position	SNPs	- /			Allele	
Ghrelin	Orexigenic	Ghrelin and Obestatin Prepropeptide (GHRL)	3:10285666- 10292947	rs143729751	G/T	0.002 (T)	Ghrelin levels	Т	Negative (β=-0299)
GRP	-	Gastrin Releasing petide (GRP)	18:59220158- 59230774	rs7243357	T/G	0.19 (G)	BMI, BMI- adjusted-for- smoking	Т	Positive (β= 0.015 to 0.025)
				rs1517037	C/T	0.24 (T)	Adult Body Size	С	Positive (β= 0.009)
ССК	Anorexigenic	Cholecystokinin	3:42257825-	rs8192473	C/T	0.05 (T)	BMI	Т	Positive (β= 0.035)
		(CCK)	42266185	rs754635	C/A/G/ T	0.23 (C)	BMI	G	Positive (β= 0.036)
				rs10460960	G/A/T	G (0.24)	BMI	А	Positive (β= 0.02)
				rs9839267	T/A/G	G (0.18)	BMI	т	Positive (β = 0.02)
				rs4377469	G/A/C/T	G (0.27)	BMI	Т	Positive (β = 0.04)
				rs75128851	C/A/G	C (0.23)	Body Weight	G	Negative (β= - 0.017)
				rs111768603	G/A/T	T (0.14)	Adult Body Size	G	Positive (β = 0.016)
				rs111768603	G/A/T	T (0.14)	Visceral Fat	т	Positive (β= 0.024)
				rs8192472	C/G/T	T (0.40)	zBMI	А	Negative (β= -4.85)
ΡΥΥ	Anorexigenic	Peptide YY (PYY)	17:43952733- 44004469	rs116953263	C/T	0.01 (T)	Bone Mineral Density	Т	Positive (β= 0.091)
РР	Anorexigenic	Pancreatic Polypeptide (PPY)	17:43940804- 43942476						
Insulin	Indirectly	Insulin (INS)	11:2159779-	rs3213225	G/A	0.45 (A)	Birth Weight	А	Positive (β= 0.009)
	anorexigenic	inorexigenic	2161221	rs11564722	C/T	0.33 (T)	HC-adjusted-for- BMI	Т	Negative (β= -0.024)
				rs35506085	G/A	0.28 (A)	HC-adjusted-for- BMI	А	Negative (β= -0.027)
				rs4244808	T/A/G	0.35 (G)	HC-adjusted-for- BMI	G	Negative (β= -0.017)

Table 4. List of SNPs in hormonal regulation-related genes and their associations with obesity-related traits.

				rs1003484	A/G/T	0.40 (A)	HC-adjusted-for- BMI	A	Negative (β= -0.021)
Leptin	Anorexigenic	Leptin (LEP)	7:128241278- 128257629	rs28954105	G/T	0.03 (T)	Leptin Measurements	Т	Negative (β= -0.218, 0.049-0.063)
				rs12537573	A/G/T	0.26 (G)	Leptin Measurements	A	Negative (β = -0.06)
				rs791600	G/A	0.44 (A)	Leptin Measurements	А	Negative (β= -0.043 - 0.088)
				rs104878505	G/C/T	0.50 (G)	Leptin Measurements	G	Positive (β= 0.033)
				rs104878505	G/C/T	0.50 (G)	Leptin Measurements- adjusted-for-BMI	G	Positive (β= 0.023 0.033)
				rs791600	G/A	0.44 (A)	Leptin Measurements- adjusted-for-BMI	A	Negative (β= -0.054, -0.118)
				rs17151919	G/A	0.03 (A)	Leptin Measurements- adjusted-for-BMI	A	Negative (β= -0.233 -0.333)
				rs104878505	G/C/T	0.50 (G)	BMI	С	Positive (β= 0.061 – 0.07)
				rs104878505	G/C/T	0.50 (G)	BMI	G	Negative (β= -0.046 -0.055)
Leptin	Anorexigenic	Leptin Receptor (LEPR)	1:65420652- 65641559	rs12077336	G/T	0.14 (T)	Leptin Receptor Levels	Т	Negative (β= -1.398)
				rs10789188	A/C/G/T	0.30 (A)	Leptin Receptor Levels	G	Negative (β= -0.36)
				rs191246201	G/A	0.001 (A)	Leptin Receptor Levels	А	Negative (β= -1.064)
				rs9436748	G/A/T	0.23 (T)	Leptin Receptor Levels	Т	Negative (β= -0.337)
				rs3790438	T/A/G	0.14 (A)	Leptin Receptor Levels	А	Negative (β= -1.37)
				rs34291655	T sec	luence	Leptin Receptor Levels	СТ	Negative (β= -0.34)

rs183790625	G/A	0.10 (A)	Leptin Receptor Levels	А	Negative (β= -1.32)
rs11805970	T/C/G	0.15 (G)	Leptin Receptor Levels	G	Negative (β= -1.44)
rs114123539	G/A/T	0.004 (T)	Leptin Receptor Levels	Т	Negative (β= -1.065, 1.20)
rs6588147	G/A	0.37 (G)	Leptin Receptor Levels	G	Positive (β= 0.314)
rs143288541	A/G	0.006 (G)	Leptin Receptor Levels	G	Negative (β= -1.094)
rs17097193	T/C	0.05 (C)	Leptin Receptor Levels	C	Positive (β= 0.381)
rs72683113	T/C	0.09 (C)	Leptin Receptor Levels	C	Positive (β= 0.341)
rs145770123	A/G	0.008 (G)	Leptin Receptor Level	G	Negative (β= -0.74)
rs10889560	C/A	0.16 (A)	Leptin Receptor Level	A	Positive (β= 0.341)
rs7535099	A/G	0.22 (G)	Leptin Receptor Level	G	Positive (β= 0.345)
rs174412403	T/C	0.21 (C)	Leptin Receptor Level	С	Negative (β= -0.328)
rs17415296	C/A	0.10 (A)	Leptin Receptor Level	А	Negative (β = -1.4)
rs112585178	G/T	0.01 (T)	Leptin Receptor Level	Т	Negative (β= -0.97)
rs12116840	G/A/C	0.19 (C)	Leptin Receptor Level	С	Positive (β= 0.236)
rs76962533	C/T	0.01 (T)	Leptin Receptor Level	Т	Negative (β= -0.03)
rs11208660	C/T	0.13 (T)	BMI	Т	Negative (β= -0.019)
rs9436303	A/G	0.28 (G)	BMI	G	Positive (β = -0.07)
rs2767486	A/G	0.31 (G)	BMI (age=3, 6m, 1, 1.5, 3y)	А	Negative (β= -0.12, 0.14)
rs2767486	A/G	0.31 (G)	BMI (age=3,6,8m, 1y)	G	Positive (β= 0.128, 0.169)

	rs10889551	A/C/G	0.37 (A)		А	Negative (β= -0.063,
				BMI (age=3, 6m, 1.5, 2y)		0.088)
	rs9436299	C/A/T	0.36 (C)	BMI-adjusted- for-WHR	А	Positive (β= 0.011)
	rs2767486	A/G	0.31 (G)	Body Size (age=10y)	A	Negative (β= -0.797)
	rs12409877	A/G	0.43 (G)	HC	А	Positive (β= 0.041)
	rs141707226	T seq	luence	WHR-adjusted- for-BMI	GT	Positive (β= 0.029)
	rs7511672	A/G	0.46 (G)	WHR-adjusted- for-BMI	A	Positive (β= 0.015)
-						

SNP	Gene	Chr	Chromosomic Position	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Related Phenotypes
rs2815752	NEGR1	1	1:72346757	G/A/C	G:0.32	А	BMI
rs2568958	NEGR1	1	1:72299433	G/A/C	G:0.32	А	Obesity, BMI
rs6548238	TMEM18	2	2:634905	T/C/G	T:0.12	С	Obesity, BMI
rs7561317	TMEM18	2	2:644953	A/G/T	A:0.16	G	BMI, Body weight
rs6265	BDNF	11	11:27658369	C/T	T:0.20	С	BMI, WC, WHR
rs925946	BDNF	11	11:27645655	T/A/C/G	T:025	Т	BMI
rs7498665	SH2B1	16	16:28871920	A/G/T	G:0.26	G	BMI
rs17782313	MC4R	18	18:60183864	T/A/C	C: 0.24	С	Obesity, BMI
rs12970134	MC4R	18	18:60217517	G/A	A: 0.21	А	BMI, WC, T2D
rs52820871	MC4R	18	18:60371599	T/G	G:<0.01	G	Obesity
rs2229616	MC4R	18	18:60372043	C/T	T:0.01	Т	Obesity, WC
rs1805081	NPC1	18	18:23560468	T/C	C:0.22	А	Obesity
rs11084753	KCTD15	18	19:33831232	A/C/G/T	A:0.43	G	BMI
rs29941	KCTD15	19	19:33818627	A/G/T	A:0.39	G	BMI

Table 5. List of SNPs in key genes associated with obesity-related traits [36].

 Table 6. List of FTO SNPs associated with obesity-related traits [36].

SNP	Chromosomic Position	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Related Phenotypes
rs9939609	16:53786615	T/A	A:0.34	А	Increased BMI and risk for T2D
rs1421085	16:53767042	T/C	C:0.23	С	Obesity, increased BMI, WC, HC
					and risk for T2D
rs9930506	16:53796553	A/G	G:0.29	G	Obesity
rs7202116	16:53787703	A/G	G:0.34	G	Increased BMI
rs3751812	16:53784548	G/T	T:0.22	Т	Increased BMI
rs17817449	16:53779455	T/A/G	G:0.31	G	Obesity, increased BMI

Obesity Epigenetics

Another pillar in obesity establishment concerns the role of epigenetic modifications. The latter mainly refer to mechanisms surrounding DNA methylation in region rich in C/G bases (CpG sites), histone modifications and the activity of noncoding microRNAs. As it will be further analyzed below, the manifestation of the gravity of epigenetics in obesity prevalence derives from the impact of contextual determinants both in a direct and in an indirect way [93]. It is now established that environmental parameters, such as the quantity and quality of the consumed food, PA, smoking or other lifestyle habits can disrupt circadian regulation, increase DNA methylation rates and affect post-translational histone modifications. Therefore, the impact of nutritional compounds is located in the center of stimulation of epigenetic processes, with literature dictating the vital role of environmental characteristics during the first days of life after conception in the establishment of epigenetic procedures shaping disease predisposition. The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) approach, highlights that the origins of various types of adult disease can be traced back to endometrial life, with nutrition throughout all stages of endometrial and early life to have been found associated with different birth phenotypes, which are, in turn, related to environmental adaptations during infanthood and childhood, and, even, metabolic abnormalities or mental health in adulthood [94]. Furthermore, perinatal factors can also affect epigenetic changes. One of the most well-known nutrition-related factors concerns the period of breastfeeding [95]. The benefits of breastfeeding are well-documented with children who have been breastfed to have been consistently showing protective effects in later-on manifestation of inflammatory or cardiometabolic disorders [95]. Data obtained by animals show that human breast milk reduces chance for adult obesity due to its fat components activating the PPARy receptor which de-methylases the Fgf21 factor; a procedure known to be associates with lower chances for adult obesity [36]. Generally, the epigenetic processes appear associated with the metabolic procedures of the fat tissue and subsequent levels of adipose tissue hormones, such as leptin.

Nutritional practices or macronutrient/micronutrient compounds have also specifically been connected to metabolic procedures via their impact on epigenetic mechanisms [36]. It is interesting that the different compounds can oppositely affect disease risk by increasing or decreasing the same epigenetic processes. Naturally, nutrients such as SFA, sugars or dietary patterns such as the WD have been associated with increased oxidative stress and subsequent inflammation rates, as well as an elevated risk for cardiometabolic disorders and obesity establishment. On the contrary, beneficial dietary compounds such as MUFA, PUFA, fiber, vitamins or dietary regimens like the Mediterranean Diet-MD present protective effects by reducing oxidative stress and preventing metabolic disorders such as insulin resistance, cardiovascular disease and obesity [36].

1.1.5. Metabolomics of Overweight and Obesity

The need to deepen the understanding of the multifactorial obesity etiology led the focus of research to multiple fields related to disease-associated biomarkers' discovery. Recently, studies in the field of metabolomics – the profiling of molecules associated to traits of interest- yielded significant findings regarding indices associated with weight gain. Traditionally, metabolite identification occurs via use of mass spectrometry or nuclear magnetic resonance targeted or non-target metabolomic analyses [96-98] but different methods such as machine learning have been employed for the discerning of novel biomarkers [99]. Presence of obesity or weight gain is imprinted on perturbed metabolic signatures of indices implicated in various protein, lipid and glucose metabolic pathways, such as branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) or short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) breakdown, the urea or Krebs cycles, as well as biological processes involved in inflammation, oxidate stress and immune system or mitochondrial function [100]. By and large, during the generalized disturbed metabolic state that is obesity, a continuous and reciprocal



Figure 12. Obesity-related metabolomic biomarkers [101]

turn bilaterally affecting the secretion of the former and vice versa. In a systematic review of obesity metabolomics, Payab et al showed that presence of obesity or metabolic syndrome was associated with elevated levels of several amino acids, namely the leucine, isoleucine and valine branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), phenylalanine, tyrosine, glycine and glycerol, among other amino acids. The study presented that anthropometric indices such as fat mass and waist circumference measurements were further associated with increase in BCAAs, tyrosine, phenylalanine, alanine and glutamic acid but decrease in glycine and choline (Figure 12) [101]. Furthermore, emphasis was also given on the altered levels of lipids such as lysophospatidylocholines [101].

Similar findings were presented by a different systematic review from 2019 which also highlighted the role of BCAAs and further supported the existence of increased levels of tryptophan, citrulline, acylcarnitines, ketoglutarate, serotonin and lipids like saturated or polyunsaturated fatty acids (SFA and PUFAs) and phospholipids such as sphingomyelins and lysophospholipids. The study additionally underlined the possibly dual role of adenosine, which increases in obesity presence but can ignite a compensatory effect in reducing further obesity establishment [102].

In like manner, Dias-Audivert et al used machine learning techniques to identify novel biomarkers related to weight gain. Their analyses indicated the role of five biomarkers associated with inflammatory and disturbed metabolic pathways, namely: Argininosuccinate, 3- carboxy-4-methyl-5-propyl-2-furanpropanoic acid (CMPF), Dihydrobiopterin, a leukotriene metabolite and aprostaglandin (PGB2) [99]. Moreover, Vijay et Valdes underlined the possible effect of gut microbiome- affected biomarkers, such as SFCA, on metabolic changes during weight gain via implicating key energy-related molecules, such as insulin [100].

The metabolomic profile of obesity has also been specifically studied in younger populations. Handakas et al distinctively presented a collective sample of increased BCAA, phospholipid and steroid levels in children with obesity [103]. The same study also underlined the findings of Lopez-Contreras et al who showed an inverse relation between presence of obesity and levels of the gut microbiome Bacteroides plebeius and Christensenellaceae strains, as well as the negative relations of the latter with the positively-related with obesity phenylalanine levels [103,104]. In like manner, levels of the weight-gain-related and microbial strain-influenced urine trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) index were also linked with childhood obesity, where increased amounted were related with higher BMI [102].

Altered obesity metabolomic profiling has also presented differences between men and women, again implicated in multiple pathways of amino acid, glucose, lipid and gut-microbiome-related metabolism [105]. In a sample of adult female participants of the TwinsUK study, Menni et al showed positive associations between 30 metabolites and weight indices, with four out of them maintaining associations in replication analyses in the KORA cohort. More specifically, increased urate, valine and butyrylcarnitine levels were positively associated with weight gain, whereas elevated 3-phenylproprionate presented negative relations [106]. Similarly, results from metabolomic analyses in children from the Childhood Overweight BioRepository of

Australia (COBRA) cohort revealed differentiated associations between males and females, with the former showing relations between increased BMI z-score and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) content [107].

In 2018, Cirruli et al used non-targeted metbaolomics approached to attempt to decipher the metabolomic perturbations observed in obesity indices of participants of the TwinsUK cohort. The study identified а 48-metabolite metabolome signature



Figure 13. Metabolomic markers and obesity phenotypes [98].

consisting of BCAAs and other substances implicated in DNA and RNA processes to be strongly associated with BMI and BMI-related metabolic factors (Figure 13) [98]. It is worth noting that the percentage of BMI variation explained by a model containing age, sex and the 49-metbaolite signature lied in an impressive 43% [Figure 13) [98]. Overall, these findings could potentially be used as predictors and facilitators of obesity prevention and treatment and be further combined in investigating the gravity of the effect of lifestyle choices in modifying the magnitude of the associations.

1.1.6. The Role of Lifestyle in Overweight and Obesity

Genetic predisposition, alone, is not always the main reason leading to the establishment of conditions associated with increased weight. Naturally, diet is one of the cornerstones of overweight and obesity development, where positive energy balance and excessive dietary intake of foodstuffs with high fat or sugar content can directly lead to weight gain.

Diet Quality

There are multiple measures used to assess diet quality, primarily based on the macronutrient content of the consumed food groups. Measures such as the Alternate Healthy Eating Index (AHEI); the Diet Quality Index (DQI); the Healthy Diet Indicator, and the Mediterranean Diet Score (MedDietScore) are considered the original, keyindicators for diet quality assessment, consisting of the aggravation of the consumption of food groups (i.e. protein sources, fruits and vegetables, among others) and even micronutrients (i.e. total cholesterol-TC, SFA, PUFAs or MUFAs, among others), to provide a summed score reflecting satisfying or poor levels of diet quality [108]]. In their 2017 systematic review, Asghari G et al overall demonstrated that higher score values (denoting better diet quality due to higher consumption of healthier foods) were generally associated with better adult anthropometric measurements, lower weight and increased health status, while also presenting variations in the observed relations based on sex, origin and other individual and lifestyle characteristics [109]. A different systematic review focusing on children and adolescent populations identified 128 pediatric indices used to assess diet quality, with half of them including dietary intakes and increased levels of which were positively associated with better anthropometric, cardiometabolic and cognitive measurements [110].

In general, apart from the use of diet quality indicators, the role of dietary regimens consisting of increased consumptions of high-fat or sugar sources, shows a direct cause-and-effect relationship with increased levels of BMI and higher risk for BMI-related disorders. A characteristic example of increased BMI-related regimens lies in the adoption of the WD. The latter specifically refers to increased caloric intake via intake of "unhealthy", processed foods with high caloric, fat, sugar and/or sodium content (i.e. red or processed meat, fast food, ready-to-make meals and sweets, among others), along with a simultaneous reduced intake of unprocessed, high-infiber and vitamin food groups, such as fruits and vegetables. Studies in both sexes and populations of multiple origins have shown that attrition to WD can be directly associated with higher BMI values, in a dose-responsive manner. In fact, recently, Eng JY et al showed that adults in the highest quartile for adherence to WD showed a 14fold increased chance of presenting overweight or obesity [111]. In a similar context, analyses identifying dietary patterns have also highlighted associations between patterns including WD components -usually incorporating the term WD in the pattern's name- and elevated BMI scores or direct existence of overweight or obesity [112].

On the contrary, adherence to diets or dietary patterns comprising healthy, low-fat content foods like fruit and vegetables, appear to be associated with lower risks for overweight or obesity presence. "Prudent" dietary patterns are regularly related with better quality of anthropometric and biochemical measurements in literature, with the most characteristic example referring to the holistic adoption of the MD, the health advantages of which have been extensively described in current literature [113]. MD is characterized by the timely and balanced consumption of all food groups by: i) minimizing the intake of potentially detrimental food stuffs like processed foods or red meat (recommended consumption: one portion per week); ii) centrally including the frequent consumption of vitamin and micronutrient-rich groups, such as fruits and vegetables (recommended consumption: three portions each per day), grains (recommended consumption: two portions per week) or low-fat dairy (recommended consumption two portions per day); iii) focusing on the consumption of natural ingredients with better quality of fat and micronutrient sources, such as olive oil and nuts (PUFA, MUFA and micronutrient source) instead of butter (source SFA and trans-FA), or chicken and fish (recommended consumption: a minimum of two portions per week) instead of meat; and iv) focusing on minimizing the consumption of high-sugar, processed or fast foods to few times per month. MD is, therefore, largely considered one of the most metabolically beneficial food regimens, not only due to its balanced macronutrient content, but also due to its sustainable nature which renders is easy and efficient to adopt. Accordingly, in their 2020 "umbrella" review, Seifu et al demonstrated that systematic reviews showed MD being inversely associated with obesity presence and better diet quality being associated with lower risk for increased weight or BMI and/or weight gain [114].

Furthermore, apart from the MD, other beneficial regimens have also been reported in literature, where it is natural that diets emphasizing on the consumption of high quality, unprocessed food groups and the restriction of high-calorie foodstuffs present positive associations with better weight status. Koutras et al emphasized that dietary patterns with increased content of unprocessed sources were related with better adult weight status, and the adoption of a "lacto-vegetarian" pattern was associated with reduced long-term weight gain and more steady weight maintenance [115]. Additionally, a 2022 systematic review by Jarvis SE et al underlined the protective association between plant-based diets and weight gain, with the effect more strongly shown for plants of better overall quality [116].

The Obesogenic Environment

Apart from the role of individual choice in the formation of dietary habits, the latter is further largely influenced by other environmental factors pertaining to the formation of diet and weight-related daily patterns. The term "obesogenic environment" is used to describe contextual/ environmental circumstances determining nutrition and other weight-related parameters in a way which promotes unbalanced dietary intake and reduced energy expenditure, thus aiding overweight and obesity establishment [117]. Nowadays, establishment of obesogenic environments is multifold and partly attributed to globalization trends which have led to the massive commercialization of WD in the majority of developed countries, allowing for the creation of new eating styles including both Western characteristics and country-specific patterns. By familiarizing more populations with the principles of

high-fat and sugar consumption observed in the context of WD, both local and global diet quality reduces, subsequently strengthening the further establishment of obesogenic contexts. Moreover, obesogenic circumstances are further promoted due to financial aspects shaping local food environments, for example via reduced accessibility to high-quality, expensive food, versus the high and easy accessibility to low-cost fast food or ready-to-make meals, in neighborhoods with low levels of socioeconomic status (SES) [118]. Especially in populations such as children and adolescents who are both in need of high-quality foodstuffs to ensure proper development, but also sensitive to the effect of external stimuli, the effect of food accessibility and promotion has been multiply demonstrated. Living in neighborhoods with easier access to super-markets, rather than fast-food restaurants was associated with lower z-BMI levels in children [119]. To boot, Osei-Assibey et al showed that individuals of those age groups are most susceptible to exposures concerning portion sizes, sugar-sweetened beverages and food promotion [120], while Goncalves et al, showed the importance of food exposure in the school context on the formation of adolescent weight status [121].

Obesogenic circumstances can further affect weight status by pertaining to other health parameters like the natural environmental context via air pollution or sunlight exposure, with Wilding et al showing that local residence greenspace observed at the time of birth was negatively associated with the chance of presenting overweight or obesity at ages 10-11 [122]. Although lack of measure uniformity and built environment diversity across different countries hinder the creation of a conclusive body of evidence to support direct causal relationships between environment and obesity [123-125] contextual factors such as urban-sprawl and the built-in environment appear to be able to influence and aggravate the obesogenic effect [124,125]. The latter is, thus, considered to be able to affect lifestyle parameters such as PA; however, it appears that personal choice can reverse potentially negative effects, in cases where individuals make conscious attempts to overcome physical obstacles and adhere to healthier lifestyle routines.

Physical Activity

PA habits constitute another distinct pillar in the formation of weight levels, with a standard recommendation of 20-30 minutes of moderate physical activity provided to sustain good health [126]. As expected, due to the provoking increase in energy expenditure, recreational PA or PA not aiming at muscle mass increase, is directly inversely associated with body fat and obesity presence [127]. Either alone or when combined with increased caloric intake in the context of generalized lower level of life quality, reduced levels of physical activity or exercise (defined as a minimum of 10 continuous minutes of conscious physical activity) can lead to weight gain and aggravate overall individual health status. The beneficial effects of PA on overall quality of life via improvement of health status are even seen in individuals with increased weight, where PA is generally recommended or recreationally conducted, without being necessarily associated with weight loss purposes. A recent systematic review by Pojednic et al, showed that physical activity in people with obesity can beneficial physiological, cardiorespiratory, cardiometabolic present and immunological effects, irrespective of observed weight loss [128]. Similarly, Soares et al showed that recreational PA is associated with amelioration in body composition of children and adolescents with overweight or obesity [129].

Smoking Habits

A different aspect pertains to individuals' smoking habits, the negative effects of which on overall health status, disease risk and mortality rates are already wellknown [130]. As evidenced by current literature, smoking and lifestyle are involved in a bidirectional relationship, where unfavorable contextual determinants (eg stress or other psychological conditions) can promote or increase smoking practice, which can, in turn, influence the quantity and quality of food intake or PA. Smoking directly impacts metabolic regulation through nicotine's effect on homeostatic and hedonic pathways related to food intake [131]. Smoking affects the secretion of appetite hormones, in ways such as increasing leptin and down-regulating ghrelin production [132]. In their 2019 review, Chao et al showed that adult tobacco smokers tended to present higher levels of BMI compared to individuals who did not smoke, whereas smokers presented a significant weight gain after proceeding to smoking cessation, due to the observed metabolic dysregulations [132].

Sleeping Habits

Subsequently, the cumulative impact of such unfavorable habits can promote more unhealthy lifestyle routines, which can, in turn, further enhance the establishment of metabolic dysregulation related to obesity phenotypes. One example of this pertains to sleep quality and habits, where we observe a reciprocal interplay between sleep irregularities and body weight outcomes. As previously mentioned, sleep plays a major part in sustaining metabolic functions, as circadian rhythms are directly related to energy metabolic pathways [37]. Sleep disruptions such sleep deprivation or decreased quality of sleep can result in disruptions in neuroendocrine functions, hormonal and glucose metabolism, directly increasing inflammatory stress and cardiometabolic risk [133]. In their 2018 review, Cooper et al showed that adults sleeping for less than 7 hours per night presented higher chance of having increased BMI and obesity, compared to the ones who slept more [134]. On the other hand, increased weight can also affect the quality and/or quality of sleep. In the most characteristic manifestation of the observed bidirectional effect, individuals with increased weight are more likely to show symptoms of sleep disorders, the most noteworthy one being obstructive sleep apnea (OSP) [135]. Weight loss is subsequently the primary modifiable factor considered for amelioration of the disorder due to the profound impact of the observed fat accumulation and accompanying inflammatory response to the symptoms of the disease [136,137]. Proper sleep habits are, therefore, situated in the center of an overall good health status. Notably, regular sleep habits are central in maintaining well-regulated metabolic pathways even in the presence of increased body weight. This can, in turn, even be essential in predicting the outcome of success in efforts related to amelioration of cardiometabolic risk, eg dietary interventions for weight loss. Therefore, it appears that it is rather a holistic unhealthy lifestyle approach consisting of the interplay of multiple determinants which aggravates the establishment of increased weight, than the sole effect of separate risk factors. The impact of this

interaction subsequently extends to additional parameters of life quality, the worsening of each can reciprocally further aid the disruption of lifestyle habits pertaining to more weight-related metabolic alterations.

1.1.7. Gene-lifestyle Interactions in Overweight and Obesity

In light of the aforementioned, literature has focused on the combined effect of gene-environment interactions (GEI), with special focus on the modifying or mediating effect of the obesogenic environment on the penetrance and expressivity of genes associated with obesity susceptibility. A growing body of evidence has, therefore, focused on highlighting the role of GEI in obesity and cardiometabolic phenotypes. More specifically, studies have focused on the effect physical activity habits or gene-diet interactions in obesity-associated phenotypes. Although a positive energy balance and an excess in the dietary intake of foodstuffs with high fat or sugar content can directly lead to increased weight, it is further their subsequent interplay with a favorable genetic background that ultimately leads to establishment of weight disorders, as well as determining their respective gravity. The field of nutrigenetics investigates the impact of the genetic factor on the metabolic and other responses to food intake. In similar context but on the opposite side, the term nutrigenomics is used to describe the field specializing in unraveling the modifying role of nutritional components in gene expression.

In 2011, Kilpelainen et al used data from approximately 218.200 adults to conclusively demonstrate that presence of physical activity successfully attenuated the favorable effect of the rs9939609-A allele in increasing obesity risk [138]. Similar findings were reported by Xi et al for five obesity-related variants (i.e. rs7138803, rs1805081, rs6499640, rs17782313, rs6265), where the effect of which tended to be more evident in children with low versus children with increased PA [139]. An early 20212 review by van Vliet-Ostaptchouk et al highlighted a multitude of GEI interactions, with emphasis of the effect of macronutrient intake or physical activity habits [140]. Unhealthy lifestyle choices including a sedentary way of living or increased energy or fat intake were associated with increased risk for obesity in carriers or BMI- or fat raising alleles of variants in genes such as the ADRB2 and PPARy ones [140]. Moreover, interactions between fat intake and obesity-favorable genotypes in the apolipoprotein genes were further associated with obesity phenotypes [140]. In 2009, Sonestedt et al used data from 4939 participants of the Malmo Diet and Cancer study to examine FTO gene-diet interactions in BMI levels. The study found that an obesity-favorable FTO genotype was not associated with BMI in participants who reported lower fat intakes versus the ones who reported higher ones. Additionally to that, it was further shown that the genetic impact was more evident to individuals with lower rather than the ones with higher PA levels [141].

Qi et al attempted to shed a light on the potential impact of sugar sweetened beverages on genetic predisposition for obesity. Data from almost 11.000 participants showed a stronger impact of a 32-SNP GRS for BMI in obesity presence when reporting higher consumption of the beverages [142,143]. In 2015, Kontinnen et al investigated the effect of appetite-dictated tendencies on the effect of genetic susceptibility for obesity using data for approximately 5900 individuals from the Dietary, lifestyle and genetic determinants of obesity and metabolic syndrome Study and the FinnTwin12 Study. The study showed that the effect of a 90-SNP GRS for BMI was partly mediated by emotional or excessive eating [144,145]. Similarly, Brunner et al showed that disinhibition mediated the effect of a 92-SNP GRS for BMI in the 5-year BMI trajectories of 2464 adults [145, 146]. In 2023, Nakamura et al accordingly showed a significant interaction between a 76-SNP GRS for BMI and SFA intake in increasing the risk for obesity presence [147]. In like manner, in their 2019 review, Ahmad et al conclusively demonstrated the modifying effect of the dietary component on the genetic susceptibility to obesity in populations of South Asians [148].

Gene-diet interactions can also have effects on various characteristics of quality of life. GWAS on characteristics of sleep quality and quantity have identified various loci presenting strong associations. A 2016 meta-analysis of GWAS on sleep duration and morningness, investigated previously shown associations with genetic variants and further identified novel loci for both traits [149]. Another 2016 GWAS identified various genetic loci associated with sleep duration, insomnia and sleepiness during daytime, as well as loci related to more than one sleep quality characteristics [150]. A different GWAS by Lane JM et al, in 2019, further identified 57 loci related to insomnia [151]. Other studies have highlighted that gene-sleep interactions may attenuate genetic susceptibility to obesity when favorable sleep habits are present [152]. In the same context, depression symptoms have also shown a positive association with overweight/obesity existence [153] and a reciprocal interplay between the two has also been suggested [154]. GWAS and meta-analyses of GWAS on depression symptoms, have shown associations with more than 80 replicated genetic loci [155] and associations with 102 independent variants, respectively [156]. GWAS have investigated relations of genetic loci, namely, with stressful life events [157] and bipolar major depressive disorder [158].

Figure 14 summarizes the cascade of events followed by macro- and micronutrient intake, placing diet in the center of the interactions with other factors affecting metabolic pathways. Gene-diet interactions are simultaneously implicated in inflammatory, metabolic, epigenetic and gut microbiome-related procedures, ultimately modifying the risk, onset and gravity of cardiometabolic and inflammation-related disorders. The role of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics is, therefore, deemed increasingly essential in both understanding disease etiology but also further proceeding to the creation of prevention and treatment strategies [159]. When discussing the role of gene-diet interactions in complex disease, Qi et al concluded that the collection of nutrigenetic data would enhance healthcare via means of identifying high risk individuals and/or individuals who would differently benefit from the adoption of various dietetic approaches. Qi's study concludes by emphasizing the collection of genomic information in the center of strategies concerning behavioral interventions [160].



Figure 14. Basis of gene-diet interactions based on current literature [36].

1.1.8. Genetic Risk Scores in the field of Weight Management

The following information in 1.1.8. constitute information published under the publication. J Atherosclerosis Prev Treat. 2023; Jan-Apr;14(1):35-43. doi.: 10.53590/japt.02.1045 and can be found in Appendix A.

Deciphering disease etiology by quantifying the impact of genetic predisposition constitutes the focal point in the conduct of research surrounding genetics during the last years. Identifying and investigating the effect of diseaseassociated single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), as well as using them to create aggravated genetic scores, provided encouraging results in the field of cardiovascular (CVD) and cardiometabolic disease [161,162]. Those findings shed a quantifiable light on the role of genetic makeup while expanding the horizons for the potential creation of new and personalized treatment approaches. The construction of polygenic risk scores (PRSs) thus quickly expanded to the notion of potentially contributing to determining disease risk and subsequently contributing to effective disease prevention, diagnosis and even treatment [161-163]. The need for more extensive research resulted in the gradual evolution of continuously enhanced methodological approaches for PRS extraction [164]. As the latter examine the effect of multiple variants on the outcome of interest based on a large SNP pool in populations of increased size, their creation and use were extensively investigated through genomewide association studies (GWAS) in large consortia. The increasing presence of PRSs for multiple phenotypes in the current literature ultimately led to the creation of PGS catalog; an inclusive database comprising of all PRS entries created to date [165].

Discussion and research around PRS use as a prediction and treatment tool has recently yielded encouraging results, with studies reporting beneficial effects in

cardiovascular and cardiometabolic disease [161,1622]. Provision of lifestyle recommendations appeared to significantly contribute to obesity treatment [2] and coronary artery disease (CAD) prediction and greatly benefit individuals with high PRS across the spectrum of CVD, with PRSs even constructed for stroke and hypertension [161,163]. In like manner, the American Heart Association recently focused on the potential utility of PRS in CVD and other cardiometabolic disorders such as type 2 diabetes (T2D), underlining the need for the conduct of additional research to strengthen PRS inclusion in current practice [162]. Subsequently, discussion around the integration capacity of PRSs as a way to promote precision medicine and personalized nutrition is ongoing, with special attention to ameliorating relevant challenges, namely the differentiational influencing capacity following interaction with environmental stimuli, the diverse methodological approaches in PRS extraction and the understanding of the true meaning of genetic information both from professionals and patients alike.

PRS and weight-related parameters

Evaluation of genetic risk in the form of summed risk scores primarily treated CVD danger but quickly expanded to other disorders of cardiometabolic profile [162]. The conduct of extensive GWAS was accompanied by the development and expansion of the GIANT consortium [83]. This led to the identification of multiple Body Mass Index (BMI)-associated loci with the milestone discovery of the first 97 loci accounting for about 2.8% of the marker's variation [166]. Nowadays, approximately 6% of BMI variance is explained by 785 near-independent genome-wide significant SNPs [8,9]. Thus, the beginning approaches of quantifying genetic predisposition mainly involved the literature-based, a priori selection of disease-related variants and the subsequent investigation of the impact of their added effects. Therefore, various genetic risk scores of tens of SNPs were created and used in the examination of associations between increased genetic risk and disease manifestation or severity. In like manner, research on personalized approaches for combatting cardiometabolic and weightrelated disorders primarily focused on examining the combined effect of target SNPs with different dietary regimens. In this context, the first large initiatives such as the FOOD4ME project and the POUNDS lost clinical trial [167,168], attempted to unveil the interactive role of genetic makeup and nutritional habits in overweight and obesity. Focusing on target SNPs and macronutrient content, the projects provided limited, but encouraging, evidence on the effect of gene-diet interactions on anthropometric traits.

Based on GIANT-derived information or the conduct of independent GWAS, different teams proceeded to the development of PRSs for BMI in populations of various sizes. To date, PRSs associated to anthropometric traits and body measurements account for 154 of the database entries [165]. Indeed, nowadays, attempting to decipher the multifactorial obesity etiology using genetic information has become central in research surrounding BMI, with efforts made to explain the polygenic prediction of weight formation throughout the life course [169,170] Khera et al. highlighted the role of including a multi-variant PRS in explaining weight variance in populations ranging from birth cohorts to middle-aged individuals [169]. Correspondingly, Shi et al recently constructed a different BMI PRS to investigate potential associations with overall cardiometabolic health from early age to

adulthood. The study revealed significant associations between the score and other indices of cardiometabolic profile, namely fasting glucose and systolic blood pressure [170]. Building on the data and the role of genetic makeup in overweight or obesity presence, current research also focuses on the potential influence of genetic markers on weight loss. A study by de Toro-Martín investigating the extent of the genetic effect on the success of bariatric surgery, showed an increase in the prediction model accuracy when including PRSs, as well as significant interactions between the scores and the reduction in post-surgery recovery and surgery type [171]. In the same context, Katsareli et al showed that adults with increased genetic risk score for obesity noted a decrease in post-bariatric surgery loss of excess weight, with each unit of the score being associated with a 4.618% decrease in the 12-month observed weight loss [172].

In the same spectrum and building on the findings of previous key projects, emphasis should also be given on studies looking into the potential interactions between genetic scores and macronutrient content [112]. Moreover, studies focusing on the genetic influence on the observed weight loss after lifestyle interventions to combat overweight and obesity even outside of a clinical environment are also needed. Research on this field could unravel the gene-diet interactions surrounding weight management and loss and ultimately maximize the impact of individualized recommendations using genetic data to determine optimal treatment strategies. As a result, effectively unravelling the genetic proportion of body weight variance could progressively allow for the formation of more inclusive strategies to its management.

PRS Interactions with Lifestyle Determinants

In addition to accounting for the risk attributed to genetic makeup, the impact of PRS interactions with lifestyle factors such as diet, ultimately influencing weight management have also been studied. In a 2021 study by Wang et al, a 60-SNP PRS was constructed using variants found to be associated with birth weight and later-life disease. The interactions between the genetic score and dietary parameters showed that healthy habits during early life, such as breastfeeding, were beneficial in reducing the risk for worse lipidemic profile in adult life in participants with higher genetic risk [173]. The significant modifying effect of diet was also demonstrated by Tan et al, who showed that individuals with higher PRS for obesity indeed presented higher levels of C-reactive protein but those levels appeared reduced in the presence of high dietary protein intake [174]. Similarly, middle-aged individuals with a higher genetic risk score for thinness presented lower body weight; an association aggravated with high protein and low carbohydrate intake, among others [175]. The multidisciplinary character of genetic risk-associated interactions is evident throughout the reciprocal interplay between the formation of anthropometric characteristics' levels and the formation of the lifestyle choices surrounding them. In adult populations, Dashti et al. showed that adults with higher genetic risk for obesity were less likely to make healthier food choices at workplace and more likely to purchase more food and adhere to unhealthy dietary habits such as delaying or skipping breakfast and homemade meals [176]. However, Lee et al showed that BMI PRSs were related to body weight in Korean adults, but not to their respective caloric or macronutrient intake [177]. Similarly, Konttinen et al highlighted that elevated genetic risk was more

correlated with increased weight gain during a 7-year period in individuals not demonstrating restrained eating than those who adhered to it. However, the study attributed the effect to the role of previous processes entailing weight gain and nutritional habits, rather than a separate factor which would influence future weight gain [178]. Extended associations have also been explored, with Park et al showing that individuals with a high genetic risk for BMI, early menarche and attrition to an unhealthy diet (i.e. high consumption of fried foods and low consumption of fruits and vegetables) presented an increased obesity risk compared to those with late menarche and attrition to a healthier diet [179]. A different study focusing on European children and adolescents, underlined the modifying effect of diet, where genetic influence was attenuated by fiber intake in participants presenting higher genetic risk for obesity [180].

To boot, PRS-lifestyle interactions constitute a focal point across the spectrum of understanding more weight-related diseases. The emphatic effect of nutrition is underlined in studies of approximately 70000 participants of the UK Biobank, where adherence to a healthier diet was associated with reduced risk for cardiovascular disease, even in individuals with a high genetic risk score. Similarly, adoption of a healthier lifestyle was linked to lower CVD risk and overall mortality, again irrespective of genetic danger. [181,182]. Moreover a different large study with data for almost 340000 UK Biobank participants showed that increased genetic risk for type 2 diabetes (T2D) was associated with higher chances for CVD manifestation; an effect reduced in individuals with better quality of lifestyle [183]. With regards to T2D alone, increased values of a PRS for the disease and attrition to the Western dietary pattern were associated with higher levels of fasting glucose [184]. Likewise, López-Portillo et al demonstrated that fasting glucose levels were higher in non-diabetic individuals with increased genetic risk for T2D and higher consumption of sugary beverages, compared to those with lower genetic risk scores and reduced intakes of the latter [185]. Biochemical interactions have also been studied, where PRS for T2D have been found to significantly interact with triglyceride and cholesterol levels in the subsequent formation of fasting glucose levels [186]. Merino et al showed the dominating effect of unhealthy diet in increasing T2D risk even by 30%, again irrespective of genetic risk [187]. Additionally, although Zhang et al did not show significant interactions between genetic risk and adherence to the plant-forward EAT-Lancet diet for T2D onset, their study did note that individuals with increased genetic risk and lower attrition to the dietary pattern did present the highest risk for T2D presence during a 24-year followup period [188]. Correspondingly, PRS-diet interactions have been evident in more disorders, such as cancer and dementia, where an increased diet quality lower the chances for disease onset, even in individuals of high genetic risk [189-191]. In a similar context, lifestyle can also indirectly affect the gravity of genetic risk on actual disease manifestation via increase in weight-related anthropometric measurements alone. Esteve-Luque et al showed that higher values of BMI significantly interacted with genetic risk in increasing triglyceride levels and the subsequent risk for hypertriglyceridemia [192]. A different study underlined that obesity presence led to higher risk for T2D, even in individuals with lower genetic risk and better lifestyle quality [193].

PRS Utility in Personalized Recommendations

Research around the potential role of PRS use in clinical practice has shown that inclusion of PRSs in models for cardiometabolic disorders such as cardiovascular disease (CVD) can account for risk prediction in a manner similar to established contributing factors such as cholesterol levels [194-196]. The Task Force of the International Common Disease Alliance has further underlined the importance of PRS inclusion in increasing the accuracy of predicting CVD disease risk and severity, throughout one's lifetime [197], and the weighted contribution of PRS to maximizing patient outcomes [197]. Given the potential increase in accuracy observed in prediction models after the addition of PRS, testing their potential utility has also expanded to the field of anthropometrics. Choe et al showed that a BMI PRS was associated not only with longitudinal BMI change, but also with other cardiometabolic phenotypes, such as fatty liver [198]. A similar attempt was made by Padilla-Martinez et al., who displayed significant associations between PRSs for T2D and obesity and manifestations of prediabetes and other disrupted cardiometabolic parameters [199].

In this context, PRS use could be seen as a useful tool to increase disease prevention through successful prediction and/or early detection. This notion carries both favorable effects for public health and financial parameters of healthcare systems, as well as optimizing individual understanding and ability to choose and decide optimal combatting strategies [200]. Although the inclusion of PRSs and relevant interactions can explain cardiometabolic disease risk [45], the conversation around its clinical validity underlines the importance of real-time context on PRS information evaluation and decision-making in order to avoid confusion with genetic determinism [200,201]. This sheds a light on the vital role of both development of valid methodologies to increase PRS reliability, transferability and accuracy, as well as the professionals' familiarization with the interpretation of its information. This is also why the education of healthcare professionals is put in the center of integrating genetic information into daily practice.

Furthermore, taking PRS information into account can prove beneficial on its own accord in patients with extremely high genetic risk [201] and, thus, PRS utility is also discussed at personal level [38]. PRS information can be differentially valuable to each individual, according to both their personal interest and understanding of the information, as well as relevant genetic risk in outcomes of interest. The latter might not always correlate to matters of clinical importance, but do account for increasing awareness on genetic predisposition for various matters significant to the individual. It is therefore why, a reliable approach to PRS calculation for various traits, with easily understandable and interpretable results is central in future research surrounding PRS use [195]. Especially in cases regarding cardiometabolic disorders such as overweight, obesity and type 2 diabetes, finding ways to efficiently include PRS prediction in easily applicable risk tools is considered a priority for the maximization of PRS efficacy.

Challenges in PRS Construction and Interpretation

Although inclusion of PRSs in disease prognosis can be beneficial, several considerations arise when discussing the methodological aspect of PRS construction, the efficacy of the various PRS development methodologies presented in current literature and the real-time interpretation capacity in clinical and non-clinical settings. Firstly, the fundamental limitation of PRS' universal application concerns the underrepresentation of data used from populations of different genetic ancestry

[200]. To date, although several attempts for PRS construction using data from various populations have been made, PRSs presented in literature mainly focus on European ancestry. The lack of existent PRSs deriving from large cohorts of global populations affects their translational capacity in less frequently examined populations where contextually phenotype-associated variants, SNP linkage disequilibrium (LD) or allele frequency may vary. Therefore, a preceding necessity for developing more PRSs using data from populations around the globe is formed before discussing their maximum use, in order to ensure universal application capacity.

Another pillar of PRS development refers to the biases of the different methodological approaches undertaken in calculating the scores [200]. Diverse current practices consist of: i) the replication of simple aggravations of the risk-alleles for phenotype-associated variants using their respective effect sizes from current literature (i.e. consortia such as the GIANT one or data from large studies such as the UKBiobank [46] or the Twins Early Development Study -TEDS [203]); and ii) the conduct of novel GWAS in populations of sufficiently large sample sizes, extraction of summary statistics, subsequent identification of phenotype-associated variants and their risk alleles' aggravation in a holistic score. As PRS development and phenotype examinations are ongoing, research may simultaneously focus on the identification of novel phenotype-associated variants and the replication of previously identified ones. As a result, the statistical design and assessment may significantly differ across studies and the final choice for the optimal model to be used may lie in the discretion of the researcher according to the needs of the research question at hand. Additionally, differences in samples sizes significantly matter in effective PRS validation. Although the effect of using target-SNPs outside of reference populations can be limited, current discussion around the role of population size has shown that cohorts with a few thousands of participants can be of use in replicating results and using SNPs from PRSs deriving from even larger populations [204]. Moreover, the additional variety in statistical methods (i.e. p-value thresholds, clumping, Bayesian or lasso-based penalization), packages (eg PRScs, LDpred2) and assessment applied can largely affect the end product which may be ultimately differentiated across studies. It is therefore highlighted that standardization of the PRS extraction process [205] is central to facilitating their validation and sequentially increasing their predictive ability. Additionally, in this context, attempts to practically compare PRS results and methodology [164, 203-205] can provide useful data for the next steps in the need for a unified, applicable approach to allow for PRSs capable of yielding rapid but reliable results and effective comparisons of findings between populations of different characteristics.

Moreover, familiarization with the true meaning deriving from the information of the PRS is vital in its correct interpretation. Understanding the potentially indirect effects of SNPs included in the models and weighing the environmental factor in are key considerations in constructing future PRSs as reliable disease prediction risk tools. Apart from the technical aspects, a different cornerstone of practical PRS use appertains to the familiarization of healthcare professionals with the field. Proper assuefaction with the practical meaning of PRS information is critical for professionals to address disease risk and convey the appropriate message to patients. The delicate understanding of individual risk and its practical meaning in ultimate disease manifestation can be challenging in cases where the risk is small or the patient is not properly acquainted with the details of their genetic profile. As a result, both professional and patient education and perceptions around PRS utility are integral in its successful use as a disease screening and treatment tool [196,200].

PRS and Nutrigenetics/Nutrigenomics in Future Healthcare Practice

Although there is a limited number of studies investigating and discussing the extent of PRS effective translation to date, future directions can be encouraging on the incorporation of PRS methodologies in the daily practice [161-163]. PRS inclusion in disease screening and the formation of personalized recommendations could

potentially offer a solution to the growing pressure applied to healthcare systems for more inclusive strategies and efficient use of financial resources [49]. In the field of nutrigenetics (i.e. the impact of SNPs on certain nutrient



Figure 15. Polygenic Risk Score (PRS) in Personalized Recommendations (created with BioRender.com).

interaction or role in metabolic pathways) and nutrigenomics (i.e. the impact of nutrients on gene expression), PRS use can be considered as a promising tool in the advancement of personalized nutrition.

Understanding the connective links between research conduct and translation is substantial in order to be able to reinforce PRS practical use. An integral part to such an effort would be the effective translational communication between bioinformatics and healthcare sectors in order to enhance proper PRS use and interpretation [205]. Especially when referring to the use of PRSs in cardiometabolic and weight-related disorders, understanding, quantifying and translating the contribution of genetic predisposition is vital in interpreting genetic impact. Incorporating genetic information in medical and nutritional advice can maximize the success of the proposed strategies, while informing the individuals in main aspects of their genetic profile. In this spectrum, PRS interpretation in weight-related disorders can only be effective when conducted and evaluated alongside the effect of other lifestyle determinants (Figure 15). This can allow for increased motivation on behavioral change and lifestyle adaptations [197] to the proposed measures, which can subsequently strengthen the disorders' effective management.

In an attempt to dissect the steps of including genetic details in current practice and promote personalized nutrition, in 2022 the Academy of Nutrition and

Dietetics published the creation of a Nutrigenomics Care Map specifying the timeline of nutrigenetic information integration in nutritional assessment [209]. The map puts professional formation on the forefront of the practice, by inserting the sufficient nutrigenomics training prerequisite as the first out of the four steps of the process. Patient screening, genetic testing and communication of genetic profiling results as part of the nutritional assessment and the setting of SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant and time-based) goals complete the suggested procedure [209]. Such an approach aims to maximize nutritional consulting by actively involving the patient in the formation of goals and dietary regimens optimally corresponding to their genetic profile. Integration of PRSs in this effort could allow the practice to move forward from personalized advice provided only based on specific genotypes of key genes associated to body weight or obesity [210,211]. As a result, more research in the form of Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) is needed, regarding the interactions between BMI PRSs and dietary regimens in order to establish the evidence-based approaches required for the nodes of individualized advice. Such efforts would subsequently enhance our understanding and forming of optimal recommendations, each-time targeting the outcome of interest and adopting the literature-based, corresponding strategy (eg advice on adherence to a dietary regimen of specific macronutrient content for the achievement of weight loss in individuals with specific PRS for obesity). Due to the current increase observed in the offer of nutrigenetic services, establishment of scientific, quality guidelines for directing healthcare professionals is vital [212].

Furthermore, on principle, the meaning of PRS information differentiates itself according to the nature of the disorder in reference. For example, a PRS will be differently interpreted in cases of monogenic rather than polygenic diseases, such as the cardiometabolic and weight-related ones. The multidisciplinary character of those disorders therefore reciprocally affects the creation of the appropriate framework in which it will be communicated. This interplay between genetic information communication and healthcare setting factors centrally affects both the formation and the influencing capacity of public health policies in precision medicine and nutrition [194-196]. The latter, thus, re-enforces the need for sectors simultaneously operating on unravelling the relations between the creation, interpretation and communication of genetic information across healthcare professionals. These could, in turn, be incorporated disease prevention or treatment strategies.

Future incorporation of PRS information in the daily healthcare practice could present considerable advantages to advancing precision medicine and personalized nutrition. Creation of sound methodologies, accounting for the extent of the impact for environmental stimuli and simultaneously able to allow for the effective inclusion of PRS results in disease prediction, diagnosis and prognosis is deemed vital in bringing PRS research and application forward. PRS information on cardiometabolic and weight-related disorders can increase the prognostic validity of already existent tools and the fruitful formation and implementation of individualized recommendations. However, sufficient familiarization of healthcare professionals with the meaning and contextual translation of PRS results plays a major part in its proper communication where attention must be given in the role of the interactions between SNPs, environment and lifestyle determinants in ultimate disease manifestation. Future
initiatives should aim at uniformly enhancing both methodology development and educational formation in attempting to firmly establish, integrate and distribute PRS use as a daily practicum.

1.2. Connective dots between body weight and cardiometabolic risk factors

1.2.1 Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile

Presence of overweight or obesity and the accompanying increase in fat accumulation exerts significant effects in metabolic parameters [213] (Figure 16). Essentially, presence of increased body weight presents deleterious effect in most metabolic pathways, practically affecting the function of most organs to some extent.

Either directly or indirectly, obesity affects peripheral health elevating the risk for most types of NCDs (i.e. T2D, CVD, NAFLD, respiratory, neurodegenerative, digestive and other).

As shown in Figure 17, (24), the previously discussed unfavourable combination of genetic makeup, presence of low PA and a chronic positive energy balance led to increase in fat deposition and elevated ectopic fat accumulation. The establishment of systemic,



Figure 16. Major obesity-related diseases

low-grade inflammation follows, promoting disrupted hormonal and metabolic signals which ultimately result in the manifestation of additional metabolic disorders. As previously mentioned, the adipose tissue is currently viewed as an active endocrine gland, with the majority of its secreted hormones playing significant roles in energy regulation. Expansion of the adipose tissue in the presence of increased weight is associated with: i) disrupted production of adiponectin (known as "metainflammation" [214] ; ii) increase in the adipocyte determination and differentiation factor-1/sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c transcription factor which increases lipogenesis and reduces fat oxidation; iii) reduction in the expression of IRS-1 in adipocytes and subsequent reduction of the PI3K activity and reduction of PI3K activity in the skeletal muscle; and iv) increased production of inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α [215].



Figure 17. Linking mechanisms of obesity and cardiometabolic diseases [24].

Those effects directly impact glucose metabolism by decreasing insulin sensitivity and progressively strengthening the presence of insulin resistance as the establishment of obesity and the expansion of fat tissue continue uninterrupted. In like manner, fat metabolism also appears dysregulated in the obese state. Obesity is accompanied by elevated levels of circulating FFAs and increased production of TGs as a means to metabolize the circulating glucose not properly uptaken due to the insulin resistant state [215].

In this context, we can argue that obesity can be viewed as sine que non for other cardiometabolic disease. A combined cluster of overweight/obesity presence and their interplay with obesity-related traits related to the observed fat accumulation and subsequent insulin resistance, can further increase the risk for cardiovascular disease, through establishment of the metabolic syndrome (MetS) [216]. Based on the ATP III criteria for the Clinical Identification of the Metabolic Syndrome [217], the latter is defined as having 2 or more of the following traits: i) WC higher than 102 cm for men and 88 cm for women; ii) TG levels \geq 150mg/dL; iii) HDL-C below 40mg/dL for men and 50 mg/dL for women; iv) SBP \geq 130 mmHg and diastolic pressure \geq 85 mmHg; v) fasting glucose levels \geq 110 mg/dL. As globesity further establishes, MetS presence steadily increases with its global prevalence ranging from 10 to 84 %, as of 2014 [218]. In 2021, Bagheri et al examined progression pathways for the MetS and concluded that hyperglycemia was the primary factor if not accounting for any prior effect or activity (Markovian approach), whereas overweight/obesity led the way for MetS establishment according to the non-Markovian approach [219]. Presence of the syndrome is accompanied by metabolic or metabolomic dysfunctions that may not be observed in the presence of obesity alone. For example, presence of MetS has been associated with systemic mitochondrial dysfunction. Further analysis has also shown that modifying the availability or metabolism of compounds such as SFA may even limit the inflammation associated with obesity leading to metabolic syndrome [105]. Interestingly, apart from the obvious associations with hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and hypertension, a 2016 systematic review in almost 62.000 patients with MetS showed that the disorder is also associated with a lower quality of life, either directly or indirectly through effects on BMI or even depression [220].

This cluster of abnormal pathogenetic mechanisms directly elevates the risk for more obesity-related disorders. In addition to the finding that suggests that metabolomic risk observed in the obese state can also cause other cardiometabolic disruptions like T2D [221], several compounds of the MetS have been associated with increased risk for T2D. Data from 95756 individuals of the Copenhagen General Population Study showed that a 1-unit increase in each of the MetS parameter was associated with vastly increased observational risk for T2D. Interestingly, only the increase in WAC and glucose levels also denoted an elevated genetic risk, whereas similar elevation for the other indices was not associated with corresponding increase in genetic risk [222]. Nowadays, MetS is considered to be a modifiable risk factor for T2D, capable of even being used as a prediction or management tool [223].

In 2015, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) showed a 8.8% global prevalence of T2D among adults in the age range of 20-79 years old [218]. In their 2020 systematic review, Regufe et al showed that presence of MetS in a favorable environment (eg with increased genetic predisposition or other comorbidities present) constitutes an important factor to T2D development [218]. As described above, accumulation of excess ectopic fat burdens the proper function of multiple organs and obesity-associated presence of T2D is promoted by a cascade of events. Excess fat in liver or pancreas can lead to metabolic shift, where disrupted blood flow and lipotoxicity result in hepatic steatosis and disruptions in the production of insulin from the pancreatic β -cells. This can lead to a compensatory increase in insulin secretion to maintain the rate of glucose breakdown. Progressively and as insulin levels rise, the observed resistance to its function is aggravated up to the point where the metabolic demands can no longer be met with its innate production [214]. At the same time, the low-grade inflammatory response inducted by excessive fat leads to increased levels of adipokines, which, in turn, promote the deterioration of β -cell function via increasing cell death and inducing hypoxia. At this point, untreated hyperglycemia in the obese state gradually leads to the establishment of T2D [214].

1.2.2. Inflammatory Status

As previously described, obesity is considered a state of low-grade inflammation. Presence of excessive weight and fat increases inflammatory cytokine production, resulting in cell death and disruptions in glucose homeostasis [224]. The enlargement of fat tissue results in elevated production of chemoattractants which further activate the migration of macrophage cells in the adipose sites (Adipose Tissue Macrophages). Subsequently, the latter proceed to production of a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as CRP, TNF- α and IL-6, which further induce inflammation [225]. Such substances appear to up-regulate the expression of genes implicated in lipid and glucose metabolism, in a way that enhances lipid synthesis by suppressing insulin-mediated glucose metabolism and causing a state of glucotoxicity [226]. As a result, obesity progressively brings about insulin resistance which can promote degradation in the functions of multiple organs, such as hepatic steatosis and pancreatic dysfunction [226]. Simultaneously, the expansion of adipose tissue is accompanied by reduced blood supply causing a state of observed hypoxia [224]. This effect can cause distinct oxidative stress (OS) and further disrupt the production of

other adipose tissue-secreted hormones, such as adiponectin. It is, therefore, logical to argue that once entering this vicious circle, the cascade of inflammation-promoting events only aggravates the cardiometabolic dysregulations and risk to multimorbidity.

The following information constitute information published under the publication Nutrients 2023, 15, 1884. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15081884 and can be further found in Appendix D.

Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is involved in various biological functions, primarily as a major contributor to angiogenesis induction which extends its activities to cell proliferation, migration and even differentiation [227-229]. Due to its versatile roles in endothelial function [230], its involvement in activating the cortisol-adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) stress axis, its promotion of aldosterone [231] production as well as its multifactorial influence on energy homeostasis [228,232, 233], insulin resistance [228,234] and cardiac function [235], VEGF-A is involved in various reciprocal relationships influencing cardiovascular and cardiometabolic risk factors such as glucose sensitivity, lipidemic profile, obesity and blood pressure. Altered VEGF-A expression is observed in the presence of disturbed cardiometabolic states, denoting a requited relationship between the biomarker's levels and disrupted cardiometabolic profile. For example, VEGF-A is known to be involved in glucose homeostasis, where both its over- and under-expression can affect glucose tolerance [234], as well as lipid metabolism, through its regulation of lipases and the creation of chylomicrons [233]. In a similar manner, VEGF-A is highly expressed in the adipose tissue, where an increase in the number of adipocytes signifies increased VEGF-A and subsequent angiogenesis and further cell proliferation and differentiation [227]. Circulating VEGF-A levels have been conclusively demonstrated as greatly heritable [10]. The past decades have marked the conduct of large meta-analyses of multiple genome-wide association studies (GWAS), revealing key variants significantly associated with the marker's levels. More specifically, Debette and Visvikis-Siest et al. brought four key single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) to light, collectively explaining 48.7% of VEGF-A variation [236]. Subsequent studies have unveiled additional VEGF-A-related SNPs, which have, in turn, been further associated with adult cardiometabolic indices [237,238] and even the presence of neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease [239]. Selected VEGF-A-associated SNPs have even been directly linked to the presence of hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome in adults [240,241]. In addition, the interplay between VEGF-A SNPs and dietary components has also been associated with multiple metabolic syndrome determinants [242,243]. An example of the importance of the interplay between VEGF-A, anthropometric indices and dietary compounds was recently highlighted in the finding that the effect of VEGF- A variants on circulating iron levels might depend on anthropometric indices (i.e., BMI [244].

1.2.3. Genetics of Cardiometabolic Risk Factors

As in the case of obesity, genetics also play a major part in the onset and gravity of other cardiometabolic disorders. In the case of T2D, literature highlights that despite its heterogeneity, the heritability of the disease lies in the impressive range of 30-70% [245]; a fact potentially denoting the large window or opportunity for the manifestation of contextual modifying effects, such as nutritional or exercise habits. The effect of genetic makeup on glucose levels and even type 2 diabetes onset have been extensively researched through various GWAS. Indeed, about 143 loci have been identified having associations with type 2 diabetes onset [246], as well as loci directly associated to glycemic traits in general or β -cell function [247]. SNPs of indicative genes associated with type 2 diabetes of glycemic traits are presented in Table 7. GWAS have now located over 700 T2D-associated loci across populations with a range of diverse ancestries [245, 248].

Naturally, as previously explained, genetic makeup can affect the interplay between the fat accumulation accompanying overweight/obesity development and insulin resistance, among other glycemic traits. A shared genetic background is implicated in the pathogenesis of T2D and obesity presence, as the latter is based on pillars directly associated to glucose and fat metabolism (Figure 18). Currently, an increasing number of GWAS reveals loci that contribute to T2D onset and BMI variation [249]. Indicatively, the Stratification of Obese Phenotypes to Optimize Future Obesity therapy (SOPHIA) project sought out to unravel the genetic architecture connecting obesity to T2D onset [250]. The ongoing project sheds a light on the combined effect of genetic, transcriptomic and metabolomic factors in T2D pathogenesis highlighting the favorable effect of distinct, obesity-related geno- and phenotypes [250].



Figure 18. Overlap between obesity-related genes and genes implicated in T2D pathogenesis [251].

Hormone	Function	Gene Name	Chromosomic position	Associated SNPs	Alleles	MAF	Associated Index	Effect Allele	Direction of Effect
РР	Anorexigenic	Pancreatic		rs9957145	G/A	0.18 (A)	Type 2 Diabetes	G	-
		Polypeptide (PPY)	17:43940804-	rs9319943	T/C	0.25 (C)	Type 2 Diabetes	С	Negative (β= -0.03)
			43942476	rs1517037	C/T	0.24 (T)	Type 2 Diabetes	С	Positive (β= 0.037)
				rs9957320	G/T	0.18 (T)	Type 2 Diabetes	G	Positive (β= 0.055)
Insulin	Indirectly	Insulin (INS)	11:2159779-	rs689	A/G/T	0.35 (A)	Type 1 Diabetes	Т	-
	anorexigenic		2161221	rs3842753	T/A/G	0.35 (T)	Type 1 Diabetes	G	Positive (β= 0.308)
				rs1004446	G/A	0.33 (A)	Type 1 Diabetes	C/G	-
				rs3741208	A/G/T	0.33 (A)	Type 1 Diabetes	Т	-
				rs4244808	T/A/G	0.35 (G)	Type 1 Diabetes	G	-
				rs4366464	G/A/C	0.10 (G)	Type 1 Diabetes	С	-
				rs3842727	G/T	0.36 (G)	Type 1 Diabetes	A/T	-
							in HLA		
							individuals		
				rs3842752	G/A	0.13 (A)	Type 2 Diabetes		Negative (β= -0.016)
				rs3842753	T/A/G	0.35 (T)	Type 2 Diabetes	G	-
				rs149483638	C/T	0.02 (T)	Type 2 Diabetes	С	-
Leptin	Anorexigenic	Leptin (LEP)	7:128241278-	rs4731420	G/C	0.17 (C)	Type 2 Diabetes	С	-
			128257629	rs791595	A/C/G/T	0.23 (A)	Type 2 Diabetes	А	-
Leptin	Anorexigenic	Leptin Receptor (LEPR)	1:65420652- 65641559	rs10889560	C/A	0.16 (A)	Type 2 Diabetes	С	Negative (β= -0.047, 0.088)

1.3. Weight Loss

1.3.1. Influencing Parameters of Weight Loss

Determinants of Weight Loss and Weight Loss Maintenance

Over the years, attempts to combat obesity by achieving weight loss mainly refer to the adoption of hypocaloric dietary regimens, the impact of which appears enhanced when combined with other healthy choices, such as increased PA. A different approach to more severe obesity cases such as the presence of morbid obesity and BMI levels of above 40kg/m², call for more drastic approaches like bariatric surgery [214].

Naturally, the reduction of fat mass accompanying weight loss is greatly beneficial to obesity-related comorbidities, as well as all-cause mortality in individuals with obesity [214]. Reductions in fat mass benefit the individuals' glycemic control and lipidemic profile by improving levels of TG, TC, LDL-C and HDL-C [214]. In reporting findings from Ebbert et al, Uranga et Keller underline that losing approximately 3kg of weight can results in reductions in TG and LDL levels and increase in HDL levels; such measurements present even enhanced improvement when a weight loss of 8kg is observed [214]. Although one would expect that lipidemic profile improves as weight loss increases, such a notion is not backed by current literature which hints to the potential existence of a weight loss threshold, higher values of which present smaller alterations in the improved indices observed [214].

The approaches adopted are not the sole determinant of a successful weight loss attempt. Metabolic risk factors also dictate the success of weight loss initiatives to some extent, with Stroeve et al attributing them 57% of successful weight loss variation [102]. The genetic factor also plays a major part in such efforts, with multiple obesity-related loci to have also displayed associations with rates of achieved loss in body weight. In their 2015 review, Martinez et Milagro investigated the effect of variants located in popular obesity-related genes, such as FTP, MC4R POMC, LEP, ADIPOQ and PPARy, among others [252]. As it will be further analyzed below, their study showed multiple nutrigenetic effects, with obesity predisposing alleles being attenuating the effect of hypocaloric diets or significantly interacting with specific macronutrients in increasing or decreasing the rates of the observed weight loss [252]. In 2019, Lamiquiz-Moneo et al examined the effect of a 25-SNP GRS in the observed weight loss of 788 patients with overweight and obesity following a weight loss intervention program. The study found individuals with lower levels of the genetic score presented greater weight loss at a mean follow-up of approximately 6 years [253]. A similar attempt in a population of 1429 children of the Long-term Effects of Lifestyle Intervention in Obesity and Genetic Influence in Children (LOGIC) study showed significant associations between 2 (out of 56) examined SNPs and lower reduction in body weight for the risk alleles in the LOC100287559-rs7164727 and the RPTOR-rs12940622 variants [254].

Another pillar of weight change is located in the role of gut microbiome and their interaction with metabolic and metabolomic changes. Data from the TwinsUK cohort showed no associations between weight change and energy intake, while noting that only 41% of weight change was attributed to genetic factors. This, thus, led to the notion that the remaining proportion of weight change might be deriving

from other factors such as the role of gut microbiota [255]. Based on these principles, Cuevas-Sierra et al even proceeded to the creation of a predictive model including individual genetic and microbiome characteristics to determine optimal weight loss approaches in patients with overweight or obesity [256]. The study investigated relations between responses to either a high-protein or a low-fat diet and microbiota strains, ultimately creating two different predictive models. Use of those models combined with genetic information increased the selection of the diet most likely to succeed in both men and women [256].

Maintaining weight loss after the adoption of a behavioral intervention or the conduct of bariatric surgery has been a subject of discussion during the past decades. Weight loss is followed by body adaptations attempting to restore balance and prevent starvation and maintaining energy stores (eg increase in ghrelin and decrease in leptin). Therefore, periods of weight loss can induce compensatory mechanisms which, in turn, attempt to prevent further weight loss and make weight loss maintenance even more difficult [257]. In the case of lifestyle interventions, it is observed that only a quarter of individuals achieving weight loss after adhering to a hypocaloric diet manage to preserve that loss in the long run [258]. In a meta-analysis of almost 22.000 patients, Ge et al argued that most weight loss effects observed by behavioral interventions disappear at an approximate time of 12 months after program completion [259]. Similarly, a 2022 meta-analysis by Flore et al showed the importance of the intensity of the intervention followed, highlighting that more intense approaches resulting in increased weight loss early or during the intervention might benefit the maintenance of the weight loss observed during the acute intervention phase [258]. In an attempt to pinpoint the determinants that affect a successful maintenance of weight loss, Varkevisser et al highlighted the importance of cognitive and behavioral parameters in promoting practices of control of energy intake and increase of energy expenditure can benefit weight loss maintenance [260]. This finding is also backed by the systematic review by Ramage et al which underlines that successful interventions were mainly characterized not only by dietary components (i.e. energy deficit and increased intake of specific macronutrients like fiber), but also by increase in behavioral training and self-monitoring techniques [261]. Consequently, the adoption of healthy lifestyle strategies such as increase in PA or adherence to a balanced diet can only positively affect long-term weight loss maintenance.

Another important factor in the discussion of successful behavioral interventions lies in the delivery style of each approach. In 2016, Kelly et al assessed the effectiveness of electronically delivered dietary interventions for combatting chronic diseases in adults. The review showed that diet quality and several clinical indices (eg body weight, WC, TG, TC, SBP) were improved after following a telehealth intervention [262]. Similar findings of low-to-moderate quality were reported in a different 2022 meta-analysis by Barnett et al [263]. Apart from the obvious advantages of eliminating space-induced barriers, long-distance delivery can even present financial advantages; Moin et Mangione discussed the delivery of in-person compared to electronically delivered intervention for reduction in CHD risk, showing that the latter proved to be just as beneficial but, obviously, more cost-effective than the other [264].

In the question of whether macronutrient composition plays a part in promoting the latter, findings from the Diogenes study showed that individuals who had adherence to a 6-month hypocaloric diet of increased protein content presented lower weight regain at 12 months, when compared to participants of the low-protein diet group [265]. However, consistent results have yet to be yielded on specific macronutrient intake, allowing us to currently focus on the benefits of an overall balanced dietary regimen, rather than a specific macronutrient ratio. Regarding potential sex-differences, although women tend to present greater organization and motivation skills during weight loss interventions [266], men tend to present better results in weight loss leading to greater weight loss that men [267]. However, weight loss maintenance rates do not present significant differences between the two [266].

It is worth mentioning that in the case of bariatric surgery, better weight loss maintenance and metabolic profile are observed in the years following the surgery, with special attention to the Roux-en-Y bypass type [268]. This finding is in line with the fact that this type of surgery leads to a significant reduction in weight, usually larger than the one observed after adhering to behavioral interventions. We could, therefore, argue that although weight loss maintenance in this case can present better results, we must always keep in mind the weight loss and regain-ed at the end of the follow-up periods. Current evidence is limited in the 6-year follow-up period and do not allow for generalized conclusions on the success of long-term maintenance to be drawn. Jones et al also highlighted that a passive stance in the period after the bariatric surgery also negatively affects the maintenance and further pinpoint the role of active self-management skills in enhancing the observed maintenance [269]. We could, therefore, argue that approaches aiming at substantially shaping the individuals' conscientious understanding and practicing of healthy lifestyle approaches (i.e. healthy eating, exercising, reducing stress and having good sleep habits, among others), irrespective of undergoing a bariatric surgery or not, might present better chances of achieving both weight loss and long-term maintenance.

Dietary Interventions for Weight Loss

Naturally, energy deficit is essential in achieving weight loss. Meta-analyses have shown the superiority of following very low energy diets with less than 800 kcal per day (VLEDs) compared to low energy diets (LEDs) containing 800-1200 kcal per day, in achieving greater weight loss [270]. However, the differences between the two strategies appear to decline over time, seeing as individuals having followed LED present comparably similar rates in sustaining long-term weight loss to the ones having adhered to VLEDs [270]. However, the impact of VLEDs on body composition constitutes a matter of discussion, with Steur giving special focus on the potentially detrimental effects of such diets on skeletal muscle [271].

Another approach concerns the adoption of intermittent fasting techniques, where energy intake is limited within a specific time frame, usually concerning a 6- or 8-hour permissible window per day, or a 24-hour fasts on alternate days or even a 2-non-consecutive-day fast during the week [272]. In 2021 umbrella review, Patikorn et al showed that the practice was indeed associated with ameliorations in the modifications of multiple obesity-related traits [273]. In their 2020 review, Welton et al showed that IF techniques resulted in significant weight loss, but not substantially differentiated than the one compared to caloric restriction strategies. In this case, IF

was found to relate to better glycemic control in individuals following the practice [272]. Similar results were reported by Gu et al who showed no differences in weight loss between IF and caloric restriction, but an amelioration in glycemic indices such as HOMA-IR and insulin [274]. Interestingly, the study showed that IF provided significantly different results when compared to no intervention diets, meaning that practicing IF can be more beneficial than following other types of isocaloric regimens [274]. In this spectrum, Varady et al highlight the beneficial effect of IF not only on short-term weight loss but overall improvement of clinically-related, cardiometabolic factors [275].

Apart from caloric restriction in whichever form, several specific dietary regimens have been examined, with special focus on investigating the effects of low carbohydrate (<45% of total energy intake) or low fat content (<30% of total energy intake), or even comparing the two approaches. Table 8 summarized key dietary interventions in the field.

Name	Proposed Intervention	Duration	Participants	Outcome
DPP	Placebo vs Metformin vs Intensive Lifestyle Intervention (Hypocaloric, Iow-fat diet)	9 months	3234 individuals at high risk for T2D	High- carbohydrate, low-fat diet associated with increased weight loss
Look AHEAD	Lifestyle intervention (Hypocaloric, low-fat diet and increased PA)	6 months with follow-ups up to 4 years	5145 participants with overweight/obesity	Low-fat diet associated with increased weight loss
POUNDS lost	Dietary Intervention [Hypocaloric moderate- fat, moderate-protein vs moderate-fat, high- protein vs high-fat, moderate-protein vs high- fat, high-protein diets)	6 months up to 2 years	811 participants with overweight/obesity	No difference in weight loss between the four diet groups
DIETFITS	Dietary Intervention (hypocaloric, healthy low- fat vs healthy low- carbohydrate)	12-months	609 individuals with overweight	No difference in weight loss between the two diet groups
DiOGenes	Dietary Intervention (Hypocaloric high-protein, high-glycemic index vs high-protein, low- glycemic index vs low- protein, high glycemic index vs low-protein, low- glycemic index	8-week low-calorie diet and 26 weeks ad libidum	932 individuals with overweight	No difference in weight loss between the four diet groups
DIRECT	Dietary Intervention (Hypocaloric low-fat vs hypocaloric, MD nuts vs isocaloric, low- carbohydrate)	2 years	332 individuals with obesity	MD and low- carbohydrate diets associated with greater weight loss

Table 8. Summary of key dietary interventions investigating the effect of differentmacronutrient content on weight loss.

PREDIMED	Dietary Intervention	One-year	7447 at high CVD	Lower risk of CVD
	(Hypocaloric MD+EVOO	follow-ups	risk	incidence in MD
	vs MD+ mixed nuts vs	up to 5		+EVOO vs MD +
	control)	years		mixed nuts, vs
				control

Intake of low-carbohydrate regimens has gathered lots of attention, especially due to the increasing popularity of adopting schemes such as the Atkins or the ketogenic diet to achieve weight loss. Findings regarding long-term weight loss maintenance after adherence to low-carbohydrate regimens, such as the Atkins one, present contradictory results. In 2021, the Obesity Management Task Force proceeded to the publication of guidelines for very low energy ketogenic diets (carbohydrate intake usually accounts for 10% of total energy intake), in an effort to minimize potential complications and enhance the advantages observed in obesityrelated traits after adherence to such diets. The guidelines suggested that these diets results in greater weight loss and improvement of glycemic and lipidemic profile compared with other interventions. Overall, the study concluded that the diets can be an effective way to achieve weight loss, always under the prism of personalization to avoid potential aggravating results in other disorders [276]. Regarding the adoption of Atkins diets (macronutrient content may range from 10% to 35% of total energy intake deriving from carbohydrates), several studies report better loss maintenance rates in the 2-year post-intervention period, while others find no significant differences with low-fat regimens [277]. Finally, low glycemic index (GI) diets also appear popular for weight loss, with current literature reposting inconsistent results as to their leverage over other dietary interventions for weight loss [277].

Regarding dietary strategies promoting the adherence to low-fat diets, Initiatives such as the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) [278] and the Look AHEAD study [279] have looked into the effect of the latter compared to standard care recommendations. Both studies reported an overall advantage of the low-fat diets in achieving great weight loss compared to the control groups [270]. Recent metaanalyses have showed that adhering to low-carbohydrate diets results in greater short-term weight loss compared to the one observed by following low-fat diets [280,281]. Multiple intervention trials in adults with obesity have shown favorable effects on weight loss after following 6-month hypocaloric diets with a lowcarbohydrate compared to a low-fat content. However, data from 1-year follow ups report that weight loss maintenance rates remain comparably similar for the two groups [227]. According to Chao et al, low-carbohydrate diets result in higher 6-month weight loss by 3 or 4kg [270]. Intervention trials have also been designed to specifically test for differences between the two regimens in achieving weight loss in adults with overweight or obesity. The Preventing Obesity Using Novel Dietary Strategies (POUNDs lost) trial [168] examined the effects of four different hypocaloric dietary regimens (2x2 design) in 6-month and 2-year weight loss of adults with obesity. The four groups comprised of: i) a low-fat, moderate-protein diet (<20% fat, 15% protein, 65% carbohydrate); or ii) a low-fat, high-protein diet (20% fat, 25% protein, 55% carbohydrate); or iii) an MD-alike, moderate-fat, moderate-protein diet (40% fat, 15% protein, 45% carbohydrate); or iv) an MD-alike, moderate-fat, high-protein diet (40% fat, 25% protein, 35% carbohydrate) [168]. The study showed a significant mean weight loss of 6kg at the end of the 6-month intervention period, but yielded no significant differences between the four dietary groups [168]. In a similar context, the Diet Intervention Examining The Factors Interacting with Treatment Success (DIETFITS) study sought to investigate the effect of matching different individuals to either a healthy low-carbohydrate diet or a healthy low-fat one, in the observed weight loss after a 12-month intervention period in adults with overweight or obesity [282]. In line with the findings presented by POUNDS lost, DIETFITS showed a mean weight loss of 6kg at the end of the 12 months, but without significant differences within the two diet groups [283]. With regards to the quality of the pooled data in current meta-analyses, Churuangsuk et al highlighted that meta-analyses of good quality tended to show no differences in weight loss achieved by the two regimens [284]. Overall, a 2020 systematic review by Smith et al highlighted that there are no sufficient evidence to argue over the superiority of low-carbohydrate to low-fat diets in body mass variation [285].

Diets with a high-protein content targeting weight loss are considered a potentially resourceful approach due to the proteins' promoting satiety, having markedly higher DIT-inducing capacity and preventing loss of FFM [286]. However, meta-analyses in the field have demonstrated little to no significant advantages in the weight loss achieved after a high-protein and a high-fat diet [270], with a systematic review even demonstrating that low-fat diets can even present a modest advantage for short -term weight loss [277]. One of the most well-known studies in the field refers to the Diet, Obesity and Genes (DiOGenes) study, which investigated the effect of four dietary regimens (high-protein, high-glycemic index vs high-protein, lowglycemic index vs low-protein, high glycemic index vs low-protein, low-glycemic index) in the observed weight loss of 932 adults with overweight after an 8-week intervention and a 26-week ad-libidum period. The study did not show significant differences in weight loss between the diet groups but showed amelioration of lowgrade inflammation indices after following the low-protein diets [287]. A different study assessed data from the Measuring Eating, Activity and Strength: Understanding the Response-Using Protein (MEASUR-UP) and Protein Optimization in Women Enables Results-Using Protein (POWR-U) studies. The study examined the effects of following a hypocaloric, high-protein versus a hypocaloric, control diet for a 6-month period, on the observed weight loss 80 adults with obesity, finding no significant different in the weight loss observed between the two groups [288].

In terms of specific dietary patterns, the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet has also gained ground . Initially well-known as the go-to dietary strategy for combatting hypertension, DASH has also expanded as an effective approach to combating hypertension-related disorders, such as obesity due to its rich content in foods inversely associated with increased weight and its low content Two systematic reviews in 2016 and 2021 showed that DASH resulted in significant weight loss compared to control groups [289]. However, literature has not yielded significant superiority over other dietary interventions for weight loss.

Lastly, as previously described, the advantages of MD on cardiometabolic risk factors are largely known [290]. Additionally, research suggests that adoption of MD is even beneficial for the modification of obesity-related traits and achieving optimal weight loss. The Dietary Intervention Randomized Controlled Trial (DIRECT) study attempted to examined the effects of MD in weight loss of 332 individuals with obesity after a 2-year intervention of either a hypocaloric, low-fat diet; a hypocaloric, MD diet or a low-carbohydrate, isocaloric diet [291] showed that participants in the last two groups achieved greater weight loss and noted better levels of glycemic or lipidemic indices, than the ones in the low-fat diet [291]. To boot, the Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea (PREDIMED) Study, constituted another a large, randomized clinical trial (RCT) targeting prevention of CVD in individuals at high risk for the disease. The study examined the intake of MD with olive oil versus MD with mixed nuts, comparing to a control group. Although MD was proven beneficial for reducing CVD incidence, no significant effects were observed for short- or long-term weight loss [292]. In their 2011 review, Nordamann et al showed that individuals having following MD interventions presenting better weight loss, glycemic, lipidemic and inflammatory profile than the ones in low-fat diet regimens at 2-years of follow-up [270]. Finally, Ge et al concluded that MD superseded all other dietary regimens, seeing as weight loss appeared to diminish for all other types of diets at a time of 12 months after intervention completion [293].

1.3.2. Metabolomics of Weight Loss

Continuing the discussion on the existence of specific metabolomic signatures in the presence of obesity, the role of metabolomic profile has also been examined in weight loss. In line with previous relations discussed, this effect also presents bidirectional influences, with findings showing that baseline metabolic profile can affect weight loss and, in turn, weight loss can cause differences in the levels of several metabolites. Overall, weight change is associated with distinct alterations in metabolomic profile either by inducing them or vice-versa. Disruptions in oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) are in the forefront of weight change-related metabolomic parameters. Numerous factors appear to be at play, with significant interactions observed between proposed behavioral interventions aiming at weight loss and changes in metabolites implicated in glucose and fat metabolism or even gut microbiota strains [100]

In patients with morbid obesity, predictive models performed best, including metabolites such as ketone bodies, TGs and AAs. In a study by Geidenstam et al, lower levels of BCAAs and other AAs, among other metabolites, were associated with greater weight loss. Insight on the weight-loss induced metabolomic effects have provided implications for several metabolic pathways. For example, administration of metformin in combatting obesity was shown to be associated with AMPK activation and subsequent increase in FA oxidation, thus promoting weight loss [105]. In a study of 3.176 women from the TwinsUK cohort, Menni et al found that urate, γ -glutamyl valine and 3-phenylpropionate were independently associated with changes in BMI. Specifically, adding the four metabolites in prediction models significantly increased

the AUC for BMI change, compared to accounting only for demographic or lifestyle variables [106].

Observed differences may vary according to the proposed interventions, with Rangel-Huerta et al summarizing the findings of current literature in their 2019 review [102]. Different studies have demonstrated the effect of energy restriction on changes in several metabolite concentrations urine trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), SFA, MUFA, OUFA and phospholipids, among others [102]. In the case of examining different dietary schemes, a hypocaloric diet with increased intake of dairy was associated with elevated levels of citrate, urea and creatinine but lower levels of TMAO. Results from the POUNDs lost study showed differences in BCAA and several AAs following weight loss; findings successfully replicated in the DIRECT study. In the case of adopting PA recommendations.

Metabolomic signatures also appeared altered after weight loss was achieved in populations of children and adolescents. Sohn et al showed modifications in glutamate, arginine and BCAA metabolic pathways after 6-months of a weight loss intervention in 40 children, with significant metabolomic changes also noted in the 6 to 18-month period following the end of the intervention [294]. Similarly, Rigamonti et al showed significant alterations in 64 metabolites of 42 teenagers with obesity after adhering to a hypocaloric diet for a total duration of 3 weeks [295]. Interestingly both the aforementioned studies showed increase in carnitine and carnitineassociated metabolites after the end of the proposed interventions, hinting at beneficial changes in fat oxidation post weight loss.

1.3.3. Gene-lifestyle Interactions in Weight Loss

In line with the insightful findings on the role of gene-lifestyle interactions in weight change, current literature presents a vast variety of proposed interventions examining different approaches for achieving optimal weight loss. Figure 19 depicts a representative network of published research surrounding the field of gene-diet interactions in weight loss throughout the past 14-year period.



Figure 19. Papers concerning gene-diet interactions in weight loss [created with connected papers.com].

When proceeding to accounting for the additive effect of genetic makeup, findings display great interest in its implications on diet's mediating or modifying effects. Nutrigenetic interactions are observed in the manifestations of various obesity-related traits, whether they be of anthropometric or even behavioral nature. Rivera-Iniquez et al investigated nutrigenetic associations in rewarding behaviors, among others, highlighting the influence of dietary acceptability and genetic compatibility in modifying eating behavior [296]. This constitutes a promising field of interest for future research surrounding the role of gene-diet interactions in intermediate or psychological phenotypes affecting obesity traits via impact on dietary habits.

In large, nutrigenetic effects have been studied in the context of either crosssectional or retrospective analyses, or dietary interventions investigating the effect of hypocaloric diets or diets of different macronutrient content. A meta-analysis on data from 33.187 participants of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Trans-Omics for Precision Medicine cohorts showed a significant, UKBB-replicated interaction between the rs79762542 variant and carbohydrate intake in influencing HbA1c levels [297]. Dietary interventions have examined the combined impact of genetic factors and diets of various macronutrient composition on the modifications of body weight or other cardiometabolic risk factors, by providing advice based on genetic characteristics (nutrigenetic advice) (Table 9). Frankwich et al examined the impact of administering diets of different macronutrient contents but combined with nutrigenetic advice on weight loss, without observing vast differences in postintervention results [297]. A different well-known study concerns the PREVENTOMICS initiative. This study sought to examine the effect of providing personalized vs standard advice for 10-week period, on the observed weight loss of 100 individuals with overweight or obesity [298]]. Similarly to above, PREVENTOMICS did not show significant differences in the observed weight loss of the two groups [298]. Furthermore, the Nutrigenomics, Overweight/Obesity and Weight Management (NOW) RCT, built on the advice given in the aforementioned DPP trial (the Group Lifestyle Balance-GLB) and additionally provided recommendations based on genetic information. The trial managed to show increased fat reduction in the group receiving GLB and nutrigenetic advice, compared to GLB alone [299].

Moreover, the NUGENOB and Obekit initiatives attempted to investigate the effect of genetic variants in the observed weight loss of participants following a hypocaloric low-fat diet vs a moderate-fat (NUGENOB) [300] or a high-protein diet (Obekit) [301]. The former yielded no differences in weight loss between the two diets, but showed nominal associations between BMI-risk alleles and reduced weight loss in participants in the low-fat group [302]. Interestingly, findings from the study showed that participants with the AA genotype for the TFAP2B variant presented greater weight loss in the low-fat group, whereas GG homozygotes showed increased weight loss in the high fat group [303]. In a similar context, the Obekit trial showed that homozygotes for the rs1042713 variant showed lower reductions in TC and LCL-C in the low-fat compared to the moderately high-protein group [301].

Name	Proposed Intervention	Duration	Participants	Outcome
Frankwich et al	Lifestyle Intervention (Nutrigenetic diet -i.e. balanced vs low-fat vs low carbohydrate vs MD vs standard recommendations)	8 weeks (primary) and 24 weeks	51 individuals with overweight or obesity	No difference in weight loss between the five diet groups
PREVENTOMICS	Lifestyle Intervention (Personalized diet vs standard recommendations)	10 weeks	100 individuals with overweight or obesity	No difference in weight loss between the two diet groups
NOW	Lifestyle Intervention (GLB vs GLB + nutrigenomics recommendations)	12 months	140 individuals	GLB + nutrigenomics group reduced fat intake at 12 months
NUGENOB	Lifestyle Intervention (Hypocaloric low-fat vs moderate-fat diet)	10 weeks	771 individuals with obesity	No difference in weight loss between the two diet groups
Obekit	Dietary Intervention (Hypocaloric moderately high-protein vs low-fat diet)	4-month intervention period and 6-month follow-up	260 participants with obesity	Various changes

Table 9. Summary of key personalized or nutrigenetic interventions investigating the effect of different macronutrient content on weight loss.

Generally, regarding the role or genetic variation on weight changes induced by lifestyle interventions, a 2018 systematic review by Tan et al highlighted the versatility of current results and the fact that most studies up to that point, mainly reported findings on the interaction between specific candidate variants and dietary parameters in the modification of anthropometric measurements [304]. The most representative example concerns the case of SNPs in the FTO gene. Interestingly, carriers of the BMI-related, rs9939609-A allele have shown greater reductions in body weight after following hypocaloric dietary interventions in a limited number of RCTs [277, 305, 306]. To boot, several RCTs have shown no significant interaction between the variant and macronutrient composition in differentiating responses to weight loss attempts [277, 307, 308]. However, the POUNDS lost study demonstrated a significant increase in weight loss among carriers of the risk allele of the rs1558902 variant who adhered to the high-protein diet for the 2-year period [DOI 10.1007/s13668-013-0061-3]. Interestingly, the same study also yielded important results for other obesityrelated loci. Presence of the obesity-related rs2943641-C and rs2287019-T alleles was associated with elevated weight loss and glycemic profile improvement in participants adhering to the low-fat diet, with findings pertaining mostly to the short-term (6month) rather the long-term (2-year) intervention period [277]. Regarding FTO and glycemic profile, a recent meta-analysis by Parastouei et al reported no statistically significant differences between the risk allele carriers and non-carriers in changes observed for fasting glucose or HOMA-IR after dietary interventions with hypocaloric regimens [309]. In 2015, Martinez et Milagro explicitly summarized nutrigenetic interactions observed in dietary interventions targeting weight loss as a way to set bases for personalized management strategies [252] Table 10 summarizes the findings presented in the study denoting significant interactions between genetic variants and dietary components in modifying adult weight loss. Overall, the gene- or GRS-diet interactions reported in the literature present contradictory results with many efforts showing significant interactions between the two factors and other yielding no statistically important findings. The thorough review concludes by highlighting the need for more research in populations of large sample size to validate current findings and provide more robust results [252].

Table 10. Table adapted from Martinez et Milagro, summarizing gene-diet interactions in the weight loss observed in adults following lifestyle interventions [252].

Gene	SNP	Proposed Intervention	Participants	Outcome
GIPR	rs228719	Four diets with different macronutrient content	757 individuals with overweight	rs228719-T allele x low- fat diet resulted in increased weight loss
GNAS	G(-1211)A	7-day fasting	87 individuals	GG genotype associated with increased weight loss
MC4R	rs1943218, rs17066866, rs17066856, rs9966412, rs17066859, rs8091237, rs7290064, rs12970134	6-14 month DPP	3234 individuals with T2D	Interactions between diet and variants in increasing weight loss
PLIN1	11482G->A	1-year hypocaloric diet	150 individuals with obesity	11482-A allele associated with weight loss resistance
PPARG	Pro12Ala	Diet and exercise	1456 inidivduals	Ala12 x high-fat intake resulted in lower weight loss
TCF7L2	rs7903146	10-week hypocaloric low- vs high-fat diet	771 individuals with obesity	TT genotype x low-fat resulted in increased weight loss
TCF7L2	rs7903146	9-month fat reduction and fiber increase	304 individuals	TCF72L x fiber affected weight loss rates
TFAP2B	rs987237	8-week hypocaloric with low- vs high-fat diet	771 individuals	rs987237 x energy deficit affected the impact of fat intake on weight loss
UCP1	-3826A/G	2-month diet	17 women with normal weight	-3826-G resulted in lower weight loss
UCP3	CGTACC haplotype	1-month VLED	214 women	CGTACC resulted in increased weight loss
FABP2	Ala54Thr	3-month hypocaloric diet	111 individuals with obesity	Thr54 resulted in increased weight loss

In a nutshell, the conduct of nutrigenetic studies has, so far, provided limited but encouraging findings on the effects of the interactions on anthropometric parameters. Exploring future directions, with emphasis on dietary regimens with evidence-based beneficial characteristics, such as MD [310], poses a promising direction with extensions in effective obesity-combatting strategies.

1.4. Current Gaps in Literature and Thesis Research Questions

The purpose of the study is to assess the interaction of genetic makeup and lifestyle determinants, including gene-diet interactions, on obesity-related traits of healthy adolescents and adults with overweight or obesity. Following the literature review, the research questions constituting the cornerstone of the present thesis will attempt to decipher the following: i) the examination of associations between dietary and lifestyle habits and anthropometric and lifestyle indices in Greek adults with overweight or obesity; ii) the investigation of the impact of hypocaloric diets of different macronutrient content in the anthropometric, body composition and lifestyle parameters of Greek adults with overweight or obesity; iii) the effect of genetic makeup on the response to the hypocaloric diets and the observed modifications of the weight-related indices; iv) the identification of dietary patterns in adolescents and their associations with cardiometabolic indices and interactions with VEGF-A-related genetic variants; and v) the effect of genetic makeup on the BMI levels of Greek adults.

The innovation of the present thesis rests in: i) the first dietary intervention for weight loss examining two different dietary regimens in Greek adults with overweight or obesity; ii) the use of an online assessment tool to deliver the intervention and assess intervention outcomes; iii) the first analyses for gene-diet interactions following the hypocaloric diets in Greek adults with overweight or obesity; iv) the comparative evaluations of the dietary habits of adolescent populations of different origin; v) the never-before-conducted attempted evaluation of the role of VEGF-A variants in adolescent cardiometabolic profile; and vi) the creation of the first PRS for BMI in a Greek population of adults.

1.5. Thesis Aims and Objectives

The **aim of the present Dissertation** is to investigate the influence of genetic background and lifestyle factors (e.g. dietary habits) and their respective synergistic effect on obesity-related traits, such as body weight regulation and body composition measurements and levels of glycemic and lipidemic indices, in several age groups. For those purposes, the objectives of the present Dissertation are hereby summarized in the following:

- i. *To conduct* a dietary intervention for weight loss using hypocaloric dietary regimes with difference macronutrient content, in adults with overweight or obesity, in the context of the iMPROVE Study [112];
- ii. *To investigate* the effect of dietary habits and the dietary intervention for weight loss on anthropometric, cardiometabolic and lifestyle indices in adults with overweight or obesity, in the context of the iMPROVE Study [112];
- iii. *To investigate* the effect of BMI-related genetic variants and their interactions with lifestyle characteristics on anthropometric, cardiometabolic and lifestyle

indices in adults with overweight or obesity, in the context of the iMPROVE Study;

- iv. *To investigate* the effect of dietary habits on the levels of glycemic, lipidemic and inflammatory indices in adolescent populations using data from the Greek TEENAGE and the French STANISLAS Family Study, in the context of the 2018 Chair Gutenberg project [311];
- v. *To investigate* the effect of VEGF-A-related variants and their interactions dietary habits on the levels of glycemic, lipidemic and inflammatory indices in adolescents from the Greek TEENAGE study, in the context of the 2018 Chair Gutenberg project [312];
- vi. *To develop* a PRS for BMI, using data from the Greek studies of NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS Studies [208];

For these reasons, the aims and objectives of the present Dissertation are summarized in greater detail according to each of the three projects, in the sections below.

2. Methodology

2.1. The iMPROVE Study

2.1.1 Ethics, Study Registration and Study Aims and Objectives

The **iMPROVE study** constitutes a clinical trial, a dietary intervention created to investigate the synergistic effect of genetic background and lifestyle characteristics on body weight regulation, body composition, biochemical profile and lifestyle parameters. The study was conducted according to the principles laid out in the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Board of Harokopio University of Athens, with a protocol number of 1800/13-06-2019 (see Appendix B1). The iMPROVE study design has been registered to the ClinicalTrials.gov database of clinical studies (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04699448).

Accordingly, **the aim of the study** was to investigate the effect of genetic background and adherence to hypocaloric dietary regimes with difference macronutrient content on the body weight regulation, the body composition, the glycemic and lipidemic profile and lifestyle characteristics of an adult, Greek population with overweight or obesity.

The objectives of the study were, thus, shaped as follows:

- i. *To investigate* the effect of adherence to two different hypocaloric dietary regimes on the body weight regulation of Greek adults with overweight or obesity;
- ii. *to investigate* the effect of genetic makeup on the body weight regulation, biochemical profile and lifestyle parameters of Greek adults with overweight or obesity, by examining BMI-related variants and constructing GRSs for BMI; *and*
- iii. *to investigate* the synergistic effect of genetic makeup and dietary intake on the body weight regulation, biochemical profile and lifestyle parameters of Greek adults with overweight or obesity, by examining interactions between BMI-related variants and GRSs and dietary factors.

As of 2023, relevant project proceedings included in the present thesis have already been published in a peer-reviewed article [112, Appendices].

2.1.2. Study Design and Study Population

In this context, the iMPROVE study was designed as a three-month dietary intervention, with a maximum participation of six months, including Greek adults with overweight or obesity, who fulfilled the following eligibility criteria for inclusion in the study:

- i. Age in the spectrum of 18 to 65 years old;
- ii. Existence of overweight or obesity (i.e. BMI of more than 25 kg/m²);
- iii. No extreme weight loss in the 3 to 6 months prior to the beginning of the intervention; *and*
- iv. Maintenance of a stable level of physical activity for the duration of the intervention

Exclusion criteria for participation in the study included:

- i. Presence of pregnancy, lactation or desire to become pregnant in the near future (i.e. during the intervention period);
- Presence of unregulated comorbidities or chronic or other diseases, which can influence dietary intake (i.e. existence of type 1 or type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, gastrointestinal disorders, mental illness, dietary disorders, cancer of any form);
- iii. Parallel intake of supplements targeted at weight loss; and

iv. Parallel participation in a different research study targeted at weight loss. Eligible volunteers were recruited for participation in the study. **Oral information** on the study protocol and the research aims and objectives was provided to all volunteers by health professionals (i.e. dietitians and nutritionists) and nutrition science undergraduate and/or graduate students, prior to the volunteers' providing written consent for their participation in the study. All volunteers included in the intervention and the analyses present hereby provided **written consent** prior to enrolling in the intervention.

Following their enrolment, eligible volunteers participated in the baseline **inperson meeting** with trained health professionals (i.e. dietitians and nutritionists) and nutrition science students. Volunteers further participated in at least one more inperson follow-up meeting at the end of the 3 months after intervention onset. More specifically, at baseline, participants were randomly allocated to one of the two groups adhering to **hypocaloric dietary regimes with different macronutrient content** (Figure 20), as follows:

- *Regimen 1*: 60% of daily dietary intake provided from carbohydrates, 18% of daily dietary intake provided by protein and 22% of daily dietary intake provided by fat.
- ii. Regimen 2: 40% of daily dietary intake provided from carbohydrates, 30% of daily dietary intake provided by protein and 30% of daily dietary intake provided by fat.



Figure 20. Macronutrient distribution of the proposed diets [112]. Daily dietary requirements were calculated for each volunteer based on their BMR and physical activity level (PAL). Individual daily needs were calculated with a target of achieving an anticipated weight loss of 0.5 to 1kg per week, which was translated to a 500kcal reduction in each participant's daily dietary intake. Three types of diets were created for each macronutrient group, with a daily caloric content of 1500 kcal/day, 1800kcal/day or 2000kcal/day. All proposed diets adhered to the principles of the Mediterranean diet (i.e. proposing consumption of red meat once a week; consumption of fish once or twice per week; consumption of grains two or three times per week and consumption of three portions of fruits and three portions of vegetables per day) and were composed of 5 or 6 meals throughout the day, including easy-to-make and traditional-for-the-Greek-population food combinations and recipes. Each participant was provided with the diet of caloric content most closely corresponding to their calculated caloric needs.

At baseline, participants provided fasting blood samples (23mL) and underwent assessment of body composition (see below). Moreover, all volunteers were required to fill in questionnaires regarding anthropometric and lifestyle data during the entirety of the intervention period. For the purposes of facilitating the long-distance collection of all relevant data, as well as the provision and renewal of the proposed diets, our team proceeded to the development of an original online assessment tool available at: http://83.212.122.254/ (Figure 21). All participants were informed on the use of the online platform during the baseline meeting. Access to the online tool was granted with unique usernames and passwords for each volunteer. During the baseline session, each volunteer was informed on the use of the platform by the healthcare professional and by being taken on a virtual tour and explicitly shown how to access and use it.

At baseline, participants were called to provide information on: i) their medical history; ii) demographic characteristics; iii) feeling of satiety, by completing a 5-scale

short questionnaire; iv) adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern, by completing the questionnaire of the MedDiet Score [313]; v) depression characteristics, by completing the CESD-R-10 Questionnaire [314]; (vi) characteristics of quality of life and health status, by completing the short version of the SF-12 Questionnaire which results in the estimation of a physical (SF PCS 12) and a mental (SF MCS 12) component [315]; vii) characteristics of quality of sleep, by completing the Athens Insomnia Scale Questionnaire [316]; viii) dietary habits, by completing a 69-item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) [317]; and ix) physical activity habits, by completing the short version of the IPAQ Questionnaire [318] (see Appendix F). Completion of the SF-12, AIS and IPAQ questionnaires and completion of information on the participants' anthropometric measurements (i.e., current weight, waist and hip circumference measurements), feeling of satiety and self-reported adherence to the proposed diet on a monthly basis was also a prerequisite prior to the renewal of the proposed diet. The latter was administered to the participant via access to the platform and was



Ευχαριστούμε για τη συμμετοχή σας στο ερευνητικό πρόγραμμα iMPROVE, παρακαλούμε συμπληρώστε τα παρακάτω ερωτηματολόγια.



<u>Ερωτηματολόγια Έναρξης</u>



Α.

Μόλις ολοκληρώσετε τα ερωτηματολόγια, μπορείτε να παραλάβετε το πρόγραμμα διατροφής σας εδώ

Β.



MRROVE STUDY - Harokopio Udviventy 2 w New 2 Edt Page
 MPROVE STUDY - Harokopio University
 MPROVE STUDY - Harokopio University

Encléξte Éva antó ta παρακάτω ερωτηματολόγια για τον 1ο μήνα

 Epumperoldyno Kopamonio (Engelo 1)
 Epumperoldyno flooxid/Aport (Engelo 1)

C.

C.

Επιλέξτε ένα από τα παρακάτω ερωτηματολόγια για τον 2ο μήνα Α Ερωτηματολόγιο Κορεσμού (Σημείο 2) Ερωτηματολόγιο Κατάστασης Υγείας (Σημείο 2) Ερωτηματολόγιο Ανθρωπομετρίας (Σημείο 2) Ερωτηματολόγιο Ποιότητας Υπνου (Σημείο 2) Ερωτηματολόγιο Φυσικής Δραστηριότητας (Σημείο 2) Ερωτηματολόγιο Προσκόλλησης (Σημείο 2) Επιλέξτε ένα από τα παρακάτω ερωτηματολόγια για τον 3ο μήνα Ερωτηματολόγιο Κορεσμού Σημείο 3 Ερωτηματολόγιο Κατάστασης Υγείας Σημείο 3 Ανθρωπομετρία (Σημείο 3) Ερωτηματολόγιο Ποιότητας Υπνου (Σημείο 3) Ερωτηματολόγιο Φυσικής Δραστηριότητας (Σημείο 3) Ερωτηματολόγιο Προσκόλλησης (Σημείο 3)



Figure 21. **iMPROVE** Study Online Questionnaire Tool, found at /http://83.212.122.254/. A. Welcome Page with links to baseline questionnaires, monthly questionnaires and the proposed dietary regimens; B. Page depicting the required baseline questionnaires to be filled out; C. Page showing the monthly questionnaires to be filled out; and D. page showing the links to download the proposed diet (only one link allowed to open per participant).

renewed monthly, once all questionnaires of the preceding month were filled out in the online tool and checked by the nutrition expert.

At the end of the baseline meeting, each volunteer was allocated a nutritionexpert contact who monitored their adherence to the proposed patterns and intervention progress by: i) conducting biweekly follow-up phone calls and monthly 24-h dietary recalls in order to discuss the potential concerns and provide advice; ii) monitoring the monthly completion of all online questionnaires; iii) evaluating the participant's self-reported monthly body measurements; and iv) renewing and allowing access to the proposed diet in the online tool.

2.1.3 Project Outcomes

The **primary outcome** of the study lied in the **change in body weight** after the proposed dietary intervention (minimum of three months). Its secondary outcomes are summarized in modifications of the following:

- Changes in anthropometric measurements and body composition (i.e. WC, i. WHR, body fat percentage and visceral fat);
- ii. Changes in biochemical profile (e.g. TC, TG, glucose, HDL-C, LDL-C)
- Change in lifestyle parameters (i.e. sleep quality, overall health status and iii. depression symptoms).

2.1.4 Anthropometric, Body Composition and Dietary Assessment

In all in-person meetings, basic anthropometric measurements were collected for each participant, by a trained health professional (i.e. dietitian or nutritionist) or a nutrition science student. Blood pressure was also measured, using an electrical sphygmomanometer, with the volunteer in a sitting position, without crossed legs, at the left-hand side, where the left arm stands relaxed on a surface at the height of the position of the heart. Body weight was measured in kg, via use of electronic scales with the participants in light clothing (clothing weight calculated at 0.5kg). Height was measured in cm using a stable stadiometer, where the participants were barefoot, with their shoulders in a relaxed position and while looking ahead. Waist circumference (WC) and hip circumference (HC) were measured in cm and in the nearest 0.1 cm, using a non-retractable body soft tape measure. The former was measured between the iliac crest and the twelfth rib and the later in measured at the point of the hips presenting the widest extension. Both measurements were taken when participants were standing straight, relaxed and with their hands parallel to their body. During all in-person measurements, guidance and reminders were provided in the participants so as to be able to conduct the measurements themselves on a monthly basis and report them in the online monthly questionnaires.

Body composition was analysed using a bioelectrical impendence analysis machine (*Tanita Body Composition Analyzer BC-418*), where the participants were in light clothing and without any metal objects on them. As described above (see *1.1.2. Body Weight and Composition Assessment Methods*) he method of analysing body composition via use of bioelectrical impedance analysis is based on the principle of measuring the body resistance to circulating electrical currents and the fact that, contrary to muscle tissue containing water, adipose tissue presents high electrical resistance. Participants were informed not to consume any food or drink and not undergo mediocre or intense physical activity/exercise for at least 2 hours prior to the analysis. Body composition analysis provided data on the individual's BMI as well as total and departmental body fat, muscle and water percentage.

Assessment of dietary intake at baseline took place via online completion of a the validated 69- item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ). Dietary assessment and evaluation of the adherence to the proposed diet took place monthly via: i) a 24-h dietary recall, carried out by the nutrition expert; and ii) the online completion of the 5-scale self-reported adherence questionnaire.

2.1.5 Laboratory Analyses

Blood samples (23mL) were collected for each participant in all in-person meetings. Volunteers had been instructed to come to the meeting following a 12-hour, overnight fast. All blood samples were collected in daytime until 10.30 am; two of them in EDTA blood collection tubes and one in a non-EDTA containing vacutainer. Part of the samples (~ 250µL) was immediately sent for blood tests (i.e. red and white blood cells, platelets, hemoglobin and hematocrit). The other EDTA-containing tube and the non-EDTA containing tube underwent centrifuging at 1500rpm, at a temperature of 4°C for 10 minutes. Plasma, buffy coat and red blood cells were collected from the former and serum was collected from later. Samples were stored

at -80°C until being sent for further biochemical testing (i.e. measurements for TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C, glucose etc) by an external collaborator.

The buffy coat samples collected after centrifuging of the blood samples were used for DNA extraction. Part of the samples were extracted using the Invitrogen iPrep Purification Instrument and the Invitrogen iPrep PureLink gDNA Blood Kit [319], in the following steps:

- i. The instrument was cleaned using a clean pad with 96% ethanol. The corresponding disc for DNA extraction from buffy coat samples was inserted in the machine and the "On" button was pressed.
- ii. One iPrep[™] PureLink[®] gDNA Blood Cartridge per sample was inserted in each one of the instrument positions.
- iii. One iPrep[™] Sample and Elution Tube containing the sample in the heated tube position of cartridge and one empty collection tube was inserted of each of the Cartridges used.
- iv. Each one of the empty collection tubes samples' caps was placed in the instrument's T2 position.
- v. The instrument was closed and the extraction was ran for approximately thirty minutes.
- vi. After the end of the extraction, samples and cartridges were collected and removed from the machine. The instrument was cleaned using a clear pad with 96% ethanol and turned off. The disc for DNA extraction from buffy coat samples was removed and properly stored in a separate case.
- vii. The DNA extracted samples were placed in room temperature (25°C) for 24 hours.

viii. After the incubation, sample were placed in the magnetic instrument to remove remaining magnets and the content of the sample was transferred to a clean collection tube prior to measuring DNA concentration using a spectrophotometer.

Furthermore, DNA extraction took place manually for a small part of the samples, using the PureLink[®] Genomic DNA kits in the following steps:

- i. 200μL of each sample were collected followed by addition of 20μL Proteinase K and 20μL RNaseA. The sample underwent short vortexing and was then left to incubate at room temperature (25°C) for two minutes.
- ii. 200µL of PureLink[®] Genomic Lysis/Binding Buffer was added to each sample, followed by a short vortexing and a 10-minute incubation at 55 °C.
- iii. 200µL 96% ethanol was added to each sample, followed by short vortexing.
- The entire content of each sample (~640μL) was transferred to a PureLink[®] Spin Column Collection Tubes and was further centrifuged at 10.000 rpm for one minute at room temperature (25°C)
- v. After centrifugation, the Collection Tube for each sample was discarded and replaced with a new PureLink[®] Collection Tube.
- vi. 500µL of the Wash Buffer 1 was added to each tube, followed by another centrifugation at 10.000 rpm for one minute, at room temperature (25°C)
- vii. After centrifugation, the Collection Tube for each sample was discarded and replaced with a new PureLink[®] Collection Tube.

- viii. 500µL of the Wash Buffer 2 was added to each tube, followed by another centrifugation at 10.000 rpm for three minutes, at room temperature (25°C).
- ix. After centrifugation, the column containing the DNA sample was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube, followed by addition of 50µL of the PureLink[®] Genomic Elution Buffer and another centrifugation at maximum speed (11000 rpm) for one minute at room temperature (25°C). Quantification of the extracted DNA took place via use of a spectrophotometer

in the following steps:

- i. The instrument was cleaned using a clean pad with 96% ethanol and, then opened.
- ii. The option for measuring Nucleic Acids and ssDNA was selected.
- iii. Using a 10µL pipette, one microliter of the black solution was used to μη δενίζω the device prior to measuring sample DNA concentrations.
- iv. Using a 10µL pipette, one microliter of each sample was placed in the head of the photometer and the "Sample" button was pressed.
- v. Sample absorbance at 260nm, 280 nm and 230nm (ratios 260/280 and 230/260) was recorded in a lab book for each of the samples. The 260/280 ratio is used to assess DNA sample purity and a ratio of 1.8-2.0 is considered to declare good sample quality. Lower 280/260 ratios indicate presence of other substances such as protein, phenols or other contaminants absorbing at or near 280nm [320]. The 260/230 ratio is used as a secondary measure to indicate sample clarity, with the range of 2 to 2.2. considered to be indicating a sample of good purity. Higher 260/230 ratios are considered to indicate the presence of contaminants absorbing at higher nm. Accordingly, lower ratios indicate the presence of substances absorbing at or lower than 230nm, such as carbohydrates and phenols [320].

All DNA samples were then stored at -20° C for a maximum duration of 2 months up to being sent for further analyses and genotyping. If needed to be stored for more than 2 months, samples were stored at -80° C.

Genotyping of at least $50ng/\mu L$ of the extracted DNA samples took place via: i) use of the Axiom Precision Medicine Diversity Research Array (PMD Research Array), containing more than 800.000 SNPs, deletions and copy number variations from the 1000Genomes Project Phase III [321], for a part of the extracted samples ; ii) use of the Axiom Precision Medicine Diversity Research Array (PMRA), containing more than 800.000 markers, for a different groups of extracted samples; and iii) GSA Erasmus MC. Following completion of the genotyping, imputation analyses took place using the 1000 genomes Phase 3 panel and the IMPUTE2 software.

2.1.6 Statistical Analyses

The entirety of phenotypic data analyses was conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), version 23 [322], the R statistical package [323] and the STATA statistical software [324]. Variable distribution was evaluated using the Shapiro–Wilk, Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests and Q-Q plots. Mean values and standard deviation are presented for variables following the normal distribution, while median and interquartile range are presented for variables not normally distributed. Body

Mass Index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m2) and LDL-C was calculated using the Friedewald Equation, where LDL – C = (TC) – (HDL – C) – (TG/5) [325]. Differences in mean/median values of variables within different groups (i.e. BMI groups, sex or diet groups) were evaluated using the non-parametric Mann–Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis tests. Multivariate linear regressions were employed to test for potential associations between the various phenotypic variables and are presented as beta coefficients (β) and standard error (SE). Variables not following the normal distribution were log-transformed.

Information on dietary habits deriving from the collected FFQs and 24-hour dietary recalls were analyzed using the Nutritionist Pro software [326]. The dietary patterns for the iMPROVE cohort were extracted by conducting principal component analysis (PCA) on 32 food groups deriving from the FFQ information. The Varimax orthogonal rotation was used and the Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin KMO and Bartlett's test was implemented to evaluate data adequacy. Five dietary patterns were set to be extracted with Eigen values bigger than 1. Potential associations between the extracted patterns and several indices were examined by separating them into tertiles and testing for associations using the parametric ANOVA test and the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test, depending on the distribution of the examined variable. Multivariate linear regressions were used to examine relations with anthropometric, biochemical and lifestyle indices, adjusting for three models of confounding factors (i.e. Model 1: age, sex; Model 2: age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and logBMI; and Model 3: age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, logBMI, education years, family and professional status). The level of statistical significance for all analyses was set at α = 0.05 and results were also interpreted for the adjusted cutoff value of a = 0.05/number of patterns extracted (i.e., a = 0.05/5 = 0.01).

Following the extraction of the dietary patterns, we included them in using Pearson's chi-square test values to investigate all phenotypic variables for potential correlations to logBMI and/or body fat percentage. We used statistically significantly correlated variables to construct a novel Lifestyle Index (LI) where higher values indicated favorable effects. We further proceeded to test for potential associations with anthropometric and biochemical indices using multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age and sex (Model 1), as well as age, sex and BMI (Model 2).

We further proceeded to using the information on baseline physical activity levels and the calculated MedDiet Score into creating 4 groups of high or low PAL and high or low adherence to the Mediterranean diet. We subsequently used the Kruskal-Wallis test to assess within-group differences in anthropometric characteristics and conducted multivariate linear regressions to examine associations between the groups and anthropometric, biochemical and lifestyle indices, adjusting for age and sex (Model 1), as well as age, sex and BMI (Model 2).

Proceeding to the observed results of the dietary intervention, we used the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test to assess differences between the two sex and diet groups and the non-parametric Wilcoxon signed-rank test to assess differences pre- and post-intervention, as well as differences between baseline and the end of each examined month. In order to account for the missing values observed postintervention, we used the STATA software to perform imputation of missing values, using the multiple imputation method conducted in the three following steps: i) the imputation step, where n completed imputed datasets are generated; ii) the estimation step, where the desired analysis is performed separately to each of the imputations; and iii) the pooling step, where the results obtained from the estimations of Step 2 are combined into a single multiple-imputation model. Hereby, the missing data mechanism was assumed to be missing-at random (MAR), as the loss to follow up did not differ between the two diet groups and no other known parameter (across the variables) was correlated with loss to follow-up. Additional performed several sensitivity analyses were performed in order to verify the stability of inferences produced at the pooling step. The correlation of body weight at baseline and the change in body weight at 3 months with categorical variables was investigated with Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney test and the non-parametric Kruskal Willis test. The correlation of body weight at baseline and the change in body weight at 3 months with numerical variables was investigated with Spearman's rho. The imputation step was performed for the body weight at 1st, 2nd and 3rd month of follow-up simultaneously using a multivariate normal regression model. When more than one variable contain missing values, it is advisable to impute the missing values in one analysis. As weight did not follow the normal distribution in the imputation model the logarithm of weight at month 1, 2 and 3 was imputed for the following scenarios: i) Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group; ii) Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone; iii) Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, education years; and iv) Base case: Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, Fat (%) baseline. For each case, 20, 50 and 100 imputations were estimated, with the latter presenting robust results. The imputation model was a multivariate normal regression model using an iterative Marcov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) procedure to generate impute values. For all cases, we assumed a burn-in period of 10,000 iterations, 1,000 iterations between 100 imputations, and a non-informative prior distribution (Jeffreys). The noninformative priors provide no extra information about model parameters beyond that already contained in the data. This model should be checked for convergence (i.e., if the produced distribution converges to a stationary distribution). For each one of the 100 datasets that were produced, we converted back the logarithm of weight in its normal scale for each month. Next, the change in weight was computed as the difference of the weight at 3rd month (for every one of the 100 imputations) minus the baseline weight. Model convergence was checked with trace and autocorrelation plots (Supplementary table A1 in Appendix). At the pooling step, a null linear regression model was used to estimate the mean (95% CI) change in body weight at 3 months of the total sample. An additional linear regression model was fitted to investigate the difference of mean change in body weight at 3 months between the two diet groups. The results of this step are presented as beta coefficients (95% CIs).

In order to investigate the effect of genetic predisposition in the examined indices at baseline and post-intervention, we set out to explore the effect of candidate genetic variants in two ways: i) via the construction of an unweighted and a weighted genetic risk score (uGRS and wGRS) using the well-known SNPs related to BMI published by Locke et al [326] (Supplementary Table S1); ii) via use of 10 target variants known for their associations with BMI, based on current literature (Table 11); and iii) via use of 10 target variants known for their associations with body fat indices

(Table 12), based on current literature. Regarding the changes in weight observed post-intervention, we proceeded to calculating an uGRS and a wGRS for BMI, using the BMI-related SNPs first identified In the cornerstone analyses of 2015 by Locke et al [326].

We used the available imputed data for the iMPROVE cohort. For missing SNPs, we included relevant proxies with an observed R² of above 0.8, using LDlink. Details on the SNPs and SNP proxies included in the wGRS and uGRS are presented in Supplementary Table S1. We used a threshold of 0.8 for the imputation INFO score for all SNPs included in the analyses. Quality control for sample and SNP exclusion criteria consisted of: i) Sample call rate at 95%; ii) genotyping call rate at 98%; iii) Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) exact p<0.0001; and iv) minor allele frequency at 1%. After QC, we used the available data for 84 out of the 97 primary SNPs. Construction of the GRSs took place after coding each SNP genotype with 0,1 or 2 based on the copies of the effect allele (i.e. 0 for a homozygote without a copy of the effect allele, 1 for a heterozygote and 2 for a homozygote with 2 copies of the effect allele). Creation of the uGRS included the aggregation of all coded SNPs in an additive variable, while for the wGRS a subsequent multiplication took place using the SNPs' respective effect size according to the European sex-combined results provided from Locke et al [326]. The final, cumulative wGRS variable was, thus, presented in the form of:

 $wGRS = SNP1 \ x \ \beta 1 + SNP2 \ x \ \beta 2 + \dots + SNP84 \ x \ \beta 84.$

		Co	onsortial Summar	y Statistics				iMPROVE Cohort	
SNP	Gene	Chr	Position (bp)	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Direction of effect for BMI	MAF	Ref
s6548238_T	LINC01875, TMEM18	2	2:634905	T/C/G	0.12 (T)	С	Positive	T: 0.095	GIANT Consortium
s1801282_G	PPARG	3	3:12351626	C/G	0.07 (G)	G	Positive	G: 0.053	GIANT Consortium
rs2241766_G	APIPOQ	3	186853103	T/A/C/G	0.15 (G)	G	Positive	G: 0.45	GIANT Consortium
rs925946_T	BDNF	11	11:27645655	T/A/C/G/	0.25 (T)	Т	Positive	T: 0.103	GIANT Consortium
rs1421085_C	FTO	16	16:53767042	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Positive	C: 0.26	GIANT Consortium
rs1121980_A	FTO	16	16:53775335	G/A/C	0.37 (A)	А	Positive	A: 0.28	GIANT Consortium
s17817449_G	FTO	16	16:53779455	T/A/G	0.31 (G)	G	Positive	G: 0.28	GIANT Consortium
rs3751812_T	FTO	16	16:53784548	G/T	0.22 (T)	Т	Positive	T: 0.25	GIANT Consortium
rs9939609_A	FTO	16	16:53786615	T/A	0.34 (A)	А	Positive	A: 0.26	GIANT Consortium
s17782313_C	MC4R	18	18:60183864	T/A/C	0.24 (C)	С	Positive	C: 0.13	GIANT Consortium

Consortial Summary Statistics										
SNP	Gene	Chr	Position (bp)	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Direction of effect for fat- related indices	MAF		
rs574367_T	LINC01741, SEC16B	1	1:177904075	G/T	0.15 (T)	Т	Positive	T: 0.13		
rs2605100_A	LYPLAL1-AS1,ZC3H11B	1	1:219470882	A/G	0.19 (A)	G	Positive	A: 0.22		
rs4846567_T	LYPLAL1-AS1,ZC3H11B	1	1:219577375	G/T	0.22 (T)	G	Positive	T: 0.15		
rs10195252_T	COBLL1	2	2:164656581	T/C	0.40 (C)	Т	Positive	T: 0.25		
rs206936_G	NUDT3, RPS10-NUDT3	6	6:34335092	A/G	0.43 (G)	G	Positive	G: 0.10		
rs4994_G	ADRB3	8	8:37966280	A/G	0.12 (G)	G	Positive	G: 0.04		
rs11191548_C	CNNM2	10	10:103086421	T/C	0.15 (C)	С	Positive	C: 0.06		
rs6265_T	BDNF-AS,BDNF	11	11:27658369	C/T	0.20 (T)	Т	Negative	T: 0.19		
rs1443512_A	HOXC12,HOXC13	12	12:53948900	A/C/G/T	0.34 (A)	А	Positive	A: 0.14		
rs12970134_A	RNU4-17P	18	18:60217517	G/A	0.21 (A)	А	Positive	A: 0.20		
SNP: Single Nucleotide Polymorphism, Chr: Chromosome, bp: base pairs, MAF: Minor Allele Frequency (as shown in GWAS Catalog), Ref: Reference										

 Table 12. List of the fat-related SNPs (n=10) investigated for associations in the iMPROVE cohort.

We proceeded to testing for associations between the GRSs and the baseline anthropometric and lifestyle indices post-intervention, using multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age and sex (Model 1) and PAL and smoking (Model 2), in the R statistical package. We further investigated potential associations between the 10 BMI-related and the 10 fat-related target variants and the corresponding examined indices via multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age and sex (Model 1), as well as PAL and smoking (Model 2), using the PLINK toolset version 1.9. In order to examine the effect of gene-diet interactions in the tested indices, we investigated the impact of the interactions between the GRSs (using the R package) or the candidate variants (using the PLINK toolset) and the extracted dietary patterns for the baseline measurements. Again, we used multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age, sex, each GRS and dietary pattern (Model 1), as well as age, sex, PAL, smoking, each GRS and dietary pattern (Model 2). The levels of statistical significance for each examination were set as follows: i) for the baseline interactions between the GRSs and the five extracted patterns α was set at 0.01 (i.e. a = 0.05/5 = 0.01); and ii) for the baseline interactions between the 10 BMI or 10 body fat-related candidate variants and the five extracted patterns α was set at 0.003 (i.e. a = 0.05/15 components = 0.003).

In order to assess the genetic effect on the changes observed postintervention, we first used the imputed data for the weight loss observed at three months to conduct multivariate linear regressions in the STATA software to examine the effect of the GRSs and the 10 BMI-related SNPs, adjusting for three models of confounding factors (Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL, smoking; Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL, smoking and diet group). Subsequently, we used the observed data for weight loss to assess potential differences within groups of high or low uGRS or wGRS (separated using the sample median) and the different genotypes of the 10-BMI related variants. Differences were examined using Mann-Whitney and the Kruskal-Wallis tests. We further investigated potential associations between the 10 BMI-related and the 10 fat-related target variants and the changes in the examined indices via multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age and sex (Model 1), as well as PAL and smoking (Model 2), using the PLINK toolset version 1.9.

In order to examine the effect of gene-diet interactions in the tested indices, we investigated the impact of the interactions between the GRSs (using the R package) or the candidate variants (using the PLINK toolset) and diet group for the changes observed post-intervention. Once more, we used multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age, sex, each GRS and diet group (Model 1), as well as age, sex, PAL, smoking, each GRS and diet group (Model 2). The level of statistical significance for the associations between the post-intervention changes and the 10 BMI or 10 body fat-related candidate variants was set at 0.005 (i.e. a = 0.05/10 variants = 0.005).
2.2. The 2018 Gutenberg Chair Project: TEENAGE and STANISLAS Cohorts

2.2.1. Ethics and Registration of Studies and Project Aims and Objectives

The aim of the 2018 Gutenberg Chair Project concerned the retrospective analysis of the lifestyle habits of two adolescent European populations and their potential associations with genetic variants and cardiometabolic indices. The project concerned the analysis of data collected for the adolescents of the Greek TEENAGE study and the French STANISLAS Family Study. The objectives of the project were, thus, shaped as follows:

- i. To *identify* the dietary patterns followed in the two populations;
- ii. to *investigate* the interaction between the dietary habits and indices of cardiometabolic profile;
- iii. *to assess* the effect of genetic variants on the formation of adolescent anthropometric and cardiometabolic indices.

For the purposes of investigating gene-diet interactions on anthropometric and biochemical profile, we built on our team's previous expertise and sought to examine the combined effect of VEGF-A-related variants, due to its previouslyestablished impact on the indices.

In this context, data from the Greek TEENAGE and the French (Suivi Temporaire Annuel Non Invasif de la Sante des Lorrains Assures Sociaux (STANISLAS) Family Study were analysed. The TEENAGE study involved adolescent participants from the region of Attica, Greece and was conducted according to the principles laid out by the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Harokopio University [protocol number 20/29-05-2008] and the Greek Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs. Prior to study enrolment, all adolescent participants and their parents received information on the study protocol and procedures with teenagers proceeding to providing gave verbal consent, followed by their respective guardians' written consent.

The STANISLAS Family study involved a 10-year longitudinal cohort including families from the regions of Vosges and the South of Meurthe and Moselle, France. The study was approved by the advisory committee for the protection of people in biomedical research in Nancy, France and all study protocols were approved by the institutional ethics committees. All STANISLAS volunteers provided written informed consent prior to study enrolment, while consent for underage participants was provided by their respective parents/legal guardians.

As of 2023, relevant project proceedings included in the present thesis have already been published in peer-reviewed articles [311,312].

2.2.2. Study Designs and Study Populations

The TEENAGE (Teens of Attica: Genes and Environment) study was a crosssectional study conducted in the Attica region during the period 2008-2010. The study consisted of healthy teenagers, students of schools in Attica aged 13 to 15 years old. The aim of the study was the assessment the teenagers' anthropometric measurements, body composition, biochemical profile, dietary and physical activities habits and eating behaviours and investigation of their potential relations with genetic background. Details on the TEENAGE study design and research have already been described elsewhere [328-330]. For the purposes of the study, all the teenagers and their parents received information on the study protocol and procedures and provided written consent prior to their enrolment. Overall, 857 adolescents from schools of Attica were recruited. All participants underwent a 2-stage, baseline inperson session with a healthcare professional (nutritionist or paediatric health care professional), during which they provided the written consent, followed by collection of anthropometric, dietary, physical activity and clinical assessment data and blood samples, were collected. After a 10-period following the baseline meeting, participants were telephonically contacted by the healthcare professionals, to conduct a secondary dietary and physical activity assessment (i.e. via 24-hour recalls).

Regarding the STANISLAS Family study, details on its design and research have, also, already been described elsewhere [331-333]. The study constituted a 10-year longitudinal study conducted in the region of Vosges and the South of Meurthe and Moselle (East part of France), first recruiting volunteers during the period 1993-1995. The study consisted of healthy nuclear families, with parents up to the age of 65 years old and children older than 6 years of age, living in the above region. Available volunteers participated in three 5-year-follow-ups until the period 2003-2005 for participants living in the region of Nancy, France. All participants were of European-Caucasian origin, without reporting existence of chronic disorders (CVD, cancer, diabetes, hypertension etc.). Overall, 1006 families were recruited.

2.2.3. Project Outcomes

The **primary outcome** of the present study analyses using data from both the TEENAGE and the STANISLAS cohorts, concerns the assessment of dietary habits in the formation of teenage cardiometabolic indices. Furthermore, the study secondary outcomes include: the assessment of genetic variants on adolescent cardiometabolic profile and the subsequent investigation of their combined effect with lifestyle characteristics.

2.2.4. Anthropometric and Lifestyle Assessment

For the nodes of the TEENAGE study, anthropometric data were collected as follows: i) weight measurements, in kg (via use of scales, were the participants were in light clothing and barefoot); ii) height measurements, in cm (using a portable stadiometer, where volunteers barefoot, with relaxed shoulders and while looking ahead); waist and hip circumference measurements, in cm (via use of a soft tape, at the twelfth rib and the iliac crest for the former and at the widest point of the hips for the later). Skinfold measurements for the triceps, subscapular and suprailiac skinfolds were collected using a Lange skinfold calipers.

Dietary habits were assessed via provision of a 24-hour dietary recall during the assessment meeting and a second 24-hour recall in the 10-day period after the in-person session. Dietary data were analysed using the Nutritionist Pro software [326] and mean intakes of energy, macronutrients and micronutrients were provided for each participant.

In the context of the STANISLAS Family Study, all participants underwent an inperson session with trained professionals during which anthropometric, dietary, lifestyle and clinical examination data and blood samples, were collected. Anthropometric data were collected as follows: i) weight measurements, in kg; ii) height measurements, in cm; waist-to-hip ratio measurements. WC was measured at the midpoint between the lower margin of the last palpable rib and the top of the iliac crest. All measurements were recorded by trained professionals to the nearest 0.1 cm. Dietary habits were assessed by completion of a 3-day food consumption diary at baseline. Analysis of the dietary data was conducted using the GENI package {52}, nutritional database program and mean intakes of energy, macronutrients and micronutrients were provided. Body Mass Index (BMI) for both studies was calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m²).

2.2.5. Laboratory Analyses

Regarding the TEENAGE Study, blood samples were collected during the inperson session with each adolescent in every participating school. DNA samples were collected for each participating adolescent and were further genotyped via use of the Illumina HumanOmniExpress BeadChips (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) at the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute, Hinxton, UK [328-330.]. Imputation of the genotyped data was conducted using the Haplotype Reference Consortium (HRC) panel. For the STANISLAS Family Study, blood samples were collected during the baseline meeting and all related measurements were conducted at the laboratory of the Centre for Preventive Medicine (CMP) in Vandoeuvre lès Nancy, France [331-333]

2.2.6. Statistical Analyses

All data phenotypic analyses were carried out via use of the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS), version 23 [322] and the R Packages [323], while genetic data were analyzed using the PLINK: Whole genome data analysis toolset version 1.9 [333]. Assessment of phenotypic variables' distribution was conducted via use of the Shapiro–Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Variables displaying normal distribution are presented as mean and standard deviation (SD), whereas the median and interquartile range (IQR) is shown for all variables not following the normal distribution (Shapiro–Wilk/ Kolmogorov-Smirnov p > 0.05). Nonnormal variables were log-transformed for normal distribution. We used the Student's t-test for parametric and the Mann–Whitney test for all non-parametric hypotheses testing for continuous variables. LDL-C was calculated for the STANISLAS adolescents using the Friedeweld Equation [LDL – C = (TC) – (HDL – C) – (TG/5)] [324] and pulse pressure (PP) was calculated for the TEENAGE subjects as systolic blood pressure (SBP in mmHg) -D diastolic blood pressure (DBP in mmHg).

We used dietary data from the 24-hour dietary recalls of 766 teenagers from the TEENAGE Study and 3-day food diaries from 287 adolescents from the STANISLAS Family Study, to proceed to identification of food groups and conduct PCA to extract all dietary patterns for both populations. PCA is a widely-used epidemiological tool, implemented in the assessment of dietary data and the subsequent extraction of dietary patterns [35], having been previously tested in large young populations [36]. PCA was conducted on 15 food groups for the TEENAGE study population and 15 food groups for the STANISLAS Family study population, based on the available data for the cohorts. The varimax orthogonal rotation was used for the extraction of the patterns and the Kaiser criterion was set at retaining 5 components with Eigen values bigger than 1

Testing for phenotypic associations between the extracted patterns and the cardiometabolic indices took place via multiple linear regressions in the TEENAGE cohort and linear mixed modeling in the STANISLAS cohort, due to the latter consisting of family members and the subsequent need for correction of family bias of siblings included in the analyses. Associations were investigated, adjusting for 4 different models of confounding factors. Model 1 included adjustment solely for the age and sex of the participants; Model 2 included adjustment for sex, age and level of physical activity; Model 3 consisted of adjustment for their age, sex, level of physical activity and BMI; and, finally, Model 4 included adjustment for age, sex, physical activity, BMI and energy intake. Multiple linear regression results are presented as beta coefficients (β) and standard error (SE). Linear mixed model results are presented as estimates and standard error (SE). All statistical analyses included the level of nominal significance set at $\alpha = 0.05$ and the adjusted threshold after multiple testing was set to (0.05/5 components examined, i.e., dietary patterns = 0.01).

Based on our team's previous expertise in VEGF-A research, in order to investigate gene-diet interactions, we chose to examine the effect of 11 previously VEGF-A-associated variants. We separately examined associations between each variant and the indices of interest. We used a threshold of 0.7 for the imputation INFO score for all SNPs included in the analyses. Quality control for sample and SNP exclusion criteria consisted of: i) Sample call rate at 95%; ii) Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) exact p<0.0001; and iii) genotyping call rate at 99%. We investigated potential relations between the 11 target SNPs and the cardiometabolic parameters, via linear regression analyses. Associations were examined after adjusting for 3 different models of confounding factors, namely: i) Model 1, which consisted of adjustment for age and sex; ii) Model 2, which further included exercise level; and iii) Model 3 additionally incorporating the adjustment for the five previously extracted dietary patterns [19]. Multiple linear regression results for each SNP are presented as betas [regression coefficients (β)] and pvalues. The threshold for statistical significance was set at 0.05. The adjusted threshold for multiple testing was set at 0.005 (0.05/11 components examined).

We further proceeded to constructing an unweighted genetic risk score (uGRS) for VEGF-A using the target-SNPs identified by Choi et al. For the purposes of the present analyses, we used the SNPs with available data in the TEENAGE cohort (i.e. 9 out of 10 variants). The uGRS was constructed via scoring the risk alleles positively associated with VEGF-A levels in the following steps:

 Each SNP received a score of 0,1 or 2, according to the number of effect alleles of the participants' genotype (i.e. a homozygote for the effect allele received a score of 2, a heterozygote received a score of 1 and a homozygote for the non-effect allele received a score of 0); ii. Creation of the uGRS took place by adding all coded genotypes in a summarized variable of the form uGRS= SNP1 (coded G1) + SNP2 (coded G2) + ... + SNP9 (coded G9).

Following the associations explored for each SNP separately, we further used multiple linear regressions to examine associations between the uGRS and the metabolic indices, as well as the potential effect of the interactions between the uGRS and the formerly extracted dietary patterns (eg. uGRS*Dietary pattern 1). Multiple linear regression results are presented as estimates [beta coefficients (β)] and standard error (SE). In the case of examining the interactions, the adjusted threshold for statistical significance was set at 0.01 (i.e. 0.05/5 components examined).

2.3. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS studies

2.3.1. Ethics, Registration for the Studies and Project Aims and Objectives

The present project constitutes a retrospective analysis using data from three previous studies, namely the case-control Greek Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) study [334,335], the cross-sectional OSTEOS study [336] and the case-control THISEAS (The Hellenic Study of Interactions between Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Eating in Atherosclerosis Susceptibility) [337,338] studies. All three studies were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio University of Athens: NALFD protocol number: 38074/13-07-2012; OSTEOS protocol number: 15/8-12-2005, 8/12/2005 and THISEAS protocol number: 10/9-6-2004, 14/6/2004 and all participants provided written consent prior to enrolment.

Hereby, use of part of the studies' data (i.e. BMI measurements) took place with the **overall aim** of creating a PRS for adult BMI, using a novel method created in the nodes of our team's activities. **The project objectives** were, thus, shaped as follows:

- i. *To create* a PRS for BMI using data from the NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS studies; *and*
- *ii. to investigate* the effect of the generated PRS for BMI on the BMI levels of our pooled cohort.

As of 2023, relevant project proceedings included in the present thesis have already been published in a peer-reviewed article [208].

2.3.2. Study Designs and Study Populations

The NAFLD study constituted a cross-sectional study conducted in the region of Attica. The study recruited adult participants without liver disease/injury and reporting absence of excess alcohol drinking at the time of induction to the study. The aim of the study was to assess the effect of genetic background and gene-diet interactions in NAFLD presence. Details on the study protocol have already been published elsewhere [334, 335]. Briefly, volunteers were recruited from the Outpatient Clinics of the First Department of Propaedeutic and Internal Medicine in Laiko General Hospital, during the period 2012 to 2015 [334,335]. Recruits were further screened for NAFLD through abdominal ultrasound, and deemed as controls in the absence of hepatic steatosis or in the presence of mild stage, or cases in the presence of moderate or severe hepatic steatosis [334,335]. Overall, 342 participants were recruited and proceeded to enrolling in the study.

The OSTEOS project also constituted a cross-sectional study conducted throughout Greece during the 2010–2012 period. The project included community-dwelling adults from rural and urban areas of Greece. The aim of the study was to assess parameters of bone health in adults and investigate the potential effect of genetic predisposition. Details on the study protocol have already been published elsewhere [336]. Briefly, volunteers were recruited in cooperation with the Hellenic Society for the Support of Patients with Osteoporosis and the Laboratory for the Research of Musculoskeletal System "Th. Garofalidis", School of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens and underwent assessment of bone health

status using quantitative ultrasound (QUS). Overall, 970 adults were recruited and proceeded to enrolling in the study.

Finally, the THISEAS study was another project of cross-sectional design, conducted in the region of Attica during the years 2006–2010. The aim of the study was to assess the effect of genetic and lifestyle determinants in CVD and atherosclerosis. Details on the study protocol have already been published elsewhere [337,338]. Briefly, recruits were mainly assessed using coronary angiography information and were categorized as controls if they presented negative coronary findings or a negative stress test, or did not report any related clinical symptoms. Volunteers were categorized as cases in the presence of acute coronary syndrome or stable coronary artery disease (> 50 % stenosis in \geq 1/3 main coronary vessels) [337,338]. Overall, a total of 2565 participants were recruited from three Athenian hospitals, open protection centres and municipalities during the project period.

2.3.3. Project Outcomes

The **primary outcome** of the present study analyses using data from all three studies, concerns the creation of a PRS for BMI. Furthermore, as it will be explicitly described below, the effect of the developed PRS on the BMI measurements of the pooled data was further examined.

2.3.4. Anthropometric Measurements

Anthropometric measurements of body weight and body height were measured for all three studies. Body weight was measured using the TANITA Segmental Body Composition Analyzer BC-418 and a calibrated scale to the nearest 0.1 kg. Height was calculated to the nearest 0.5 cm using a mounted stadiometer. Participants were barefoot and maintained light clothing and the measurements occurred twice and average values were kept as final in all projects. All measurements were conducted by trained professionals. Body Mass Index (BMI) for all studies was calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m2).

2.3.5. Laboratory Analyses

Blood samples were collected at the baseline in-person meetings for all volunteers of the three studies. For the NAFLD study, DNA samples were isolated using peripheral blood lymphocytes and genotyped via use of the Infinium CoreExome-24 BeadChip, Illumina genome-wide SNP array (with 567,218 fixed markers). OSTEOS' DNA samples were isolated from buffy coats and genotyped using the Axiom Precision Medicine Diversity Research Array [with over 850,000 SNPs, insertions, deletions and copy number variations (CNVs)]. DNA samples from the THISEAS study were extracted from whole blood and genotyped using the Illumina Metabochip (with about 200.000 SNPs).

2.3.6. Statistical analyses

Data analysis was conducted using the R, Plink version 1.9, IMPUTE2 and PRSice2 packages. For the genetic data, Plink 1.9 [333] toolset was used to convert all relevant files into plink file format (BED+BIM+FAM files). Imputation of missing SNPs

for the pooled cohort was conducted using the snpStats and the R package scrime, version 1.3.5 packages and extension of the dataset was conducted using the IMPUTE2 software [339] (1000 Genomes Project reference panel).

A threshold of 0.9 for the imputation INFO score was used for all SNPs included in the analyses. Quality control for sample and SNP exclusion criteria consisted of: i) Sample call rate at 95%; ii) Hardy Weinberg equilibrium exact p-value at < 10-9; iii) Minor Allele Frequency at 5%; and iv) genotyping call rate at 90%. To account for population stratification, PCA was conducted using the SNPRelate, version 1.30.1 R package and the Tracy-Widom statistic was used to assess significant components based on eigen values [340]. In an effort to maximise the quality of the extracted PRS and simultaneously examine the efficacy of already implemented approaches, summary statistics were extracted using General Linear Models (GLM, R version 4.2.0), statgenGWAS version 1.0.8. [341], SNPTEST version 2.5.4 [342] and Plink 1.9.

PRS extraction proceedings took place via use of the PRSice2 package and after a repetitive process of the following steps for a total of 100 times:

- i. the overall cohort was split into a training (80% of the samples) and a testing set (20% of the samples);
- ii. association tests for each SNP and BMI were performed using all 4 aforementioned methods, while correcting for confounding factors (i.e. sex, age, NAFLD status and the significant PCA-derived components);
- iii. the target set was imported to PRSice2 along with the summary statistics from the application of each methodology, where the package extracted the optimal number of SNPs to be included in a candidate PRS, along with performance metrics on the PRS statistical significance and the percentage of additional variance explained (R2), in a variable of the form PRS = $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\beta_i G_i}{N}$;

Following the extraction of the candidate PRSs, the frequency of each included SNP in the PRSs was measured, using a minimum threshold of appearing 5 times to further proceed to the downstream procedures. Subsequently, a PRS was constructed for each frequency, comprising the multiplication of the SNPs appearing equally or above this frequency with their corresponding weights, averaged over the iterations where each SNP appears. This was repeated for all observed frequencies creating a distribution of PRS R^2 value, which were further penalized based on the number of SNPs in the PRS. As a result, the PRS with the best performance metrics (R^2) was chosen for further analysis. For the purposes of present the data, PRS reported values were normalized to a range of 0 to 1.

3. Results and Discussion

- 3.1. The iMPROVE Study
- 3.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Study Population

Parts of the following information in 3.1.1. constitute information published under the publication Nutrients 2021, 13, 3495. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13103495 and can be further found in Appendix C.

Out of the 235 volunteers expressing interest to participate in the study, data are shown for 202 eligible subjects who successfully attended the baseline meeting, completed the majority of the baseline questionnaires using the online tool, and were recruited in one of the two intervention arms. The sample size of the 202 individuals assures adequate power to detect statistical significance. Table 13 shows that the vast majority of the participants were reported as non-smokers (151 non-smokers vs. 50 smokers, out of 201 participants with available data), with women representing the majority of the observed smokers (38 out of 50 overall smokers, 76%). The estimated baseline physical activity level showed that roughly half of the subjects were leading a moderately active way of life (104 out of the 199 participants with available data), with about 32% reporting a sedentary lifestyle (64 out of 199 participants). Volunteers reporting vigorous activity represented the smallest sample with only 31 out of 199 participants. All 202 eligible volunteers were randomly allocated to the intervention groups, with 46.5% following the high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet and 53.5% adhering to the high-protein diet.

		· · ·	
Variable	Total	Men	Women
Smoking	201	59	142
Smokers	50	12	38
Non-smokers	151	47	104
PAL	199	59	140
Low	64	20	44
Moderate	104	28	76
Vigorous	31	11	20
Diet Group	202	59	143
High Carb/Low Fat	94	19	75
High Protein	108	40	68

Table 13. Baseline characteristics of the iMPROVE cohort, by sex.

The entirety of the study population's anthropometric, clinical, dietary, and lifestyle characteristics in the whole sample, as well as per weight group (with overweight vs with obesity), is presented in Table 14. Median ± IQR is presented for all non-normally distributed variables and mean ± standard deviation (SD) is presented for the variables following the normal distribution. Our baseline sample consisted of 143 women (70.8%) and 59 men (29.2%), with a median age of 47 years old. The majority of participants were married (60.9%), with more than half of our sample reporting having higher education (61.9%) and less than 3% reporting having no acquired education at all. Contrary to the existence of overweight and obesity, measurements on the entire sample indicated an overall relatively "healthy" profile, given the within-normal-range values for most biochemical and lifestyle indices measured.

Compared to volunteers with overweight, individuals with obesity presented statistically significant increased levels of blood pressure measurements (SBP of 123 vs 119.19, p-value=0.025, DBP of 82.74 vs 80, p-value=0.001). The dominating

difference between the two groups was mostly apparent across the spectrum of anthropometric indices, where, naturally, individuals with obesity presented higher levels of weight and BMI (96kg vs 78.24kg, p<0.001 and 34.3kg/m² vs 27.82kg/m², p<0.001, respectively). The difference between the two groups was vastly apparent on body composition indices where all measured markers presented higher levels in the obesity group, with, namely: higher levels of body fat percentage (40.82% vs 35.45%, p-value<0.001), body fat in kilograms (37.8kg vs 25.85kg, p<0.001), fat-free mass (54kg vs 48kg, p-value<0.001), total body water (54kg vs 48kg, p<0.001), visceral fat (level 12 vs level 8, p<0.001), percentage of upper body fat (39.52% vs 33%, p<0.001), kilograms of upper body fat (20kg vs 14kg, p<0.001), kilograms of fat-free mass (30kg vs 27kg, p<0.001), WC (104.5cm vs 93cm, p<0.001), HC (120cm vs 110cm, <0.001) and WHR (0.87 vs 0.85, p<0.040). On the contrary, the two groups did not present statistically significant different levels of biochemical indices or lifestyle characteristics, denoting a relative homogeneity for those markers across the entirety of the cohort.

Variable		Total	V	Vith Overweight		With Obesity	
	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median(IQR)	N	Median (IQR)	p *
Age	202	47 (15)	78	47 (18)	124	47.5(13)	0.855
SBP (mmHg)	198	121.00 (21)	77	119.19 (14.87)**	121	123(24)	0.025
DBP (mmHg)	198	80.8 (9.8)**	77	80 (11)	121	82.74 (10.19)**	0.001
Pulse Rate (Beats per	198	74 (15)	77	73.03 (9.66)**	121	74 (20)	0.125
minute)							
Anthropometric Characterist	ics						
Weight (kg)	202	87 (26)	78	78.24 (9.52)	124	96(24)	<0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	202	31.35 (6.9)	78	27.82 (1.32)**	124	34.3 (6.5)	<0.001
Body fat (%)	202	37.95 (10.8)**	78	35.45 (11)	124	40.82 (10.2)	<0.001
Body fat (kg)	202	32.95 (13.3)	78	25.85 (4.96)**	124	37.8 (15.1)	<0.001
Fat free mass(kg)	202	52 (18)	78	48 (17)	124	54 (19)	<0.001
Total body water (kg)	202	38 (13)	78	35 (13)	124	39.5 (14)	<0.001
Visceral fat	202	10.00 (6)	78	8 (3)	124	12 (5)	<0.001
Upper body fat (%)	201	36.7 (6.98)	78	33 (8)	123	39.52 (6.37)**	<0.001
Upper body fat (kg)	201	18 (7)	78	14 (2)	123	20 (8)	<0.001
Upper body fat-free mass	201	29 (9)	78	27 (8)	123	30 (9)	<0.001
(kg)							
Waist circumference (cm)	183	99.00 (17)	75	93 (12)	108	104.5 (16)	<0.001
Hip circumference (cm)	183	115 (13)	75	110 (7)	108	120 (15)	<0.001
WHR	183	0.85 (0.08)**	75	0.85 (0.11)	108	0.87 (0.09)	0.040
Biochemical Biomarkers							
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	193	92.00 (11)	76	92 (10)	117	93 (12)	0.128
Urea (mg/dL)	193	28.00 (9)	76	28.9 (7.09)**	117	27 (8)	0.332
Creatinine (mg/dL)	193	0.68 (0.21)	76	0.68 (0.21)	117	0.68 (0.21)	0.765
Uric acid(mg/dL)	193	4.70 (1.5)	76	4.49 (0.97)**	117	5.02 (1.19)**	0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	193	177.96 (33.58)**	76	177.69 (31.57)**	117	178 (47)	0.967
HDL-C (mg/dL)	193	49.00 (17)	76	52.79 (11.82)**	117	47 (14)	0.018
LDL-C (mg/dL)	193	105.20 (38.7)	76	107.05 (28.27)**	117	105.6 (31.47)**	0.963
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	193	90.00 (65)	76	78.5 (43)	117	96 (80)	0.002
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	193	0.37 (0.23)	76	0.39 (0.25)	117	0.37 (0.23)	0.904
Direct bilirubin (mg/dL)	193	0.16 (0.08)	76	0.16 (0.08)	117	0.15 (0.08)	0.762
Serum protein (g/dL)	193	6.70 (0.5)	76	6.65 (0.5)	117	6.7 (0.5)	0.755
Serum albumin (g/dL)	193	4.20 (0.3)	76	4.29 (0.27)**	117	4.2 (0.4)	0.013
SGOT/AST (IU/L)	193	16.00 (6)	76	16 (5)	117	16 (7)	0.314

Table 14. Anthropometric, clinical, dietary characteristics and characteristics of depression, quality of sleep, and health status in the iMPROVE cohort, by weight group (i.e. with overweight vs obesity).

SGPT/ALT (IU/L)	192	15.00 (12)	76	14.5 (9)	116	15 (15)	0.124
Lifestyle Characteristics							
MedDiet Score **	147	30.85 (3.86)**	59	31.53 (3.64)**	88	30.40 (3.98)**	0.072
AIS Score	140	5 (7)	49	6 (7.5)	91	5 (6)	0.584
CESD-R-10 Scale	201	6 (5)	78	6 (5)	123	6 (5)	0.586
SF PCS 12 Score	145	52 (12)	53	52 (8)	92	51 (12)	0.196
SF MCS 12 Score	145	46 (16)	53	49 (19)	92	49 (13)	0.538
		*nun value of May	an White	ou within group toot	-		

*p: p-value of Mann-Whitney within-group tests ** The selected variables follow the normal distribution and are presenting as mean ± SD

Concerning the lifestyle characteristics, calculation of the MedDiet score demonstrated mediocre adherence of the overall sample to MD with a mean of 30.85 out of a scale indicating greatest adherence at a maximum score of 55. At baseline and throughout the study period, the 8-item AIS score on evaluation of sleep qualities was calculated for participants who reported the selected outcomes more than three times per week in the month leading to the score measurement. At baseline and for the overall sample, the AIS score presented a median of 5 out of the scale maximum scoring of 24 highlighting that, overall, participants did not express significant irregularities neither in sleep quality, including sleep induction, total sleep duration, and awakenings at night and expressed delayed sleep induction, nor in effects of sleep on aspects of the next day (i.e., well-being, overall functioning, and sleepiness). Similarly and as evaluated via the CESD-R-10 scale, the majority of the participants did not display depression characteristics, such as feelings of fear and helplessness, with the overall sample presenting a mean score of 6 and the scale maximum scoring calculated at 18. Concerning the quality-of-life measurements evaluated with the SF-12 short questionnaire, its physical component (SF PCS 12) on self-reported quality of life showed a median score of 52 out of a maximum of 100 for the overall sample. As the cut-off for a satisfactory physical state is set at 50, the observed median of 52 denotes a mediocre level of physical functioning. The questionnaire's mental component median of 46 showed that the participants presented a mediocrely satisfactory level of mental functioning, as its cut-off of 42 or less implies signs of mediocre-to-deteriorating mental functioning state.

Overweight participants constituted 38.6% of our overall sample, with the remaining 61.4% spreading across the three different obesity categories (35.1%, 14.9%, and 11.4% of the participants classified as Class I, II, or III obese, respectively). After investigating within-group potential differences in the lifestyle measurements between the extensive categorizations of BMI levels, no statistically significant differences were shown (Figure 22).





Moreover, we moved to conducting multivariate linear regressions to further examine the potential effect of the aforementioned lifestyle aspects on the baseline logBMI and body fat percentage of the entre cohort. After adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and education years, a statistically significant association was shown only for the SF-PCS-12, displaying a negative effect on both logBMI and body fat percentage values ($\beta = -0.003$, p < 0.001 and $\beta = -0.204$, respectively).

Variable		Model 1 *	
	в	SE	<i>p</i> -Value
logBMI			
AIS Score	0.001	0.001	0.609
CESD-R-10 Scale	0.002	0.001	0.188
SF PCS 12 Score	-0.003	0.001	<0.001
SF MCS 12 Score	0.001	0.001	0.232
Body fat (%)			
AIS Score	0.174	0.125	0.167
CESD-R-10 Scale	0.163	0.099	0.102
SF PCS 12 Score	-0.204	0.057	<0.001
SF MCS 12 Score	0.062	0.053	0.249
Model 1 : Adju	usted for age, sex, sm	oking, physical activity level a	nd education years

Table 15. Multivariate linear regression analyses on the relation between lifestyle

 characteristics and BMI and body fat baseline values.

Baseline Dietary Patterns for the iMPROVE cohort

Following the collection of data on the 202 participants' dietary intake using the 69-item FFQ, we proceeded to conducting PCA on 32 identified food groups. The analysis resulted in the identification of five dietary patterns accounting for 40.34% of the sample's total variance. The KMO and Bartlett's Test (p < 0.001) presented a KMO Measure of 0.726, indicating sufficient data adequacy. All factor loadings for each component were above or approaching a value of 0.3. As shown in Table 16, the 32 food groups reflected the variety of foodstuffs consumed by the sample population, including both widely consumed food categories such as meat and cereals, as well as traditional Greek recipes (i.e., pastitsio, spinach rice, and homemade pies). Alcohol and beer reported servings were included in the analysis, due to the sample's low median values (2 and 16 mL/d, respectively) and the lack of heavy drinkers.

			Components				
	Mean Consumption	Food Group	1	2	3	4	5
	(Median, IOR)		-	-			
Croissant (g/d)	5.2 (11.56)	Sweets	0.705				
Chocolate (g/d)	12.85 (8.85)	0	011 00				
Tarts (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)						
Ice cream (g/d)	7 66 (24 64)						
Mayonnaise (g/d)	1 11 (2 02) *	Mayonnaise	0 664				
White bread (g/d)	19 28 (17 28)	Refined Cereals	0.643				
Cereals (g/d)	4 28 (4 28)	Refined cereals	0.045				
White rice (g/d)	10 53 (23 32)						
Barley (g/d)	9 33 (30 00)						
Burger bread (g/d)	3 00 (10 44) *						
Chins (g/d)	4 66 (4 66)	Salty Snacks	0.628				
Crackers (g/d)	1 33 (4 28)	Surry Shacks	0.020				
Hopey (g/d)	1.07 (4.66)	Sugary Snacks	0 596				
Soft drinks (mL/d)	28 69 (72 /2) *	Jugary Shacks	0.550				
Fruit compost (a/d)	7 58 96 66) *						
Tray Sweets (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	Tray Sweets	0 5 8 /				
Pastitsia (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	Dactiteio	0.304				
Pastitsio (g/u)		Pasticion Detatoos (boiled	0.495				
cooked not fried) (g/d)	11.55 (25.55)	rocatoes (Dolled,	0.409				
Cookeu. not meu) (g/u)	22.14 (0.00)	Chickon	0 200				
Chicken (g/d)	32.14 (0.00)	Chicken Sood oil margaring	0.388				
Seeu Oli (g/u)	3.23 (8.09)	Seed on, marganne,	0.374				
Nargarine (g/u)	1.03 (2.40)	butter					
Light movernaise (g/d)	0.50 (1.00)	Light Droducts	0.267				
Light cold outs (g/d)	$0.71(1.04)^{-1}$	Light Products	0.507				
Light cold cuts (g/d)	2.00 (0.42)						
	22.00 (70.71)					0 2 4 2	
Sausage (g/u)		Vagatablas		0.640		-0.342	
lottuco (g/d)	04.20 (42.05)	vegetables		0.040			
Broccoli (g/d)	54.20 (54.20) 21 42 (14 76)						
Broccoll (g/u)	21.42 (14.70)						
Spinach (g/u)	0.00 (13.28)	Deimi		0 5 6 0			
Full lat milk (mL/d)	43.40 (71.20)	Dairy		0.508			
LOW IAL IIIIK	51.42 (154.26)						
White cheese (g/d)	0.42 (17.28)	Faar		0 5 6 2			
	26,42 (07,05)	Eggs		0.502			
Apples (g/d)	30.42 (97.95)	Fruits		0.525			
Apples (g/u)							
Ballallas (g/u)	21.42 (57.01)						
Winter fruit (g/d)	32.14 (80.42)						
Summer fruit	32.14 (04.28)	New wefined equals		0 4 4 2			
Whole bread (g/d)	19.28 (17.28)	Non-relined cereals		0.443			
Brown rice (g/d)	0.72 (14.73)						
whole pasta (g/d)	8.54 (9.33)	Laura Cale		0 422			
Large fish (g/a)	10.00 (22.14)	Large fish		0.432			
Drive on (g/a)	45.00 (45.00)			0.345			
Dried truit (g/d)	3.35 (b.88) *	Dried truit		0.330		0 504	
		Carreinated				-0.504	
rea (mL/a)	10.00 (10.00)	Beverages			0.695		
Sealoou (g/u)		Sedi000			0.640		
Homomodo nice (z/d)	4.03 (13.33)	Pice			0.048		
nomemade pies (g/d)	10.00 (0.00)	FIES			0.510		

 Table 16. Mean consumption and PCA factor loadings of the 32 FFQ-derived food groups.

Other pies (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)						
Beef (g/d)	10.00 (22.14)	Red Meat			0.499		
Minced beef	25.71 (17.71)						
Pork (g/d)	10.00 (22.14)						
Lamb (g/d)	5.83 (13.84)						
Alcohol (mL/d)	2.00 (6.42)	Alcohol and Beer			0.398		
Beer (mL/d)	16.00 (51.42)						
Legumes (g/d)	64.28 (44.28)	Legumes				0.698	
Spinach and Rice (g	(/d) 16.66 (53.57)	Traditional, Greek				0.695	
Green Peas (g/d)	42.85 (29.52)	recipes					
Olives	1.00 (3.21)	Olives					0.645
Small fish (g/d)	10.00 (32.14)	Small fish					0.584
Nuts (g/d)	3.33 (28.81)	Nuts					0.343
Fruit Juice (g/d)	16.00 (51.42)	Fruit Juice					0.311
Total Variance			14.74%	9.87%	6.26%	4.96%	4.49%
Explained (%)							
	* The selected variables follow	the normal distribution a	and are pres	enting as	mean ± SD		

Based on the inclusion of corresponding food groups in the PCA, the five dietary patterns identified were categorized as follows:

- i. a "Mixed" dietary pattern, consisting of light products and processed products high in fat and sugars (i.e., sweets, mayonnaise, refined cereals, salty snacks, sugary snacks, tray sweets, the Greek pastitsio, potatoes, chicken, seed oil, margarine, butter, light products, and sausage), (explaining 14.74% of the total variance);
- a "Mediterranean-proxy" (or Med-proxy) pattern including the consumption of food groups usually found in the Mediterranean diet, such vegetables, dairy, eggs, fruits, non-refined cereals, large fish, olive oil, dried fruit, and caffeinated drinks, such as coffee and tea (explaining 9.87% of the total variance);
- iii. an "Eating out" pattern, consisting of food group combinations frequently consumed outside the household, i.e., seafood, French fries, pies, red meat and alcohol (explaining 6.26% of the total variance);
- a "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern reporting consumption of legumes and traditional Greek recipes (i.e., spinach rice and cooked green peas) (explaining 4.96% of the total variance); and
- v. a "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern, including olives, small fish, nuts and fruit juice, with the first, high in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption (explaining 4.96% of the total variance).

Following the extraction of the dietary patterns, we proceeded to conducting multiple linear regressions adjusting for the 3 models of the confounding factors [i.e. Model 1: Adjusting for age and sex; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and logBMI (except for logBMI values); Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, logBMI, education years, family and professional status]. As shown in Table 17: i) the "Mixed" pattern was associated with increased logBMI (Model 1: β = 0.018, p < 0.001, Model 2: β = 0.017, p < 0.001, Model 3: β = 0.015, p-value = 0.009); increased body fat percentage (Model 1: (β = 1.191, p = 0.002); increased logVisceral fat values (Model 1: β = 0.031, p = 0.001); increased logTriglycerides (Model 1: β = 0.038, p = 0.008); increased logSGPT values (Model 1: β = 0.052, p < 0.001, Model 2: β = 0.048, p = 0.002, Model 3: β = 0.069, p < 0.001); and decreased logHDL cholesterol values (Model 1: $\beta = -0.020$, p = 0.005); and ii) the "Med-proxy" pattern was associated with decreased levels of logTotal Bilirubin (Model 2: $\beta = -0.044$, p = 0.009). Moreover, nominal associations (p < 0.05) are were observed for the following: i) the "Mixed" pattern and increased levels of logSerum protein (Model 1: β = 0.004, p = 0.037, Model 3: β = 0.005, p = 0.029); as well as increased levels of logSGOT/AST (Model 1: β = 0.024, p = 0.028, Model 2: β = 0.024, p = 0.042, Model 3: β = 0.028, p-value = 0.022); ii) the "Med-proxy" pattern and lower logCreatinine, (Model 3: β = -0.014, p = 0.020), as well as lower values of logTotal Bilirubin (Model 1: β = -0.037, p = 0.021, Model 3: β = -0.043, p = 0.016); iii) the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike and reduced levels of body fat percentage (Model 1: β = -0.795, p = 0.039, Model 2: β = -0.495, p = 0.021); decreased logVisceral fat values, (Model 2: $\beta = -0.008$, p = 0.033); as well as increased levels of logHDL (Model 2: $\beta =$ 0.017, p = 0.018, Model 3: β = 0.016, p = 0.040).

Table 17. Multivariate linear regressions between the extracted dietary patterns and indices of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics.

· · · · · ·		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	6	SE	р	В	SE	р	в	SE	р
LogBMI									
Mixed Pattern	0.018	0.005	<0.001	0.017	0.005	0.001	0.015	0.005	0.009
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.002	0.005	0.752	<0.001	0.005	0.927	-0.001	0.006	0.844
Eating-out Pattern	0.004	0.005	0.363	0.004	0.005	0.429	0.001	0.005	0.772
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	-0.005	0.005	0.272	-0.008	0.005	0.131	-0.008	0.005	0.132
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.005	0.005	0.338	-0.006	0.005	0.266	-0.006	0.005	0.275
juice consumption Pattern									
Body Fat (%)									
Mixed Pattern	1.191	0.387	0.002	-0.124	0.222	0.576	-0.163	0.247	0.512
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.057	0.416	0.892	0.316	0.225	0.162	0.410	0.242	0.092
Eating-out Pattern	0.334	0.395	0.399	0.019	0.209	0.929	-0.039	0.222	0.861
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.795	0.382	0.039	-0.495	0.213	0.021	-0.416	0.235	0.067
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.275	0.396	0.489	0.114	0.213	0.594	0.247	0.226	0.275
juice consumption Pattern									
LogVisceral Fat									
Mixed Pattern	0.031	0.009	0.001	-0.002	0.004	0.566	<0.001	0.004	0.898
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.003	0.010	0.733	0.001	0.004	0.745	0.004	0.004	0.390
Eating-out Pattern	0.010	0.010	0.274	0.002	0.004	0.581	0.002	0.004	0.648
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.017	0.009	0.062	-0.008	0.004	0.033	-0.007	0.004	0.088
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.008	0.010	0.398	0.002	0.004	0.662	0.005	0.004	0.213
juice consumption Pattern									
logGlucose(mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.006	0.004	0.127	-0.001	0.004	0.810	0.001	0.004	0.809
Med-proxy Pattern	<0.001	0.004	0.982	0.002	0.004	0.627	0.002	0.004	0.545
Eating-out Pattern	0.002	0.004	0.651	0.002	0.003	0.596	0.001	0.004	0.885
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.003	0.004	0.452	<0.001	0.004	0.995	0.001	0.004	0.861
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.003	0.004	0.362	-0.004	0.004	0.262	-0.005	0.004	0.204
logUrea (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.004	0.007	0.566	0.002	0.008	0.818	0.001	0.009	0.937
Med-proxy Pattern	0.010	0.008	0.203	0.012	0.008	0.141	0.012	0.009	0.189
Fating-out Pattern	-0.005	0.007	0.479	-0.006	0.007	0.448	-0.008	0.008	0.333
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	<0.001	0.007	0.974	-0.001	0.008	0.859	-0.004	0.008	0.629
Pattern High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.003	0.007	0.733	-0.002	0.008	0.764	-0.004	0.008	0.609
logCreatinine(mg/dl)									
Mixed Pattern	0 008	0.005	0 141	0 008	0.006	0 156	0.012	0.006	0.054
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.009	0.005	0.110	-0.011	0.000	0.130	-0.012	0.006	0.034
Fating-out Pattern	-0.001	0.005	0.110	0.011	0.000	0.045	0.014	0.000	0.020
Traditional vegetarian-alike	-0.001	0.005	0.585	-0.001	0.005	0.070	-0.001	0.005	0.070
Pattern	0.005	0.005	0.565	0.007	0.005	0.105	0.000	0.000	0.155
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.002	0.005	0 746	0.001	0.005	0 908	<0.001	0.006	0 996
juice consumption Pattern	0.002	0.005	0.740	0.001	0.005	0.500	0.001	0.000	0.550
logUric Acid(mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.005	0.006	0.396	-0.006	0.007	0.337	-0.004	0.007	0.589
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.005	0.007	0.480	-0.002	0.007	0.746	-0.001	0.007	0.919
Eating-out Pattern	0.003	0.006	0.595	0.002	0.006	0.741	-0.001	0.006	0.831
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	-0.002	0.006	0.762	-0.004	0.006	0.519	-0.004	0.007	0.513
Faileill									

Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.247	2.402	0.918	1.304	2.575	0.613	0.953	2.916	0.744
Med-proxy Pattern	-3.167	2.521	0.211	-2.753	2.612	0.293	-3.480	2.847	0.224
Eating-out Pattern	-0.099	2.395	0.967	-0.302	2.415	0.901	-0.668	2.601	0.798
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	2 205	2 2 2 2	0.004	0 770	2.465	0.4.20	4 7 2 2	2 640	0.070
Pattern	2.295	2.320	0.324	3.770	2.465	0.128	4.722	2.619	0.073
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.185	2.447	0.940	0.837	2.521	0.740	0.139	2.715	0.959
logHDL-C (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.020	0.007	0.005	-0.013	0.007	0.081	-0.016	0.008	0.060
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.004	0.008	0.552	-0.009	0.008	0.265	-0.010	0.008	0.257
Eating-out Pattern	0.009	0.007	0.214	0.011	0.007	0.124	0.013	0.008	0.077
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.013	0.007	0.056	0.017	0.007	0.018	0.016	0.008	0.040
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.006	0.007	0.440	0.006	0.007	0.401	0.004	0.008	0.625
juice consumption Pattern									
logLDL-C (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.007	0.010	0.495	0.005	0.010	0.607	0.002	0.011	0.869
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.008	0.010	0.450	-0.004	0.010	0.672	-0.007	0.011	0.593
Eating-out Pattern	-0.003	0.010	0.743	-0.004	0.009	0.648	-0.006	0.010	0.546
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.006	0.000	0 5 2 0	0.002	0.010	0.015	0.005	0.010	0 625
Pattern	-0.006	0.009	0.539	0.002	0.010	0.815	0.005	0.010	0.025
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.010	0.010	0 224	0.002	0.010	0 761	0.002	0.011	0.756
juice consumption Pattern	-0.010	0.010	0.324	-0.003	0.010	0.761	-0.003	0.011	0.750
logTriglycerides(mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.038	0.014	0.008	0.021	0.015	0.161	0.032	0.016	0.051
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.009	0.015	0.543	-0.003	0.015	0.819	-0.003	0.016	0.868
Eating-out Pattern	<0.001	0.014	0.997	-0.003	0.014	0.808	-0.007	0.015	0.625
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.009	0.014	0.498	0.006	0.014	0.652	0.015	0.015	0.312
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.002	0.014	0.908	<0.001	0.015	0.987	-0.005	0.016	0.746
juice consumption Pattern									
logTotal Bilirubin(mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.002	0.015	0.901	<0.001	0.017	0.988	0.013	0.018	0.490
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.037	0.016	0.021	-0.044	0.016	0.009	-0.043	0.018	0.016
Eating-out Pattern	-0.005	0.015	0.739	-0.001	0.015	0.945	-0.005	0.016	0.781
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.032	0.015	0.031	0.030	0.016	0.058	0.033	0.016	0.046
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.017	0.016	0.274	0.014	0.016	0.380	0.015	0.017	0.385
juice consumption Pattern									
logSerum protein(g/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.004	0.002	0.037	0.002	0.002	0.190	0.005	0.002	0.029
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.001	0.002	0.557	-0.001	0.002	0.710	<0.001	0.002	0.817
Eating-out Pattern	-0.001	0.002	0.603	-0.001	0.002	0.595	-0.002	0.002	0.274
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.002	0.002	0.161	0.002	0.002	0.214	0.003	0.002	0.135
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.001	0.002	0.537	0.001	0.002	0.542	<0.001	0.002	0.809
juice consumption Pattern									
logAlbumin(g/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	0.002	0.004	0.665	0.003	0.004	0.413	0.003	0.002	0.206
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.002	0.004	0.697	-0.002	0.004	0.595	0.002	0.002	0.297
Eating-out Pattern	<0.001	0.004	0.920	0.001	0.004	0.775	<0.001	0.002	0.960
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.003	0.004	0.361	0.003	0.004	0.501	0.003	0.002	0.109
Pattern		0.001	0.500		0.000			0.000	0
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.002	0.004	0.591	-0.003	0.004	0.427	0.001	0.002	0.789
LogSGOT/AST(IU/L)									
Mixed Pattern	0.024	0.011	0.028	0.024	0.012	0.042	0.028	0.012	0.022

Med-proxy Pattern	0.003	0.011	0.781	0.004	0.012	0.724	0.002	0.012	0.881
Eating-out Pattern	-0.011	0.011	0.288	-0.010	0.011	0.357	-0.014	0.011	0.191
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.003	0.010	0.784	-0.003	0.011	0.820	-0.003	0.011	0.751
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.005	0.011	0.642	0.003	0.011	0.780	0.001	0.011	0.895
juice consumption Pattern									
logSGPT/ALT (IU/L)									
Mixed Pattern	0.052	0.014	<0.001	0.048	0.015	0.002	0.069	0.016	<0.001
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.009	0.015	0.567	-0.004	0.016	0.788	-0.005	0.016	0.756
Eating-out Pattern	-0.004	0.015	0.766	-0.006	0.015	0.660	-0.010	0.015	0.509
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.002	0.014	0.876	0.001	0.015	0.966	<0.001	0.015	0.954
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	0.004	0.015	0.783	0.005	0.015	0.762	-0.003	0.015	0.823
juice consumption Pattern									
logAIS									
Mixed Pattern	0.038	0.029	0.194	0.025	0.032	0.445	0.026	0.034	0.435
Med-proxy Pattern	0.010	0.030	0.738	0.021	0.032	0.509	0.029	0.035	0.401
Eating-out Pattern	-0.039	0.039	0.305	-0.035	0.041	0.390	-0.028	0.044	0.528
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	-0.017	0.029	0.569	-0.039	0.032	0.231	-0.032	0.035	0.355
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.002	0.031	0.937	-0.011	0.032	0.721	-0.018	0.034	0.604
juice consumption Pattern									
LogCESD-R-10									
Mixed Pattern	0.053	0.022	0.017	0.047	0.024	0051	0.053	0.027	0.051
Med-proxy Pattern	0.008	0.023	0.737	0.018	0.024	0.447	2.032e-	2.604	0.436
							02	e-02	
Eating-out Pattern	0.009	0.022	0.657	0.005	0.023	0.829	0.005	0.024	0.851
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	-0.011	0.022	0.607	-0.009	0.023	0.692	-0.005	0.025	0.851
Pattern									
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.010	0.023	0.644	-0.005	0.023	0.846	-0.002	0.025	0.929
juice consumption Pattern									
LogSF-PCS-12									
Mixed Pattern	-0.017	0.007	0.013	-0.006	0.007	0.401	-6.972e- 03	7.475 e-03	0.353
Med-proxy Pattern	0.010	0.008	0.229	0.006	0.008	0.427	0.002	0.008	0.833
Eating-out Pattern	0.002	0.007	0.761	0.003	0.007	0.679	0.006	0.007	0.374
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.008	0.007	0.252	-0.004	0.007	0.549	-0.003	0.007	0.647
High in unsaturated fats and fruit	-0.004	0.007	0.557	-0.007	0.007	0.323	-0.006	0.007	0.441
juice consumption Pattern									
LogSF-MCS-12									
Mixed Pattern	-0.001	0.008	0.887	0.01	0.008	0.942	1.277e- 03	9.224 e-03	0.892
Med-proxy Pattern	0.128	0.009	0.187	0.005	0.009	0.586	2.685e- 03	1.041 e-02	0.767
Eating-out Pattern	0.009	0.008	0.232	0.013	0.008	0.100	0.014	0.008	0.092
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.001	0.008	0.890	0.002	0.009	0.773	4.018e- 03	9.138 e-03	0.661
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.012	0.008	0.140	0013	0.008	0.122	0.013	0.009	0.159

Model 1: Adjusting for age and sex; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and logBMI (except for logBMI values); Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, logBMI, education years, family and professional status

Construction of a Lifestyle Index (LI)

In an effort to further investigate the potential impact of the participants' lifestyle characteristics on their indices of anthropometric and biochemical profile, we proceeded to examining associations between different sets of variables. For this purpose, we investigated potential correlations between the reported lifestyle questionnaire scores, the extracted dietary patterns, and basic aspects, such as smoking and physical activity habits, with anthropometric indices, such as BMI and body fat percentage. All variables under examination were divided into categories, with higher values indicating favorable effects. The association between dietary patterns and investigated indices took place via categorization of attrition to the pattern in tertile groups. Continuous and nominal variables displaying positive correlations were further dichotomized based on the sample's reported median values (attribution of a value of 1 for scores below the sample's median and a value of 2 for scores above the observed median).

Variables displaying statistically significant (p < 0.05), positive correlations with either logBMI of body fat percentage values included: the "Mixed" and "Med-proxy" dietary patterns, the CESD-R-10 depression scale score and the physical component of the SF-12 scored questionnaire. Subsequently, a Lifestyle Index (LI) was created, based on the sum of the aforementioned, dichotomized variables and physical activity categories, as shown in below. The LI was calculated for 141 participants and the sample presented a median score of 8 and an IQR of 2, with an overall maximum score calculated at the value of 11.

Lifestyle Index (LI)

- = Physical Activity Category + "Mixed" pattern dichotomized score
- + "Med proxy" dichotomized score + CESD R
- -10 dichotomized score + SF PCS dichotomized score

Consequently, we used multivariate linear regressions adjusting for age, sex and BMI, in order to investigate for potential associations between the newly constructed LI and multiple indices of body composition and biochemical profile. As shown in Table 18, LI presented strong associations, including inverse correlations between: i) logBMI (Model 1: $\beta = -0.010$. *p*=0.022); ii) body fat percentage (Model 1: β =-0.903, p-value=0.007); iii) logVisceral fat (Model 1: β =-0.018, p=0.018); iv) logFasting glucose (Model 1: β =-0.012, p=0.004, Model 2: β =-0.007, p=0.023); v) logUric acid (Model 1: β =-0.012, p=0.030); vi) logAlbumin (Model 2: β =-0.008, p=0.032); and vii)logSGPT (Model 1: β =-0.026, p=0.027, Model 2: β =-0.026, p=0.030). **Table 18.** Multivariate linear regressions between anthropometric and clinical characteristics and the constructed lifestyle index.

		Model 1		Model 2			
	в	SE	р	В	SE	p	
logBMI							
Lifestyle Index	-0.010	0.004	0.022	-	-	-	
Body fat (%)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.903	0.328	0.007	-0242	0.186	0.197	
LogVisceral Fat							
Lifestyle Index	-0.018	0.008	0.017	-0.001	0.003	0.712	
logFasting glucose (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.009	0.003	0.004	-0.007	0.003	0.023	
logUrea (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	0.002	0.007	0.728	0.004	0.007	0.608	
logCreatinine (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	0.006	0.004	0.150	0.005	0.004	0.210	
logUric acid (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.012	0.005	0.030	-0.009	0.005	0.103	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-1.210	2.248	0.591	-1.833	2.306	0.428	
logHDL-C (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	<0.001	0.006	0.957	-0.001	0.007	0.878	
logLDL-C (mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.001	0.009	0.937	-0.004	0.009	0.698	
logTriglycerides(mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.023	0.012	0.062	-0.021	0.013	0.097	
logTotal Bilirubin(mg/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.022	0.012	0.069	-0.023	0.013	0.066	
logSerum protein(g/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.002	0.001	0.124	-0.002	0.002	0.217	
logAlbumin(g/dL)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.007	0.004	0.073	-0.008	0.004	0.032	
logSGOT (IU/L)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.006	0.009	0.515	-0.008	0.009	0.373	
LogSGPT (IU/L)							
Lifestyle Index	-0.026	0.012	0.027	-0.026	0.012	0.030	
	Model 1: Adjusted	for age, sex; M	odel 2: Adjustir	ng for age, sex, BN	AI .		

Assessment of adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and Physical Activity Habits

Finally, in the effort to holistically assess the effect of the participants' characteristics on the measured indices, we proceeded to conducting another categorization involving the volunteers' adherence to MD, as measured by the MedDiet score, and their self-reported level of physical activity, as measured by the short IPAQ. We separated the participants on high and low adherence to MD groups, based on the sample MedDiet score median, as well as sedentary versus active physical level, based on their reported PAL (all participants with low PAL were classified as sedentary, whereas participants with moderate or vigorous PAL were classified as "active"). Subsequently, four categories were created, namely: i) the "Low Adherence/Sedentary (LA/S)"; ii) the "High Adherence/Active (HA/A)" groups. Out of the144 participants with available baseline data, 27 individuals belonged in the first group, 22 in the second, 41 in the third and 54 in the fourth category.

As shown in Figure 23., Kruskal-Wallis tests performed to assess within-group differences showed statistically significant, negative associations between categorization in the higher groups and anthropometric indices, namely BMI levels (p=0.003) and total body fat in kilograms (p=0.004). Categorization to the different groups did not present statistically significant associations for waist measurements, namely WC (p=0.10) and WHR (p=0.67).









Figure 23. Clustered boxplots depicting A. BMI, B. WC, C. WHR and D. body fat in kg, per MedDiet Score/ PA group, at baseline

As such, we conducted a last set of multivariate regressions to test for the potential effect of adherence to MD and physical activity habits by examining the groups as a factor variable on the levels of the anthropometric, biochemical and lifestyle indices. Table 19 shows the associations with the examined variables, where no additive effect of PA and diet is shown and the associations with the examined indices appear to be mainly driven by the MedDietScore. More specifically, participants in the High Adherence/Active group displayed significantly reduced levels in anthropometric indices such as logBMI (Model 1: β =-0.059, p=0.0002, Model 2: β =-0.060, p=0.0002), logWHR (Model 1: β=-0.019, p=0.019, Model 2: β=-0.018, p=0.02), log of body fat in kilograms (Model 1: β =-0.108, p=0.0008, Model 2: β =-0.107, p=0.0009), log of visceral fat (Model 1: β=-0.103, p=0.001, Model 2: β=-0.102, p=0.001). Out of the biochemical indices examined, participants in this group only displayed statistically significantly lower levels of logglucose (Model 1: β =-0.039, p=0.002, Model 2: β =-0.040, p=0.0015). Interestingly, the HA/A group presented a better profile of mental health, displaying associations with lower levels of CESD-R10 scores (Model 1: β =-0.167, p=0.025, Model 2: β =-0.167, p=0.026) and increased levels of the SF-MCS-12 (Model 1: β=0.071, p=0.01, Model 2: β=0.072, p=0.009).

Table 19. Multivariate linear regressions between anthropometric and clinical characteristics and theconstructed MedDiet score/PA groups.

		Model 1			Model 2	
	6	SE	р	6	SE	p
logBMI						
HA/S Group	-0.067	0.018	0.0004	-0.067	0.019	0.0004
LA/A Group	-0.029	0.016	0.072	-0.029	0.016	0.078
HA/A Group	-0.059	0.015	0.0002	-0.060	0.016	0.0002
logWHR						
HA/S Group	-0.018	0.009	0.05	-0.018	0.009	0.043
I A/A Group	-0.014	0.008	0.09	-0.016	0.008	0.049
HA/A Group	-0.019	0.008	0.019	-0.018	0.007	0.02
logBody fat (kg)	0.010	0.000	0.010	0.010	0.007	0.02
HA/S Group	-0.108	0.037	0.005	-0.109	0.038	0.004
LA/A Group	-0.06	0.033	0.068	-0.064	0.033	0.05
HA/A Group	-0.108	0.032	0.0008	-0.107	0.032	0.0009
LogVisceral Fat						
HA/S Group	-0.121	0.037	0.001	-0.121	0.037	0.001
LA/A Group	-0.054	0.032	0.09	-0.05	0.032	0.09
HA/A Group	-0.103	0.031	0.001	-0.102	0.031	0.001
logFasting glucose (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.026	0.015	0.088	-0.024	0.014	0.099
LA/A Group	-0.037	0.013	0.005	-0.033	0.013	0.011
HA/A Group	-0.039	0.013	0.002	-0.040	0.012	0.0015
logUrea (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.013	0.029	0.667	-0.013	0.029	0.6722
LA/A Group	-0.022	0.025	0.389	-0.022	0.026	0.4021
HA/A Group	-0.023	0.025	0.346	-0.024	0.025	0.3458
logCreatinine (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	0.001	0.021	0.948	2.747e-03	2.128e-02	0.8975
LA/A Group	0.023	0.018	0.214	2.705e-02	1.863e-02	0.1489
HA/A Group	0.014	0.018	0.444	1.237e-02	1.788e-02	0.4904
logUric acid (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.029	0.024	0.2412	-0.029	0.024	0.240
LA/A Group	-0.018	0.021	0.3882	-0.019	0.022	0.379
HA/A Group	-0.034	0.021	0.098	-0.034	0.021	0.102
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	3.5896	10.170	0.724	3.6494	10.215	0.721
LA/A Group	-9.464	8.843	0.286	-9.296	8.94	0.300
HA/A Group	-1.019	8.541	0.905	-1.084	8.583	0.899
logHDL-C (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	0.013	0.030	0.648	0.016	0.029	0.604
LA/A Group	0.0001	0.026	0.997	0.005	0.026	0.844
HA/A Group	0.020	0.025	0.407	0.019	0.025	0.449
logLDL-C (mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	0.037	0.04	0.362	0.037	0.041	0.365
LA/A Group	-0.009	0.035	0.792	-0.009	0.036	0.790
HA/A Group	0.002	0.034	0.947	0.002	0.035	0.946
logTriglycerides(mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.080	0.057	0.1685	-0.081	0.058	0.166
LA/A Group	-0.082	0.050	0.105	-0.084	0.051	0.099
HA/A Group	0.075	0.048	0.1235	-0.074	0.049	0.1295
logTotal Bilirubin(mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.046	0.058	0.431	-0.044	0.059	0.458

LA/A Group	0.023	0.051	0.654	0.031	0.051	0.550
HA/A Group	0.016	0.049	0.748	0.012	0.049	0.794
logDirect Bilirubin(mg/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.004	0.053	0.933	-5.875e-04	5.277e-02	0.991
LA/A Group	0.054	0.046	0.243	6.525e-02	4.618e-02	0.160
HA/A Group	0.042	0.046	0.346	3.824e-02	4.434e-02	0.390
logSerum protein(g/dL)						
HA/S Group	-0.006	0.007	0.3955	-0.006	0.007	0.0408
LA/A Group	-0.009	0.006	0.1643	-0.009	0.007	0.1892
HA/A Group	-0.009	0.006	0.1422	-0.009	0.006	0.1368
logAlbumin(g/dL)						
HA/S Group	4.693e-03	1.717e-02	0.785	5.153e-03	1.721e-02	0.765
LA/A Group	-439e-03	1.493e-02	0.762	-3.247e-03	1.506e-02	0.830
HA/A Group	1.527e-02	1.442e-02	0.292	1.478e-02	1.446e-02	0.309
logSGOT (IU/L)						
HA/S Group	-0.045	0.047	0.341	-0.044	0.047	0.353
LA/A Group	-0.026	0.041	0.528	-0.023	0.041	0.574
HA/A Group	-0.019	0.039	0.637	-0.019	0.039	0.620
LogSGPT (IU/L)						
HA/S Group	-0.044	0.059	0.467	-0.044	0.060	0.4612
LA/A Group	-0.001	0.052	0.9822	-0.003	0.053	0.9482
HA/A Group	-0.056	0.050	0.2635	-0.056	0.050	0.2729
logAIS						
HA/S Group	0.047	0.128	0.714	0.052	0.129	0.688
LA/A Group	0.028	0.101	0.776	0.041	0.104	0.695
HA/A Group	-0.153	0.105	0.150	-0.15	0.106	0.162
LogCESD-R-10						
HA/S Group	-0.069	0.09	0.426	-0.072	0.087	0.4145
LA/A Group	-0.008	0.07	0.907	-0.014	0.075	0.8524
HA/A Group	-0.167	0.07	0.025	-0.167	0.073	0.026
LogSF PCS 12						
HA/S Group	0.028	0.026	0.28	0.031	0.027	0.2488
LA/A Group	0.005	0.023	0.83	0.0087	0.023	0.7103
HA/A Group	0.038	0.022	0.08	0.038	0.022	0.086
LogSF MCS 12						
HA/S Group	-0.011	0.032	0.7455	-0.006	0.033	0.8477
LA/A Group	0.033	0.028	0.2393	0.039	0.028	0.172
HA/A Group	0.071	0.027	0.01	0.072	0.027	0.009
	Model 1: Adjusted for	or age, sex ; Mod	el 2: Adjusting	for age, sex, smo	oking	

3.1.2. Study Results on Body Weight and WHR

Changes observed in collected data for Weight, BMI and WHR

The entirety of changes in weight, BMI and WHR based on observed measurements from baseline up to the end of month 3, is displayed in Tables 20-21. Figure 24 shows the analytical CONSORT flow diagram on the trial's participants.



Figure 24. CONSORT 2010 Flow Diagram for the iMPROVE study.

For the baseline measurements, we used the data collected in-person during the baseline meeting, while self-reported data inserted in the online assessment tool by the participants themselves were used for the end of the first and second months of the intervention. Regarding the data at the end of month 3, we used the in-person measurements for the participants attending the in-person meeting and the online, self-reported measurements for the participants who did not attend the in-person session.

As shown in Table 20, in the overall sample, weight and BMI were statistically significantly lower at the end of month 3 compared to baseline (83kg vs 87kg, p<0.001 and 29.32kg/m² vs 31.35kg/m², p<0.001, respectively). Table 21 presents the withinmonth analyses which showed a similar, statistically significant decrease in weight and BMI from baseline up to the end of month 1 (87kg vs 84kg, p<0.001 and 31.35 kg/m² vs 30.14 kg/m², p<0.001, respectively), as well as from the end of month 1 up to the end of month 2 (84kg vs 82kg, p<0.001 and 30.14 kg/m² vs 29.71kg/m², p<0.001, respectively). No statistically significant change was observed from the end of month 2 up to the end of month 3.

Variable	Time		Total		Men	١	Nomen	
		N	Median	Ν	Median	N	Median	P *
			(IQR)		(IQR)		(IQR)	
Weight	Baseline	202	87 (26)	59	103 (30)	143	83 (17)	<0.001
	Month 3	84	83 (23)	25	98 (27.5)	59	77 (16)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001		<0.001		<0.001	
BMI	Baseline	202	31.35 (6.9)	59	31.2 (7.3)	143	31.4 (6.9)	0.920
	Month 3	83	29.32 (6.03)	25	29.63 (7.46)	58	28.93	0.333
							(5.82)	
	p**		<0.001		<0.001		<0.001	
WHR	Baseline	183	0.86	53	0.93	130	0.83	<0.001
			(0.13)**		(0.08)**		(0.09)**	
	Month 3	73	0.86	21	0.93	52	0.83	<0.001
			(0.15)**		(0.07)**		(0.12)**	
	p**		0.003		0.009		0.047	
p* :	p-value show	wing diffe	erences within	the tw	o sexes, using t	he Man	n-Whitney te	st.
p **:	p-value shov	ving over	all change from	ı base	line using the W	/ilcoxor	signed-rank t	test.

Table 20. Weight, BMI and WHR measurements at the main points of the study.

** variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Variable	Time		Total		Men		Women	
		Ν	Median	Ν	Median	Ν	Median (IQR)	P *
			(IQR)		(IQR)			
Weight	Baseline	202	87 (26)	59	103 (30)	143	83 (17)	<0.001
	Month 1	118	84 (25)	35	101 (21)	83	79 (15)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001*		<0.001		<0.001	
	Month 2	89	82(25)	27	100 (25)	62	76.50 (13)	<0.001
	p**		0.001*		0.009		0.023	
	Month 3	84	83 (23)	25	98 (27.5)	59	77 (16)	<0.001
	p**		0.819*		0.925		0.849	
BMI	Baseline	202	31.35 (6.9)	25	29.63 (7.46)	58	28.93 (5.82)	0.920
	Month 1	118	30.14	35	31.13 (7.51)	83	29.73 (5.87)	0.528
			(6.08)					
	p**		<0.001		<0.001		<0.001	

Table 21. Weight, BI	VII, and WHR	measurements duri	ing the three n	nonths of the study.
----------------------	--------------	-------------------	-----------------	----------------------

	Month 2	89	29.71 (6.12)	27	31.01 (7.42)	62	29.33 (5.33)	0.215			
	p**		0.001		0.010		0.044				
	Month 3	83	29.31 (6.03)	25	29.63 (7.46)	58	28.93 (5.82)	0.333			
	p**		0.867		0.955		0.670				
WHR	Baseline	183	0.86 (0.13)**	53	0.93 (0.08)**	130	0.83 (0.09)**	<0.001			
	Month 1	111	0.87 (0.15)	33	0.95 (0.06)**	78	0.84 (0.13)	<0.001			
	p**		0.349		0.636		0.394				
	Month 2	81	0.88 (0.15)	26	0.97 (0.07)	55	0.85 (0.13)	<0.001			
	p**		0.427		0.353		0.153				
	Month 3	73	0.86 (0.15)**	21	0.93 (0.07)**	52	0.83 (0.12)**	<0.001			
	p**		0.05		0.038		0.320				
p* p**: p-valu	 <i>p</i>*: p-value showing differences within the two sexes, using the Mann-Whitney test. <i>p</i>**: p-value showing overall change from the previous month using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. 										

**: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Regarding the within-diet group changes, both weight and BMI were significantly reduced in both groups (Figure 25) from baseline to month 3 (p<0.001 for all), whereas WHR showed a statistically significant increase in the high-carbohydrate group only (0.85cm vs 0.88cm, p=0.033) (Table 22). Weight was also statistically significantly reduced from baseline to month 1 and month 1 to month 2 for participants in both groups (p<0.05 for all) (Table 23). Additionally, BMI levels decreased for both groups from baseline to the end of month 1 (p<0.001 for both), whereas participants in the high protein groups also displayed a statistically significant reduction from the end of month 1 up to the end of month 2 (31.18kg/m² vs 29.71kg/m², p=0.006).

0 1						
Variable	Time	N1 (High	Median ± IQR	N2 (High	Median ± IQR	p *
		Carb)		Prot)		
Weight	Baseline	94	83.50 (26)	108	88.50 (25)	0.014
	Month 3	36	79 (25)	48	84.5 (20.5)	0.178
	p**		<0.001		<0.001	
BMI	Baseline	94	30.5 (6.9)	108	32.3 (7.8)	0.920
	Month 3	36	29.21 (6.83)	47	29.32 (6.26)	0.333
	p**		<0.001		<0.001	
WHR	Baseline	82	0.85 (0.12)	101	0.86 (0.12)	0.665
	Month 3	31	0.88	42	0.85	0.129
			(0.099)***		(0.084)***	
	p**		0.033		0.063	
4						

Table 22. Weight, BMI and WHR measurements at the main points of the study, per diet group.

*p**: p-value showing differences within the two diet groups, using the Mann-Whitney test.
 *p***: p-value showing change from baseline for each group, using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.
 ***: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.



Figure 25 Trajectories of weight (25.A) and BMI (25.B) change from baseline up to the end of month 3 of the intervention, per diet group (1=high carbohydrate and 2=high protein).

Variable	Time	N1(High	Median ± IQR	N2 (High	Median ± IQR	p *
		Carb)		Prot)		
Weight	Baseline	94	83.50 (26)	108	88.50 (25)	0.014
	Month 1	56	81.50 (21)	62	86 (26)	0.173
	p-value**		<0.001		<0.001	
	Month 2	42	80 (20)	47	86 (25)	0.149
	p-value**		0.047		0.006	
	Month 3	36	79 (25)	48	84.5 (20.5)	0.178
	p-value**		0.478		0.843	
BMI	Baseline	94	30.5 (6.9)	108	32.3 (7.8)	0.920
	Month 1	56	29.58 (6.34)	62	31.18 (6.09)	0.249
	p-value**		<0.001		<0.001	
	Month 2	42	29.84 (5.43)	47	29.71 (7.02)	0.421
	p-value**		0.088		0.006	
	Month 3	36	29.21 (6.83)	47	29.32 (6.26)	0.333
	p-value**		0.458		0.610	
WHR	Baseline	82	0.85 (0.12)	101	0.86 (0.12)	0.665
	Month 1	54	0.88 (0.15)	57	0.86	0.246
					(0.09)***	
	p-value**		0.339		0.726	
	Month 2	39	0.89 (0.15)	42	0.86	0.354
					(0.16)***	
	p-value**		0.839		0.230	
	Month 3	31	0.88 (0.099)***	42	0.85	0.129
					(0.084)***	
	p-value**		0.049		0.393	

Table 23. Changes in weight, BMI and WHR per diet group during the three months of the study per diet group.

*p: p-value showing differences within the two diet groups, using the Mann-Whitney test.
 p**: p-value showing change from the previous month for each diet group, using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

***: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Imputation of Missing Values for Weight Measurements

In the effort to enhance the holistic assessment of the effect of the intervention on the primary outcomes, we proceeded to applying an imputation methodology for filling out the missing values observed for weight at the end of the three months (n=202 at baseline vs n=84 at the end of month 3 for weight). The imputation step was performed for the logarithm of weight, at the end of the first, second and third months, simultaneously, using a multivariate normal regression model.

For the process of the imputation, the role of multiple variables on the primary outcomes was examined, including age, sex, physical activity, baseline anthropometric measurements (body fat percentage, WC and visceral fat), baseline levels of biochemical indices such as total cholesterol, glucose, TG, HDL-C, as well as socio-economic characteristics like family status and education level. We used data from the former to assess the living status of the participants as living alone if they had reported to be single, separated, divorced, or a widower/widow or as not living alone if they had reported their education level on having received no education, having concluded the 1st, 2nd of 3rd

grade of education or other characteristics reported. Table 24 shows the comparisons between each group of the examined categorical values and the observed change in weight at the end of the 3 months. A statistically significant difference was revealed in the weight change observed among the participants in the two categories of living status, where individuals who were reported to be living alone noted lower change compared to the ones living with someone else (change=-1kg vs change=-3kg, p=0.003).

Furthermore, we conducted correlation analyses, in order to assess the potential effect of the remaining numerical variables on baseline weight and the observed weight change at 3 months (Table 25). Among the numerical variables, body fat percentage (p=0.007), WC, visceral fat, glucose, TG and HD-C levels were correlated to baseline weight (p<0.001), but not the change of weight at the end of the three months.

			Baseline weight,	kg	Chang	e in weight at 3 moi	nths, kg
		Ν	Descriptives	р	N	Descriptives	Р
Sex			Median (Q1, Q3)			Mean (SD)	
	Male	59	103 (90, 120)	<0.001*	25	-4.22 (3.96)	0.250**
	Female	143	83 (75, 92)		59	-2.47 (3.29)	
Physica	al activity		Median (Q1, Q3)			Median (Q1, Q3)	
	Sedentary	64	88 (79 <i>,</i> 105)		22	-1 (-4, 1)	
	Mediocre	104	86 (77.5 <i>,</i> 100)	0.369***	49	-3 (-6, 0)	0.197***
	Active/intense	31	88 (81, 104)		12	-6.75 (-4.5, 0)	
Live alone			Median (Q1, Q3)			Mean (SD)	
	Yes	59	86 (74, 104)	0.231*	21	-1.05 (3.01)	0.003**
	No	142	88 (78, 104)		62	-3.70 (3.52)	
Educat	ion level		Median (Q1, Q3)			Median (Q1, Q3)	
	No education	8	94.5 (84 <i>,</i> 97.5)		6	-5.75 (-6, -3.5)	
	1 st grade	2	95 (86, 104)		1	3.5 (3.5, 3.5)	
	2 nd grade	54	87 (78, 110)	0.664***	22	-2.5 (-4.5, -1)	0.382***
	3 rd grade	125	86 (77, 103)		50	-3 (-6, 1)	
	Other	12	86.5 (80 <i>,</i> 90)		4	-3.5 (-6.5 <i>,</i> 0)	
	*: p-value show	ing diffe	erences within the t	wo groups, u	using the	Mann-Whitney test.	

Table 24. Comparison of baseline weight and change in weight at 3 months across the categories of possible categorical predictors.

***: p-value showing

Table	25.	Correlation	of	baseline	weight	and	change	in	weight	at	3	months	with
possib	le ni	umerical pre	dic	tors									

	Correlati	on with baseline	weight	Correlation with change in weight at 3 months				
	Ν	Spearman's Rho	p	N	Spearman's Rho	Р		
Age	202	-0.04	0.563	84	-0.09	0.413		
Body Fat %	202	0.19	0.007	84	0.16	0.149		
WC ²	183	0.75	< 0.001	77	-0.18	0.114		
Visceral fat ³	202	0.79	<0.001	84	-0.22	0.049		
Total cholesterol ⁴	193	-0.07	0.320	83	0.11	0.314		
Glucose ⁵	193	0.25	< 0.001	83	-0.10	0.388		
TG ⁶	193	0.31	< 0.001	83	-0.01	0.906		
HDL-C ⁷	193	-0.37	< 0.001	83	0.14	0.213		

¹: correlated with WC, visceral fat, and HDL.
 ²: correlated with % fat, visceral fat, glucose, TG and HDL.
 ³: correlated with % fat, WC, glucose, TG and HDL.
 ⁴: correlated with TG and HDL.
 ⁵: correlated with WC, visceral fat, TG and HDL.
 ⁶: correlated with WC, visceral fat, total cholesterol, glucose, and HDL.
 ⁷: correlated with % fat, WC, visceral fat, total cholesterol, glucose, TG, and HDL.

For the determination of the optimal variables to be included in the process, we examined 4 different scenarios of examined variables, namely: scenario 1 including weight at baseline, sex, age and diet group; scenario 2 including weight at baseline, sex, age, diet group and living status; scenario three consisting of weight at baseline, sex, age, diet group, living status and education years; and the base case scenario including weight at baseline, sex, age, diet group, living status and education years; and body fat percentage at baseline.

Considering all participants, all four schemes displayed a statistically significant reduction in weight, with the base case scenario presenting a mean -2.68kg (p<0.0001) reduction (Table 26). An additional linear regression model fitted to investigate the difference of mean change in body weight at the 3 months between the two diet groups showed (Table 27) statistically significant changes from baseline but no significance difference between the two groups.

N=202				Change in weight at	3 months	Crude difference b	oetween
				(kg)		diet groups	*
		Μ	Ν	Mean (95% CI)	р	b (95% CI)	р
CCS		0	84	-2.99 (-3.77, -2.22)	<0.0001	0.23 (-1.34, 1.80)	0.773
	Covariates used for imputation						
Sc.1	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group	100	202	-2.58 (-3.59, -1.57)	< 0.0001	0.36 (-1.54, 2.26)	0.704
Sc.2	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone	100	202	-2.64 (-3.56, -1.72)	< 0.0001	0.36 (-1.39, 2.11)	0.682
Sc.3	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, education years	100	185	-2.54 (-3.56, -1.53)	< 0.0001	0.31 (-1.72, 2.34)	0.762
Base case	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, Fat (%) baseline	100	202	-2.68 (-3.55, -1.80)	<0.0001	0.39 (-1.29, 2.06)	0.647

Table 26. Mean change in weight for overall population and the mean difference between diet groups at 3 months (in kg).

CCS: complete case scenario; M: # of imputations

* Linear regression model of weight difference at 3 months. Coefficients (weight difference) presented for Diet Group (High protein vs. High Carbohydrate)

An additional linear regression model was fitted to investigate the difference of mean change in body weight at 3 months between the two diet groups. The corresponding mean change in weight observed at the end of the 3 months did not differ between the two groups and was measured at 0.05kg and 0.03 for the high carbohydrate and protein group respectively. Although statistically insignificant, the mean difference between the two diet groups was -0.02kg in favor of the high protein group (p=0.481).

Table 27. Mean change in weight by diet group at 3 months (in kg).

N=202	Change in weight at 3 months (kg)		High protein		High Carbohydrate					
		Ν	Mean (95% CI)	р	Ν	b (95% Cl)	р			
CCS		48	-2.90 (-4.03, -1.76)	< 0.0001	36	-3.13 (-4.18, -2.07)	< 0.0001			
	Covariates used for imputation									
Sc.1	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group	108	-2.41 (-3.81, -1.02)	0.001	94	-2.77 (-4.19, -1.36)	< 0.0001			
Sc.2	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone	108	-2.47 (-3.75, -1.19)	< 0.0001	94	-2.83 (-4.12, -1.55)	< 0.0001			
Sc.3	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, education years	98	-2.40 (-3.82, -0.98)	< 0.0001	87	-2.71 (-4.20, -1.22)	< 0.0001			
Base case	Weight Baseline, Sex, Age, Diet Group, Live alone, Fat (%) baseline	108	-2.50 (-3.65, -1.34)	< 0.0001	94	-2.88 (-4.18, -1.59)	< 0.0001			
	CCS : complete case scenario.									

Assessment of Adherence to the Proposed Diets

Following the identification of a statistically significant reduction in body weight across the overall sample using both the observed and the imputed phenotypic data, we proceeded to additionally examining the effect of the participants' adherence to the two proposed diets. Data deriving from the monthly 24-hour dietary recalls conducted throughout the intervention period, revealed the participants' increased adherence to the consumption of the proposed calories but demonstrated their difficulty in completely adhering by 100% to the consumption of the increased proposed carbohydrate and protein intake. As such, for the purposes of exploring the effect of adherence to the proposed diet and primary outcome changes we used the data deriving from the self-reported adhrence score provided by the participants on a monthly basis via the online platform. The mean adherence score was calculated after adding all three rerported scores and diving them by a value of 3. We further proceeded to separating the individuals into two categories of "low adherence" or "non-adherent" and "high adherence" or "adherent" based on the sample median. Table 28 shows that for the overall sample, changes in both body weight and BMI differed statistically significantly between non-adherent and adherent participants, with the latter showing an increase in the 3-month trends of weight and BMI reduction. After examining potential differences within the two diet groups, adhrence did not appear to significantly affect the changes in the high carbohydrate group (p=0.067 and 0.079, respectively), while adherent participants in the high protein group displayed increased reduction in both weight and BMI, compared to the group's non-adherent volunteers (p<0.001 for both) (Figure 26).

 Table 28. Differences between weight and BMI change at 3 months per adherence and diet groups.

Variable	Тс	otal	High Carb	ohydrate	High Protein		
	Z*	р	Z *	р	Z *	Р	
Weight change at 3 months	-4.280	<0.001	-1.830	0.067	-4.076	<0.001	
BMI change at 3 months	-4.224	<0.001	-1.775	0.079	-4.094	<0.001	
	*Z-st	atistic from Ma	ann Whitney to	est			


Figure 26. Clustered boxplot depicting the changes in A. weight and B. BMI from baseline up to the end of month 3 of the intervention, shown per adherence group (Adherent vs Non-adherent participants).

3.1.3. Study Results on Secondary Outcomes

Changes observed in Collected Data for Indices of Body Composition

Moving on to the study secondary outcomes, at the end of the three months of intervention, the overall sample showed statistically significant reductions in total and upper body fat (p<0.001, p=0.002, respectively), total and upper body fat-free mass (p<0.001 for both), total body water (p<0.001) and visceral fat (p<0.001) (Table 29). Within-sex comparisons revealed that the changes observed were mainly driven by women who constituted the vast majority of the sample, and who were the ones to note the observed reductions at the end of the 3 months.

Variable	Time		Total		Men	W	omen	
		Ν	Median IQR	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	P *
Body Fat %	Baseline	202	38.45 (10.8)	59	29.1 (8.9)	143	41.7 (8)	<0.001
	Month 3	64	38 (9)	17	30 (10)	47	40(7)	<0.001
	p**		0.063		0.234		0.140	
Body Fat (kg)	Baseline	202	32.95 (13.3)	59	28.9 (14.2)	143	35.1 (12.6)	0.001
	Month 3	63	31 (12)	16	34.63 (15.59)**	47	31 (9)	0.962
	p**		<0.001		0.079		0.001	
Fat-free	Baseline	202	52 (18)	59	71 (15)	143	49 (7)	<0.001
Mass (kg)	Month 3	64	49 (16)	17	73.47 (11.89)**	47	47 (6)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001		0.002		<0.001	
Total Body	Baseline	202	38 (13)	59	52 (11)	143	36 (5)	<0.001
Water (kg)	Month 3	64	36 (11)	17	53.71 (8.75)**	47	34 (5)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001		0.002		<0.001	
Visceral Fat	Baseline	202	10 (6)	59	14 (7)	143	9 (4)	<0.001
	Month 3	64	10 (6)	17	16.53 (6.52)**	47	9 (3)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001		0.038		0.001	
Upper Body Fat %	Baseline	201	36.7 (6.98)**	59	32.34 (6.18)	142	38.51 (8)	<0.001
	Month 3	64	36.38 (6.65)**	17	33.24 (7.29)**	47	37.51 (6.1)**	0.032
	p**		0.120		0.039		0.487	
Upper Body	Baseline	201	18 (7)	59	18 (7)	142	17 (7)	0.288
Fat (kg)	Month 3	64	16 (8)	17	20 (10)	47	16 (5)	0.030
	p**		0.002		0.011		0.039	
Upper Body	Baseline	201	29 (9)	59	38 (7)	142	27 (3)	<0.001
Ffm (kg)	Month 3	64	27 (7)	17	39.29 (5.23)**	47	26 (3)	<0.001
	p**		<0.001		0.011		0.001	
p* : p-va	alue showing	differer	nces within th	ne two	sexes, using t	he Manr	-Whitney tes	st.

Table 29. Body composition measurements at the main points of the study.

p**: p-value showing overall change from baseline using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

** variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Within-diet group analyses (Table 30) did not present any statistically significant differences for the majority of the 3-month changes in body composition measurements across the two groups. However, participants in the high-protein group showed a significant reduction in kilograms of upper body fat (18kg at baseline vs 16kg at the end of the 3months, p=0.007), compared to the ones in the high-carbohydrate group.

Variable	Time	N1 (High Carb)	Median ± IQR	N2 (High Prot)	Median ± IQR	p*
Fat %	Baseline	94	38.35 (7.13)**	108	37.9 (13.3)	0.628
	Month 3	27	37.56 (6.05)**	37	37.84 (7.76)**	0.492
	p**		0.269		0.135	
Fat kg	Baseline	94	31.3 (11.9)	108	33.95 (15.1)	0.381
	Month 3	26	31 (11)	37	32 (12)	0.364
	p**		0.008		0.014	
Ffm kg	Baseline	94	50.5 (14)	108	53 (21)	0.019
	Month 3	27	49 (18)	37	49 (18)	0.509
	p**		<0.001		0.001	
TBW kg	Baseline	94	37 (10)	108	39 (15)	0.016
	Month 3	27	36 (12)	37	36 (13)	0.479
	p**		<0.001		<0.001	
Visceral	Baseline	94	10 (4)	108	11 (5)	0.041
Fat	Month 3	27	10 (6)	37	10 (6)	0.881
	p**		0.009		0.002	
Upper Body Fat	Baseline	94	36.59 (6.45)**	108	36.8 (7.45)**	0.778
%	Month 3	27	35.63 (5.7)**	37	36.92 (7.3)**	0.247
	p**		0.374		0.185	
Upper	Baseline	94	16 (7)	107	18 (7)	0.029
Body Fat	Month 3	27	15 (8)	37	16 (7)	0.190
kg	p**		0.099		0.007	
Upper	Baseline	94	28 (7)	107	29 (10)	0.028
Body Ffm	Month 3	27	28 (8)	37	27 (8)	0.561
kg	p**		0.006		0.002	

Table	30.	Changes	in k	body	composition	measurement	s per	diet	group,	during	the
three	mon	ths of the	e stu	udy.							

*p: p-value showing differences within the two diet groups, using the Mann-Whitney test.
 p**: p-value showing change from the previous month for each diet group, using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

***: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Changes observed in Collected Data for Lifestyle Indices

Concerning the lifestyle measurements, the overall sample noted a statistically significant reduction in AIS score (5 vs 3.5, p=0.033), mainly driven by women (5 vs 3, p=0.134), denoting an improvement in sleeping qualities (Tables 31-32). Although statistically insignificant, the physical component of the SF-12 questionnaire presented a slight increase in the overall sample (52 vs 52.7, p=0.941). The SF mental component showed an insignificant increased from baseline up to the three months (49 vs 51.17,p=0.004, Figure 27), but noted a statistically significant increase from baseline up to the end of month 1 (49 vs 50.56, p=0.015).

Table 31. AIS, SF-PCS-12 and SF-MCS-12 measurements at the main points of the study.

Variable	Time		Total		Men	V	Vomen	
		N	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	Ν	Median (IQR)	P *
AIS	Baseline	140	5 (7)	42	3.5 (7.3)	98	5 (7)	0.246
	Month 3	62	3.5 (5)	19	4.21 (3.05)**	43	3 (5)	0.033
	p**		0.033		0.098		0.134	
SF-PCS-	Baseline	145	52 (12)	45	54 (9)	100	50(11)	0.005
12	Month 3	80	52.7 (11.17)	22	55.91 (4.76)	58	50.40	0.003
							(13.84)	
	p**		0.941		0.433		0.513	
SF-MCS-	Baseline	145	49 (16)	45	47.04	100	46.83	0.806
12					(8.13)**		(10.31)	
	Month 3	80	51.17	22	48.97 (12.51)	58	51.39	0.829
			(15.32)				(15.23)	
	p**		0.444		0.911		0.324	
p* :	p-value show	ving diffe	rences within t	he tw	o sexes, using th	e Manr	-Whitney tes	st.
p**:	p-value show	ing overa	all change from	base	ine using the Wi	lcoxon	signed-rank t	est.

** variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Variable	Time	Т	otal	Men		Women		
		Ν	Median	N	Median ±	Ν	Median ±	P *
			± IQR		IQR		IQR	
AIS	Baseline	140	5 (7)	42	3.5 (7.3)	98	5 (7)	0.246
	Month 1	99	5 (6)	30	4 (6)	69	5 (6)	0.660
	p**		0.660		0.970		0.642	
	Month 2	70	5 (7)	24	4.5 (6)	46	5 (8)	0.586
	p**		0.586		0.555		0.758	
	Month 3	62	3.5 (5)	19	4.21	43	3 (5)	0.299
					(3.05)**			
	p**		0.299		0.083		0.651	
SF-PCS-	Baseline	145	52 (12)	45	54 (9)	100	50(11)	0.005
12	Month 1	125	52.11	38	53.18	87	50.68	0.699
			(9.59)		(7.22)		(10.46)	
	p**		0.699		0.530		0.868	
	Month 2	94	51.51	29	53.18	65	50.75	0.296
			(10.51)		(6.34)		(11.01)	
	p**		0.296		0.627		0.365	

 Table 32. AIS, SF-PCS-12 and SF-MCS-12 measurements during the three months of the study.

	Month 3	80	52.7 (11.17)	22	55.91 (4.76)	58	50.40 (13.84)	0.327
	p**		0.327		0.163		0.712	
SF-MCS- 12	Baseline	145	49 (16)	45	47.04 (8.13)**	100	46.83 (10.31)	0.806
	Month 1	125	50.56 (11.22)	38	52.48 (10.87)	87	49.19 (13.56)	0.015
	p**		0.015		0.082		0.079	
	Month 2	94	50.75 (10.28)	29	50.64 (6.46)**	65	50.58 (10.72)	0.638
	p**		0.638		0.563		0.802	
	Month 3	80	51.17	22	48.97	58	51.39	0.327
			(15.32)		(12.51)		(15.23)	
	p**		0.327		0.124		0.798	
p*: p**: p-valu	 p*: p-value showing differences within the two sexes, using the Mann-Whitney test. p**: p-value showing overall change from the previous month using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. *: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown. 							

Within the two diet groups (Tables 33-34), lifestyle characteristics did not present major changes from baseline up to month three. The statistically significant increase of the SF-MCS-12 in the overall sample appears to be driven by the participants in the high carbohydrate group, who showed a statistically important change from a mean value of 46.35 at baseline to a median of 50.56 at the end of month 1 (p=0.022).

Table 33. AIS,	SF-PCS-12	and	SF-MCS-12	measurements	per	diet	group	at	the	main
points of the s	tudy.									

Variable	Time	N1 (High Carb)	Median ± IQR	N2 (High Prot)	Median ± IQR	p *
AIS	Baseline	67	5 (7)	73	4 (6.5)	0.730
	Month 3	27	4.81 (3.86)***	35	3 (5)	0.637
	p**		0.272		0.062	
SF-PCS-12	Baseline	62	50 (14)	83	52 (8)	0.272
	Month 3	36	52 (11.67)	44	53.04 (10.58)	0.336
	p**		0.469		0.547	
SF-MCS-12	Baseline	62	46.35	83	50 (13)	0.507
			(9.74)***			
	Month 3	36	53 (17.71)	44	50.39 (12.46)	0.578
	p**		0.741		0.567	

*p**: p-value showing differences within the two sexes, using the Mann-Whitney test.
 *p**:* p-value showing overall change from baseline using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.
 ** variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.

Table 34. Changes in	AIS, SF-PCS-12	and SF-MCS-12	per diet g	group during	the three
months of the study.					

	1					
Variable	Time	N1 (High	Median ± IQR	N2 (High	Median ±	p *
		Carb)		Prot)	IQR	
AIS	Baseline	67	5 (7)	73	4 (6.5)	0.730
	Month 1	46	5 (6)	53	5 (5)	0.516
	p-value**		0.693		0.843	
	Month 2	33	6 (7)	37	4 (6)	0.210
	p-value**		0.419		0.889	
	Month 3	27	4.81	35	3 (5)	0.637
			(3.86)***			

	p-value**		0.193		0.979	
SF-PCS-	Baseline	62	50 (14)	83	52 (8)	0.272
12	Month 1	58	52.10 (10.9)	67	52.11 (9.01)	0.995
	p-value**		0.637		0.399	
	Month 2	42	51.94 (13.23)	52	51.1 (9.13)	0.918
	p-value**		0.723		0.247	
	Month 3	36	52 (11.67)	44	53.04	0.336
					(10.58)	
	p-value**		0.869		0.090	
SF-MCS-	Baseline	62	46.35	83	50 (13)	0.507
12			(9.74)***			
	Month 1	58	50.56 (10.89)	67	50.58	0.622
					(13.13)	
	p-value**		0.022		0.243	
	Month 2	42	50.75 (13.11)	52	50.78 (9.22)	0.115
	p-value**		0.407		0.159	
	Month 3	36	53 (17.71)	44	50.39	0.578
					(12.46)	
	p-value**		0.544		0.080	

p*: p-value showing differences within the two diet groups, using the Mann-Whitney test. *p*: p-value showing change from the previous month for each diet group, using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

***: variable follows the normal distribution, so mean ± SD are shown.





Figure 27. Trajectories of A. AIS, B. SF-PCS-12 and C. SF-MCS-12 change from baseline up to the end of month 3 of the intervention, per diet group (1=high carbohydrate and 2=high protein).

3.1.4. Genetic Predisposition and Anthropometric/Lifestyle Parameters

3.1.4.1. Baseline Associations

Proceeding to exploring the effect of genetic predisposition on the population's baseline characteristics, we set out by conducting linear regressions for the baseline anthropometric and lifestyle indices displayed in Table 35. Interestingly, both GRSs were statistically significantly associated with lower levels of AIS, denoting that an elevated genetic risk for increased BMI does not necessarily imply increased risk for disrupted sleep habits.

		Model 1			Model 2	
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р
logWeight						
uGRS	-0.0004	0.001	0.711	-0.0003	0.001	0.749
wGRS	-0.005	0.037	0.886	-0.003	0.037	0.934
logBMI						
uGRS	-0.001	0.001	0.328	-8.605e-04	9.847e-04	0.383
wGRS	-0.026	0.032	0.419	-2.199e-02	3.258e-02	0.501
logWHR						
uGRS	0.001	0.001	0.183	-0.009	0.006	0.126
wGRS	0.023	0.019	0.233	0.001	0.001	0.128
logFat_kg						
uGRS	-0.001	0.002	0.513	-0.001	0.002	0.547
wGRS	-0.020	0.065	0.759	-0.017	0.065	0.793
logAIS						
uGRS	-0.017	0.005	0.001	-0.017	0.005	0.002
wGRS	-0.546	0.175	0.002	-0.537	0.178	0.003
LogCESD-R-10						
uGRS	-0.005	0.004	0.264	-0.005	0.004	0.236
wGRS	-0.073	0.144	0.612	-9.071e-02	1.469e-01	0.537
LogSF-PCS-12						
uGRS	9.574e-05	1.486e- 03	0.949	-0.001	0.001	0.724
wGRS	-0.003	0.049	0.951	-0.025	0.048	0.597
LogSF-MCS-12						
uGRS	0.002	0.001	0.185	0.002	0.002	0.203
wGRS	0.046	0.059	0.439	0.052	0.058	0.369
Model	l 1: Adjusted f	or age, sex;	Model 2:	Adjusting for age,	sex, PAL, smokir	Ig

Table 35. Associations between t	he cohort's baseline characteristics	and the uGRS and wGRS.
----------------------------------	--------------------------------------	------------------------

Furthermore, we used the 10 BMI-related and the 10 fat-related SNPs to separately examine associations as shown in Table 36. Associations with the forme3r did not present any statistically significant trends. Interestingly, carriers of the T allele of the rs6265 steadily presented nominal associations with the body fat indices, namely logbody fat in kg (Model 1: β =0.037, p=0.027; Model 2: β =0.035, p=0.032), logVisceral fat Model 1: β =0.039, p=0.016; Model 2: β =0.038, p=0.019), and logUpper Body fat in kg (Model 1: β =0.038, p=0.032; Model 2: β =0.036, p=0.041).

		Model 1			Model 2	
	Beta	Stat*	р	Beta	Stat*	р
logFat_kg						
rs574367_T	-0.029	-1.506	0.134	-0.027	-1.407	0.161
rs2605100_A	-0.006	-0.409	0.683	-0.003	-0.157	0.875
rs4846567_T	0.010	0.583	0.561	0.015	0.854	0.394
rs10195252_T	-0.006	-0.374	0.709	-0.009	-0.594	0.554
rs206936_G	0.022	0.969	0.333	0.042	1.813	0.071
rs4994_G	-0.004	-0.127	0.899	0.001	0.023	0.982
rs11191548_C	-0.001	-0.023	0.982	0.009	0.339	0.735
rs6265_T	0.037	2.234	0.027	0.035	2.163	0.032
rs1443512_A	-0.026	-1.435	0.153	-0.032	-1.767	0.079
rs12970134_A	-0.018	-1.009	0.314	-0.023	-1.265	0.207
logVisceral Fat						
rs574367_T	-0.023	-1.183	0.238	-0.021	-1.105	0.270
rs2605100_A	-0.002	-0.099	0.921	0.001	0.090	0.928
rs4846567_T	0.006	0.333	0.739	0.009	0.534	0.594
rs10195252_T	-0.004	-0.286	0.775	-0.007	-0.486	0.628
rs206936_G	0.014	0.657	0.512	0.029	1.254	0.211
rs4994_G	-0.012	-0.378	0.701	-0.008	-0.262	0.794
rs11191548_C	0.002	0.069	0.945	0.008	0.326	0.745
rs6265_T	0.039	2.437	0.016	0.038	2.367	0.019
rs1443512_A	-0.019	-1.113	0.267	-0.025	-1.413	0.159
rs12970134_A	-0.014	-0.808	0.419	-0.018	-1.042	0.299
logUpper Body						
Fat kg						
rs574367_T	-0.026	-1.262	0.209	-0.024	-1.18	0.239
rs2605100_A	-0.005	-0.299	0.765	-0.001	-0.055	0.956
rs4846567_T	0.007	0.399	0.690	0.013	0.674	0.501
rs10195252_T	-0.010	-0.6044	0.520	-0.014	-0.866	0.387
rs206936_G	0.015	0.635	0.526	0.039	1.593	0.113
rs4994_G	-0.005	-0.146	0.884	0.001	0.019	0.985
rs11191548_C	0.006	0.224	0.823	0.019	0.663	0.508
rs6265_T	0.038	2.161	0.032	0.036	2.062	0.041
rs1443512_A	-0.034	-1.808	0.072	-0.040	-2.099	0.037
rs12970134_A	-0.019	-1.009	0.314	-0.024	-1.269	0.206
Model :	1: Adjusted for	or age, sex; M	odel 2: Adju	isting for age, s	sex, PAL, smol	king

Table 36. Associations between the cohort's baseline characteristics and the 10 candidate, fat-related variants.

Interactions between GRSs and Dietary Patterns at Baseline

Additionally, in an effort to assess the effect of gene-diet interactions on the examined indices at baseline, we proceeded to conducting multivariate linear regressions including the effect of the interaction between: a) the constructed GRSs and the extracted dietary patterns (statistically significant results shown at Tables 37-38); and b) the selected BMI candidate variants and the dietary patterns (Table 39). Interestingly, we found that the interaction between the GRSs and adherence to the "Mixed" Pattern was associated with increased levels of logSF-PCS-12 (uGRS Model 1: β =0.004, p=0.003; Model 2: β =0.004, p=0.028, wGRS Model 1: β =0.148, p=0.001; Model 2: β =0.132, p=0.009).

		Model 1		Model 2			
LogSF-PCS-12							
uGRS* Mixed Pattern	0.004	0.001	0.003	0.004	0.002	0.028	
uGRS*Med-proxy Pattern	4.824e-04	1.622e-03	0.767	6.089e-05	1.565	0.969	
					e-03		
uGRS* Eating-out Pattern	-1.650e-03	2.323e-03	0.479	-0.001	0.002	0.693	
uGRS* Traditional,	1.976e-03	1.496e-03	0.189	0.0002	0.002	0.870	
vegetarian-alike Pattern							
uGRS* High in unsaturated	-0.016	0.059	0.781	-0.002	0.002	0.309	
fats and fruit juice							
consumption Pattern							
LogSF-MCS-12							
uGRS* Mixed Pattern	-0.001	0.002	0.637	-0.001	0.002	0.795	
uGRS*Med-proxy Pattern	-0.003	0.002	0.174	-0.003	0.002	0.105	
uGRS* Eating-out Pattern	-0.002	0.003	0.532	-0.0004	0.003	0.882	
uGRS* Traditional,	0.001	0.002	0.454	0.001	0.002	0.524	
vegetarian-alike Pattern							
uGRS* High in unsaturated	-0.0001	0.002	0.931	-0.001	0.002	0.661	
fats and fruit juice							
consumption Pattern							
Model 1: Adjusted for age, set	x, uGRS and each	n dietary patter	rn ; Model 2	2: Adjusting fo	or age, se	x, PAL,	
	smoking, uGRS a	and each dietai	v pattern				

Table 37. Interactions between the cohort's baseline characteristics, dietary patterns and the uGRS.

Table 38. Interactions between the cohort's baseline characteristics, dietary patterns and the wGRS.

	Γ	Model 1			Model 2			
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р		
LogSF-PCS-12								
wGRS* Mixed Pattern	0.148	0.042	0.001	0.132	0.049	0.009		
wGRS*Med-proxy Pattern	0.034	0.052	0.519	0.013	0.050	0.792		
wGRS* Eating-out Pattern	-0.107	0.067	0.114	-0.082	0.065	0.215		
wGRS* Traditional,	7.061e-02	5.223e	0.179	-0.016	0.059	0.781		
vegetarian-alike Pattern		-02						
wGRS* High in unsaturated	0.009	0.053	0.858	-0.079	0.055	0.151		
fats and fruit juice								
consumption Pattern								
LogSF-MCS-12								
wGRS* Mixed Pattern	-0.006	0.055	0.908	-0.001	0.064	0.992		
wGRS*Med-proxy Pattern	-0.081	0.062	0.191	-0.101	0.06	0.096		
wGRS* Eating-out Pattern	-0.081	0.081	0.323	-0.044	0.080	0.583		

wGRS* Traditional,	0.0002	0.064	0.998	-0.011	0.071	0.878			
vegetarian-alike Pattern									
wGRS* High in unsaturated	-0.024	0.063	0.706	-0.052	0.066	0.437			
fats and fruit juice									
consumption Pattern									
Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, wGRS and each dietary pattern; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL,									
smoking, wGRS and each dietary pattern									

Interactions between Candidate Variants and Dietary Patterns at Baseline

Subsequently, a similar set of regressions was conducted to test the interactions between the dietary patterns and the BMI-candidate variants. Table 40 shows the statistically significant associations observed. Overall, we observe that carriers of BMI-raising alleles tended to present higher levels of anthropometric indices and worse lifestyle indices when adhering to patterns with increased sugar or fat content, such as the "Mixed" and "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" ones, and lower such levels when adhering to the more balanced patterns like the Traditional, vegetarian-alike one.

In the case of weight, we observed that carriers of BMI-raising alleles in the variants rs1421085 (C), rs1121980 (A), rs17817449 (G), rs3751812 (T), rs9939609 (A) who adhere to the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern tended to display nominally significant associations with lower levels of weight (nominal associations of p<0.05 and p<0.01). On the contrary, carriers of the BMI-positively associated T allele of the rs3751812 variant who adhered to the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern showed increased levels of weight, after adjusting for age and sex (Model 1: β =0.022, p=0.048). Similar trends were observed for BMI, where rs3751812-T and rs9939609-A allele carriers noted lower levels of BMI when adhering to the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively), while rs3751812-T allele carriers consuming the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively), while rs3751812-T allele carriers consuming the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively), while rs3751812-T allele carriers consuming the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively), while rs3751812-T allele carriers consuming the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern presented increased BMI. Associations with baseline total body fat in kg also presented akin findings with rs3751812_T and rs9939609_A being associated with lower levels when adhering to the Traditional patterns, whereas the former being associated with higher levels when adhering to the High in unsaturated fats pattern.

Regarding the lifestyle measurements, attrition to the latter was associated with increased CESD-R-10 score in carriers of the BMI-raising T allele of the rs925946 variant. Interestingly, the physical component of the SF-12 questionnaire presented most of the nominally significant interactions, namely: i) the aggravating effect of the rs1421085 (C), rs1121980 (A), rs17817449 (G), rs9939609 (A), rs17782313 (C) variants in SF-PCS-12 scores when adherence to the "Mixed" dietary pattern was present; ii) a negative association between the rs6548238 T allele and increased BMI values when adhering to the "Mixed" pattern; iii) a positive relation between BMI-raising rs3751812- T allele and the score when the interaction with the "Mixed" Pattern was present); iv) the aggravating effect of the rs1421085 (C), rs1121980 (A), rs17817449 (G) and rs9939609 (C) variants in SF-PCS-12, even when adherence to the "Med-Proxy" pattern was present.

Table 39. Statistically significant interactions between the cohort's baseline characteristics,

 dietary patterns and the 10 candidate, BMI-related variants.

		Model 1			Model 2		
	Beta	Stat*	р	Beta	Stat*	р	
logWeight							

vegetarian alika Dettern)46
rs1121980 A* Traditional -0.017 -1.954 0.053 -0.017 -1.99 0.0	149
vegetarian-alike Pattern	J - J
rs17817449 G* Traditional -0.028 -2.393 0.018 -0.029 -2.487 0.0	014
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs3751812 T* Traditional, -0.026 -2.307 0.023 -0.026 -2.292 0.0)23
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs9939609 A* Traditional, -0.003 -2.692 0.008 -0.030 -2.663 0.0	009
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs3751812_T* High in 0.022 1.997 0.048 0.021 1.862 0.0	065
unsaturated fats and fruit juice	
consumption Pattern	
logBMI	
rs3751812_T* Traditional, -0.026 -2.307 0.023 -0.023 -2.189 0.0	030
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs9939609_A* Traditional, -0.030 -2.692 0.008 -0.020 -1.932 0.0	056
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs3751812_T* High in 0.022 1.997 0.048 0.021 2.06 0.0	041
unsaturated fats and fruit juice	
consumption Pattern	
logFat_kg	
rs3751812_T* Traditional, -0.047 -2.256 0.026 -0.047 -2.256 0.0)26
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs9939609_A* Traditional, -0.043 -2.104 0.037 -0.043 -2.075 0.0	039
vegetarian-alike Pattern	
rs3751812_T* High in 0.046 2.249 0.026 0.044 2.135 0.0)35
unsaturated fats and fruit juice	
consumption Pattern	
LogCESD-R-10	
rs925946_1* High in 0.104 2.163 0.032 0.097 2.006 0.0)47
unsaturated fats and fruit juice	
consumption Pattern	
LOGSF-PCS-12	174
rs0548238_1* Mixed Pattern 0.030 -2.11 0.037 -0.031 -2.151 0.0	J54
rs1421085_C* Mixed Pattern 0.026 -3.235 0.002 -0.027 -3.474 0.0	JU1
rs1221960_A Wixed Pattern 0.020 2.572 0.001 0.020 2.921 0.0	002
rs2751812 T* Mixed Pattern 0.020 2.062 0.01 -0.030 -3.821 0.0	122
rc0020600 A* Mixed Pattern _0.026 _2.002 0.042 0.021 _2.17 0.0)))2)()1
rs17782313 C* Mixed Pattern -0.030 -2.238 0.027 -0.028 -2.122 0.0	136
rs1421085 C* Med-Proxy -0.018 -2.133 0.035 -0.017 -1.912 0.0	159
Pattern	
rs1121980 A* Med-Proxy -0.018 -2.029 0.045 -0.016 -1.787 0.0)77
Pattern	
rs17817449 G* Med-Proxy -0.022 -2.261 0.026 -0.019 -2.073 0.0	041
Pattern	
rs9939609 A* Med-Proxy -0.024 -2.456 0.016 -0.022 -2.231 0.0	028
Pattern	
Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, SNP and each dietary pattern; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, F	PAL,
smoking, SNP and each dietary pattern	

3.1.4.2. Associations with changes post-intervention

Effect of GRSs and Candidate Variants on Imputed Weight Loss

Proceeding to exploring the effect of genetic predisposition in the changes observed after the intervention period, we set out by using the imputed data for weight loss at the end of the 3-month period to examine potential associations between the scores and the observed changes in the index. As shown in Table 40, neither the uGRS not the wGRS were statistically significantly associated with weight change post-intervention. Within-diet group analyses also showed no statistically significant relations for weight loss in participants following either the high carbohydrate or the high protein diet.

Table 40. Multivariate linear regressions between the constructed GRSs and imputed weight loss post-intervention in the overall sample.

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3		
	Coef*	SE	р	Coef*	SE	р	Coef*	SE	р	
Weight change										
uGRS	-0.024	0.084	0.772	-0.023	0.084	0.784	-0.022	0.083	0.789	
wGRS	-0.034	2.851	0.905	-0.455	2.854	0.874	-0.0425	2.850	0.882	
				*Coef: Coe	fficient					
Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL, smoking; Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL,										
			sm	oking and	diet group					

In a similar manner to the above, we subsequently used the 10 aforementioned, BMIrelated SNPs to separately examine associations with post-intervention weight change, using the imputed weight data. As displayed in Table 41, the SNPs did not display statistically significant associations for the observed weight change post-intervention. Within-diet group analyses also showed no statistically significant relations for weight loss in participants following either the high carbohydrate or the high protein diet.

	Model 1				Model 2			Model 3		
	Coef*	SE	р	Coef*	SE	р	Coef*	SE	p	
Weight change										
rs6548238_C										
Heterozygote	0.284	2.901	0.922	1.158	3.001	0.700	1.078	3.005	0.720	
Homozygote	1.716	2.758	0.535	1.158	3.001	0.700	2.468	2.886	0.391	
rs1801282_G										
Heterozygote	-2.658	4.007	0.509	-2.780	3.996	0.489	-2.727	3.999	0.498	
Homozygote	-3.874	3.706	0.299	-4.048	3.709	0.668	-3.962	3.718	0.290	
rs2241766_G										
Heterozygote	-0.163	1.122	0.885	-0.168	1.121	0.881	-0.135	1.122	0.904	
Homozygote	-0.486	1.275	0.707	-0.431	1.288	0.739	-0.409	1.285	0.751	
rs925946_T										
Heterozygote	0.850	1.068	0.427	0.889	1.061	0.404	0.902	1.059	0.396	
Homozygote	-0.878	2.193	0.690	-1.129	2.194	0.608	-1.177	2.194	0.593	
rs17817449_G										
Heterozygote	-0.077	1.326	0.953	-0.307	1.382	0.824	-0.294	1.381	0.832	
Homozygote	0.298	1.262	0.813	0.131	1.312	0.921	1.135	1.311	0.918	
rs3751812_T										

Table 41. Multivariate linear regressions between the 10 examined SNPs and imputed weight loss post-intervention in the overall sample.

Heterozygote	-0.722	1.463	0.623	-0.551	1.441	0.703	-0.388	1.445	0.789
Homozygote	-0.544	1.343	0.686	-0.327	1.341	0.808	-0.145	1.362	0.916
rs17782313_C									
Heterozygote	-1.809	3.404	0.597	-2.353	3.522	0.506	-2.456	3.535	0.490
Homozygote	-0.591	3.325	0.859	-1.157	3.459	0.739	-1.233	3.469	0.723
rs9939609_A									
Heterozygote	0.089	1.394	0.949	-0.105	1.442	0.942	-0.086	1.442	0.952
Homozygote	0.237	1.267	0.852	0.481	1.324	0.971	0.068	1.325	0.959
rs1421085_C									
Heterozygote	-0.309	1.310	0.814	-0.291	1.326	0.827	-0.318	1.325	0.811
Homozygote	0.498	1.147	0.665	0.485	1.174	0.680	0.466	1.173	0.692
rs1121980_A									
Heterozygote	-0.246	1.298	0.850	-0.219	1.311	0.867	-0.238	1.309	0.856
Homozygote	0.502	1.148	0.299	0.479	1.174	0.684	0.458	1.173	0.697
			*^~	of Cooffici	ont				

*Coef: Coefficient

Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex; Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL, smoking; Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, PAL, smoking and diet group.

Effect of GRSs and Candidate Variants on Observed Changes

Using the observed values for weight and BMI change post-intervention, we moved on to splitting the overall sample in categories of either "High" or "Low" uGRs and wGRS, based on the observed scores' sample medians. Although differences between the two groups were not statistically significant for both the uGRS and the wGRS, a steady decrease was observed in both the weight and BMI change from baseline in the high GRS groups (Table 42). Within-diet group analyses also showed no statistically significant relations for weight loss in participants following either the high carbohydrate or the high protein diet (p=0.273 and p=0.639 for the uGRS and p=0.777 and p=0.207 for the wGRS, respectively). Similarly to above, although statistically insignificant, a steady decrease in changes was observed in groups with high GRSs for both diet categories (Figure 28).

Table 42. Mean changes in weight and BMI post-intervention, per GRS groups in the overall sample.

Variable		Low GRS	Hi		
	Ν	Mean (SD)	N	Mean (SD)	P *
Weight Change					
uGRS	34	3.53 (3.69)	42	2.57 (3.47)	0.289
wGRS	31	3.61 (3.77)	44	2.55 (3.46)	0.245
BMI Change					
uGRS	34	1.17 (1.24)	41	0.94 (1.23)	0.444
wGRS	31	1.19 (1.26)	43	0.93 (1.23)	0.390







Additionally, we proceeded to examining potential differences in postintervention weight and BMI within the separate groups of genotypes for the 10 candidate, BMI-related variants (Table 43). Kruskal-Wallis tests revealed statistically significant differences in the observed weight change across the groups of the rs1421085 and the rs17782313 variants. Carriers of the BMI-raising C allele of the former displayed statistically significantly lower change in weight post-intervention (p<0.036, Figure 29). Similarly, carriers of the BMI-positively associated C allele of the rs17782313 SNP also showed statistically significantly lower weight changes after the 3-month period (p=0.043, Figure 29).

Variable	Variable Homozygotes for		Het	terozygotes	Hom	ozygotes for		
	the non-effect					the non-effect		
		allele				allele		
	Ν	Mean (SD)	Ν	Mean (SD)	Ν	Mean (SD)	P *	
Weight Change								
rs6548238_C	2	5.5 (2.12)	10	4.7 (4.64)	71	2.9 (3.35)	0.161	
rs1801282_G	2	0.5 (2.12)	4	1 (2.94)	77	2.99 (3.60)	0.310	
rs2241766_G	14	1.86 (3.68)	47	2.96 (3.79)	22	3.18 (2.99)	0.575	
rs925946_T	66	2.61 (3.73)	14	3.36 (2.79)	3	5.33 (2.08)	0.237	
rs1421085_C	10	4.2 (3.82)	21	4.19 (3.89)	52	2.02 (3.17)	0.036	
rs1121980_A	10	4.2 (3.82)	23	3.96 (3.80)	50	2.04 (3.23)	0.056	
rs17817449_G	10	4.2 (3.82)	23	3.70 (4.16)	50	2.16 (3.09)	0.091	
rs3751812_T	8	2.5 (3.30)	23	2.91 (3.30)	52	2.85 (3.76)	0.876	
rs9939609_A	10	4.2 (3.82)	21	3.29 (4.39)	52	2.38 (3.09)	0.246	
rs17782313_C	2	7 (1.41)	17	4.17 (4.00)	64	2.34 (3.33)	0.043	
BMI Change								
rs6548238_C	2	1.50 (0.69)	10	1.66 (1.50)	70	0.86 (1.18)	0.411	
rs1801282_G	2	0.27 (0.98)	4	0.26 (1.09)	76	1.04 (1.24)	0.327	
rs2241766_G	14	0.70 (1.33)	46	1.03 (1.31)	22	1.07 (1.03)	0.381	
rs925946_T	65	0.91 (1.30)	14	1.22 (0.99)	3	1.66 (0.44)	0.238	
rs1421085_C	10	1.36 (1.34)	21	1.42 (1.27)	51	0.73 (1.15)	0.119	
rs1121980_A	10	1.36 (1.34)	23	1.35 (1.24)	49	0.74 (1.17)	0.125	
rs17817449_G	10	1.35 (1.35)	23	1.25 (1.37)	49	0.79 (1.13)	0.163	
rs3751812_T	8	0.86 (1.17)	22	1.07 (1.20)	52	0.97 (1.28)	0.744	
rs9939609_A	10	1.35 (1.35)	21	1.09 (1.43)	51	0.87 (1.13)	0.212	
rs17782313_C	2	2.32 (0.05)	17	1.44 (1.32)	63	0.82 (1.18)	0.063	

Table 43. Mean changes in weight and BMI post-intervention, per groups of the 10 candidate variants in the overall sample.



161



Figure 29. Clustered boxplots depicting3-month weight loss A. per genotype groups of the rs1421085 SNP and B. per genotype groups of the rs17782313 SNP.

Additionally, we conducted multiple linear regressions using the observed data to examine further associations between the tested variants and changes in the observed indices (Table 44). Presence of the T allele of the rs6548238 variant was nominally associated with increased change in total body fat in kg, after adjustment for both models of confounding factors (Model 1: β =2.329, p=0.016; Model 2: β =2.639, p=0.006). Presence of the aggravating G and A alleles of the rs17817449 and rs9939609 SNPs were also nominally associated with lower changes in the SF-PCS-12 across both adjusting Models (p<0.01 for all associations). Interestingly, presence of the BMI-raising alleles for the rs1421085 (C), rs1121980 (A), rs17817449 (G), rs9939609 (A) SNPs were nominally associated with increased changes in SF-MCS-12 post-intervention. Finally, out of the selected fat-related variants, presence of the G allele of the rs4995 SNP was found nominally related with lower change in upper body fat in kg (Model 2: β =-1.715, p=0.033). No statistically significant associations were observed between the changes post-intervention in fat-related indices and the 10 candidate, fat-related variants.

TO Canuluate, Di	to candidate, bivil-related SNFS.								
		Model 1			Model 2				
	Beta	Stat*	р	Beta	Stat*	р			
BMI Change									
rs6548238_T	0.530	1.599	0.114	0.607	1.828	0.072			
rs1801282_G	-0.516	-1.397	0.166	-0.582	-1.538	0.128			
rs2241766_G	-0.143	-0.675	0.502	-0.153	-0.724	0.471			
rs925946_T	0.301	1.101	0.2744	0.318	1.15	0.254			
rs1421085_C	0.382	1.95	0.055	0.306	1.437	0.155			
rs1121980_A	0.359	1.833	0.071	0.279	1.325	0.189			
rs17817449_G	0.301	1.531	0.129	0.209	0.957	0.342			
rs3751812_T	0.013	0.062	0.950	0.055	0.259	0.796			

Table 44. Associations between the changes observed post-intervention and the 10 candidate, BMI-related SNPs.

rst7r82313_C 0.660 2.338 0.022 0.576 1.905 0.061 WHR Change	rs9939609_A	0.199	0.997	0.323	0.091	0.411	0.683
WHR Change rs6548238_T 0.046 0.489 0.627 0.015 1.045 0.300 rs1801282_6 0.11 0.863 0.394 0.016 0.846 0.407 rs925946_T 0.015 0.177 0.861 0.002 2.244 0.029 rs1421085_C 0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.001 1.043 0.301 rs1121980_A -0.013 -0.176 0.862 0.019 1.925 0.653 rs17817449_G 0.011 1.176 0.862 0.011 1.043 0.301 rs1781749_G 0.011 0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs78751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs93960_A -0.013 -0.178 0.868 0.021 1.497 0.139 rs548238_T 2.329 2.497 0.016 2.639 2.873 0.006 rs548238_T 0.457 0.616 0.541 0.495	rs17782313 C	0.650	2.338	0.022	0.576	1.905	0.061
rs6548238_T 0.046 0.489 0.627 0.015 1.045 0.300 rs1801282_G 0.11 0.863 0.394 0.016 0.836 0.407 rs2241766_G 0.053 0.377 0.861 0.028 2.244 0.029 rs1421085_C -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.006 0.625 0.534 rs17817449_G 0.012 0.176 0.862 0.019 1.925 0.059 rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.811 0.006 0.625 0.534 rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.478 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.478 0.859 0.021 1.497 0.157 rs180128_C -1.639 0.071 -1.724 1.872 0.067 rs180128_C -1.639 0.071 -1.724 1.872 0.067 rs180128_C -1.047 0.616 0.541 0.495 0.667 0.507 rs180128_C <td>WHR Change</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	WHR Change						
rs1801282_G 0.11 0.863 0.394 0.016 0.836 0.407 rs224176_G 0.063 0.837 0.408 -0.004 -0.469 0.640 rs325946_T 0.013 0.178 0.859 0.011 1.043 0.301 rs1121800_A -0.013 0.178 0.859 0.016 0.625 0.534 rs17817449_G 0.012 0.176 0.862 0.019 1.925 0.059 rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs939360_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.159 rs548235 C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 rs548236 C 0.263 0.408 0.868 -0.296 0.515 0.667 0.507 rs412108_C 0.191 9.03 0.061 0.811 1.334 0.181 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.669 0.773 </td <td>rs6548238 T</td> <td>0.046</td> <td>0.489</td> <td>0.627</td> <td>0.015</td> <td>1.045</td> <td>0.300</td>	rs6548238 T	0.046	0.489	0.627	0.015	1.045	0.300
rs224176_G 0.063 0.837 0.408 -0.004 -0.469 0.404 rs925946_T 0.015 0.177 0.861 0.028 2.244 0.029 rs1421085_C -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.006 0.625 0.534 rs17817449_G 0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs939609_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs1782132_C -0.043 -0.478 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs180128_C -1.658 -1.839 0.071 -1.724 -1.872 0.067 rs2294_C -0.473 -0.616 0.541 0.435 0.515 0.609 rs92594_C -0.473 -0.616 0.541 0.434 0.617 0.323 0.139 rs180128_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.354 0.181 rs1241085_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.362	rs1801282 G	0.11	0.863	0.394	0.016	0.836	0.407
rs925946_T 0.015 0.177 0.861 0.028 2.244 0.029 rs1421085_C -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.011 1.043 0.301 rs1121980_A -0.012 0.176 0.859 0.010 1.925 0.059 rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs939609_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fst_kgChange - - - - - 0.016 2.639 2.873 0.006 rs2241766_G -0.235 -0.408 0.685 0.296 -0.515 0.607 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.0667 0.5261 1.005 0.319 rs1212180_A 0.981 1.848 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs1212180_A 0.715 1.32 <td< td=""><td> rs2241766_G</td><td>0.063</td><td>0.837</td><td>0.408</td><td>-0.004</td><td>-0.469</td><td>0.640</td></td<>	 rs2241766_G	0.063	0.837	0.408	-0.004	-0.469	0.640
r51421085_C -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.011 1.043 0.301 rs1121490_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.006 0.625 0.534 rs1781749_G 0.012 0.176 0.862 0.019 1.525 0.059 rs939360_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17783131_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fat_ge Change	rs925946 T	0.015	0.177	0.861	0.028	2.244	0.029
rs1121980_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.006 0.625 0.534 rs17817449_G 0.012 0.176 0.862 0.019 1.925 0.059 rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs178782313_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fs4LgChange - - -0.43 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 rs224176_G -0.235 -0.408 0.685 -0.296 -0.515 0.607 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs1212180_A 0.988 1.848 0.0667 0.284 0.319 rs939609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs178782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs244766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 <td></td> <td>-0.013</td> <td>-0.178</td> <td>0.859</td> <td>0.011</td> <td>1.043</td> <td>0.301</td>		-0.013	-0.178	0.859	0.011	1.043	0.301
rs17817449_6 0.012 0.176 0.862 0.019 1.925 0.059 rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs9393609_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fat_ge Change rs554238 T 2.329 2.497 0.016 2.639 2.873 0.0067 rs1201282_G -1.658 -1.839 0.071 -1.724 -1.872 0.667 rs2241766_G -0.235 -0.408 0.668 -0.267 0.507 rs13121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817419_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.511 1.005 0.319 rs939360_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs1781241_G 0.837 1.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs93360_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.4040	rs1121980 A	-0.013	-0.178	0.859	0.006	0.625	0.534
rs3751812_T 0.111 1.276 0.211 0.002 0.153 0.879 rs9399609_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fat.kg Change . </td <td>rs17817449 G</td> <td>0.012</td> <td>0.176</td> <td>0.862</td> <td>0.019</td> <td>1.925</td> <td>0.059</td>	rs17817449 G	0.012	0.176	0.862	0.019	1.925	0.059
rs9939600_A -0.013 -0.178 0.859 0.015 1.441 0.155 rs17782313_C 0.043 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 rs6548238_T 2.329 2.497 0.016 2.639 2.873 0.006 rs1801282_G -1.658 -1.839 0.071 -1.724 -1.872 0.667 0.507 rs24176_G 0.235 -0.408 0.685 -0.296 -0.515 0.609 rs2412085_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.354 0.403 rs1121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.699 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817449_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs933609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs1782132_C 0.433 0.434 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs120128_C 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.49	rs3751812 T	0.111	1.276	0.211	0.002	0.153	0.879
rs17782313_C -0.043 -0.433 0.668 0.021 1.497 0.139 Fat_gc Change	rs9939609 A	-0.013	-0.178	0.859	0.015	1.441	0.155
Fat_kg Change 1 <	rs17782313 C	-0.043	-0.433	0.668	0.021	1.497	0.139
rs5548238_T 2.329 2.497 0.016 2.639 2.873 0.006 rs1801282_G -1.658 -1.839 0.071 -1.724 -1.872 0.067 rs2241766_G 0.235 -0.408 0.685 -0.296 -0.515 0.609 rs22946_T 0.457 0.616 0.541 0.495 0.667 0.507 rs12121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817449_G 0.837 1.552 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs573131_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AIS Change	Fat kg Change						
rs1801282_G -1.658 -1.839 0.071 -1.724 -1.872 0.067 rs2241766_G -0.235 -0.408 0.685 -0.296 -0.515 0.609 rs121085_C 1.019 1.903 0.661 0.811 1.354 0.181 rs1421085_C 1.019 1.903 0.661 0.811 1.354 0.181 rs17817449_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs9393609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs241786_G 0.723 -0.074 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408	rs6548238 T	2.329	2.497	0.016	2.639	2.873	0.006
rs2241766_G -0.235 -0.408 0.685 -0.296 -0.515 0.609 rs925946_T 0.457 0.616 0.541 0.495 0.667 0.507 rs1421085_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.354 0.181 rs1121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs993609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17817422_G 0.233 0.437 0.867 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.06 0.597 0.554 rs2421766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs925946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs12121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.70	rs1801282 G	-1.658	-1.839	0.071	-1.724	-1.872	0.067
rs925946_T 0.457 0.616 0.541 0.495 0.667 0.507 rs1421085_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.334 0.181 rs1121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817449_G 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs9393609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17817449_G 0.337 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AlS Change 0.434 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs925946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G 0.223 0.474 0.638 -0.599	rs2241766 G	-0.235	-0.408	0.685	-0.296	-0.515	0.609
rs1421085_C 1.019 1.903 0.061 0.811 1.354 0.181 rs1121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817419_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs9399609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 Als Change	rs925946 T	0.457	0.616	0.541	0.495	0.667	0.507
rs1121980_A 0.988 1.848 0.069 0.773 1.302 0.198 rs17817449_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs939609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AIS Change 0.281 0.780 1.582 1.727 0.209 AIS Change 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs120182_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs12180_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.455 0.221 rs73751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.	rs1421085 C	1.019	1.903	0.061	0.811	1.354	0.181
rs17817449_G 0.837 1.562 0.124 0.517 0.843 0.403 rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs9393609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs1782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AlS Change 0.780 0.554 rs2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs25546_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs12121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9399609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs7782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.4	rs1121980 A	0.988	1.848	0.069	0.773	1.302	0.198
rs3751812_T 0.3675 0.660 0.512 0.561 1.005 0.319 rs3939609_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 Als Change	rs17817449 G	0.837	1.562	0.124	0.517	0.843	0.403
Instruct Instruct Instruct Instruct Instruct rs993960_A 0.715 1.32 0.192 0.409 0.668 0.507 rs17782313_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AIS Change 0.231 0.780 rs1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs923960_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9293960_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 r	rs3751812 T	0 3675	0.660	0.512	0.561	1 005	0 319
rsi30303_C 1.393 1.877 0.066 1.035 1.27 0.209 AlS Change rs6548238_T 0.434 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs925946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs12121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs17782313_C 0.699 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 rs17782313_C 0.699 -0.277 0.794 -0.175 0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.794	rs9939609 A	0 715	1 32	0.192	0.409	0.668	0 507
AIS Change AIS T AIS Change rs6548238_T 0.435 0.434 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs2244766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs925946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9339609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 rs2421766	rs17782313 C	1 393	1 877	0.066	1 035	1 27	0.209
ris 543238_T 0.435 0.434 0.667 0.284 0.281 0.780 rs 1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs 2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs 225946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs 1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs 1212980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs 1212980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs 17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs 3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs 57823946_T -0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change -1.377 -0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs 2421766_G 0.167 0.055 0.956	AIS Change	1.000	21077	0.000	1.000	1.27	01203
rs1801282_G 0.233 0.137 0.892 1.106 0.597 0.554 rs2241766_G 0.726 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs9225946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9393609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17872313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 rs1638028_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G 0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs121280_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194<	rs6548238 T	0 435	0 434	0.667	0 284	0 281	0 780
Inscription 0.125 0.125 0.125 0.125 0.125 0.125 Inscription 0.126 1.3 0.201 0.629 1.091 0.282 rs925946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.580 0.837 0.408 rs121080_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs9339609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs9339509_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - -0.077 -0.989 0.327 rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs241766_G -0.039 -0.277 0.017 -0.446	rs1801282 G	0.233	0 137	0.892	1 106	0 597	0 554
rsp25946_T 0.532 0.774 0.444 0.680 0.837 0.408 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs9375080_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs939509_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - 0.989 0.327 rs1818128_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475	rs2241766_G	0.235	1 3	0.002	0.629	1 091	0.282
rs1421085_C 0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1421085_C -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.838 -1.703 0.097 rs1421980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9939609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - 0.692 0.55 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs1212980_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T<	rs925946 T	0.532	0 774	0 444	0.580	0.837	0.408
rs1121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs121980_A -0.473 -1.027 0.311 -0.828 -1.703 0.097 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 -1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9939609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change	rs1421085_C	-0.473	-1 027	0.311	-0.838	-1 703	0.097
n11111000 n101 n101 0.011 0.010 n101 0.021 rs17817449_G -0.223 -0.474 0.638 -0.659 1.245 0.221 rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs9939609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs1781782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - -0.989 0.327 rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1121080_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834	rs1121980 A	-0 473	-1 027	0.311	-0.828	-1 703	0.097
rs3751812_T -0.614 -1.182 0.244 -0.471 -0.868 0.391 rs939609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - - - 0.655 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs12121980_A -2.115 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544	rs17817449 G	-0.223	-0 474	0.638	-0.659	-1 245	0.221
rs993609_A -0.279 -0.575 0.569 -0.808 -1.485 0.146 rs1782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - - - 0.989 0.327 rs6548238_T -2.699 -1.134 0.261 -2.407 -0.989 0.327 rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs12121980_A -2.115 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17121980_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 <td< td=""><td>rs3751812 T</td><td>-0.614</td><td>-1 182</td><td>0.244</td><td>-0 471</td><td>-0.868</td><td>0 391</td></td<>	rs3751812 T	-0.614	-1 182	0.244	-0 471	-0.868	0 391
rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 rs17782313_C 0.692 1.019 0.314 1.046 1.422 0.164 SF-PCS-12 Change - - - - 0.989 0.327 rs17801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - -1.265 0.233	rs9939609 A	-0 279	-0.575	0.569	-0.808	-1 485	0.146
SF-PCS-12 Change -1.010 0.001 0.011 0.011 0.011 0.011 0.011 rs6548238_T -2.699 -1.134 0.261 -2.407 -0.989 0.327 rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0	rs17782313 C	0.692	1 019	0 314	1 046	1 422	0 164
rs6548238_T -2.699 -1.134 0.261 -2.407 -0.989 0.327 rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - - - - rs6548238_T 5.984 1.916 0.060 5.614 1.737 0.088 rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0	SE-PCS-12 Change	0.052	1.019	0.011	1.0.10	1	0.101
rs1801282_G 0.167 0.055 0.956 -0.156 -0.050 0.960 rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change	rs6548238 T	-2.699	-1.134	0.261	-2,407	-0.989	0.327
rs2241766_G -0.039 -0.027 0.979 -0.027 -0.018 0.985 rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs1121980_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - -1.61 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.300 rs121980_A 4.108 2.235	rs1801282 G	0 167	0.055	0.956	-0.156	-0.050	0.960
rs925946_T -1.377 -0.767 0.446 -1.475 -0.804 0.425 rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs1121980_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - -1.61 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs12241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs122986_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs12121980_A 4.108 2.235 <td>rs2241766_G</td> <td>-0.039</td> <td>-0.027</td> <td>0.979</td> <td>-0.027</td> <td>-0.018</td> <td>0.985</td>	rs2241766_G	-0.039	-0.027	0.979	-0.027	-0.018	0.985
rs1421085_C -2.356 -1.676 0.099 -2.521 -1.63 0.109 rs1121980_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - -1.61 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs121085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093	rs925946 T	-1 377	-0.767	0.446	-1 475	-0.804	0.425
rs1121080_A -2.115 -1.507 0.137 -2.194 -1.436 0.157 rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - - - 0.065 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs121980_A 4.108 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs17817449_G 5.7	rs1421085_C	-2 356	-1 676	0.099	-2 521	-1 63	0 109
rs17817449_G -3.758 -2.681 0.009 -4.594 -2.91 0.005 rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - - - 0.060 5.614 1.737 0.088 rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351	rs1121000_0	-2.115	-1.507	0.137	-2.194	-1.436	0.157
rs3751812_T -1.882 -1.205 0.233 -1.834 -1.157 0.252 rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change	rs17817449 G	-3.758	-2.681	0.009	-4.594	-2.91	0.005
rs9939609_A -3.202 -2.247 0.028 -4.093 -2.474 0.016 rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - - - - - - - 0.088 - - 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change - - - - - - 0.060 5.614 1.737 0.088 - - - 0.961 - - - 0.961 - - - 0.961 - 0.544 0.589 - - 9.925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 - rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 - rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 - rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 - rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C	rs3751812 T	-1 882	-1 205	0.233	-1 834	-1 157	0.252
rs35555000_1/t CHOL LLL H CHOL HOSC LLH H CHOL rs17782313_C -0.151 -0.069 0.945 -1.38 -0.587 0.559 SF-MCS-12 Change	rs9939609 A	-3.202	-2.247	0.028	-4.093	-2.474	0.016
SF-MCS-12 Change 0.003 0.003 0.000 5.614 1.737 0.088 rs6548238_T 5.984 1.916 0.060 5.614 1.737 0.088 rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs17782313 C	-0.151	-0.069	0.945	-1 38	-0.587	0.559
rs6548238_T 5.984 1.916 0.060 5.614 1.737 0.088 rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	SF-MCS-12 Change	0.101	0.005	0.010	1.00	0.007	0.000
rs1801282_G -1.161 -0.288 0.775 -0.209 -0.049 0.961 rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs6548238 T	5 984	1 916	0.060	5 614	1 737	0.088
rs2241766_G 1.03 0.521 0.605 1.091 0.544 0.589 rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs1801282 G	-1.161	-0.288	0.775	-0.209	-0.049	0.961
rs925946_T 1.508 0.627 0.533 1.284 0.516 0.608 rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs2241766 G	1.03	0.521	0.605	1.091	0.544	0.589
rs1421085_C 4.304 2.337 0.023 4.556 2.223 0.030 rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs925946 T	1.508	0.627	0.533	1.284	0.516	0.608
rs1121980_A 4.108 2.235 0.029 4.266 2.109 0.039 rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs1421085 C	4.304	2,337	0.023	4.556	2.223	0.030
rs17817449_G 5.7 3.093 0.003 6.602 3.127 0.003 rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs1121980 A	4,108	2.235	0.029	4.266	2.109	0.039
rs3751812_T 0.351 0.166 0.869 0.106 0.049 0.961 rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs17817449 G	5.7	3.093	0.003	6.602	3.127	0.003
rs9939609_A 4.921 2.617 0.011 5.781 2.6 0.012 rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs3751812 T	0.351	0.166	0.869	0.106	0.049	0.961
rs17782313_C 4.506 1.585 0.118 6.535 2.135 0.037	rs9939609 A	4,921	2.617	0.011	5.781	2.6	0.012
	rs17782313 C	4.506	1.585	0.118	6.535	2.135	0.037

Interactions between GRSs and Candidate Variants and Diet Groups on Observed Changes

A final set of examinations was conducted to test for the potential effect of the interaction between the suggested diet group and genetic background on the samples' observed changes (Tables 45). Overall, no significant associations were observed for interactions with the calculated GRSs or the BMI-related variants in changes of anthropometric and lifestyle indices post-intervention.

Table 45. Associations between the changes observed post-intervention and the interactions between diet group and the uGRS and wGRS.

		Model 1			Model 2		
	Beta	Stat*	р	Beta	Stat*	р	
Weight Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	-6.378	5.445	0.245	-0.125	0.159	0.438	
wGRS*Diet Group	-0.136	0.159	0.398	-5.916	5.509	0.287	
BMI Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	-0.046	0.057	0.427	-0.041	0.057	0.476	
wGRS*Diet Group	-2.096	1.939	0.284	-1.880	1.960	0.341	
WHR Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	-0.0004	0.003	0.873	-0.0004	0.003	0.875	
wGRS*Diet Group	-0.027	0.091	0.771	-0.025	0.095	0.794	
Fat kg Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	-0.106	0.161	0.514	-0.073	0.163	0.660	
wGRS*Diet Group	-4.395	5.632	0.439	-3.306	5.767	0.569	
AIS Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	0.032	0.192	0.870	-0.078	0.190	0.685	
wGRS*Diet Group	0.594	7.589	0.939	-7.252	8.495	0.399	
SF-PCS-12 Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	-0.193	0.390	0.623	-0.265	0.386	0.496	
wGRS*Diet Group	-2.298	13.364	0.864	-7.603	13.431	0.574	
SF-MCS-12 Change							
uGRS*Diet Group	0.855	0.599	0.159	0.878	0.609	0.156	
wGRS*Diet Group	18.578	20.749	0.370	20.61	21.525	0.343	
Model 1: Adjusted for	age, sex, uGl	RS or wGRS a	and diet gro	oup; Model	2: Adjusting	for age, sex,	
PAL, smoking, uGRS or wGRS and diet group							

Interestingly, the interaction between diet group and the T allele of the fatrelated rs6265 variant was steadily associated with increased changes for all examined fat indices (Table 46), namely change in total body fat in kg (Model 1: β =3.282, p=0.009; Model 2: β =3.398, p=0.007), change in visceral fat (Model 1: β = 0.947, p=0.043) and change in upper body fat in kg (Model 1: β =2.468, p= 0.002; Model 2: β =2.564, p= 0.001). One more nominal association was revealed between the rs1443512- T allele and lower change in visceral fat, after adjusting for age and sex (Model 1: β = -1.043, p= 0.048).

		Model 1			Model 2	
	Beta	Stat*	р	Beta	Stat*	р
Fat_kg Change						
rs574367_T*Diet Group	-1.304	-0.940	0.351	-1.087	-0.782	0.438
rs2605100_A*Diet Group	-0.978	-0.718	0.476	-1.979	-1.373	0.176
rs4846567_T*Diet Group	-1.894	-1.531	0.131	-1.726	-1.343	0.185
rs10195252_T*Diet Group	0.113	0.085	0.933	0.425	0.322	0.749
rs206936_G*Diet Group	-2.466	-1.198	0.236	-2.723	-1.336	0.187
rs4994_G*Diet Group	-0.713	-0.209	0.835	-0.485	-0.141	0.889
rs11191548_C*Diet Group	0.101	0.047	0.963	0.103	0.048	0.962
rs6265_T*Diet Group	3.282	2.705	0.009	3.387	2.826	0.007
rs1443512_A*Diet Group	-2.676	-1.928	0.059	-2.242	-1.567	0.123
rs12970134_A*Diet Group	-0.404	-0.256	0.799	-0.586	-0.365	0.717
Visceral Fat Change						
rs574367_T*Diet Group	-0.297	-0.576	0.567	-0.293	-0.559	0.579
rs2605100_A*Diet Group	-0.473	-0.932	0.356	-0.644	-1.156	0.253
rs4846567_T*Diet Group	-0.881	-1.936	0.058	-0.823	-1.702	0.095
rs10195252_T*Diet Group	-0.017	-0.035	0.972	0.052	0.103	0.919
rs206936_G*Diet Group	-0.955	-1.239	0.220	-0.974	-1.251	0.216
rs4994_G*Diet Group	-1.636	-1.3	0.199	-1.465	-1.129	0.264
rs11191548_C*Diet Group	0.163	0.206	0.838	0.119	0.147	0.884
rs6265_T*Diet Group	0.947	2.071	0.043	1.011	2.205	0.032
rs1443512_A*Diet Group	-1.043	-2.016	0.048	-0.925	-1.703	0.094
rs12970134_A*Diet Group	0.087	0.149	0.882	0.136	0.227	0.821
Upper Body Fat kg Change						
rs574367_T*Diet Group	-1.15	-1.305	0.197	-1.084	-1.218	0.228
rs2605100_A*Diet Group	-0.593	-0.682	0.498	-1.091	-1.163	0.249
rs4846567_T*Diet Group	-0.789	-0.987	0.328	-0.631	-0.753	0.455
rs10195252_T*Diet Group	0.418	0.488	0.628	0.593	0.694	0.491
rs206936_G*Diet Group	-1.327	-0.993	0.325	-1.431	-1.071	0.289
rs4994_G*Diet Group	2.505	1.17	0.247	3.004	1.388	0.171
rs11191548_C*Diet Group	-0.311	-0.222	0.825	-0.384	-0.264	0.793
rs6265_T*Diet Group	2.468	3.262	0.002	2.564	3.375	0.001
rs1443512_A*Diet Group	-1.217	-1.336	0.187	-0.914	-0.969	0.337
rs12970134_A*Diet Group	0.003	0.003	0.998	-0.042	-0.041	0.968
Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, S	NP and Die	et Group ; M	odel 2: Ad	justing for a	age, sex, PAI	., smoking,
	SNP	and Diet G	roup			

Table 46. Associations between the changes observed post-intervention in fat-related indices and the interactions between diet group the 10 candidate, fat-related SNPs.

3.1.5. Discussion

Baseline Characteristics and Dietary Patterns

The following information in 3.1.5. constitute information published under the publication Nutrients 2021, 13, 3495. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13103495 and can be found in Appendix C.

The present analyses display the design and the baseline population characteristics and dietary habits of the iMPROVE study. Overall, our baseline sample of 202 volunteers displayed satisfactory levels of lifestyle quality, with the majority of participants not reporting depression symptoms or heavily disrupted sleep quality. Five dietary patterns were identified, including: (a) a "Mixed" pattern; (b) a pattern including food groups similar to those of the Mediterranean diet, entitled "Medproxy" pattern; (c) the "Eating-out" pattern consisting of food combinations usually found in restaurants or fast-food environments (i.e., pies); (d) the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern, characterized by plant-based, Greek, traditional recipes; and (e) the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern, including foods groups with high unsaturated fats and magnesium content (i.e., small fish and nuts) and highlighting representative habits of healthy snacking across Greek adults (i.e., olives, nuts and fruit juice). Interestingly, while the "Mixed" pattern included a vast majority of processed foods with added sugars and high fat content (i.e., chocolate, croissants, tray sweets, soft drinks, chips, seed oil, margarine, and butter), it was also characterized by light products and chicken and potatoes' consumption. This can be potentially attributed to the representative consumption of specific food groups by overweight and obese Greeks, who tend to adhere to short-term, selfimposed attempts to follow a more balanced diet. The latter do not result in successful weight management and/or weight loss efforts, but are exactly characterized by increased consumption of light products and simple food combinations, such as chicken and potatoes. The "Med-proxy" and the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" patterns are representative of the dietary habits of the Greek population, evidently influenced by the Mediterranean diet and its increased content in fruit, vegetables, and legumes. Apparently, due to its high sugar and fat content, the "Mixed" pattern was associated with higher levels of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics. On the other hand, the plant-based, traditional recipes presented negative associations with body fat and positive relations with increased levels of HDL cholesterol. We further evaluated the within-group tertile categorization of adherence to each pattern, showing that higher tertiles were related to stronger associations for specific patterns, such as the positive relationship between adherence to the "Mixed" pattern and logBMI levels and the negative relationship between the increased adherence to the same pattern and logHDL values. The concept of obese adults and the effect of dietary intake in the formation of their cardiometabolic profile display great interest, with current literature to be reporting similar findings to the ones outlined in the present study. Interestingly, the majority of studies aiming at identifying dietary patterns in overweight/obese populations, usually provide results for dietary habits adhering to the Western diet (including food groups with increased

content of processed foods and/or foods in high fat and sugar content) or to a more balanced dietary pattern including fruit and vegetables, relating to higher and lower values of BMI, respectively [343]. Such patterns may include food combinations each time representative of the region of living, while maintaining a strong influence of the dietary habits and combinations usually found in the Western and/or the Mediterranean diet. A 2021 study by Saghafi-Asi et al. investigating the relationship between dietary patterns and biochemical biomarkers of 151 healthy obese Iranian adults, also underlined a positive association between a "Western" dietary pattern with high fat and sugar content and BMI and body fat levels [344]. Additionally, a different study in Romanian obese adults also underlined the identification of a "high meat/high fat", a "Western," and a "Prudent" pattern [345]. Similar findings were reported in a cohort of 410 Polish participants of a case-control study, where adherence to a pattern influenced by the Western one was related with higher levels of fat tissue and waist circumference, in contrast with the adherence to a "Healthy" pattern [345]. In their 2019 longitudinal study, Neri-Sanchez et al. also underlined the positive association between adherence to a "Risky" dietary pattern, including high fat and high sugar content, with the presence of central obesity in Mexican adults [346]. A different pattern consisting of poultry, vegetables, red meat, and red meat products, among others, was also associated with obesity in male, Chinese adults, in a 2021 study of 1739 adults by Wang et al. [348]. Additionally, a different crosssectional study of our group identified similar associations between dietary patterns and biochemical biomarkers in the adults of the POMAK population. More specifically, the dietary pattern including increased consumption of products high in sugars was related to low levels of HDL cholesterol [349]. Similar trends were also noted when investigating the dietary patterns of adolescent populations, where a dietary pattern with high protein and animal fat content was associated with elevated levels of logBMI and logTriglycerides, in French teenagers [311]. Furthermore, the development of the novel Lifestyle Index using the data deriving from the study sample, allowed for further investigation of the quality of life characteristics on the anthropometric and biochemical indices. Consisting of five variables, including two of the present dietary patterns extracted, the Index displayed negative associations with logBMI and body fat levels, as well as levels of the log-transformed variables of fasting glucose, SGOT, and SGPT. Thus, LI confirmed that higher quality of dietary intake and higher levels of physical activity reduced depression symptoms and improved self-reported conception of health status and may display a protective effect on body composition, as well as a favorable influence on improved glycemic profile. Overall, development of lifestyle indices as a means of quantifying and evaluating the potential influence of specific lifestyle aspects on body weight is mounting, as analyzed in the beginning of the paper, lifestyle indices can also incorporate dietary information via calculation of diet quality indices. A 2017 systematic review of 34 studies by Asghari et al., sought to investigate the effect of diet quality indices in obesity-related traits, showing that Healthy Eating Index (HEI) displayed an inverse association with obesity. The same review also concluded that different dietary scores, in general, did not efficiently assess diet quality, with most significant findings being presented in populations of

the United States [350]. Furthermore, different research groups have investigated the effect of lifestyle characteristics, such as sedentary behavior and screen-time, in adolescent populations [328, 351, 352]. In adults, current research refers to potential associations between constructed lifestyle indices and specific diseases or disease-related outcomes, namely cardiovascular disease [354], cancer [353], and type 2 diabetes [355]. Lenz et al., showed that creation of a Lifestyle Index for evaluation of life quality in adults at risk for cardiovascular disease can be a useful tool [356]. Furthermore, in a similar effort to evaluate the lifestyle aspects and weight characteristics, Roda et el in 2016, also investigated the potential effect of sleep qualities, screen time, and dietary intake, among others, highlighting a strong positive association between sedentary behavior and overweight [357].

Baseline Characteristics, MD and PA

Furthermore, regarding the samples' baseline characteristics, our findings showed that the combination of increased adherence to the MD and elevated physical activity was not only associated with lower levels of the core anthropometric indices (i.e. BMI, WHR, total body fat and visceral fat), but also a better profile of lifestyle characteristics as evidenced by its inverse association with depression characteristics and its positive relation with the mental component of the SF-12 short questionnaire. Evidently, apart from the well-known effects of MD in reducing cardiometabolic risk and elevating overall quality of life [113], literature firmly supports its additional role in the construction of a better mental health profile. In their 2020 literature review, Ventriglio et al highlighted the beneficial influence of MD adherence in the reduction of anxiety symptoms and the overall improvement of outcomes related to disorders of psychiatric nature [358]. Similar findings to the ones presented hereby were also reported by the SUN project, where adherence to the MD was associated with favorable levels for both the physical and the mental component of SF-36, in almost 10000 adult participants [359]. A different study by Yin et al also demonstrated a lower risk for presenting depression symptoms in adult women with high adherence to MD compared to the ones demonstrating lower adherence [360]. Similarly, the beneficial character of increased PA in overall physical and mental health status has been long demonstrated, irrespective of the presence of overweight or obesity. Using data for approximately 870.000 adults, Xu et al demonstrated the favorable effects of various types of PA on mental health characteristics for people with normal weight, as well as obesity [361]. In the case of the latter, Pojednic et al also highlighted that even slight increases in physical activity were related with better health outcomes, even in the absence of targeting or achieving weight loss [362]. Therefore, naturally, the combination of increased adherence to MD and not leading a sedentary lifestyle has been associated with enhanced physical and mental health status, with Di Lorenzo et al even showing positive results in the anthropometric indices of a cohort of patients with psychiatric disorders [363]. It is therefore interesting to argue that a balanced diet combined with increased physical activity can positively influence parameters of mental health in populations with increased weight, rather than MD or increased PA alone. This combination could be potentially even brought to the forefront of personalized recommendations for populations presenting overweight or obesity, as even the slightest increase in following the MD and exercising can massively impact mental health status, which could subsequently positively influence physical health by practically reducing cardiometabolic risk and by even positively shaping the individuals' relationship with food.

Intervention Outcomes

Regarding the outcomes of the proposed hypocaloric intervention, our findings showed that participants in the study presented a statistically significant weight loss at the end of the 3-month period, irrespective of the proposed dietary regimen (mean reduction of 2.68kg, p<0.0001 for all participants). As previously mentioned, research on the effect of different macronutrient content for weight loss has not yielded significant differences for proposed diets with increased carbohydrate versus increased protein content. In line with the results presented hereby, the aforementioned POUNDS lost trial reported similar outcomes for the 345 participants with available pre- and post-intervention data. The trial noted a similar drop-out rate as the one observed for the iMPROVE participants, with 42.55% of the participants completing the POUNDS lost trial (811 individuals with baseline data vs 345 individuals with data at baseline and end of the 6-month period) and 41.58% of the participants completing the iMPROVE trial (202 individuals with baseline data vs 84 individuals with data at baseline and end of the 3-month period). Compared to iMPROVE, POUNDS lost noted almost double weight loss in the double months of the intervention period, i.e. a mean weight loss of 6 kg at the end of the 6 months. In line with the iMPROVE trial results, the trial also noted no differences for weight loss within the four groups of the different proposed diets [168, 364] Similar findings were also presented by the DIETFITS trial, which yielded no statistically significant differences in the weight loss observed at the end of the 12-month intervention period between the healthy lowfat and the healthy low-carbohydrate groups [365].

Analogous results were also presented by Parr et al, who investigated the effect of adhering to a 4-month hypocaloric diet with three groups of different macronutrient content, i.e. a high protein, moderate carbohydrate content (30% fat, 30% protein and 40% carbohydrate); a high protein, high carbohydrate content (15% fat, 30% protein, 55% carbohydrate) or a control regimen (30% fat, 15% protein and 55% carbohydrate) The trial showed a mean 7.7kg weight loss in 89 adults with overweight or obesity after the 4-month intervention period, without differences in the changes observed within the examined diet groups [366]. Additionally, the older NUGENOB project also investigated the effect of a 10-week hypocaloric diet of either low fat content (i.e. 20- 25% fat, 15% protein, ~60 to 65% carbohydrate) or high-fat composition (i.e.~40 to 45% fat, 15% protein, ~40-45% carbohydrates) in the observed weight loss of 771 adults with obesity. The study showed a respective mean weight loss of 6.9kg and 6.7kg for each group, without noting statistically significant differences between the two [300,367]. Similar to the findings of the iMPROVE trial, NUGENOB also showed no statistically significant interactions between the suggested diet groups and the weight loss outcome [300].

In the same trial, Handjieva-Darlenska et al attempted to further evaluate the rate of the observed weight loss throughout the intervention period. The authors found that a weight loss of less than 4kg mid-way through the 10-week trial could possibly be predictive of a lower overall weight loss at the end of the intervention period [300]. The authors attributed this to the potential effect of motivation in such intervention schemes, where personal incentive appears to be a main contributor in driving successful outcomes for each individual. In the present study, we find that changes in the primary outcomes (i.e. weight and BMI change) remain statistically significant up to the end of month 2 (p<0.05). This finding could potentially strengthen the notion that dietary interventions of such nature could be most effective when conducted in short time periods where weight loss appears to peak and which are able to maximize the enhanced effect of the increased motivation usually observed in participants at the beginning of trials targeting weight loss. In this spectrum, a 2020 systematic review by Ge et al., showed not only that low-carbohydrate and low-fat diets yielded similar results for weight loss at the standard intervention period of 6 months, but also that the observed weight loss diminished at a period of 12 months irrespective of the dietary regimen followed [259]. On the contrary, use of behavioral treatments has shown that weight loss was in fact enhanced later-on during the intervention period, with Butryn et al showing that participants following such approaches showed higher weight loss closer to the end of the intervention period [368]. This could be potentially attributed to the fact that participants in such programs master the proposed measures later on within the trial. Ahern et al., attempted to compare different kinds of interventions for weight loss, demonstrating that participants in a behavioral arm (Weight Watchers) noted higher weight loss at one year compared to those following a brief dietary intervention [369]. Therefore, more research is needed to identify potential combinations of dietary and behavioral interventions for identifying the optimal window to maximize weight loss in intervention trials, capable of leading to substantial, beneficial changes in body weight and body composition while ensuring long-term loss maintenance.

In the same spectrum, adherence to the proposed diets varied between the individuals, with their self-reporting adherence scores varying throughout the intervention period. As participants were closely monitored and communicated biweekly with their allocated nutrition experts, they frequently reported difficulty in fully adhering to the proposed meals due to a hectic daily lifestyle, the need to organize meals or a false subjective view of increased quantities due to the increased meal frequency (i.e. 5 or 6 proposed meals per day). We therefore chose to account for their subjective adherence to the proposed diets as a means to more accurately capture the role of adherence to their observed changes in weight. Current literature has investigated the role of the adherence to dietary interventions in the observed results, with Lemstra M et al demonstrating an overall adherence percentage of 60.5% in a meta-analysis of 27 studies in the field [370]. In their 2017 paper for identifying beneficial strategies to improve adherence, Gibson et Sainsbury highlighted the need

for the proposed interventions to account for the increased will to eat observed during such attempts to lose weight, as well as tailor proposed suggestions to the individuals' needs while also promoting self-monitoring techniques [371].

Proceeding to the intervention results on body composition, WHR did not present statistically significant changes at the end of the 3-month period. The slight increases in the WHR measurements at the ends of months one and two can be potentially due to the marginal error attributed to the fact that the participants performed said measurements by themselves. However, participants displayed significant changes In fat-related indices post-intervention, including reductions in total body fat, fat-free mass and visceral fat (p<0.001 for all). Women noted the majority of the significant reductions at the end of the three months, whereas no differentiations were observed for the two diet groups. POUNDS lost reported similar findings, with participants showing reductions for fat and lean mass, as well as abdominal, subcutaneous and visceral fat (p<0.0001 compared to baseline). In line with iMPROVE, women appeared to lose more visceral fat than men and no differences were observed for the 4 diet groups [372]. Changes in body composition are mostly reported in the literature when combining a dietary intervention with recommendations for increased PA. Similarly, Rojo-Tirado et al demonstrated that body fat percentage was reduced across 3 groups of different PA types (strength, endurance, combination of strength and endurance and control group) in 239 adults who followed a 6-month hypocaloric diet and exercise-based intervention [373]. We could therefore argue that more evident changes in WHR or other anthropometric indices could be achieved if providing additional recommendations for PA.

Moving on to the observed changes in the lifestyle indices, AIS presented a statistically significant decrease post-intervention by 1.5 units (5 at baseline vs 3.5 at the end of 3 months, p=0.033), without differences observed between the two diet groups. As previously mentioned, the bidirectional relationship between sleep and weight has been well established in current literature [374]. The present sample did not show elevated levels of AIS at baseline, denoting that the majority of participants did not demonstrate sleep-related disruptions and the latter would, thus, probably not constitute an obstructive or confounding factor in their attempt to lose weight. The observed reduction in AIS aligns with the beneficial effect of weight loss in the amelioration of sleep qualities, with most studies having reported results for its impact on obstructive sleep apnea. In 2021, de Melo et al also demonstrated a beneficial effect of adherence to a one-month, hypocaloric, high-protein diet in AOS parameters of patients with obesity [374]. Concomitantly, Georgoulis et al showed that a behavioral intervention including a 6-month, hypocaloric MD diet for weight loss, was associated with enhanced inflammatory levels in patients with Obstructive sleep apnea [375].

Regarding the remaining changes, a statistically significant improvement for SF-MCS-12 was observed by the end of the first month of the intervention (46.4 at baseline vs 50.56 at the end of month 1, p=0.022), but disappeared by the end of the three-month period. It is likely, that the short-term increase in the mental component could be associated with the increased participant motivation observed in the

beginning of the intervention and the presence of significantly yielded results in weight loss by the end of the first month. In their 2024 systematic review, Lasikiewicz et al showed that weight loss resulting from dietary or behavioral interventions was associated with ameliorations in participants' psychological characteristics, including health-related quality of life [376]. Moreover, Alhalel et al also noted that weight loss following a lifestyle intervention was related with improvement in the mental health status of 92 adult women with overweight or obesity [377].

Associations between genetic makeup and baseline characteristics

In an effort to holistically assess the potential impact of the genetic factor, we chose to examine both the role of a 84-SNP unweighted and weight GRS, as well as separate candidate variants known for their relations with BMI and fat-related indices. The constructed GRSs did not present statistically significant interactions with the baseline anthropometric indices, potentially due to the limited size of the examined population. Regarding the examined variants, carriers of the T allele of the BDNFlocated rs6265 SNP demonstrated lower levels for all examined fat-related indices, namely total body fat in kg (β =0.035, p=0.032 after adjusting for age, sex, PAL and smoking), visceral fat (β =0.038, p=0.019 after adjusting for age, sex, PAL and smoking) and upper body fat in kg (β =0.036, p=0.041 after adjusting for age, sex, PAL and smoking). Presence of the C allele of the variant has been well-associated with increased anthropometric measurements in current literature, namely WHR (β =4.00, $p=2.00e^{-7}$), HC (p<0.05), weight (p<0.001) and BMI levels ($p=1.88e^{-12}$), in a variety of populations with different ancestries [378-381]. As previously mentioned, the polymorphism is associated with impaired intracellular signaling and reduced BDNF secretion. Therefore, the present finding of the protective T allele being associated with lower levels of fat indices agrees with the current literature, given the association between the C allele and reduced BDNF levels leading to increased food intake and body composition measurements.

Regarding the observed interactions between the candidate variants and the cohort's baseline dietary patterns, carriers of BMI-raising alleles demonstrated several nominal interactions for multiple anthropometric and lifestyle characteristics. Interactions between BMI-raising alleles and dietary patterns rich in sugar or fat content appeared to aggravate the already existing predisposing effect, while adherence to patterns with more balanced meal combinations revealed a protective effect of diet in the variants' impact on anthropometric indices. More specifically, interactions between the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern and several risk variants for elevated BMI (i.e. rs1421085-C, rs1121980-A, rs17817449-G, rs3751812-T, rs9939609-A) were nominally linked to lower levels of body weight and BMI at baseline. In a similar manner, rs3751812-T and rs9939609-A alleles were associated with lower levels when adhering to the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern, whereas the former was associated with higher levels when adhering to the High in unsaturated fats pattern. On the contrary, presence of the BMI-positively associated T allele of the rs3751812 variant who adhered to the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern showed increased levels of weight and BMI. In our case, although we did not observe significant associations for the "Med-proxy" pattern, positive associations in attenuating the genetic effect were shown for the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern, which, in turn, comprises of meal combinations, traditional of the Greek daily life and usually presenting high content of fiber. Furthermore, the aggravating effect shown for the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern could potentially emphasize the effect of rich fat and sugar sources, irrespective of fat type (i.e. unsaturated and not saturated, per se).

This is not the first time that diet appears to either modify or aggravate the predisposing effect of genetic makeup. in line with the results presented hereby, a 6-SNP GRS created by Hosseini-Esfahani et al created a 6-SNP GRS including the rs1421085, rs1121980, rs17817449, rs3751812, rs8050136 and rs9939973, to investigate associations between dietary fiber intake and obesity phenotypes. In line with the findings presented hereby for the first four SNPs used in this GRS and their interaction with the "Traditional" pattern, the latter was found to significantly interact with fiber intake in modifying BMI levels [282]. The same team also showed that adhering to the WD appeared to aggravate the genetic effect in obesity phenotypes of individuals with increased levels of the same GRS [282].

Previous attempts have also shown concomitant results when investigating such associations in cohorts of large populations with multiple thousands of participants. In a similar attempt to the present one, Ding et al investigated potential interactions between the GRS of the 97 SNPs for BMI identified by Locke et al [326] and three indices of diet quality, namely the AHEI, Alternative Mediterranean Diet score (AMED), and the DASH score in approximately 31000 individuals. The study showed a consistent attenuation of the genetic effect in the cases where the diet scores presented higher values [383]. A similar effect was shown by Wang et al in the case of almost 14000 health professionals, where a 20-year follow up showed attenuation of the effect of BMI-elevating variants in the individuals with higher AHEI scores [384]. To boot, examination of gene-diet interactions in a sample of 68317 European adults also yielded nominally significant associations between a favorable diet score and two BMI-related variants -rs10968576 and rs4771122- in the population's BMI [385]. A different study investigated the effect of the rs17782313 SNP on depression characteristics of women with overweight and obesity. The study showed a significant interaction between presence of the aggravating C allele and increased depression scores in women adhering to an unhealthy dietary pattern, when compared to the ones following a healthy pattern [386].

Lastly, a 2022 systematic review by Tan et al also demonstrated the favorable effect of adhering to diets with principles similar to the ones of MD or DASH on decreasing the risk for increased weight in individuals with BMI-raising alleles in the FTO, MC4R, PPARG or APOA5 genes [387].

Proceeding to the interactions observed for the lifestyle measurements, attrition to the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern was associated with increased CESD-R-10 score in carriers of the BMI-raising T allele of the rs925946 SNP. In 2012, Gyekis et al. examined the potential effect of several BMI-related polymorphisms on the incidence of major depression highlighting that the SNPs, alone, were not associated with the appearance of the disorder [388]. Literature has generally highlighted the importance of gene-diet interactions in the appearance or the modification of depression-related disorders and subsequent characteristics [389, 390]. Subsequently, the finding presented hereby could potentially highlight the

connective link in the modifying effect of an unbalanced diet in the final increase of depression-related symptoms.

Another interesting finding presented hereby concerns the gene-diet interactions observed for the physical component of the SF-12 questionnaire. More specifically, adherence to the "Mixed" pattern in carriers of the BMI-raising rs1421085-C, rs1121980-A, rs17817449-G, rs9939609-A, rs17782313-C, rs6548238-C alleles was associated with lower levels of SF-PCS-12; this strengthens the notion that the combination of obesity-predisposing genotypes and adherence to a WD-alike diet can aggravate quality of life, even when comparing to genetic makeup or diet separately. Interestingly, we also found that the rs1421085-C, rs1121980-A, rs17817449-G, rs9939609-A variants were associated with lower levels of SF-PCS-12 even when the individuals adhered to the "Med-proxy" pattern. Always taking into account the limited percentage of variance explained by the patterns, this finding could potentially reveal a greater impact of unhealthy dietary habits on aggravating the predisposition for lower quality of life, compared to the potential attenuating effect that a healthy diet could potentially present.

Associations between genetic makeup and intervention outcomes

When looking into the effect of genetic makeup on the observed changes in the cohort's characteristics post-intervention, we detected no statistically significant associations with the GRSs or the examined candidate variants, again, potentially due to the limited size of our population. However, although statistically insignificant, individuals with higher GRSs steadily presented lower rates of weight and BMI change when compared to the ones with lower genetic risk. Accordingly, changes in the examined indices did not statistically significantly differentiate between the two diet groups.

Using the observed data, within-genotype group tests revealed a statistically significant difference between the three groups of genotypes for the FTO rs1421085 and the MC4R rs17782313 variants and change in body weight (p-0.036 and p-0.043, respectively). As mentioned previously, the relationship between both variants and increased weight is well-documented in the literature, hence our choosing to investigate their potential impact on weight loss. Franzago et al previously investigated the impact of 5 target SNPs, among them the in-LD-with-rs1421085 FTO rs9939609 SNP and the MC4R rs17782313 variant, in the observed weight loss of patients with obesity following a nutritional intervention. Their study showed that carriers of the rs9939069-A allele presented lower BMI decrease from baseline up to the end of the 12-month of intervention [391].

Generally, to date, other attempts of dietary interventions targeting weight loss have yielded analogous results to the ones of the iMPROVE cohort, with most studies investigating and reporting the effect of candidate polymorphisms or GRSs of tens of selected variants in outcomes of interest. In its sample of 609 adults with overweight, the DIETFITS trial also showed no statistically significant associations between genediet interactions and weight loss at the end of the 12-month intervention period [365]. While investigating the potential effect of 42 candidate SNPs in 648 participants, the previously mentioned NUGENOB project also noted only nominally significant associations for lower weight loss in participants with the effect alleles who followed the low-fat diet [392]. Concomitantly, the trans-NIH consortium for genetics of weight loss in response to lifestyle interventions showed that a higher 59-SNP GRS for WHR was only limitedly associated with lower WC or WHR reduction in Caucasian individuals, after 1 year in the Look AHEAD, DPP, DPS, DIETFITS and PREDIMED-Plus interventions [393].

Interestingly, BMI-raising alleles also presented associations with the components of the SF-12 questionnaire, denoting the additional presence of corresponding relations in our sample. The FTO rs17817449 and rs9939609 variants were associated with reduced changes in SF-PCS-12 post-intervention, potentially signifying that although the variants were not associated with the baseline levels of the component, they could still negatively affect the potentially positive change caused by the weight loss that accompanied the dietary intervention. On the contrary, in addition to those two polymorphisms, the FTO rs1421085, rs1121980 and the MC4R rs17782313 SNPs presented positive nominal associations for increased changes in the mental component of the questionnaire. This could potentially denote that although the intervention results might not have been clearly evident on improving the physical component, individuals with increased predisposition to obesity were mentally benefited by the observed changes post-intervention.

Regarding the examined interactions with the proposed dietary group, in the present study we found no statistically significant associations between the GRSs or the BMI-variants and the changes post-intervention. Interestingly, current literature focuses on the interaction of the rs17782313 MC4R variant (or other variants in LD with the rs17782313) and macronutrient intake on various dietary or cardiometabolic indices. In the POUNDS Lost study, an important relation was demonstrated between the MC4R rs17782313 SNP and dietary protein intake in the protein diet groups, regarding the increase in appetite and cravings, when using data from 735 participants at the end of the 2-year period [394]. In like manner, Adamska-Patruno et al examined the effect of four MC4R variants, including the rs17782313 one, in the cardiometabolic parameters of 819 individuals with obesity. The study showed that carriers of the C allele presented increased visceral fat, glucose and triglyceride levels when noting higher levels of protein intake [395]. A different study in 282 Iranian women showed a statistically significant association between carbohydrate intake and the presence of the C allele in the variant with higher BMI, WC and BMR [396]. An additional finding deriving from the POUNDS lost trial concerned the in-LD-with-rs1421085 FTO rs1558902 variant. The study showed that carriers of the BMI-raising allele presented higher reductions in weight and fat-related indices when adhering to the high-protein vs the low-protein diet [397]. We could, therefore, argue that, in our case, associations were not presented between the variants and macronutrient intake potentially due to the limited sample size.

Interestingly, the protective T allele of the rs6265 variant presented nominally significant interactions with diet group, denoting that T carriers in the high-protein group presented enhanced post-intervention changes observed for total and upper

body fat in kg, as well as visceral fat (β =3.387, p=0.007, β =2.564, p=0.001 and β =1.011, p=0.032, respectively adjusting for age, sex, PAL and smoking). As previously discussed, the role of the variant is central in BDNF production, with Deng et al having reported its ability to regulate BDNF protein phosphorylation and even bone mineral density [398]. This is not the first time that the variant is found to be interacting with macronutrient intake on modifying cardiometabolic determinants. Miksza et al found that adult carriers of the C allele presented higher levels of BMI, WC and glucose when noting a daily dietary protein intake great than 18% [399]. Furthermore, in a sample of 634 diabetic patients, Naeini et al showed that carriers who presented increased DQI or PI scores demonstrated higher rates in the reduction of total cholesterol or IL-18 [400]. Moreover, in a sample of 8840 Korean adults with and without T2D, Daily et Park also found consistent interaction between the variant and protein intake in modifying the risk for presenting T2D in older adults [401]. In terms of other gene-diet interactions for changes in body composition, it is worth mentioning that the POUNDS lost trial reported a similar interaction between carbohydrate consumption but the FGF21 rs8381147 variants in modifying total fat change in 715 participants at the end of the 2-year period. Carriers of the carbohydrate intake-decreasing allele showed lower changes in WC and total fat mass when adhering to the low carbohydrate diet [402]. Hence, our present findings lays interesting ground for further inquiring the interaction between: i) the MC4R variant and protein intake; and ii) future attempts for more variants in more anthropometric and cardiometabolic risk factors.

Interestingly, apart from the present findings displayed for the FTO variants, the rs17782313 and rs6265 SNPs demonstrating significant associations in the iMPROVE study have also been further specifically examined for their associations with increased anthropometrics. Farooq et al chose the two variants as most representative to investigate metabolomic pathways implicated in increased BMI levels. Interestingly, the study found several associations for both polymorphisms and a multitude of metabolites with emphasis on alterations in fat metabolism [403]. This research further solidifies the findings presented hereby, demonstrating a dominating effect of the two variants in the changes of the anthropometric indices examined post-intervention.

Overall, major advantages of the present study are: i) the conduct of the first-ever dietary intervention examining the role of macronutrient composition and potential gene-diet interaction on weight loss in Greek adults; and ii) the use of the online assessment tool, as a means enabling long-distance communication and monitoring, during the time of social distancing due to the novel coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic. On the other hand, limitations of the present study included: i) the limited sample size included due to the substantial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on volunteer recruitment rates caused by social-distancing protocols implemented in recruitment sites and the limited expression of interest for participation in the study; ii) the long-distance maintenance of an increased adherence rate to the proposed diets, due to the extended time period between the in-person follow-up meetings; and iii) the proper use of the online assessment tool by older adults who had both limited access and knowledge on the use of state-of-the-art technological devices and

online tools. The present constitutes the first attempt of its kind in a Greek population of adults, yielding significant insights on the associations between genetic predisposition and anthropometric and lifestyle indices in this populations. The heterogeneity of the results should, thus, be viewed as a strength allowing to lay the ground for future work, in line with the procedures and findings of larger, similar initiatives such as the POUNDS lost, the DIETFITS and the DiOGenes trials.

3.2. The 2018 Gutenberg Chair Project: TEENAGE and STANISLAS Cohorts

The following constitute information published under the publications Nutrients 2021, 13, 198 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13010198</u> and Nutrients 2023, 15, 1884. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15081884</u> and can be found in Appendix D.

3.2.1. Baseline Characteristics and Dietary Patterns of the Studies' Populations

We used baseline anthropometric, biochemical and dietary data for all analyses on both adolescent cohorts. For the TEENAGE Study, we analyzed data from a total sample of 766 adolescents (45.56% boys, 54.43% girls), with a median age of 13.30 years (Table 47). The sample presented various statistically significant sex-related differences, with the boys presenting higher levels of weight (p=0.001), WHR (p<0.001), SBP (p=0.001), glucose and CRP (p-values<0.001), compared to girls. On the contrary, girls showed increased levels of the HOMA-IR, insulin and HDL-C indices. Moreover, the Greek teenagers reported a median energy intake of 1741.00 kcal/d (IQR = 760), significantly different between the two genders, with boys reporting a higher intake than girls (p<0.001).

	TEENAGE Study						
		All		Boys		Girls	
	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	p *
Age (years)	766	13.30(1.31)	349	13.36 (1.38)	417	13.26 (1.25)	<0.001
Weight (kg)	766	55.00 (14.00)	349	56.00 (16.00)	417	54.00 (13.00)	0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	766	20.88 (4.38)	349	20.85 (4.45)	417	20.93 (4.37)	0.517
WHR	763	0.76 (0)	349	0.79 (0)	414	0.73 (0)	<0001
SBP (mmHg)	743	119.00 (16)	335	120.67 (11.93)**	408	118.00 (15)	0.001
DBP (mmHg)	743	70.00 (12)	335	71.00 (12)	408	70.00 (12)	0.825
Energy Intake (kcal/day)	766	1741.00 (760)	349	1939.00 (779)	417	1574.00 (609)	<0.001
Glucose (mg/dL),	611	80.00 (12)	283	81.00 (11)	328	79.00 (12)	<0.001
HOMA-IR	539	2.28 (2)	255	2.12 (2)	284	2.37 (2)	<0.001
Insulin (mg/dL)	539	11.00 (7)	255	10.00 (7)	284	12.00 (8)	<0.001
TC (mg/dL)	611	157.00 (33)	283	156.49 (25.18) **	328	157.50 (31)	0.210
HDL- C (mg/dL)	611	89.20 (27)	283	53.00 (16)	328	56.00 (17)	0.001
LDL- C (mg/dL)	611	54.00 (16)	283	90.57 (21.78) **	328	88.40 (26)	0.651
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	611	56.00 (24)	283	55.00 (25)	328	57.00 (24)	0.090
CRP (mg/dL)	540	0.30 (1)	254	0.45 (1)	286	0.20 (0)	<0.001

Table 50.	Baseline characteristics of the	adolescent cohort of the TE	ENAGE Study
(n=766).			

* All hypothesis testing took place via use of the Mann–Whitney test. ** Variable follows the normal distribution and is presented as mean± SD.

p= p-value, BMI: Body Mass Index, WHR: Waist-to-hip Ratio, SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure, DBP:
 Diastolic Blood Pressure, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance, LDL-C:
 Low-density cholesterol, HDL-C: High-density cholesterol, CRP: C-reactive protein

Regarding the STANISLAS cohort, we analyzed a sample of 287 teenagers with available dietary assessment data. Our sample composed of 47.73% boys and 52.26% girls, with a median age of 13.08 years (Table 48). Overall, as in the case of the TEENAGE adolescents, boyo\s presented higher values of WHR, SBP (p< 0.001) and glucose (p=0.018), compared to girls. However, in this sample, girls showed higher levels of TC and LDL-C (p=0.002, p=0.030, respectively) than the boys. The French teenagers reported a median energy intake of 2056.03 kcal/d (IQR = 662.24), without presenting significant differences between sexes.

	STANISLAS Family Study						
		All		Boys		Girls	
	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	p *
Age (years)	287	13.08 (2.92)	137	13.08 (2.92)	150	13.08 (2.85)	0.416
Weight (kg)	263	46.59 (18.10)	129	47.20 (21.90)	134	46.05 (14.84)	0.136
BMI (kg/m²)	263	18.44 (3.61)	129	18.30 (3.20)	134	18.52 (4.18)	0.853
WHR	221	0.77 (0.04) **	110	0.81 (0.03) **	111	0.75 (0.06)	<0.001
SBP (mmHg)	263	112.00 (14.50)	129	115.60 (11.53) **	134	110.46 (8.76) **	<0.001
DBP (mmHg)	263	57.00 (15.50)	129	56.69 (16.00) **	134	57.02 (10.23) **	0.829
Energy Intake (kcal/d)	287	2056.03 (662.24)	137	2070.99 (495.20)**	150	2094.92 (681.16)	0.469
Glucose (mg/dL)	263	88.28 (6.12) **	129	89.18 (6.48) **	134	87.38 (5.76) **	0.018 ***
TC (mg/dL)	263	179.15 (40.93)	129	173.36 (30.89) **	134	183.01 (36.29)	0.002
HDL-C (mg/dL)	263	54.05 (20.08)	129	54.44 (15.44) **	134	56.37 (16.99)	0.222
LDL-C (mg/dL)	263	116.99 (33.98)	129	113.13 (28.19) **	134	120.85 (32.05)	0.030
TG(mg/dL)	263	51.33 (33.63)	129	52.21 (38.05)	134	46.56 (30.09)	0.930
CRP (mg/L)	243	0.30 (0.53)	118	0.32 (0.54)	125	0.26 (0.55)	0.765

able 48. Baseline characteristics of th	adolescent cohort	of the STANISLAS Study
---	-------------------	------------------------

* Hypothesis testing took place via use of the Mann–Whitney test wherever at least one variable did not follow the normal distribution.

** Variable follows the normal distribution and is presented as mean ± SD.

*** Hypothesis testing took place via the Student's Independent Samples t-test

p= p-value, BMI: Body Mass Index, WHR: Waist-to-hip Ratio, SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure, DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure, HDL-C: High-density cholesterol, LDL-C: Low-density cholesterol, CRP: C-reactive protein

Baseline Dietary Patterns for the Two Cohorts

For the TEENAGE study, PCA was conducted on 15 food groups deriving from the 24-hour dietary recalls. KMO test was calculated at 0.545 for the TEENAGE teenagers, indicating mediocre to sufficient data adequacy. PCA for the TEENAGE cohort resulted in the identification of 5 dietary patterns, accounting for 49.35% of the sample's total variance. All food group factor loadings are presented in Table 49. Based on the inclusion of corresponding food groups, the five dietary patterns identified were categorized as follows:

- i. a "western breakfast" dietary pattern, consisting of cheese, dairy and processed meat (explaining 15.61% of the total variance);
- ii. a "legumes and good fat" pattern, with high consumption of legumes, olives, olive oil and nuts(explaining 10.32% of the total variance);
- a "homemade meal" pattern, with high consumption of red meat and potatoes and associated with lower fish consumption explaining (8.33% of the total variance);
- a "chicken and sugars" pattern, with high consumption of chicken and sweets and associated with lower the consumption of fruits and juices (explaining 7.60% of the total variance explained); and
- v. an "eggs and fibers" pattern, with high consumption of non-refined cereals, vegetables and eggs and associated with lower consumption of refined cereals (explaining 7.47% of the total variance).

			Component					
Food Groups*	1	2	3	4	5			
Cheese	0.897	-	-	-	-			
Dairy	0.863	-	-	-	-			
Processed Meat	0.635	-	-	-	-			
Legumes	-	0.739	-	-	-			
Olives, Olive Oil,	-	0.668	-	-	-			
Nuts								
Red Meat	-	-	0.712	-0.429	-			
Potatoes	-	-	0.661	-	-			
Fish	-	-0.358	-0.480	-	-			
Chicken	-	-	-	0.649	-			
Sweets	-	-	-	0.518	-			
Fruit and Juices	-	-	-	-0.368	-			
Non-refined cereals	-	-	-	-	0.674			
Vegetables	-	-	-	-	0.342			
Eggs	-	-	-	-	0.303			
Refined Cereals	0.512	-	-	-	-0.595			
Total Variance Explained (%)	15.61	10.32	8.33	7.60	7.47			
*Only loadings with an absolute values> 0.3 are presented in the table								

Table 49. Principal Components Analysis' factor loadings for the 15 food groups in the TEENAGE study (n = 766).

Following the extraction of the dietary patterns, we proceeded to conducting multiple linear regressions adjusting for all aforementioned models of confounding
factors. As shown in Table 50, the "chicken and sugars" pattern was statistically significantly associated with lower values of logCRP in all models (Model 1: $\beta = -0.051$, p-value = 0.006, Model 2: $\beta = -0.057$, p-value = 0.004, Model 3: $\beta = -0.050$, p-value = 0.008, Model 4: $\beta = -0.051$, p-value = 0.008). The same pattern was nominally associated with elevated logGlucose (Model 1 $\beta = 0.015$, p-value = 0.017), but lower logInsulin after adjusting for Model 1 ($\beta = -0.020$, p-value = 0.030), Model 3 ($\beta = 0.018$, p-value = 0.049) and Model 4 ($\beta = 0.018$, p-value = 0.041). Further nominal associations were further observed for: i) the "legumes and good fat" pattern and lower values of logBMI (Model 1: $\beta = -0.006$, p-value = 0.017) and logInsulin ($\beta = -0.020$, p-value = 0.030); and ii) the "homemade meal" pattern and lower values of logBMI (Model 1: $\beta = -0.005$, p-value = 0.042).

Table 50. Linear Regression Analyses on the association between the dietary patterns, anthropometric indices and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control in the TEENAGE study.

	M	lodel 1		N	/lodel 2		Mo	del 3			Model 4	L .
	β	SE	р	β	SE	р	β	SE	р	β	SE	р
LogBMI												
Western Breakfast	-0.004	0.003	0.150	-0.003	0.003	0.308	-	-	-	-	-	-
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.006	0.003	0.017	-0.004	0.003	0.194	-	-	-	-	-	-
Homemade Meal	-0.005	0.003	0.042	-0.003	0.003	0.242	-	-	-	-	-	-
Chicken and Sugars	-0.005	0.003	0.069	-0.004	0.003	0.128	-	-	-	-	-	-
Eggs and Fibers	0.004	0.003	0.111	0.004	0.003	0.115	-	-	-	-	-	-
LogWHR												
Western Breakfast	0.013	0.012	0.270	0.016	0.13	0.247	0.017	0.013	0.198	0.017	0.014	0.250
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.006	0.011	0.622	-0.008	0.013	0.527	-0.007	0.013	0.608	-0.007	0.013	0.597
Homemade Meal	-0.009	0.011	0.445	-0.008	0.013	0.517	-0.007	0.013	0.599	-0.008	0.013	0.562
Chicken and Sugars	-0.003	0.011	0.760	-0.005	0.013	0.696	-0.003	0.013	0.828	-0.003	0.013	0.800
Eggs and Fibers	-0.011	0.011	0.320	-0.001	0.013	0.339	-0.015	0.013	0.268	-0.015	0.013	0.267
LogSBP												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.002	0.085	-0.002	0.002	0.174	-0.002	0.002	0.295	-0.001	0.002	0.646
Legumes and Good Fat	0.000	0.002	0.838	0.001	0.002	0.729	0.001	0.002	0.499	0.001	0.002	0.472
Homemade Meal	0.000	0.002	0.937	0.000	0.002	0.819	0.001	0.002	0.579	0.001	0.002	0.481
Chicken and Sugars	0.002	0.002	0.169	0.002	0.002	0.246	0.003	0.002	0.090	0.003	0.002	0.071
Eggs and Fibers	2.294× 10 ⁻⁵	0.002	0.988	-0.001	0.002	0.680	-0.001	0.002	0.409	-0.001	0.002	0.411
LogDBP												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.002	0.224	-0.003	0.002	0.256	-0.002	0.002	0.361	0.000	0.003	0.894
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.002	0.002	0.482	-0.001	0.002	0.786	0.000	0.002	0.948	-3.047	0.002	0.990
										× 10 ⁻⁵		
Homemade Meal	0.001	0.002	0.551	0.003	0.002	0.155	0.004	0.002	0.097	0.004	0.002	0.063
Chicken and Sugars	0.001	0.002	0.609	0.001	0.002	0.528	0.002	0.002	0.333	0.003	0.002	0.271
Eggs and Fibers	0.001	0.002	0.802	0.000	0.002	0.878	0.000	0.002	0.914	0.000	0.002	0.919
LogGlucose												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.007	0.655	-0.003	0.007	0.632	-0.003	0.007	0.631	-0.004	0.008	0.615
Legumes and Good Fat	0.010	0.006	0.120	0.011	0.007	0.111	0.011	0.007	0.110	0.011	0.007	0.111
Homemade Meal	-0.002	0.006	0.740	-0.004	0.007	0.531	-0.004	0.007	0.531	-0.004	0.007	0.532
Chicken and Sugars	0.015	0.006	0.017	0.013	0.007	0.051	0.013	0.007	0.051	0.013	0.007	0.051

Eggs and Fibers	0.003	0.006	0.588	0.003	0.007	0.659	0.003	0.007	0.659	0.003	0.007	0.660
LogInsulin												
Western Breakfast	-0.015	0.010	0.119	-0.015	0.010	0.139	-0.009	0.010	0.356	-0.007	0.010	0.521
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.020	0.009	0.030	-0.019	0.010	0.066	-0.017	0.009	0.066	-0.017	0.009	0.064
Homemade Meal	0.011	0.010	0.247	0.011	0.010	0.250	0.013	0.009	0.167	0.014	0.009	0.142
Chicken and Sugars	0.012	0.009	0.191	0.013	0.010	0.173	0.018	0.009	0.049	0.018	0.009	0.041
Eggs and Fibers	-0.015	0.009	0.113	-0.011	0.010	0.281	-0.014	0.010	0.133	-0.014	0.010	0.132
LogHOMA-IR												
Western Breakfast	-0.016	0.011	0.158	-0.016	0.012	0.180	-0.035	0.011	0.422	-0.004	0.012	0.728
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.020	0.010	0.054	-0.020	0.011	0.074	-0.019	0.011	0.075	-0.019	0.011	0.072
Homemade Meal	0.014	0.011	0.205	0.013	0.011	0.231	0.015	0.010	0.157	0.016	0.010	0.124
Chicken and Sugars	0.010	0.010	0.349	0.010	0.011	0.345	0.015	0.010	0.139	0.016	0.010	0.114
Eggs and Fibers	-0.018	0.010	0.089	-0.017	0.012	0.157	-0.020	0.011	0.067	-0.020	0.011	0.066
LogTotalCholesterol												
Western Breakfast	-0.005	0.003	0.066	-0.006	0.003	0.060	-0.006	0.003	0.054	-0.003	0.003	0.422
Legumes and Good Fat	0.001	0.003	0.721	0.001	0.003	0.863	0.000	0.003	0.883	0.000	0.003	0.908
Homemade Meal	0.002	0.003	0.402	0.002	0.003	0.538	0.002	0.003	0.549	0.003	0.003	0.353
Chicken and Sugars	0.000	0.003	0.917	2.502×10^{-5}	0.003	0.993	-5.600×10^{-5}	0.003	0.985	0.000	0.003	0.868
Eggs and Fibers	0.003	0.003	0.269	0.002	0.003	0.521	0.002	0.003	0.511	0.002	0.003	0.511
LogHDL- C												
Western Breakfast	-0.002	0.004	0.553	-0.002	0.004	0.692	-0.004	0.004	0.313	-0.002	0.005	0.643
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.004	0.160	0.005	0.004	0.210	0.004	0.004	0.343	0.004	0.004	0.351
Homemade Meal	0.001	0.004	0.832	0.001	0.004	0.900	0.000	0.004	0.919	0.000	0.004	0.958
Chickon and Sugars	0.000	0.004	0.022	0.007	0.004	0.090	0.006	0.004	0 1 5 2	0.006	0.004	0 1 2 9
Ergs and Fibors	0.009	0.004	0.022	0.007	0.004	0.080	0.000	0.004	0.155	0.000	0.004	0.120
	-0.001	0.004	0.005	-0.002	0.004	0.000	-0.001	0.004	0.701	-0.001	0.004	0.759
Mostern Brookfast	0.009	0.005	0.000	0.000	0.005	0.052	0.000	0.005	0.072	0.004	0.005	0.460
Western Breakfast	-0.008	0.005	0.099	-0.009	0.005	0.053	-0.009	0.005	0.073	-0.004	0.005	0.460
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.001	0.004	0.761	-0.003	0.005	0.547	-0.002	0.005	0.010	-0.003	0.005	0.580
Homemade Mean	0.003	0.004	0.500	0.001	0.005	0.800	0.001	0.005	0.753	0.003	0.005	0.537
Chicken and Sugars	-0.005	0.004	0.246	-0.005	0.005	0.278	-0.004	0.005	0.324	-0.004	0.004	0.411
Eggs and Fibers	0.005	0.004	0.233	0.004	0.005	0.389	0.004	0.005	0.423	0.004	0.005	0.423
	0.000	0.000	0 (22	0.000	0.007	0 7 4 7	0.001	0.000	0.024	0.004	0.007	0 5 7 2
western Breakfast	-0.003	0.006	0.032	0.002	0.007	0.747	0.001	0.006	0.831	0.004	0.007	0.573
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.006	0.307	0.008	0.006	0.208	0.010	0.006	0.101	0.010	0.006	0.103
Homemade Meal	-0.005	0.006	0.441	-0.004	0.006	0.550	-0.002	0.006	0.686	-0.002	0.006	0.745

Chicken and Sugars	-0.006	0.006	0.329	-0.004	0.006	0.491	-0.002	0.006	0.728	-0.002	0.006	0.764
Eggs and Fibers	-0.002	0.006	0.776	-0.005	0.007	0.418	-0.007	0.006	0.288	-0.007	0.006	0.287
LogCRP												
Western Breakfast	0.002	0.020	0.939	0.006	0.021	0.775	0.018	0.020	0.383	0.021	0.022	0.349
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.019	0.759	0.019	0.021	0.369	0.022	0.020	0.275	0.022	0.020	0.276
Homemade Meal	0.015	0.020	0.444	0.005	0.021	0.795	0.007	0.019	0.714	0.007	0.020	0.714
Chicken and Sugars	-0.051	0.019	0.006	-0.057	0.020	0.004	-0.050	0.019	0.008	-0.051	0.019	0.008
Eggs and Fibers	0.016	0.019	0.418	0.029	0.021	0.175	0.023	0.020	0.266	0.023	0.020	0.266

Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex; Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity; Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI; Model 4: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI, energy intake.

p= p-value

Concerning the analyses of STANISLAS cohort, PCA was conducted based on 15 food groups deriving from the available dietary data of the 3-day food consumption diary. KMO test was set at 0.576, again indicating mediocre to sufficient data quality. Five dietary patterns were subsequently extracted, accounting for 46.69% of the sample's total variance (Table 51), namely:

- i. a "western breakfast" dietary pattern, with high consumption of cheese, breads and flours, processed meat and vegetables (explaining 10.58% of the total variance);
- ii. a "prudent snacking" pattern, with high consumption of eggs and vegetable fats and lower consumption of salty snacks (explaining 10.44% of the total variance);
- iii. a "high protein and animal fat" pattern, with high consumption of red meat, animal fat and milk and yogurt (explaining 9.26% of the total variance);
- iv. a "fish and seafood" pattern, with high consumption of fish and seafood and lower consumption of poultry (explaining 8.19% of the total variance); and
- v. a "sugary snacks" pattern, with high consumption of soft drinks, sugars, sweets and cereal bars (explaining 8.19% of the total variance).

			Component		
Food Groups	1	2	3	4	5
Cheese	0.664	-	-	-	-
Breads and Flours	0.605	-	-	-	-
Processed Meat	0.523	-	-	-	-
Vegetables	0.483	-	-	-	-
Eggs	-	0.630	-	-	-
Salty Snacks	-	-0.580	-	-	-
Vegetable Fat	-	0.576	-	-	-
Red Meat	-	-	0.703	-	-
Animal Fat	-	-	0.610	-	-
Milk and Yogurt	-	-	0.473	-0.338	-
Fish	-	-	-	0.666	-
Seafood	-	-	-	0.628	-
Poultry	-	-	-	-0.380	-
Soft Drinks	-	-	-	-	0.777
Sugars, Sweets and	-	-	-	-	0.746
Cereal Bars					
Total Variance	10.58	10.44	9.26	8.19	8.19
Explained (%)					
*0	مرام مرم والأثنين معرماتهم	يجمعننا متنام	0.2	ما با مع ما م	

Table 51. Principal Components Analysis' factor loadings for the 15 food groups in the STANISLAS Family study (n = 287).

Only loadings with an absolute values >0.3 are presented in the table.

In the case of STANISLAS teenagers, extraction of the dietary patterns was followed by conduct of linear mixed models adjusted for all the models of aforementioned confounding factors. Statistically significant associations were observed for the "high protein and animal fat" pattern and higher values of logBMI (Model 1: est = 0.011, p-value = 0.002, Model 2: est = 0.009, p-value = 0.020), as well as higher values of logTriglycerides (Model 1: est = 0.054, p-value < 0.001; Model 2: est = 0.049, p-value = 0.001; Model 3: est = 0.045, p-value = 0.002, Model 4: est = 0.041, p-value = 0.009). Nominal associations included: i) the "western breakfast" pattern and lower logCRP (Model 4: est = -0.076, p-value = 0.024); ii) the "high protein and

animal fat" pattern and lower values of logDBP (Model 3: est = -0.010, p-value = 0.045, Model 4: est = -0.012, p-value=0.028, respectively); iii) the "fish and seafood" pattern and lower logDBP values (Model 1: est = 0.009, p-value = 0.039), in Model 1; and iv) the "sugary snacks" pattern and lower values of logHDL-C (Model 3: est = -0.014, pvalue = 0.049) (Table 52). **Table 52.** Linear Mixed Model Analyses on the association between the dietary patterns and measured indices in the STANISLAS Family study.

	Model 1			Model 2			M	odel 3		N	1odel 4	
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р
LogBMI												
Western Breakfast	0.000	0.003	0.878	0.000	0.005	0.459	-	-	-	-	-	-
Prudent Snacking	0.000	0.003	0.950	0.001	0.003	0.738	-	-	-	-	-	-
High Protein and Animal Fat	0.011	0.003	0.002	0.009	0.003	0.018	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fish and Seafood	-0.002	0.003	0.430	-0.001	0.003	0.700	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.003	0.701	-0.002	0.003	0.437	-	-	-	-	-	-
LogWHR												
Western Breakfast	-0.000	0.001	0.800	-0.000	0.001	0.539	-0.000	0.001	0.540	-0.000	0.001	0.840
Prudent Snacking	3.965729×10^{-5}	0.001	0.976	0.000	0.001	0.809	0.000	0.001	0.797	0.000	0.001	0.722
High protein and animal Fat	0.000	0.001	0.723	0.000	0.001	0.616	0.000	0.001	0.757	0.001	0.001	0.486
Fish and Seafood	0.001	0.001	0.134	0.002	0.001	0.146	0.002	0.001	0.126	0.002	0.001	0.130
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.001	0.392	-0.001	0.001	0.363	-0.001	0.001	0.409	-0.000	0.001	0.691
LogSBP												
Western Breakfast	-2.28874×10^{-5}	0.002	0.991	0.000	0.002	0.892	0.000	0.002	0.837	-0.000	0.002	0.792
Prudent Snacking	0.003	0.002	0.114	0.003	0.002	0.181	0.002	0.002	0.189	0.002	0.002	0.215
High protein and Animal Fat	0.000	0.002	0.733	0.000	0.002	0.822	-0.000	0.002	0.802	-0.001	0.002	0.504
Fish and Seafood	-0.000	0.002	0.751	-0.000	0.002	0.766	-0.000	0.002	0.801	-0.000	0.002	0.794
Sugary Snacks	0.000	0.002	0.640	0.000	0.002	0.787	0.000	0.002	0.673	-0.000	0.002	0.894
LogDBP												
Western Breakfast	-0.000	0.004	0.948	0.003	0.004	0.510	0.003	0.004	0.483	0.003	0.005	0.464
Prudent Snacking	0.002	0.004	0.593	0.001	0.004	0.833	0.000	0.004	0.841	0.000	0.004	0.845
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.008	0.004	0.089	-0.008	0.005	0.099	-0.010	0.005	0.045	-0.012	0.005	0.028
Fish and Seafood	0.009	0.004	0.039	0.008	0.004	0.077	0.008	0.004	0.069	0.008	0.004	0.070
Sugary Snacks	-0.000	0.004	0.936	-0.002	0.005	0.651	-0.001	0.005	0.718	-0.002	0.006	0.632
LogGlucose ¹												
Western Breakfast	0.000	0.001	0.604	0.001	0.002	0.448	0.001	0.002	0.462	0.000	0.002	0.868
Prudent Snacking	-0.000	0.001	0.917	-0.000	0.002	0.793	-0.000	0.002	0.805	-0.000	0.002	0.727
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.001	0.002	0.428	-0.001	0.002	0.632	-0.000	0.002	0.708	-0.002	0.002	0.365
Fish and Seafood	-0.002	0.001	0.202	-0.001	0.001	0.331	-0.001	0.001	0.323	-0.001	0.001	0.323
Sugary Snacks	0.001	0.001	0.568	0.000	0.002	0.906	0.000	0.002	0.928	-0.001	0.002	0.502
LogTotalCholesterol ¹												

Western Breakfast	-0.001	0.004	0.728	-0.002	0.004	0.644	-0.002	0.004	0.66	-0.002	0.005	0.703
Prudent Snacking	0.002	0.004	0.599	0.004	0.004	0.347	0.004	0.004	0.369	0.004	0.004	0.358
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.003	0.005	0.490	-0.006	0.005	0.236	-0.007	0.005	0.157	-0.008	0.005	0.151
Fish and Seafood	0.005	0.004	0.224	0.006	0.004	0.173	0.006	0.004	0.171	0.006	0.004	0.172
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.004	0.712	6.926 × 10 ⁻⁷	0.005	1.000	0.000	0.005	0.940	0.001	0.006	0.833
LogHDL- C ¹												
Western Breakfast	0.006	0.006	0.303	0.005	0.007	0.426	0.005	0.007	0.443	0.011	0.007	0.139
Prudent Snacking	-0.005	0.006	0.419	-0.004	0.007	0.547	-0.003	0.007	0.584	-0.003	0.007	0.657
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.003	0.007	0.621	-0.002	0.008	0.762	0.000	0.008	0.983	0.004	0.008	0.622
Fish and Seafood	0.004	0.006	0.462	0.002	0.006	0.710	0.002	0.006	0.728	0.002	0.006	0.746
Sugary Snacks	-0.007	0.006	0.237	-0.014	0.007	0.065	-0.014	0.007	0.049	-0.013	0.008	0.114
LogLDL- C ¹												
Western Breakfast	-0.006	0.006	0.333	-0.007	0.006	0.275	-0.007	0.006	0.292	-0.060	0.053	0.254
Prudent Snacking	0.004	0.006	0.493	0.007	0.006	0.293	0.006	0.006	0.332	0.041	0.047	0.391
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.005	0.007	0.472	-0.010	0.007	0.168	-0.013	0.007	0.073	-0.112	0.057	0.050
Fish and Seafood	0.004	0.006	0.475	0.007	0.006	0.292	0.006	0.006	0.288	0.035	0.045	0.435
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.006	0.810	0.005	0.007	0.492	0.005	0.007	0.410	0.042	0.059	0.473
LogTriglycerides ¹												
Western Breakfast	0.011	0.012	0.338	0.009	0.013	0.467	0.010	0.013	0.444	-0.001	0.014	0.911
Prudent Snacking	0.003	0.012	0.237	0.000	0.013	0.990	-6.768×10^{-5}	0.013	0.996	-0.001	0.013	0.893
High Protein and Animal Fat	0.054	0.013	<0.001	0.049	0.014	0.001	0.045	0.014	0.002	0.041	0.015	0.009
Fish and Seafood	0.014	0.012	0.252	0.019	0.012	0.133	0.020	0.012	0.114	0.021	0.012	0.093
Sugary Snacks	0.009	0.012	0.428	0.010	0.013	0.462	0.011	0.013	0.399	-0.002	0.016	0.855
LogCRP												
Western Breakfast	-0.045	0.029	0.125	-0.053	0.031	0.085	-0.050	0.030	0.096	-0.076	0.033	0.024
Prudent Snacking	0.031	0.028	0.274	0.037	0.030	0.217	0.037	0.029	0.201	0.036	0.029	0.222
High Protein and Animal Fat	0.009	0.031	0.757	-0.005	0.033	0.873	-0.019	0.032	0.558	-0.033	0.034	0.334
Fish and Seafood	0.018	0.029	0.516	0.009	0.030	0.745	0.010	0.029	0.733	0.008	0.030	0.774
Sugary Snacks	0.010	0.031	0.743	0.011	0.032	0.729	0.016	0.032	0.603	0.004	0.036	0.905
¹ Original data values in mmol	/I were used for c	reation of	the logGl	ucose. logTotal	Choleste	rol. log	IDL- C. logLDL-	C. LogTr	iglycerid	es variables		

¹Original data values in mmol/l were used for creation of the logGlucose, logTotalCholesterol, logHDL- C, logLDL- C, LogTriglycerides variables **Model 1**: Adjusted for age and sex; **Model 2**: Adjusted for age, sex, physical exercise; **Model 3**: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI; **Model 4**: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI, energy intake

p= p-value

3.2.2. VEGF-A variants and cardiometabolic and dietary parameters in the TEENAGE

For the purposes of investigating the potential impact of the 11 VEGF-A-related SNPS (Table 53) on the TEENAGE adolescents' cardiometabolic indices, we proceeded to conducting multiple linear regressions for each of the target variants' risk alleles. The rs4416670 and rs7043199 and the variants presented statistically significant associations, where presence of the C allele of the former was related with lower logSBP (Model 1: β = -0.007, *p* = 0.002, Model 2: β = -0.007, *p* = 0.002, Model 3: β = -0.07, *p* = 0.0035) (Table 54). On the contrary, presence of the A allele of the rs7043199 variant was related with increased levels of both logSBP, (Model 2: β = 0.009, *p* = 0.004) and logDBP (Model 3: β = 0.0138, *p* = 0.0046).

Table 53. List of the VEGF-A-related Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) (n=11) investigated for cardiometabolic associations in the TEENAGE cohort.

		C	onsortial Summaı	ry Statistics				TEENAGE Cohort	
SNP	Gene	Chr	Position	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Direction of effect for VEGF	EAF	Ref
rs114694170	MEF2C,MEF2C-AS1	5	5:88884379	T/C	0.02 (C)	т	Negative (beta=-0.15)	0.96	[6]
rs6921438	SCIRT, LOC100132354	6	6:43957870	G/A/C	0.44 (A)	А	Negative (beta-0.72)	0.39	[6-7]
rs1740073	LINC02537, SCIRT, C6orf223	6	6:43979661	T/A/C	0.20 (T)	Т	Positive (beta=0.09)	0.35	[6]
rs4416670	SCIRT	6	6:43982716	T/A/C	0.47 (C)	С	Negative (beta-0.13)	0.44	[7]
rs6993770	ZFPM2-AS1,ZFPM2	8	8:105569300	A/T	0.36 (T)	Т	Negative (beta=0.17)	0.31	[6-7]
rs7043199	VLDLR-AS1	9	9:2621145	T/A	0.11 (A)	А	Negative (beta=-0.10)	0.19	[6]
rs10738760	VLDLR, KCNV2	9	9:2691186	A/G	0.41 (G)	G	Negative (beta=-0.28)	0.46	[7]
rs2375981	VLDLR, KCNV2	9	9:2692583	C/A/G/T	0.41 (G)	С	Positive (beta=0.21)	0.44	[6]
rs74506613 / proxy rs10761741 used	JMJD1C	10	10:63306426	G/T	0.37 (T)	Т	Positive (beta=0.08)	0.47	[6]
rs4782371	ZFPM1	16	16:88502423	T/A/C/G	0.41(G)	Т	Negative (beta= -0.07)	0.36	[6]
rs2639990	ZADH2	18	18:75203596	T/C	0.10(C)	т	Positive (beta=0.11)	0.10	[6]
SNP: Sing	le Nucleotide Polymorphis	m , Chr: C	hromosome, bp: l	base pairs, N	IAF: Minor A	llele Frequency (as shown in GWAS Catalog)	, Ref: Reference	

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
	beta	p-value	beta	p-value	beta	p-value
logBMI						
rs114694170	0.01009	0.3424	0.01317	0.2385	0.01239	0.2707
rs6921438	-0.00631	0.1131	-0.0053	0.2038	-0.00475	0.2564
rs1740073	0.005531	0.1785	0.003664	0.3826	0.002784	0.5088
rs4416670	-0.00698	0.06125	-0.00389	0.3099	-0.00363	0.3452
rs6993770	-0.00649	0.1252	-0.00866	0.04606	-0.00858	0.0483
rs7043199	-0.01265	0.01352	-0.01202	0.02304	-0.01185	0.02551
rs10738760	0.003147	0.4208	0.002341	0.5588	0.00203	0.6125
rs2375981	0.003426	0.3883	0.002837	0.4846	0.002472	0.5432
rs10761741	0.003055	0.4467	0.003455	0.3978	0.003062	0.4544
rs4782371	0.00442	0.2833	0.003158	0.4576	0.002953	0.4892
rs2639990	-0.00297	0.6463	-0.00232	0.7241	-0.0021	0.7516
logTriglycerides						
rs114694170	0.008907	0.7274	0.02828	0.2978	0.029	0.292
rs6921438	0.001028	0.9184	0.01319	0.2007	0.01328	0.2003
rs1740073	0.006261	0.5473	0.002573	0.8058	0.00253	0.8107
rs4416670	1.83E-05	0.9984	0.00513	0.5827	0.004898	0.6018
rs6993770	0.006058	0.5595	-0.00307	0.7726	-0.00332	0.7567
rs7043199	-0.01681	0.1822	-0.01787	0.1588	-0.01938	0.1304
rs10738760	-0.02382	0.01482	-0.0201	0.04157	-0.0201	0.04306
rs2375981	-0.01995	0.04558	-0.01675	0.09515	-0.01696	0.09375
rs10761741	0.004158	0.6738	-0.00254	0.7989	-0.00198	0.844
rs4782371	-0.00071	0.9448	0.00189	0.8571	0.001944	0.8546
rs2639990	-0.01428	0.3776	-0.01309	0.4196	-0.0138	0.4033
logCholesterol						
rs114694170	-0.00314	0.7859	-0.00783	0.5438	-0.00896	0.4916
rs6921438	-0.00051	0.9111	0.000254	0.9586	-9.61E-05	0.9844
rs1740073	0.000767	0.8706	0.000225	0.9639	-0.00033	0.947

Table 54. Associations between the 11 VEGF-A-related SNPs and cardiometabolic indices in the TEENAGE cohort.

rs4416670	0.001849	0.6564	0.004052	0.3602	0.004303	0.3322
rs6993770	0.0042	0.3709	0.002885	0.567	0.002729	0.5901
rs7043199	-0.00066	0.908	-9.11E-05	0.9879	-0.00107	0.8596
rs10738760	-0.00256	0.5642	-0.00355	0.4489	-0.00351	0.4558
rs2375981	-0.00357	0.4299	-0.00446	0.3497	-0.00424	0.3768
rs10761741	-0.00642	0.1503	-0.00856	0.0695	-0.0087	0.06685
rs4782371	0.003328	0.4736	0.001601	0.7478	0.002173	0.6649
rs2639990	-0.00337	0.645	-0.00521	0.4986	-0.00315	0.6864
logSBP						
rs114694170	0.004856	0.4602	0.01095	0.1322	0.01002	0.1704
rs6921438	-0.00528	0.03273	-0.00571	0.03214	-0.00614	0.02126
rs1740073	0.006211	0.01456	0.007036	0.008435	0.007113	0.007929
rs4416670	-0.00707	0.002172	-0.00744	0.002407	-0.00716	0.003524
rs6993770	-0.005	0.05437	-0.00489	0.07711	-0.005	0.07093
rs7043199	0.007357	0.02104	0.009594	0.004338	0.009446	0.005093
rs10738760	-0.00105	0.6643	-0.00018	0.9445	-0.0002	0.9368
rs2375981	-0.00048	0.8464	0.000475	0.8549	0.000676	0.7948
rs10761741	0.004394	0.07559	0.003574	0.1711	0.003634	0.1643
rs4782371	-0.0017	0.5082	-0.00148	0.5885	-0.00099	0.7192
rs2639990	-0.00027	0.9467	-0.00181	0.6667	-0.00112	0.7913
logDBP						
rs114694170	-0.00538	0.5747	-0.00023	0.9829	-0.00073	0.945
rs6921438	-0.00617	0.08685	-0.00804	0.03627	-0.00845	0.0283
rs1740073	0.005599	0.1311	0.006755	0.07975	0.006983	0.07167
rs4416670	-0.00556	0.09872	-0.00686	0.05272	-0.00661	0.06318
rs6993770	-0.00621	0.101	-0.0043	0.281	-0.00443	0.2685
rs7043199	0.01191	0.01033	0.01359	0.005051	0.0138	0.004611
rs10738760	6.32E-06	0.9986	0.001639	0.6575	0.001642	0.6579
rs2375981	-0.00022	0.9508	0.001781	0.6339	0.002048	0.5851
rs10761741	0.005385	0.135	0.006435	0.08701	0.006501	0.0848
rs4782371	0.000505	0.8928	0.002055	0.6027	0.002789	0.4824

rs2639990	0.004213	0.4671	0.003025	0.6163	0.003598	0.5553
logPP						
rs114694170	0.02169	0.1799	0.03011	0.0877	0.02892	0.1044
rs6921438	-0.00429	0.4814	-0.00136	0.8342	-0.00166	0.7989
rs1740073	0.008354	0.1826	0.008206	0.2063	0.007979	0.223
rs4416670	-0.01232	0.03026	-0.01075	0.07144	-0.0104	0.08316
rs6993770	-0.0003	0.9623	-0.00313	0.6417	-0.0031	0.6466
rs7043199	-0.00119	0.8798	0.002393	0.77	0.001466	0.859
rs10738760	-0.0021	0.7244	-0.00156	0.8026	-0.00142	0.8201
rs2375981	-0.00033	0.9559	-0.00017	0.9786	9.90E-05	0.9875
rs10761741	0.005041	0.4081	0.000931	0.8832	0.000839	0.8954
rs4782371	-0.00663	0.2943	-0.00846	0.2027	-0.00844	0.2076
rs2639990	-0.00571	0.5596	-0.00865	0.3943	-0.00733	0.4765
logGlucose						
rs114694170	0.01915	0.4259	0.01844	0.488	0.01499	0.5762
rs6921438	-0.00684	0.4689	-0.01078	0.2855	-0.01227	0.2245
rs1740073	0.00942	0.3361	0.007099	0.4879	0.006708	0.5143
rs4416670	0.000832	0.9235	0.000346	0.9698	0.000223	0.9806
rs6993770	-0.01043	0.2856	-0.00569	0.5839	-0.00679	0.5148
rs7043199	0.008424	0.4782	0.008428	0.4973	0.006293	0.6144
rs10738760	0.006866	0.457	0.003822	0.6927	0.002642	0.7852
rs2375981	0.007188	0.445	0.004344	0.6588	0.003512	0.722
rs10761741	0.003465	0.7095	0.004664	0.6322	0.006317	0.5187
rs4782371	-0.01497	0.1213	-0.00968	0.3456	-0.00954	0.3557
rs2639990	-0.00127	0.9336	-0.0042	0.7913	-0.00359	0.8233
logLDL						
rs114694170	-0.0082	0.6443	-0.02002	0.3046	-0.02187	0.2661
rs6921438	-0.00502	0.4711	-0.00418	0.573	-0.00419	0.5718
rs1740073	0.000988	0.8914	-0.00091	0.9035	-0.0022	0.7704
rs4416670	0.001987	0.7558	0.006226	0.3529	0.006893	0.3039
rs6993770	-0.00281	0.6968	-0.00581	0.4461	-0.00551	0.4718

rs7043199	0.006725	0.4431	0.006013	0.5094	0.005337	0.5605
rs10738760	-0.01029	0.1306	-0.01186	0.09438	-0.01145	0.1071
rs2375981	-0.01274	0.06626	-0.01425	0.04787	-0.01372	0.05769
rs10761741	-0.00519	0.4493	-0.00794	0.2667	-0.0091	0.2047
rs4782371	0.01135	0.1115	0.007783	0.3015	0.008257	0.2758
rs2639990	-0.00388	0.7136	-0.00713	0.517	-0.00744	0.5042
logHDL						
rs114694170	0.001151	0.9449	-0.00031	0.9867	-0.00111	0.9524
rs6921438	0.002231	0.7332	0.00056	0.9363	-0.00014	0.9837
rs1740073	0.002099	0.7572	0.005597	0.4303	0.00606	0.3951
rs4416670	0.002402	0.6887	0.000127	0.984	-0.00021	0.9737
rs6993770	0.01151	0.08893	0.0148	0.03953	0.01427	0.04781
rs7043199	-0.00711	0.3875	-0.00429	0.6186	-0.00585	0.4992
rs10738760	0.01409	0.02729	0.01249	0.06206	0.01223	0.06815
rs2375981	0.01261	0.05275	0.01139	0.09454	0.01129	0.09822
rs10761741	-0.01029	0.1098	-0.01098	0.1037	-0.00975	0.15
rs4782371	-0.00762	0.2552	-0.0072	0.3117	-0.0068	0.3417
rs2639990	-0.00388	0.7136	-0.00713	0.517	-0.00744	0.5042
logCRP						
rs114694170	-0.0379	0.6541	-0.04237	0.6554	-0.03521	0.711
rs6921438	-0.0418	0.1947	-0.04414	0.2017	-0.04039	0.241
rs1740073	-0.00433	0.8972	-0.0181	0.606	-0.02466	0.482
rs4416670	-0.0194	0.511	-0.01528	0.6242	-0.0162	0.6012
rs6993770	-0.01718	0.6107	-0.00339	0.9251	-0.0048	0.8941
rs7043199	0.02666	0.5029	0.003378	0.9353	0.000455	0.9913
rs10738760	0.02319	0.4658	0.02242	0.5016	0.02371	0.4762
rs2375981	0.02867	0.3747	0.02603	0.441	0.02572	0.4462
rs10761741	0.0237	0.4588	0.01415	0.6735	0.01207	0.7179
rs4782371	-0.04092	0.2165	-0.03658	0.3002	-0.03689	0.2958
rs2639990	-0.05523	0.2803	-0.05647	0.2884	-0.05193	0.3325
Model 1: Ad	justed for age and sex. Mod	el 2: Adjusted for age	, sex and exercise, Mode	3: Adjusted for age, sex, ex	ercise and dietary patterns, p	: p-value

After examining the individual associations between the target variants and the indices in reference (Table 54), we proceeded to the creation of the 9-SNP uGRS and the subsequent conduct of multiple linear regressions for all the cardiometabolic indices (Table 55). Increased uGRS was associated with increased levels of logBMI (Model 1: $\beta = 0.0044$, *p*-value =0.003, Model 2: $\beta = 0.0043$, *p*-value = 0.005, Model 3: $\beta = 0.004$, *p*-value = 0.009) and logSBP (Model 1: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.03, Model 2: $\beta = 0.019$, *p*-value = 0.047, Model 3: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.037), but decreased values of logHDL (Model 1: $\beta = -0.005$, *p*-value = 0.032) (Table 58). We further used the sample median to split the uGRS in two categories of "low" and "high" risk and examine potential differences between the two groups of genetic risk. Indeed, the observed associations were additionally noted in the within-group analyses, with logBMI displaying statistically significant differences with individuals in the higher category presenting greater logBMI values (*p* <0.05) (Figure 30). Similarly, individuals in the higher versus lower uGRS displayed statistically significantly lower levels of logHDL (*p* < 0.05) (Figure 30).

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р
logBMI									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.004445	0.001494	0.00305	0.004349	0.001553	0.005277	0.0040937	0.0015678	0.009281
logTriglycerides									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.005892	0.003854	0.127	0.004260	0.003915	0.2771	0.004650	0.003994	0.2450
logCholesterol									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	-0.0001979	0.0017479	0.90992	-0.000716	0.001859	0.70024	-0.0007685	0.0018917	0.68474
logSBP									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.002006	0.000924	0.0303	0.0019840	0.0009974	0.047203	0.0020983	0.0010045	0.037205
logDBP									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.001891	0.001351	0.161963	0.002211	0.001441	0.12569	0.002365	0.001455	0.10458
LogPP									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.002425	0.002268	0.2854	0.001599	0.002413	0.50779	0.0015523	0.0024439	0.52558
LogGlucose									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.0009057	0.0036448	0.804	0.001952	0.003840	0.611	0.0028415	0.0038989	0.4665
logLDL									
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.003038	0.002688	0.2589	0.002300	0.002818	0.4148	0.001733	0.002863	0.5454

Fable 55. Associations between the 9-SN	P uGRS and selected card	diometabolic indices in the	TEENAGE cohort
---	--------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------

LogHDL											
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	-0.005336	0.002493	0.03279	-0.004999	0.002631	0.05812	-0.004455	0.002673	0.09630		
LogCRP											
9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.001437	0.012397	0.90778	-0.0001663	0.0131008	0.98988	-0.001631	0.013250	0.90207		
Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex, Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex and exercise, Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, exercise and dietary patterns.											
p: p-value											







Figure 30: Violin plots depicting the distribution of A. logBMI, B. logSBP and C. logHDL between the two groups of the 9-SNP VEGF-A unweighted GRS (low versus high), separated by the sample median (*p*-values < 0.05).

Interactions between the uGRS and Dietary Patterns

In order to test for potential gene-diet interactions, we proceeded to conducting multiple linear regressions investigating the impact of the interaction of the calculated uGRS and the extracted dietary patterns on the various cardiometabolic indices (Table 56). A statistically significant association was revealed concerning the interaction between the uGRS and the "Western Breakfast" pattern was associated with higher levels of logDBP (Model 1: β = 0.0060, *p*-value = 4.28e-05, Model 2: β = 0.00568, *p*-value = 0.000239). A different nominally statistically significant association was found for the interaction between the uGRS and consumption of the "Eggs and Fibers" pattern and increased levels of logGlucose (Model 2: β = 0.00883, *p*-value = 0.0132).

		Model 1			Model 2	
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р
logBMI						
uGRS*Western Breakfast	0.0006259	0.0016544	0.70532	0.0009623	0.0016699	0.564684
uGRS*Legumes and Good	0.0004362	0.0014115	0.75742	-0.0002951	0.0015027	0.844375
Fat	0.004000	0.004.000	0.45000		0.004000	0.450650
uGRS*Homemade Meal	-0.001836	0.001302	0.15906	-0.001894	0.001326	0.153652
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	-0.001955	0.001442	0.17566	-0.001508	0.001577	0.339236
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.000687	0.001204	0.56840	0.0004325	0.0014616	0.767393
logTriglycerides						
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.003976	0.004121	0.335	-0.003394	0.004147	0.4135
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	-0.003084	0.003643	0.398	-0.002993	0.003701	0.4192
uGRS*Homemade Meal	-0.0003673	0.0031521	0.907	-0.0004249	0.0031042	0.8912
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	-0.000562	0.003527	0.873	0.000446	0.003723	0.9047
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	0.0004714	0.0029163	0.872	-8.952e-07	3.645e-03	0.9998
logCholesterol						
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.0003120	0.0018673	0.86737	-0.0003595	0.0019652	0.85495
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	4.399e-04	1.654e-03	0.79038	0.0006190	0.0017604	0.72529
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.0022544	0.0014247	0.11421	0.0024594	0.0014679	0.09455
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.0005882	0.0015997	0.71324	0.0011419	0.0017668	0.51840
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.0024429	0.0013171	0.064231	-0.0035654	0.0017221	0.0390
logSBP						
uGRS*Western Breakfast	0.0019835	0.0010171	0.05164	0.0021791	0.0010716	0.042500
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.0009800	0.0008694	0.2601	0.001112	0.000966	0.250296
uGRS*Homemade Meal	-0.0004048	0.0008249	0.6238	-0.0006534	0.0008508	0.442827
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.0003776	0.0008987	0.6745	0.0003459	0.0010081	0.731659
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.0011855	0.0007341	0.1068	-0.0018073	0.0009354	0.053889
logDBP						
uGRS*Western Breakfast	0.0060753	0.0014736	4.28e-05	0.005687	0.001537	0.000239

Table 56. Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A and dietary patterns in the TEENAGE cohort.

uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.0009039	0.0012713	0.477344	0.001483	0.001396	0.28856			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	-0.0008981	0.0012064	0.45691	-0.001097	0.001229	0.37234			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	1.822e-05	1.316e-03	0.988960	0.001229	0.001457	0.39932			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	0.0001876	0.0010752	0.86156	-0.0009524	0.0013559	0.48273			
logPP									
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.004375	0.002501	0.08081	-0.003179	0.002602	0.22237			
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.0006745	0.0021355	0.75221	0.0001765	0.0023393	0.93989			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.0001585	0.0020281	0.93772	-5.986e-05	2.067e-03	0.97691			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.0006736	0.0022094	0.76055	-0.001662	0.002442	0.49637			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.003235	0.001801	0.07296	-0.002587	0.002269	0.2548			
logGlucose									
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.0002371	0.0038992	0.952	-0.0006882	0.0040671	0.866			
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	-0.004075	0.003441	0.237	-0.002575	0.003628	0.478			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	-0.0035228	0.0029773	0.237	-0.003946	0.003039	0.195			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.003550	0.003317	0.285	0.003922	0.003634	0.281			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	5.869e-03	2.745e-03	0.0330	0.008830	0.003550	0.0132			
logLDL									
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.0003845	0.0028733	0.8936	-0.0008217	0.0029791	0.7828			
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.001102	0.002545	0.6652	0.001857	0.002669	0.4870			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.002229	0.002194	0.3103	0.002617	0.002230	0.2412			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.0024563	0.0024563	0.9468	0.0008795	0.0026757	0.7425			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.004027	0.002024	0.0472	-0.005950	0.002606	0.0229			
logHDL									
uGRS*Western Breakfast	0.0007058	0.0026675	0.79145	0.001002	0.002789	0.71958			
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.0004628	0.0023529	0.84413	-7.341e-05	2.485e-03	0.97644			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.003719	0.002032	0.06787	0.003693	0.002080	0.07649			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.001880	0.002275	0.40903	0.002321	0.002496	0.3529			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.0003372	0.0018861	0.85819	-0.0007087	0.0024472	0.77227			
logCRP									
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.009797	0.013082	0.45430	-0.0072781	0.0136345	0.59379			
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.002883	0.011393	0.80035	-0.0031947	0.0119986	0.79019			
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.010795	0.009823	0.27239	0.011024	0.010010	0.27144			
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.004140	0.010979	0.70632	-0.0006592	0.0120081	0.95625			
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.006220	0.008995	0.48963	0.0010038	0.011644	0.93135			
Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, uGRS and each dietary pattern, Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex and exercise. uGRS									

```
and each dietary pattern
```

3.2.3. Discussion

Analyses using TEENAGE and STANISLAS Family Study data in the present context of the 2018 Chair Gutenberg project aimed at identifying the dietary patterns of the two adolescent, European populations and further investigating their associations with cardiometabolic indices and their combined interactions with VEGF-A-related variants.

Regarding the dietary intake observed in the two populations, both cohorts reported a mediocre energy intake (TEENAGE: 1741.00 kcal/d and STANISLAS: 2056.03 kcal/d), based on the present dietary guidelines for adolescents [39], a generally good health status with BMI values within the normal range (18.5–25 kg/m²). Five dietary patterns were extracted for in each population. Two of the identified patterns adhered to the principles of MD, namely the Greek "eggs and fibers" and the French "prudent snacking" patterns, explaining 7.47% and 10.44% of the respective total variances and including non-refined cereals, vegetables, eggs, and vegetable fats. Another MD-like pattern was observed in the Greek teenagers with the consumption of legumes, olives, olive oil and nuts in the "legumes and good fat" pattern. The influences of WD were apparent in French teenagers, who demonstrated high consumption of energy-dense food groups, such as red meat, animal fat and milk and yogurt in the "high protein and animal fat" pattern and soft drinks and sugary snacks in the "sugary snacks" pattern.

Accordingly, the predominant pattern in both populations (the "western breakfast" pattern) was related to WD-related food groups [404], such as cheese, processed meat and food items high in carbohydrates. The "western breakfast" pattern reflected a higher percentage (15.61%) of the variance explained in the Greek population, in comparison to the French one (10.58%). Breakfast habits were highlighted in the first 5-year follow-up in the STANISLAS Cohort, which underlined the importance of the household environment in dietary habits by finding a household variance of 42.5 to 52.9% in the energy intake observed in breakfast [405]. The importance of breakfast consumption and its contribution to daily energy intake of French children and families, is also supported by another, recent cross-sectional survey [406]. Although the western diet has been associated with elevated inflammation biomarkers [407], the cohort of the Greek teenagers reported no comorbidities and we found no associations between adherence to the "western breakfast" pattern and respective CRP levels. Interestingly enough, the "chicken and sugars" pattern identified in the Greek cohort was significantly associated with lower levels of logCRP (Model 1: β = -0.051, p-value = 0.006, Model 2: $\beta = -0.057$, p-value = 0.004 and Model 3: $\beta = -0.050$, p-value = 0.008). An inverse association between the consumption of poultry and CRP levels in teenagers has previously been reported, in the general context of adherence to the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet regime [408], although a recent umbrella review showed Nutrients 2021, 13, 198 14 of 19 no association between the DASH diet and CRP levels in adults [409]. On the contrary, an inverse association between consumption of sweets and CRP levels is not supported by other studies. In fact, consumption of sugars and especially sugar-sweetened beverages has previously been associated with higher CRP levels in adults [410,411]. In adolescents, a different review has shown a positive association between sugar consumption and CRP [412], whereas another review found greater consumption of sugars by normal weight adolescents in comparison with overweight ones, but did not find any association between sugar consumption and CRP [413]. A cross-sectional study investigating the relation between food intake and CRP levels in children also found that consumption of milk, citrus, melons and berries displayed associations with lower levels of CRP, potentially due to the general high content of fruits and vegetables in antioxidants and the association of dairy consumption with greater satiety and potential adherence to a generally healthier diet [414].

Furthermore, our study found that the "high protein and animal fat" pattern displayed significant associations with higher logtriglyceride and logBMI levels (p < 0.01), for French teenagers. The latter is in accordance with various crosssectional studies that have researched the dietary habits of adolescents and their potential associations to BMI. A study by Gutiérrez-Pliego et al. unveiled three major dietary patterns in a population of 373 Mexican teenagers including a pattern high in refined "unhealthy" products, such as snacks, sugars and sweets, a pattern with high protein/high fat content and a pattern including high consumption of fruits, vegetables, nuts and whole grains. The study found a strong relationship (p < 0.01) between higher consumptions of the first two dietary patterns and higher BMI [415]. In the same context, a different study in Northeastern Brazil investigated data from 1247 adolescents. The study identified two dietary patterns, one referring to high consumption of sugars, sweets and cakes, amongst others, and one correlated with high consumption of fruits and vegetables. Higher adherence to the dietary pattern including "unhealthy" products, was, again, positively correlated with higher values of BMI (p = 0.018) [416].

Furthermore, a different study on the dietary habits of female adolescents showed that higher adherence to a "Western" pattern referring to increased consumption of fat and mediocre consumption of protein, among others, was associated with higher levels of BMI, waist circumference, as well as total cholesterol levels [417]. Although dietary patterns with a higher consumption of fat have generally been positively associated with cardiometabolic risk factors in teenagers [418,419], certain diets, including consumption of specific food groups, such as the DASH diet [420], have been related with a better metabolic profile [421]. Indeed, higher adherence to the DASH diet has been shown to relate to a reduced prevalence of metabolic syndrome and increased blood pressure during adolescence [404], as well as lower levels of HbA1c and systolic blood pressure, in young adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, respectively [422]. Better adherence to the components of the DASH diet was even associated with a lower risk of being a metabolic unhealthy obese, in children and adolescents with increased body weight [423]. Additionally, other high protein diets, such as the ketogenic diet and the Modified Atkins diet, have been associated with better effects on adolescents with epilepsy [424,425], with the ketogenic diet to have been related to reduced weight and fasting insulin and HOMA-IR levels in obese teenagers [426]. However, the aforementioned diets also usually include consumption of vegetables fats and fats derived from nuts, seeds, white meat (such as poultry and fish), as well as food groups like grains, vegetable fats, fruits and vegetables, which are not met when referring to dietary patterns centered on high protein or animal fat consumption.

Furthermore, the aforementioned beneficial associations have been primarily observed in adults or obese adolescent populations, who could potentially benefit from the adherence to a structured diet with the above food groups. This could potentially explain why our study demonstrated positive associations between the high consumption of protein and animal fats with BMI and triglyceride levels in adolescents mostly displaying BMI of a normal range.

Moreover, the present study evaluates the adherence to each dietary pattern, without comparing them with the respective adherence to the rest of the patterns extracted. The identification of dietary patterns of adolescents has generally been a subject of interest in recent literature. Gonzalez-Gil et al. investigated the dietary patterns of 5328 European adolescents in the context of the cross-sectional HELENA study [427]. The latter consisted of adolescent cohorts of 10 different European countries, including Greek teenagers from the cities of Athens and Heraklion, Crete. The study identified four dietary patterns in teenage boys and six dietary patterns in teenage girls. Patterns explaining greater total variance in boys referred to consumption of vegetables, pasta, rice, cheese and sweets among others, at the same time as dominant patterns in girls referred to consumption of Mediterranean-type food items, dairy and consumption of a healthy breakfast [428]. Additionally, when investigating the dietary habits of adolescents based on data collected in the 1995 Australian National Nutrition Survey, McNaughton et al. showed that a dietary pattern rich in fruit, salads, cereals and fish was found to be negatively associated with levels of diastolic blood pressure in teenagers older than 16 years of age [428]. Our study found no associations between the patterns containing fruit, vegetable and fish consumption and the levels of diastolic pressure in adolescents younger than 16 years of age. Furthermore, the I. Family Study investigated the association between the dietary patterns of 2451 pairs of European children and their parents, with regards to the existing food environment conditions. The study showed the role of food availability in the children's dietary choices, highlighting that the consumption of soft drinks was greatly dependent on their availability in the immediate food environment [429]. Moreno LA et al. also showed that increased consumption of sweet beverages was also associated with increased risk of adolescent obesity [430]. In our study, the "sugary snacks" pattern of the French population, which included consumption of sweetened beverages, was not related to logBMI values, but was associated with lower values of logHDL-C. However the effect disappeared when taking into account the adjusted threshold of statistical significance (0.04 > 0.01). A different study of German adolescents demonstrated that higher consumption of dietary patterns containing high-fat and high-carbohydrate, energy-dense foods was associated with lower socioeconomic levels and a lower intake of various vitamins and minerals [431].

Regarding the examination of the role of VEGF-A-related variants on adolescent cardiometabolic profile, two VEGF-A-related SNPs, namely the rs7043199 and the rs4416670 variants, presented significant relations with blood pressure indices in the TEENAGE adolescents. Moreover, the 9-SNP uGRS constructed out of risk variants for higher VEGF-A levels was associated with higher levels of logBMI and logSBP but lower levels of logHDL. Furthermore, the exploration of associations between the uGRS and the teenagers' dietary patterns revealed a significant relation between the adherence to the "Western Breakfast" pattern and higher logDBP, as well as a nominal association for the "Eggs and Fibers" pattern and higher logGlucose.

In our sample, the negatively associated with VEGF-A levels C allele of the rs4416670 SNP was also negatively associated with logSBP levels. Debette et Visvikis-Siest et al. previously showed a positive relationship between the allele and increased pulse pressure in a healthy population [236]; this could potentially be attributed to the relation between lower levels of SBP which would subsequently signify greater values of pulse pressure. On the contrary, the A allele of the rs7043199 variant, which was previously negatively associated with VEGF-A [10,11], was hereby linked with higher levels of logSBP and logDBP. Although not as statistically strong (*p*-value = 0.004), this observed effect could possibly be attributed to the yet to be fully elucidated pleiotropic influence of the variant, the role of which has been previously investigated for overall risk for other disorders related to cardiometabolic profile, namely ischemic heart disease [432] and osteoporosis [433].

To the best of our knowledge, VEGF-A has not been extensively and exclusively examined in adolescents and the present constitute the first attempts in constructing a uGRS for teenagers using VEGF-A-associated variants. The present 9-SNP uGRS was linked to higher levels of logSBP (Model 1: β = 0.002, p-value = 0.03, Model 2: β= 0.019, p-value = 0.047, Model 3: β= 0.002, p-value = 0.037) and individuals with high GRS presented greater values compared to the ones with low GRS (p-value=0.027), showing that increased genetic predisposition to higher levels of VEGF-A is associated with higher blood pressure in adolescents. This finding is aligned with the well-known relationship between VEGF-A and hypertension, as current literature has shown that inhibition of VEGF-A receptors signifies higher levels of circulating VEGF-A which have, in turn, been associated with greater risk for hypertension [434-436]. In like manner and supporting the reciprocal relationship between the VEGF family and hypertension, Zorena et al showed that adolescents with type 1 diabetes and hypertension displayed greater levels of VEGF compared to healthy individuals or patients with type 1 diabetes but without hypertension [437].

Although this is an overall healthy population with most adolescents presenting normal weight, the accumulating effect of the 9 examined SNPs from Choi et al displayed a statistically significant, positive association with higher logBMI values. Additionally to the already underlined positive relationship between VEGF-B and VEGF-C levels and obesity presence [438,439], current literature further highlights the role of VEGF-A in obesity control [228,440,441]. In the presence of obesity and fat cell proliferation, VEGF-A expression increases as it participates in angiogenesis, cell differentiation and thermogenesis in the white and brown adipose tissues. In this context, VEGF-A contributes to the subsequent increase in energy expenditure and attempts to suppress further diet-induced increase and ameliorate insulin resistance in a compensatory effect [228,440,441]. However, as the increase of adipocytes progresses, VEGF-A is more produced and angiogenesis is further promoted in the white adipose tissue, thus allowing for further obesity establishment. This cascade of events creates a reciprocal circle where obesity presence induces VEGF-A expression and vice-versa. For that reason, the effect of VEGF-A on increased weight can be described as reciprocal and context-dependent, being mainly influenced by the potential pre-existence of increased body weight [227, 440]. Hereby, the positive association between the uGRS and logBMI was steadily maintained after adjustments for all three models of confounding factors (Model 1: β = 0.0044, *p*-value =0.003, Model 2: β = 0.0043, p-value = 0.005, Model 3: β = 0.004, p-value = 0.009) and adolescents with high versus low genetic risk also presented higher values of logBMI suggesting an aggravating effect in BMI as genetic risk for higher VEGF-A increases. In a similar context to the present, Novikova et al showed that, compared to individuals of normal weight, adolescents with obesity presented a 12-fold increase in corresponding VEGF-A levels [442]. To boot, Loebig et al showed a similar positive association in heathy young men (aged 18-30 years old) under normal blood sugar conditions, where higher levels of VEGF-A were consistently associated with increased weight [443]. VEGF-A was also related with abdominal obesity in a sample of young individuals, as demonstrated by Guzman-Guzman et al when investigating relations with parameters of the metabolic syndrome [444]. Our present findings show that increased predisposition to higher levels of VEGF-A is related to higher BMI, however according to the aforementioned, it should be noted that the reciprocity of the relation remains significant, as increased VEGF-A levels can generally be observed due to increased BMI, thus potentially aggravating the positive predisposing genetic effect.

Another significant relation was observed between the uGRS and lower levels of logHDL (Model 1: β = 0.005, *p*-value = 0.032). Although this association was not maintained after correction for multiple confounding factors, when looking at individuals with higher versus lower genetic risk for increased VEGF-A, the former did present lower values of logHDL. When looking into potential associations between VEGF-A variants and HDL, both Debette et Visvikis-Siest and Stathopoulou et al showed that the negatively associated with VEGF-A A allele of rs6921438 SNP was related with lower HDL levels in healthy populations. The present finding denoting a positive association between increased VEGF-A and lower HDL levels can, thus, potentially be explained by the general overview of the role of elevated VEGF-A in worse lipidemic profile, rather than the direct effect of VEGF-A on HDL per se [445].

Furthermore, taking the biomarker's role on metabolism into account [228, 232, 233], we further attempted to unravel the meaning of the interplay between genetic predisposition for higher VEGF-A levels and multiple cardiometabolic indices by examining the potentially modifying role of dietary habits. In our sample, the interaction between the uGRS and the consumption of the "Western Breakfast" was associated with higher levels of logDBP (Model 1: β = 0.0060, pvalue = 4.28e-05, Model 2: β = 0.00568, *p*-value = 0.000239). This finding can be explained by the fact that the "Western Breakfast" pattern consists of food groups with high fat content, namely cheese, dairy and processed meat [311], which have already been shown to associate with increased blood pressure in the literature [446]. Hojhabrimanesh et al showed similar significant associations between a "Western" dietary pattern and overall and systolic blood pressure in Iranian adolescents, as well as a positive but not statistically significant association for diastolic pressure [447] Although the pattern was not unilaterally associated with blood pressure measurements in our team's previous analyses [311], increased predisposition to higher VEGF-A appears to bring its aggravating effect to the forefront and vice-versa. This could be partly attributed to the positive effect of Western diet and red meat-derived protein which has been previously shown to elevate VEGF-A expression, but among patients with breast cancer [448].

What's more, although the 9-SNP uGRS was not alone associated to glucose in our sample, it did present a nominally significant interaction with the protein-rich

"Eggs and Fibers" dietary pattern (consisting of non-refined cereals, vegetables and eggs) in increasing logGlucose levels (Model 2: β = 0.00883, *p*-value = 0.0132). The involvement of VEGF-A on glucose homeostasis is well-known [234], as low levels of the biomarker are linked to insulin resistance, while its overexpression is associated with impaired insulin production and increased glucose levels [228,234]. Consequently, research in adolescent cohorts to date mainly surrounds diabetic individuals or related complications [446, 449] and has yet to yield significant results in healthy populations. Although fiber intake is generally regarded as having protective effects in the production of inflammatory biomarkers [447], the present finding could possibly refer to the reciprocal effect of dietary carbohydrate and protein intake on aggravating the genetic risk for VEGF-A levels and subsequent influence the elevated glucose levels.

Moreover, similar gene-diet interactions have also been explored in individuals with metabolic syndrome in studies examining target-SNPs for VEGF-A, rather than using a holistic genetic risk score approach. Ghazizadeh et al. showed that individuals with the AA genotype for the rs10738760 variant, which was also included in the present uGRS, and a higher adherence to foods with increased sugar and saturated fatty acids, among others, presented greater risk for metabolic syndrome [242]. It was further demonstrated that presence of the same A allele can significantly interact with even favorable dietary components (eg PUFAs) in ultimately elevating the risk for worse glycemic and lipidemic profile and, thus, metabolic syndrome [242]. Taking it one step further, Chedid et al., showed a significant association between BMI and the rs10738760 polymorphism in decreasing iron levels; an effect shown to be more prominent in individuals with obesity [244]. Finally, a different relation concerned the observed associations between presence of the 9-SNP-uGRS rs6921438 and rs6993770 included SNPs and micronutrient contents, namely high manganese, low zinc and low iron intakes in patients with metabolic syndrome [448, 4501, 451].

The strengths of the present study concern: i) its attempt to use previously unused nutritional data in identifying adolescent dietary habits and their associations with cardiometabolic profile; and ii) its hypothesis of investigating demonstrated effects of known VEGF-A variants on the cardiometabolic profile of healthy adolescents for the first time. The limitations of the present study are summarized in the following: i) presently analyzed phenotypic data for both populations were cross-sectionally collected, limiting the potential for generalized cause and effect conclusions to be drawn; ii) use of the PCA for the dietary pattern extraction, included subjective choices on the number of both analyzed food groups and extracted components; iii) comparisons between the two populations' dietary habits might have been affected by the different socio-economic conditions existing in the two countries during the mid-1990s for the STANISLAS and late 2000s for the TEENAGE study; iv) although attempted to be as maximized as possible, the variance explained by both populations' extracted dietary patterns concerned approximately half of each cohort; and v) the overall good health status of the populations which might not have allowed for the identification of distinct associations with cardiometabolic risk factors, as it would for example be in the case of patients with obesity.

3.3. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS studies

The following constitute information published under the publication J. Pers. Med. 2023, 13, 327, doi.org/10.3390/jpm13020327 and can be found in Appendix E.

3.3.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Studies' Populations

The anthropometric characteristics of the unified sample are described in Table 57. Overall, we used available data from 2083 participants, namely 342 participants from the NAFLD study, as well as 791 and 950 participants from the OSTEOS and THISEAS studies, respectively (Table 57). A total of 841 men and 1242 women were included, with a median age of 53 years (calculated at 2075 participants) and a median BMI of 27.38 kg/m2. Within the respective databases, participants presented median BMIs in the spectrum of overweight for all three studies (NAFLD median BMI = 26.5 kg/m2, OSTEOS median BMI = 26.91 kg/m2 and THISEAS median BMI = 27.81 kg/m2). BMI was not statistically significantly different between the NAFLD and OSTEOS studies but did present a statistically significant difference between the NAFLD and THISEAS as well as the OSTEOS and THISEAS studies (p < 0.001 for both pairs). Differences in age were also statistically significant between all studies (p < 0.001 for the Kruskal–Wallis test).

				,			/ / /					
		All			NAFLD			OSTEOS			THISEAS	
	All (n =	Men	Women (n	All	Men	Women (n	All (n =	Men	Women (n =	All	Men	Women
	2075 for	(n =	= 1234 for	(n = 342)	(n = 140)	= 202)	783 for	(n = 101)	682 for age,	(n = 950)	(n = 600)	(n = 350)
	age, n =	841)	age, n =				age, n =		n = 690 for			
	2083 for		1242 for				791 for		BMI)			
	BMI)		BMI)				BMI)					
						Me	ed (IQR)					
Age	53 (18)	54 (19)	52 (19)	47 (18)	44 (17)	50 (16)	50 (18)	47 (28.5)	51 (16.25)	59 (19)	58 (18.75)	60 (21)
BMI	27.38	27.68	27.02	26.5	26.8	25.9	26.91	26.70	26.94 7.01)	27.81	27.88	27.77
(kg/m²)	(6.18)	(5.34)	(7.10)	(6.23)	(4.54)	(6.98)	(6.81)	(5.13)		(5.80)	(5.43)	(6.51)

Table 57. Descriptive characteristics of the NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS study populations.

3.3.2. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index

Summary statistics for the merged dataset were calculated with BMI phenotype as a response variable and using the extended (imputed based on the 1000 genomes external reference panel) and further filtered genotypic dataset. In order to properly estimate the effects of individual SNPs that potentially contributed to the BMI phenotype in the unified dataset, we applied four different frameworks for summary statistics estimation, namely a simple generalized linear model (GLM) as implemented in the R statistical language, the regression algorithm implemented in the R package statgen GWAS as well as the SNPTEST software and the more generalized PLINK framework. In all cases, the sex, age, NAFLD status and cardiovascular disease status of individuals were incorporated in the regression models as confounders, along with several automatically selected principal components to capture potential underlying population stratifications not reflected by the other confounders. The four sets of summary statistics were used as input to PRSice2 along with the target samples in an iterative PRS derivation procedure, as described in Materials and Methods. To evaluate the performance of each summary statistics estimation method, we used the PRS R² metric returned by PRSice2, which measures percentage of BMI variability explained by the PRS in the regression models. The PRS R² values for each method were averaged over 100 PRS derivation iterations and the method that yielded the highest PRS R² was selected to provide the summary statistics for final PRS derivation. In our case, SNPTEST yielded the highest average PRS R^2 (0.012 ± 0.006, pmin = 0.0002, pmedian = 0.0375, pmax = 0.3194), followed by GLM (0.011 ± 0.006, pmin = 0.0003, pmedian = 0.0697, pmax = 0.4251) and statgenGWAS (0.010 ± 0.006, pmin = 0.0005, pmedian = 0.0718, pmax = 0.3579). PLINK yielded the lowest average PRS R2 values but with the smallest variability across 100 iterations $(0.009 \pm 0.004, pmin = 0.0002, pmedian = 0.0802, pmax = 0.5282).$

After completion of the 100 PRS derivation iterations, we assessed the stability of the extracted PRSs. In our case, PRS extraction process was highly dependent on source (training) dataset summary statistics. As a result, the SNP content of each PRS greatly varied between iterations, therefore affecting the performance of the latter and its contribution in explaining BMI. In order to mitigate the observed PRS instability, the 100 different SNP sets comprising the 100 different PRSs returned by PRSice2 with SNPTEST summary statistics were aggregated requiring that an SNP considered for inclusion in a PRS candidate should appear at least five times in the end of the iterative procedure. Subsequently, several PRS candidates were assembled with SNP content based on frequency of appearance of the latter across the aggregated SNP set, new regression models were created based on the initial target dataset splits used by PRSice2 and PRS R² values were assembled along with their respective significance when compared with the baseline PRSice2 PRS R² distribution. As our goals included derivation of a PRS with a less extended number of SNPs but of high predictive value, the new PRS R² values were further penalized based on the number of SNPs that each PRS candidate included. Then, using the resulting distribution of penalized PRS R² values, we detected local maxima, denoting both high predictive value and lower SNP content. The number of SNPs yielding an adequately high penalized PRS R² while maintaining significance when compared to the baseline PRS R^2 distribution was found to be 343 (PRS $R^2 = 0.1156 \pm 0.0277$). Notably, our iterative and aggregative PRS derivation process resulted in a PRS with ~10 times improved explanatory power (bootstrap p-value = 0) than using PRSice2 alone.

Next, we further evaluated the final 343-SNPs-selected PRS for BMI using the total merged dataset coupled with an iterative 10-fold cross-validation process, where, in each iteration of the process, we left out 5–50% of the total dataset samples, each time increasing the left-out samples by 5% and creating regression models including (full) and excluding (reduced) the PRS while maintaining the other covariates. Overall, the PRS increased the predictive power of the models by 31–33%, with the minimum PRS R² value observed at 0.3159 ± 0.0190 (p-value = 4×10^{-87}) when leaving out 50 of samples, with the maximum value at 0.3279 ± 0.0114 (p-value = 9×10^{-130}). A final regression model using the 343-SNP PRS for BMI with the total merged dataset yielded a PRS R² = 0.3241 (beta = 1.011, p-value = 4×10^{-193}). Finally, to evaluate the ability of the 343-SNP PRS to characterize close phenotypes, we created a regression model with the same covariates but using population weight instead of BMI. The model yielded PRS R² = 0.2313 (beta = 2.702, p-value = 4.15×10^{-158}).

The aforementioned 343-SNP PRS deriving from using SNPTEST displayed a statistically significant association for BMI (beta = 1.011, p-value = $4x10^{-193}$) and a positive correlation, where increased PRS values were associated with increased BMI levels. The examined population presented an overall median risk, with most observations met in the 0.25–0.50 range. Out of the 343 SNPs identified in the PRS (see Supplementary Table S2), automatically identified known associations included in the GWAS Catalog were displayed for 16 SNPs, namely rs2710804 (27 associations) and rs2955742 (five associations) (see Table 58).

	Consortial sur	mmary statistics (GWA	AS Catalog)		Know	n associated traits	Unified Cohort Summary Statistics	
SNP	Nearest gene	Position (Chr:bp)	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Associated Traits	Effect allele	Beta *
rs11668205	IZUMO4	19:2096429- 2099593	G/A	0.09 (A)	N/A	Abnormality of chromosome segregation	G	-0.32575
rs488248	LOC728192	13:105944370	C/A/T	0.23 (C)	Т	Antineoplastic agent	С	-0.17048
rs480039	SLC35F3	1:234290732	G/A/C/T	0.37 (A)	N/A	Gut microbiome measurement	G	-0.17361
rs2288061	RPL18P13	16:76135833	G/A/C	0.34 (A)	G	Delta-5 desaturase measurement	G	-0.17776
rs2807854	HLX-AS1	1:220856499	T/C/G	0.25 (T)	Т	LDL, apoB measurements	Т	-0.13816
rs2955742	TMEM266	15:76153791	G/A	0.10 (A)	A	Serum urea, cystatin c, creatinine, urate, glomerular filtration measurement	G	-0.19108
rs2710804	SEPT7,EEPD 1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	#N/A	Fibrinogen measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	C	Serum alanine aminotransferase measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	KIAA1706	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	C	C-reactive protein measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Leukocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Neutrophil count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Myeloid white cell count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	N/A	Leukocyte count	Т	-0.1356

Table 58. List of PRS SNPs with known associated traits in GWAS Catalog.

rs2710804	SEPT7, EEPD1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	N/A	Fibrinogen measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Т	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Leukocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Neutrophil count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Serum albumin measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	C-reactive protein measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	EEPD1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Fibrinogen measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Neutrophil count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	LOC1019286 18	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Т	Serum alanine aminotransferase measurement	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Myeloid white cell count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Platelet crit	Т	-0.1356
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Neutrophil count	Т	-0.1356
rs2251188	ZNF12, ZNF316	7:6664701	A/C/G/T	0.16 (A)	G	Basophil count, neutrophil count	A	0.13807
rs7589592	ENSG00000 237720	2:2709171	T/A/C	0.41 (C)	N/A	Diffuse plaque measurement	Т	0.11391
rs1010304	CHD6, EMILIN3	20:41473007	A/G	0.30 (G)	A	Memory performance, word list delayed recall measurement	A	-0.28657
rs12673506	CHN2	7:29382170	G/A	0.24 (A)	А	Gut microbiome measurement	G	-0.185
rs17662327	HNRNPA1P4 1,JAK2	9:4967587	T/C/G	0.16 (C)	Т	Wellbeing measurement	т	0.14714

rs2485662	MEX3A/LM NA	1:156113677	T/C	0.31 (T)	N/A	Triacylglycerol 48:1, triacylglycerol 50:2 measurements	Т	0.11601
rs4718965	AUTS2	7:70575462	C/A/T	0.08 (C)	С	Cortical surface area measurement	С	0.19049
rs9847987	intergenic/C FAP20DC-DT	3:59432807	C/T	0.20 (T)	Т	Neuritic plaque measurement	С	0.26274
rs10252228	DPY19L1, NPSR1	7:34900427	A/G	0.29 (G)	G	Exercise	А	0.12063

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; Chr: chromosome; bp: base pairs; MAF: minor allele frequency; beta: effect size for BMI

*Results were derived via linear regressions after adjusting for sex, age, NAFLD status and number automatically selected PCs for population stratifications. Effect sizes (betas) and ORs shown for the corresponding SNP and effect sizes (betas) are reported for the respective effect allele.

3.3.3. Discussion

The present study sought to investigate application of an automated pipeline for PRS extraction using data from the three Greek studies of NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS. In this population of Greek adults, the constructed PRS displayed a statistically significant association for BMI, with an R2 of 0.3241 (beta = 1.011, p-value = $4 \times 10-193$). The iterative pipeline presented here attempts to address various matters on PRS extraction, namely selection of an appropriate threshold for SNP inclusion and prediction accuracy [452] as well as stability of the SNP content of PRS candidates across different training and test dataset splits. In attempting to strengthen PRS construction methodology [453], this pipeline proposes implementation of iterative processes through repetitive steps of sample splitting, aggregating SNP frequency and effect size as well as comparative use of summary statistic metrics and consideration of lifestyle and genetic covariates. As a result, the suggested PRS includes a less extended number of variants but of high explanatory power. In this spectrum, this effort aims at facilitating construction of high-validity PRSs and subsequently promoting their use as a diagnostic tool accounting for various individual characteristics in daily practice. Use of the information of increased or reduced genetic risk for elevated BMI values, as demonstrated by the PRS, can potentially be translated in clinical practice to intensify (in the case of increased risk) or modify and personalize recommendations on lifestyle parameters to combat overweight and obesity. To the best of our knowledge, the present study constitutes the first attempt to develop a PRS for BMI using data from a Greek population and a previous attempt for construction of a PRS has only been referred to once before in the current literature, exploring Parkinson's disease in older Greek adults [454]. Implementation of the suggested aggregated methodology refers, among others, to (a) repetitive splitting of the overall sample; (b) comparative use of different summary statistics in an attempt to reduce population size and SNP selection bias, respectively. Thus, future work will concern attempts in replicating the proposed PRS in wider populations of different ancestry. Other attempts to create PRSs for BMI in populations of European ancestry are extensively described in the current literature, with an overall number of 56 BMI-related entries in the PGS Catalog [165]. All referred entries include parts of populations of European ancestry but present a wide range in the numbers of PRS-included variants, from a few tens up to several thousand or millions, with these numbers possibly limiting their effective usage in research or clinical settings. Although the PRS proposed here includes only 343 SNPs, the yielded R2 of 0.3241 is substantially comparable, and, in some cases, higher, than the ones presented in other PRSs from BMI, which include thousands of SNPs [165]. An overall advantage is also observed when comparing the present results to other attempts in European populations, which have a priori calculated the effect of literature-based PRSs using a limited number of SNPs. Use of our proposed pipeline is an advanced tool due to the notion that the aggregated approach of splitting processes strengthens identification of appropriate and sometimes novel SNPs increases the validity of the results and makes up for the need to have a very large sample size. In the current study, we observe links for various indices related to cardiovascular profile for twelve out of the sixteen variants with GWAS-Catalog-identified associations. The latter could be explained by inclusion of data for THISEAS participants with diagnosed cardiovascular disease (19.58% of the participants). Although the mediating effect of BMI is usually accounted for when investigating the effect of genetic or polygenic risk scores on indices of cardiovascular disease, the reciprocal relation between variation in cardiometabolic indices levels and BMI levels has not been extensively demonstrated through BMI-PRS-included, CVD-related variants. Out of the associated SNPs, the C allele of the rs2710804-included variant presents the majority of reported associations, namely with cell count types (platelets, leukocytes, lymphocytes) and even measurements of C-reactive protein. In this context, the negative effect of the T allele observed in our study ($\beta = -0.1356$) could denote a positive relation of the C allele with metabolic pathways of inflammation and disturbed immunological responses in the subsequent increasing effect of BMI values. Interestingly and among this PRS's novel associations, we find two variants previously linked to gut microbiome measurements in populations of European ancestry. More specifically, Rühlemann MC et al. previously associated the rs480039 SNP with a 0.082571946 unit increase in P Bacteroidetes abundance among German individuals [455]. Similarly, a 0.1019 unit increase in the abundance of parabacteroides in stools of individuals of Finnish ancestry for the A allele of the rs12673506 SNP was shown by Qin et al. [456]. Comparably, our study showed that the G allele of the rs480039 and rs12673506 variants was negatively related to BMI levels (β = -0.1736 and β = -0.1850, respectively). This is not the first time that the Parabacteroides genus has been linked to body weight. The majority of studies denote a higher Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio and a generalized reduction in species variation in individuals with increased body weight or obesity [457], and different studies have found positive associations between genus and normal weight or weight loss in mice, as well as fat loss in humans [456-462]. It is plausible that the corresponding SNPs are further linked to BMI through the genus's role in gut production of bile acids and succinate, which have, in turn, been associated with reduction in body weight [461]. When referring to SNPs related to lifestyle, our suggested PRS included one variant related to well-being (variant rs17662327) and one variant associated with exercise (rs10252228). More specifically, in our sample, presence of the T allele of the former SNP was linked to a 0.1471 change in BMI levels. Previously, Okbay et al. demonstrated a 0.0182 unit increase in sentiment of life satisfaction or emotional well-being of adults for the T allele [462]. Our study further showed that presence of the A allele of the rs10252228 SNP was related to higher BMI values ($\beta = 0.1206$). This finding could be in accordance with the 0.027 unit increase in exercise associated with leisure time shown for the SNP's G allele in Japanese adults [463], meaning that the positive effect of the A allele on BMI could be mediated by individuals' low exercise levels. One of the great strengths of the present study entails implementation of our novel methodology for extraction of PRS, which enables effective management and analysis of the vast amounts of genetic data required for such analyses. The automated pipeline enables practical application of our suggested holistic approach for extensive examination of thousands of SNPs, leading to identification of various novel associations. Through the methodological approach of applying a repetitive process of continuous adjustment of the R 2 measure for the number of each-time-associated SNPs, the pipeline aims to facilitate integration of PRS use in daily healthcare practice, for example as part of widely distributed consumer reports. It should be stressed that, as this methodology is based on the highest R2 values of the aggregate PRS candidates, it ensures high explanatory power of the reduced signature. At the same time, it mitigates any

computational and data management burden imposed by PRSs with large (up to millions) numbers of SNPs. Limitations of the present study mainly concern power given the restrained participant sample size available for conducting analyses. Another limitation refers to use of a unified database of participants from three different studies. It is possible that variation in participant characteristics and bias accompanying use of a large analogic sample size of participants with cardiovascular disease played a considerable part in identifying associations between BMI and SNPs related to regulation of cardiovascular indices. However, we determined that much of the potential variability introduced by the fact of joining three databases was successfully captured by one of the PCs incorporated in the model. In addition, although the hypothesized pathways through which the identified SNPs potentially affect BMI levels provide insight for novel relations, there is little evidence to establish direct causal relationships. However, the present analysis sets a foundation for the suggested causal SNPs, and further research is also needed to explore the possibility of relations through their role as proxies for different associated variants.

4. Conclusive Remarks

The present thesis sought to investigate the effects of genetic and lifestyle determinants on obesity-related characteristics and the modification of corresponding, cardiometabolic risk factors. The aims of the nodes of this Dissertation concerned the conduct of the first-ever dietary intervention examining the effects of different-macronutrient-content-hypocaloric diets in adults with overweight or obesity; the examination of genetic and lifestyle factors affecting adolescent health and cardiometabolic status; and the overall assessment of genetic and gene-diet influences in anthropometric and obesity-related traits and modifications.

The iMPROVE study provides results in line with the ones of similar attempts conducted in European and international projects. The study yielded significant reductions in body weight and body composition indices after an intervention period of 3 months and showed no differentiation between the responses of adults following a low-fat, high-carbohydrate or a high-protein group. What's more, the study showed multiple nominal associations between genetic variants and anthropometric or lifestyle factors, denoting significant effects of genetic makeup on the modification of related indices. More specifically, genetic predisposition can affect changes in weight or quality of life, but populations of bigger sample size are needed to allow for more elaborate conclusions to be drawn.

Furthermore, dietary habits appear to influence adolescent health and cardiometabolic status, with more balanced regimens associated with better glycemic and lipidemic profile. Gene-diet interactions in this crucial-for-development life stage show significant influences in the modifications of obesity-related traits, with VEGF-A variants yielding significant interactions with teenage profiles for the first time. Lastly, in line with international consortia, examining the genetic effect in the form of a constructed PRS appears to also provide significant results in the Greek population, with a newly constructed PRS accounting for a percentage of its BMI variance.

Strengths of the present thesis are summarized in its attempts to respond to previously untreated research questions and fill existing gaps in current literature. This Dissertation attempts to treat a wide range of research questions in an effort to holistically understand and assess the effect of genetic makeup, lifestyle, as well as their respective interplay in factors of cardiometabolic nature. In this way, and building on key-findings in the field of nutrigenetics, the present study aims at providing new and somewhat innovative findings, even in this period of vast scientific achievement in the field. This study yielded results for multiple initiatives taking place for the first time in the examined populations, such as the dietary intervention in the Greek adults, the comparative analyses in the adolescent populations, the examination of the role of VEGF-A on adolescent parameters and the creation of the PRS for adult BMI. Nevertheless, the study presents significant limitations, the central one concerning the limited sample size of the iMPROVE population; a consequence mainly attributed to its timeframe coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic and consecutive quarantines.

In addressing the effect of gene and lifestyle factors on obesity characteristics, the present thesis lays the ground for further research in the field, building and elaborating on its findings. Future directions can concern: i) the investigation of other types of hypocaloric diets in the observed weight loss of Greek adults and subsequent examination of gene-diet interactions; ii) potential attempts in replicating the

constructed GRSs in other populations of different characteristics; and iii) conduct of further GWAS in the populations of the TEENAGE and STANISLAS cohorts. Assessment of the holistic interplay of gene-lifestyle interactions is of vital importance for the indepth understanding of nutrigenetic influences in cardiometabolic modifications, as well as in the general context of promoting and maintaining a good health status. In the future, integration of nutrigenetic information in obesity-prevention and treatment strategies might prove greatly beneficial in successful policy-making and tackling of all sorts of coinciding NCDs.

5. References

- **1.** World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/obesity#tab=tab_1</u>. Accessed on January 5th 2023.
- 2. Weir C.B, Arif. J BMI Classification Percentile And Cut Off Points. 2022. Accessed on January 8th 2023.
- **3.** World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/activities/controlling-the-global-obesity-epidemic. Accessed on January 5th 2023.
- **4.** World Obesity Atlas. 2023. Available at: https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/wof-files/World_Obesity_Atlas_2023_Report.pdf. Accessed on April 26th 2023.
- Dai H, Alsalhe TA, Chalghaf N, Riccò M, Bragazzi NL, Wu J. The global burden of disease attributable to high body mass index in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: An analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study. *PLoS Med.* 2020;17(7):e1003198. Published 2020 Jul 28. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1003198.
- Our World in Data. Available at : <u>https://ourworldindata.org/obesity</u>. Accessed on January 5th 2023.
- **7.** Ritchie H et Roser M. Obesity. 2017. Available at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/obesity'. Accessed on 29 December 2022.
- Eurostat, Statistics Explained. Overweight and obesity- BMI statistics. 2020. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/pdfscache/12376.pdf</u>. Accessed on 29 December 2020.
- **9.** Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Lawman HG, et al. Trends in Obesity Prevalence Among Children and Adolescents in the United States, 1988-1994 Through 2013-2014. *JAMA*. 2016;315(21):2292-2299. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.6361.
- **10.** Tsur AM, Twig G. The actual burden of obesity-accounting for multimorbidity. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2022;10(4):233-234. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00073-0.
- **11.** Arango-Angarita A, Rodríguez-Ramírez S, Serra-Majem L, Shamash-Levy T. Dietary Energy Density and Its Association with Overweight or Obesity in Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Observational Studies. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(11):1612. Published 2018 Nov 1. doi:10.3390/nu10111612.
- United Nations. Sustainable Development Goals. Available at: <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals</u>. Accessed on January 5th 2023.
- **13.** Ralston J, Cooper K, Pow is J. Obesity, SDGs and ROOTS: a Framework for Impact. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2021;10(1):54-60. doi:10.1007/s13679-020-00420-y.
- World Health Organization. Nutrition, overweight and obesity. Available at: <u>WHO-EURO-2021-</u> <u>2574-42330-58595-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed on April 26th 2023.
- **15.** Stelmach-Marda M, Radack T, Dobrowolska-Iwanek J, et al. Link between Food Energy Density and Body Weight Changes in Obese Adults. *Nutrients*. 2016;8(4):229. Published 2016 Apr 20. doi:10.3390/nu8040229.
- **16.** European Association for Obesity (EASO). People-first Language. Available at: <u>People-First</u> Language - EASO. Accessed on January 19th 2023.
- Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Defining Adult Overweight and Obesity. Available at: <u>Defining Adult Overweight & Obesity | Overweight & Obesity | CDC</u>. Accessed on January 19th 2023.
- 18. Harvard T.H. Chan. Ethnic Differences in BMI and Disease Risk. Available at: <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/obesity-prevention-source/ethnic-differences-in-bmi-and-disease-risk/</u>. Accessed on January 19th 2023.
- Umuerri M. Chapter 17-Ethnicity and Cut-Off Values in Obesity. Ronald Ross Watson. Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Abdominal Obesity (Second Edition). Academic Press.2019; Pages 211-223. ISBN 9780128160930. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816093-0.00017-3</u>.
- **20.** Caleyachetty R, Barber TM, Mohammed NI, et al. Ethnicity-specific BMI cutoffs for obesity based on type 2 diabetes risk in England: a population-based cohort study [published correction appears in Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2021 Jul;9(7):e2]. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2021;9(7):419-426. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00088-7.
- **21.** Chiu M, Austin PC, Manuel DG, Shah BR, Tu JV. Deriving ethnic-specific BMI cutoff points for assessing diabetes risk. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(8):1741-1748. doi:10.2337/dc10-2300.
- **22.** April-Sanders AK, Rodriguez CJ. Metabolically Healthy Obesity Redefined. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2021;4(5):e218860. Published 2021 May 3. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.8860.
- Leone A, De Amicis R, Battezzati A, Bertoli S. Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and Risk of Metabolically Unhealthy Obesity in Women: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Nutr. 2022;9:858206. Published 2022 Apr 25. doi:10.3389/fnut.2022.858206.
- **24.** Blüher M. Metabolically Healthy Obesity. *Endocr Rev.* 2020;41(3):bnaa004. doi:10.1210/endrev/bnaa004.
- **25.** Tsatsoulis A, Paschou SA. Metabolically Healthy Obesity: Criteria, Epidemiology, Controversies, and Consequences. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2020;9(2):109-120. doi:10.1007/s13679-020-00375-0.
- 26. Zembic A, Eckel N, Stefan N, Baudry J, Schulze MB. An Empirically Derived Definition of Metabolically Healthy Obesity Based on Risk of Cardiovascular and Total Mortality. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(5):e218505. Published 2021 May 3. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.8505.
- Vukovic R, Dos Santos TJ, Ybarra M, Atar M. Children With Metabolically Healthy Obesity: A Review. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:865. Published 2019 Dec 10. doi:10.3389/fendo.2019.00865.
- **28.** Damanhoury S, Newton AS, Rashid M, Hartling L, Byrne JLS, Ball GDC. Defining metabolically healthy obesity in children: a scoping review. *Obes Rev.* 2018;19(11):1476-1491. doi:10.1111/obr.12721.
- **29.** Llorente-Cantarero FJ, Leis R, Rupérez AI, et al. Prepubertal Children With Metabolically Healthy Obesity or Overweight Are More Active Than Their Metabolically Unhealthy Peers Irrespective of Weight Status: GENOBOX Study. *Front Nutr.* 2022;9:821548. Published 2022 Apr 12. doi:10.3389/fnut.2022.821548.
- **30.** Ades PA, Savage PD. The obesity paradox: perception vs knowledge. *Mayo Clin Proc*. 2010;85(2):112-114. doi:10.4065/mcp.2009.0777.
- **31.** Lavie CJ, De Schutter A, Milani RV. Healthy obese versus unhealthy lean: the obesity paradox. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2015;11(1):55-62. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2014.165.
- **32.** Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H, Graubard BI. Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using standard body mass index categories: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2013;309(1):71-82. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.113905.
- **33.** Lee SH, Han K, Yang HK, et al. A novel criterion for identifying metabolically obese but normal weight individuals using the product of triglycerides and glucose. *Nutr Diabetes*. 2015;5(4):e149. Published 2015 Apr 27. doi:10.1038/nutd.2014.46.
- **34.** Kasper AM, Langan-Evans C, Hudson JF, et al. Come Back Skinfolds, All Is Forgiven: A Narrative Review of the Efficacy of Common Body Composition Methods in Applied Sports Practice. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(4):1075. Published 2021 Mar 25. doi:10.3390/nu13041075.
- **35.** Ellis KJ. Human body composition: in vivo methods. *Physiol Rev.* 2000;80(2):649-680. doi:10.1152/physrev.2000.80.2.649.
- **36.** Kafyra M, Gioxari A. Ch.15 Genetic Predisposition and Body Weight. In Dedoussis G.V. Human Molecular Genetics. Utopia. ISBN-13: 9786185173531.
- **37.** Gnocchi D, Bruscalupi G. Circadian Rhythms and Hormonal Homeostasis: Pathophysiological Implications. *Biology (Basel)*. 2017;6(1):10. Published 2017 Feb 4. doi:10.3390/biology6010010.
- **38.** Lau J, Herzog H. CART in the regulation of appetite and energy homeostasis. *Front Neurosci*. 2014;8:313. Published 2014 Oct 13. doi:10.3389/fnins.2014.00313.
- **39.** Imai J, Katagiri H. Regulation of systemic metabolism by the autonomic nervous system consisting of afferent and efferent innervation. *Int Immunol.* 2022;34(2):67-79. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxab023.
- **40.** Dunn TN, Adams SH. Relations between metabolic homeostasis, diet, and peripheral afferent neuron biology. *Adv Nutr.* 2014;5(4):386-393. Published 2014 Jul 14. doi:10.3945/an.113.005439.
- **41.** Wachsmuth HR, Weninger SN, Duca FA. Role of the gut-brain axis in energy and glucose metabolism. *Exp Mol Med*. 2022;54(4):377-392. doi:10.1038/s12276-021-00677-w.
- **42.** Korner J et Aronne LJ. The emerging science of body weight regulation and its impact on obesity treatment. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(5):565-570. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI17953.

- **43.** Moehlecke M, Canani LH, Oliveira L, e Silva J, Maciel Trindade MR, Friedman R, Bauermann, Leitao CB. Determinants of body weight regulation in humans. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2016;60(2):152-62. DOI: 10.1590/2359-3997000000129.
- **44.** Latorre R, Sternini C, De Giorgio R, Greenwood-Van Meerveld B. Enteroendocrine cells: a review of their role in brain-gut communication. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*. 2016;28(5):620-630. doi:10.1111/nmo.12754.
- **45.** Asadi A, Shadab Mehr N, Mohamadi MH, et al. Obesity and gut-microbiota-brain axis: A narrative review. *J Clin Lab Anal*. 2022;36(5):e24420. doi:10.1002/jcla.24420.
- **46.** Bauer PV, Hamr SC, Duca FA. Regulation of energy balance by a gut-brain axis and involvement of the gut microbiota. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2016;73(4):737-755. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-2083-z.
- **47.** Martínez de Morentin PB, López M. "Mens sana in corpore sano": exercise and hypothalamic ER stress. *PLoS Biol.* 2010;8(8):e1000464. Published 2010 Aug 24. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000464.
- **48.** Captini L, Deitch C, Peikin S. Ch. 2Physiology of Weight Regulation. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444328417.ch2</u>.
- **49.** Lund J, Gerhart-Hines Z, Clemmensen C. Role of Energy Excretion in Human Body Weight Regulation. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 2020;31(10):705-708. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2020.06.002.
- **50.** Yu YH, Vasselli JR, Zhang Y, Mechanick JI, Korner J, Peterli R. Metabolic vs. hedonic obesity: a conceptual distinction and its clinical implications. *Obes Rev.* 2015;16(3):234-247. doi:10.1111/obr.12246.
- **51.** Arias JA, Williams C, Raghvani R, et al. The neuroscience of sadness: A multidisciplinary synthesis and collaborative review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2020;111:199-228. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.01.006.
- **52.** Davidson TL, Kanoski SE, Schier LA, Clegg DJ, Benoit SC. A potential role for the hippocampus in energy intake and body weight regulation. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 2007;7(6):613-616. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2007.10.008.
- **53.** Davidson TL, Chan K, Jarrard LE, Kanoski SE, Clegg DJ, Benoit SC. Contributions of the hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex to energy and body weight regulation. *Hippocampus*. 2009;19(3):235-252. doi:10.1002/hipo.20499.
- **54.** Davidson TL, Hargrave SL, Swithers SE, et al. Inter-relationships among diet, obesity and hippocampal-dependent cognitive function. *Neuroscience*. 2013;253:110-122. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.044.
- **55.** Pineda R, Torres E, Tena-Sempere M. Extrahypothalamic Control of Energy Balance and Its Connection with Reproduction: Roles of the Amygdala. *Metabolites*. 2021;11(12):837. Published 2021 Dec 3. doi:10.3390/metabo11120837.
- **56.** Furlan A, Corona A, Boyle S, et al. Neurotensin neurons in the extended amygdala control dietary choice and energy homeostasis. *Nat Neurosci*. 2022;25(11):1470-1480. doi:10.1038/s41593-022-01178-3.
- 57. Rolls ET. The cingulate cortex and limbic systems for emotion, action, and memory. *Brain Struct Funct*. 2019;224(9):3001-3018. doi:10.1007/s00429-019-01945-2.
- **58.** Saruco E, Pleger B. A Systematic Review of Obesity and Binge Eating Associated Impairment of the Cognitive Inhibition System. *Front Nutr.* 2021;8:609012. Published 2021 Apr 29. doi:10.3389/fnut.2021.609012.
- **59.** Zilberter T. Meal replacement and functional connectivity in the brain network for appetite: connecting the dots. *Front Psychol.* 2015;6:547. Published 2015 Apr 28. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00547.
- **60.** Geliebter A, Benson L, Pantazatos SP, Hirsch J, Carnell S. Greater anterior cingulate activation and connectivity in response to visual and auditory high-calorie food cues in binge eating: Preliminary findings. *Appetite*. 2016;96:195-202. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2015.08.009.
- **61.** Whiting AC, Oh MY, Whiting DM. Deep brain stimulation for appetite disorders: a review. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2018;45(2):E9. doi:10.3171/2018.4.FOCUS18141.
- **62.** Spetter MS, de Graaf C, Viergever MA, Smeets PA. Anterior cingulate taste activation predicts ad libitum intake of sweet and savory drinks in healthy, normal-weight men. *J Nutr.* 2012;142(4):795-802. doi:10.3945/jn.111.153445.

- **63.** Liu CM, Spaulding MO, Rea JJ, Noble EE, Kanoski SE. Oxytocin and Food Intake Control: Neural, Behavioral, and Signaling Mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2021;22(19):10859. Published 2021 Oct 8. doi:10.3390/ijms221910859.
- **64.** Peña-Vargas C, Armaiz-Peña G, Castro-Figueroa E. A Biopsychosocial Approach to Grief, Depression, and the Role of Emotional Regulation. *Behav Sci (Basel)*. 2021;11(8):110. Published 2021 Aug 4. doi:10.3390/bs11080110.
- **65.** Singla P, Bardoloi A, Parkash AA. Metabolic effects of obesity: A review. *World J Diabetes*. 2010;1(3):76-88. doi:10.4239/wjd.v1.i3.76.
- **66.** Chaput JP, McHill AW, Cox RC, et al. The role of insufficient sleep and circadian misalignment in obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2023;19(2):82-97. doi:10.1038/s41574-022-00747-7.
- **67.** Froy O. Circadian rhythms and obesity in mammals. *ISRN Obes*. 2012;2012:437198. Published 2012 Nov 18. doi:10.5402/2012/437198.
- **68.** Torres-Fuentes C, Schellekens H, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The microbiota-gut-brain axis in obesity. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2017;2(10):747-756. doi:10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30147-4.
- **69.** Oliphant K, Allen-Vercoe E. Macronutrient metabolism by the human gut microbiome: major fermentation by-products and their impact on host health. *Microbiome*. 2019;7(1):91. Published 2019 Jun 13. doi:10.1186/s40168-019-0704-8.
- **70.** Portincasa P, Bonfrate L, Vacca M, et al. Gut Microbiota and Short Chain Fatty Acids: Implications in Glucose Homeostasis. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23(3):1105. Published 2022 Jan 20. doi:10.3390/ijms23031105.
- **71.** Cronin P, Joyce SA, O'Toole PW, O'Connor EM. Dietary Fibre Modulates the Gut Microbiota. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(5):1655. Published 2021 May 13. doi:10.3390/nu13051655.
- **72.** Liu BN, Liu XT, Liang ZH, Wang JH. Gut microbiota in obesity. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2021;27(25):3837-3850. doi:10.3748/wjg.v27.i25.3837.
- **73.** Carvalho LML, D'Angelo CS, Villela D, et al. Genetic investigation of syndromic forms of obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2022;46(9):1582-1586. doi:10.1038/s41366-022-01149-5.
- **74.** NHS. Prader-Willi Syndrome. Available at: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/prader-willi-syndrome/</u>. Accessed on February 12th 2023.
- **75.** Ranadive SA, Vaisse C. Lessons from extreme human obesity: monogenic disorders. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*. 2008;37(3):733-x. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2008.07.003.
- **76.** Ranadive SA, Vaisse C. Lessons from extreme human obesity: monogenic disorders. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*. 2008;37(3):733-x. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2008.07.003.
- **77.** Farooqi IS. Monogenic human obesity syndromes. *Handb Clin Neurol*. 2021;181:301-310. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-820683-6.00022-1.
- 78. Salum KCR, Rolando JM, Zembrzuski VM, et al. When Leptin Is Not There: A Review of What Nonsyndromic Monogenic Obesity Cases Tell Us and the Benefits of Exogenous Leptin. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2021;12:722441. Published 2021 Aug 24. doi:10.3389/fendo.2021.722441.
- **79.** Huvenne H, Dubern B, Clément K, Poitou C. Rare Genetic Forms of Obesity: Clinical Approach and Current Treatments in 2016. *Obes Facts*. 2016;9(3):158-173. doi:10.1159/000445061.
- **80.** Lunsky I, Meyre D. Decoding Mendelian obesity. Curr Opin in End and Metab Research. 2019;4:21-28. doi.org/10.1016/j.coemr.2018.10.002.
- 81. O'Dea K. Overview of the thrifty genotype hypothesis. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 1995;4(4):339-340.
- **82.** Speakman JR. Thrifty genes for obesity, an attractive but flawed idea, and an alternative perspective: the 'drifty gene' hypothesis. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2008;32(11):1611-1617. doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.161.
- **83.** GIANT Consortium. Available at: <u>https://portals.broadinstitute.org/collaboration/giant/index.php/GIANT consortium</u>. Accessed on May 1st 2023.

- Fawcett, K. A., & Barroso, I. (2010). The genetics of obesity: FTO leads the way. *Trends in genetics : TIG*, 26(6), 266–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2010.02.006</u>.
- **86.** Fawcett KA, Barroso I. The genetics of obesity: FTO leads the way. *Trends Genet*. 2010;26(6):266-274. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2010.02.006.
- **87.** Lan N, Lu Y, Zhang Y, et al. FTO A Common Genetic Basis for Obesity and Cancer. *Front Genet*. 2020;11:559138. Published 2020 Nov 16. doi:10.3389/fgene.2020.559138.

^{84.} Dd

- **88.** Loos RJF, Yeo GSH. The genetics of obesity: from discovery to biology. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2022;23(2):120-133. doi:10.1038/s41576-021-00414-z.
- **89.** Hinney A, Vogel CI, Hebebrand J. From monogenic to polygenic obesity: recent advances. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2010;19(3):297-310. doi:10.1007/s00787-010-0096-6.
- **90.** Zhao X, Yang Y, Sun BF, Zhao YL, Yang YG. FTO and obesity: mechanisms of association. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2014;14(5):486. doi:10.1007/s11892-014-0486-0.
- **91.** Huang C, Chen W, Wang X. Studies on the fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO) gene and its impact on obesity-associated diseases. *Genes and Diseases*. 2022. doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2022.04.014.
- **92.** Abd Ali HA, Shkurat TP, Abbas AH. Association analysis of FTO gene polymorphisms rs9939609 and obesity risk among the adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Meta Gene. 2021(27):100832. doi.org/10.1016/j.mgene.2020.100832.
- **93.** Mahmoud AM. An Overview of Epigenetics in Obesity: The Role of Lifestyle and Therapeutic Interventions. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23(3):1341. Published 2022 Jan 25. doi:10.3390/ijms23031341.
- 94. Bekdash R. A. (2021). Early Life Nutrition and Mental Health: The Role of DNA Methylation. Nutrients, 13(9), 3111. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13093111</u>.
- **95.** Verduci E, Banderali G, Barberi S, et al. Epigenetic effects of human breast milk. *Nutrients*. 2014;6(4):1711-1724. Published 2014 Apr 24. doi:10.3390/nu6041711.
- **96.** Bingol K. Recent Advances in Targeted and Untargeted Metabolomics by NMR and MS/NMR Methods. *High Throughput*. 2018;7(2):9. Published 2018 Apr 18. doi:10.3390/ht7020009
- **97.** Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Serrano-Contreras JI, et al. Identifying unknown metabolites using NMR-based metabolic profiling techniques. *Nat Protoc.* 2020;15(8):2538-2567. doi:10.1038/s41596-020-0343-3.
- **98.** Cirulli ET, Guo L, Leon Swisher C, et al. Profound Perturbation of the Metabolome in Obesity Is Associated with Health Risk. *Cell Metab.* 2019;29(2):488-500.e2. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2018.09.022.
- **99.** Dias-Audibert FL, Navarro LC, de Oliveira DN, et al. Combining Machine Learning and Metabolomics to Identify Weight Gain Biomarkers. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol*. 2020;8:6. Published 2020 Jan 24. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2020.00006.
- **100.** Vijay A, Valdes AM. The Metabolomic Signatures of Weight Change. *Metabolites*. 2019;9(4):67. Published 2019 Apr 4. doi:10.3390/metabo9040067.
- **101.**Payab M, Tayanloo-Beik A, Falahzadeh K, et al. Metabolomics prospect of obesity and metabolic syndrome; a systematic review. *J Diabetes Metab Disord*. 2021;21(1):889-917. Published 2021 Nov 26. doi:10.1007/s40200-021-00917-w.
- 102.Rangel-Huerta OD, Pastor-Villaescusa B, Gil A. Are we close to defining a metabolomic signature of human obesity? A systematic review of metabolomics studies. *Metabolomics*. 2019;15(6):93. Published 2019 Jun 13. doi:10.1007/s11306-019-1553-y.
- 103. Handakas E, Lau CH, Alfano R, et al. A systematic review of metabolomic studies of childhood obesity: State of the evidence for metabolic determinants and consequences. *Obes Rev.* 2022;23 Suppl 1:e13384. doi:10.1111/obr.13384.
- **104.**López-Contreras BE, Morán-Ramos S, Villarruel-Vázquez R, et al. Composition of gut microbiota in obese and normal-weight Mexican school-age children and its association with metabolic traits. *Pediatr Obes*. 2018;13(6):381-388. doi:10.1111/ijpo.12262.
- **105.**Zhang A, Sun H, Wang X. Emerging role and recent applications of metabolomics biomarkers in obesity
 disease
 research.2017(15).

 https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2017/ra/c6ra28715h.
 research.2017(15).
- **106.** Menni C, Migaud M, Kastenmüller G, et al. Metabolomic Profiling of Long-Term Weight Change: Role of Oxidative Stress and Urate Levels in Weight Gain. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2017;25(9):1618-1624. doi:10.1002/oby.21922.
- **107.** Saner C, Harcourt BE, Pandey A, et al. Sex and puberty-related differences in metabolomic profiles associated with adiposity measures in youth with obesity. *Metabolomics*. 2019;15(5):75. Published 2019 May 3. doi:10.1007/s11306-019-1537-y.
- **108.**Gil Á, Martinez de Victoria E, Olza J. Indicators for the evaluation of diet quality. *Nutr Hosp*. 2015;31 Suppl 3:128-144. Published 2015 Feb 26. doi:10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8761.
- **109.**Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Yuzbashian E, Azizi F. A systematic review of diet quality indices in relation to obesity. *Br J Nutr.* 2017;117(8):1055-1065. doi:10.1017/S0007114517000915.

- **110.** Dalwood P, Marshall S, Burrows TL, McIntosh A, Collins CE. Diet quality indices and their associations with health-related outcomes in children and adolescents: an updated systematic review. *Nutr J.* 2020;19(1):118. Published 2020 Oct 24. doi:10.1186/s12937-020-00632-x.
- 111.Eng JY, Moy FM, Bulgiba A, Rampal S. Dose-Response Relationship between Western Diet and Being Overweight among Teachers in Malaysia. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(10):3092. Published 2020 Oct 11. doi:10.3390/nu12103092.
- **112.**Kafyra M, Kalafati IP, Katsareli EA, et al. The improved Study; Design, Dietary Patterns, and Development of a Lifestyle Index in Overweight and Obese Greek Adults. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(10):3495. Published 2021 Oct 3. doi:10.3390/nu13103495.
- **113.**Guasch-Ferré M, Willett WC. The Mediterranean diet and health: a comprehensive overview. J Intern Med. 2021;290(3):549-566. doi:10.1111/joim.13333.
- **114.**Seidu CN, Fahey PP, Hailemariam TG, Frost SA, Atlantis E. Dietary patterns associated with obesity outcomes in adults: an umbrella review of systematic reviews. *Public Health Nutr*. 2021;24(18):6390-6414. doi:10.1017/S1368980021000823.
- **115.**Kutras Y, Chrysostomou S, Poulimeneas D, Yannakoulia M. Examining the associations between *a posteriori* dietary patterns and obesity indexes: Systematic review of observational studies. *Nutr Health*. 2022;28(2):149-162. doi:10.1177/02601060211020975.
- **116.** Jarvis SE, Nguyen M, Malik VS. Association between adherence to plant-based dietary patterns and obesity risk: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*. 2022;47(12):1115-1133. doi:10.1139/apnm-2022-0059.
- **117.**Lake A, Townshend T. Obesogenic environments: exploring the built and food environments. *J R Soc Promot Health*. 2006;126(6):262-267. doi:10.1177/1466424006070487.
- **118.**Howell NA, Booth GL. The Weight of Place: Built Environment Correlates of Obesity and Diabetes. *Endocr Rev.* 2022;43(6):966-983. doi:10.1210/endrev/bnac005.
- **119.** Fiechtner L, Sharifi M, Sequist T, et al. Food environments and childhood weight status: effects of neighborhood median income. *Child Obes.* 2015;11(3):260-268. doi:10.1089/chi.2014.0139.
- **120.**Osei-Assibey G, Dick S, Macdiarmid J, et al. The influence of the food environment on overweight and obesity in young children: a systematic review [published correction appears in BMJ Open. 2013 Mar 09;3(3):null]. *BMJ Open.* 2012;2(6):e001538. Published 2012 Dec 18. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001538.
- **121.**Gonçalves VSS, Figueiredo ACMG, Silva SA, et al. The food environment in schools and their immediate vicinities associated with excess weight in adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Place*. 2021;71:102664. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2021.102664.
- **122.**Wilding S, Ziauddeen N, Smith D, Roderick P, Chase D, Alwan NA. Are environmental area characteristics at birth associated with overweight and obesity in school-aged children? Findings from the SLOPE (Studying Lifecourse Obesity PrEdictors) population-based cohort in the south of England. *BMC Med.* 2020;18(1):43. Published 2020 Mar 19. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01513-0.
- **123.** Mackenbach JD, Rutter H, Compernolle S, et al. Obesogenic environments: a systematic review of the association between the physical environment and adult weight status, the SPOTLIGHT project. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14:233. Published 2014 Mar 6. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-233.
- **124.**Howell NA, Booth GL. The Weight of Place: Built Environment Correlates of Obesity and Diabetes. *Endocr Rev.* 2022;43(6):966-983. doi:10.1210/endrev/bnac005.
- **125.**Mohammad NS, Nazli R, Zafar H, Fatima S. Effects of lipid based Multiple Micronutrients Supplement on the birth outcome of underweight pre-eclamptic women: A randomized clinical trial. *Pak J Med Sci.* 2022;38(1):219-226. doi:10.12669/pjms.38.1.4396.
- **126.**Yang YJ. An Overview of Current Physical Activity Recommendations in Primary Care. *Korean J Fam Med.* 2019;40(3):135-142. doi:10.4082/kjfm.19.0038.
- **127.**Niemiro GM, Rewane A, Algotar AM. Exercise and Fitness Effect On Obesity. 2023. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539893/#_NBK539893_pubdet.
- **128.**Pojednic R, D'Arpino E, Halliday I, Bantham A. The Benefits of Physical Activity for People with Obesity, Independent of Weight Loss: A Systematic Review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2022;19(9):4981. Published 2022 Apr 20. doi:10.3390/ijerph19094981.
- **129.**Soares R, Brasil I, Monteiro W, Farinatti P. Effects of physical activity on body mass and composition of school-age children and adolescents with overweight or obesity: Systematic

review focusing on intervention characteristics. *J Bodyw Mov Ther*. 2023;33:154-163. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2022.09.004.

- **130.**Chang JT, Anic GM, Rostron BL, Tanwar M, Chang CM. Cigarette Smoking Reduction and Health Risks: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Nicotine Tob Res.* 2021;23(4):635-642. doi:10.1093/ntr/ntaa156.
- **131.**Stojakovic A, Espinosa EP, Farhad OT, Lutfy K. Effects of nicotine on homeostatic and hedonic components of food intake. *J Endocrinol*. 2017;235(1):R13-R31. doi:10.1530/JOE-17-0166.
- **132.**Chao AM, Wadden TA, Ashare RL, Loughead J, Schmidt HD. Tobacco Smoking, Eating Behaviors, and Body Weight: A Review. *Curr Addict Rep*. 2019;6:191-199. doi:10.1007/s40429-019-00253-3.
- **133.**Beccuti G, Pannain S. Sleep and obesity. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2011;14(4):402-412. doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e3283479109.
- 134.Cooper, C. B., Neufeld, E. V., Dolezal, B. A., & Martin, J. L. (2018). Sleep deprivation and obesity in adults: a brief narrative review. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 4(1), e000392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2018-000392</u>.
- 135.Romero-Corral, A., Caples, S. M., Lopez-Jimenez, F., & Somers, V. K. (2010). Interactions between obesity and obstructive sleep apnea: implications for treatment. *Chest*, 137(3), 711– 719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.09-0360</u>.
- 136.Romero-Corral, A., Caples, S. M., Lopez-Jimenez, F., & Somers, V. K. (2010). Interactions between obesity and obstructive sleep apnea: implications for treatment. *Chest*, 137(3), 711– 719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.09-0360</u>.
- **137.**Patel SR. The complex relationship between weight and sleep apnoea. *Thorax*. 2015;70(3):205-206. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-206484.
- 138. Kilpeläinen, T. O., Qi, L., Brage, S., Sharp, S. J., Sonestedt, E., Demerath, E., Ahmad, T., Mora, S., Kaakinen, M., Sandholt, C. H., Holzapfel, C., Autenrieth, C. S., Hyppönen, E., Cauchi, S., He, M., Kutalik, Z., Kumari, M., Stančáková, A., Meidtner, K., Balkau, B., ... Loos, R. J. (2011). Physical activity attenuates the influence of FTO variants on obesity risk: a meta-analysis of 218,166 adults and 19,268 children. *PLoS medicine*, 8(11), e1001116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001116.
- **139.**Xi B, Wang C, Wu L, et al. Influence of physical inactivity on associations between single nucleotide polymorphisms and genetic predisposition to childhood obesity. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2011;173(11):1256-1262. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr008,
- 140.van Vliet-Ostaptchouk, J. V., Snieder, H., & Lagou, V. (2012). Gene-Lifestyle Interactions in Obesity. *Current nutrition reports*, 1(3), 184–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-012-0022-2</u>.
- **141.**Sonestedt E, Roos C, Gullberg B, Ericson U, Wirfält E, Orho-Melander M. Fat and carbohydrate intake modify the association between genetic variation in the FTO genotype and obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2009;90(5):1418-1425. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2009.27958.
- **142.**Qi L. (2012). Gene-Diet Interactions in Complex Disease: Current Findings and Relevance for Public Health. *Current nutrition reports*, 1(4), 222–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-012-0029-8</u>.
- **143.**Qi Q., Chu AY., Kang JH., Jensen MK et al. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Genetic Risk of
Obesity.Obesity.NEnglJMed2012;367:1387-1396DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1203039.
- **144.**Konttinen H, Llewellyn C, Wardle J, et al. Appetitive traits as behavioural pathways in genetic susceptibility to obesity: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5:14726. Published 2015 Oct 1. doi:10.1038/srep14726.
- **145.**Pérusse L, Jacob R, Drapeau V, et al. Understanding Gene-Lifestyle Interaction in Obesity: The Role of Mediation versus Moderation. *Lifestyle Genom*. 2022;15(2):67-76. doi:10.1159/000523813.
- 146.Brunner EJ, Maruyama K, Shipley M, et al. Appetite disinhibition rather than hunger explains genetic effects on adult BMI trajectory [published correction appears in Int J Obes (Lond). 2021 Mar;45(3):711]. Int J Obes (Lond). 2021;45(4):758-765. doi:10.1038/s41366-020-00735-9.
- 147.Nakamura S, Fang X, Saito Y, et al. Effects of gene-lifestyle interactions on obesity based on a multi-locus risk score: A cross-sectional analysis. *PLoS One*. 2023;18(2):e0279169. Published 2023 Feb 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0279169.

- **148.** Ahmad S, Fatima SS, Rukh G, Smith CE. Gene Lifestyle Interactions With Relation to Obesity, Cardiometabolic, and Cardiovascular Traits Among South Asians. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2019;10:221. Published 2019 Apr 9. doi:10.3389/fendo.2019.00221.
- 149. Jones SE, Tyrrell J, Wood AR, et al. Genome-Wide Association Analyses in 128,266 Individuals Identifies New Morningness and Sleep Duration Loci. *PLoS Genet*. 2016;12(8):e1006125. Published 2016 Aug 5. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1006125.
- **150.**Lane JM, Liang J, Vlasac I, et al. Genome-wide association analyses of sleep disturbance traits identify new loci and highlight shared genetics with neuropsychiatric and metabolic traits. *Nat Genet*. 2017;49(2):274-281. doi:10.1038/ng.3749.
- **151.**Lane JM, Jones SE, Dashti HS, et al. Biological and clinical insights from genetics of insomnia symptoms. *Nat Genet*. 2019;51(3):387-393. doi:10.1038/s41588-019-0361-7.
- **152.**Dashti HS, Ordovás JM. Genetics of Sleep and Insights into Its Relationship with Obesity. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2021;41:223-252. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-082018-124258.
- **153.**Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF, et al. Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2010;67(3):220-229. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.2.
- **154.**NHS. Genetic links between depression and obesity explored. 2018. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/news/obesity/genetic-links-between-depression-and-obesity/ . Accessed on 5th April 2023.
- **155.**Ormel J, Hartman CA, Snieder H. The genetics of depression: successful genome-wide association studies introduce new challenges. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2019;9(1):114. Published 2019 Mar 15. doi:10.1038/s41398-019-0450-5.
- **156.**Howard DM, Adams MJ, Clarke TK, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis of depression identifies 102 independent variants and highlights the importance of the prefrontal brain regions. *Nat Neurosci.* 2019;22(3):343-352. doi:10.1038/s41593-018-0326-7.
- **157.**Arnau-Soler A, Macdonald-Dunlop E, Adams MJ, et al. Genome-wide by environment interaction studies of depressive symptoms and psychosocial stress in UK Biobank and Generation Scotland. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2019;9(1):14. Published 2019 Feb 4. doi:10.1038/s41398-018-0360-y.
- **158.** Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, Ripke S, Wray NR, et al. A mega-analysis of genome-wide association studies for major depressive disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2013;18(4):497-511. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.21.
- **159.**Sharma P, Dwivedi S. Nutrigenomics and Nutrigenetics: New Insight in Disease Prevention and Cure. *Indian J Clin Biochem*. 2017;32(4):371-373. doi:10.1007/s12291-017-0699-5.
- **160.**Qi L. (2012). Gene-Diet Interactions in Complex Disease: Current Findings and Relevance for Public Health. *Current nutrition reports*, 1(4), 222–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-012-0029-8</u>.
- **161.**O'Sullivan JW, Raghavan S, Marquez-Luna C, et al. Polygenic Risk Scores for Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2022;146(8):e93-e118. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000001077.
- **162.**O'Sullivan JW, Ashley EA, Elliott PM. Polygenic risk scores for the prediction of cardiometabolic disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2023;44(2):89-99. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehac648.
- **163.**Patel AP, Khera AV. Advances and Applications of Polygenic Scores for Coronary Artery Disease. Annu Rev Med. 2023;74:141-154. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-042921-112629.
- **164.**Pain O, Glanville KP, Hagenaars SP, et al. Evaluation of polygenic prediction methodology within a reference-standardized framework. PLoS Genet. 2021;17(5):e1009021. Published 2021 May 4. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1009021.
- 165.PGS Catalog. Available online: https://www.pgscatalog.org/ (accessed on 17 February 2023).
- 166.Yengo L, Sidorenko J, Kemper KE, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for height and body mass index in ~700000 individuals of European ancestry. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2018;27(20):3641-3649. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddy271
- **167.**Livingstone KM, Brayner B, Celis-Morales C, et al. Associations between dietary patterns, FTO genotype and obesity in adults from seven European countries. Eur J Nutr. 2022;61(6):2953-2965. doi:10.1007/s00394-022-02858-3.

- **168.**Li X, Zhou T, Ma H, et al. Genetic variation in lean body mass, changes of appetite and weight loss in response to diet interventions: The POUNDS Lost trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020;22(12):2305-2315. doi:10.1111/dom.14155.
- **169.**Khera AV, Chaffin M, Wade KH, et al. Polygenic Prediction of Weight and Obesity Trajectories from Birth to Adulthood. *Cell*. 2019;177(3):587-596.e9. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.028.
- **170.**Shi M, Chen W, Sun X, et al. Association of Genome-Wide Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index With Cardiometabolic Health From Childhood Through Midlife. *Circ Genom Precis Med*. 2022;15(4):e003375. doi:10.1161/CIRCGEN.121.003375.
- 171.de Toro-Martín J, Guénard F, Tchernof A, Pérusse L, Marceau S, Vohl MC. Polygenic risk score for predicting weight loss after bariatric surgery. *JCl Insight*. 2018;3(17):e122011. Published 2018 Sep 6. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.122011.
- 172.Katsareli EA, Amerikanou C, Rouskas K, et al. A Genetic Risk Score for the Estimation of Weight Loss After Bariatric Surgery. Obes Surg. 2020;30(4):1482-1490. doi:10.1007/s11695-019-04320-6.
- **173.**Wang CA, Attia JR, Lye SJ, et al. The interactions between genetics and early childhood nutrition influence adult cardiometabolic risk factors. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):14826. Published 2021 Jul 21. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-94206-4.
- **174.**Tan PY, Amini F, Mitra SR. Dietary protein interacts with polygenic risk scores and modulates serum concentrations of C-reactive protein in overweight and obese Malaysian adults. *Nutr Res.* 2022;107:75-85. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2022.09.002.
- **175.**thinness-related genes in preventing obesity risk in middle-aged adults: The KoGES [published online ahead of print, 2023 Jan 12]. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2023;10.1111/jhn.13132. doi:10.1111/jhn.13132.
- **176.**Dashti HS, Levy DE, Hivert MF, et al. Genetic risk for obesity and the effectiveness of the ChooseWell 365 workplace intervention to prevent weight gain and improve dietary choices. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2022;115(1):180-188. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqab303.
- 177.Lee WJ, Lim JE, Jung HU, et al. Analysis of the Interaction between Polygenic Risk Score and Calorie Intake in Obesity in the Korean Population. *Lifestyle Genom*. 2021;14(1):20-29. doi:10.1159/000511333.
- **178.**Konttinen H, Llewellyn C, Silventoinen K, et al. Genetic predisposition to obesity, restrained eating and changes in body weight: a population-based prospective study. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2018;42(4):858-865. doi:10.1038/ijo.2017.278.
- **179.**Dietary Pattern, and Menarche Age with the Obesity Risk in a Large Hospital-Based Cohort. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(11):3772. Published 2021 Oct 25. doi:10.3390/nu13113772.
- **180.**Hüls A, Wright MN, Bogl LH, et al. Polygenic risk for obesity and its interaction with lifestyle and sociodemographic factors in European children and adolescents. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2021;45(6):1321-1330. doi:10.1038/s41366-021-00795-5.
- 181.Livingstone KM, Abbott G, Bowe SJ, Ward J, Milte C, McNaughton SA. Diet quality indices, genetic risk and risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality: a longitudinal analysis of 77 004 UK Biobank participants. *BMJ Open*. 2021;11(4):e045362. Published 2021 Apr 1. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045362.
- **182.**Livingstone KM, Abbott G, Ward J, Bowe SJ. Unhealthy Lifestyle, Genetics and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality in 76,958 Individuals from the UK Biobank Cohort Study. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(12):4283. Published 2021 Nov 27. doi:10.3390/nu13124283.
- **183.**Yun JS, Jung SH, Shivakumar M, et al. Polygenic risk for type 2 diabetes, lifestyle, metabolic health, and cardiovascular disease: a prospective UK Biobank study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* 2022;21(1):131. Published 2022 Jul 14. doi:10.1186/s12933-022-01560-2.
- 184.Hur HJ, Yang HJ, Kim MJ, Lee KH, Kim MS, Park S. Association of Polygenic Variants with Type 2 Diabetes Risk and Their Interaction with Lifestyles in Asians. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(15):3222. Published 2022 Aug 6. doi:10.3390/nu14153222.
- **185.**López-Portillo ML, Huidobro A, Tobar-Calfucoy E, et al. The Association between Fasting Glucose and Sugar Sweetened Beverages Intake Is Greater in Latin Americans with a High

Polygenic Risk Score for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Nutrients*. 2021;14(1):69. Published 2021 Dec 24. doi:10.3390/nu14010069.

- **186.**Lim JE, Kang JO, Ha TW, et al. Gene-environment interaction in type 2 diabetes in Korean cohorts: Interaction of a type 2 diabetes polygenic risk score with triglyceride and cholesterol on fasting glucose levels. *Genet Epidemiol*. 2022;46(5-6):285-302. doi:10.1002/gepi.22454.
- 187.Merino J, Guasch-Ferré M, Li J, et al. Polygenic scores, diet quality, and type 2 diabetes risk: An observational study among 35,759 adults from 3 US cohorts. *PLoS Med*. 2022;19(4):e1003972. Published 2022 Apr 26. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1003972.
- **188.**Zhang S, Stubbendorff A, Olsson K, et al. Adherence to the EAT-Lancet diet, genetic susceptibility, and risk of type 2 diabetes in Swedish adults [published online ahead of print, 2023 Jan 20]. *Metabolism*. 2023;141:155401. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2023.155401.
- 189. Francis ER, Cadar D, Steptoe A, Ajnakina O. Interplay between polygenic propensity for ageingrelated traits and the consumption of fruits and vegetables on future dementia diagnosis. BMC Psychiatry. 2022;22(1):75. Published 2022 Jan 30. doi:10.1186/s12888-022-03717-5.
- **190.**Byrne S, Boyle T, Ahmed M, Lee SH, Benyamin B, Hyppönen E. Lifestyle, genetic risk and incidence of cancer: a prospective cohort study of 13 cancer types [published online ahead of print, 2023 Jan 18]. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2023;dyac238. doi:10.1093/ije/dyac238.
- **191.**Park S, Liu M, Huang S. Association of Polygenic Variants Involved in Immunity and Inflammation with Duodenal Ulcer Risk and Their Interaction with Irregular Eating Habits. *Nutrients*. 2023;15(2):296. Published 2023 Jan 6. doi:10.3390/nu15020296.
- 192. Esteve-Luque V, Fanlo-Maresma M, Padró-Miquel A, et al. Polygenic Risk of Hypertriglyceridemia Is Modified by BMI. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23(17):9837. Published 2022 Aug 30. doi:10.3390/ijms23179837.
- **193.**Schnurr TM, Jakupović H, Carrasquilla GD, et al. Obesity, unfavourable lifestyle and genetic risk of type 2 diabetes: a case-cohort study. *Diabetologia*. 2020;63(7):1324-1332. doi:10.1007/s00125-020-05140-5.
- 194.Moorthie, S., Hall, A., Janus, J., Brigden, T., Babb de Villiers, C., Blackburn, L., Johnson, E., Kroese, M. polygenic Scores and clinical utility. PHG Foundation. 2021. Available at: https://www.phgfoundation.org/media/35/download/polygenic-scores-and-clinicalutility.pdf?v=1 (accessed on 24/01/2023).
- **195.**Kumuthini J, Zick B, Balasopoulou A, et al. The clinical utility of polygenic risk scores in genomic medicine practices: a systematic review. Hum Genet. 2022;141(11):1697-1704. doi:10.1007/s00439-022-02452-x.
- **196.**Lewis CM, Vassos E. Polygenic risk scores: from research tools to clinical instruments. Genome Med. 2020;12(1):44. doi:10.1186/s13073-020-00742-5.
- **197.**Polygenic Risk Score Task Force of the International Common Disease Alliance Responsible use of polygenic risk scores in the clinic: potential benefits, risks and gaps. Nat Med, 2021. 27(11), 1876–1884. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01549-6.
- **198.**Choe EK, Shivakumar M, Lee SM, Verma A, Kim D. Dissecting the clinical relevance of polygenic risk score for obesity-a cross-sectional, longitudinal analysis. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2022;46(9):1686-1693. doi:10.1038/s41366-022-01168-2.
- 199. Padilla-Martinez F, Szczerbiński Ł, Citko A, et al. Testing the Utility of Polygenic Risk Scores for Type 2 Diabetes and Obesity in Predicting Metabolic Changes in a Prediabetic Population: An Observational Study. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23(24):16081. Published 2022 Dec 16. doi:10.3390/ijms232416081.
- **200.**Slunecka JL, van der Zee MD, Beck JJ, et al. Implementation and implications for polygenic risk scores in healthcare. *Hum Genomics*. 2021;15(1):46. Published 2021 Jul 20. doi:10.1186/s40246-021-00339-y.
- 201.Ye Y, Chen X, Han J, Jiang W, Natarajan P, Zhao H. Interactions Between Enhanced Polygenic Risk Scores and Lifestyle for Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes, and Lipid Levels. *Circ Genom Precis Med.* 2021;14(1):e003128. doi:10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.003128.
- 202. UKBiobank. Available online https://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk/ (accessed on 19 February 2023).

- 203.Twins Early Development Study. Available online <u>https://www.teds.ac.uk/</u> (accessed on 19 February 2023).
- **204.** Janssens ACJW. Validity of polygenic risk scores: are we measuring what we think we are?. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2019;28(R2):R143-R150. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddz205.
- **205.**Cross B, Turner R, Pirmohamed M. Polygenic risk scores: An overview from bench to bedside for personalised medicine. *Front Genet.* 2022;13:1000667. Published 2022 Nov 11. doi:10.3389/fgene.2022.1000667.
- **206.**Zhang C, Ye Y, Zhao H. Comparison of Methods Utilizing Sex-Specific PRSs Derived From GWAS Summary Statistics. *Front Genet*. 2022;13:892950. Published 2022 Jul 8. doi:10.3389/fgene.2022.892950.
- **207.**Zhao Z, Fritsche LG, Smith JA, Mukherjee B, Lee S. The construction of cross-population polygenic risk scores using transfer learning. Am J Hum Genet. 2022;109(11):1998-2008. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2022.09.010.
- 208.Kafyra, M., Kalafati, I.P., Dimitriou, M., Grigoriou E., Kokkinos, A., Rallidis, L. et al. Robust bioinformatics approaches result in the first Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek adults. J. Pers. Med. 2023;13(2):327. Published 2023 Feb 14. doi.org/10.3390/jpm13020327.
- **209.**Horne JR, Nielsen DE, Madill J, Robitaille J, Vohl MC, Mutch DM. Guiding Global Best Practice in Personalized Nutrition Based on Genetics: The Development of a Nutrigenomics Care Map. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2022;122(2):259-269. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2021.02.008.
- **210.**Peña-Romero AC, Navas-Carrillo D, Marín F, Orenes-Piñero E. The future of nutrition: Nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics in obesity and cardiovascular diseases. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2018;58(17):3030-3041. doi:10.1080/10408398.2017.1349731.
- **211.**Vyas S. Advances in Nutrigenomics and Applications in Public Health: A Recent Update. *Curr Res Nutr Food Sci.* 2022; 10(3). doi : http://dx.doi.org/10.12944/CRNFSJ.10.3.23.
- **212.**Floris M, Cano A, Porru L, et al. Direct-to-Consumer Nutrigenetics Testing: An Overview. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(2):566. Published 2020 Feb 21. doi:10.3390/nu12020566.
- **213.**Safaei M, Sundararajan EA, Driss M, Boulila W, Shapi'i A. A systematic literature review on obesity: Understanding the causes & consequences of obesity and reviewing various machine learning approaches used to predict obesity. *Comput Biol Med.* 2021;136:104754. doi:10.1016/j.compbiomed.2021.104754.
- **214.**Uranga RM, Keller JN. The Complex Interactions Between Obesity, Metabolism and the Brain. *Front Neurosci*. 2019;13:513. Published 2019 May 24. doi:10.3389/fnins.2019.00513.
- **215.**Singla, P., Bardoloi, A., & Parkash, A. A. (2010). Metabolic effects of obesity: A review. *World journal of diabetes*, 1(3), 76–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v1.i3.76</u>.
- **216.**Pi-Sunyer X. The Medical Risks of Obesity. Postgrad Med. 2009. 121(6): 21–33. doi:10.3810/pgm.2009.11.2074.
- 217.Grundy SM, Brewer HB, Cleeman JI, Smith SC, Lenfant C. Definition of Metabolic Syndrome Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association Conference on Scientific Issues Related to Definition. NHLB1/AHA Conference Proceedings. Circulation. 2004. 109(3):433-438. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000111245.75752.C6
- **218.**Regufe, V. M. G., Pinto, C. M. C. B., & Perez, P. M. V. H. C. (2020). Metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetic patients: a review of current evidence. *Porto biomedical journal*, *5*(6), e101. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pbj.00000000000101.
- **219.**Bagheri P, Khalili D, Seif M, Rezaianzadeh A. Dynamic behavior of metabolic syndrome progression: a comprehensive systematic review on recent discoveries. *BMC Endocr Disord*. 2021;21(1):54. Published 2021 Mar 22. doi:10.1186/s12902-021-00716-7.
- **220.**Saboya, P. P., Bodanese, L. C., Zimmermann, P. R., Gustavo, A. D., Assumpção, C. M., & Londero, F. (2016). Metabolic syndrome and quality of life: a systematic review. *Revista latino-americana de enfermagem, 24*, e2848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1518-8345.1573.2848</u>.
- **221.**Ottosson F, Smith E, Ericson U, et al. Metabolome-Defined Obesity and the Risk of Future Type 2 Diabetes and Mortality. *Diabetes Care*. 2022;45(5):1260-1267. doi:10.2337/dc21-2402.
- 222.Marott, S. C., Nordestgaard, B. G., Tybjærg-Hansen, A., & Benn, M. (2016). Components of the Metabolic Syndrome and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 101(8), 3212–3221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-3777</u>.

- 223.Shin, J. A., Lee, J. H., Lim, S. Y., Ha, H. S., Kwon, H. S., Park, Y. M., Lee, W. C., Kang, M. I., Yim, H. W., Yoon, K. H., & Son, H. Y. (2013). Metabolic syndrome as a predictor of type 2 diabetes, and its clinical interpretations and usefulness. *Journal of diabetes investigation*, 4(4), 334–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12075.
- **224.**Hildebrandt X, Ibrahim M, Peltzer N. Cell death and inflammation during obesity: "Know my methods, WAT(son)". *Cell Death Differ*. 2023;30(2):279-292. doi:10.1038/s41418-022-01062-4.
- 225. Kirichenko, T. V., Markina, Y. V., Bogatyreva, A. I., Tolstik, T. V., Varaeva, Y. R., & Starodubova, A. V. (2022). The Role of Adipokines in Inflammatory Mechanisms of Obesity. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 23(23), 14982. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232314982</u>.
- **226.**Shi J, Fan J, Su Q, Yang Z. Cytokines and Abnormal Glucose and Lipid Metabolism. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2019;10:703. Published 2019 Oct 30. doi:10.3389/fendo.2019.00703.
- 227.di Somma, M.; Vliora, M.; Grillo, E.; Castro, B.; Dakou, E.; Schaafsma, W.; Vanparijs, J.; Corsini, M.; Ravelli, C.; Sakellariou, E.; et al. Role of VEGFs in metabolic disorders. Angiogenesis 2020, 23, 119–130.
- **228.**Elias, I.; Franckhauser, S.; Bosch, F. New insights into adipose tissue VEGF-A actions in the control of obesity and insulin resistance. Adipocyte 2013, 2, 109–112.
- 229.Abhinand, C.S.; Raju, R.; Soumya, S.J.; Arya, P.S.; Sudhakaran, P.R. VEGF-A/VEGFR2 signaling network in endothelial cells relevant to angiogenesis. J. Cell Commun. Signal. 2016, 10, 347– 354.
- **230.**Guangqi, E.; Cao, Y.; Bhattacharya, S.; Dutta, S.; Wang, E.; Mukhopadhyay, D. Endogenous Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A (VEGF-A) Maintains Endothelial Cell Homeostasis by Regulating VEGF Receptor-2 Transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 2012, 287, 3029–3041.
- **231.**Gennari-Moser, C.; Khankin, E.V.; Escher, G.; Burkhard, F.; Frey, B.M.; Karumanchi, S.A.; Frey, F.J.; Mohaupt, M.G. Vascular endothelial growth factor-A and aldosterone: Relevance to normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Hypertension 2013, 61, 1111–1117.
- **232.**Pi, X.; Xie, L.; Patterson, C. Emerging Roles of Vascular Endothelium in Metabolic Homeostasis. Circ. Res. 2018, 123, 477–494.
- 233.Zhou, Y.; Zhu, X.; Wang, H.; Duan, C.; Cui, H.; Shi, J.; Shi, S.; Yuan, G.; Hu, Y. The Role of VEGF Family in Lipid Metabolism. Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. 2022, 24, 253–265.
- **234.**Staels, W.; Heremans, Y.; Heimberg, H.; De Leu, N. VEGF-A and blood vessels: A beta cell perspective. Diabetologia 2019, 62, 1961–1968.
- 235.Braile, M.; Marcella, S.; Cristinziano, L.; Galdiero, M.R.; Modestino, L.; Ferrara, A.L.; Varricchi, G.; Marone, G.; Loffredo, S. VEGF-A in Cardiomyocytes and Heart Diseases. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2020, 21, 5294.
- 236.Debette, S.; Visvikis-Siest, S.; Chen, M.-H.; Ndiaye, N.-C.; Song, C.; Destefano, A.; Safa, R.; Nezhad, M.A.; Sawyer, D.; Marteau, J.-B.; et al. Identification of cis- and trans-Acting Genetic Variants Explaining Up to Half the Variation in Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Levels. Circ. Res. 2011, 109, 554–563.
- **237.**Choi, S.H.; Ruggiero, D.; Sorice, R.; Song, C.; Nutile, T.; Smith, A.V.; Concas, M.P.; Traglia, M.; Barbieri, C.; Ndiaye, N.C.; et al. Six Novel Loci Associated with Circulating VEGF Levels Identified by a Meta-analysis of Genome-Wide Association Studies. PLoS Genet. 2016, 12, e1005874.
- **238.**Stathopoulou, M.G.; Bonnefond, A.; Ndiaye, N.C.; Azimi-Nezhad, M.; El Shamieh, S.; Saleh, A.; Rancier, M.; Siest, G.; Lamont, J.; Fitzgerald, P.; et al. A common variant highly associated with plasma VEGFA levels also contributes to the variation of both LDL-C and HDL-C. J. Lipid Res. 2013, 54, 535–541.
- **239.**Petrelis, A.M.; Stathopoulou, M.G.; Kafyra, M.; Murray, H.; Masson, C.; Lamont, J.; Fitzgerald, P.; Dedoussis, G.; Yen, F.T.; Visvikis-Siest, S. VEGF-A-related genetic variants protect against Alzheimer's disease. Aging 2022, 14, 2524–2536.
- **240.**Salami, A.; El Shamieh, S. Association between SNPs of Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Levels, Hypercholesterolemia and Metabolic Syndrome. Medicina 2019, 55, 464.
- **241.**Kim, Y.R.; Hong, S.-H. The Protective Effects of the VEGF–2578C>A and –1154G>A Polymorphisms Against Hypertension Susceptibility. Genet. Test. Mol. Biomark. 2015, 19, 476–480.
- 242.Ghazizadeh, H.; Esmaeily, H.; Sharifan, P.; Parizadeh, S.M.R.; Ferns, G.A.; Rastegar-Moghaddam, A.; Khedmatgozar, H.; GhayourMobarhan, M.; Avan, A. Interaction between a

genetic variant in vascular endothelial growth factor with dietary intakes in association with the main factors of metabolic syndrome. Gene Rep. 2020, 21, 100813.

- **243.**Hoseini, Z.; Azimi-Nezhad, M.; Ghayour-Mobarhan, M.; Avan, A.; Eslami, S.; Nematy, M.; Mirhafez, S.R.; Ghazavi, H.; Ferns, G.A.; Safarian, M. VEGF gene polymorphism interactions with dietary trace elements intake in determining the risk of metabolic syndrome. J. Cell. Biochem. 2018, 120, 1398–1406.
- **244.**Chedid, P.; Salami, A.; Ibrahim, M.; Visvikis-Siest, S.; El Shamieh, S. The association of vascular endothelial growth factor related SNPs and circulating iron levels might depend on body mass index. Front. Biosci. 2022, 27, 27.
- 245.DeForest N, Majithia AR. Genetics of Type 2 Diabetes: Implications from Large-Scale Studies. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2022;22(5):227-235. doi:10.1007/s11892-022-01462-3.
- **246.**Xue A, Wu Y, Zhu Z, et al. Genome-wide association analyses identify 143 risk variants and putative regulatory mechanisms for type 2 diabetes. *Nat Commun*. 2018;9(1):2941. Published 2018 Jul 27. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-04951-w.
- **247.**Billings LK, Florez JC. The genetics of type 2 diabetes: what have we learned from GWAS?. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2010;1212:59-77. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05838.x.
- **248.**Chen J, Spracklen CN, Marenne G, et al. The trans-ancestral genomic architecture of glycemic traits. *Nat Genet*. 2021;53(6):840-860. doi:10.1038/s41588-021-00852-9.
- **249.**Ingelsson E, McCarthy MI. Human Genetics of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Past, Present, and Future. *Circ Genom Precis Med*. 2018;11(6):e002090. doi:10.1161/CIRCGEN.118.002090.
- **250.**Stratification of obese phenotypes to optimize future obesity therapy. Available at: <u>SOPHIA</u> <u>IHI Innovative Health Initiative (europa.eu)</u>. Accessed on April 26th 2023.
- **251.**Grarup N, Sandholt CH, Hansen T, Pedersen O. Genetic susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and obesity: from genome-wide association studies to rare variants and beyond. *Diabetologia*. 2014;57(8):1528-1541. doi:10.1007/s00125-014-3270-4.
- **252.** Martinez A, Milagro FI. Genetics of weight loss: A basis for personalized obesity management. Trends in Food Science and Technology. 2015;42(2):97-115. doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2014.12.007
- **253.**Lamiquiz-Moneo I, Mateo-Gallego R, Bea AM, et al. Genetic predictors of weight loss in overweight and obese subjects. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):10770. Published 2019 Jul 24. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-47283-5.
- **254.**Heitkamp M, Siegrist M, Molnos S, et al. Obesity Genes and Weight Loss During Lifestyle Intervention in Children With Obesity. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2021;175(1):e205142. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.5142.
- **255.**Muresan AA, Rusu A, Roman G, Bala C. METABOLOMIC ANALYSIS OF NORMAL WEIGHT, HEALTHY AND UNHEALTHY OBESITY: AMINO ACID CHANGE ACROSS THE SPECTRUM OF METABOLIC WELLBEING IN WOMEN. *Acta Endocrinol (Buchar)*. 2021;17(4):427-431. doi:10.4183/aeb.2021.427
- **256.**Cuevas-Sierra A, Milagro FI, Guruceaga E, et al. A weight-loss model based on baseline microbiota and genetic scores for selection of dietary treatments in overweight and obese population. *Clin Nutr.* 2022;41(8):1712-1723. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2022.06.008.
- **257.** Moehlecke M, Canani LH, Silva LO, Trindade MR, Friedman R, Leitão CB. Determinants of body weight regulation in humans. *Arch Endocrinol Metab*. 2016;60(2):152-162. doi:10.1590/2359-3997000000129.
- **258.**Flore G, Preti A, Carta MG, et al. Weight Maintenance after Dietary Weight Loss: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis on the Effectiveness of Behavioural Intensive Intervention. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(6):1259. Published 2022 Mar 16. doi:10.3390/nu14061259.
- 259.Ge, L., Sadeghirad, B., Ball, G. D. C., da Costa, B. R., Hitchcock, C. L., Svendrovski, A., Kiflen, R., Quadri, K., Kwon, H. Y., Karamouzian, M., Adams-Webber, T., Ahmed, W., Damanhoury, S., Zeraatkar, D., Nikolakopoulou, A., Tsuyuki, R. T., Tian, J., Yang, K., Guyatt, G. H., & Johnston, B. C. (2020). Comparison of dietary macronutrient patterns of 14 popular named dietary programmes for weight and cardiovascular risk factor reduction in adults: systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 369*, m696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m696</u>.

- **260.** Varkevisser RDM, van Stralen MM, Kroeze W, Ket JCF, Steenhuis IHM. Determinants of weight loss maintenance: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2019;20(2):171-211. doi:10.1111/obr.12772.
- **261.**Ramage S, Farmer A, Eccles KA, McCargar L. Healthy strategies for successful weight loss and weight maintenance: a systematic review. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* 2014;39(1):1-20. doi:10.1139/apnm-2013-0026.
- **262.**Kelly JT, Reidlinger DP, Hoffmann TC, Campbell KL. Telehealth methods to deliver dietary interventions in adults with chronic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;104(6):1693-1702. doi:10.3945/ajcn.116.136333.
- **263.**Barnett A, Wright C, Stone C, et al. Effectiveness of dietary interventions delivered by digital health to adults with chronic conditions: Systematic review and meta-analysis [published online ahead of print, 2022 Dec 11]. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* 2022;10.1111/jhn.13125. doi:10.1111/jhn.13125.
- **264.**Qiu LT, Sun GX, Li L, Zhang JD, Wang D, Fan BY. Effectiveness of multiple eHealth-delivered lifestyle strategies for preventing or intervening overweight/obesity among children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2022;13:999702. Published 2022 Sep 5. doi:10.3389/fendo.2022.999702.
- **265.**Ard JD, Miller G, Kahan S. Nutrition Interventions for Obesity. Medical Clinics of North America. 2016;100(6):1341-1356. doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2016.06.012.
- **266.**Crane, M. M., Jeffery, R. W., & Sherwood, N. E. (2017). Exploring Gender Differences in a Randomized Trial of Weight Loss Maintenance. *American journal of men's health*, *11*(2), 369–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316681221</u>.
- **267.**Williams, R. L., Wood, L. G., Collins, C. E., & Callister, R. (2015). Effectiveness of weight loss interventions--is there a difference between men and women: a systematic review. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, *16*(2), 171–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12241</u>.
- 268. Cornejo-Pareja, I., Molina-Vega, M., Gómez-Pérez, A. M., Damas-Fuentes, M., & Tinahones, F. J. (2021). Factors Related to Weight Loss Maintenance in the Medium-Long Term after Bariatric Surgery: A Review. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 10(8), 1739. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10081739.
- **269.** Jones, L., Cleator, J., & Yorke, J. (2016). Maintaining weight loss after bariatric surgery: when the spectator role is no longer enough. *Clinical obesity*, *6*(4), 249–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cob.12152</u>.
- **270.**Chao AM, Quigley KM, Wadden TA. Dietary interventions for obesity: clinical and mechanistic findings. *J Clin Invest*. 2021;131(1):e140065. doi:10.1172/JCl140065.
- **271.**Steur M. Very Low-Energy Diets-Opportunity for Greater Weight Loss, but Risk of Bone Loss. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2019;2(10):e1913752. Published 2019 Oct 2. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.13752.
- **272.**Welton, S., Minty, R., O'Driscoll, T., Willms, H., Poirier, D., Madden, S., & Kelly, L. (2020). Intermittent fasting and weight loss: Systematic review. *Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien*, *66*(2), 117–125..
- 273. Patikorn C, Roubal K, Veettil SK, et al. Intermittent Fasting and Obesity-Related Health Outcomes: An Umbrella Review of Meta-analyses of Randomized Clinical Trials. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(12):e2139558. Published 2021 Dec 1. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.39558.
- 274.Gu, L., Fu, R., Hong, J., Ni, H., Yu, K., & Lou, H. (2022). Effects of Intermittent Fasting in Human Compared to a Non-intervention Diet and Caloric Restriction: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Frontiers in nutrition*, 9, 871682. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.871682</u>.
- 275. Varady KA, Cienfuegos S, Ezpeleta M, Gabel K. Clinical application of intermittent fasting for weight loss: progress and future directions. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2022;18(5):309-321. doi:10.1038/s41574-022-00638-x.
- **276.**Muscogiuri G, El Ghoch M, Colao A, et al. European Guidelines for Obesity Management in Adults with a Very Low-Calorie Ketogenic Diet: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Obes Facts*. 2021;14(2):222-245. doi:10.1159/000515381.
- **277.**Wu H, Wylie-Rosett J, Qi Q. Dietary Interventions for Weight Loss and Maintenance: Preference or Genetic Personalization? Current Nutrition Reports. 2013;2:189-198. doi.org/10.1007/s13668-013-0061-3.

- 278.Sylvetsky AC, Edelstein SL, Walford G, et al. A High-Carbohydrate, High-Fiber, Low-Fat Diet Results in Weight Loss among Adults at High Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. J Nutr. 2017;147(11):2060-2066. doi:10.3945/jn.117.252395.
- 279. Look AHEAD Research Group, Wadden, T. A., West, D. S., Delahanty, L., Jakicic, J., Rejeski, J., Williamson, D., Berkowitz, R. I., Kelley, D. E., Tomchee, C., Hill, J. O., & Kumanyika, S. (2006). The Look AHEAD study: a description of the lifestyle intervention and the evidence supporting it. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 14(5), 737–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2006.84</u>.
- 280.Bueno NB, de Melo IS, de Oliveira SL, da Rocha Ataide T. Very-low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet v. low-fat diet for long-term weight loss: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br J Nutr. 2013;110(7):1178-1187. doi:10.1017/S0007114513000548.
- 281.Hu T, Mills KT, Yao L, et al. Effects of low-carbohydrate diets versus low-fat diets on metabolic risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176 Suppl 7(Suppl 7):S44-S54. doi:10.1093/aje/kws264.
- 282.Stanton, M. V., Robinson, J. L., Kirkpatrick, S. M., Farzinkhou, S., Avery, E. C., Rigdon, J., Offringa, L. C., Trepanowski, J. F., Hauser, M. E., Hartle, J. C., Cherin, R. J., King, A. C., Ioannidis, J. P., Desai, M., & Gardner, C. D. (2017). DIETFITS study (diet intervention examining the factors interacting with treatment success) Study design and methods. *Contemporary clinical trials*, 53, 151–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2016.12.021</u>.
- 283.Gardner CD, Trepanowski JF, Del Gobbo LC, et al. Effect of Low-Fat vs Low-Carbohydrate Diet on 12-Month Weight Loss in Overweight Adults and the Association With Genotype Pattern or Insulin Secretion: The DIETFITS Randomized Clinical Trial [published correction appears in JAMA. 2018 Apr 3;319(13):1386] [published correction appears in JAMA. 2018 Apr 24;319(16):1728]. JAMA. 2018;319(7):667-679. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.0245.
- **284.**Churuangsuk C, Kherouf M, Combet E, Lean M. Low-carbohydrate diets for overweight and obesity: a systematic review of the systematic reviews. *Obes Rev.* 2018;19(12):1700-1718. doi:10.1111/obr.12744.
- **285.**Smith ES, Smith HA, Betts JA, Gonzalez JT, Atkinson G. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Comparing Heterogeneity in Body Mass Responses Between Low-Carbohydrate and Low-Fat Diets. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2020;28(10):1833-1842. doi:10.1002/oby.22968.
- **286.**Moon, J., & Koh, G. (2020). Clinical Evidence and Mechanisms of High-Protein Diet-Induced Weight Loss. *Journal of obesity & metabolic syndrome*, *29*(3), 166–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.7570/jomes20028</u>.
- **287.**Gögebakan O, Kohl A, Osterhoff MA, et al. Effects of weight loss and long-term weight maintenance with diets varying in protein and glycemic index on cardiovascular risk factors: the diet, obesity, and genes (DiOGenes) study: a randomized, controlled trial. *Circulation*. 2011;124(25):2829-2838. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.033274.
- **288.**Toth PP, Bays HE, Brown WV, et al. Comparing remnant lipoprotein cholesterol measurement methods to evaluate efficacy of ezetimibe/statin vs statin therapy. *J Clin Lipidol*. 2019;13(6):997-1007.e8. doi:10.1016/j.jacl.2019.09.001.
- **289.**Soltani S, Shirani F, Chitsazi MJ, Salehi-Abargouei A. The effect of dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet on weight and body composition in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Obes Rev.* 2016;17(5):442-454. doi:10.1111/obr.12391.
- **290.**Estruch R, Ros E. The role of the Mediterranean diet on weight loss and obesity-related diseases. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. 2020;21(3):315-327. doi:10.1007/s11154-020-09579-0.
- **291.**Shai I, Schwarzfuchs D, Henkin Y, Shahar DR et al. Weight Loss with a Low-Carbohydrate, Mediterranean, or Low-Fat Diet. N Engl J Med 2008; 359:229-241 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708681.
- **292.**Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, et al. Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease with a Mediterranean Diet Supplemented with Extra-Virgin Olive Oil or Nuts. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;378(25):e34. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1800389.
- **293.**Kim JY. Optimal Diet Strategies for Weight Loss and Weight Loss Maintenance. J Obes Metab Syndr. 2021;30(1):20-31. doi:10.7570/jomes20065
- 294.Sohn, M. J., Chae, W., Ko, J. S., Cho, J. Y., Kim, J. E., Choi, J. Y., Jang, H. B., Lee, H. J., Park, S. I., Park, K. H., van der Spek, P. J., & Moon, J. S. (2021). Metabolomic Signatures for the Effects of Weight Loss Interventions on Severe Obesity in Children and Adolescents. *Metabolites*, 12(1), 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo12010027</u>.

- **295.**Rigamonti AE, Frigerio G, Caroli D, et al. A Metabolomics-Based Investigation of the Effects of a Short-Term Body Weight Reduction Program in a Cohort of Adolescents with Obesity: A Prospective Interventional Clinical Study. *Nutrients*. 2023;15(3):529. Published 2023 Jan 19. doi:10.3390/nu15030529.
- **296.**Konstantinidou V, Garcia-Santamarina S. Moving forward the Effects of Gene-Diet Interactions on Human Health. *Nutrients*. 2022;14(18):3782. Published 2022 Sep 14. doi:10.3390/nu14183782.
- **297.**Westerman KE, Walker ME, Gaynor SM, et al. Investigating gene-diet interactions impacting the association between macronutrient intake and glycemic traits [published online ahead of print, 2023 Feb 15]. *Diabetes*. 2023;72(5):653-665. doi:10.2337/db22-0851.
- **298.**Aldubayan MA, Pigsborg K, Gormsen SMO, et al. A double-blinded, randomized, parallel intervention to evaluate biomarker-based nutrition plans for weight loss: The PREVENTOMICS study. *Clin Nutr*. 2022;41(8):1834-1844. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2022.06.032.
- **299.**Horne J, Gilliland J, O'Connor C, Seabrook J, Madill J. Enhanced long-term dietary change and adherence in a nutrigenomics-guided lifestyle intervention compared to a population-based (GLB/DPP) lifestyle intervention for weight management: results from the NOW randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Nutr Prev Health*. 2020;3(1):49-59. Published 2020 May 21. doi:10.1136/bmjnph-2020-000073.
- **300.**Handjieva-Darlenska T, Holst C, Grau K, et al. Clinical correlates of weight loss and attrition during a 10-week dietary intervention study: results from the NUGENOB project. *Obes Facts*. 2012;5(6):928-936. doi:10.1159/000345951.
- **301.**Ramos-Lopez O, Riezu-Boj JI, Milagro FI, Goni L, Cuervo M, Martinez JA. Differential lipid metabolism outcomes associated with ADRB2 gene polymorphisms in response to two dietary interventions in overweight/obese subjects. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2018;28(2):165-172. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2017.11.006.
- **302.**Sørensen TI, Boutin P, Taylor MA, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and weight loss in obesity: a randomised trial of hypo-energetic high- versus low-fat diets. *PLoS Clin Trials*. 2006;1(2):e12. doi:10.1371/journal.pctr.0010012.
- **303.**Stocks T, Angquist L, Banasik K, et al. TFAP2B influences the effect of dietary fat on weight loss under energy restriction. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(8):e43212. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043212.
- **304.**Tan PY, Mitra SR, Amini F. Lifestyle Interventions for Weight Control Modified by Genetic Variation: A Review of the Evidence. Public Health Genomics. 2018;21(5-6):169-185. doi:10.1159/000499854
- **305.**de Luis DA, Izaola O, Primo D, Lopez Gomez JJ, Aller R. RS9939609 FTO gene variant modified weight loss and insulin resistance after a partial meal-replacement hypocaloric diet. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2020;24(10):5573-5581. doi:10.26355/eurrev_202005_21343.
- **306.**De Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Martinez A. Chapter 23 Genetic Variations With Influence on the Individualized Response to Weight Loss Diets: FTO as Evidence. doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804572-5.00023-9
- **307.**Grau K, Hansen T, Holst C, et al. Macronutrient-specific effect of FTO rs9939609 in response to a 10-week randomized hypo-energetic diet among obese Europeans. Int J Obes (Lond). 2009;33(11):1227-1234. doi:10.1038/ijo.2009.159.
- **308.**de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, et al. Evaluation of weight loss and adipocytokines levels after two hypocaloric diets with different macronutrient distribution in obese subjects with rs9939609 gene variant. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2012;28(8):663-668. doi:10.1002/dmrr.2323.
- **309.**Parastouei K, Rostami H, Ramezani AA, Tavakoli H, Alipour M. Gene-diet interaction of FTOrs9939609 gene variant and hypocaloric diet on glycemic control in overweight and obese adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Chin Med J (Engl). 2020;133(3):310-317. doi:10.1097/CM9.00000000000617.
- **310.**Tuncay C, Ergoren MC. A systematic review of precision nutrition and Mediterranean Diet: A personalized nutrition approaches for prevention and management of obesity related disorders. Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2020;38:61-64. doi:10.1016/j.clnesp.2020.04.005.
- **311.**Kafyra M, Kalafati IP, Kumar S, et al. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. Nutrients. 2021;13(1):198. Published 2021 Jan 10. doi:10.3390/nu13010198.

- **312.**Kafyra M, Kalafati IP, Gavra I, Siest S, Dedoussis GV. Associations of VEGF-A-Related Variants with Adolescent Cardiometabolic and Dietary Parameters. Nutrients. 2023;15(8):1884. Published 2023 Apr 13. doi:10.3390/nu15081884.
- **313.**Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Arvaniti F, Stefanadis C. Adherence to the Mediterranean food pattern predicts the prevalence of hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes and obesity, among healthy adults; the accuracy of the MedDietScore. Prev Med. 2007;44(4):335-340. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2006.12.009.
- **314.**Björgvinsson, T., Kertz, S. J., Bigda-Peyton, J. S., McCoy, K. L., & Aderka, I. M. (2013). Psychometric properties of the CES-D-10 in a psychiatric sample. Assessment, 20(4), 429–436. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191113481998.
- **315.**Ware, J., Jr, Kosinski, M., & Keller, S. D. (1996). A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. Medical care, 34(3), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199603000-00003.
- **316.**Soldatos, C. R., Dikeos, D. G., & Paparrigopoulos, T. J. (2000). Athens Insomnia Scale: validation of an instrument based on ICD-10 criteria. Journal of psychosomatic research, 48(6), 555–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3999(00)00095-7.
- **317.**Psychosom. Res. 2000, 48, 555–560. [CrossRef] 16. Bountziouka, V.; Bathrellou, E.; Giotopoulou, A.; Katsagoni, C.N.; Bonou, M.; Vallianou, N.; Barbetseas, J.; Avgerinos, P.; Panagiotakos, D. Development, repeatability and validity regarding energy and macronutrient intake of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire: Methodological considerations. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 2012, 22, 659–667.
- **318.**International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ). Revised in 2013. Available online: https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/ questionnaire_links (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- **319.**ThermoFisher Scientific. iPrep[™] PureLink[™] gDNA Blood Kit. Available online: https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/ product/IS10005#/IS10005 (accessed on 30 July 2021).
- **320.**Thermoscientific. Interpretation of Nucleic Acid 260/280 Ratios. Available at: <u>https://assets.thermofisher.com/TFS-Assets/CAD/Product-Bulletins/T123-NanoDrop-Lite-</u> <u>Interpretation-of-Nucleic-Acid-260-280-Ratios.pdf</u>. Accessed on February 27th 2023.
- **321.**Axiom[™] Precision Medicine Diversity Array Plus Kit, 96-format. Thermoficher Scientific. Available at: https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/951961#/951961.
- **322.**IBM Support. SPSS Statistics 23.0 Now Available for Download. Available online: https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/spssstatistics-230-now-available-download (accessed on January 5th 2023).
- **323.** The R Project for Statistical Computing. Last Modified in 2020. Available online: https://www.r-project.org/ (accessed on January 5th 2023).
- **324.**Krishnaveni P, Gowda VM. Assessing the Validity of Friedewald's Formula and Anandraja's Formula For Serum LDL-Cholesterol Calculation. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9(12):BC01-BC4. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2015/16850.6870.
- **325.**NutritionistPro. Available at: <u>https://nutritionistpro.com/</u>. Accessed on April 26th 2023.
- **326.**Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. Nature. 2015;518(7538):197-206. doi:10.1038/nature14177.
- **327.**Ntalla, I.; Panoutsopoulou, K.; Vlachou, P.; Southam, L.; Rayner, N.W.; Zeggini, E.; Dedoussis, G.V. Replication of Established Common Genetic Variants for Adult BMI and Childhood Obesity in Greek Adolescents: The TEENAGE Study. Ann. Hum. Genet. 2013, 77, 268–274.
- **328.**Ntalla, I.; Yannakoulia, M.; Dedoussis, G.V. An Overweight Preventive Score associates with obesity and glycemic traits. Metabolism 2016, 65, 81–88.
- **329.**Ntalla, I.; Giannakopoulou, M.; Vlachou, P.; Giannitsopoulou, K.; Gkesou, V.; Makridi, C.; Marougka, M.; Mikou, G.; Ntaoutidou, K.; Prountzou, E.; et al. Body composition and eating behaviours in relation to dieting involvement in a sample of urban Greek adolescents from the TEENAGE (TEENs of Attica: Genes & Environment) study. Public Health Nutr. 2014, 17, 561–568.
- 330.Siest, G.; Visvikis, S.; Herbeth, B.; Gueguen, R.; Vincent-Viry, M.; Sass, C.; Beaud, B.; Lecomte, E.; Steinmetz, J.; Locuty, J.; et al. Objectives, Design and Recruitment of a Familial and Longitudinal Cohort for Studying Gene-Environment Interactions in the Field of Cardiovascular Risk: The Stanislas Cohort. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. 1998, 36, 35–42, doi:10.1515/CCLM.1998.007.

- **331.**Visvikis-Siest, S.; Siest, G. The STANISLAS Cohort: A 10-year follow-up of supposed healthy families. Gene-environment interactions, reference values and evaluation of biomarkers in prevention of cardiovascular diseases. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. 2008, 46, 733–747, doi:10.1515/CCLM.2008.178.
- **332.**Billon, S.; Lluch, A.; Gueguen, R.; Berthier, A.M.; Siest, G.; Herbeth, B. Family resemblance in breakfast energy intake: The Stanislas Family Study. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 2002. 56, 1011–1019, doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601440.
- 333. Purcell, S.; Neale, B.; Todd-Brown, K.; Thomas, L.; Ferreira, M.A.R.; Bender, D.; Maller, J.; Sklar, P.; de Bakker, P.I.W.; Daly, M.J.; et al. PLINK: A Tool Set for Whole-Genome Association and Population-Based Linkage Analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 2007, 81, 559–575.
- **334.**Kalafati, I.P.; Dimitriou, M.; Borsa, D.; Vlachogiannakos, J.; Revenas, K.; Kokkinos, A.; Ladas, S.D.; Dedoussis, G.V. Fish intake interacts with TM6SF2 gene variant to affect NAFLD risk: Results of a case-control study. Eur. J. Nutr. 2019, 58, 1463–1473.
- **335.**Kalafati, I.P.; Borsa, D.; Dimitriou, M.; Revenas, K.; Kokkinos, A.; Dedoussis, G.V. Dietary patterns and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a Greek case-control study. Nutrition 2019, 61, 105–110.
- **336.**Grigoriou, E.V.; Trovas, G.; Papaioannou, N.; Makras, P.; Kokkoris, P.; Dontas, I.; Makris, K.; Tournis, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status, quantitative ultrasound parameters, and their determinants in Greek population. Arch. Osteoporos. 2018, 13, 111.
- 337.Theodoraki, E.V.; Nikopensius, T.; Suhorutsenko, J.; Peppes, V.; Fili, P.; Kolovou, G.; Papamikos, V.; Richter, D.; Zakopoulos, N.; Krjutškov, K.; et al. Fibrinogen beta variants confer protection against coronary artery disease in a Greek case-control study. BMC Med. Genet. 2010, 11, 28.
- **338.** Marouli, E.; Kanoni, S.; Dimitriou, M.; Kolovou, G.; Deloukas, P.; Dedoussis, G. Lifestyle may modify the glucose-raising effect of genetic loci. A study in the Greek population. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2016, 26, 201–206.
- **339.**Marchini, J.; Howie, B.; Myers, S.; McVean, G.; Donnelly, P. A new multipoint method for genome-wide association studies by imputation of genotypes. Nat. Genet. 2007, 39, 906–913.
- **340.**Choi, S.W.; O'Reilly, P.F. PRSice-2: Polygenic Risk Score software for biobank-scale data. Gigascience 2019, 8, giz082.
- **341.**Mostafavi, H.; Harpak, A.; Agarwal, I.; Conley, D.; Pritchard, J.K.; Przeworski, M. Variable prediction accuracy of polygenic scores within an ancestry group. eLife 2020, 9, e48376.
- **342.** Maraki, M.I.; Hatzimanolis, A.; Mourtzi, N.; Stefanis, L.; Yannakoulia, M.; Kosmidis, M.H.; Dardiotis, E.; Hadjigeorgiou, G.M.; Sakka, P.; Ramirez, A.; et al. Association of the Polygenic Risk Score With the Probability of Prodromal Parkinson's Disease in Older Adults. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 2021, 14, 739571.
- **343.**Mu, M.; Xu, L.-F.; Hu, N.; Wu, J.; Bai, M.-J. Dietary Patterns and Overweight/Obesity: A Review Article. Iran. J. Public Health 2017, 46, 869–876.
- **344.**Saghafi-Asl, M.; Mirmajidi, S.; Jafarabadi, M.A.; Vahid, F.; Shivappa, N.; Hébert, J.R.; Attari, V.E. The association of dietary patterns with dietary inflammatory index, systemic inflammation, and insulin resistance, in apparently healthy individuals with obesity. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 7515.
- **345.**Roman, G.; Rusu, A.; Graur, M.; Creteanu, G.; Morosanu, M.; Radulian, G.; Amorin, P.; Timar, R.; Pircalaboiu, L.; Bala, C. Dietary Patterns and Their Association with Obesity: A Cross-Sectional Study. Acta Endocrinol. 2019, 15, 86–95.
- **346.**Malinowska, A.; Młodzik-Czyzewska, M.; Chmurzynska, A. Dietary patterns associated with obesity and overweight: When ⁻ should misreporters be included in analysis? Nutrition 2020, 70, 110605.
- **347.**Neri-Sánchez, M.; Martínez-Carrillo, B.E.; Valdés-Ramos, R.; Soto-Piña, A.E.; Vargas-Hernández, J.A.; Benítez-Arciniega, A.D. Dietary patterns, central obesity and serum lipids concentration in Mexican adults. Nutr. Hosp. 2019, 36, 109–117.
- **348.**Wang, Y.-Y.; Tian, T.; Pan, D.; Zhang, J.-X.; Xie, W.; Wang, S.-K.; Xia, H.; Dai, Y.; Sun, G. The relationship between dietary patterns and overweight and obesity among adult in Jiangsu Province of China: A structural equation model. BMC Public Health 2021, 21, 1225.
- **349.**Farmaki, A.-E.; Rayner, N.W.; Kafyra, M.; Matchan, A.; Ntaoutidou, K.; Feritoglou, P.; Athanasiadis, A.; Gilly, A.; Mamakou, V.; Zengini, E.; et al. A Dietary Pattern with High Sugar Content Is Associated with Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in the Pomak Population. Nutrients 2019, 11, 3043.

- **350.** Asghari, G.; Mirmiran, P.; Yuzbashian, E.; Azizi, F. A systematic review of diet quality indices in relation to obesity. Br. J. Nutr. 2017, 117, 1055–1065.
- **351.**Kosti, R.I.; Panagiotakos, D.B.; Mariolis, A.; Zampelas, A.; Athanasopoulos, P.; Tountas, Y. The Diet–Lifestyle Index evaluating the quality of eating and lifestyle behaviours in relation to the prevalence of overweight/obesity in adolescents. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 2009, 60 (Suppl. S3), 34–47.
- **352.**Kontogianni, M.D.; Farmaki, A.-E.; Vidra, N.; Sofrona, S.; Magkanari, F.; Yannakoulia, M. Associations between Lifestyle Patterns and Body Mass Index in a Sample of Greek Children and Adolescents. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 2010, 110, 215–221.
- **353.**McKenzie, F.; Biessy, C.; Ferrari, P.; Freisling, H.; Rinaldi, S.; Chajès, V.; Dahm, C.; Overvad, K.; Dossus, L.; Lagiou, P.; et al. Healthy Lifestyle and Risk of Cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition Cohort Study. Medicine 2016, 95, e2850.
- **354.**Barbaresko, J.; Rienks, J.; Nöthlings, U. Lifestyle Indices and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: A Meta-Analysis. Am. J. Prev. Med. 2018, 55, 555–564.
- **355.**Zhang, Y.; Pan, X.-F.; Chen, J.; Xia, L.; Cao, A.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J.; Li, H.; Yang, K.; Guo, K.; et al. Combined lifestyle factors and risk of incident type 2 diabetes and prognosis among individuals with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Diabetologia 2019, 63, 21–33.
- **356.**Lenz, T.L.; Gillespie, N.D.; Skradski, J.J.; Viereck, L.K.; Packard, K.A.; Monaghan, M.S. Development of a Composite Lifestyle Index and Its Relationship to Quality of Life Improvement: The CLI Pilot Study. ISRN Prev. Med. 2013, 2013, 481030.
- **357.**Roda, C.; Charreire, H.; Feuillet, T.; MacKenbach, J.D.; Compernolle, S.; Glonti, K.; Bárdos, H.; Rutter, H.; McKee, M.; Brug, J.; et al. Lifestyle correlates of overweight in adults: A hierarchical approach (the SPOTLIGHT project). Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 2016, 13, 114.
- **358.**Ventriglio, A., Sancassiani, F., Contu, M. P., Latorre, M., Di Slavatore, M., Fornaro, M., & Bhugra, D. (2020). Mediterranean Diet and its Benefits on Health and Mental Health: A Literature Review. *Clinical practice and epidemiology in mental health : CP & EMH*, *16*(Suppl-1), 156–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017902016010156</u>.
- **359.**Henríquez Sánchez P, Ruano C, de Irala J, Ruiz-Canela M, Martínez-González MA, Sánchez-Villegas A. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and quality of life in the SUN Project. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2012;66(3):360-368. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2011.146.
- **360.**Yin W, Löf M, Chen R, Hultman CM, Fang F, Sandin S. Mediterranean diet and depression: a population-based cohort study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2021;18(1):153. Published 2021 Nov 27. doi:10.1186/s12966-021-01227-3.
- **361.**Xu P, Huang Y, Hou Q, et al. Relationship between physical activity and mental health in a national representative cross-section study: Its variations according to obesity and comorbidity. *J Affect Disord*. 2022;308:484-493. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2022.04.037.
- **362.** Pojednic, R., D'Arpino, E., Halliday, I., & Bantham, A. (2022). The Benefits of Physical Activity for People with Obesity, Independent of Weight Loss: A Systematic Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *19*(9), 4981. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19094981.
- **363.**Di Lorenzo R, Pedretti J, Grossi L, et al. The association of Mediterranean diet and exercise modifications with anthropometric parameters in a psychiatric community population: A pilot study. *Prev Med Rep.* 2017;9:68-71. Published 2017 Dec 27. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.12.013.
- 364.Sacks, F. M., Bray, G. A., Carey, V. J., Smith, S. R., Ryan, D. H., Anton, S. D., McManus, K., Champagne, C. M., Bishop, L. M., Laranjo, N., Leboff, M. S., Rood, J. C., de Jonge, L., Greenway, F. L., Loria, C. M., Obarzanek, E., & Williamson, D. A. (2009). Comparison of weight-loss diets with different compositions of fat, protein, and carbohydrates. *The New England journal of medicine*, 360(9), 859–873. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0804748.
- 365.Gardner, C. D., Trepanowski, J. F., Del Gobbo, L. C., Hauser, M. E., Rigdon, J., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Desai, M., & King, A. C. (2018). Effect of Low-Fat vs Low-Carbohydrate Diet on 12-Month Weight Loss in Overweight Adults and the Association With Genotype Pattern or Insulin Secretion: The DIETFITS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA, 319(7), 667–679. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.0245.
- **366.**Parr EB, Coffey VG, Cato LE, Phillips SM, Burke LM, Hawley JA. A randomized trial of high-dairyprotein, variable-carbohydrate diets and exercise on body composition in adults with obesity. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2016;24(5):1035-1045. doi:10.1002/oby.21451.

- **367.**Petersen M, Taylor MA, Saris WH, et al. Randomized, multi-center trial of two hypo-energetic diets in obese subjects: high- versus low-fat content. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2006;30(3):552-560. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803186.
- 368.Butryn, M. L., Call, C. C., Schumacher, L. M., Kerrigan, S. G., & Forman, E. M. (2018). Time to Peak Weight Loss During Extended Behavioral Treatment. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 26(4), 658–664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22127</u>.
- 369.Ahern, A. L., Wheeler, G. M., Aveyard, P., Boyland, E. J., Halford, J. C. G., Mander, A. P., Woolston, J., Thomson, A. M., Tsiountsioura, M., Cole, D., Mead, B. R., Irvine, L., Turner, D., Suhrcke, M., Pimpin, L., Retat, L., Jaccard, A., Webber, L., Cohn, S. R., & Jebb, S. A. (2017). Extended and standard duration weight-loss programme referrals for adults in primary care (WRAP): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 389(10085), 2214–2225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30647-5.
- **370.**Lemstra M, Bird Y, Nwankwo C, Rogers M, Moraros J. Weight loss intervention adherence and factors promoting adherence: a meta-analysis. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2016;10:1547-1559. Published 2016 Aug 12. doi:10.2147/PPA.S103649.
- **371.**Gibson, A. A., & Sainsbury, A. (2017). Strategies to Improve Adherence to Dietary Weight Loss Interventions in Research and Real-World Settings. *Behavioral sciences (Basel, Switzerland)*, 7(3), 44. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bs7030044</u>.
- **372.**de Souza RJ, Bray GA, Carey VJ, et al. Effects of 4 weight-loss diets differing in fat, protein, and carbohydrate on fat mass, lean mass, visceral adipose tissue, and hepatic fat: results from the POUNDS LOST trial. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2012;95(3):614-625. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.026328.
- **373.**Rojo-Tirado MA, Benito PJ, Ruiz JR, et al. Body Composition Changes after a Weight Loss Intervention: A 3-Year Follow-Up Study. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(1):164. Published 2021 Jan 7. doi:10.3390/nu13010164.
- **374.**Beccuti, G., & Pannain, S. (2011). Sleep and obesity. *Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care*, 14(4), 402–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.0b013e3283479109</u>.
- **375.**Georgoulis M, Yiannakouris N, Tenta R, et al. A weight-loss Mediterranean diet/lifestyle intervention ameliorates inflammation and oxidative stress in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: results of the "MIMOSA" randomized clinical trial. *Eur J Nutr.* 2021;60(7):3799-3810. doi:10.1007/s00394-021-02552-w.
- 376.Lasikiewicz N, Myrissa K, Hoyland A, Lawton CL. Psychological benefits of weight loss following behavioural and/or dietary weight loss interventions. A systematic research review. *Appetite*. 2014;72:123-137. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2013.09.017.
- 377.Alhalel N, Schueller SM, O'Brien MJ. Association of changes in mental health with weight loss during intensive lifestyle intervention: does the timing matter?. *Obes Sci Pract*. 2018;4(2):153-158. Published 2018 Mar 14. doi:10.1002/osp4.157.
- **378.** Fatma R, Chauhan W, Shahi MH, Afzal M. Association of BDNF gene missense polymorphism rs6265 (Val66Met) with three quantitative traits, namely, intelligence quotient, body mass index, and blood pressure: A genetic association analysis from North India. *Front Neurol.* 2023;13:1035885. Published 2023 Jan 20. doi:10.3389/fneur.2022.1035885.
- **379.**Rana S, Mirza S, Rahmani S. The BDNF rs6265 variant may interact with overweight and obesity to influence obesity-related physical, metabolic and behavioural traits in Pakistani individuals. *Ann Hum Biol.* 2018;45(6-8):496-505. doi:10.1080/03014460.2018.1561947.
- **380.**Ma XY, Qiu WQ, Smith CE, et al. Association between BDNF rs6265 and obesity in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. *J Obes*. 2012;2012:102942. doi:10.1155/2012/102942.
- **381.**Ma XY, Qiu WQ, Smith CE, et al. Association between BDNF rs6265 and obesity in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. *J Obes*. 2012;2012:102942. doi:10.1155/2012/102942.
- **382.**Hosseini-Esfahani F, Koochakpoor G, Daneshpour MS, Mirmiran P, Sedaghati-Khayat B, Azizi F. The interaction of fat mass and obesity associated gene polymorphisms and dietary fiber intake in relation to obesity phenotypes. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):18057. Published 2017 Dec 22. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-18386-8.
- 383. Ding, M., Ellervik, C., Huang, T., Jensen, M. K., Curhan, G. C., Pasquale, L. R., Kang, J. H., Wiggs, J. L., Hunter, D. J., Willett, W. C., Rimm, E. B., Kraft, P., Chasman, D. I., Qi, L., Hu, F. B., & Qi, Q. (2018). Diet quality and genetic association with body mass index: results from 3 observational studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, *108*(6), 1291–1300. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy203.

- **384.**Wang T, Heianza Y, Sun D, et al. Improving adherence to healthy dietary patterns, genetic risk, and long term weight gain: gene-diet interaction analysis in two prospective cohort studies [published correction appears in BMJ. 2018 Feb 12;360:k693]. *BMJ*. 2018;360:j5644. Published 2018 Jan 10. doi:10.1136/bmj.j5644.
- **385.**Nettleton JA, Follis JL, Ngwa JS, et al. Gene × dietary pattern interactions in obesity: analysis of up to 68 317 adults of European ancestry. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2015;24(16):4728-4738. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddv186.
- **386.**Hajmir MM, Mirzababaei A, Clark CCT, Ghaffarian-Ensaf R, Mirzaei K. The interaction between MC4R gene variant (rs17782313) and dominant dietary patterns on depression in obese and overweight women: a cross sectional study. *BMC Endocr Disord*. 2023;23(1):83. Published 2023 Apr 18. doi:10.1186/s12902-023-01335-0.
- **387.**Tan PY, Moore JB, Bai L, Tang G, Gong YY. In the context of the triple burden of malnutrition: A systematic review of gene-diet interactions and nutritional status [published online ahead of print, 2022 Oct 12]. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2022;1-29. doi:10.1080/10408398.2022.2131727.
- 388. Gyekis, J. P., Yu, W., Dong, S., Wang, H., Qian, J., Kota, P., & Yang, J. (2013). No association of genetic variants in BDNF with major depression: a meta- and gene-based analysis. American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics, 162B(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32122.
- **389.**Bruncsics B, Hullam G, Bolgar B, et al. Genetic risk of depression is different in subgroups of dietary ratio of tryptophan to large neutral amino acids. *Sci Rep.* 2023;13(1):4976. Published 2023 Mar 27. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-31495-x.
- 390.Ortega, M. A., Fraile-Martínez, Ó., García-Montero, C., Alvarez-Mon, M. A., Lahera, G., Monserrat, J., Llavero-Valero, M., Mora, F., Rodríguez-Jiménez, R., Fernandez-Rojo, S., Quintero, J., & Alvarez De Mon, M. (2022). Nutrition, Epigenetics, and Major Depressive Disorder: Understanding the Connection. *Frontiers in nutrition*, *9*, 867150. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.867150</u>.
- **391.**Franzago M, Di Nicola M, Fraticelli F, Marchioni M, Stuppia L, Vitacolonna E. Nutrigenetic variants and response to diet/lifestyle intervention in obese subjects: a pilot study. *Acta Diabetol*. 2022;59(1):69-81. doi:10.1007/s00592-021-01787-7.
- **392.**Sørensen TI, Boutin P, Taylor MA, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and weight loss in obesity: a randomised trial of hypo-energetic high- versus low-fat diets. *PLoS Clin Trials*. 2006;1(2):e12. doi:10.1371/journal.pctr.0010012.
- **393.** McCaffery JM, Jablonski KA, Pan Q, et al. Genetic Predictors of Change in Waist Circumference and Waist-to-Hip Ratio With Lifestyle Intervention: The Trans-NIH Consortium for Genetics of Weight Loss Response to Lifestyle Intervention. *Diabetes*. 2022;71(4):669-676. doi:10.2337/db21-0741.
- **394.**Huang T, Zheng Y, Hruby A, et al. Dietary Protein Modifies the Effect of the *MC4R* Genotype on 2-Year Changes in Appetite and Food Craving: The POUNDS Lost Trial. *J Nutr.* 2017;147(3):439-444. doi:10.3945/jn.116.242958.
- 395.Adamska-Patruno, E., Bauer, W., Bielska, D., Fiedorczuk, J., Moroz, M., Krasowska, U., Czajkowski, P., Wielogorska, M., Maliszewska, K., Puckowska, S., Szczerbinski, L., Lipinska, D., Gorska, M., & Kretowski, A. (2021). An Association between Diet and *MC4R* Genetic Polymorphism, in Relation to Obesity and Metabolic Parameters-A Cross Sectional Population-Based Study. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 22(21), 12044. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222112044.
- **396.** Alizadeh S, Pooyan S, Mirzababaei A, Arghavani H, Hasani H, Mirzaei K. Interaction of MC4R rs17782313 variants and dietary carbohydrate quantity and quality on basal metabolic rate and general and central obesity in overweight/obese women: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Endocr Disord*. 2022;22(1):121. Published 2022 May 10. doi:10.1186/s12902-022-01023-5.
- **397.**Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, et al. FTO genotype and 2-year change in body composition and fat distribution in response to weight-loss diets: the POUNDS LOST Trial [published correction appears in Diabetes. 2013 Feb;62(2):662. Smith, Steven R [added]; Bray, George A [added]]. *Diabetes*. 2012;61(11):3005-3011. doi:10.2337/db11-1799.
- **398.**Deng, F. Y., Tan, L. J., Shen, H., Liu, Y. J., Liu, Y. Z., Li, J., Zhu, X. Z., Chen, X. D., Tian, Q., Zhao, M., & Deng, H. W. (2013). SNP rs6265 regulates protein phosphorylation and osteoblast

differentiation and influences BMD in humans. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 28(12), 2498–2507. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.1997.

- **399.** Miksza U, Adamska-Patruno E, Bauer W, et al. Obesity-related parameters in carriers of some BDNF genetic variants may depend on daily dietary macronutrients intake. *Sci Rep.* 2023;13(1):6585. Published 2023 Apr 21. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-33842-4.
- **400.** Naeini Z, Abaj F, Rafiee M, Koohdani F. Interactions of BDNF Val66met and dietary indices in relation to metabolic markers among patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study. *J Health Popul Nutr.* 2023;42(1):34. Published 2023 Apr 18. doi:10.1186/s41043-023-00375-5.
- **401.** Daily JW, Park S. Interaction of BDNF rs6265 variants and energy and protein intake in the risk for glucose intolerance and type 2 diabetes in middle-aged adults. *Nutrition*. 2017;33:187-194. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2016.07.001.
- **402.**Heianza Y, Ma W, Huang T, et al. Macronutrient Intake-Associated FGF21 Genotype Modifies Effects of Weight-Loss Diets on 2-Year Changes of Central Adiposity and Body Composition: The POUNDS Lost Trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(11):1909-1914. doi:10.2337/dc16-1111.
- **403.** Farooq S, Rana S, Siddiqui AJ, Iqbal A, Musharraf SG. Association of metabolites with obesity based on two gene variants, MC4R rs17782313 and BDNF rs6265. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*. 2021;1867(7):166144. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2021.166144.
- **404.**Cordain, L.; Eaton, S.B.; Sebastian, A.; Mann, N.; Lindeberg, S.; Watkins, B.A.; O'Keefe, J.H.; Brand-Miller, J. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: Health implications for the 21st century. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2005, 81, 341–354.
- **405.**Billon, S.; Lluch, A.; Gueguen, R.; Berthier, A.M.; Siest, G.; Herbeth, B. Family resemblance in breakfast energy intake: The Stanislas Family Study. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 2002, 56, 1011–1019
- **406.**Bellisle, F.; Hebel, P.; Salmon-Legagneur, A.; Vieux, F. Breakfast consumption in french children, adolescents, and adults: A nationally representative cross-sectional survey examined in the context of the international Breakfast Research Initiative. Nutrients 2018, 10, 1056.
- **407.**Manzel, A.; Muller, D.N.; Hafler, D.A.; Erdman, S.E.; Linker, R.A.; Kleinewietfeld, M. Role of "Western Diet" in Inflammatory Autoimmune Diseases. Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. 2014, 14, 404.
- **408.**Saneei, P.; Hashemipour, M.; Kelishadi, R.; Esmaillzadeh, A. The dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet affects inflammation in childhood metabolic syndrome: A randomized cross-over clinical trial. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 2014, 64, 20–27.
- **409.**Chiavaroli, L.; Viguiliouk, E.; Nish, S.K.; Blanco Mejia, S.; Rahelic, D.; Kahleova, H.; Salas-Salvado, J.; Kendall, C.W.C.; Sievenpiper, J.L. DASH dietary pattern and cardiometabolic outcomes: An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Nutrients 2019, 11, 338.
- 410. Mazidi, M.; Kengne, A.P.; Mikhailidis, D.P.; Cicero, A.; Banach, M. Effects of selected dietary constituents on high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in U.S. adults. Ann. Med. 2018, 50, 1–6.
- **411.**O'Connor, L.; Imamura, F.; Brage, S.; Griffin, S.J.; Wareham, N.J.; Forouhi, N.G. Intakes and sources of dietary sugars and their association with metabolic and inflammatory markers. Clin. Nutr. 2018, 37, 1313–1322.
- **412.**Lazarou, C.; Philippou, E. C-reactiive protein and diet quality in Children. In Diet Quality: An Evidence-Based Approach; Preedy, V.R., Hunter, L.A., Patel, V.B., Eds.; Humana Press: London, UK, 2013; pp. 75–100.
- **413.**Karampola, M.; Argiriou, A.; Hitoglou-Makedou, A. Study on dietary constituents, hs-CRP serum levels and investigation of correlation between them in excess weight adolescents. Hippokratia 2019, 23, 3–8.
- **414.**Qureshi, M.M.; Singer, M.R.; Moore, L.L. A cross-sectional study of food group intake and C-reactive protein among children. Nutr. Meta (Lond.) 2009, 6, 40.
- **415.**Gutiérrez-Pliego, L.E.; Camarillo-Romero, E.S.; Montenegro-Morales, L.P.; Garduño-García, J.D.J. Dietary patterns associated with body mass index (BMI) and lifestyle in Mexican adolescents. BMC Public Health 2016, 16, 850.
- **416.**Santos, N.H.; Fiaccone, R.L.; Barreto, M.L.; Silva, L.A.D.; Silva, R.D.C.R. Association between eating patterns and body mass index in a sample of children and adolescents in Northeastern Brazil. Cad. Saúde Pública 2014, 30, 2235–2245.

- **417.**Ambrosini, G.L.; Huang, R.C.; Mori, T.A.; Hands, B.P.; O'Sullivan, T.A.; de Klerk, N.; Beilin, L.J.; Oddy, W.H. Dietary patterns and markers for the metabolic syndrome in Australian adolescents. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 2010, 20, 274–283. [
- **418.**Rocha, N.P.; Cupertino, L.M.; Longo, G.Z.; Ribeiro, A.Q.; Novaes, J.F. Association between dietary pattern and cardiometabolic risk in children and adolescents: A systematic review. J. Pediatr. 2017, 93, 214–222
- **419.** Joung, H.; Hong, S.; Song, Y.; Ahn, B.C.; Park, M.J. Dietary patterns and metabolic syndrome risk factors among adolescents. Korean J. Pediatr. 2012, 55, 128–135.
- **420.**National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. DASH Eating Plan. 2009. Available online: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/ resources/heart/hbp-dash-introduction-html (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- **421.**Castro-Barquero, S.; Ruiz-León, A.M.; Pérez-Sierra, M.; Estruch, R.; Casas, R. Dietary strategies for metabolic syndrome: A comprehensive review. Nutrients 2020, 12, 2983.
- **422.**Barnes, T.L.; Crandell, J.L.; Bell, R.A.; Mayer-Davis, E.J.; Dabelea, D.; Liese, A.D. Change in DASH diet score and cardiovascular risk factors in youth with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Nutr. Diabetes 2013, 3, e91.
- **423.**Rahimi, H.; Yuzbashian, E.; Zareie, R.; Asghari, G.; Djazayery, A.; Movahedi, A.; Mirmiran, P. Dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) score and obesity phenotypes in children and adolescents. Nutr. J. 2020, 19, 112.
- **424.**Wells, J.; Swaminathan, A.; Paseka, J.; Hanson, C. Efficacy and safety of a ketogenic diet in children and adolescents with refractory epilepsy—A review. Nutrients 2020, 12, 1809.
- **425.**Payne, N.E.; Cross, H.; Sander, J.W.; Sisodiya, S.M. The ketogenic and related diets in adolescents and adults—A review. Epilepsia 2011, 52, 1941–1948.
- **426.**Partsalaki, I.; Karvela, A.; Spiliotis, B.E. Metabolic impact of a ketogenic diet compared to a hypocaloric diet in obese children and adolescents. J. Pediatr. Endocr. Met. 2012, 25, 697–704.
- **427.**González-Gil, E.M.; Martínez-Olivan, B.; Widhalm, K.; Lambrinou, C.P.; De Henauw, S.; Gottrand, F.; Kafatos, A.; Beghin, L.; Molnar, D.; Kersting, M.; et al. Healthy eating determinants and dietary patterns in European adolescents: The HELENA study. Child Adolesc. Obes. 2019, 2, 18–39.
- **428.** McNaughton, S.A.; Ball, K.; Mishra, G.D.; Crawford, D.A. Dietary patterns of adolescents and risk of obesity and hypertension. J. Nutr. 2008, 138, 364–370.
- **429.**Hebestreit, A.; Intemann, T.; Siani, A.; De Henauw, S.; Eibenm, G.; Kourides, Y.; Kovacs, E.; Moreno, L.A.; Veidebaum, T. Dietary patterns of european children and their parents in association with family food environment: Results from the I. family study. Nutrients 2017, 9, 126.
- **430.** Moreno, L.A.; Rodriguez, G.; Fieta, J.; Bueno-Lozano, M.; Lázaro, A.; Bueno, G. critical reviews in food science and nutrition. Crit. Rev. Food. Sci. Nutr. 2010, 50, 106–112. [
- **431.**Richter, A.; Heidemann, C.; Schulze, M.B.; Roosen, J.; Thiele, S.; Mensink, G.B.M. Dietary patterns of adolescents in Germany— Associations with nutrient intake and other health related lifestyle characteristics. BMC Pediatr. 2012, 12, 35.
- **432.**Eating Dinner is Negatively Associated with Overweight Status in Children. J. Pediatr. 2010, 157, 815–820.
- 433. McCarthy, S.; Das, S.; Kretzschmar, W.; Delaneau, O.; Wood, A.R.; Teumer, A.; Kang, H.M.; Fuchsberger, C.; Danecek, P.; Sharp, K.; et al. A reference panel of 64,976 haplotypes for genotype imputation. Nat. Genet. 2016, 48, 1279–1283. [CrossRef] 25. Ihaka, R.; Gentleman, R. R: A Language for Data Analysis and Graphics. J. Comput. Graph. Stat. 1996, 5, 299–314.
- **434.**Purcell, S.; Neale, B.; Todd-Brown, K.; Thomas, L.; Ferreira, M.A.R.; Bender, D.; Maller, J.; Sklar, P.; de Bakker, P.I.W.; Daly, M.J.; et al. PLINK: A Tool Set for Whole-Genome Association and Population-Based Linkage Analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 2007, 81, 559–575.
- **435.**Yeung, S.L.A.; Lam, H.S.H.S.; Schooling, C.M. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Ischemic Heart Disease Risk: A Mendelian Randomization Study. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2017, 6, e005619.
- **436.**Keller-Baruch, J.; Forgetta, V.; Manousaki, D.; Zhou, S.; Richards, J.B. Genetically Decreased Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Osteoporosis Outcomes: A Mendelian Randomization Study. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2020, 35, 649–656.
- **437.**Robinson, E.S.; Khankin, E.V.; Karumanchi, S.A.; Humphreys, B.D. Hypertension Induced by Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathway Inhibition: Mechanisms and Potential Use as a Biomarker. Semin. Nephrol. 2010, 30, 591–601.

- **438.**Pandey, A.K.; Singhi, E.K.; Arroyo, J.P.; Ikizler, T.A.; Gould, E.R.; Brown, J.; Beckman, J.A.; Harrison, D.G.; Moslehi, J. Mechanisms of VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) Inhibitor–Associated Hypertension and Vascular Disease. Hypertension 2018, 71, e1–e8.
- **439.** Mäki-Petäjä, K.M.; McGeoch, A.; Yang, L.L.; Hubsch, A.; McEniery, C.M.; Meyer, P.A.; Mir, F.; Gajendragadkar, P.; Ramenatte, N.; Anandappa, G.; et al. Mechanisms Underlying Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor Inhibition-Induced Hypertension: The HYPAZ Trial. Hypertension 2021, 77, 1591–1599.
- **440.**Zorena, K.; My'sliwska, J.; My'sliwiec, M.; Rybarczyk-Kapturska, K.; Malinowska, E.; Wi'sniewski, P.; Raczy 'nska, K. Association between vascular endothelial growth factor and hypertension in children and adolescents type I diabetes mellitus. J. Hum. Hypertens. 2010, 24, 755–762. [
- **441.**Zafar, M.I.; Mills, K.; Ye, X.; Blakely, B.; Min, J.; Kong, W.; Zhang, N.; Gou, L.; Regmi, A.; Hu, S.Q.; et al. Association between the expression of vascular endothelial growth factors and metabolic syndrome or its components: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetol. Metab. Syndr. 2018, 10, 62.
- **442.**Novikova, V.; Gritsinskaya, V.; Petrenko, Y.V.; Gurova, M.; Gurina, O.; Varlamova, O.; Blinov, A.; Strukov, E.; Smirnova, N.; Kuprienko, N.; et al. Level of erythropoietin, sVCAM-1 and VEGF in blood of obese adolescents. Abstracts 2021, 106, A87–A88.
- 443.Loebig, M.; Klement, J.; Schmoller, A.; Betz, S.; Heuck, N.; Schweiger, U.; Peters, A.; Schultes, B.; Oltmanns, K.M. Evidence for a Relationship between VEGF and BMI Independent of Insulin Sensitivity by Glucose Clamp Procedure in a Homogenous Group Healthy Young Men. PLoS ONE 2010, 5, e12610. [
- 444.Guzmán-Guzmán, I.P.; Zaragoza-García, O.; Vences-Velázquez, A.; Castro-Alarcón, N.; Muñoz-Valle, J.F.; Parra-Rojas, I. Concentraciones circulantes de MCP-1, VEGF-A, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, sE-selectina y sVE-cadherina: Su relación con componentes del síndrome metabólico en población joven [Circulating levels of MCP-1, VEGF-A, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, sE-selectin and sVEcadherin: Relationship with components of metabolic syndrome in young population].
- **445.**Dabravolski, S.A.; Khotina, V.A.; Omelchenko, A.V.; Kalmykov, V.A.; Orekhov, A.N. The Role of the VEGF Family in Atherosclerosis Development and Its Potential as Treatment Targets. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2022, 23, 931.
- 446.rosis Development and Its Potential as Treatment Targets. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2022, 23, 931.
 [CrossRef] [PubMed] 41. Schwingshackl, L.; Schwedhelm, C.; Hoffmann, G.; Knüppel, S.; Iqbal, K.; Andriolo, V.; Bechthold, A.; Schlesinger, S.; Boeing, H. Food Groups and Risk of Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. Adv. Nutr. Int. Rev. J. 2017, 8, 793–803, Correction in Adv Nutr. 2018, 9, 163–164.
- **447.**Hojhabrimanesh, A.; Akhlaghi, M.; Rahmani, E.; Amanat, S.; Atefi, M.; Najafi, M.; Hashemzadeh, M.; Salehi, S.; Faghih, S.; Akhlaghi, M. A Western dietary pattern is associated with higher blood pressure in Iranian adolescents. Eur. J. Nutr. 2017, 56, 399–408.
- **448.**Shokri, A.; Pirouzpanah, S.; Foroutan-Ghaznavi, M.; Montazeri, V.; Fakhrjou, A.; Nozad-Charoudeh, H.; Tavoosidana, G. Dietary protein sources and tumoral overexpression of RhoA, VEGF-A and VEGFR2 genes among breast cancer patients. Genes Nutr. 2019, 14, 22.
- 449.Growth Factor and Osteoporosis Outcomes: A Mendelian Randomization Study. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2020, 35, 649–656. [CrossRef] 29. Robinson, E.S.; Khankin, E.V.; Karumanchi, S.A.; Humphreys, B.D. Hypertension Induced by Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathway Inhibition: Mechanisms and Potential Use as a Biomarker. Semin. Nephrol. 2010, 30, 591–601.
- **450.**Chiarelli, F.; Spagnoli, A.; Basciani, F.; Tumini, S.; Mezzetti, A.; Cipollone, F.; Cuccurullo, F.; Morgese, G.; Verrotti, A. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in children, adolescents and young adults with Type 1 diabetes mellitus: Relation to glycaemic control and microvascular complications. Diabet. Med. 2000, 17, 650–656. [
- **451.**Swann, O.G.; Breslin, M.; Kilpatrick, M.; O'Sullivan, T.A.; Mori, T.A.; Beilin, L.J.; Oddy, W.H. Dietary fibre intake and its association with inflammatory markers in adolescents. Br. J. Nutr. 2021, 125, 329–336.
- **452.**Janssens, A.C.J.W. Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are? Hum. Mol. Genet. 2019, 28, R143–R150.
- **453.**Mostafavi, H.; Harpak, A.; Agarwal, I.; Conley, D.; Pritchard, J.K.; Przeworski, M. Variable prediction accuracy of polygenic scores within an ancestry group. eLife 2020, 9, e48376.

- **454.**Maraki, M.I.; Hatzimanolis, A.; Mourtzi, N.; Stefanis, L.; Yannakoulia, M.; Kosmidis, M.H.; Dardiotis, E.; Hadjigeorgiou, G.M.; Sakka, P.; Ramirez, A.; et al. Association of the Polygenic Risk Score With the Probability of Prodromal Parkinson's Disease in Older Adults. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 2021, 14, 739571.
- **455.**Rühlemann, M.C.; Hermes, B.M.; Bang, C.; Doms, S.; Moitinho-Silva, L.; Thingholm, L.B.; Frost, F.; Degenhardt, F.; Wittig, M.; Kässens, J.; et al. Genome-wide association study in 8,956 German individuals identifies influence of ABO histo-blood groups on gut microbiome. Nat. Genet. 2021, 53, 147–155.
- **456.**Qin, Y.; Havulinna, A.S.; Liu, Y.; Jousilahti, P.; Ritchie, S.C.; Tokolyi, A.; Sanders, J.G.; Valsta, L.; Brozy 'nska, M.; Zhu, Q.; et al. ⁻ Combined effects of host genetics and diet on human gut microbiota and incident disease in a single population cohort. Nat. Genet. 2022, 54, 134–142.
- **457.**Aoun, A.; Darwish, F.; Hamod, N. The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Obesity in Adults and the Role of Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Synbiotics for Weight Loss. Prev. Nutr. Food Sci. 2020, 25, 113–123.
- **458.**Palmas, V.; Pisanu, S.; Madau, V.; Casula, E.; Deledda, A.; Cusano, R.; Uva, P.; Vascellari, S.; Loviselli, A.; Manzin, A.; et al. Gut microbiota markers associated with obesity and overweight in Italian adults. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 5532.
- **459.**Liang, D.; Zhang, X.; Liu, Z.; Zheng, R.; Zhang, L.; Yu, D.; Shen, X. The Genus Parabacteroides Is a Potential Contributor to the Beneficial Effects of Truncal Vagotomy-Related Bariatric Surgery. Obes. Surg. 2022, 32, 1–11.
- **460.**Jian, C.; Silvestre, M.P.; Middleton, D.; Korpela, K.; Jalo, E.; Broderick, D.; de Vos, W.M.; Fogelholm, M.; Taylor, M.W.; Raben, A.; et al. Gut microbiota predicts body fat change following a low-energy diet: A PREVIEW intervention study. Genome Med. 2022, 14, 54.
- **461.**Wang, K.; Liao, M.; Zhou, N.; Bao, L.; Ma, K.; Zheng, Z.; Wang, Y.; Liu, C.; Wang, W.; Wang, J.; et al. Parabacteroides distasonis Alleviates Obesity and Metabolic Dysfunctions via Production of Succinate and Secondary Bile Acids. Cell Rep. 2019, 26, 222–235.e5.
- **462.**Okbay, A.; Baselmans, B.M.; De Neve, J.E.; Turley, P.; Nivard, M.G.; Fontana, M.A.; Meddens, S.F.; Linnér, R.K.; Rietveld, C.A.; Derringer, J.; et al. Genetic variants associated with subjective well-being, depressive symptoms, and neuroticism identified through genome-wide analyses. Nat. Genet. 2016, 48, 624–633.
- **463.**Hara, M.; Hachiya, T.; Sutoh, Y.; Matsuo, K.; Nishida, Y.; Shimanoe, C.; Tanaka, K.; Shimizu, A.; Ohnaka, K.; Kawaguchi, T.; et al. Genomewide Association Study of Leisure-Time Exercise Behavior in Japanese Adults. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 2018, 50, 2433–2441.

Appendix A: Scientific Publications Related to Thesis Introduction

Polygenic risk scores and personalized approaches to cardiometabolic disease prevention and treatment: A short review

Maria Kafyra¹, George V. Dedoussis^{1,2}

¹Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Science and Education, Harokopio University, Athens, Greece ²Genome Analysis, Athens, Greece

ABSTRACT

Accounting for the role of genetic variants in disease is increasingly gaining ground as a major contributing factor to the maximization of successful precision medicine and personalized nutrition approaches. An aggregated technique to quantifying genetic effect refers to the development and use of disease-specific Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) deriving from the sum of the weighted effects of multiple disease-related Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs), mainly from Genome-Wide association studies (GWAS). Integration of PRS use in medical and nutritional practice is largely discussed in current literature, with special attention to: i) disease prediction accuracy after PRS consideration and their potential utility; ii) the role of current methodological approaches used to derive reliable results and the effect of limitations such as ancestry or population size; iii) the familiarization of healthcare professionals with the meaning of genetic information; and iv) the context-based interpretations of PRS results in the formation of personalized advice. In this context, the present short review aims to summarize current findings on PRS use and utility in cardiometabolic, weight-related disorders and discuss future directions for their potential integration in the practice of personalized nutrition.

KEY WORDS: Polygenic risk scores, cardiometabolic disease, weight management, personalized nutrition

INTRODUCTION

Deciphering disease etiology by quantifying the impact of genetic predisposition constitutes the focal point in the conduct of research surrounding genetics during the last

Corresponding author:

George V. Dedoussis Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Science and Education, Harokopio University, Athens, Greece Genome Analysis, 17671 Athens, Greece E-mail: dedousi@hua.gr years. Identifying and investigating the effect of diseaseassociated single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), as well as using them to create aggravated genetic scores, provided encouraging results in the field of cardiovascular (CVD) and cardiometabolic disease^{1,2}. Those findings shed a quantifiable light on the role of genetic makeup while expanding the horizons for the potential creation of new and personalized treatment approaches. The construction of polygenic risk scores (PRSs) thus quickly expanded to the notion of potentially contributing to determining

Submission: 24.02.2023, Acceptance: 10.04.2023

disease risk and subsequently contributing to effective disease prevention, diagnosis and even treatment¹⁻³. The need for more extensive research resulted in the gradual evolution of continuously enhanced methodological approaches for PRS extraction⁴. As the latter examine the effect of multiple variants on the outcome of interest based on a large SNP pool in populations of increased size, their creation and use were extensively investigated through genome-wide association studies (GWAS) in large consortia. The increasing presence of PRSs for multiple phenotypes in the current literature ultimately led to the creation of PGS catalog, an inclusive database comprising of all PRS entries created to date⁵.

Discussion and research around PRS use as a prediction and treatment tool has recently yielded encouraging results, with studies reporting beneficial effects in cardiovascular and cardiometabolic disease^{1,2}. Provision of lifestyle recommendations appeared to significantly contribute to obesity treatment² and coronary artery disease (CAD) prediction and greatly benefit individuals with high PRS across the spectrum of CVD, with PRSs constructed even for stroke and hypertension^{1,3}. In like manner, the American Heart Association recently focused on the potential utility of PRS in CVD and other cardiometabolic disorders such as type 2 diabetes (T2D), underlining the need for the conduct of additional research to strengthen PRS inclusion in current practice². Subsequently, discussion around the integration capacity of PRSs as a way to promote precision medicine and personalized nutrition is ongoing, with special attention on ameliorating relevant challenges, namely the differentiational influencing capacity following interaction with environmental stimuli, the diverse methodological approaches in PRS extraction and the understanding of the true meaning of genetic information both from professionals and patients alike.

PRS and weight-related parameters

Evaluation of genetic risk in the form of summed risk scores primarily treated CVD danger but quickly expanded to other disorders of cardiometabolic profile². The conduct of extensive GWAS was accompanied by the development and expansion of the Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits (GIANT) consortium⁶. This led to the identification of multiple Body Mass Index (BMI)associated loci with the milestone discovery of the first 97 loci accounting for about 2.8% of the marker's variation⁷. Nowadays, approximately 6% of BMI variance is explained by 785 near-independent genome-wide significant SNPs^{8,9}. Thus, the beginning approaches of quantifying genetic predisposition mainly involved the literature-based, a priori selection of disease-related variants and the subsequent investigation of the impact of their added effects. Therefore, various genetic risk scores of tens of SNPs were created and used in the examination of associations between increased genetic risk and disease manifestation or severity. In like manner, research on personalized approaches for combatting cardiometabolic and weight-related disorders primarily focused on examining the combined effect of target SNPs with different dietary regimens. In this context, the first large initiatives such as the FOOD4ME project and the POUNDS lost clinical trial^{10,11}, attempted to unveil the interactive role of genetic makeup and nutritional habits in overweight and obesity. Focusing on target SNPs and macronutrient content, the projects provided limited, but encouraging, evidence on the effect of gene-diet interactions on anthropometric traits.

Based on GIANT-derived information or the conduct of independent GWAS, different teams proceeded to the development of PRSs for BMI in populations of various sizes. To date, PRSs associated to anthropometric traits and body measurements account for 154 of the database entries⁵. Indeed, nowadays, attempting to decipher the multifactorial obesity etiology using genetic information has become central in research surrounding BMI, with efforts made to explain the polygenic prediction of weight formation throughout the life course^{12,13} Khera et al. highlighted the role of including a multi-variant PRS in explaining weight variance in populations ranging from birth cohorts to middle-aged individuals¹². Correspondingly, Shi et al recently constructed a different BMI PRS to investigate potential associations with overall cardiometabolic health from early age to adulthood. The study revealed significant associations between the score and other indices of cardiometabolic profile, namely fasting glucose and systolic blood pressure¹³. Building on the data and the role of genetic makeup in overweight or obesity presence, current research also focuses on the potential influence of genetic markers on weight loss. A study by de Toro-Martín investigating the extent of the genetic effect on the success of bariatric surgery, showed an increase in the prediction model accuracy when including PRSs, as well as significant interactions between the scores and the reduction in post-surgery recovery and surgery type¹⁴. In the same context, Katsareli et al showed that adults with increased genetic risk score for obesity noted a decrease in post-bariatric surgery loss of excess weight, with each unit of the score being associated with a 4.618% decrease in the 12-month observed weight loss¹⁵.

In the same spectrum and building on the findings of previous key projects, emphasis should also be given on studies looking into the potential interactions between genetic scores and macronutrient content¹⁶. Moreover,

studies focusing on the genetic influence on the observed weight loss after lifestyle interventions to combat overweight and obesity even outside of a clinical environment are also needed. Research on this field could unravel the gene-diet interactions surrounding weight management and loss and ultimately maximize the impact of individualized recommendations using genetic data to determine optimal treatment strategies. As a result, effectively unravelling the genetic proportion of body weight variance could progressively allow for the formation of more inclusive strategies to its management.

PRS Interactions with Lifestyle Determinants

In addition to accounting for the risk attributed to genetic makeup, the impact of PRS interactions with lifestyle factors such as diet, ultimately influencing weight management have also been studied. In a 2021 study by Wang et al, a 60-SNP PRS was constructed using variants found to be associated with birth weight and later-life disease. The interactions between the genetic score and dietary parameters showed that healthy habits during early life, such as breastfeeding, were beneficial in reducing the risk for worse lipidemic profile in adult life in participants with higher genetic risk¹⁷. The significant modifying effect of diet was also demonstrated by Tan et al, who showed that individuals with higher PRS for obesity indeed presented higher levels of C-reactive protein but those levels appeared reduced in the presence of high dietary protein intake¹⁸. Similarly, middle-aged individuals with a higher genetic risk score for thinness presented lower body weight; an association aggravated with high protein and low carbohydrate intake, among others¹⁹. The multidisciplinary character of genetic risk-associated interactions is evident throughout the reciprocal interplay between the formation of anthropometric characteristics' levels and the formation of the lifestyle choices surrounding them. In adult populations, Dashti et al. showed that adults with higher genetic risk for obesity were less likely to make healthier food choices at workplace and more likely to purchase more food and adhere to unhealthy dietary habits such as delaying or skipping breakfast and homemade meals²⁰. However, Lee et al showed that BMI PRSs were related to body weight in Korean adults, but not to their respective caloric or macronutrient intake²¹. Similarly, Konttinen et al highlighted that elevated genetic risk was more correlated with increased weight gain during a 7-year period in individuals not demonstrating restrained eating than those who adhered to it. However, the study attributed the effect to the role of previous processes entailing weight gain and nutritional habits, rather than a separate factor which will influence future weight gain²².

Extended associations have also been explored, with Park et al showing that individuals with a high genetic risk for BMI, early menarche and attrition to an unhealthy diet (i.e. high consumption of fried foods and low consumption of fruits and vegetables) presented an increased obesity risk compared to those with late menarche and attrition to a healthier diet²³. A different study focusing on European children and adolescents, underlined the modifying effect of diet, where genetic influence was attenuated by fiber intake in participants presenting higher genetic risk for obesity²⁴.

To boot, PRS-lifestyle interactions constitute a focal point across the spectrum of understanding more weight-related diseases. The emphatic effect of nutrition is underlined in studies of approximately 70000 participants of the UK Biobank, where adherence to a healthier diet was associated with reduced risk for cardiovascular disease, even in individuals with a high genetic risk score. Similarly, adoption of a healthier lifestyle was linked to lower CVD risk and overall mortality, again irrespective of genetic danger^{25,26}. Moreover a different large study with data for almost 340000 UK Biobank participants showed that increased genetic risk for type 2 diabetes (T2D) was associated with higher chances for CVD manifestation; an effect reduced in individuals with better quality of lifestyle²⁷. With regards to T2D alone, increased values of a PRS for the disease and attrition to the Western dietary pattern were associated with higher levels of fasting glucose²⁸. Likewise, López-Portillo et al demonstrated that fasting glucose levels were higher in non-diabetic individuals with increased genetic risk for T2D and higher consumption of sugary beverages, compared to those with lower genetic risk scores and reduced intakes of the latter²⁹. Biochemical interactions have also been studied, where PRS for T2D have been found to significantly interact with triglyceride and cholesterol levels in the subsequent formation of fasting glucose levels³⁰. Merino et al showed the dominating effect of unhealthy diet in increasing T2D risk even by 30%, again irrespective of genetic risk³¹. Additionally, although Zhang et al did not show significant interactions between genetic risk and adherence to the plant-forward EAT-Lancet diet for T2D onset, their study did note that individuals with increased genetic risk and lower attrition to the dietary pattern did present the highest risk for T2D presence during a 24-year follow-up period³². Correspondingly, PRS-diet interactions have been evident in more disorders, such as cancer and dementia, where an increased diet quality lower the chances for disease onset, even in individuals of high genetic risk³³⁻³⁵. In a similar context, lifestyle can also indirectly affect the gravity of genetic risk on actual disease manifestation via increase in weight-related anthropometric measurements alone. Esteve-Luque et al showed that higher values of BMI significantly interacted with genetic risk in increasing triglyceride levels and the subsequent risk for hypertriglyceridemia³⁶. A different study underlined that obesity presence led to higher risk for T2D, even in individuals with lower genetic risk and better lifestyle quality³⁷.

PRS Utility in Personalized Recommendations

Research around the potential role of PRS use in clinical practice has shown that inclusion of PRSs in models for cardiometabolic disorders such as cardiovascular disease (CVD) can account for risk prediction in a manner similar to established contributing factors such as cholesterol levels³⁸⁻⁴⁰. The Task Force of the International Common Disease Alliance has further underlined the importance of PRS inclusion in increasing the accuracy of predicting CVD disease risk and severity, throughout one's lifetime⁴¹, and the weighted contribution of PRS to maximizing patient outcomes⁴¹. Given the potential increase in accuracy observed in prediction models after the addition of PRS, testing their potential utility has also expanded to the field of anthropometrics. Choe et al showed that a BMI PRS was associated not only with longitudinal BMI change, but also other cardiometabolic phenotypes, such as fatty liver⁴². A similar attempt was made by Padilla-Martinez et al., who displayed significant associations between PRSs for T2D and obesity and manifestations of prediabetes and other disrupted cardiometabolic parameters⁴³.

In this context, PRS use could be seen as a useful tool to increase disease prevention through successful prediction and/or early detection. This notion carries both favorable effects for public health and financial parameters of healthcare systems, as well as optimizing individual understanding and ability to choose and decide optimal combatting strategies⁴⁴. Although the inclusion of PRSs and relevant interactions can explain cardiometabolic disease risk⁴⁵, the conversation around its clinical validity underlines the importance of real-time context on PRS information evaluation and decision-making in order to avoid confusion with genetic determinism^{40,41}. This sheds a light on the vital role of both development of valid methodologies to increase PRS reliability, transferability and accuracy, as well as the professionals' familiarization with the interpretation of its information. This is also why the education of healthcare professionals is put in the center of integrating genetic information into daily practice.

Furthermore, taking PRS information into account can prove beneficial on its own accord in patients with extremely high genetic risk⁴¹ and, thus, PRS utility is also discussed at personal level³⁸. PRS information can be differentially valuable to each individual, according to both their personal interest and understanding of the information, as well as relevant genetic risk in outcomes of interest. The latter might not always correlate to matters of clinical importance, but do account for increasing awareness on genetic predisposition for various matters significant to the individual. It is therefore why, a reliable approach to PRS calculation for various traits, with easily understandable and interpretable results is central in future research surrounding PRS use³⁸. Especially in cases regarding cardiometabolic disorders such as overweight, obesity and type 2 diabetes, finding ways to efficiently include PRS prediction in easily applicable risk tools is considered a priority for the maximization of PRS efficacy.

Challenges in PRS Construction and Interpretation

Although inclusion of PRSs in disease prognosis can be beneficial, several considerations arise when discussing the methodological aspect of PRS construction, the efficacy of the various PRS development methodologies presented in current literature and the real-time interpretation capacity in clinical and non-clinical settings. Firstly, the fundamental limitation of PRS' universal application concerns the underrepresentation of data used from populations of different genetic ancestry⁴⁴. To date, although several attempts for PRS construction using data from various populations have been made, PRSs presented in literature mainly focus on European ancestry. The lack of existent PRSs deriving from large cohorts of global populations affects their translational capacity in less frequently examined populations where contextually phenotype-associated variants, SNP linkage disequilibrium (LD) or allele frequency may vary. Therefore, a preceding necessity of developing more PRSs using data from populations around the globe is formed before discussing their maximum use, in order to ensure universal application capacity.

Another pillar of PRS development refers to the biases of the different methodological approaches undertaken in calculating the scores⁴⁴. Diverse current practices consist of: i) the replication of simple aggravations of the risk-alleles for phenotype-associated variants using their respective effect sizes from current literature (i.e. consortia such as the GIANT one or data from large studies such as the UKBiobank⁴⁶ of the Twins Early Development Study -TEDS⁴⁷); and ii) the conduct of novel GWAS in populations of sufficiently large sample sizes, extraction of summary statistics, subsequent identification of phenotype-associated variants and their risk alleles' aggravation in a holistic score. As PRS development and phenotype examinations are ongoing, research may simultaneously focus on the identification of novel phenotype-associated variants and the replication of previously identified ones. As a result, the statistical design and assessment may significantly differ across studies and the final choice for the optimal model to be used may lie in the discretion of the researcher according to the needs of the research question at hand. Additionally, differences in samples sizes significantly matter in effective PRS validation. Although the effect of using target-SNPs outside of reference populations can be limited, current discussion around the role of population size has shown that cohorts with a few thousands of participants can be of use in replicating results and using SNPs from PRSs deriving from even larger populations⁴⁸. Moreover, the additional variety in statistical methods (i.e. p-value thresholds, clumping, Bayesian or lasso-based penalization), packages (eg PRScs, LDpred2) and assessment applied can largely affect the end product which may be ultimately differentiated across studies. It is therefore highlighted that standardization of the PRS extraction process⁴⁹ is central to facilitating their validation and sequentially increasing their predictive ability. Additionally, in this context, attempts to practically compare PRS results and methodology^{4,50-52} can provide useful data for the next steps in the need for a unified, applicable approach to allow for PRSs capable of yielding rapid but reliable results and effective comparisons of findings between populations of different characteristics.

Moreover, familiarization with the true meaning deriving from the information of the PRS is vital in its correct interpretation. Understanding the potentially indirect effects of SNPs included in the models and weighing the environmental factor in are key considerations in constructing future PRSs as reliable disease prediction risk tools. Apart from the technical aspects, a different cornerstone of practical PRS use appertains to the familiarization of healthcare professionals with the field. Proper assuefaction with the practical meaning of PRS information is critical for professionals to address disease risk and convey the appropriate message to patients. The delicate understanding of individual risk and its practical meaning in ultimate disease manifestation can be challenging in cases where the risk is small or the patient is not properly acquainted with the details of their genetic profile. Both professional and patient education and perceptions around PRS utility

are integral in its successful use as a disease screening and treatment tool^{40,44}.

PRS and Nutrigenetics/Nutrigenomics in Future Healthcare Practice

Although there is a limited number of studies investigating and discussing the extent of PRS effective translation to date, future directions can be encouraging on the incorporation of PRS methodologies in the daily practice¹⁻³. PRS inclusion in disease screening and the formation of personalized recommendations could potentially offer a solution to the growing pressure applied to healthcare systems for more inclusive strategies and efficient use of financial resources⁴⁹. In the field of nutrigenetics (i.e. the impact of SNPs on certain nutrient interaction or role in metabolic pathways) and nutrigenomics (i.e. the impact of nutrients on gene expression), PRS use can be considered as a promising tool in the advancement of personalized nutrition.

Understanding the connective links between research conduct and translation is substantial in order to be able to reinforce PRS practical use. An integral part to such an effort would be the effective translational communication between bioinformatics and healthcare sectors in order to enhance proper PRS use and interpretation⁴⁹. Especially when referring to the use of PRSs in cardiometabolic and weight-related disorders, understanding, quantifying and translating the contribution of genetic predisposition is vital in interpreting genetic impact. Incorporating genetic information in medical and nutritional advice can maximize the success of the proposed strategies, while informing the individuals in main aspects of their genetic profile. In this spectrum, PRS interpretation in weight-related disorders can only be effective when conducted and evaluated alongside the effect of other lifestyle determinants (Figure 1). This can allow for increased motivation on behavioral change and lifestyle adaptations⁴¹ to the proposed measures, which can subsequently strengthen the disorders' effective management.

In an attempt to dissect the steps of including genetic details in current practice and promote personalized nutrition, in 2022 the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics published the creation of a *Nutrigenomics Care Map* specifying the timeline of nutrigenetic information integration in nutritional assessment⁵³. The map puts professional formation on the forefront of the practice, by inserting the sufficient nutrigenomics training prerequisite as the first out of the four steps of the process. Patient screening, genetic testing and communication of genetic profiling results as part of the nutritional assessment and the setting



FIGURE 1. Polygenic Risk Score (PRS) in Personalized Recommendations (created with BioRender.com).

of SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant and time-based) goals complete the suggested procedure⁵³. Such an approach aims to maximize nutritional consulting by actively involving the patient in the formation of goals and dietary regimens optimally corresponding to their genetic profile. Integration of PRSs in this effort could allow the practice to move forward from personalized advice provided only based on specific genotypes of key genes associated to body weight or obesity^{54,55}. As a result, more research in the form of Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) is needed, regarding the interactions between BMI PRSs and dietary regimens in order to establish the evidence-based approaches required for the nodes of individualized advice. Such efforts would subsequently enhance our understanding and forming of optimal recommendations, each-time targeting the outcome of interest and adopting the literature-based, corresponding strategy (eg advice on adherence to a dietary regimen of specific macronutrient content for the achievement of weight loss in individuals with specific PRS for obesity). Due to the current increase observed in the offer of nutrigenetic services, establishment of scientific, guality guidelines for directing healthcare professionals is vital⁵⁶.

Furthermore, on principle, the meaning of PRS information differentiates itself according to the nature of the disorder in reference. For example, a PRS will be differently interpreted in cases of monogenic rather than polygenic diseases, such as the cardiometabolic and weight-related ones. The multidisciplinary character of those disorders therefore reciprocally affects the creation of the appropriate framework in which it will be communicated. This interplay between genetic information communication and healthcare setting factors centrally affects both the formation and the influencing capacity of public health policies in precision medicine and nutrition³⁸⁻⁴⁰. The latter, thus, re-enforces the need for sectors simultaneously operating on unravelling the relations between the creation, interpretation and communication of genetic information across healthcare professionals. These could, in turn, be incorporated into screening tools for multiple traits and contribute to the creation of individualized disease prevention or treatment strategies.

CONCLUSIONS

Future incorporation of PRS information in the daily healthcare practice could present considerable advantages to advancing precision medicine and personalized nutrition. Creation of sound methodologies, accounting for the extent of the impact for environmental stimuli and simultaneously able to allow for the effective inclusion of PRS results in disease prediction, diagnosis and prognosis is deemed vital in bringing PRS research and application forward. PRS information on cardiometabolic and weight-related disorders can increase the prognostic validity of already existent tools and the fruitful formation and implementation of individualized recommendations. However, sufficient familiarization of healthcare professionals with the meaning and contextual translation of PRS results plays a major part in its proper communication where attention must be given in the role of the interacPolygenic risk scores and personalized approaches to cardiometabolic disease prevention and treatment

tions between SNPs, environment and lifestyle determinants in ultimate disease manifestation. Future initiatives should aim at uniformly enhancing both methodology development and educational formation in attempting to firmly establish, integrate and distribute PRS use as a daily practicum.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest

Funding

The authors did not receive funding for the conduct of the present study.

ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ

Πολυγονιδιακοί Δείκτες Κινδύνου και προσωποποιημένες προσεγγίσεις στην πρόληψη και την αντιμετώπιση καρδιομεταβολικών ασθενιεών: Σύντομη Ανασκόπηση

Μαρία Καφύρα¹, Γεώργιος Δεδούσης^{1,2}

¹Τμήμα Επιστημής Διαιτολογίας-Διατροφής, Σχολή Επιστημών Υγείας και Αγωγής, Χαροκόπειο Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών, Αθήνα, Ελλάδα, ²Genome Analysis, Αθήνα, Ελλάδα

Η διερεύνηση του ρόλου των γενετικών παραλλαγών στην εμφάνιση ασθενειών χρησιμοποιείται ολοένα και περισσότερο με στόχο τη βελτιστοποίηση των επιτυχών προσεγγίσεων στα πεδία της ιατρικής ακριβείας και της προσωποποιημένης διατροφής. Μια συγκεντρωτική τεχνική για την ποσοτικοποίηση της γενετικής επίδρασης αφορά στην ανάπτυξη και τη χρήση ειδικών-για-κάθε-ασθένεια Πολυγονιδιακών Δεικτών Κινδύνου (ΠΔΚ), μέσω τους αθροίσματος της επίδρασης συσχετιζόμενων μονονουκλεοτιδικών πολυμορφισμών (ΜΝΠ) προερχόμενων από μελέτες σάρωσης του γονιδιώματος. Η σύγχρονη βιβλιογραφία πραγματεύεται εκτενώς την ενσωμάτωση της χρήσης των ΠΔΚ στην ιατρική και διαιτολογική πρακτική, με ιδιαίτερη έμφαση: i) στην προβλεπτική ακρίβεια εμφάνισης ασθενειών έπειτα από την ενσωμάτωση της πληροφορίας των ΠΔΚ σε αντίστοιχα μοντέλα, ii) στο ρόλο των σύγχρονων μεθοδολογικών προσεγγίσεων για την εξαγωγή αξιόπιστων αποτελεσμάτων και την αντίστοιχη επίδραση περιορισμών όπως η γενεαλογική καταγωγή και το μέγεθος του πληθυσμού αναφοράς, iii) στην εξοικείωση των επαγγλματιών υγείας με τη σημασία της γενετικής πληροφορίας και iv) στην κάθε φορά προσαρμοσμένη στα υπάρχοντα πλαίσια ερμηνεία των αποτελεσμάτων των ΠΔΚ στη δημιουργία προσωποποιημένων συστάσεων. Σε αυτό το πλαίσιο, η παρούσα σύντομη ανασκόπηση συνοψίζει τα σύγχρονα ευρύματα της βιβλιογραφίας σχετικά με τη χρήση και τη χρησιμότητα των ΠΔΚ σε καρδιομεταβολικές νόσους και νόσους που σχετίζονται με το σωματικό βάρος, καθώς και πραγματεύεται τις μελλοντικές κατευθύνσεις για την πιθανή ενσωμάτων των ΠΔΚ στην πρακτική της προσωποποιημένης διατροφής.

ΛΕΞΕΙΣ ΚΛΕΙΔΙΑ: Πολυγονιδιακοί δείκτες κινδύνου, καρδιομεταβολικές ασθένειες, διαχείριση βάρους, προσωποποιημένη διατροφή

REFERENCES

- 1. O'Sullivan JW, Raghavan S, Marquez-Luna C, Luzum J.A., Damrauer S.M., Ashley E.A., et al. Polygenic Risk Scores for Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation [Internet]. 2022 Jul [cited 2023 Feb 16];146(8):e93e118. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/ doi/10.1161/CIR.000000000001077. Doi:10.1161/ CIR.000000000001077.
- 2. O'Sullivan JW, Ashley EA, Elliott PM. Polygenic risk scores for the prediction of cardiometabolic disease. Eur Heart J. 2023 Jan;44(2):89-99. Doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehac648.
- 3. Patel AP, Khera AV. Advances and Applications of Polygenic Scores for Coronary Artery Disease. Annu Rev Med. 2023 Jan;74:141-54. Doi:10.1146/annurevmed-042921-112629.
- 4. Pain O, Glanville KP, Hagenaars SP, Selzam S, Fürtjes AE, Gaspar HA, et al. Evaluation of polygenic prediction methodology within a reference-standardized framework. PLoS Genet [Internet]. 2021 May [cited 2023 Feb 16]; 17(5):e1009021. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosgenetics/article?id=10.1371/journal.pgen.1009021. Doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1009021.
- 5. PGS Catalog [Internet] [accessed 2023 Feb 17]. Available from: https://www.pgscatalog.org/

- 6. GIANT consortium [Internet] [accessed 2023 Feb 17]. Available from: https://portals.broadinstitute.org/collaboration/giant/index.php/GIANT_consortium
- 7. Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, Day FR, et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. Nature. 2015 Feb;518(7538):197-206. Doi:10.1038/nature14177.
- Yengo L, Sidorenko J, Kemper KE, Zheng Z, Wood AR, Weedon MN, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for height and body mass index in ~700000 individuals of European ancestry. Hum Mol Genet. 2018;27(20):3641-9. Doi:10.1093/hmg/ddy271.
- 9. D'Silva S, Chakraborty S, Kahali B. Concurrent outcomes from multiple approaches of epistasis analysis for human body mass index associated loci provide insights into obesity biology. Sci Rep. 2022 May;12(1):7306. Doi:10.1038/ s41598-022-11270-0.
- 10. Livingstone KM, Brayner B, Celis-Morales C, Moschonis G, Manios Y, Traczyk I, et al. Associations between dietary patterns, FTO genotype and obesity in adults from seven European countries. Eur J Nutr. 2022 Sep;61(6):2953-65. Doi:10.1007/s00394-022-02858-3.
- 11. Li X, Zhou T, Ma H, Heianza Y, Champagne CM, Williamson DA, et al. Genetic variation in lean body mass, changes of appetite and weight loss in response to diet interventions: The POUNDS Lost trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020 Dec;22(12):2305-15. Doi:10.1111/dom.14155.
- 12. Khera AV, Chaffin M, Wade KH, Zahid S, Brancale J, Xia R, et al. Polygenic Prediction of Weight and Obesity Trajectories from Birth to Adulthood. Cell. 2019 Apr;177(3):587-96.e9. Doi:10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.028.
- 13. Shi M, Chen W, Sun X, Bazzano LA, He J, Razavi AC, et al. Association of Genome-Wide polygenic risk score for body mass index with cardiometabolic health from childhood through midlife. Circ Genom Precis Med [Internet]. 2022 Aug;15(4):e003375. Available from: https:// www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCGEN.121.003375. Doi:10.1161/CIRCGEN.121.003375.
- de Toro-Martín J, Guénard F, Tchernof A, Pérusse L, Marceau S, Vohl MC. Polygenic risk score for predicting weight loss after bariatric surgery. JCI Insight. 2018 Sep;3(17):e122011. Doi:10.1172/jci.insight.122011.
- Katsareli EA, Amerikanou C, Rouskas K, Dimopoulos A, Diamantis T, Alexandrou A, et al. A Genetic risk score for the estimation of weight loss after bariatric surgery. Obes Surg. 2020 Apr;30(4):1482-90. Doi:10.1007/s11695-019-04320-6.
- 16. Kafyra M, Kalafati IP, Katsareli EA, Lambrinou S, Varlamis I, Kaliora AC, et al. The iMPROVE Study; Design, dietary patterns, and development of a lifestyle index in overweight and obese Greek adults. Nutrients. 2021 Oct;13(10):3495. Doi:10.3390/nu13103495.
- 17. Wang CA, Attia JR, Lye SJ, Oddy WH, Beilin L, Mori TA, et al. The interactions between genetics and early childhood nutrition influence adult cardiometabolic risk factors. Sci Rep. 2021 Jul;11(1):14826. Doi:10.1038/s41598-021-94206-4.
- Tan PY, Amini F, Mitra SR. Dietary protein interacts with polygenic risk scores and modulates serum concentrations of C-reactive protein in overweight and obese Malaysian adults. Nutr Res. 2022 Nov;107:75-85.

Doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2022.09.002.

- Zhou JY, Liu M, Park S. Interaction of environmental factors with the polygenic risk scores of thinness-related genes in preventing obesity risk in middle-aged adults: The KoGES. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2023 Jan; [published online ahead of print]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/36632775/ Doi:10.1111/jhn.13132.
- 20. Dashti HS, Levy DE, Hivert MF, Alimenti K, McCurley JL, Saxena R, et al. Genetic risk for obesity and the effectiveness of the ChooseWell 365 workplace intervention to prevent weight gain and improve dietary choices. Am J Clin Nutr. 2022 Jan;115(1):180-8. Doi:10.1093/ajcn/ nqab303.
- 21. Lee WJ, Lim JE, Jung HU, Kang J-O, Park T, Won S, et al. Analysis of the Interaction between polygenic risk score and calorie intake in obesity in the Korean population. Lifestyle Genom. 2021;14(1):20-29. Doi:10.1159/000511333.
- 22. Konttinen H, Llewellyn C, Silventoinen K, Joensuu A, Männistö S, Salomaa V, et al. Genetic predisposition to obesity, restrained eating and changes in body weight: a population-based prospective study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2018 Nov;42(4):858-65. Doi:10.1038/ijo.2017.278.
- 23. Park S, Yang HJ, Kim MJ, Hur HJ, Kim SH, Kim MS. Interactions between polygenic risk scores, dietary pattern, and menarche age with the obesity risk in a large hospital-based cohort. Nutrients. 2021 Oct;13(11):3772. Doi:10.3390/nu13113772.
- 24. Hüls A, Wright MN, Bogl LH, Kaprio J, Lissner L, Molnár D, et al. Polygenic risk for obesity and its interaction with lifestyle and sociodemographic factors in European children and adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond). 2021;45(6):1321-30. Doi:10.1038/s41366-021-00795-5.
- 25. Livingstone KM, Abbott G, Bowe SJ, Ward J, Milte C, Mc-Naughton SA. Diet quality indices, genetic risk and risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality: A longitudinal analysis of 77 004 UK Biobank participants. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2021 Apr;11(4):e045362. Doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045362.
- 26. Livingstone KM, Abbott G, Ward J, Bowe SJ. Unhealthy Lifestyle, Genetics and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality in 76,958 Individuals from the UK Biobank Cohort Study. Nutrients. 2021 Nov;13(12):4283. Doi:10.3390/ nu13124283.
- 27. Yun JS, Jung SH, Shivakumar M, Xiao B, Khera AV, Won H-H, et al. Polygenic risk for type 2 diabetes, lifestyle, metabolic health, and cardiovascular disease: a prospective UK Biobank study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2022 Jul;21(1):131. Doi:10.1186/s12933-022-01560-2.
- Hur HJ, Yang HJ, Kim MJ, Lee KH, Kim MS, Park S. Association of polygenic variants with type 2 diabetes risk and their interaction with lifestyles in Asians. Nutrients. 2022 Aug;14(15):3222. Doi:10.3390/nu14153222.
- 29. López-Portillo ML, Huidobro A, Tobar-Calfucoy E, Yáñez C, Retamales-Ortega R, Garrido-Tapia M, et al. The association between fasting glucose and sugar sweetened beverages intake is greater in Latin Americans with a high polygenic risk score for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutrients. 2021 Dec;14(1):69. Doi:10.3390/nu14010069.
- 30. Lim JE, Kang JO, Ha TW, Jung H-U, Kim DJ, Baek EJ, et al. Gene-environment interaction in type 2 diabetes in Korean cohorts: Interaction of a type 2 diabetes polygenic

risk score with triglyceride and cholesterol on fasting glucose levels. Genet Epidemiol. 2022 Jul;46(5-6):285-302. Doi:10.1002/gepi.22454.

- Merino J, Guasch-Ferré M, Li J, Chung W, Hu Y, Ma B, et al. Polygenic scores, diet quality, and type 2 diabetes risk: An observational study among 35,759 adults from 3 US cohorts. PLoS Med [Internet]. 2022 Apr;19(4):e1003972. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/ article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1003972. Doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1003972.
- 32. Zhang S, Stubbendorff A, Olsson K, Ericson U, Niu K, Qi L, et al. Adherence to the EAT-Lancet diet, genetic susceptibility, and risk of type 2 diabetes in Swedish adults. Metabolism. 2023 Apr;141:155401. Doi:10.1016/j. metabol.2023.155401.
- Francis ER, Cadar D, Steptoe A, Ajnakina O. Interplay between polygenic propensity for ageing-related traits and the consumption of fruits and vegetables on future dementia diagnosis. BMC Psychiatry. 2022 Jan;22(1):75. Doi:10.1186/s12888-022-03717-5.
- 34. Byrne S, Boyle T, Ahmed M, Lee SH, Benyamin B, Hyppönen E. Lifestyle, genetic risk and incidence of cancer: A prospective cohort study of 13 cancer types. Int J Epidemiol. 2023 Jan. [published online ahead of print]. Doi:10.1093/ije/dyac238.
- Park S, Liu M, Huang S. Association of Polygenic Variants Involved in Immunity and Inflammation with Duodenal Ulcer Risk and Their Interaction with Irregular Eating Habits. Nutrients. 2023 Jan;15(2):296. Doi:10.3390/nu15020296.
- Esteve-Luque V, Fanlo-Maresma M, Padró-Miquel A, Corbella E, Rivas-Regaira M, Pintó X, et al. Polygenic risk of hypertriglyceridemia is modified by BMI. Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Aug;23(17):9837. Doi:10.3390/ijms23179837.
- Schnurr TM, Jakupović H, Carrasquilla GD, Ängquist L, Grarup N, Sørensen TIA, et al. Obesity, unfavourable lifestyle and genetic risk of type 2 diabetes: a case-cohort study. Diabetologia. 2020 Jul;63(7):1324-32. Doi:10.1007/ s00125-020-05140-5.
- Moorthie S, Hall A, Janus J, Brigden T, Babb de Villiers C, Blackburn L, et al. Polygenic scores and clinical utility. PHG Foundation. 2021 Jan [accessed 2023 Jan 24]. Available from: https://www.phgfoundation.org/media/35/ download/polygenic-scores-and-clinical-utility.pdf?v=1.
- 39. Kumuthini J, Zick B, Balasopoulou A, Chalikiopoulou C, Dandara C, El-Kamah G, et al. The clinical utility of polygenic risk scores in genomic medicine practices: a systematic review. Hum Genet. 2022 Nov;141(11):1697-1704. Doi:10.1007/s00439-022-02452-x.
- Lewis CM, Vassos E. Polygenic risk scores: From research tools to clinical instruments. Genome Med. 2020 May;12(1):44. Doi:10.1186/s13073-020-00742-5.
- Polygenic risk score task force of the international common disease alliance. Responsible use of polygenic risk scores in the clinic: potential benefits, risks and gaps. Nat Med, 2021 Nov. 27(11):1876-84. Doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01549-6.
- 42. Choe EK, Shivakumar M, Lee SM, Verma A, Kim D. Dissecting the clinical relevance of polygenic risk score for obesity-a cross-sectional, longitudinal analysis. Int

J Obes (Lond). 2022 Sep;46(9):1686-93. Doi:10.1038/ s41366-022-01168-2.

- 43. Padilla-Martinez F, Szczerbiński Ł, Citko A, Czajkowski M, Konopka P, Paszko A, et al. Testing the Utility of Polygenic Risk Scores for Type 2 Diabetes and Obesity in Predicting Metabolic Changes in a Prediabetic Population: An Observational Study. Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Dec;23(24):16081. Doi:10.3390/ijms232416081.
- Slunecka JL, van der Zee MD, Beck JJ, Johnson BN, Finnicum CT, Pool R, et al. Implementation and implications for polygenic risk scores in healthcare. Hum Genomics. 2021 Jul;15(1):46. Doi:10.1186/s40246-021-00339-y.
- 45. Ye Y, Chen X, Han J, Jiang W, Natarajan P, Zhao H. Interactions Between Enhanced Polygenic Risk Scores and Lifestyle for Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes, and Lipid Levels. Circ Genom Precis Med. 2021 Feb;14(1):e003128. Doi:10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.003128.
- 46. UKBiobank [Internet] [accessed 2023 Feb 19]. Available from: https://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk/
- 47. Twins Early Development Study [Internet] [accessed 2023 Feb 19]. Available from: https://www.teds.ac.uk/
- Janssens ACJW. Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are?. Hum Mol Genet. 2019 Nov;28(R2):R143-50. Doi:10.1093/hmg/ddz205.
- Cross B, Turner R, Pirmohamed M. Polygenic risk scores: An overview from bench to bedside for personalised medicine. Front Genet. 2022 Nov;13:1000667. Doi:10.3389/ fgene.2022.1000667.
- Zhang C, Ye Y, Zhao H. Comparison of methods utilizing Sex-Specific PRSs derived from GWAS summary statistics. Front Genet. 2022 Jul;13:892950. Doi:10.3389/ fgene.2022.892950.
- Zhao Z, Fritsche LG, Smith JA, Mukherjee B, Lee S. The construction of cross-population polygenic risk scores using transfer learning. Am J Hum Genet. 2022 Nov;109(11):1998-2008. Doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2022.09.010.
- 52. Kafyra M, Kalafati IP, Dimitriou M, Grigoriou E, Kokkinos A, Rallidis L, et al. Robust bioinformatics approaches result in the first Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek adults. J Pers Med. 2023 Feb;13(2):327. Doi.org/10.3390/ jpm13020327.
- 53. Horne JR, Nielsen DE, Madill J, Robitaille J, Vohl MC, Mutch DM. Guiding global best practice in personalized nutrition based on genetics: The development of a Nutrigenomics Care Map. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2022 Feb;122(2):259-69. Doi:10.1016/j.jand.2021.02.008.
- Peña-Romero AC, Navas-Carrillo D, Marín F, Orenes-Piñero E. The future of nutrition: Nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics in obesity and cardiovascular diseases. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2018;58(17):3030-41. Doi:10.1080/10408398.2 017.1349731.
- 55. Vyas S. Advances in nutrigenomics and applications in public health: A Recent Update. Curr Res Nutr Food Sci. 2022 Dec;10(3). Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.12944/ CRNFSJ.10.3.23.
- Floris M, Cano A, Porru L, Addis R, Cambedda A, Idda ML, et al. Direct-to-Consumer Nutrigenetics Testing: An Overview. Nutrients. 2020 Feb;12(2):566. Doi:10.3390/ nu12020566.

Appendix B: iMPROVE Study-related documents

Appendix B. iMPROVE Study-related documents

B1. Ethics Approval for the iMPROVE study.



Figure 30. Conduct approval for the iMPROVE study by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio University of Athens.
B2. Original iMPROVE Study Questionnaires

How often do you consume:		Frequency of co	nsumption (ser	vings/week or o	otherwise stated	l)
All cereals (bread, pasta, rice, etc.)	Never	1-6	7-12	13-18	19-31	> 32
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Potatoes	Never	1-4	5-8	9-12	13-18	> 18
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Fruits	Never	1-4	5-8	9-15	16-21	> 22
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Vegetables	Never	1-6	7-12	13-20	21-32	> 33
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Legumes	Never	< 1	1-2	3-4	5-6	> 6
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Fish	Never	< 1	1-2	3-4	5-6	> 6
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Red Meat Products	≤ 1	2-3	4-5	6-7	9-10	> 10
	5	4	3	2	1	0
Poultry	≤ 3	4-5	5-6	7-8	9-10	> 10
	5	4	3	2	1	0
Full fat dairy products (cheese, yogurt, milk)	≤ 10	11-15	16-20	21-28	29-30	> 30
	5	4	3	2	1	0
Use of Olive Oil (times/week)	Never	Rare	< 1	1-3	3-5	Daily
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Alcohol (ml/day)	0	< 300	400	500	600	> 700
	5	4	3	2	1	0

Figure 31. Mediterannean Diet Score Questionnaire by Panagiotakos et al [313]

Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CES-D-R 10)

Below is a list of some of the ways you may have felt or behaved.

Please indicate how often you have felt this way during the past week by checking the appropriate box for each question.

	Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)	Some or a little of the time (1-2 days)	Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3-4 days)	All of the time (5-7 days)
1. I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.				
2. I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing.				
3. I felt depressed.				
4. I felt that everything I did was an effort.				
5. I felt hopeful about the future.				
6. I felt fearful.				
7. My sleep was restless.				
8. I was happy.				
9. I felt lonely.				
10. I could not "get going."				

Figure 32. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CES-D-R-10) [314]

SF-12 Health Survey

This survey asks for your views about your health. This information will help keep track of how you feel and how well you are able to do your usual activities. **Answer each question by choosing just one answer**. If you are unsure how to answer a question, please give the best answer you can.

1. In general, would you say your health is:

□1 Excellent	D2 Very good	□₃ Good	□₄ Fair		Is Poor		
The following qu	uestions are about	It activities you	u might do dur	ing a typical	day. Does	your health now	
init you in thes	e activities : it st	, now much					
			YES,	Y	ES,	NO, not	
			a lot	a	little	at all	
2. Moderate activ	vities such as moving	g a table, pushing]2	□3	
a vacuum clea	aner, bowling, or pl	aying golf.					
Climbing seve	eral flights of stairs			0]2	□3	
During the <u>past</u> daily activities <u>a</u>	4 weeks, have yo as a result of your	u had any of th physical healt	ne following pr <u>h</u> ?	oblems with	your work	or other regular	
				YES		NO	
4. Accomplishe	ed less than you w	ould like.					
5. Were limited	in the kind of work	or other activiti	es.			D 2	
During the past	4 weeks, have yo	u had any of th	ne following pr	oblems with	your work	or other regular	
daily activities a	is a result of any	emotional prob	<u>olems</u> (such as	feeling dep	ressed or a	nxious)?	
				YES		NO	
6. Accomplishe	d less than you w	ould like.					
7. Did work or ad	ctivities less carefu	ully than usual		D1			
□1 Not at all	□₂ A little bit	□₃ Mo	derately	□₄ Quite a	bit	□s Extremely	
□ Not at all These questions For each questions	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th	⊡₃ Mo ou have been f e one answer f	derately feeling during that comes clo	□ Quite a the past 4 w sest to the v	i bit eeks. vay you hav	□₅ Extremely ve been feeling.	
□ Not at all These questions For each question How much of th	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the	⊡₃ Mo ou have been t e one answer t <u>past 4 weeks</u>	derately feeling during that comes clo	□₄ Quite a the <u>past 4 w</u> sest to the v	a bit <u>eeks</u> . vay you hav	□s Extremely	_
□ Not at all These question: For each questi How much of th	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the	□₃ Mor rou have been f re one answer f past 4 weeks All of	derately feeling during that comes clo Most	Quite a the <u>past 4 w</u> esest to the v	bit eeks. vay you hav	Extremely ve been feeling.	None
□1 Not at all These question: For each questi How much of th	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the	□₃ Mo rou have been t re one answer t past 4 weeks. All of the	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the	□ Quite a the <u>past 4 w</u> sest to the v A good bit of	bit eeks. way you hay Some of the	A little of the	None of the
□ Not at all These question: For each questi How much of th	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the	□₃ Mo rou have been t re one answer t past 4 weeks All of the time	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time	□ Quite a the <u>past 4 w</u> sest to the w A good bit of the time	bit eeks. vay you hav Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
Not at all These questions For each questi How much of th 9. Have you felt ca	A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful?	□₃ Mon rou have been f re one answer f past 4 weeks All of the time □₁	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time Iz	A good bit of the time	bit eeks. way you hav Some of the time □4	A little of the time 5	None of the time
Not at all These questions For each questi How much of th . Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a	A little bit A little bit are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy?	□s Mor rou have been f re one answer f past 4 weeks All of the time □ 1 □	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2	A good bit of the time as	Some of the time 4	A little of the time 5	None of the time □s
Not at all These questions For each question How much of th . Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue?	A little bit are about how y on, please give th e time during the lim & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and	□3 Mor rou have been te one answer f past 4 weeks All of the time □ □ □	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 2 2	A good bit of the time a bit of the time b bit of the time	bit eeks. way you hav Some of the time 4 4 4	■ Extremely ve been feeling. A little of the time □s □s	None of the time □ 6
Not at all These questions For each questions For each questions How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue?	A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? iown-hearted and ast 4 weeks, how	□3 Mor rou have been e one answer past 4 weeks All of the time □r □r □r much of the ti	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 me has your p	A good bit of the time bit of the time bit of the time bit of the time	bit eeks. way you hav Some of the time 4 4 4 th or emotio	A little of the time s s onal problems	None of the time G G G G
Not at all These questions For each questions For each questions How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue?	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and ast 4 weeks, how your social activit	□3 Mor ou have been e one answer to past 4 weeks All of the time □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 2 me has your p g friends, relat	A good bit of the time bit of the time bit of the time bit of the time	bit eeks. vay you hav Some of the time 4 4 th or emotion	A little of the time S S	None of the time c c c
 Not at all These questions For each question For each question How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue? 12. During the p interfered with y 	□₂ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and wast 4 weeks, how your social activit	□3 Mor ou have been e one answer past 4 weeks All of the time □1 □1 □1 much of the ti ies (like visiting	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 2 me has your <u>p</u> g friends, relat	A good bit of the time set to the v	bit eeks. way you hav Some of the time 4 4 4 th or emotion	■ Extremely ve been feeling. A little of the time □s □s □s onal problems	None of the time © © ©
Not at all These questions For each question For each question How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue? 12. During the <u>p</u> interfered with y 11. All of the time	⊇ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and ast 4 weeks, how your social activit e □₂ Most of the teepselocation	□3 Mor rou have been to e one answer to past 4 weeks All of the time □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 me has your <u>p</u> g friends, relat me of the time	Quite a the past 4 w sess to the v A good bit of the time b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b	bit eeks. vay you hav Some of the time 4 4 th or emotion of the time	Sector S	None of the time 0 0 0 0 time
Not at all These questions For each question For each question How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue? 12. During the <u>p</u> interfered with y 14. All of the time	⊇ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and vast 4 weeks, how your social activit □ 2 Most of the te	□3 Mor ou have been e one answer past 4 weeks All of the itime □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1 □1	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 me has your <u>p</u> g friends, relat me of the time Date:	A good bit of the time set to the v A good bit of the time s hysical healt tives, etc.)?	bit eeks. vay you hav Some of the time 4 4 th or emotion of the time CS:	Sector S	None of the time © c
Not at all These questions For each question For each question How much of th 9. Have you felt ca 10. Did you have a 11. Have you felt d blue? 12. During the p interfered with y □₁ All of the time Visit type (circ	⊇ A little bit s are about how y on, please give th e time during the alm & peaceful? lot of energy? own-hearted and ast 4 weeks, how your social activit e □₂ Most of the the le one)	□3 Mor rou have been to e one answer to past 4 weeks All of the time □1 □1 □1 much of the ti ies (like visiting time □3 Sor	derately feeling during that comes clo Most of the time 2 2 2 me has your <u>p</u> g friends, relat me of the time Date:	Quite a the past 4 w sess to the v A good bit of the time b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b	bit eeks. vay you have Some of the time 4 4 th or emotion of the time CS:	Second problems MCS: Extremely A little of the time S s b conal problems	None of the time o o time

Figure 33. The 12-item Short Form Survey [SF-12] [315]

ATHENS INSOMNIA SCALE

This scale is intended to record your own assessment of any sleep difficulty you might have experienced. Please, check (by circling the appropriate number) the items below to indicate your estimate of any difficulty, provided that it occurred at least three times per week during the last month.

1. SLEEP INDUCTION (time it takes you to fall asleep after turning-off the lights)

	0 No problem	1 Slightly delayed	2 Markedly delayed	3 Very delayed or did not sleep at all
2.	AWAKENINGS DU	JRING THE NIGHT		steep at an
	0 No problem	1 Minor problem	2 Considerable problem	3 Serious problem or did not sleep at all
3.	FINAL AWAKENIN	G EARLIER THAN DESIRE	D	
	0 Not earlier	1 A little earlier	2 Markedly earlier	3 Much earlier or did not sleep at all
4.	TOTAL SLEEP DUI	RATION		
	0 Sufficient	1 Slightly insufficient	2 Markedly insufficient	3 Very insufficient or did not sleep at all
5.	OVERALL QUALIT	Y OF SLEEP (no matter how	long you slept)	
_	0	1	2	1
	Satisfactory	Slightly unsatisfactory	Markedly unsatisfactory	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all
6.	Satisfactory SENSE OF WELL-B	Slightly unsatisfactory	Markedly unsatisfactory	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all
6.	Satisfactory <u>SENSE OF WELL-B</u> 0 Normal	Slightly unsatisfactory EING DURING THE DAY 1 Slightly decreased	Markedly unsatisfactory 2 Markedly decreased	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all 3 Very decreased
6. 7.	Satisfactory <u>SENSE OF WELL-B</u> 0 Normal <u>FUNCTIONING (PF</u>	Slightly unsatisfactory EING DURING THE DAY I Slightly decreased IYSICAL AND MENTAL) D	Markedly unsatisfactory 2 Markedly decreased URING THE DAY	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all 3 Very decreased
6.	Satisfactory SENSE OF WELL-E 0 Normal FUNCTIONING (PF 0 Normal	Slightly unsatisfactory EING DURING THE DAY 1 Slightly decreased IVSICAL AND MENTAL) D 1 Slightly decreased	Markedly unsatisfactory 2 Markedly decreased <u>URING THE DAY</u> 2 Markedly decreased	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all Very decreased 3 Very decreased
6. 7. 8.	Satisfactory SENSE OF WELL-E 0 Normal FUNCTIONING (PH 0 Normal SLEEPINESS DURI	Slightly unsatisfactory EEING DURING THE DAY Slightly decreased IYSICAL AND MENTAL) D I Slightly decreased NG THE DAY	Markedly unsatisfactory 2 Markedly decreased URING THE DAY 2 Markedly decreased	Very unsatisfactory or did not sleep at all 3 Very decreased 3 Very decreased

Figure 34. The Athens Insomnia Scale (AIS) [316]

Ερωτηματολόγιο Συχνότητας Κατανάλωσης Τροφίμων:

Φαγητό ή ρόφημα Μέγεθος μερίδας Συχνότητα Κατανάλωσης αναφοράς ΓΑΛΑΚΤΟΚΟΜΙΚΑ Πλήρες γάλα/ γιαούρτι 1 κούπα (240ml) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Χαμηλό σε λίπος γάλα/γιαούρτι 1 κούπα (240ml) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Κίτρινο τυρί / κρεμώδες τυρί 30g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Λευκό τυρί (πχ τυρί φέτα) 30g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Χαμηλό σε λίπος τυρί (light/cottage) 30g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/ημ Αυγό (βραστό, τηγανητό, ομελέτα) 50g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ ΔΗΜΗΤΡΙΑΚΑ, ΑΜΥΛΟΥΧΑ ΤΡΟΦΙΜΑ Λευκό ψωμί / τοστ 1φέτα (30g) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Ολικής άλεσης ψωμί / φρυγανιά 1φέτα (30g), 2 τεμάχια Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Burger ψωμί 1τεμάχιο (60g) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ 2 λεπτά τεμάχια (20g) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Κράκερς Δημητριακά/ μπάρες δημητριακών 1/2κούπα (20g), 1τεμάχιο Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Ρύζι άσπρο 1κούπα Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Ρύζι καστανό 1κούπα Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Ζυμαρικά / αποφλοιωμένο κριθάρι 1κούπα Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Ζυμαρικά ολικής άλεσης 1κούπα Poté/spánia, 1-3 $\phi/\mu\eta\nu\alpha$, 1-2 $\phi/\epsilon\beta\delta$, 3-6 $\phi/\epsilon\beta\delta$, 1 $\phi/\eta\mu$, $\geq 2\phi/\eta\mu$ Πατάτες βραστές/ ψητές/ πουρές Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ 1 μέτρια 1/2 μερίδα Τηγανητές πατάτες Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/ημ ΚΡΕΑΣ Μοσχάρι (μπριζόλα, φιλέτο) 150g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Μπιφτέκι/ κεφτεδάκια/ κιμάς 120g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/ημ Κοτόπουλο/γαλοπούλα (όλα τα είδη) Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ 150g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\ge 2φ/ημ$ Χοιρινό (μπριζόλα, φιλέτο) 150g Αρνί/ κατσίκι/ κυνήγι/ παϊδάκια 150g Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3
φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$

Τρόφιμα και ροφήματα, μεγέθη μερίδων και συχνότητα κατανάλωσης

Αλλαντικά	1φέτα (30g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2φ/ημ$
Λουκάνικο/ μπέικον	1 μέτριο τμχ., 2φέτες (30g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Τύπου light/ χωρίς λίπος αλλαντικά	30g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
<i>WAPIA</i>		
Μικρά ψάρια	150g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \eta \mu$
Μεγάλα ψάρια	150g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Θαλασσινά (χταπόδι, καλαμαράκια, γαρίδες)	150g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
ΟΣΠΡΙΑ, ΠΑΡΑΔΟΣΙΑΚΑ ΦΑΓΗ	TA	
Όσπρια (φακές, φασόλια, ρεβίθια, φάβα)	1 μερίδα (300g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Σπανακόρυζο / λαχανόρυζο	1μερίδα (250g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Παστίτσιο/ μουσακάς/ παπουτσάκια	1μερίδα (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
AAXANIKA		
Αρακάς, φασολάκια, μπάμιες, αγκινάρα	200g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Ντομάτα, αγγούρι, καρότο, πιπεριά	100g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Μαρούλι, λάχανο, σπανάκι, ρόκα (ωμά)	80g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Μπρόκολο, κουνουπίδι, κολοκυθάκι	100g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Χόρτα, σέλινο, σπανάκι (βρ)	90g	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
ΦΡΟΥΤΑ, ΞΗΡΟΙ ΚΑΡΠΟΙ		
Πορτοκάλι	1μέτριο (170g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Μήλο, αχλάδι	1 μέτριο (140g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Άλλα χειμερινά φρούτα	1 κομμάτι , ½ κούπα (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Μπανάνα	1μέτρια (100g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Άλλα καλοκαιρινά φρούτα	1κομμάτι, ½ κούπα (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Χυμοί φρούτων	1 ποτήρι (240g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Αποξηραμένα φρούτα	¼ ποτηριού (35g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
Ξηροί Καρποί	1 κούπα του καφέ (50g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi/\eta \mu$
SNACKS		
Σπιτικές πίτες (πχ. Τυρί, σπανάκι)	1 κομμάτι (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2φ/ημ$

	1 κομμάτι (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2φ/r$
Τοστ, σάντουιτς	1 κομμάτι (200g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
ГЛҮКА, АЛМҮРА SNACKS		
Γλυκά ταψιού	1 κομμάτι (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Γλυκά του κουταλιού, κομπόστα φρούτων, ζελέ φρούτων	1μερίδα (100g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / r$
Πάστα, τάρτα	1κομμάτι (150g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2\phi/r$
Κρουασάν, γκοφρέτα, κέικ, μπισκότα	1τεμάχιο, 1 κομμάτι, 3- 4τμχ	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / r$
Σοκολάτα	1μέτρια (60g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / r$
Παγωτό, milk-shake, κρέμα, ρυζόγαλο	1τμχ	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
Πατατάκια, ποπ-κορν	1σακουλάκι (70g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
Μέλι, μαρμελάδα, ζάχαρη	1κγ (5g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
Ελιές	10 μικρές/ 5 μεγάλες	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
РОФНМАТА		
Κρασί	1 ποτήρι (125ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Μπίρα	1 ποτήρι (240ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Άλλα αλκοολούχα ποτά	1 ποτήρι (30ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Αναψυκτικά	1 κουτάκι (330ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
Αναψυκτικά light	1 κουτάκι (330ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Καφές	1 κούπα (240ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \tau$
Τσάι / άλλα αφεψήματα	1 κούπα (240ml)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / t$
ліпн		
	1κ.σ (15g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $\geq 2 \phi / \epsilon$
Μαγιονέζα, σως		
Μαγιονέζα, σως Light μαγιονέζα, light σως	1κ.σ (15g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3 ϕ /μήνα, 1-2 ϕ /εβδ, 3-6 ϕ /εβδ, 1 ϕ /ημ, $\geq 2\phi$ /η
Μαγιονέζα, σως Light μαγιονέζα, light σως Ελαιόλαδο	1κ.σ (15g) 3κ.σ (45g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, $1-3φ/μήνα$, $1-2φ/εβδ$, $3-6φ/εβδ$, $1φ/ημ$, $≥ 2φ/nΠοτέ/σπάνια$, $1-3φ/μήνα$, $1-2φ/εβδ$, $3-6φ/εβδ$, $1φ/ημ$, $≥ 2φ/n$
Μαγιονέζα, σως Light μαγιονέζα, light σως Ελαιόλαδο Σπορέλαιο	1κ.σ (15g) 3κ.σ (45g) 3κ.σ (45g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $≥ 2φ/n$ Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $≥ 2φ/n$ Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, $≥ 2φ/n$
Μαγιονέζα, σως Light μαγιονέζα, light σως Ελαιόλαδο Σπορέλαιο Μαργαρίνη	1κ.σ (15g) 3κ.σ (45g) 3κ.σ (45g) 1κ.σ (15g)	Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/η Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/η Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/η Ποτέ/σπάνια, 1-3φ/μήνα, 1-2φ/εβδ, 3-6 φ/εβδ, 1φ/ημ, ≥ 2φ/η

Figure 35. 69-item FFQ n Greek [317]



Πρόκειται να σας ρωτήσω σχετικά με το χρόνο που δαπανήσατε όντας σωματικά δραστήριος τις τελευταίες 7 ημέρες. Παρακαλώ απαντήστε κάθε ερώτηση ακόμα και αν δεν θεωρείτε τον εαυτό σας δραστήριο άτομο. Σκεφτείτε τις δραστηριότητες που πραγματοποιείτε στην εργασία σας, ως μέρος των εργασιών του σπιτιού και του κήπου, για να πάτε από το ένα μέρος στο άλλο, και στον ελεύθερο χρόνο σας για ψυχαγωγία, άσκηση ή αθλητισμό.

- Κατά τη διάρκεια των τελευταίων 7 ημερών, πόσες ημέρες κάνατε έντονες σωματικές δραστηριότητες; [Οι έντονες δραστηριότητες μας κάνουν να αναπνέουμε πολύ πιο έντονα από το κανονικό και μπορεί να περιλαμβάνουν άρση βαρέων αντικειμένων, σκάψιμο, αεροβική άσκηση, ή γρήγορη ποδηλασία. Σκεφτείτε μόνο εκείνες τις σωματικές δραστηριότητες που πραγματοποιείτε για τουλάχιστον 10min κάθε φορά. Σε απάντηση μηδέν, άρνηση ή «δεν γνωρίζω», >> Ερώτηση 3]
 - ____ Ημέρες ανά εβδομάδα [VDAY; Range 0-7, 8,9]
 - Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν είμαι σίγουρος
 - Αρνήθηκε
- 2. Πόσο χρόνο δαπανήσατε συνήθως κάνοντας έντονες σωματικές δραστηριότητες σε μία από αυτές τις ημέρες; [Σκεφτείτε μόνο εκείνες τις σωματικές δραστηριότητες που πραγματοποιήσατε για τουλάχιστον 10min κάθε φορά.

____Ώρες ανά ημέρα [VDHRS; Range 0-16]

____ Λεπτά ανά ημέρα [VDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999]

998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν είμαι σίγουρος

999. Αρνήθηκε

[Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε μέρα]

Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπανήσατε τις τελευταίες 7 ημέρες κάνοντας έντονες σωματικές δραστηριότητες;

- ____ Ώρες ανά εβδομάδα [VWHRS; Range 0-112]
- ____ Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα [VWMIN; Range 0-6720, 9998, 9999]

9998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν είμαι σίγουρος

9999. Αρνήθηκε

3.	Κατά τη πραγματοπ δραστηριότητες περιλαμβάνουν συμπεριλάβετε πραγματοποιήα γνωρίζω», >>	διάρκεια το οιήσατε μέτρι ; μας κάνουν να μεταφορά ελαφρι το περπάτημα. Κα ατε για τουλάχιστ Ερώτηση 5].	ων τελευταίων 7 ημερών, πόσες ημέρες ες σωματικές δραστηριότητες; [Οι μέτριες σωματικές αναπνέουμε κάπως πιο έντονα από το κανονικό και μπορεί να ών φορτίων, ποδηλασία σε κανονικό ρυθμό, ή διπλό τένις. Μην ι πάλι, σκεφτείτε μόνο εκείνες τις σωματικές δραστηριότητες που ον 10 λεπτά κάθε φορά. Σε απάντηση μηδέν, άρνηση ή «δεν
	Ημέρε	ς ανά εβδομάδα	[MDAY; Range 0-7, 8,9]
	8 /	Δεν γνωρίζω/Δε	ν είμαι σίγουρος
	9	Αρνήθηκε	
4.	Πόσο χρά δραστηριότ	ονο δαπανήσ ητες σε μία αι	ατε συνήθως κάνοντας μέτριες σωματικές ιό αυτές τις ημέρες;
	Ώρες	ανά ημέρα	[MDHRS; Range 0-16]
	Λεπτά	ι ανά ημέρα	[MDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999]
	998. /	Δεν γνωρίζω/Δε	ν είμαι σίγουρος
	999. /	Αρνήθηκε	
	[Αν ο ερωτώμε σημαντικά από Πόσο χρόνο σωματικές δ	ενος δεν μπορεί να μέρα σε μέρα] συνολικά δαι ραστηριότητες;	ι απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου ποικίλει πανήσατε τις τελευταίες 7 ημέρες κάνοντας μέτριες
	Ώρες	ανά εβδομάδα	[MWHRS; Range 0-112]
	Λεπτά	ανά εβδομάδα	[MWMIN; Range 0-6720, 9998, 9999]
	9998	. Δεν γνωρίζω//	Δεν είμαι σίγουρος
	9999	. Αρνήθηκε	
5.	Κατά τη δι για τουλά) περπατώντας πραγματοποιή «δεν γνωρίζω: Ημέρα 8. 9.	άρκεια των τε (ιστον 10 λεπ σε εργασία και σ σει για ψυχαγωγία, », >> Ερώτηση 7] ες ανά εβδομάδα Δεν γνωρίζω/ Αρνήθηκε	ελευταίων 7 ημερών, πόσες ημέρες περπατήσατε τά κάθε φορά; [ο χρόνος αφορά σε αυτόν που δαπανήσατε σπίτι, περπάτημα για μετακίνηση, άλλο περπάτημα που έχετε , άσκηση, ή στον ελεύθερο χρόνο. Σε απάντηση μηδέν, άρνηση ή α [WDAY; Range 0-7, 8,9] Δεν είμαι σίγουρος

sched and theba	[WDHRS; Range 0-16]
Λεπτά ανά ημέρα	[WDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999]
998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν	ν είμαι σίγουρος
999. Αρνήθηκε	
[Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπαγ	να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου : μέρα] νήσατε περπατώντας τις τελευταίες 7 ημέρες;
Ώρες ανά εβδομάδα	[WWHRS; Range 0-112]
Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα	[WWMIN; Range 0-6720, 9998, 9999]
9998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δι	εν είμαι σίγουρος
9999. Αρνήθηκε	
10	
Doss avà putoa	
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999]
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε [Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπα	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου : μέρα] νήσατε καθισμένος την περασμένη Τετάρτη;
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε [Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπα Ώρες την Τετάρτη Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου μέρα] νήσατε καθισμένος την περασμένη Τετάρτη; [SWHRS; Range 0-16] [SWMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999]
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε [Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπα Ώρες την Τετάρτη Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου μέρα] νήσατε καθισμένος την περασμένη Τετάρτη; [SWHRS; Range 0-16] [SWMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] είμαι σίγουρος
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε [Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπα Ώρες την Τετάρτη Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] γ είμαι σίγουρος γα απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου μέρα] γήσατε καθισμένος την περασμένη Τετάρτη; [SWHRS; Range 0-16] [SWMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] είμαι σίγουρος
Ώρες ανά ημέρα Λεπτά ανά ημέρα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε [Αν ο ερωτώμενος δεν μπορεί ποικίλει σημαντικά από μέρα σε Πόσο χρόνο συνολικά δαπα Ώρες την Τετάρτη Λεπτά ανά εβδομάδα 998. Δεν γνωρίζω/Δεν 999. Αρνήθηκε	[SDHRS; Range 0-16] [SDMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] ν είμαι σίγουρος να απαντήσει επειδή το μοτίβο του δαπανηθέντος χρόνου μέρα] νήσατε καθισμένος την περασμένη Τετάρτη; [SWHRS; Range 0-16] [SWMIN; Range 0-960, 998, 999] είμαι σίγουρος

Figure 36. Short Form IPAQ in Greek [31

Appendix C: Scientific Publications on the iMPROVE Study





Article The iMPROVE Study; Design, Dietary Patterns, and Development of a Lifestyle Index in Overweight and Obese Greek Adults

Maria Kafyra ^{1,†}, Ioanna P. Kalafati ^{1,†}, Efthymia A. Katsareli ¹, Sophia Lambrinou ¹, Iraklis Varlamis ², Andriana C. Kaliora ¹ and George V. Dedoussis ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Sciences and Education, Harokopio University of Athens, 17671 Athens, Greece; mariakaf@hua.gr (M.K.); nkalafati@gmail.com (I.P.K.); ekatsa@hotmail.com (E.A.K.); sophialambrinou@gmail.com (S.L.); akaliora@hua.gr (A.C.K.)
- ² Department of Informatics and Telematics, School of Digital Technology, Harokopio University of Athens, 17671 Athens, Greece; varlamis@hua.gr
- * Correspondence: dedousi@hua.gr; Tel.: +30-2109549179
- + These authors contributed equally to this paper.

Abstract: Background: Dietary and lifestyle habits constitute a significant contributing factor in the formation of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics of overweight and obese populations. The iMPROVE study recruited overweight and obese Greek adults and investigated the effect of gene-diet interactions on weight management when adhering to a six-month, randomized nutritional trial including two hypocaloric diets of different macronutrient content. The present paper displays the design of the intervention and the baseline findings of the participants' dietary habits and their baseline anthropometric and biochemical characteristics. Methods: Baseline available data for 202 participants were analyzed and patterns were extracted via principal component analysis (PCA) on 69-item Food-Frequency Questionnaires (FFQ). Relationships with indices at baseline were investigated by multivariate linear regressions. A Lifestyle Index of five variables was further constructed. Results: PCA provided 5 dietary patterns. The "Mixed" pattern displayed positive associations with logBMI and logVisceral fat, whereas the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern was nominally, negatively associated with body and visceral fat, but positively associated with HDL levels. The Lifestyle Index displayed protective effects in the formation of logBMI and logGlucose levels. Conclusions: Dietary patterns and a Lifestyle Index in overweight and obese, Greek adults highlighted associations between diet, lifestyle, and anthropometric and biochemical indices.

Keywords: overweight; obesity; adults; dietary patterns; lifestyle index; health status; online assessment tool; nutritional intervention; weight management

1. Introduction

The past decades have marked a noticeable increase in adult overweight and obesity. Current epidemiological evidence suggests that more than half of the adult in the European population presents a body mass index (BMI) of above 25 kg/m² and is, therefore, classified in the category of overweight [1]. Factors relating to increased body weight vary, including genetic predisposition, lifestyle habits, and environmental conditions, as well as their respective interplay.

The role of dietary habits in overweight and obesity development has been extensively studied in populations of various ages and ethnicities [2]. It is widely established that consumption of energy-dense foodstuffs and/or products with high sugar or fat content is positively correlated with increased weight and weight management [3]. Apart from habitual dietary preferences, adherence to specific dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean or the Western diets, has also been associated with long-term weight management. In their 2017 review, Mu et al. demonstrated that diets rich in fruits and vegetables are correlated



Citation: Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Katsareli, E.A.; Lambrinou, S.; Varlamis, I.; Kaliora, A.C.; Dedoussis, G.V. The iMPROVE Study; Design, Dietary Patterns, and Development of a Lifestyle Index in Overweight and Obese Greek Adults. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 3495. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu13103495

Academic Editor: Ulrika Ericson

Received: 10 September 2021 Accepted: 30 September 2021 Published: 3 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). with lower values of BMI, whereas higher consumption of meats and high-fat products are associated with increased BMI [2]. In the same context, Cena and Calder examined the components of constructing a healthy diet and its relation to general health status. Their 2020 review concluded that diets including fruits, vegetables, and plant-based foods, among others, such as the Mediterranean and Asian diets, reduce the risk of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) development [4].

Additionally, the identification of adherence to specific dietary patterns has been shown to be related to lifestyle parameters, namely depression and sleep characteristics. Li et al. showed that adherence to balanced dietary patterns including whole-grain products, fish, fruit, and vegetables was related to decreased risk of depression appearance, in contrast with adherence to western-diet alike patterns with elevated content in processed products and red meat [5]. Moreover, Godos et al. (2021) showed that attrition to similar, balanced dietary patterns was associated with enhanced sleep habits and sleep quality [6].

The effect of dietary habits has recently been incorporated in the attempt to collectively evaluate various lifestyle characteristics, via the construction of Lifestyle Indices (LI). Creation of LI is gaining more and more ground in recent literature and allows for the evaluation of the interconnected effect of multiple variables on phenotypic traits, such as obesity, cognitive abilities [7], development of other NCDs, such as cardiovascular disease [8] and overall mortality rates. Research studies including dietary habits in lifestyle indices are currently gaining more ground. Navarro et al., demonstrated the relationship between a maternal healthy lifestyle index, including calculation of the Healthy Eating Index (HEI), increased physical activity, pre-pregnancy BMI, smoking and alcohol drinking habits and the development of obesity in their offspring. Increased values of the index were negatively associated with obesity development during childhood [9]. Moreover, higher scores of a lifestyle index comprising of age, sex, smoking, drinking and exercise habits, sleep quality and BMI were associated with increased absolute mortality risk of older adults in Europe, United States, and the United Kingdom [10].

In this context, the present analyses represent the baseline results deriving from the iMPROVE study. The iMPROVE study, as a whole, attempts to evaluate gene–diet interactions in observed weight management, weight loss, body composition, and the lifestyle characteristics of a sample of overweight and obese Greek adults, adhering to one out of two hypocaloric dietary regimens of different macronutrient content, for a total duration of 6 months. The present article seeks to: (a) display the design, as well as the aims and objectives of the iMPROVE study and (b) evaluate the sample population's baseline dietary habits and potential relations with biochemical biomarkers. These analyses constitute the first step in assessing the effect of dietary habits on the participants' observed weight loss and further associate them with characteristics of genetic predisposition.

2. Materials and Methods

The Greek iMPROVE study constitutes a six-month randomized clinical trial, a nutritional intervention focusing on the investigation of gene–diet interactions on body weight regulation and lifestyle parameters. More specifically, the study aims at evaluating the role of target-genes in overweight and obese, Greek adults, under different dietary interventions. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio University of Athens (Protocol Number: 1800/13-06-2019) and was conducted at the premises of Harokopio University during the period 2020–2021. Recruitment took place in spring 2020 and handling and analysis of the data was, then, carried out during 2021. Moreover, the study was registered with the ClinicalTrials.gov database of the United States of America National Health Institute's (NIH) National Library of Medicine (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04699448). Due to the inclusion of human participants throughout its entirety, the trial was conducted adhering to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. The study consisted of a sample of 202 overweight and obese, Greek adults, residing at the region of Attica at the time of recruitment. In this context, the present article summarizes the baseline characteristics of the study population and the associations observed between the participants' dietary habits and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control at baseline.

2.1. Nutritional Intervention Design and Study Population

The overall aims of the iMPROVE study are summarized in the following: (a) To investigate the effect of adhering to two hypocaloric dietary regimens of different macronutrient content on the observed weight loss of overweight and obese adults; (b) to investigate gene–diet interactions concerning the weight management and various lifestyle characteristics of the study population; and (c) to investigate the utility of an original, online assessment tool as a way of long-distance evaluation of the volunteers' progress. In this spectrum, the objectives of the study were formed as follows: (a) To design a six-month, randomized clinical trial including overweight and obese adults, who were blindly recruited to following one out of two different hypocaloric dietary regimens and who were subject to two in-person follow-up meetings, conducted at three and six months (middle and end) after the beginning of the intervention; and (b) to create an original assessment tool to further monitor the monthly, self-reported progress of the volunteers throughout their participation in the intervention. The design of the study is shown in Figure 1.



iMPROVE Study Flow Chart

Figure 1. Flow chart of the iMPROVE Study. After completion of the baseline meeting, each participant was randomly allocated to one of the two proposed dietary intervention groups. Those referred either to a dietary regimen high in carbohydrates/low in fat, with 60% of energy intake deriving from carbohydrates, 18% deriving from protein, and 22% deriving from fat, or a dietary regimen high in protein, with 40% of the total energy intake coming from carbohydrates, 30% deriving from protein, and 30% deriving from fat. Nutritional needs for each participant were calculated using the Mifflin equation and adjusted for their reported physical activity level (PAL). According to the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) [11], optimal weight loss should take place aiming at a mean weight loss of 0.5 to 1 kg per week, which is translated to a 7500 kcal reduction in the individual's weekly energy intake, or a 500 kcal reduction on a daily basis. Therefore, daily individual nutritional needs for each participant were further reduced by 500 kcal. The team of Harokopio University of Athens created three categories of proposed hypocaloric diets with a mean energy content of 1500 kcal, 1800 kcal, or 2000 kcal. Six different versions of the proposed diets, one for each intervention month, were created to allow for monthly renewal of the proposed diets, based on the participants' observed weight loss and dietary habits and/or tastes. The proposed diets concerned a 7-day pattern to be repeated for each month and mainly adhered to the Mediterranean pattern, including the daily consumption of 3 to 5 portions of fruit and vegetables and 1 to 2 portions of dairy products and the weekly consumption of 2 to 3 portions of grains, fish, and chicken, while limiting the consumption of red meat to 1 meal per week.

Inclusion criteria for participation in the study consisted of: (a) age above 18 years old at the time of recruitment; (b) existence of a body mass index (BMI) of above 25 kg/m^2 ; (c) no reporting of extreme weight loss in the 3 to 6 months prior to the beginning of the intervention; and (d) maintenance of a stable level of physical activity prior to and throughout the duration of the intervention. Similarly, the exclusion criteria included: (a) For women, the existence of pregnancy or lactation, or intention of becoming pregnant in the 6 months during the intervention period; (b) the existence of diagnosed comorbidities related to increased body weight or disturbed dietary intake (i.e., diagnosed type 1 or 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, gastrointestinal disorders, mental illness or disorders related to dietary intake); (c) parallel intake of dietary supplements aiming at body weight loss; and (d) parallel participation in a different research study related to weight management and/or dietary intake.

Prospective participants received oral information on the proceedings and the aims of the trial and provided written consent prior to enrolment. All volunteers were asked to visit the premises of Harokopio University of Athens in order to attend the baseline assessment session and the two subsequent, in-person follow-up meetings at the middle and end of the intervention period. All meetings were conducted in the presence of a nutrition health-care professional (dietitian/nutritionist). All in-person sessions included clinical examination, anthropometric measurements, and collection of fasting blood samples. Participants were expected to use the originally created online assessment tool in order to complete questionnaires regarding anthropometric and lifestyle parameters at baseline and at the end of each month. Following successful completion of all monthly questionnaires, the participants were allowed access to the proposed dietary regimen at the beginning of each intervention month.

Furthermore, each participant was allocated a nutrition-expert contact who monitored their adherence to the patterns (Scheme 1) and progress by: (a) Conducting biweekly follow-up phone calls and monthly 24-h dietary recalls in order to discuss the potential concerns and provide advice, as to ensure maximum adherence to the proposed diet, (b) monitoring the monthly completion of all online questionnaires; (c) evaluating the participant's self-reported monthly weight; and (d) renewing and allowing access to the proposed diet at the online platform.



Scheme 1. Macronutrient distribution of the proposed diets.

2.2. Online Assessment Tool

For the purposes of the study, the team of Harokopio University of Athens created an online assessment tool including all the questionnaires that required completion from the

volunteers, both at baseline and at a monthly level. The proposed diet was administered to the participant via access to the platform and was renewed monthly, once all questionnaires of the preceding month were checked by the nutrition expert. Access to the original, online assessment tool was granted with unique usernames and passwords for each volunteer. During the baseline session, each volunteer was taken on a virtual tour of the online assessment tool and was explicitly shown how to access and use it, by the nutrition expert.

At baseline, participants were required to complete questionnaires providing information on: (a) their medical history; (b) demographic characteristics; (c) feeling of satiety, by completing a 5-scale short questionnaire; (d) adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern, by completing the questionnaire of the MedDiet Score [12]; (e) depression characteristics, by completing the DEPR-S-10 Questionnaire [13]; (f) characteristics of quality of life and health status, by completing the short version of the SF-12 Questionnaire [14]; (g) characteristics of quality of sleep, by completing the Athens Insomnia Scale Questionnaire [15]; (h) dietary habits, by completing a 69-item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) [16]; and (i) physical activity habits, by completing the short version of the IPAQ Questionnaire [17]. Completion of the SF-12, sleep and IPAQ Questionnaires at a monthly basis were also a prerequisite prior to the renewal of the proposed diet. Moreover, at the end of each month participants were further called to insert information on their anthropometric measurements (i.e., current weight, waist and hip circumference measurements), feeling of satiety and self-reported adherence to the proposed diet during the past month.

2.3. Clinical Examination and Anthropometric Measurements

During all three in-person meetings, clinical examination and anthropometric measurements were carried out by the trained dietitians or health-care or nutrition experts, using suitable equipment and standardized techniques. Clinical examination of the participants included: (a) evaluation of their physical status; and (b) blood pressure measurements, conducted after ensuring that the participant was at a calm state and at their bare, left upper arm, while sitting in an upright position with elevated feet and the arm supported at heart level.

The anthropometric data collected included: (a) Height measurements to the nearest 0.1 cm, using a portable stadiometer, where the participant was barefoot, with relaxed shoulders and looking straight ahead; (b) weight measurements to the nearest 0.1 kg, using the scales of the Tanita BC-418 Segmental Body Composition Analyzer, where the participant was barefoot and maintaining light clothing; (c) waist measurements (between the twelfth rib and the iliac crest), using a non-extensible soft tape; and (d) hip measurements, at the widest point of the hips, using a non-extensible soft tape. Participants were further shown and taught how to properly conduct the waist and hip circumference measurements, in order to monitor their progress and report it in the monthly anthropometric measurements' online questionnaire. Body composition analysis for individual participants was conducted via bioelectrical impedance analysis and more specifically, by using the Tanita BC-418 Segmental Body Composition Analyzer. The participants were refrained from food or water intake for at least two hours prior to the measurement conduct, be barefoot and maintain light clothing without any metal objects. Body composition data were acquired for each volunteer including body fat percentage, amount of body fat in kilos, distribution of body fat in the trunk and the limbs, body water percentage, and fat free mass. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated via dividing the weight (kg) by the square height (in m²) for each participant and subjects were classified to the categories of: overweight $(25 \text{ kg/m}^2 \le \text{BMI} < 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, obese with class I obesity $(30 \text{ kg/m}^2 \le \text{BMI} < 35 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, obese with class II obesity $(35 \text{ kg/m}^2 \le BMI < 40 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, or obese with class III obesity $(BMI \ge 40 \text{ kg/m}^2).$

2.4. Biochemical Analyses

Upon arrival to an in-person meeting and after following an 8-h fasting, a blood sample of 23 mL was collected from the antecubital vein of the participant by a trained health-care

professional, following blood pressure measurements. Hematological biomarkers and biomarkers of biochemical profile were analyzed. All remaining samples were stored at -80 °C for future analyses. Low-density cholesterol (LDL-C) was calculated using the Friedewald Equation.

2.5. Genotyping Analyses

The buffy coat samples isolated for each participant were used for DNA extraction, via use of the Invitrogen iPrep Purification Instrument and the Invitrogen iPrep PureLink gDNA Blood Kit [18]. Isolated samples were stored at -20 °C for a period of up to two months after extraction and prior to genotyping. Samples were stored at -80 °C, for a longer period and future analyses. All samples were sent for genome-wide sequencing using the Axiom Precision Medicine Diversity Research Array [19], which provided data for over 850,000 SNPs, deletions, and CNVs.

2.6. Dietary Assessment

Assessment of dietary intake at baseline took place by completing the validated 69item Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) in the online assessment tool. Dietary assessment and evaluation of subsequent adherence to the proposed diet was conducted monthly via: (a) A 24-h dietary recall, carried out by the nutrition expert; and (b) completion of the 5-scale self-reported adherence questionnaire, via use of the online assessment platform.

2.7. Physical Activity Assessment

Physical activity levels at baseline were assessed by completing the short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) on the online platform. The same questionnaire was completed at the end of each intervention month.

2.8. Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), version 23 [20], as well as the R statistical package [21]. Dietary patterns were extracted by conducting principal component analysis (PCA) on 32 food groups deriving from the data of the FFQ. The Varimax orthogonal rotation was used and the KMO and Bartlett's test was implemented to evaluate data adequacy. Five dietary patterns were set to be extracted with Eigen values bigger than 1. Variable distribution was evaluated via the Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Differences in mean/median values of variables within the two sexes were evaluated using the Mann-Whitney test. We further tested for potential associations between the extracted patterns and a variety of anthropometric and biochemical indices, via multivariate linear regressions. Non-normally distributed variables were log-transformed. We further examined the potential associations between the extracted patterns and several indices, by separating them into tertiles and testing for associations using the parametric ANOVA test and the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, depending on the distribution of the examined variable. After analyzing the data for the entirety of the sample, a novel Lifestyle Index was constructed including variables found to be correlated with logBMI and body fat percentage, based on Pearson's chi-square test values. Further association tests (i.e., multivariate regressions) were conducted to assess the potential relationship between the Lifestyle Index and clinical and biochemical biomarkers. The level of statistical significance for all analyses was set at $\alpha = 0.05$ and results were also interpreted for the adjusted cut-off value of a = 0.05/number of patterns extracted (i.e., a = 0.05/5 = 0.01).

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Statistics

The entirety of the study population's anthropometric, clinical, dietary, and lifestyle characteristics are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Median \pm IQR is presented for all non-normally distributed variables and mean \pm standard deviation (SD) is presented for the

variables following the normal distribution. Out of the 235 volunteers expressing interest to participate in the study, data are shown for 202 eligible subjects who successfully attended the baseline meeting, completed the majority of the baseline questionnaires using the online tool, and were recruited in one of the two intervention arms. The sample size of the 202 individuals assures adequate power to detect statistical significance. Our baseline sample consisted of 142 women (70.29%) and 60 men (29.7%), with a median age of 47 years old. The majority of participants were married (60.9%), with more than half of our sample reporting having higher education (61.9%) and less than 3% reporting having no acquired education at all. The vast majority of the participants were reported as non-smokers (151 non-smokers vs. 50 smokers, out of 201 participants with available data). The estimated physical activity level showed that roughly half of the subjects were leading a moderately active way of life (104 out of the 199 participants with available data), with about 32% reporting a sedentary lifestyle. All 202 eligible volunteers were blindly recruited in the intervention groups, with 46.5% following the high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet and 53.5% adhering to the high-protein diet.

	Smoking		Phy	vsical Activity	Categories	Diet Group		
n	Smokers	Non-Smokers	Low	Moderate	Vigorous	High Carbohydrate/Low-Fat	High Protein	
Total	50	151	64	104	31	94	108	
Women	38	103	43	76	30	74	68	
Men	12	48	21	28	11	20	40	

Table 2. Anthropometric, clinical,	dietary characteristics and	l characteristics of depression,	quality of sleep,	and health status
in the iMPROVE cohort, by sex.				

Variable		Total			Women			Men		<i>p</i> -Value
	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	-
Age	202	47	15	142	47.50	14	60	45.78 *	17 *	p > 0.05 **
SBP (mmHg)	196	121.00	21	139	117.00	19	57	131.00	21	p < 0.001 **
DBP (mmHg)	196	80.84 *	9.86 *	139	78.68 *	9.05 *	57	86.09 *	9.85 *	p < 0.001 **
Pulse Rate (Beats per minute)	196	74.99	11.38	139	74.00	16	57	73.00	14	p > 0.05 **
Anthropometric Characteristics										
Weight (kg)	202	87.10	26	142	82.80	18	60	100.65	29	p < 0.001 **
BMI (kg/m^2)	202	31.34	6.9	142	31.34	6.9	60	31.33	7.1	p > 0.05 **
Body fat (%)	202	37.95 *	7.8 *	142	41.50 *	5.4 *	60	29.55 *	5.8 *	p < 0.001 **
Body fat (kg)	202	32.95	13.3	142	34.85	12.8	60	29.05	14.5	<i>p</i> < 0.002 **
Fat free mass(kg)	202	52.05	18	142	48.50	7	60	71.20	15	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
Total body water (kg)	202	38.05	13	142	36.35 *	4.03 *	60	52.10	11	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
Visceral fat	202	10.00	6	142	9.74	3.16	60	14.50	5.69	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
Upper body fat (%)	201	36.60	10	141	38.50	8	60	32.10	8	p < 0.001 **
Upper body fat (kg)	201	17.60	7	141	17.30	7	60	18.00	7	p > 0.05 **
Upper body fat-free mass (kg)	201	28.80	9	141	27.67 *	2.75 *	60	38.00	7	p < 0.001 **
Waist circumference (cm)	185	99.00	17	130	96.50	15	55	105.00	17	p < 0.001 **
Hip circumference (cm)	185	114.50	14	130	115.75	16	55	114.00	10	p > 0.05 **
WHR	185	0.85	0.12	130	0.83	0.09	55	0.92	0.09	p < 0.001 **
Biochemical Biomarkers										
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	193	92.00	10.50	135	92.00	10.00	58	95.00	16.25	p < 0.001 **
Urea (mg/dL)	193	28.00	9.00	135	27.00	9.00	58	30.12 *	6.01 *	p < 0.001 **
Creatinine (mg/dL)	193	0.68	0.21	135	0.62 *	0.10 *	58	0.85 *	0.12 *	p < 0.001 **
Uric acid(mg/dL)	193	4.70	1.45	135	4.30	1.10	58	5.75 *	1.00 *	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	193	177.96 *	33.57 *	135	179.32 *	31.98 *	58	174.79 *	37.13 *	p > 0.05 **
HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	193	49.00	16.50	135	52.00	17.00	58	42.00	14.50	p < 0.001 **

Variable		Total			Women			Men		<i>p</i> -Value
	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	-
LDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	193	105.20	38.70	135	105.00	38.40	58	108.00	42.05	<i>p</i> > 0.05 **
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	193	90.00	5.00	135	86.00	51.00	58	105.50	86.50	p < 0.001 **
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	193	0.37	0.23	135	0.35	0.23	58	0.45	0.29	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
Direct bilirubin (mg/dL)	193	0.16	0.08	135	0.15	0.09	58	0.17	0.08	p < 0.001 **
Serum protein (g/dL)	193	6.70	0.50	135	6.70	0.45	58	6.60	0.60	p > 0.05 **
Serum albumin (g/dL)	193	4.20	0.30	135	4.40	0.50	58	4.20	0.40	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
SGOT/AST (IU/L)	193	16.00	6.00	135	15.00	5.00	58	18.00	5.25	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
SGPT/ALT (IU/L)	192	15.00	11.75	134	13.00	9.00	58	22.00	16.25	p < 0.001 **
Lifestyle Characteristics										
AIS Score ***	140	5.00	7.00	97	5.00	7.00	43	4.00	7.00	p > 0.05 **
CESD-R-10 Scale	201	6.00	5.00	141	6.00	4.00	60	5.00	5.75	<i>p</i> < 0.001 **
SF PCS 12 Score	145	51.98	12	99	50.37	11	46	53.82	8	p < 0.001 **
SF MCS 12 Score	145	49.37	15	99	49.44	16	46	46.62 *	8.36	p > 0.001 **

Table 2. Cont.

* The selected variables follow the normal distribution and are presenting as mean \pm standard deviation. ** Statistically significant differences between the sexes were assessed via calculation of the Mann–Whitney test. *** The Athens Insomnia Scale Score was calculated only for participants reporting the referred characteristics \geq 3 times/week for the past month. SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; BMI: body mass index; WHR: waist-to-hip ratio; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; LDL: low-density lipoprotein; SGOT/AST: glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase/aspartate transaminase; SGPT/ALT: glutamate pyruvate transaminase blood/alanine transaminase; AIS: Athens Insomnia Scale; CESD-R-10: Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale Revised—10; SF PCS 12: Short Form (Health Survey) Physical Component Score 12; SF MCS 12: Short Form (Health Survey) Mental Component Score 12.

Overweight participants constituted 38.6% of our overall sample, with the remaining 61.4% spreading across the three different obesity categories (35.1%, 14.9%, and 11.4% of the participants classified as Class I, II, or III obese, respectively). Median BMI was calculated at 31.34 kg/m² and did not differ between men and women, whereas body composition data displayed statistically significant differences between the two sexes, with men reporting higher levels of fat-free mass (71.20 kg vs. 48.50 kg, p < 0.001) and total body water (p < 0.001) and women presenting increased body fat values (41.40% vs. 29.55%, p < 0.001). Although men were found to have increased waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) (0.92 vs. 0.83, p < 0.001) waist circumference in comparison to women (105 cm vs. 96.5 cm, p < 0.001), hip circumference did not present significant differences. Similar differences were further observed in the clinical characteristics, with men reporting higher levels of blood pressure, fasting glucose (95 mg/dL vs. 92 mg/dL, p < 0.001), serum urea (30.12 mg/dL vs. 27.00 mg/dL, *p* < 0.001), creatinine (0.12 mg/dL vs. 0.10 mg/dL, *p* < 0.001), uric acid levels (5,75 mg/dL vs. 4.30 mg/dL, *p* < 0.001), total triglycerides (105.5 mg/dL vs. 86 mg/dL, p < 0.001), serum bilirubin (0.45 mg/dL vs. 0.35 mg/dL, p < 0.001), SGOT (18 IU/L vs. 15 IU/L, p < 0.001), and SGPT levels (22.00 IU/L vs. 13 IU/L, p < 0.001). Women presented higher levels of HDL cholesterol (52.00 mg/dL vs. 42.00 mg/dL, p < 0.001) and serum albumin levels (4.40 g/dL vs. 4.20 g/dL, *p* < 0.001).

3.2. Lifestyle Characteristics

The 8-item Athens Insomnia Scale (AIS) score on evaluation of sleep qualities was calculated for participants who reported the selected outcomes more than three times per week in the month leading to the beginning of the intervention. The AIS score presented a median of 5 out of the scale maximum scoring of 24 and did not display statistically significant differences between the sexes. Overall, participants did not express significant irregularities neither in sleep quality, including sleep induction, total sleep duration, and awakenings at night and expressed delayed sleep induction, nor in effects of sleep on aspects of the next day (i.e., well-being, overall functioning, and sleepiness).

Contrary to the AIS score, the CESD-R-10 scale score on depression characteristics showed that women displayed higher median values (scoring of 6 vs. 5, p < 0.001). The majority of the participants did not display depression characteristics, such as feelings of fear and helplessness, with the overall sample presented a mean CESD-R-10 score of 6, with the scale maximum scoring calculated at 18. Moreover, the physical component of

the SF-12 score on self-reported quality of life underlined increased levels in men than in women (53, 82 vs. 50, 37, p < 0.001), whereas the mental component did not show important dissimilarities. No statistically significant differences were found when the participants were classified into the four different BMI groups (Figures 2 and 3).



Figure 2. Baseline scoring of the four lifestyle questionnaires, based on BMI categories.



Figure 3. Baseline scoring of the four lifestyle questionnaires, based on sex (* The presented variables were statistically significantly different between the sexes.).

As shown in Table 3. we further investigated the potential effect of the aforementioned lifestyle aspects on logBMI and %body fat baseline levels. After adjusting for confounding factors including age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and education years, Only the physical component of the SF-12 questionnaire (SF PCS 12 Score) was found to be associated with the characteristics of interest, displaying a negative effect on both logBMI and %body fat values ($\beta = -0.003$, p < 0.001 and $\beta = -0.218$, respectively).

Table 3. Multivariate linear regression analyses on the relation between lifestyle characteristics and BMI and body fat baseline values.

	Model 1 *							
variable	β	β SE						
logBMI								
Athens Insomnia Scale Score	0.001	0.001	0.612					
CESD-R-10 Scale	0.002	0.001	0.189					
SF PCS 12 Score	-0.003	0.001	< 0.001					
SF MCS 12 Score	0.001	0.001	0.217					
Body fat (%)								
Athens Insomnia Scale Score	0.188	0.128	0.143					
CESD-R-10 Scale	0.175	0.100	0.083					
SF PCS 12 Score	-0.218	0.057	< 0.001					
SF MCS 12 Score	0.049	0.054	0.371					

* Model 1: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking, physical activity level and education years.

3.3. Dietary Patterns

PCA on the available data of the 202 participants' FFQs resulted in the identification of five dietary patterns accounting for 40.34% of the sample's total variance. The KMO and Bartlett's Test (p < 0.001) presented a Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin Measure of 0.726, indicating sufficient data adequacy. All factor loadings for each component were above or approaching a value of 0.3. As shown in Table 4, the 32 food groups formed based on the 69-item questions, included in the analysis reflected the variety of foodstuffs consumed by the sample population, including both widely consumed food categories such as meat and cereals, as well as traditional Greek recipes (i.e., pastitsio, spinach rice, and homemade pies). Alcohol and beer reported servings were included in the analysis, due to the sample's low median values (2 and 16 mL/d, respectively) and the lack of heavy drinkers.

				Co	ompone	ents				
	Mean Consumption (Median. IQR)	Food Group	1	2	3	4	5			
Croissant (g/d)	5.2 (11.56)									
Chocolate (g/d)	12.85 (8.85)	-								
Tarts (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	- Sweets	0.705							
Ice cream (g/d)	7.66 (24.64)	-								
Mayonnaise (g/d)	1.11 (2.02) *	Mayonnaise	0.664							
White bread (g/d)	19.28 (17.28)									
Cereals (g/d)	4.28 (4.28)	-								
White rice (g/d)	10.53 (23.32)	Refined Cereals	0.643							
Barley (g/d)	9.33 (30.00)	-								
Burger bread (g/d)	3.00 (10.44) *	-								
Chips (g/d)	4.66 (4.66)									
Crackers (g/d)	1.33 (4.28)	- Salty Snacks	0.628							
Honey (g/d)	1.07 (4.66)									
Soft drinks (mL/d)	28.69 (72.42) *	- Sugary Snacks	0.596							
Fruit compost (g/d)	7.58 96.66) *		01070							
Tray Sweets (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	Tray Sweets	0.584							
Pastitsio (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	Pastitsio	0.493							
Potatoes (boiled. cooked. not fried) (g/d)	11.53 (25.53)	Potatoes (boiled, cooked, not fried)	0.469							
Chicken (g/d)	32.14 (0.00)	Chicken	0.388							
Seed oil (g/d)	3.23 (8.09) *									
Margarine (g/d)	1.03 (2.46) *	- Seed oil,	0.374							
Butter (g/d)	0.50 (1.00)									
Light mayonnaise (g/d)	0.71 (1.84) *									
Light cold cuts (g/d)	2.00 (6.42)	- Light Products	0.367							
Light soft drinks (g/d)	22.00 (70.71)	-								
Sausage (g/d)	1.08 (1.45)					-0.342				
Tomatoes (g/d)	64.28 (42.85)	_								
Lettuce (g/d)	34.28 (34.28)	-								
Broccoli (g/d)	21.42 (14.76)	Vegetables		0.640						
Spinach (g/d)	6.00 (13.28)	-								
Full fat milk (mL/d)	43.46 (71.26)									
Low fat milk	51.42 (154.28)	Dairy		0.568						
White cheese (g/d)	6.42 (17.28)	-								
Eggs (g/d)	10.71 (7.38)	Eggs		0.562						
Oranges (g/d)	36.42 (97.95)									
Apples (g/d)	30.00 (80.66)	-								
Bananas (g/d)	21.42 (57.61)	- Fruits		0.525						
Winter fruit (g/d)	32.14 (86.42)	-								
Summer fruit	32.14 (64.28)	-								

Table 4. Mean consumption and PCA factor loadings of the 32 FFQ-derived food groups.

Table 4. Cont.

				Components						
	Mean Consumption (Median. IQR)	Food Group	1	2	3	4	5			
Whole bread (g/d)	19.28 (17.28)									
Brown rice (g/d)	6.72 (14.73) *	Non-refined		0.443						
Whole pasta (g/d)	8.54 (9.33)	- cereals								
Large fish (g/d)	10.00 (22.14)	Large fish		0.432						
Olive oil (g/d)	45.00 (45.00)	Olive oil		0.345						
Dried fruit (g/d)	3.35 (6.88) *	Dried fruit		0.330						
Coffee (mL/d)	240.00 (240.00)	Caffeinated				0 504				
Tea (mL/d)	16.00 (51.42)	Beverages				-0.304				
Seafood (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	Seafood			0.685					
French Fries (g/d)	4.83 (15.53)	French Fries			0.648					
Homemade pies (g/d)	10.00 (0.00)	Pies			0.510					
Other pies (g/d)	10.00 (10.00)	-			-					
Beef (g/d)	10.00 (22.14)									
Minced beef	25.71 (17.71)				0.400					
Pork (g/d)	10.00 (22.14)	Red Meat			0.499 -					
Lamb (g/d)	5.83 (13.84)	-								
Alcohol (mL/d)	2.00 (6.42)	Alcohol and Beer			0.398 .					
Beer (mL/d)	16.00 (51.42)	Theorem and Deer			0.070					
Legumes (g/d)	64.28 (44.28)	Legumes				0.698				
Spinach and Rice (g/d)	16.66 (53.57)	Traditional, Greek				0.695				
Green Peas (g/d)	42.85 (29.52)	recipes								
Olives	1.00 (3.21)	Olives					0.645			
Small fish (g/d)	10.00 (32.14)	Small fish					0.584			
Nuts (g/d)	3.33 (28.81)	Nuts					0.343			
Fruit Juice (g/d)	16.00 (51.42)	Fruit Juice					0.311			
Total Variance Explained (%)			14.74%	9.87%	6.26%	4.96%	4.49%			

* The selected variables are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

The dietary patterns provided are summarized in the following (Table 5): (a) The "Mixed" pattern (total variance explained: 14.74%) which reported the consumption of a variety of food groups including both light products and processed products high in fat and sugars (i.e., sweets, mayonnaise, refined cereals, salty snacks, sugary snacks, tray sweets, the Greek pastitsio, potatoes, chicken, seed oil, margarine, butter, light products, and sausage); (b) the "Mediterranean-proxy" (or Med-proxy) pattern (total variance explained: 9.87%), including the consumption of food groups usually found in the Mediterranean diet, such a vegetables, dairy, eggs, fruits, non-refined cereals, large fish, olive oil, dried fruit, and caffeinated drinks, such as coffee and tea; (c) the "Eating out" pattern (total variance explained: 6.26%), consisting of food group combinations frequently consumed outside the household, i.e., seafood, French fries, pies, red meat and alcohol; (d) the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern (total variance explained: 4.96%), reporting consumption of legumes and traditional Greek recipes (i.e., spinach rice and cooked green peas); and (e) "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern (total variance explained: 4.49%), consisting of olives, small fish, nuts and fruit juice, with the first, high in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption, groups presenting the greatest factor loadings.

Table 5. Multivariate linear regressions between the extracted dietary patterns and indices of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics.

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3			
	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	p-Value		
LogBMI											
Mixed Pattern	0.019	0.005	< 0.001	0.017	0.005	0.001	0.015	0.005	0.009		
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.002	0.005	0.758	< 0.001	0.005	0.937	-0.001	0.006	0.867		
Eating-out Pattern	0.004	0.005	0.366	0.004	0.005	0.432	0.001	0.005	0.780		
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.005	0.005	0.272	-0.008	0.005	0.132	-0.008	0.005	0.132		
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern Body fat %	-0.005	0.005	0.338	-0.006	0.005	0.269	-0.006	0.005	0.281		
Mixed Pattern	1.179	0.392	0.003	-0.149	0.230	0.516	-0.195	0.259	0.451		
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.010	0.423	0.982	0.261	0.234	0.266	0.351	0.255	0.171		
Eating-out Pattern	0.316	0.399	0.430	0.005	0.217	0.982	-0.045	0.232	0.848		
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0 770	0.007	0.040	0.476	0.001	0.000	0.400	0.000	0.000		
Pattern	-0.770	0.387	0.048	-0.476	0.221	0.032	-0.402	0.236	0.090		
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern	-0.335	0.400	0.404	0.054	0.220	0.808	0.167	0.236	0.480		
Mixed Pattern	0.032	0 009	0.001	_0.002	0.004	0.633	<0.001	0.004	0.980		
Med-provy Pattern	-0.002	0.007	0.808	-0.002	0.004	0.629	0.001	0.004	0.200		
Fating-out Pattern	0.002	0.010	0.000	0.002	0.004	0.548	0.004	0.004	0.502		
Traditional vegetarian-alike	0.011	0.010	0.200	0.002	0.004	0.540	0.002	0.004	0.042		
Pattern	-0.018	0.009	0.058	-0.008	0.004	0.032	-0.007	0.004	0.088		
High in unsaturated fats and											
fruit juice consumption Pattern	-0.007	0.010	0.450	0.002	0.004	0.522	0.006	0.004	0.139		
logCreatinine(mg/dL)											
Mixed Pattern	0.008	0.005	0.136	0.008	0.006	0.143	0.012	0.006	0.048		
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.008	0.006	0.150	-0.010	0.006	0.066	-0.013	0.006	0.029		
Eating-out Pattern	-0.001	0.005	0.897	0.001	0.005	0.848	0.001	0.006	0.875		
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.003	0.005	0.549	-0.008	0.005	0.155	-0.008	0.006	0.149		
High in unsaturated fats and	0.002	0.005	0.648	0.001	0.005	0.802	0.001	0.006	0.876		
fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.002	0.005	0.040	0.001	0.005	0.802	0.001	0.000	0.870		
logHDL Cholesterol (mg/dL)											
Mixed Pattern	-0.020	0.007	0.006	-0.013	0.007	0.079	-0.016	0.009	0.057		
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.005	0.008	0.528	-0.009	0.008	0.257	-0.010	0.008	0.245		
Eating-out Pattern	0.009	0.007	0.229	0.011	0.007	0.135	0.013	0.008	0.082		
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.013	0.007	0.054	0.017	0.007	0.017	0.016	0.008	0.039		
Pattern	0.010	0.007	0.001	0.017	0.007	0.017	0.010	0.000	0.007		
High in unsaturated fats and	0.005	0.007	0.483	0.006	0.007	0.445	0.003	0.008	0.688		
fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.000	0.007	01100	0.000	01007	01110	01000	0.000	0.000		
logTriglycerides(mg/dL)											
Mixed Pattern	0.038	0.014	0.007	0.021	0.015	0.155	0.033	0.016	0.048		
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.008	0.015	0.579	-0.003	0.015	0.850	-0.002	0.016	0.908		
Eating-out Pattern	<0.001	0.014	0.998	-0.003	0.014	0.816	-0.007	0.015	0.622		
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.009	0.014	0.509	0.006	0.014	0.662	0.015	0.015	0.316		
High in unceturated fate and											
fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.002	0.014	0.875	< 0.001	0.015	0.976	-0.004	0.016	0.788		
logTotal Bilirybin(mg/dL)											
Mixed Pattern	_0.002	0.015	0 913	0.001	0.017	0 971	0.013	0.018	0 472		
Med-provy Pattorn	-0.002	0.015	0.913	_0.001	0.017	0.971	_0.013	0.010	0.472		
Fating-out Pattorn	-0.030	0.010	0.025	-0.043	0.017	0.010	-0.042	0.016	0.019		
Traditional vegetarian alike	-0.005	0.010	0.755	-0.001	0.010	0.940	-0.000	0.010	0.772		
Pattern	0.032	0.015	0.031	0.030	0.016	0.059	0.033	0.016	0.047		

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p-</i> Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern logSerum protein(g/dL)	0.018	0.016	0.255	0.015	0.016	0.357	0.016	0.017	0.356
Mixed Pattern	0.004	0.002	0.036	0.003	0.002	0.187	0.005	0.002	0.029
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.001	0.002	0.575	-0.001	0.002	0.720	< 0.000	0.002	0.829
Eating-out Pattern	-0.001	0.002	0.603	-0.001	0.002	0.599	-0.002	0.002	0.273
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.002	0.002	0.164	0.002	0.002	0.217	0.003	0.002	0.136
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern LogSGOT/AST(IU/L)	0.001	0.002	0.525	0.001	0.002	0.530	<0.001	0.002	0.794
Mixed Pattern	0.024	0.011	0.029	0.024	0.012	0.043	0.028	0.012	0.022
Med-proxy Pattern	0.003	0.012	0.797	0.004	0.012	0.759	0.001	0.012	0.911
Eating-out Pattern	-0.011	0.011	0.317	-0.009	0.011	0.393	-0.013	0.011	0.216
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.003	0.011	0.811	-0.003	0.011	0.799	-0.004	0.011	0.735
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.006	0.011	0.603	0.004	0.012	0.735	0.003	0.011	0.824
Mixed Pattern	0.052	0.014	~0.001	0.049	0.016	0.002	0.070	0.016	<0.001
Med-provy Pattern	-0.002	0.014	0.570	-0.099	0.010	0.768	-0.070	0.010	0 740
Fating-out Pattern	-0.003	0.010	0.816	-0.005	0.010	0.700	-0.000	0.017	0.540
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.002	0.013	0.910	< 0.000	0.015	0.996	< 0.001	0.015	0.978
High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption Pattern	0.005	0.015	0.724	0.006	0.016	0.701	-0.002	0.016	0.919

Table 5. Cont.

Model 1: Adjusting for age and sex. Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level and logBMI (except for logBMI values). Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, logBMI, education years, family and professional status.

Nominal associations (p < 0.05) are described as follows: consumption of the "Mixed" pattern was correlated with: (a) increased logBMI values, after adjustment for the confounding factors of all models (Model 1: β = 0.019, *p* < 0.001, Model 2: β = 0.017, *p* < 0.001, Model 3: $\beta = 0.015$, *p*-value = 0.009; (b) increased levels of body fat percentage, in model 1 ($\beta = 1.179$, p = 0.003); (c) increased levels of the logVisceral fat in Model 1 ($\beta = 0.032$, p = 0.001; (d) increased levels of logCreatinine, in Model 3 ($\beta = 0.012$, p = 0.048) (e) decreased values of HDL cholesterol in Model 1 ($\beta = -0.020$, p < 0.006); (f) increased levels of logTriglycerides, in Models 1 (β = 0.038, p = 0.007) and 3 (β = 0.033, p = 0.048); (g) increased levels of logSerum protein in Models 1 ($\beta = 0.004$, p = 0.036) and 3 ($\beta = 0.005$, p = 0.029); and (h) increased levels of logSGOT/AST (Model 1: $\beta = 0.024$, p = 0.029, Model 2: $\beta = 0.024$, p = 0.043, Model 3: $\beta = 0.028$, *p*-value = 0.022) and SGPT/ALT (Model 1: $\beta = 0.052$, *p* < 0.001, Model 2: $\beta = 0.049$, p = 0.002, Model 3: $\beta = 0.070$, p < 0.001). The "Med-proxy" pattern was found related with lower values of logCreatinine, in Model 3 ($\beta = -0.013$, p = 0.029) and lower values of logTotal Bilirubin, in all models (Model 1: $\beta = -0.036$, p = 0.025, Model 2: $\beta = -0.043$, p = 0.010, Model 3: $\beta = -0.042$, p = 0.019). The "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern was associated with: (a) reduced levels of body fat, in Models 1 ($\beta = -0.770$, p = 0.048) and 2 ($\beta = -0.476$, p = 0.032); (b) decreased logVisceral fat values, in Model 2 $(\beta = -0.008, p = 0.032)$; and (c) increased levels of logHDL cholesterol in models 2 and 3 (Model 2: $\beta = 0.017$, p = 0.017, Model 3: $\beta = 0.016$, p = 0.039). After evaluation for the adjusted threshold of statistical significance (i.e., a = 0.05/5 = 0.01), statistically significant associations remained for: (a) the "Mixed" pattern and increased logBMI, body fat and logSGPT/ALT values; (b) the "Mixed" pattern and decreased logHDL cholesterol values; and (c) the "Med-proxy" pattern and decreased levels of logTotal Bilirubin. Further associations are displayed in Appendix A.

After extracting the dietary patterns, we further explored the effect of their respective adherence to each anthropometric and biochemical biomarker, by separating them into tertiles. As shown in Figures 4–7, increased adherence to the "*Mixed*" pattern was associated with: (a) increased levels of logBMI (p = 0.003), (b) decreased levels of logHDL cholesterol (p = 0.007), (c) increased levels of logSerum protein (p = 0.008). Additionally, categorization in the higher tertile of the "*Med-proxy*" pattern was associated with lower levels of logCreatinine (p = 0.011).







Figure 5. Percentile distribution and associations between the "Mixed" Pattern and logHDL values.



Figure 6. Percentile distribution and associations between the "Mixed" Pattern and logSerum Protein values.



Figure 7. Percentile distribution and associations between the "Med-proxy" Pattern and logCreatinine values.

3.4. Lifestyle Index (LI) Construction

Following extraction of the dietary patterns, we examined the potential relations between different sets of variables, in order to evaluate the construction of a Lifestyle Index. We examined potential correlations between the reported lifestyle questionnaire scores, the extracted dietary patterns, and basic aspects, such as smoking and physical activity habits, with anthropometric indices, such as BMI and body fat percentage. All variables under examination were divided into categories, with higher values indicating favorable effects. Continuous and nominal variables displaying positive correlations were dichotomized

(1)

based on the sample's reported median values (attribution of a value of 1 for scores below the sample's median and a value of 2 for scores above the observed median).

Variables displaying statistically significant (p < 0.05), positive correlations with either logBMI of body fat percentage values included: the "Mixed" and "Med-proxy" dietary patterns, the CESD-R-10 depression scale score, and the physical component of the SF-12 scored questionnaire. Subsequently, a Lifestyle Index was created, based on the sum of the aforementioned, dichotomized variables and physical activity categories, as shown in Equation 1. Smoking habits were not included in the Index creation, due to roughly 75% of our sample being reported as non-smokers. Maximum score of the Lifestyle Index was calculated at the value of 11. The Index was calculated for 141 participants and the sample presented a median score of 8 and an IQR of 2.

LifestyleIndex

ex = Physical Activity Category + "Mixed" pattern dichotomized score + "Med

proxy" dichotomized score + CESD - R - 10 dichotomized score + SF
 PCS dichotomized score

Variables displaying statistically significant (p < 0.05), positive correlations with either logBMI of body fat percentage values included: the "Mixed" and "Med-proxy" dietary patterns, the CESD-R-10 depression scale score and the physical component of the SF-12 scored questionnaire. Subsequently, a Lifestyle Index was created, based on the sum of the aforementioned, dichotomized variables and physical activity categories, as shown in Equation 1. Smoking habits were not included in the Index creation, due to roughly 75% of our sample being reported as non-smokers.

As depicted in Table 6, the Lifestyle index presented strong associations, including an inverse correlation with: (a) logBMI ($\beta = -0.010$. p=0.019), (b) logFasting glucose (Model 1: $\beta = -0.009$, p = 0.007. Model 2: $\beta = -0.007$. p = 0.036); and (c) logSGPT ($\beta = -0.027$, p = 0.049). When looking at the sex-stratified analyses. Women displayed negative associations between the Index's values and body fat percentage (Model 1: $\beta = -0.911$, p = 0.030). logFasting glucose (Model 1: $\beta = -0.011$, p = 0.003. Model 2: $\beta = -0.010$, p = 0.007). logSGOT/AST (Model 1: $\beta = -0.017$, p = 0.026. Model 2: $\beta = -0.018$, p = 0.023) and logSGPT/ALT (Model 1: $\beta = -0.039$. p = 0.003, Model 2: = -0.038, p = 0.005). Men also showed negative associations with logBMI ($\beta = -0.015$, p = 0.045) and body fat percentage (Model 1: $\beta = -1.123$, p = 0.048).

					Model	1				Model 2								
	Total * Women				Men	Men Total **				Women			Men					
	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value
logBMI Lifestyle Index	-0.010	0.004	0.019	-0.007	0.005	0.183	-0.015	0.007	0.045	_	_	_		_			_	
Body fat (%) Lifestyle Index	-0.867	0.451	0.056	-0.911	0.414	0.030	-1.123	0.551	0.048	-0.307	0.393	0.436	-0.446	0.231	0.056	-0.446	0.339	0.572
logFasting glucose (mg/dL)	-0.009	0.003	0.007	-0.011	0.003	0.003	-0.005	0.006	0 429	-0.007	0.003	0.036	-0.010	0.004	0.007	<0.001	0.006	0.953
logSGOT (IU/L)	0.006	0.000	0.524	0.017	0.007	0.000	0.017	0.020	0.207	0.007	0.010	0.500	0.010	0.009	0.022	0.015	0.021	0.194
Lifestyle index LogSGPT (IU/L)	-0.006	0.009	0.334	-0.017	0.007	0.026	0.017	0.020	0.397	-0.006	0.010	0.318	-0.018	0.008	0.025	0.013	0.021	0.404
Lifestyle Index	-0.027	0.014	0.049	-0.039	0.013	0.003	< 0.001	0.023	0.988	0.292	0.277	0.293	-0.038	0.013	0.005	0.003	0.024	0.895

Table 6. Multivariate linear regressions between anthropometric and clinical characteristics and the constructed lifestyle index.

* Model 1: Adjusting for age. ** Model 2: Adjusting for age and logBMI baseline values.

4. Discussion

The present analyses display the design and the baseline population characteristics and dietary habits of the iMPROVE study. Overall, our baseline sample of 202 volunteers displayed satisfactory levels of lifestyle quality, with the majority of participants not reporting depression symptoms or heavily disrupted sleep quality.

Five dietary patterns were identified, including: (a) a "Mixed" pattern; (b) a pattern including food groups similar to those of the Mediterranean diet, entitled "Med-proxy" pattern; (c) the "Eating-out" pattern consisting of food combinations usually found in restaurants or fast-food environments (i.e., pies); (d) the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" pattern, characterized by plant-based, Greek, traditional recipes; and (e) the "High in unsaturated fats and fruit juice consumption" pattern, including foods groups with high unsaturated fats and magnesium content (i.e., small fish and nuts) and highlighting representative habits of healthy snacking across Greek adults (i.e., olives, nuts and fruit juice). Interestingly, while the "Mixed" pattern included a vast majority of processed foods with added sugars and high fat content (i.e., chocolate, croissants, tray sweets, soft drinks, chips, seed oil, margarine, and butter), it was also characterized by light products and chicken and potatoes' consumption. This can be potentially attributed to the representative consumption of specific food groups by overweight and obese Greeks, who tend to adhere to short-term, self-imposed attempts to follow a more balanced diet. The latter do not result in successful weight management and/or weight loss efforts, but are exactly characterized by increased consumption of light products and simple food combinations, such as chicken and potatoes. The "Med-proxy" and the "Traditional, vegetarian-alike" patterns are representative of the dietary habits of the Greek population, evidently influenced by the Mediterranean diet and its increased content in fruit, vegetables, and legumes. Apparently, due to its high sugar and fat content, the "Mixed" pattern was associated with higher levels of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics. On the other hand, the plant-based, traditional recipes presented negative associations with body fat and positive relations with increased levels of HDL cholesterol. We further evaluated the within-group tertile categorization of adherence to each pattern, showing that higher tertiles were related to stronger associations for specific patterns, such as the positive relationship between adherence to the "Mixed" pattern and logBMI levels and the negative relationship between the increased adherence to the same pattern and logHDL values.

The concept of obese adults and the effect of dietary intake in the formation of their cardiometabolic profile display great interest, with current literature to be reporting similar findings to the ones outlined in the present study. Interestingly, the majority of studies aiming at identifying dietary patterns in overweight/obese populations, usually provide results for dietary habits adhering to the Western diet (including food groups with increased content of processed foods and/or foods in high fat and sugar content) or to a more balanced dietary pattern including fruit and vegetables, relating to higher and lower values of BMI, respectively [2]. Such patterns may include food combinations each time representative of the region of living, while maintaining a strong influence of the dietary habits and combinations usually found in the Western and/or the Mediterranean diet. A 2021 study by Saghafi-Asi et al. investigating the relationship between dietary patterns and biochemical biomarkers of 151 healthy obese Iranian adults, also underlined a positive association between a "Western" dietary pattern with high fat and sugar content and BMI and body fat levels [22]. Additionally, a different study in Romanian obese adults also underlined the identification of a "high meat/high fat", a "Western," and a "Prudent" pattern [23]. Similar findings were reported in a cohort of 410 Polish participants of a case-control study, where adherence to a pattern influenced by the Western one was related with higher levels of fat tissue and waist circumference, in contrast with the adherence to a "Healthy" pattern [24]. In their 2019 longitudinal study, Neri-Sanchez et al. also underlined the positive association between adherence to a "Risky" dietary pattern, including high fat and high sugar content, with the presence of central obesity in Mexican adults [25]. A different pattern consisting of poultry, vegetables, red meat, and red meat products, among others, was also associated with obesity in male, Chinese adults, in a 2021 study of 1739 adults by Wang et al. [26].

Additionally, a different cross-sectional study of our group identified similar associations between dietary patterns and biochemical biomarkers in the adults of the POMAK population. More specifically, the dietary pattern including increased consumption of products high in sugars was related to low levels of HDL cholesterol [27]. Similar trends were also noted when investigating the dietary patterns of adolescent populations, where a dietary pattern with high protein and animal fat content was associated with elevated levels of logBMI and logTriglycerides, in French teenagers [28].

Furthermore, the development of the novel Lifestyle Index using the data deriving from the study sample, allowed for further investigation of the quality of life characteristics on the anthropometric and biochemical indices. Consisting of five variables, including two of the present dietary patterns extracted, the Index displayed negative associations with logBMI and body fat levels, as well as levels of the log-transformed variables of fasting glucose, SGOT, and SGPT. Thus, LI confirmed that higher quality of dietary intake and higher levels of physical activity reduced depression symptoms and improved self-reported conception of health status and may display a protective effect on body composition, as well as a favorable influence on improved glycemic profile.

Overall, development of lifestyle indices as a means of quantifying and evaluating the potential influence of specific lifestyle aspects on body weight is mounting, as analyzed in the beginning of the paper, lifestyle indices can also incorporate dietary information via calculation of diet quality indices. A 2017 systematic review of 34 studies by Asghari et al., sought to investigate the effect of diet quality indices in obesity-related traits, showing that Healthy Eating Index (HEI) displayed an inverse association with obesity. The same review also concluded that different dietary scores, in general, did not efficiently assess diet quality, with most significant findings being presented in populations of the United States [29]. Furthermore, different research groups have investigated the effect of lifestyle characteristics, such as sedentary behavior and screen-time, in adolescent populations [30-32]. In adults, current research refers to potential associations between constructed lifestyle indices and specific diseases or disease-related outcomes, namely cardiovascular disease [8], cancer [33], and type 2 diabetes [34]. Lenz et al., showed that creation of a Lifestyle Index for evaluation of life quality in adults at risk for cardiovascular disease can be a useful tool [35]. Furthermore, in a similar effort to evaluate the lifestyle aspects and weight characteristics, Roda et el in 2016, also investigated the potential effect of sleep qualities, screen time, and dietary intake, among others, highlighting a strong positive association between sedentary behavior and overweight [36].

A major advantage of the present study is the use of the online assessment tool, as a means enabling long-distance communication and monitoring, during the time of social distancing, due to the novel coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic. On the other hand, limitations of the present study include: (a) the substantial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on volunteer recruitment rates. More specifically, conduct of the study's volunteer recruitment took place exactly in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in a limited recruitment capacity due to: (a) The social-distancing protocols implemented in recruitment sites, properly adhering to the state guidelines, which resulted in a restricted number of participants visiting the premises; (b) the limited expression of interest for participation in the study, due to fear of in-person meetings and subsequent spread of the COVID-19 disease; (c) the long-distance maintenance of an increased adherence rate to the proposed diets, due to the extended time period between the in-person follow-up meetings; and (d) the proper use of the online assessment tool by older adults who had both limited access and knowledge on the use of state-of-the-art technological devices and online tools.

5. Conclusions

Results from the present study suggest that the iMPROVE overweight and obese, adult cohort displays a satisfactory level of lifestyle characteristics and dietary behaviors

representative of the overweight and obese Greek population. Assessment of the constructed Lifestyle Index, further solidifies the validity of our findings, highlighting the protective effect of increased lifestyle quality in the formation of elevated body weight. In this spectrum, the findings of the present paper enhance the understanding of overweight/obesity lifestyle determinants in our sample population and lay the ground for the next analysis steps of the iMPROVE study, which focus on assessing the impact of the proposed intervention and the role of candidate genes in various weight-related indices. Assessment of the holistic interplay of gene-lifestyle interactions is of vital importance for the in-depth understanding of nutrigenetic influences in weight loss, as well as in the general context of weight management and/or weight loss maintenance.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, G.V.D. and A.C.K.; methodology, G.V.D. and A.C.K.; software, I.V.; validation, M.K. and I.P.K.; formal analysis, M.K. and I.P.K.; investigation, M.K., I.P.K., E.A.K.; resources, G.V.D.; data curation, M.K., E.A.K., S.L.; writing—original draft preparation, M.K., I.P.K.; writing—review and editing, I.P.K., M.K.; visualization, G.V.D. and A.C.K.; supervision, G.V.D., A.C.K.; project administration, G.V.D.; funding acquisition, G.V.D. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: "This research is co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Social Fund-ESF) through the Operational Programme «Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning 2014-2020» in the context of the project "SUPPORT OF YOUNG RESEARCHERS – CALL B', ESPA 2014-2020": 61109 " (MIS 5048457)."

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio University of Athens (Protocol Number: 1800/13-06-2019).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to participants' privacy and ethical restrictions.

Acknowledgments: The iMPROVE study was conducted at the premises of Harokopio University of Athens. The authors would like to sincerely thank all professionals and students of the Department of Nutrition and Dietetics of Harokopio University of Athens, for their valuable help and contribution concerning the participants' recruitment, monitoring, and the conduct of all in-person meetings. The authors address their sincere gratitude to all the participants and volunteers of the iMPROVE study, for their valuable and fruitful cooperation.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Continuation of Table 5, with analyses of variables that did not display statistically significant changes (to be uploaded as Table A1).

Table A1. Multivariate linear regressions between the extracted dietary patterns and indices of anthropometric and biochemical characteristics.

		Model 1			Model 2		Model 3			
	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p-</i> Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	
logGlucose (mg/dL)										
Mixed Pattern	0.006	0.004	0.127	0.001	0.004	0.803	0.001	0.004	0.803	
Med-proxy Pattern	< 0.001	0.004	0.980	0.002	0.004	0.560	0.002	0.004	0.560	
Eating-out Pattern	0.002	0.004	0.635	0.001	0.004	0.862	0.001	0.004	0.862	
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	0.003	0.004	0.462	0.001	0.004	0.871	0.001	0.004	0.871	
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.003	0.004	0.380	-0.005	0.004	0.222	-0.005	0.004	0.222	
logUrea (mg/dL) Mixed Pattern	0.004	0.007	0.566	0.002	0.008	0.814	0.001	0.009	0.932	

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	β	SE	p-Value
Med-proxy Pattern	0.010	0.008	0.204	0.012	0.008	0.145	0.012	0.009	0.196
Eating-out Pattern	-0.005	0.007	0.498	-0.005	0.007	0.467	-0.008	0.008	0.349
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	< 0.001	0.007	0.989	-0.001	0.008	0.847	-0.004	0.008	0.622
High in unsaturated fats Pattern logUric Acid(mg/dL)	-0.002	0.007	0.758	-0.002	0.008	0.791	-0.004	0.008	0.637
Mixed Pattern	0.006	0.006	0.377	-0.006	0.007	0.361	-0.004	0.007	0.628
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.004	0.007	0.585	-0.001	0.007	0.854	< 0.001	0.007	0.963
Eating-out Pattern	0.003	0.006	0.603	0.002	0.006	0.749	-0.002	0.006	0.805
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.002	0.006	0.739	-0.004	0.006	0.506	-0.004	0.007	0.502
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.006	0.006	0.336	-0.006	0.006	0.358	-0.007	0.007	0.331
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.259	2.402	0.914	1.283	2.575	0.619	0.922	2.915	0.752
Med-proxy Pattern	-3.271	2.534	0.198	-2.864	2.622	0.276	-3.629	2.860	0.206
Eating-out Pattern	-0.080	2.394	0.973	-0.274	2.414	0.910	-0.631	2.601	0.809
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	2.297	2.297	0.323	3.766	2.463	0.128	4.722	2.618	0.073
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.202	2.445	0.934	0.819	2.519	0.746	0.103	2.711	0.970
logLDL Cholesterol (mg/dL)									
Mixed Pattern	-0.007	0.010	0.492	0.005	0.010	0.613	0.002	0.011	0.878
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.008	0.010	0.430	-0.005	0.010	0.642	-0.008	0.011	0.491
Eating-out Pattern	-0.003	0.010	0.751	-0.004	0.009	0.659	-0.006	0.010	0.557
Traditional, vegetarian-alike Pattern	-0.006	0.009	0.539	0.002	0.010	0.816	0.005	0.010	0.625
High in unsaturated fats Pattern $\log A$ lbumin(g/dL)	-0.010	0.010	0.321	-0.003	0.010	0.755	-0.003	0.011	0.746
Mixed Pattern	0.002	0.004	0.665	0.003	0.004	0.412	0.003	0.002	0 199
Med-proxy Pattern	-0.002	0.001	0.600	-0.002	0.001	0.584	0.002	0.002	0.289
Eating-out Pattern	<0.002	0.004	0.071	0.002	0.004	0.004	<0.002	0.002	0.209
Traditional, vegetarian-alike	0.003	0.004	0.368	0.001	0.004	0.508	0.003	0.002	0.115
High in unsaturated fats Pattern	-0.002	0.004	0.606	-0.003	0.004	0.441	0.001	0.002	0.733

Table A1. Cont.

Model 1: Adjusting for age and sex. Model 2: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, and logBMI (except for logBMI values). Model 3: Adjusting for age, sex, smoking habits, physical activity level, logBMI, education years, family, and professional status.

References

- 1. Eurostat. Over Half of Adults in the EU Are Overweight. 2021. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/productseurostat-news/-/ddn-20210721-2 (accessed on 3 August 2021).
- Mu, M.; Xu, L.-F.; Hu, N.; Wu, J.; Bai, M.-J. Dietary Patterns and Overweight/Obesity: A Review Article. *Iran. J. Public Health* 2017, 46, 869–876. [PubMed]
- 3. Cena, H.; Calder, P.C. Defining a Healthy Diet: Evidence for the Role of Contemporary Dietary Patterns in Health and Disease. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 334. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stelmach-Mardas, M.; Rodacki, T.; Dobrowolska-Iwanek, J.; Brzozowska, A.; Walkowiak, J.; Wojtanowska-Krosniak, A.; Zagrodzki, P.; Bechthold, A.; Mardas, M.; Boeing, H. Link between Food Energy Density and Body Weight Changes in Obese Adults. *Nutrients* 2016, *8*, 229. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, Y.; Lv, M.-R.; Wei, Y.-J.; Sun, L.; Zhang, J.-X.; Zhang, H.-G.; Li, B. Dietary patterns and depression risk: A meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* 2017, 253, 373–382. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Godos, J.; Grosso, G.; Castellano, S.; Galvano, F.; Caraci, F.; Ferri, R. Association between diet and sleep quality: A systematic review. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 2021, 57, 101430. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mamalaki, E.; Poulimeneas, D.; Kosmidis, M.H.; Yannakoulia, M. Mediterranean lifestyle patterns are associated with cognition in older adults. *Lifestyle Med.* 2021, 2, e30. [CrossRef]
- Barbaresko, J.; Rienks, J.; Nöthlings, U. Lifestyle Indices and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: A Meta-Analysis. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 2018, 55, 555–564. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 9. Navarro, P.; Mehegan, J.; Murrin, C.M.; Kelleher, C.C.; Phillips, C.M.; Lifeways Cross Generation Cohort Study. Associations between a maternal healthy lifestyle score and adverse offspring birth outcomes and childhood obesity in the Lifeways Cross-Generation Cohort Study. *Int. J. Obes.* **2020**, *44*, 2213–2224. [CrossRef]
- 10. Liao, J.; Muniz-Terrera, G.; Scholes, S.; Hao, Y.; Chen, Y.-M. Lifestyle index for mortality prediction using multiple ageing cohorts in the USA, UK and Europe. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 6644. [CrossRef]
- NIH; NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. *Obes. Educ. Initiat.* 1998, 6 (Suppl. S2), 51S–209S. Available online: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/ obesity/ob_gdlns.pdf (accessed on 10 September 2021).
- Panagiotakos, D.B.; Pitsavos, C.; Arvaniti, F.; Stefanadis, C. Adherence to the Mediterranean food pattern predicts the prevalence of hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes and obesity, among healthy adults; the accuracy of the MedDietScore. *Prev. Med.* 2007, 44, 335–340. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Radloff, L.S. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1977, 1, 385–401. Available online: https://www.brandeis.edu/roybal/docs/CESD-R_Website_PDF.pdf (accessed on 1 September 2021). [CrossRef]
- Ware, J.E.; Kosinski, M.; Keller, S. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: Construction of Scales and Preliminary Tests of Reliability and Validity. *Med. Care* 1996, 34, 220–233. Available online: http://www.jstor.org/stable/3766749 (accessed on 1 September 2021). [CrossRef]
- 15. Soldatos, C.R.; Dikeos, D.G.; Paparrigopoulos, T.J. Athens Insomnia Scale: Validation of an instrument based on ICD-10 criteria. *J. Psychosom. Res.* **2000**, *48*, 555–560. [CrossRef]
- 16. Bountziouka, V.; Bathrellou, E.; Giotopoulou, A.; Katsagoni, C.N.; Bonou, M.; Vallianou, N.; Barbetseas, J.; Avgerinos, P.; Panagiotakos, D. Development, repeatability and validity regarding energy and macronutrient intake of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire: Methodological considerations. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* **2012**, *22*, 659–667. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ). Revised in 2013. Available online: https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/ questionnaire_links (accessed on 1 September 2021).
- ThermoFisher Scientific. iPrep[™] PureLink[™] gDNA Blood Kit. Available online: https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/ product/IS10005#/IS10005 (accessed on 30 July 2021).
- 19. ThermoFisher Scientific. Axiom[™] Precision Medicine Diversity Array Plus Kit, 96-Format. Available online: https://www. thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/951961#/951961 (accessed on 30 July 2021).
- IBM Support. SPSS Statistics 23.0 Now Available for Download. Available online: https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/spss-statistics-230-now-available-download (accessed on 7 January 2021).
- 21. The R Project for Statistical Computing. Last Modified in 2020. Available online: https://www.r-project.org/ (accessed on 5 January 2021).
- Saghafi-Asl, M.; Mirmajidi, S.; Jafarabadi, M.A.; Vahid, F.; Shivappa, N.; Hébert, J.R.; Attari, V.E. The association of dietary patterns with dietary inflammatory index, systemic inflammation, and insulin resistance, in apparently healthy individuals with obesity. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, *11*, 7515. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Roman, G.; Rusu, A.; Graur, M.; Creteanu, G.; Morosanu, M.; Radulian, G.; Amorin, P.; Timar, R.; Pircalaboiu, L.; Bala, C. Dietary Patterns and Their Association with Obesity: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Acta Endocrinol.* **2019**, *15*, 86–95. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Malinowska, A.; Młodzik-Czyżewska, M.; Chmurzynska, A. Dietary patterns associated with obesity and overweight: When should misreporters be included in analysis? *Nutrition* **2020**, *70*, 110605. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Neri-Sánchez, M.; Martínez-Carrillo, B.E.; Valdés-Ramos, R.; Soto-Piña, A.E.; Vargas-Hernández, J.A.; Benítez-Arciniega, A.D. Dietary patterns, central obesity and serum lipids concentration in Mexican adults. *Nutr. Hosp.* **2019**, *36*, 109–117. [CrossRef]
- 26. Wang, Y.-Y.; Tian, T.; Pan, D.; Zhang, J.-X.; Xie, W.; Wang, S.-K.; Xia, H.; Dai, Y.; Sun, G. The relationship between dietary patterns and overweight and obesity among adult in Jiangsu Province of China: A structural equation model. *BMC Public Health* **2021**, 21, 1225. [CrossRef]
- 27. Farmaki, A.-E.; Rayner, N.W.; Kafyra, M.; Matchan, A.; Ntaoutidou, K.; Feritoglou, P.; Athanasiadis, A.; Gilly, A.; Mamakou, V.; Zengini, E.; et al. A Dietary Pattern with High Sugar Content Is Associated with Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in the Pomak Population. *Nutrients* 2019, 11, 3043. [CrossRef]
- 28. Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Kumar, S.; Kontoe, M.S.; Masson, C.; Siest, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 198. [CrossRef]
- 29. Asghari, G.; Mirmiran, P.; Yuzbashian, E.; Azizi, F. A systematic review of diet quality indices in relation to obesity. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *117*, 1055–1065. [CrossRef]
- Ntalla, I.; Yannakoulia, M.; Dedoussis, G.V. An Overweight Preventive Score associates with obesity and glycemic traits. *Metabolism* 2016, 65, 81–88. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Kosti, R.I.; Panagiotakos, D.B.; Mariolis, A.; Zampelas, A.; Athanasopoulos, P.; Tountas, Y. The Diet–Lifestyle Index evaluating the quality of eating and lifestyle behaviours in relation to the prevalence of overweight/obesity in adolescents. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2009**, *60* (Suppl. S3), 34–47. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Kontogianni, M.D.; Farmaki, A.-E.; Vidra, N.; Sofrona, S.; Magkanari, F.; Yannakoulia, M. Associations between Lifestyle Patterns and Body Mass Index in a Sample of Greek Children and Adolescents. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 2010, 110, 215–221. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- McKenzie, F.; Biessy, C.; Ferrari, P.; Freisling, H.; Rinaldi, S.; Chajès, V.; Dahm, C.; Overvad, K.; Dossus, L.; Lagiou, P.; et al. Healthy Lifestyle and Risk of Cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition Cohort Study. *Medicine* 2016, 95, e2850. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, Y.; Pan, X.-F.; Chen, J.; Xia, L.; Cao, A.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J.; Li, H.; Yang, K.; Guo, K.; et al. Combined lifestyle factors and risk of incident type 2 diabetes and prognosis among individuals with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetologia* 2019, 63, 21–33. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Lenz, T.L.; Gillespie, N.D.; Skradski, J.J.; Viereck, L.K.; Packard, K.A.; Monaghan, M.S. Development of a Composite Lifestyle Index and Its Relationship to Quality of Life Improvement: The CLI Pilot Study. *ISRN Prev. Med.* 2013, 2013, 481030. [CrossRef]
- Roda, C.; Charreire, H.; Feuillet, T.; MacKenbach, J.D.; Compernolle, S.; Glonti, K.; Bárdos, H.; Rutter, H.; McKee, M.; Brug, J.; et al. Lifestyle correlates of overweight in adults: A hierarchical approach (the SPOTLIGHT project). *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 2016, 13, 114. [CrossRef]

Appendix D: Scientific Publications on the 2018 Gutenberg Project




Article Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations

Maria Kafyra ^{1,2}, Ioanna Panagiota Kalafati ¹, Satish Kumar ², Maria Spyridoula Kontoe ², Christine Masson ², Sophie Siest ^{2,†}[®] and George V. Dedoussis ^{1,2,*,†}[®]

- ¹ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Science and Education, Harokopio University, 17671 Athens, Greece; mariakafira1@gmail.com or mariakaf@hua.gr (M.K.); nkalafati@gmail.com (I.P.K.)
- ² IGE-PCV, Université de Lorraine, F-54000 Nancy, France; satish.kumar@univ-lorraine.fr (S.K.); maria.spyridoula.kontoe@gmail.com (M.S.K.); christine.masson@univ-lorraine.fr (C.M.); sophie.visvikis-siest@inserm.fr (S.S.)
- * Correspondence: dedousi@hua.gr; Tel.: +30-2109549179
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: The present study sought to retrospectively investigate the dietary habits of two adolescent, European populations from the cross-sectional Greek TEENAGE Study and French STANISLAS Family Study. We aimed to explore the relation between the populations' dietary patterns and blood pressure, glycemic and lipidemic profile. Dietary patterns were extracted via Principal Component Analysis (PCA), based on data collected from two 24 h dietary recalls for the TEENAGE study and a 3-day food consumption diary for the STANISLAS study. Multiple linear regressions and mixed models analyses, adjusting for confounding factors, were employed to investigate potential associations. A total of 766 Greek teenagers and 287 French teenagers, were included in analyses. Five dietary patterns were extracted for each population accounting for 49.35% and 46.69% of their respective total variance, with similarities regarding the consumption of specific food groups (i.e., western-type foods). In the TEENAGE Study, the "chicken and sugars" pattern was associated with lower CRP levels, after adjusting for confounding factors (*p*-value < 0.01). The "high protein and animal fat" dietary pattern of the STANISLAS Family Study was related to higher BMI (*p*-value < 0.01) and higher triglycerides levels (*p*-value < 0.01). Our findings summarize the dietary habits of two teenage, European populations and their associations with cardiometabolic risk factors.

Keywords: dietary patterns; teenagers; European populations; blood pressure; glucose; cholesterol; triglycerides; cardiometabolic risk factors

1. Introduction

Adolescence constitutes a period of increased nutritional needs, required to support the physical growth that accompanies puberty [1,2]. Healthy eating is of vital importance during adolescence [3,4], in order to ensure the sufficient macronutrient and micronutrient intake needed for proper physical development [1], cognitive performance [5–7] and good mental health [8]. Dietary habits during the adolescent years directly influence body weight regulation and play a major role in the healthy development that comes with adolescence [9]. Adherence to "unhealthy" eating habits during this period increases the risk of obesity development [10,11], which has, in turn, been long associated with an increased risk of non-communicable disease manifestation, such as type 2 diabetes, both in adolescence and later on in adult life [9,10]. Indeed, the presence of adolescent obesity has been associated with severe obesity in late adulthood [12,13] and a greater risk for type 2 diabetes development in early adulthood [13]. In addition, higher Body Mass Index (BMI) values during adolescence have been associated with higher BMI values during adulthood, as well as a 30 to 40% increased risk in adult mortality [14].



Citation: Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Kumar, S.; Kontoe, M.S.; Masson, C.; Siest, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. *Nutrients* 2021, *13*, 198. https:// doi.org/10.3390/nu13010198

Received: 1 December 2020 Accepted: 7 January 2021 Published: 10 January 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). The causes of overweight, obesity and non-communicable disease development in adolescent populations are related to the consumption of energy-dense foods, reduction of physical activity, as well as socioeconomic factors, such as food availability and food preference, influenced by geographic factors [9,11]. Energy-dense foods have been related both directly and indirectly, via their positive association, with overweight and obesity development, in the development of non-communicable diseases [11]. Indeed, poor eating habits have regularly been associated with a high consumption of foods with high fat and/or sugar contents [9].

Adolescent dietary habits are also directly linked to the teenagers' metabolic profile and the interplay between biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control [15]. It has been shown that adherence to an "unhealthy" dietary pattern is associated with a higher risk for metabolic syndrome presence [15]. Their importance is further highlighted by the increased incidence of type 2 diabetes in young children and teenagers [16]. Consumption of energy-dense foods in children and teenagers with a family history of type 2 diabetes, plays a central role in the formation of a worse glycemic profile and potentially, subsequent development of type 2 diabetes (T2D) [16]. T2D in children is associated with a deteriorated lipidemic profile (i.e., dyslipidemia), as a direct effect of the observed insulin resistance [17]. A different study showed that Greek children with dyslipidemia and unfavourable dietary habits, such as consuming only one meal per day, displayed higher levels of various biomarkers of lipidemic control, namely total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) [18].

Another cardiometabolic risk factor receiving more and more attention is the development of hypertension and the elevated levels of arterial pressure in adolescents. Indeed, high blood pressure can be met in teenagers, with boys reporting higher levels of blood pressure than girls [19].

The present analyses constitute the first step in the context of the 2018 Gutenberg Chair project, aimed at firstly investigating the role of dietary habits in the anthropometric and biochemical profile of two adolescent, European populations and subsequently exploring the potential role of nutrition as a modifier of genetic make-up in adolescence. The latter will take place via an investigation into the relationship between the populations' dietary habits and their glycemic and lipidemic profile and inflammation markers with genetic risk scores created for anthropometric indices, biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control and inflammation markers.

In this context, the aim of the present study is to investigate the dietary habits of the two populations from the Greek TEENAGE Study and the French STANISLAS Family study and their potential associations with blood pressure, biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control and levels of C-reactive protein (CRP). Therefore, the objectives of the study are formed as follows: (a) to identify the dietary patterns of adolescents in the Greek and French cohorts; and (b) to investigate potential, respective associations between said patterns and blood pressure, anthropometric indices, biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control and CRP levels.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. The TEENAGE Study Cohort

The TEENAGE (TEENs of Attica: Genes and Environment) study constitutes a cross-sectional study conducted during the period 2008–2010 in the region of Attica, Greece [20,21]. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Harokopio University and the Greek Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs and took place adhering to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki [22]. The study consisted of a sample of healthy, Greek adolescent students residing in the Attica region during the period of recruitment.

All students and their parents received written information on the aims and the procedures of the study prior to enrolment and all participants provided written consent. All students enrolled participated in an assessment session with either a nutrition or

a pediatric health-care professional, which included clinical examination, collection of blood samples, conduct of a 24 h dietary and physical activity recall and collection of anthropometric and lifestyle data. A second 24 h dietary and physical activity recall was conducted via telephone, 3 to 10 days after the in-person meeting. Overall, data for an original sample of 857 adolescent students from 1440 schools in the region of Attica, aged 13 to 15 years old, were cross-sectionally collected.

Collection of anthropometric data during the in-person meeting consisted of height (measured to the nearest 0.1 cm), weight (measured to the nearest 0.1 kg), waist and hip circumference and skinfold measurements (measured to the nearest 0.1 mm). Height was measured using a portable stadiometer, where participants were barefoot, looking ahead and with relaxed shoulders. Weight was measured via use of scales, where participants were barefoot and with light clothing. BMI was calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m²). Waist and hip circumference were measured using a soft tape, the former between the twelfth rib and the iliac crest and the latter at the widest point of the hips. Two skinfold measurements were collected for each of the triceps, subscapular and suprailiac skinfolds, using the Lange skinfold calipers.

Assessment of dietary habits took place via the collection of the two non-consecutive 24 h dietary recalls, which were conducted on different days of the week. Analysis of the data collected took place via use of the Nutritionist Pro software, version 2.2 [23]. The ratio of reported energy intake to BMR was calculated for each student, in order to assess potential under-reporting. BMR was calculated using the Schofield equations [24,25] and cut-off points [26] were adapted to the ones reported for children and adolescents [27]. Participants who had previously reported dieting in the past or never dieting, were excluded.

For the purposes of the present study, we used the available anthropometric, biochemical and dietary data of 766 adolescent students (as shown in Table 1). Dietary pattern extraction was based on the mean consumption of food groups, derived from the two non-consecutive 24 h dietary recalls.

		TEENAGE Study							
		All		Boys		Girls	<i>p</i> -Value *		
	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	п	Median (IQR)			
Age (years)	766	13.30 (1.31)	349	13.36 (1.38)	417	13.26 (1.25)	< 0.001		
Weight (kg)	766	55.00 (14.00)	349	56.00 (16.00)	417	54.00 (13.00)	0.001		
Body Mass Index (BMI) (kg/m^2)	766	20.88 (4.38)	349	20.85 (4.45)	417	20.93 (4.37)	0.517		
Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR)	763	0.76 (0)	349	0.79 (0)	414	0.73 (0)	<0001		
Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP) (mmHg)	743	119.00 (16)	335	120.67 (11.93) **	408	118.00 (15)	0.001		
Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP) (mmHg)	743	70.00 (12)	335	71.00 (12)	408	70.00 (12)	0.825		
Energy Intake (kcal/day)	766	1741.00 (760)	349	1939.00 (779)	417	1574.00 (609)	< 0.001		
Glucose (mg/dL),	611	80.00 (12)	283	81.00 (11)	328	79.00 (12)	< 0.001		
HOMA-IR	539	2.28 (2)	255	2.12 (2)	284	2.37 (2)	< 0.001		
Insulin (mg/dL)	539	11.00 (7)	255	10.00 (7)	284	12.00 (8)	< 0.001		
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)	611	157.00 (33)	283	156.49 (25.18) **	328	157.50 (31)	0.210		
Low density lipoprotein Cholesterol (LDL-C) (mg/dL)	611	54.00 (16)	283	90.57 (21.78) **	328	88.40 (26)	0.651		
High Density Lipoprotein Cholestrol (HDL- C) (mg/dL)	611	89.20 (27)	283	53.00 (16)	328	56.00 (17)	0.001		
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	611	56.00 (24)	283	55.00 (25)	328	57.00 (24)	0.090		
C-reactive protein (CRP) (mg/dL)	540	0.30 (1)	254	0.45 (1)	286	0.20 (0)	< 0.001		

Table 1. Anthropometric, biochemical and dietary characteristics of the TEENAGE Study population.

* All hypothesis testing took place via use of the Mann–Whitney test. ** Variable follows the normal distribution and is presented as mean \pm sd.

2.2. The STANISLAS Family Study Cohort

The STANISLAS (Suivi Temporaire Annuel Non Invasif de la Sante des Lorrains Assures Sociaux) Family Study constitutes a cross-sectional study conducted during the period 1993–1995 in the region of Vosges and the South of Meurthe and Moselle (East part of France) [28,29]. The study was approved by the advisory committee for the protection of people in biomedical research in Nancy, France. The study consisted of a sample of nuclear families with parents aged up to 65 years old and children older than 6 years at the time of recruitment, residing in the aforementioned region. The study only included families with healthy family members, reporting no comorbidities and/or chronic diseases, residing in the aforementioned regions at the time of recruitment. Willing participants residing in the region of Nancy further participated in 5-year follow-ups up to the period 2003–2005 [30].

All included families provided informed consent. The families enrolled participated in an in-person session with trained professionals, which included clinical examination, collection of blood samples and collection of anthropometric, dietary and lifestyle data. Collection of the food-related surveys was conducted by dietitians. Blood pressure, pulse rate, skinfold thickness and bone density were measured by nurses and pubertal development and family history of cardiovascular diseases was assessed by general practitioners. Data on alcohol and tobacco consumption, physical activity, education and socio-professional status were collected through questionnaires, under the supervision of trained nurses. Overall, data for an original sample of 1006 families were cross-sectionally collected.

Weight, height, waist-to-hip ratio and impedancemetry measurements were conducted by technical operators. BMI was, again, calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m^2) . Assessment of dietary habits took place via collection of a 3 day food consumption diary, for two continuous days within the week and one day of the weekend. Analysis of the data took place via use of the GENI package, nutritional database program [31].

For the purposes of the present study, we used the available anthropometric, biochemical and dietary data of 287 adolescents at the time of the baseline recruitment (as shown in Table 2). Dietary pattern extraction was based on the mean consumption of food groups, deriving from the 3 day food consumption diary. Low-density cholesterol (LDL-C) for this cohort was calculated based on the available data for total cholesterol (TC), highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL- C) and triglyceride (TG) levels, using the Friedeweld Equation, as follows [32]:

$$LDL - C = (TC) - (HDL - C) - (TG/5)$$

2.3. Statistical Analysis

The entirety of the data handling and data analyses was carried out using the SPSS Software [33]. Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by height (kg/m²). Assessment of the variables' distribution was conducted via use of the Shapiro–Wilk test, demonstrating the mean and standard deviation for all normally distributed variables and the median and interquartile range for all variables not following the normal distribution (Shapiro–Wilk *p*-value > 0.05). We used the Student's *t*-test and Mann–Whitney test for all hypotheses testing for continuous variables.

We performed Principal Component Analyses (PCA) in order to extract all dietary patterns for both populations [34]. PCA constitutes an epidemiological tool, largely used in the assessment of dietary data and the subsequent extraction of dietary patterns [35], having been previously tested in large young populations [36]. PCA was conducted on 15 food groups for the TEENAGE study population and 15 food groups for the STANISLAS Family study population, based on the available data for the cohorts.

The Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) test was calculated at 0.545 and 0.576 for the TEENAGE and the STANISLAS teenagers, respectively, indicating mediocre to sufficient data adequacy. The varimax orthogonal rotation was used for the extraction of the patterns and the Kaiser criterion was set at retaining 5 components with Eigen values bigger than 1.

	STANISLAS Family Study								
		All		Boys		Girls	<i>p</i> -Value *		
	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	п	Median (IQR)			
Age (years)	287	13.08 (2.92)	137	13.08 (2.92)	150	13.08 (2.85)	0.416		
Weight (kg)	263	46.59 (18.10)	129	47.20 (21.90)	134	46.05 (14.84)	0.136		
Body Mass Index (BMI) (kg/m ²)	263	18.44 (3.61)	129	18.30 (3.20)	134	18.52 (4.18)	0.853		
WHR	221	0.77 (0.04) **	110	0.81 (0.03) **	111	0.75 (0.06)	< 0.001		
Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP) (mmHg)	263	112.00 (14.50)	129	115.60 (11.53) **	134	110.46 (8.76) **	< 0.001		
Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP) (mmHg)	263	57.00 (15.50)	129	56.69 (16.00) **	134	57.02 (10.23) **	0.829		
Energy Intake (kcal/d)	287	2056.03 (662.24)	137	2070.99 (495.20) **	150	2094.92 (681.16)	0.469		
Glucose (mg/dL),	263	88.28 (6.12) **	129	89.18 (6.48) **	134	87.38 (5.76) **	0.018 ***		
Total Cholesterol, (mg/dL)	263	179.15 (40.93)	129	173.36 (30.89) **	134	183.01 (36.29)	0.002		
Low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (mg/dL)	263	116.99 (33.98)	129	113.13 (28.19) **	134	120.85 (32.05)	0.030		
High density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C)(mg/dL)	263	54.05 (20.08)	129	54.44 (15.44) **	134	156.37 (16.99)	0.222		
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	263	51.33 (33.63)	129	52.21 (38.05)	134	46.56 (30.09)	0.930		
C-reactive protein (CRP) (mg/L)	243	0.30 (0.53)	118	0.32 (0.54)	125	0.26 (0.55)	0.765		

Table 2. Anthropometric, biochemical and dietary characteristics of the STANISLAS Family Study population.

* Hypothesis testing took place via use of the Mann–Whitney test wherever at least one variable did not follow the normal distribution. ** Variable follows the normal distribution and is presented as mean \pm sd. *** Hypothesis testing took place via the Student's Independent Samples *t*-test.

> We further tested for potential associations between the extracted dietary patterns, blood pressure and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control, as well as levels of CRP, via use of multiple linear regressions in the TEENAGE cohort and linear mixed models in the STANISLAS cohort. Given that the STANISLAS Family Study consisted of a cohort of families, we used the latter in order to correct for the potential familial bias of siblings included in the analyses [37,38]. We classified the different siblings of each family as the repeated measures, compound symmetry as the repeated covariance type and all adjusting factors and dietary patterns as the fixed effects. Potential associations were investigated, adjusting for 3 different models of confounding factors. Model 1 included adjustment solely for the age and sex of the participants; Model 2 included adjustment for sex, age and level of physical activity; Model 3 consisted of adjustment for their age, sex, level of physical activity and BMI; and, finally, Model 4 included adjustment for age, sex, physical activity, BMI and energy intake. All tested variables were log-transformed. Multiple linear regression results are presented as beta coefficients (β) and standard error (SE). Linear mixed model results are presented as estimates and standard error (SE). All statistical analyses included the level of nominal significance set at $\alpha = 0.05$. The adjusted threshold after multiple testing was set to (0.05/5 components examined, i.e., dietary patterns = 0.01).

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Characteristics

The anthropometric and biochemical characteristics of the two populations are depicted in Tables 1 and 2. Concerning the TEENAGE cohort, a total of 766 teenagers (45.56% boys, 54.43% girls), with a median age of 13.30 years, were included in the analyses. The STANISLAS cohort provided data for 287 teenagers (47.73% boys, 525.26% girls), with a median age of 13.08 years.

The daily energy intake for the two populations by sex, is depicted in Figure 1. As shown in Tables 1 and 2, the Greek teenagers reported a median energy intake of 1741.00 kcal/d (IQR = 760), significantly different between the two genders, with boys reporting a higher intake. The French teenagers reported a median energy intake of 2056.03 kcal/d (IQR = 662.24), without presenting significant differences between sexes.



Figure 1. (a) Boxplot of daily caloric intake in the TEENAGE study. (b) Boxplot of daily caloric intake in the STANISLAS Family Study.

3.2. Extraction of Dietary Patterns

PCA for the TEENAGE cohort resulted in the identification of 5 dietary patterns, accounting for 49.35% of the sample's total variance. Food groups' factor loadings in the respective patterns are presented in Table 3.

The presented factor loadings depict each food group's highest contribution and subsequent inclusion in one out of the five patterns (components) highlighted. Therefore, the dietary patterns formed are the following: (a) a "western breakfast" dietary pattern, consisting of cheese, dairy and processed meat, accounting for the highest percentage of the individual variance explained (15.61%); (b) a "legumes and good fat" pattern, including high consumption of legumes, olives, olive oil and nuts and accounting for 10.32% of the variance explained; (c) a "homemade meal" pattern, referring to high consumption of

red meat and potatoes, associated with lower fish consumption and explaining 8.33% of the total variance; (d) a "chicken and sugars" pattern, including high consumption of chicken and sweets, associated with lower the consumption of fruits and juices, with a 7.60% of the variance explained; and (e) a "eggs and fibers" pattern, comprising of high consumption of non-refined cereals, vegetables and eggs, associated with lower refined cereals' consumption and explaining 7.47% of the total variance.

Table 3. Principal Components Analysis' factor loadings for the 15 food groups in the TEENAGE study (n = 766).

			Component		
Food Groups	1	2	3	4	5
Cheese	0.897	-	-	-	-
Dairy	0.863	-	-	-	-
Processed Meat	0.635	-	-	-	-
Legumes	-	0.739	-	-	-
Olives, Olive Oil, Nuts	-	0.668	-	-	-
Red Meat	-	-	0.712	-0.429	-
Potatoes	-	-	0.661	-	-
Fish	-	-0.358	-0.480	-	-
Chicken	-	-	-	0.649	-
Sweets	-	-	-	0.518	-
Fruit and Juices	-	-	-	-0.368	-
Non-refined cereals	-	-	-	-	0.674
Vegetables	-	-	-	-	0.342
Eggs	-	-	-	-	0.303
Refined Cereals	0.512	-	-	-	-0.595
Total Variance Explained (%)	15.61	10.32	8.33	7.60	7.47

Only loadings with an absolute values > 0.3 are presented in the table.

PCA for the STANISLAS cohort resulted in the identification of 5 dietary patterns accounting for 46.69% of the sample's total variance. Food groups' factor loadings in the respective patterns are presented in Table 4.

In a similar way to the aforementioned, the presented factor loadings depict each food group's highest contribution and subsequent inclusion in one out of the five patterns (components) highlighted. Therefore, the dietary patterns formed for this cohort are the following: (a) a "western breakfast" dietary pattern, consisting of cheese, breads and flours, processed meat and vegetables and accounting for the highest percentage of the individual variance explained (10.58%); (b) a "prudent snacking" pattern, including high consumption of eggs and vegetable fats, lower consumption of salty snacks and accounting for 10.44% of the variance explained; (c) a "high protein and animal fat" pattern, referring to consumption of red meat, animal fat and milk and yogurt, explaining 9.26% of the total variance; (d) a "fish and seafood" pattern, including high consumption of fish and seafood and lower consumption of poultry, with a 8.19% of the variance explained; and (e) a "sugary snacks" pattern, comprising of consumption of soft drinks, sugars, sweets and cereal bars and explaining 8.19% of the total variance.

3.3. Multiple Linear Regressions in the TEENAGE Study

The multiple linear regressions adjusted for the three models of confounding factors, as described above, are shown in Table 5. Based on the available data, we examined associations between the patterns and the log-transformed values for BMI, WHR, SBP, DBP, glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR, TC, HDL- C, LDL- C, TG and CRP levels. The "legumes and good fat" pattern was associated with lower values of logBMI ($\beta = -0.006$, *p*-value = 0.017) and logInsulin ($\beta = -0.020$, *p*-value = 0.030), after the adjustments of Model 1. The "homemade meal" pattern was associated with lower values of logBMI ($\beta = -0.005$, *p*-value = 0.042), adjusting for Model 1. The "chicken and sugars" pattern was slightly associated with log-

Glucose Model 1 (β = 0.015, *p*-value = 0.017). The same pattern was associated with lower values of logInsulin after adjusting for Model 1 (β = -0.020, *p*-value = 0.030), Model 3 (β = 0.018, *p*-value = 0.049) and Model 4 (β = 0.018, *p*-value = 0.041). Moreover, the latter was further associated with lower values of logCRP in all models (Model 1: β = -0.051, *p*-value = 0.006, Model 2: β = -0.057, *p*-value = 0.004, Model 3: β = -0.050, *p*-value = 0.008, Model 4: β = -0.051, *p*-value = 0.008). No associations were found between the "eggs and fibers" pattern and the variables in all models. Statistically significant associations after assessment of the adjusted threshold were only maintained for the "legumes and good fat" pattern and the "chicken and sugars" pattern and logCRP in all models.

			Component	:	
Food Groups	1	2	3	4	5
Cheese	0.664	-	-	-	-
Breads and Flours	0.605	-	-	-	-
Processed Meat	0.523	-	-	-	-
Vegetables	0.483	-	-	-	-
Eggs	-	0.630	-	-	-
Salty Snacks	-	-0.580	-	-	-
Vegetable Fat	-	0.576	-	-	-
Red Meat	-	-	0.703	-	-
Animal Fat	-	-	0.610	-	-
Milk and Yogurt	-	-	0.473	-0.338	-
Fish	-	-	-	0.666	-
Seafood	-	-	-	0.628	-
Poultry	-	-	-	-0.380	-
Soft Drinks	-	-	-	-	0.777
Sugars, Sweets and Cereal Bars	-	-	-	-	0.746
Total Variance Explained (%)	10.58	10.44	9.26	8.19	8.19

Table 4. Principal Components Analysis' factor loadings for the 15 food groups in the STANISLAS Family study. (n = 287).

Only loadings with an absolute values > 0.3 are presented in the table.

3.4. Linear Mixed Models in the STANISLAS Family Study

The linear mixed models adjusted for the three models of confounding factors, as described above, are shown in Table 6. Based on the available data, we examined associations between the patterns and the log-transformed values for BMI, WHR, SBP, DBP, glucose, TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, TG and CRP levels. The "western breakfast" pattern was associated with lower values of logCRP, in Model 4 (est = -0.076, *p*-value = 0.024). The "high protein and animal fat" pattern was associated with higher values of logBMI after adjustment for Models 1 and 2 (est = 0.011, *p*-value = 0.002, est = 0.009, *p*-value = 0.020), lower values of logDBP adjusting for Models 3 and 4 (est = -0.010, *p*-value = 0.045, est = -0.012, *p*-value=0.028, respectively) and higher values of logTriglycerides in all models (Model 1: est = 0.054, *p*-value < 0.001; Model 2: est = 0.049, p-value = 0.001; Model 3: est = 0.045, *p*-value = 0.002, Model 4:est = 0.041, *p*-value = 0.009) The "fish and seafood" pattern was associated with lower logDBP values (est = 0.009, *p*-value = 0.039), in Model 1. The "sugary snacks" pattern was associated with lower values of logHDL-C (est = -0.014, *p*-value = 0.049) in Model 3. No associations were found between the "prudent snacking" pattern and the variables in all models. Statistically significant associations after assessment of the adjusted threshold were only maintained for the maintained for the "high protein and animal fat" pattern and logBMI, in Model 1, as well as logTriglycerides in all models. Table 5. Linear Regression Analyses on the association between the dietary patterns, anthropometric indices and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control in the TEENAGE study.

		Model 1			Model 2		Model 3]	Model 4	
	β	SE	р	β	SE	р	β	SE	р	β	SE	р
LogBMI												
Western Breakfast	-0.004	0.003	0.150	-0.003	0.003	0.308	-	-	-	-	-	-
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.006	0.003	0.017	-0.004	0.003	0.194	-	-	-	-	-	-
Homemade Meal	-0.005	0.003	0.042	-0.003	0.003	0.242	-	-	-	-	-	-
Chicken and Sugars	-0.005	0.003	0.069	-0.004	0.003	0.128	-	-	-	-	-	-
Eggs and Fibers	0.004	0.003	0.111	0.004	0.003	0.115	-	-	-	-	-	-
LogWHR												
Western Breakfast	0.013	0.012	0.270	0.016	0.13	0.247	0.017	0.013	0.198	0.017	0.014	0.250
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.006	0.011	0.622	-0.008	0.013	0.527	-0.007	0.013	0.608	-0.007	0.013	0.597
Homemade Meal	-0.009	0.011	0.445	-0.008	0.013	0.517	-0.007	0.013	0.599	-0.008	0.013	0.562
Chicken and Sugars	-0.003	0.011	0.760	-0.005	0.013	0.696	-0.003	0.013	0.828	-0.003	0.013	0.800
Eggs and Fibers	-0.011	0.011	0.320	-0.0013	0.013	0.339	-0.015	0.013	0.268	-0.015	0.013	0.267
LogSBP												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.002	0.085	-0.002	0.002	0.174	-0.002	0.002	0.295	-0.001	0.002	0.646
Legumes and Good Fat	0.000	0.002	0.838	0.001	0.002	0.729	0.001	0.002	0.499	0.001	0.002	0.472
Homemade Meal	0.000	0.002	0.937	0.000	0.002	0.819	0.001	0.002	0.579	0.001	0.002	0.481
Chicken and Sugars	0.002	0.002	0.169	0.002	0.002	0.246	0.003	0.002	0.090	0.003	0.002	0.071
Eggs and Fibers	$2.294 imes 10^{-5}$	0.002	0.988	-0.001	0.002	0.680	-0.001	0.002	0.409	-0.001	0.002	0.411
LogDBP												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.002	0.224	-0.003	0.002	0.256	-0.002	0.002	0.361	0.000	0.003	0.894
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.002	0.002	0.482	-0.001	0.002	0.786	0.000	0.002	0.948	$-3.047 imes10^{-5}$	0.002	0.990
Homemade Meal	0.001	0.002	0.551	0.003	0.002	0.155	0.004	0.002	0.097	0.004	0.002	0.063
Chicken and Sugars	0.001	0.002	0.609	0.001	0.002	0.528	0.002	0.002	0.333	0.003	0.002	0.271
Eggs and Fibers	0.001	0.002	0.802	0.000	0.002	0.878	0.000	0.002	0.914	0.000	0.002	0.919
LogGlucose												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.007	0.655	-0.003	0.007	0.632	-0.003	0.007	0.631	-0.004	0.008	0.615
Legumes and Good Fat	0.010	0.006	0.120	0.011	0.007	0.111	0.011	0.007	0.110	0.011	0.007	0.111
Homemade Meal	-0.002	0.006	0.740	-0.004	0.007	0.531	-0.004	0.007	0.531	-0.004	0.007	0.532
Chicken and Sugars	0.015	0.006	0.017	0.013	0.007	0.051	0.013	0.007	0.051	0.013	0.007	0.051
Eggs and Fibers	0.003	0.006	0.588	0.003	0.007	0.659	0.003	0.007	0.659	0.003	0.007	0.660
LogInsulin												
Western Breakfast	-0.015	0.010	0.119	-0.015	0.010	0.139	-0.009	0.010	0.356	-0.007	0.010	0.521
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.020	0.009	0.030	-0.019	0.010	0.066	-0.017	0.009	0.066	-0.017	0.009	0.064
Homemade Meal	0.011	0.010	0.247	0.011	0.010	0.250	0.013	0.009	0.167	0.014	0.009	0.142
Chicken and Sugars	0.012	0.009	0.191	0.013	0.010	0.173	0.018	0.009	0.049	0.018	0.009	0.041
Eggs and Fibers	-0.015	0.009	0.113	-0.011	0.010	0.281	-0.014	0.010	0.133	-0.014	0.010	0.132

Table 5. Linear Regression Analyses on the associa	tion between the dietary patterns, a	nthropometric indices and biomarkers	of glycemic and li	ipidemic control in the TEENAGE stu	dv
a					- /

_		Model 1			Model 2		Ν	Aodel 3			Model 4	
	β	SE	р	β	SE	р	β	SE	p	β	SE	р
LogHOMA-IR												
Western Breakfast	-0.016	0.011	0.158	-0.016	0.012	0.180	-0.035	0.011	0.422	-0.004	0.012	0.728
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.020	0.010	0.054	-0.020	0.011	0.074	-0.019	0.011	0.075	-0.019	0.011	0.072
Homemade Meal	0.014	0.011	0.205	0.013	0.011	0.231	0.015	0.010	0.157	0.016	0.010	0.124
Chicken and Sugars	0.010	0.010	0.349	0.010	0.011	0.345	0.015	0.010	0.139	0.016	0.010	0.114
Eggs and Fibers	-0.018	0.010	0.089	-0.017	0.012	0.157	-0.020	0.011	0.067	-0.020	0.011	0.066
LogTotalCholesterol												
Western Breakfast	-0.005	0.003	0.066	-0.006	0.003	0.060	-0.006	0.003	0.054	-0.003	0.003	0.422
Legumes and Good Fat	0.001	0.003	0.721	0.001	0.003	0.863	0.000	0.003	0.883	0.000	0.003	0.908
Homemade Meal	0.002	0.003	0.402	0.002	0.003	0.538	0.002	0.003	0.549	0.003	0.003	0.353
Chicken and Sugars	0.000	0.003	0.917	2.502×10^{-5}	0.003	0.993	$-5.600 imes 10^{-5}$	0.003	0.985	0.000	0.003	0.868
Eggs and Fibers	0.003	0.003	0.269	0.002	0.003	0.521	0.002	0.003	0.511	0.002	0.003	0.511
LogHDL-C												
Western Breakfast	-0.002	0.004	0.553	-0.002	0.004	0.692	-0.004	0.004	0.313	-0.002	0.005	0.643
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.004	0.160	0.005	0.004	0.210	0.004	0.004	0.343	0.004	0.004	0.351
Homemade Meal	0.001	0.004	0.832	0.001	0.004	0.900	0.000	0.004	0.919	0.000	0.004	0.958
Chicken and Sugars	0.009	0.004	0.022	0.007	0.004	0.080	0.006	0.004	0.153	0.006	0.004	0.128
Eggs and Fibers	-0.001	0.004	0.885	-0.002	0.004	0.600	-0.001	0.004	0.761	-0.001	0.004	0.759
LogLDL-C												
Western Breakfast	-0.008	0.005	0.099	-0.009	0.005	0.053	-0.009	0.005	0.073	-0.004	0.005	0.460
Legumes and Good Fat	-0.001	0.004	0.761	-0.003	0.005	0.547	-0.002	0.005	0.610	-0.003	0.005	0.586
Homemade Meal	0.003	0.004	0.566	0.001	0.005	0.800	0.001	0.005	0.753	0.003	0.005	0.537
Chicken and Sugars	-0.005	0.004	0.246	-0.005	0.005	0.278	-0.004	0.005	0.324	-0.004	0.004	0.411
Eggs and Fibers	0.005	0.004	0.233	0.004	0.005	0.389	0.004	0.005	0.423	0.004	0.005	0.423
LogTriglycerides												
Western Breakfast	-0.003	0.006	0.632	0.002	0.007	0.747	0.001	0.006	0.831	0.004	0.007	0.573
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.006	0.307	0.008	0.006	0.208	0.010	0.006	0.101	0.010	0.006	0.103
Homemade Meal	-0.005	0.006	0.441	-0.004	0.006	0.550	-0.002	0.006	0.686	-0.002	0.006	0.745
Chicken and Sugars	-0.006	0.006	0.329	-0.004	0.006	0.491	-0.002	0.006	0.728	-0.002	0.006	0.764
Eggs and Fibers	-0.002	0.006	0.776	-0.005	0.007	0.418	-0.007	0.006	0.288	-0.007	0.006	0.287
LogCRP												
Western Breakfast	0.002	0.020	0.939	0.006	0.021	0.775	0.018	0.020	0.383	0.021	0.022	0.349
Legumes and Good Fat	0.006	0.019	0.759	0.019	0.021	0.369	0.022	0.020	0.275	0.022	0.020	0.276
Homemade Meal	0.015	0.020	0.444	0.005	0.021	0.795	0.007	0.019	0.714	0.007	0.020	0.714
Chicken and Sugars	-0.051	0.019	0.006	-0.057	0.020	0.004	-0.050	0.019	0.008	-0.051	0.019	0.008
Eggs and Fibers	0.016	0.019	0.418	0.029	0.021	0.175	0.023	0.020	0.266	0.023	0.020	0.266

Table 5. Cont.

Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex; Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity; Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI; Model 4: Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI, energy intake.

Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 Model 4 SE SE SE SE Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate p p p p LogBMI Western Breakfast 0.000 0.003 0.878 0.000 0.005 0.459 Prudent Snacking 0.000 0.003 0.950 0.001 0.003 0.738 _ _ _ High Protein and Animal Fat 0.011 0.003 0.002 0.009 0.003 0.018 Fish and Seafood -0.0020.003 0.430 -0.0010.003 0.700 _ Sugary Snacks -0.0010.003 0.701 -0.0020.003 0.437 -----LogWHR Western Breakfast -0.0000.800 0.840 0.001 -0.0000.001 0.539 -0.0000.001 0.540 -0.0000.001 $3.965729 imes 10^{-5}$ Prudent Snacking 0.001 0.976 0.000 0.001 0.809 0.000 0.001 0.797 0.000 0.001 0.722 0.000 High protein and animal Fat 0.001 0.723 0.000 0.001 0.616 0.000 0.001 0.757 0.001 0.001 0.486 Fish and Seafood 0.001 0.001 0.134 0.002 0.001 0.146 0.002 0.001 0.126 0.002 0.001 0.130 Sugary Snacks -0.0010.001 0.392 -0.0010.001 0.363 -0.0010.001 0.409 -0.0000.001 0.691 LogSBP -2.288744×10^{-5} Western Breakfast 0.002 0.991 0.000 0.002 0.892 0.000 0.002 0.837 -0.0000.002 0.792 Prudent Snacking 0.003 0.002 0.114 0.003 0.002 0.181 0.002 0.002 0.189 0.002 0.002 0.215 High protein and Animal Fat 0.000 0.002 0.733 0.000 0.002 0.822 -0.0000.002 -0.0010.002 0.504 0.802 Fish and Seafood -0.0000.002 0.751 -0.0000.002 0.766 -0.0000.002 0.801 -0.0000.002 0.794 Sugary Snacks 0.000 0.002 0.640 0.000 0.002 0.787 0.000 0.002 0.002 0.894 0.673 -0.000LogDBP Western Breakfast -0.0000.004 0.948 0.003 0.004 0.510 0.003 0.004 0.483 0.003 0.005 0.464 Prudent Snacking 0.002 0.004 0.593 0.001 0.004 0.833 0.000 0.004 0.841 0.000 0.004 0.845 High Protein and Animal Fat -0.0080.004 0.089 -0.0080.005 0.099 -0.0100.005 0.045 -0.0120.005 0.028 Fish and Seafood 0.009 0.004 0.039 0.008 0.004 0.077 0.008 0.004 0.008 0.004 0.070 0.069 Sugary Snacks -0.0000.004 0.936 -0.0020.005 -0.0010.005 0.718 -0.0020.006 0.632 0.651 LogGlucose Western Breakfast 0.000 0.001 0.604 0.001 0.002 0.448 0.001 0.002 0.462 0.000 0.002 0.868 Prudent Snacking -0.0000.001 0.917 -0.0000.002 0.793 -0.0000.002 0.805 -0.0000.002 0.727 High Protein and Animal Fat -0.0010.002 0.428 -0.0010.002 0.632 -0.0000.002 0.708 -0.0020.002 0.365 0.323 Fish and Seafood -0.0020.001 0.202 -0.0010.001 0.331 -0.0010.001 0.323 -0.0010.001 Sugary Snacks 0.001 0.001 0.568 0.000 0.002 0.906 0.000 0.002 0.928 -0.0010.002 0.502

Table 6. Linear mixed model analyses on the association between the dietary patterns, anthropometric indices and biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control in the STANISLAS Family study.

	I	Model 1		Ν	lodel 2		Mo	del 3			Model 4	
	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р	Estimate	SE	р
LogTotalCholesterol												
Western Breakfast	-0.001	0.004	0.728	-0.002	0.004	0.644	-0.002	0.004	0.66	-0.002	0.005	0.703
Prudent Snacking	0.002	0.004	0.599	0.004	0.004	0.347	0.004	0.004	0.369	0.004	0.004	0.358
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.003	0.005	0.490	-0.006	0.005	0.236	-0.007	0.005	0.157	-0.008	0.005	0.151
Fish and Seafood	0.005	0.004	0.224	0.006	0.004	0.173	0.006	0.004	0.171	0.006	0.004	0.172
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.004	0.712	6.925668×10^{-7}	0.005	1.000	0.000	0.005	0.940	0.001	0.006	0.833
LogHDL-C												
Western Breakfast	0.006	0.006	0.303	0.005	0.007	0.426	0.005	0.007	0.443	0.011	0.007	0.139
Prudent Snacking	-0.005	0.006	0.419	-0.004	0.007	0.547	-0.003	0.007	0.584	-0.003	0.007	0.657
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.003	0.007	0.621	-0.002	0.008	0.762	0.000	0.008	0.983	0.004	0.008	0.622
Fish and Seafood	0.004	0.006	0.462	0.002	0.006	0.710	0.002	0.006	0.728	0.002	0.006	0.746
Sugary Snacks	-0.007	0.006	0.237	-0.014	0.007	0.065	-0.014	0.007	0.049	-0.013	0.008	0.114
LogLDL-C												
Western Breakfast	-0.006	0.006	0.333	-0.007	0.006	0.275	-0.007	0.006	0.292	-0.060	0.053	0.254
Prudent Snacking	0.004	0.006	0.493	0.007	0.006	0.293	0.006	0.006	0.332	0.041	0.047	0.391
High Protein and Animal Fat	-0.005	0.007	0.472	-0.010	0.007	0.168	-0.013	0.007	0.073	-0.112	0.057	0.050
Fish and Seafood	0.004	0.006	0.475	0.007	0.006	0.292	0.006	0.006	0.288	0.035	0.045	0.435
Sugary Snacks	-0.001	0.006	0.810	0.005	0.007	0.492	0.005	0.007	0.410	0.042	0.059	0.473
LogTriglycerides												
Western Breakfast	0.011	0.012	0.338	0.009	0.013	0.467	0.010	0.013	0.444	-0.001	0.014	0.911
Prudent Snacking	0.003	0.012	0.237	0.000	0.013	0.990	$-6.768397 imes 10^{-5}$	0.013	0.996	-0.001	0.013	0.893
High Protein and Animal Fat	0.054	0.013	< 0.001	0.049	0.014	0.001	0.045	0.014	0.002	0.041	0.015	0.009
Fish and Seafood	0.014	0.012	0.252	0.019	0.012	0.133	0.020	0.012	0.114	0.021	0.012	0.093
Sugary Snacks	0.009	0.012	0.428	0.010	0.013	0.462	0.011	0.013	0.399	-0.002	0.016	0.855
LogCRP												
Western Breakfast	-0.045	0.029	0.125	-0.053	0.031	0.085	-0.050	0.030	0.096	-0.076	0.033	0.024
Prudent Snacking	0.031	0.028	0.274	0.037	0.030	0.217	0.037	0.029	0.201	0.036	0.029	0.222
High Protein and Animal Fat	0.009	0.031	0.757	-0.005	0.033	0.873	-0.019	0.032	0.558	-0.033	0.034	0.334
Fish and Seafood	0.018	0.029	0.516	0.009	0.030	0.745	0.010	0.029	0.733	0.008	0.030	0.774
Sugary Snacks	0.010	0.031	0.743	0.011	0.032	0.729	0.016	0.032	0.603	0.004	0.036	0.905

Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex; Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex, physical exercise; Model 3, Adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, BMI. Original data values in mmol/l were used for creation of the logGlucose, logTotalCholesterol, logHDL-C, logLDL-C, LogTriglycerides variables.

Table 6. Cont.

4. Discussion

The present study sought to investigate the dietary patterns of two adolescent, European populations, based on data from the Greek TEENAGE and the French STANISLAS Family studies, as well as their potential relations with blood pressure, biomarkers of glycemic and lipidemic control and levels of CRP. The study includes healthy teenagers from the two European populations, with a median BMI of 20.88 kg/m^2 (IQR = 5.88 kg/m^2) and 18.44 kg/m^2 (IQR = 3.61 kg/m^2). For the Greek teenagers, weight, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), systolic blood pressure (SBP), levels for glucose, HOMA-IR, insulin, HDL-C and CRP significantly differed between boys and girls. Boys presented slightly higher values for weight, WHR, SP and glucose levels, while girls reported slightly higher levels of HOMA-IR, insulin and HDL-C. In the French teenagers group, WHR, SBP, glucose and total cholesterol levels presented statistically significant differences between the two sexes, with boys reporting slightly higher values for WHR, SBP and glucose levels and girls for total cholesterol levels. The teenagers of the study were mostly normal weighted. Both populations reported a mediocre energy intake (TEENAGE: 1741.00 kcal/d and STANISLAS: 2056.03 kcal/d), based on the present dietary guidelines for adolescents [39]. This could explain the fact that teenagers of both populations mostly reported BMI values within the normal range $(18.5-25 \text{ kg/m}^2)$.

Five dietary patterns were identified in each population. The Greek "eggs and fibers" and the French "prudent snacking" patterns, explaining 7.47% and 10.44% of the respective total variance, included consumption of Mediterranean diet-related food groups, such as non-refined cereals, vegetables and eggs in the Greek teenagers and consumption of eggs and vegetable fats in French adolescents. The Greek teenagers showed a preference for healthy and traditional food combinations, such as consumption of legumes, olives, olive oil and nuts in the "legumes and good fat" pattern and consumption of red meat and potatoes in the "homemade meal" pattern, respectively. The French teenagers opted for consumption of more energy-dense food groups, such as red meat, animal fat and milk and yogurt in the "high protein and animal fat" pattern and soft drinks and sugary snacks in the "sugary snacks" pattern. A number of significant associations were found between the respective dietary patterns and the populations' glycemic and lipidemic profile. However, after adjusting for the overall adjusted threshold, a smaller number of significant associations remained observed.

The predominant pattern in both populations (the "western breakfast" pattern) appears to relate to food groups whose consumption is primarily found in the basis of a western-type diet [40], such as cheese, processed meat and food items high in carbohydrates (breads and flours for the French). The "western breakfast" pattern reflects a higher percentage (15.61%) of the variance explained in the Greek population, in comparison to the French one (10.58%). This could be explained by the increasing influences of the westernized world trends in the Greek socio-economic scene during the late 2000s. Moreover, breakfast habits were also highlighted in the first 5-year follow-up in the STANISLAS Cohort, which underlined the importance of the household environment in dietary habits by finding a household variance of 42.5 to 52.9% in the energy intake observed in breakfast [29]. The importance of breakfast consumption and its contribution to daily energy intake of French children and families, is also supported by another, recent cross-sectional survey [41].

Although the western diet has been associated with elevated inflammation biomarkers [42], the cohort of the Greek teenagers reported no comorbidities and we found no associations between adherence to the "western breakfast" pattern and respective CRP levels. Interestingly enough, the "chicken and sugars" pattern identified in the Greek cohort was significantly associated with lower levels of logCRP (Model 1: $\beta = -0.051$, *p*-value = 0.006, Model 2: $\beta = -0.057$, *p*-value = 0.004 and Model 3: $\beta = -0.050$, *p*-value = 0.008). An inverse association between the consumption of poultry and CRP levels in teenagers has previously been reported, in the general context of adherence to the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet regime [43], although a recent umbrella review showed

previously been associated with higher CRP levels in adults [45,46]. In adolescents, a different review has shown a positive association between sugar consumption and CRP [47], whereas another review found greater consumption of sugars by normal weight adolescents in comparison with overweight ones, but did not find any association between sugar consumption and CRP [48]. A cross-sectional study investigating the relation between food intake and CRP levels in children also found that consumption of milk, citrus, melons and berries displayed associations with lower levels of CRP, potentially due to the general high content of fruits and vegetables in antioxidants and the association of dairy consumption with greater satiety and potential adherence to a generally healthier diet [49].

Furthermore, our study found that the "high protein and animal fat" pattern displayed significant associations with higher logtriglyceride and logBMI levels (p < 0.01), for French teenagers. The latter is in accordance with various cross-sectional studies that have researched the dietary habits of adolescents and their potential associations to BMI. A study by Gutiérrez-Pliego et al. unveiled three major dietary patterns in a population of 373 Mexican teenagers including a pattern high in refined "unhealthy" products, such as snacks, sugars and sweets, a pattern with high protein/high fat content and a pattern including high consumption of fruits, vegetables, nuts and whole grains. The study found a strong relationship (p < 0.01) between higher consumptions of the first two dietary patterns and higher BMI [50]. In the same context, a different study in Northeastern Brazil investigated data from 1247 adolescents. The study identified two dietary patterns, one referring to high consumption of sugars, sweets and cakes, amongst others, and one correlated with high consumption of fruits and vegetables. Higher adherence to the dietary pattern including "unhealthy" products, was, again, positively correlated with higher values of BMI (p = 0.018) [51]. Furthermore, a different study on the dietary habits of female adolescents showed that higher adherence to a "Western" pattern referring to increased consumption of fat and mediocre consumption of protein, among others, was associated with higher levels of BMI, waist circumference, as well as total cholesterol levels [52].

Although dietary patterns with a higher consumption of fat have generally been positively associated with cardiometabolic risk factors in teenagers [53,54], certain diets, including consumption of specific food groups, such as the DASH diet [55], have been related with a better metabolic profile [56]. Indeed, higher adherence to the DASH diet has been shown to relate to a reduced prevalence of metabolic syndrome and increased blood pressure during adolescence [43], as well as lower levels of HbA1c and systolic blood pressure, in young adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, respectively [57]. Better adherence to the components of the DASH diet was even associated with a lower risk of being a metabolic unhealthy obese, in children and adolescents with increased body weight [58]. Additionally, other high protein diets, such as the ketogenic diet and the Modified Atkins diet, have been associated with better effects on adolescents with epilepsy [59,60], with the ketogenic diet to have been related to reduced weight and fasting insulin and HOMA-IR levels in obese teenagers [61]. However, the aforementioned diets also usually include consumption of vegetables fats and fats derived from nuts, seeds, white meat (such as poultry and fish), as well as food groups like grains, vegetable fats, fruits and vegetables, which are not met when referring to dietary patterns centred on high protein or animal fat consumption. Furthermore, the aforementioned beneficial associations have been primarily observed in adults or obese adolescent populations, who could potentially benefit from the adherence to a structured diet with the above food groups. This could potentially explain why our study demonstrated positive associations between the high consumption of protein and animal fats with BMI and triglyceride levels in adolescents mostly displaying BMI of a normal range. Moreover, the present study evaluates the adherence to each dietary pattern, without comparing them with the respective adherence to the rest of the patterns extracted.

The identification of dietary patterns of adolescents has generally been a subject of interest in recent literature. Gonzalez-Gil et al. investigated the dietary patterns of 5328 European adolescents in the context of the cross-sectional HELENA study [62]. The latter consisted of adolescent cohorts of 10 different European countries, including Greek teenagers from the cities of Athens and Heraklion, Crete. The study identified four dietary patterns in teenage boys and six dietary patterns in teenage girls. Patterns explaining greater total variance in boys referred to consumption of vegetables, pasta, rice, cheese and sweets among others, at the same time as dominant patterns in girls referred to consumption of Mediterranean-type food items, dairy and consumption of a healthy breakfast [62].

Additionally, when investigating the dietary habits of adolescents based on data collected in the 1995 Australian National Nutrition Survey, McNaughton et al. showed that a dietary pattern rich in fruit, salads, cereals and fish was found to be negatively associated with levels of diastolic blood pressure in teenagers older than 16 years of age [63]. Our study found no associations between the patterns containing fruit, vegetable and fish consumption and the levels of diastolic pressure in adolescents younger than 16 years of age.

Furthermore, the I. Family Study investigated the association between the dietary patterns of 2451 pairs of European children and their parents, with regards to the existing food environment conditions. The study showed the role of food availability in the children's dietary choices, highlighting that the consumption of soft drinks was greatly dependent on their availability in the immediate food environment [64]. Moreno LA et al. also showed that increased consumption of sweet beverages was also associated with increased risk of adolescent obesity [65]. In our study, the "sugary snacks" pattern of the French population, which included consumption of sweetened beverages, was not related to logBMI values, but was associated with lower values of logHDL-C. However the effect disappeared when taking into account the adjusted threshold of statistical significance (0.04 > 0.01). A different study of German adolescents demonstrated that higher consumption of dietary patterns containing high-fat and high-carbohydrate, energy-dense foods was associated with lower socioeconomic levels and a lower intake of various vitamins and minerals [66].

A previous publication on the Greek adolescents of the TEENAGE study investigated a spectrum of factors potentially contributing to the development of overweight, leading to the creation of an Overweight Preventive Score, which included breakfast intake, family meals and consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, among other factors, and further supports the aforementioned findings. The score was found to be significantly associated with a lower likelihood of overweight presence and better levels of glycemic control [67].

The limitations of the present study are summarized in the following: (a) data for both populations were collected in a cross-sectional manner, limiting the potential for generalized cause and effect conclusions to be drawn; (b) use of the PCA for the dietary patterns' extraction, including subjective choices regarding the amount of food groups that are included in the analysis, as well as the number of components to be drawn; (c) comparisons between the two populations' dietary habits might be affected by the different socio-economic conditions existing in the two countries during the mid-1990s for the STANISLAS and late 2000s for the TEENAGE study. This prolonged gap between the two baseline data collections might manifest itself in the Greek teenagers' dietary habits, which could have potentially been affected by social changes and changes in food availability and accessibility, mediated by the growing social and technological advancements taking place throughout the 15-year gap.

5. Conclusions

Our study focused on the dietary habits of European adolescents and their potential influence on blood pressure, glycemic and lipidemic profile and inflammation levels. The patterns identified demonstrated associations with indices, such as BMI, and biomarkers, such as triglycerides and CRP. The relations highlighted in the present study display great interest and enhance the need for further research on the pivotal role of diet in the essential-for-development period of adolescence, as a modifying factor for cardiometabolic risk factor-related disorders, such as obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes.

Author Contributions: Data curation: I.P.K., M.K.; Formal Analysis: M.K., I.P.K.; Investigation: M.K., I.P.K.; Resources: S.S., G.V.D.; Validation: I.P.K.; writing—original draft preparation: M.K.; writing—review and editing: M.S.K., S.K., C.M.; supervision: G.V.D.; project administration: S.S., G.V.D.; funding acquisition: G.V.D., S.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by "La Région Grand Est, France-GUTENBERG chair 2018, grant number 18CP-1413". Salary for S.K. was financed by the french PIA project «Lorraine Universite d'Excellence», reference ANR-15-IDEX-04-LUE and for M.S.K. and M.K. by "Agence Nationale de la Recherche, Programme d'Investissements d'Avenir", grant number ANR-15RHU-0004.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The TEENAGE study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Harokopio University of Athens and the Greek Ministry of Education, Lifelong Learning and Religious Affairs. The STANISLAS Family study was approved by the advisory committee for the protection of people in biomedical research in Nancy, France.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Data available on request due to restrictions eg privacy or ethical. The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to privacy/ethical restrictions on the data provided by the volunteers.

Acknowledgments: The TEENAGE study was financed by European Social Fund-ESF of the European Union and the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF)- Research Funding Program: Heracleitus II through its Operational Program "Education and Lifelong Learning". The STANIS-LAS Family Study was recruited in the Centre for Preventive Medicine and also supported by INSERM, CNAMTS, CNRS, Nancy University, Region Lorraine, Communaute Urbaine du Grand Nancy and also received funds from Abbott, Bayer Pharma, Beckman Coulter, Biomerieux, Merck, La Previade, Roche Diagnostics, Randox, Daiichi, Dade-Behring, Kellogg's, Johnson and Johnson (Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics) and Sebia. The present study was funded by "La Région Grand Est, France-GUTENBERG chair 2018, grant number 18CP-1413". The authors would like to thank all the professionals and staff who contributed to the conduct of the studies. The authors would like to thank all the study participants and volunteers who participated in the TEENAGE and the STANISLAS Family studies.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- American Heart Association; Gidding, S.S.; Dennison, B.A.; Birch, L.L.; Daniels, S.R.; Gilman, M.W.; Lichtenstein, A.H.; Rattay, S.R.; Steinberg, J.; Stettler, N.; et al. Dietary Recommendations for Children and Adolescents: A Guide for Practitioners. *Pediatrics* 2006, 117, 544–559. [CrossRef]
- World Health Organization. Guideline: Implementing Effective Actions for Improving Adolescent Nutrition. 2018. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/260297/9789241513708-eng.pdf?sequence=1 (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- 3. National Heath System. Healthy Eating for Teens-Eat Well. 2018. Available online: https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/eat-well/ healthy-eating-for-teens/ (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- 4. British Nutrition Foundation Teenagers. 2018. Available online: https://www.nutrition.org.uk/healthyliving/lifestages/ teenagers.html?start=2 (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- DiGirolamo, A.M.; Ochaeta, L.; Mejia Flores, R.M. Early Childhood Nutrition and Cognitive Functioning in Childhood and Adolescence. *Food Nutr. Bull.* 2020, 41, S31–S40. [CrossRef]
- 6. Cohen, J.F.W.; Gorski, M.T.; Gruber, S.A.; Kurdziel, L.B.F.; Rimm, E.B. The effect of healthy dietary consumption on executive cognitive functioning in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2016**, *116*, 989–1000. [CrossRef]
- Nyaradi, A.; Foster, J.K.; Hickling, S.; Li, J.; Ambrosini, G.L.; Jacques, A.; Oddy, W.H. Prospective associations between dietary patterns and cognitive performance during adolescence. J. Child. Psychol. Psychiatry 2014, 55, 1017–1024. [CrossRef]
- 8. O'Neil, A.; Quirk, S.E.; Housden, S.; Brennan, S.L.; Williams, L.J.; Pasco, J.A.; Berk, M.; Jacka, F.N. Relationship between diet and mental health in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Am. J. Public Health* **2014**, *104*, e31–e42. [CrossRef]

- World Health Organization. Adolescent Obesity and Related Behaviours: Trends and Inequalities in the WHO European Region, 2002–2014. 2017. Available online: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/339211/WHO_ObesityReport_20 17_v3.pdf (accessed on 1 November 2020).
- 10. World Health Organization. Adolescents' Dietary Habits. 2016. Available online: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/303477/HBSCNo.7_factsheet_Diet.pdf%3Fua%3D1 (accessed on 7 November 2020).
- World Health Organization. United Nations Agency Briefs: Responding to the Challenge of Non-communicable Diseases. 2019. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/327396/WHO-UNIATF-19.98-eng.pdf?ua=1 (accessed on 24 December 2020).
- 12. Suchindran, C.; North, K.E.; Popkin, B.M.; Gordon-Larsen, P. The association of adolescent obesity with risk of severe obesity in adulthood. *JAMA* 2010, 304, 2042–2047. [CrossRef]
- 13. Biro, F.M.; Wien, M. Childhood obesity and adult morbidities. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2010, 91, 1499S–1505S. [CrossRef]
- 14. Engeland, A.; Bjørge, T.; Tverdal, A.; Søgaard, A.J. Obesity in adolescence and adulthood and the risk of adult mortality. *Epidemiology* **2004**, *15*, 79–85. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mirmiran, P.; Ziadlou, M.; Karimi, S.; Hosseini-Esfahani, F.; Azizi, F. The association of dietary patterns and adherence to WHO healthy diet with metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents: Tehran lipid and glucose study. *BMC Public Health* 2019, 19, 1457. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Pulgaron, E.R.; Delamater, A.M. Oesity and type 2 diabetes in children: Epidemiology and treatment. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* **2014**, *14*, 508. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Barr, M.M.; Aslibekyan, S.; Ashraf, A.P. Glycemic control and lipid outcomes in children and adolescents with type 2 diabetes. *PLoS ONE* **2019**, *14*, e0219144. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Lampropoulou, M.; Chaini, M.; Rigopoulos, N.; Evangeliou, A.; Papadopoulou-Legbelou, K.; Koutelidakis, A.E. Association between serum lipid levels in Greek children with dyslipidemia and mediterranean diet adherence, dietary habits, lifestyle and family socioeconomic factors. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 1600. [CrossRef]
- 19. Ferreira de Moraes, A.C.; Lacerda, M.B.; Moreno, L.A.; Horta, B.L.; Carvalho, H.B. Prevalence of high blood pressure in 122,053 adolescents: A systematic review and meta-regression. *Medicine* **2014**, *93*, e232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ntalla, I.; Giannakopoulou, M.; Vlachou, P.; Giannitsopoulou, K.; Gkesou, V.; Makridi, C.; Marougka, M.; Mikou, G.; Ntaoutidou, K.; Proutzou, E.; et al. Body composition and eating behaviours in relation to dieting involvement in a sample of urban Greek adolescents from the TEENAGE (TEENs of Attica: Genes & Environment) study. *Public Health Nutr.* 2014, 17, 561–568. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ntalla, I.; Panoutsopoulou, K.; Vlachou, P.; Southam, L.; Rayner, N.W.; Zeggini, E.; Dedoussis, G.V. Replication of established common genetic variants for adult BMI and childhood obesity in Greek Adolescents: The TEENAGE Study. *Ann. Hum. Genet.* 2013, 77, 268–274. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *Bull. World Health Organ.* **2001**, *79*, 373–374. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/1066 5/268312/PMC2566407.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- 23. Nutritionist Pro Software. Available online: https://www.nutritionistpro.com/ (accessed on 23 December 2020).
- 24. Schofield, W.N. Predicting basal metabolic rate, new standards and review of previous work. *Hum. Nutr. Clin. Nutr.* **1985**, *39*, 5–41.
- 25. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; World Health Organization; United Nations. University Human Energy Requirements: Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2004.
- Goldberg, G.R.; Black, A.E.; Jebb, S.A.; Murgatroyd, P.R.; Cpward, W.A.; Prentice, A.M. Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 1. Derivation of cut-off limits to identify under-recording. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 1991, 45, 569–581.
- 27. Sichert-Hellert, W.; Kersting, M.; Schoch, G. Underreporting of energy intake in 1 to 18 year old German children and adolescents. *Z. Ernahr.* **1998**, *37*, 242–251. [CrossRef]
- 28. Siest, G.; Visvikis, S.; Herbeth, B.; Gueguen, R.; Vincent-Viry, M.; Sass, C.; Beaud, B.; Lecomte, E.; Steinmetz, J.; Locuty, J.; et al. Objectives, Design and Recruitment of a Familial and Longitudinal Cohort for Studying Gene-Environment Interactions in the Field of Cardiovascular Risk: The Stanislas Cohort. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* **1998**, *36*, 35–42. [CrossRef]
- 29. Billon, S.; Lluch, A.; Gueguen, R.; Berthier, A.M.; Siest, G.; Herbeth, B. Family resemblance in breakfast energy intake: The Stanislas Family Study. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2002**, *56*, 1011–1019. [CrossRef]
- Visvikis-Siest, S.; Siest, G. The STANISLAS Cohort: A 10-year follow-up of supposed healthy families. Gene-environment interactions, reference values and evaluation of biomarkers in prevention of cardiovascular diseases. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 2008, 46, 733–747. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Musse, N.; Michaud, C.; Musse, J.P.; Nicolas, J.P. Gestion informatisee de l'enquete alimentaire. In Proceedings of the XIIeme Congres International de Medecine Sociale, Montreal, QC, Canada, 1989; p. 53.
- 32. Krishnaveni, R.; Gowda, V.M.N. Assessing the validity of Friedewald's formula and Anandraja's formula for serum LDL– cholesterol calculation. *J. Clin. Diagn. Res.* 2015, *9*, BC01–BC04. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- IBM Support. SPSS Statistics 23.0 Now Available for Download. www.Ibm.com. Available online: https://www.ibm.com/ support/pages/spss-statistics-230-now-available-download (accessed on 23 November 2020).

- Jolliffe, I.T.; Cadima, J. Principal component analysis: A review and recent developments. *Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 2016, 374, 20150202. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Schwedhelm, C.; Iqbal, K.; Knuppel, S.; Schwingshackl, L.; Boeing, H. Contribution to the understanding of how principal component analysis-derived dietary patterns emerge from habitual data on food consumption. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2018**, 107, 227–235. [CrossRef]
- 36. Smith, A.D.A.C.; Emmett, P.M.; Newby, P.; Northstone, K. Dietary patterns obtained through principal components analysis: The effect of input variable quantification. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2013**, *109*, 1881–1891. [CrossRef]
- 37. Knafl, G.J.; Dixon, J.K.; O'Malley, J.P.; Grey, M.; Deatrick, J.A.; Gallo, A.M.; Knafl, K.A. Analysis of cross-sectional univariate measurements for family dyads using linear mixed modeling. *J. Fam. Nurs.* **2009**, *15*, 130–151. [CrossRef]
- 38. Van Dongen, H.P.A.; Olofsen, E.; Dinges, D.F.; Maislin, G. Mixed-model regression analysis and dealing with interindividual differences. *Methods Enzymol.* 2004, 384, 139–171. [CrossRef]
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA); EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products; Nutrition and Allergies (NDA). Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for energy. EFSA J. 2013, 11, 3005. [CrossRef]
- 40. Cordain, L.; Eaton, S.B.; Sebastian, A.; Mann, N.; Lindeberg, S.; Watkins, B.A.; O'Keefe, J.H.; Brand-Miller, J. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: Health implications for the 21st century. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2005**, *81*, 341–354. [CrossRef]
- 41. Bellisle, F.; Hebel, P.; Salmon-Legagneur, A.; Vieux, F. Breakfast consumption in french children, adolescents, and adults: A nationally representative cross-sectional survey examined in the context of the international Breakfast Research Initiative. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 1056. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Manzel, A.; Muller, D.N.; Hafler, D.A.; Erdman, S.E.; Linker, R.A.; Kleinewietfeld, M. Role of "Western Diet" in Inflammatory Autoimmune Diseases. *Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep.* 2014, 14, 404. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Saneei, P.; Hashemipour, M.; Kelishadi, R.; Esmaillzadeh, A. The dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet affects inflammation in childhood metabolic syndrome: A randomized cross-over clinical trial. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* **2014**, *64*, 20–27. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chiavaroli, L.; Viguiliouk, E.; Nish, S.K.; Blanco Mejia, S.; Rahelic, D.; Kahleova, H.; Salas-Salvado, J.; Kendall, C.W.C.; Sievenpiper, J.L. DASH dietary pattern and cardiometabolic outcomes: An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Nutrients* 2019, 11, 338. [CrossRef]
- 45. Mazidi, M.; Kengne, A.P.; Mikhailidis, D.P.; Cicero, A.; Banach, M. Effects of selected dietary constituents on high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in U.S. adults. *Ann. Med.* **2018**, *50*, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- 46. O'Connor, L.; Imamura, F.; Brage, S.; Griffin, S.J.; Wareham, N.J.; Forouhi, N.G. Intakes and sources of dietary sugars and their association with metabolic and inflammatory markers. *Clin. Nutr.* **2018**, *37*, 1313–1322. [CrossRef]
- 47. Lazarou, C.; Philippou, E. C-reactiive protein and diet quality in Children. In *Diet Quality: An Evidence-Based Approach*; Preedy, V.R., Hunter, L.A., Patel, V.B., Eds.; Humana Press: London, UK, 2013; pp. 75–100.
- 48. Karampola, M.; Argiriou, A.; Hitoglou-Makedou, A. Study on dietary constituents, hs-CRP serum levels and investigation of correlation between them in excess weight adolescents. *Hippokratia* **2019**, *23*, 3–8.
- 49. Qureshi, M.M.; Singer, M.R.; Moore, L.L. A cross-sectional study of food group intake and C-reactive protein among children. *Nutr. Meta* (*Lond.*) **2009**, *6*, 40. [CrossRef]
- 50. Gutiérrez-Pliego, L.E.; Camarillo-Romero, E.S.; Montenegro-Morales, L.P.; Garduño-García, J.D.J. Dietary patterns associated with body mass index (BMI) and lifestyle in Mexican adolescents. *BMC Public Health* **2016**, *16*, 850. [CrossRef]
- 51. Santos, N.H.; Fiaccone, R.L.; Barreto, M.L.; Silva, L.A.D.; Silva, R.D.C.R. Association between eating patterns and body mass index in a sample of children and adolescents in Northeastern Brazil. *Cad. Saúde Pública* **2014**, *30*, 2235–2245. [CrossRef]
- Ambrosini, G.L.; Huang, R.C.; Mori, T.A.; Hands, B.P.; O'Sullivan, T.A.; de Klerk, N.; Beilin, L.J.; Oddy, W.H. Dietary patterns and markers for the metabolic syndrome in Australian adolescents. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2010, 20, 274–283. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Rocha, N.P.; Cupertino, L.M.; Longo, G.Z.; Ribeiro, A.Q.; Novaes, J.F. Association between dietary pattern and cardiometabolic risk in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *J. Pediatr.* **2017**, *93*, 214–222. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Joung, H.; Hong, S.; Song, Y.; Ahn, B.C.; Park, M.J. Dietary patterns and metabolic syndrome risk factors among adolescents. *Korean J. Pediatr.* **2012**, *55*, 128–135. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. DASH Eating Plan. 2009. Available online: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/resources/heart/hbp-dash-introduction-html (accessed on 22 December 2020).
- 56. Castro-Barquero, S.; Ruiz-León, A.M.; Pérez-Sierra, M.; Estruch, R.; Casas, R. Dietary strategies for metabolic syndrome: A comprehensive review. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 2983. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Barnes, T.L.; Crandell, J.L.; Bell, R.A.; Mayer-Davis, E.J.; Dabelea, D.; Liese, A.D. Change in DASH diet score and cardiovascular risk factors in youth with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Nutr. Diabetes* **2013**, *3*, e91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 58. Rahimi, H.; Yuzbashian, E.; Zareie, R.; Asghari, G.; Djazayery, A.; Movahedi, A.; Mirmiran, P. Dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) score and obesity phenotypes in children and adolescents. *Nutr. J.* **2020**, *19*, 112. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Wells, J.; Swaminathan, A.; Paseka, J.; Hanson, C. Efficacy and safety of a ketogenic diet in children and adolescents with refractory epilepsy—A review. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 1809. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 60. Payne, N.E.; Cross, H.; Sander, J.W.; Sisodiya, S.M. The ketogenic and related diets in adolescents and adults—A review. *Epilepsia* **2011**, 52, 1941–1948. [CrossRef]
- 61. Partsalaki, I.; Karvela, A.; Spiliotis, B.E. Metabolic impact of a ketogenic diet compared to a hypocaloric diet in obese children and adolescents. *J. Pediatr. Endocr. Met.* **2012**, *25*, 697–704. [CrossRef]
- 62. González-Gil, E.M.; Martínez-Olivan, B.; Widhalm, K.; Lambrinou, C.P.; De Henauw, S.; Gottrand, F.; Kafatos, A.; Beghin, L.; Molnar, D.; Kersting, M.; et al. Healthy eating determinants and dietary patterns in European adolescents: The HELENA study. *Child Adolesc. Obes.* **2019**, *2*, 18–39. [CrossRef]
- 63. McNaughton, S.A.; Ball, K.; Mishra, G.D.; Crawford, D.A. Dietary patterns of adolescents and risk of obesity and hypertension. *J. Nutr.* **2008**, *138*, 364–370. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Hebestreit, A.; Intemann, T.; Siani, A.; De Henauw, S.; Eibenm, G.; Kourides, Y.; Kovacs, E.; Moreno, L.A.; Veidebaum, T. Dietary patterns of european children and their parents in association with family food environment: Results from the I. family study. *Nutrients* **2017**, *9*, 126. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Moreno, L.A.; Rodriguez, G.; Fieta, J.; Bueno-Lozano, M.; Lázaro, A.; Bueno, G. critical reviews in food science and nutrition. *Crit. Rev. Food. Sci. Nutr.* **2010**, *50*, 106–112. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Richter, A.; Heidemann, C.; Schulze, M.B.; Roosen, J.; Thiele, S.; Mensink, G.B.M. Dietary patterns of adolescents in Germany— Associations with nutrient intake and other health related lifestyle characteristics. *BMC Pediatr.* **2012**, *12*, 35. [CrossRef]
- Ntalla, I.; Yannaoulia, M.; Dedoussis, G.V. An overweight preventive score associates with obesity and glycemic traits. *Metabolism* 2016, 65, 81–88. [CrossRef]



Article



Associations of VEGF-A-Related Variants with Adolescent Cardiometabolic and Dietary Parameters

Maria Kafyra ¹^(b), Ioanna Panagiota Kalafati ^{1,2}^(b), Ioanna Gavra ¹, Sophie Siest ^{3,4,†}^(b) and George V. Dedoussis ^{1,*,†}^(b)

- ¹ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Science and Education, Harokopio University, 17671 Athens, Greece
- ² Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Physical Education, Sport Science and Dietetics, University of Thessaly, 42132 Trikala, Greece
- ³ Interactions Gène-Environnement en Physiopathologie Cardio-Vasculaire (IGE-PCV), Université de Lorraine, 54000 Nancy, France
- ⁴ Santorini Conferences (SCs) Association—For Research Innovation in Health, 54470 Bernecourt, France
- Correspondence: dedousi@hua.gr
- † These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Previous research has allowed the identification of variants related to the vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and their association with anthropometric, lipidemic and glycemic indices. The present study examined potential relations between key VEGF-A-related single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), cardiometabolic parameters and dietary habits in an adolescent cohort. Crosssectional analyses were conducted using baseline data from 766 participants of the Greek TEENAGE study. Eleven VEGF-A-related SNPs were examined for associations with cardiometabolic indices through multivariate linear regressions after adjusting for confounding factors. A 9-SNP unweighted genetic risk score (uGRS) for increased VEGF-A levels was constructed to examine associations and the effect of its interactions with previously extracted dietary patterns for the cohort. Two variants (rs4416670, rs7043199) displayed significant associations (p-values < 0.005) with the logarithms of systolic and diastolic blood pressure (logSBP and logDBP). The uGRS was significantly associated with higher values of the logarithm of Body Mass Index (logBMI) and logSBP (*p*-values < 0.05). Interactions between the uGRS and specific dietary patterns were related to higher logDBP and logGlucose (p-values < 0.01). The present analyses constitute the first-ever attempt to investigate the influence of VEGF-A-related variants on teenage cardiometabolic determinants, unveiling several associations and the modifying effect of diet.

Keywords: vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A); cardiometabolic profile; genetic risk score; adolescents; dietary patterns; genetic risk score

1. Introduction

Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is involved in various biological functions, primarily as a major contributor to angiogenesis induction which extends its activities to cell proliferation, migration and even differentiation [1–3]. Due to its versatile roles in endothelial function [4], its involvement in activating the cortisol–adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) stress axis, its promotion of aldosterone [5] production as well as its multifactorial influence on energy homeostasis [2,6,7], insulin resistance [2,8] and cardiac function [9], VEGF-A is involved in various reciprocal relationships influencing cardiovascular and cardiometabolic risk factors such as glucose sensitivity, lipidemic profile, obesity and blood pressure.

Altered VEGF-A expression is observed in the presence of disturbed cardiometabolic states, denoting a requited relationship between the biomarker's levels and disrupted



Citation: Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Gavra, I.; Siest, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Associations of VEGF-A-Related Variants with Adolescent Cardiometabolic and Dietary Parameters. *Nutrients* **2023**, *15*, 1884. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu15081884

Academic Editors: Javier Gómez-Ambrosi and Jose Lara

Received: 13 March 2023 Revised: 7 April 2023 Accepted: 12 April 2023 Published: 13 April 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). cardiometabolic profile. For example, VEGF-A is known to be involved in glucose homeostasis, where both its over- and under-expression can affect glucose tolerance [8], as well as lipid metabolism, through its regulation of lipases and the creation of chylomicrons [7]. In a similar manner, VEGF-A is highly expressed in the adipose tissue, where an increase in the number of adipocytes signifies increased VEGF-A and subsequent angiogenesis and further cell proliferation and differentiation [1].

Circulating VEGF-A levels have been conclusively demonstrated as greatly heritable [10]. The past decades have marked the conduct of large meta-analyses of multiple genome-wide association studies (GWAS), revealing key variants significantly associated with the marker's levels. More specifically, Debette and Visvikis-Siest et al. brought four key single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) to light, collectively explaining 48.7% of VEGF-A variation [10]. Subsequent studies have unveiled additional VEGF-A-related SNPs, which have, in turn, been further associated with adult cardiometabolic indices [11,12] and even the presence of neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease [13]. Selected VEGF-A-associated SNPs have even been directly linked to the presence of hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome in adults [14,15]. In addition, the interplay between VEGF-A SNPs and dietary components has also been associated with multiple metabolic syndrome determinants [16,17]. An example of the importance of the interplay between VEGF-A, anthropometric indices and dietary compounds was recently highlighted in the finding that the effect of VEGF-A variants on circulating iron levels might depend on anthropometric indices [(i.e., Body Mass Index (BMI)] [18].

The present study constitutes the continuation of our team's previous research aiming at exploring the effect of the interplay between genetic makeup and lifestyle habits on adolescent anthropometric, lipidemic and glycemic indices. In this context, the present findings concern the first-ever attempt to investigate the role of key VEGF-A-related variants exclusively on the cardiometabolic profile of adolescents, using data from the Greek TEENAGE Study. We hereby present the results of the analyses on selected target variants, the subsequent examinations of their cumulative effect in the form of an unweighted genetic risk score (uGRS) and its respective interactions with previously extracted dietary patterns on the teenagers' cardiometabolic indices.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. The TEENAGE Study

The present analyses constitute the next step in the research of our team's Gutenberg Chair 2018 project, where building on our previous findings [19], we hereby present the subsequent examinations between genetic makeup and teenage cardiometabolic profile in the TEENAGE Study. The latter (TEENs of Attica: Genes and Environment) refers to the cross-sectional collection of various data from adolescent students conducted during the years 2008–2010 in Attica, Greece. The project was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Harokopio University of Athens, as well as the Greek Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs. All nodes conducted within the study took place adhering to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Details of the study protocol and characteristics have been previously extensively described elsewhere [20–22]. The TEENAGE desired target population were children and adolescents of 13–15 years of age attending the primary three classes of public secondary schools in the Attica region, coming from all groups and backgrounds [22]. Schools and participants were invited to be involved in the study from the pool of the teenage population of the GENDAI study [23]. The latter constituted a previous study also conducted and approved by Harokopio University of Athens, including children attending fifth and sixth grade of 1440 schools from a wide range of neighborhoods of different socioeconomic status across the Attica region [23]. Overall, 857 out of 1440 teenagers attending the participating schools were recruited for the purposes of the TEENAGE study [20,21]. The volunteers were recruited to the study after undergoing a briefing session on the study aims, their voluntary inclusion and the confidentiality measures surrounding their data [20,21]. Verbal

consent by all adolescent participants and their respective guardians' written consent was collected prior to study enrollment.

After enrollment in the study, all children and adolescents participated in a baseline, in-person session with healthcare professionals, where anthropometric, dietary, biochemical and lifestyle data were collected. Measurements of body and height were conducted for each individual in a barefoot state and with light clothes on, and the BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height² (m²). Waist circumference was measured in centimeters using a non-extensible soft tape, and body fat was evaluated by measuring the triceps and subscapular skinfolds. Dietary intake was assessed via conduct of a 24 h recall for the day prior to recruitment and the completion of a questionnaire for meal patterns and eating behavior. A second recall was conducted via telephone in the 10 days after the baseline session. Physical activity habits were assessed via the completion of a relative checklist for two non-consecutive days [20–22].

Moreover, DNA samples were collected for each participant and were further genotyped via the use of the Illumina HumanOmniExpress BeadChips (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) at the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute, Hinxton, UK [20]. The imputation of the genotyped data was conducted using the Haplotype Reference Consortium (HRC) panel [20,24].

For the purposes of the present study, we used anthropometric, biochemical and genetic data from an initial pool of 766 participants with available data. We investigated associations between 11 VEGF-A-associated SNPs and various cardiometabolic indices. Pulse pressure (PP) was calculated to allow for comparisons with the previous findings, based on the available data for systolic and diastolic blood pressure (SBP and DBP, respectively) and via using the following formula:

Pulse Pressure (PP) = Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP,mmHg) –Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP,mmHg)

Furthermore, we proceeded to construct an unweighted genetic risk score (uGRS) for VEGF-A using the target SNPs identified by Choi et al. For the purposes of the present analyses, we used the SNPs with the available data in the TEENAGE cohort (i.e., 9 out of 10 variants). The uGRS was constructed by scoring the risk alleles positively associated with the VEGF-A levels. We subsequently examined its respective relations with the cardiometabolic indices and further split the uGRS into two groups of high and low genetic risk for higher levels of VEGF based on the sample median value. Additionally, we proceeded to investigate the potential effect of interactions between the uGRS and the previously identified dietary patterns for the TEENAGE cohort [19] on the various indices.

2.2. Statistical Analyses

In the present analyses, we set out to investigate the potential impact of 11 VEGF-A-related target SNPs on cardiometabolic indices using available data from the Greek TEENAGE study (Table 1). Based on our team's previously published findings [10,11], we chose to examine the rs4416670, rs6921438, rs10738760 and rs6993770 variants, which have been shown to collectively explain 48.7% of VEGF-A variability and have been further associated with multiple cardiometabolic indices in healthy populations [10]. We additionally included 7 more SNPs identified by Choe et al. as strongly associated with circulating VEGF-A levels, with available data in the TEENAGE cohort [11].

		Consor	tial Summary Statis	stics				TEENAGE Cohort	
SNP	Gene	Chr	Position	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Direction of Effect for VEGF	EAF	Ref.
rs114694170	MEF2C, MEF2C-AS1	5	5:88884379	T/C	0.02 (C)	Т	Negative (beta = -0.15)	0.96	[6]
rs6921438	SCIRT, LOC100132354	6	6:43957870	G/A/C	0.44 (A)	А	Negative (beta = -0.72)	0.39	[6,7]
rs1740073	LINC02537, SCIRT, C6orf223	6	6:43979661	T/A/C	0.20 (T)	Т	Positive (beta $= 0.09$)	0.35	[6]
rs4416670	SCIRT	6	6:43982716	T/A/C	0.47 (C)	С	Negative (beta = -0.13)	0.44	[7]
rs6993770	ZFPM2-AS1,ZFPM2	8	8:105569300	A/T	0.36 (T)	Т	Negative (beta $= 0.17$)	0.31	[6,7]
rs7043199	VLDLR-AS1	9	9:2621145	T/A	0.11 (A)	А	Negative (beta = -0.10)	0.19	[6]
rs10738760	VLDLR, KCNV2	9	9:2691186	A/G	0.41 (G)	G	Negative (beta = -0.28)	0.46	[7]
rs2375981	VLDLR, KCNV2	9	9:2692583	C/A/G/T	0.41 (G)	С	Positive (beta $= 0.21$)	0.44	[6]
rs74506613/proxy rs10761741 used	JMJD1C	10	10:63306426	G/T	0.37 (T)	Т	Positive (beta $= 0.08$)	0.47	[6]
rs4782371	ZFPM1	16	16:88502423	T/A/C/G	0.41 (G)	Т	Negative (beta = -0.07)	0.36	[6]
rs2639990	ZADH2	18	18:75203596	T/C	0.10 (C)	Т	Positive (beta = 0.11)	0.10	[6]

Table 1. List of the VEGF-A-related single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (*n* = 11) investigated for cardiometabolic associations in the TEENAGE cohort.

SNP: Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism, Chr: Chromosome, bp: base pairs, MAF: Minor Allele Frequency (as shown in GWAS Catalog), Ref.: Reference.

We used a threshold of 0.7 for the imputation INFO score for all SNPs included in the analyses. Quality control for sample and SNP exclusion criteria consisted of: (i) sample call rate at 95%; (ii) Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) exact p < 0.0001; and (iii) genotyping call rate at 99%. Before testing for associations, an assessment of the cardiometabolic variables' distribution was carried out via the use of the Shapiro–Wilk and Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests. All variables not presenting a normal distribution were log-transformed. Hypothesis testing between cohort subgroups took place using the Mann–Whitney test. We investigated potential relations between the 11 target SNPs and the cardiometabolic parameters using linear regression analyses. Associations were examined after adjusting for 3 different models of confounding factors, namely: (i) Model 1, which consisted of adjustment for age and sex; (ii) Model 2, which further included exercise level; and (iii) Model 3, additionally incorporating the adjustment for the five previously extracted dietary patterns [19]. Multiple linear regression results for each SNP are presented as betas [regression coefficients (β)] and *p*-values. The threshold for statistical significance was set at 0.05. The adjusted threshold for multiple testing was set at 0.005 (0.05/11 components examined).

Following the associations explored for each SNP separately, we further used multiple linear regressions to examine the associations between the uGRS and the metabolic indices, as well as the potential effect of the interactions between the uGRS and the formerly extracted dietary patterns. Multiple linear regression results are presented as estimates [beta coefficients (β)] and standard error (SE). In the case of examining the interactions, the adjusted threshold for statistical significance was set at 0.01 (i.e., 0.05/5 components examined). All phenotypic analyses were conducted using the R Statistical Package [25], and genetic analyses were carried out with the Plink whole-genome association analysis toolset, version 1.9 [26].

3. Results

3.1. Population Characteristics

The characteristics of the population used have been previously described elsewhere [19]. This overall healthy population of 349 boys and 417 girls presented a median age of 13.30 years old (Table 2). The girls displayed an overall better cardiometabolic profile compared to boys, with the latter showing statistically significantly higher levels of SBP, PP, glucose and C-reactive protein (CRP) (*p*-value < 0.001). Additionally, girls demonstrated statistically significantly higher levels of high-density cholesterol (HDL) (*p*-value < 0.001). BMI, triglycerides, total cholesterol, SBP, while low-density cholesterol did not display any statistically significant differences between the two groups.

Table 2. Descriptive characteristics of the TEENAGE Study.

	All			Boys		Girls	
	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	n	Median (IQR)	<i>p</i> -Value *
Age (years)	766	13.30 (1.31)	349	13.36 (1.38)	417	13.26 (1.25)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m^2)	766	20.88 (4.38)	349	20.85 (4.45)	417	20.93 (4.37)	0.517
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	611	56.00 (24)	283	55.00 (25)	328	57.00 (24)	0.090
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)	611	157.00 (33)	283	156.49 (25.18) **	328	157.50 (31)	0.210
SBP (mmHg)	743	119.00 (16)	335	120.67 (11.93) **	408	118.00 (15)	0.001
DBP (mmHg)	743	70.00 (12)	335	71.00 (12)	408	70.00 (12)	0.825
PP	743	47.00 (13)	335	49.23 (10.61) **	408	46 (12)	< 0.001
LDL (mg/dL)	611	54.00 (16)	283	90.57 (21.78) **	328	88.40 (26)	0.651
HDL (mg/dL)	611	89.20 (27)	283	53.00 (16)	328	56.00 (17)	0.001
Glucose (mg/dL),	611	80.00 (12)	283	81.00 (11)	328	79.00 (12)	< 0.05
CRP (mg/dL)	540	0.30 (1)	254	0.45 (1)	286	0.20 (0)	< 0.001

BMI: Body Mass Index, SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure, DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure, PP: Pulse Pressure, HDL: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL: Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, CRP: C-reactive protein. * Hypothesis testing took place via use of the Mann–Whitney test. ** The variable summary statistics are shown as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

Cross-sectional associations between the 11 SNPs and the various indices were assessed in participants with available data. Table 3 shows the multivariate linear regressions conducted for each of the 11 SNPs after adjustment for age and sex (Model 1), age, sex and exercise (Model 2) and age, sex, exercise and dietary pattern (Model 3). Our analyses showed statistically significant associations for two out of the eleven examined SNPs, namely the rs7043199 and the rs4416670 variants, with the latter having been found to explain 1,5% of the variance of VEGF-A levels in adults [7]. More specifically, the presence of the C allele of the latter was related, with a lower log of systolic blood pressure (logSBP) across all models (Model 1: $\beta = -0.007$, *p*-value = 0.002, Model 2: $\beta = -0.007$, *p*-value = 0.002, Model 3: $\beta = -0.07$, *p*-value = 0.0035). Another statistically significant but positive relation for logSBP was demonstrated for the A allele of the rs7043199 variant after adjusting for Model 2 (Model 2: $\beta = 0.009$, *p*-value = 0.004). The same SNP also displayed a statistically significant and positive association with log diastolic blood pressure (logDBP) after adjustment for Model 3 (Model 3: $\beta = 0.0138$, *p*-value = 0.0046).

Table 3. Associations between the 11 VEGF-A-related SNPs and cardiometabolic indices in the TEENAGE cohort.

	Mod	el 1	Mode	el 2	Mode	el 3
	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value
LogBMI						
rs114694170	0.01009	0.3424	0.01317	0.2385	0.01239	0.2707
rs6921438	-0.00631	0.1131	-0.0053	0.2038	-0.00475	0.2564
rs1740073	0.005531	0.1785	0.003664	0.3826	0.002784	0.5088
rs4416670	-0.00698	0.06125	-0.00389	0.3099	-0.00363	0.3452
rs6993770	-0.00649	0.1252	-0.00866	0.04606	-0.00858	0.0483
rs7043199	-0.01265	0.01352	-0.01202	0.02304	-0.01185	0.02551
rs10738760	0.003147	0.4208	0.002341	0.5588	0.00203	0.6125
rs2375981	0.003426	0.3883	0.002837	0.4846	0.002472	0.5432
rs10761741	0.003055	0.4467	0.003455	0.3978	0.003062	0.4544
rs4782371	0.00442	0.2833	0.003158	0.4576	0.002953	0.4892
rs2639990	-0.00297	0.6463	-0.00232	0.7241	-0.0021	0.7516
logTriglycerides						
rs114694170	0.008907	0.7274	0.02828	0.2978	0.029	0.292
rs6921438	0.001028	0.9184	0.01319	0.2007	0.01328	0.2003
rs1740073	0.006261	0.5473	0.002573	0.8058	0.00253	0.8107
rs4416670	$1.83 imes10^{-5}$	0.9984	0.00513	0.5827	0.004898	0.6018
rs6993770	0.006058	0.5595	-0.00307	0.7726	-0.00332	0.7567
rs7043199	-0.01681	0.1822	-0.01787	0.1588	-0.01938	0.1304
rs10738760	-0.02382	0.01482	-0.0201	0.04157	-0.0201	0.04306
rs2375981	-0.01995	0.04558	-0.01675	0.09515	-0.01696	0.09375
rs10761741	0.004158	0.6738	-0.00254	0.7989	-0.00198	0.844
rs4782371	-0.00071	0.9448	0.00189	0.8571	0.001944	0.8546
rs2639990	-0.01428	0.3776	-0.01309	0.4196	-0.0138	0.4033
logCholesterol						
rs114694170	-0.00314	0.7859	-0.00783	0.5438	-0.00896	0.4916
rs6921438	-0.00051	0.9111	0.000254	0.9586	$-9.61 imes 10^{-5}$	0.9844
rs1740073	0.000767	0.8706	0.000225	0.9639	-0.00033	0.947
rs4416670	0.001849	0.6564	0.004052	0.3602	0.004303	0.3322
rs6993770	0.0042	0.3709	0.002885	0.567	0.002729	0.5901
rs7043199	-0.00066	0.908	$-9.11 imes10^{-5}$	0.9879	-0.00107	0.8596
rs10738760	-0.00256	0.5642	-0.00355	0.4489	-0.00351	0.4558
rs2375981	-0.00357	0.4299	-0.00446	0.3497	-0.00424	0.3768
rs10761741	-0.00642	0.1503	-0.00856	0.0695	-0.0087	0.06685
rs4782371	0.003328	0.4736	0.001601	0.7478	0.002173	0.6649
rs2639990	-0.00337	0.645	-0.00521	0.4986	-0.00315	0.6864

	Mod	el 1	Mod	lel 2	Mod	el 3
	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value
logSBP						
rs114694170	0.004856	0.4602	0.01095	0.1322	0.01002	0.1704
rs6921438	-0.00528	0.03273	-0.00571	0.03214	-0.00614	0.02126
rs1740073	0.006211	0.01456	0.007036	0.008435	0.007113	0.007929
rs4416670	-0.00707	0.002172	-0.00744	0.002407	-0.00716	0.003524
rs6993770	-0.005	0.05437	-0.00489	0.07711	-0.005	0.07093
rs7043199	0.007357	0.02104	0.009594	0.004338	0.009446	0.005093
rs10738760	-0.00105	0.6643	-0.00018	0.9445	-0.0002	0.9368
rs2375981	-0.00048	0.8464	0.000475	0.8549	0.000676	0.7948
rs10761741	0.004394	0.07559	0.003574	0.1711	0.003634	0.1643
rs4782371	-0.0017	0.5082	-0.00148	0.5885	-0.00099	0.7192
rs2639990	-0.00027	0.9467	-0.00181	0.6667	-0.00112	0.7913
logDBP						
rs114694170	-0.00538	0.5747	-0.00023	0.9829	-0.00073	0.945
rs6921438	-0.00617	0.08685	-0.00804	0.03627	-0.00845	0.0283
rs1740073	0.005599	0.1311	0.006755	0.07975	0.006983	0.07167
rs4416670	-0.00556	0.09872	-0.00686	0.05272	-0.00661	0.06318
rs6993770	-0.00621	0.101	-0.0043	0.281	-0.00443	0.2685
rs7043199	0.01191	0.01033	0.01359	0.005051	0.0138	0.004611
rs10738760	$6.32 imes10^{-6}$	0.9986	0.001639	0.6575	0.001642	0.6579
rs2375981	-0.00022	0.9508	0.001781	0.6339	0.002048	0.5851
rs10761741	0.005385	0.135	0.006435	0.08701	0.006501	0.0848
rs4782371	0.000505	0.8928	0.002055	0.6027	0.002789	0.4824
rs2639990	0.004213	0.4671	0.003025	0.6163	0.003598	0.5553
logPP						
rs114694170	0.02169	0.1799	0.03011	0.0877	0.02892	0.1044
rs6921438	-0.00429	0.4814	-0.00136	0.8342	-0.00166	0.7989
rs1740073	0.008354	0.1826	0.008206	0.2063	0.007979	0.223
rs4416670	-0.01232	0.03026	-0.01075	0.07144	-0.0104	0.08316
rs6993770	-0.0003	0.9623	-0.00313	0.6417	-0.0031	0.6466
rs7043199	-0.00119	0.8798	0.002393	0.77	0.001466	0.859
rs10738760	-0.0021	0.7244	-0.00156	0.8026	-0.00142	0.8201
rs2375981	-0.00033	0.9559	-0.00017	0.9786	$9.90 imes 10^{-5}$	0.9875
rs10761741	0.005041	0.4081	0.000931	0.8832	0.000839	0.8954
rs4782371	-0.00663	0.2943	-0.00846	0.2027	-0.00844	0.2076
rs2639990	-0.00571	0.5596	-0.00865	0.3943	-0.00733	0.4765
logGlucose						
rs114694170	0.01915	0.4259	0.01844	0.488	0.01499	0.5762
rs6921438	-0.00684	0.4689	-0.01078	0.2855	-0.01227	0.2245
rs1740073	0.00942	0.3361	0.007099	0.4879	0.006708	0.5143
rs4416670	0.000832	0.9235	0.000346	0.9698	0.000223	0.9806
rs6993770	-0.01043	0.2856	-0.00569	0.5839	-0.00679	0.5148
rs7043199	0.008424	0.4782	0.008428	0.4973	0.006293	0.6144
rs10738760	0.006866	0.457	0.003822	0.6927	0.002642	0.7852
rs2375981	0.007188	0.445	0.004344	0.6588	0.003512	0.722
rs10761741	0.003465	0.7095	0.004664	0.6322	0.006317	0.5187
rs4782371	-0.01497	0.1213	-0.00968	0.3456	-0.00954	0.3557
rs2639990	-0.00127	0.9336	-0.0042	0.7913	-0.00359	0.8233
logLDL						
rs114694170	-0.0082	0.6443	-0.02002	0.3046	-0.02187	0.2661
rs6921438	-0.00502	0.4711	-0.00418	0.573	-0.00419	0.5718
rs1740073	0.000988	0.8914	-0.00091	0.9035	-0.0022	0.7704
rs4416670	0.001987	0.7558	0.006226	0.3529	0.006893	0.3039
rs6993770	-0.00281	0.6968	-0.00581	0.4461	-0.00551	0.4718
rs7043199	0.006725	0.4431	0.006013	0.5094	0.005337	0.5605
rs10738760	-0.01029	0.1306	-0.01186	0.09438	-0.01145	0.1071
rs2375981	-0.01274	0.06626	-0.01425	0.04787	-0.01372	0.05769
rs10761741	-0.00519	0.4493	-0.00794	0.2667	-0.0091	0.2047
rs4782371	0.01135	0.1115	0.007783	0.3015	0.008257	0.2758
rs2639990	-0.00388	0.7136	-0.00713	0.517	-0.00744	0.5042

 Table 3. Cont.

	Moc	lel 1	Mod	lel 2	Mod	Model 3	
	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	Beta	<i>p</i> -Value	
logHDL							
rs114694170	0.001151	0.9449	-0.00031	0.9867	-0.00111	0.9524	
rs6921438	0.002231	0.7332	0.00056	0.9363	-0.00014	0.9837	
rs1740073	0.002099	0.7572	0.005597	0.4303	0.00606	0.3951	
rs4416670	0.002402	0.6887	0.000127	0.984	-0.00021	0.9737	
rs6993770	0.01151	0.08893	0.0148	0.03953	0.01427	0.04781	
rs7043199	-0.00711	0.3875	-0.00429	0.6186	-0.00585	0.4992	
rs10738760	0.01409	0.02729	0.01249	0.06206	0.01223	0.06815	
rs2375981	0.01261	0.05275	0.01139	0.09454	0.01129	0.09822	
rs10761741	-0.01029	0.1098	-0.01098	0.1037	-0.00975	0.15	
rs4782371	-0.00762	0.2552	-0.0072	0.3117	-0.0068	0.3417	
rs2639990	-0.00388	0.7136	-0.00713	0.517	-0.00744	0.5042	
logCRP							
rs114694170	-0.0379	0.6541	-0.04237	0.6554	-0.03521	0.711	
rs6921438	-0.0418	0.1947	-0.04414	0.2017	-0.04039	0.241	
rs1740073	-0.00433	0.8972	-0.0181	0.606	-0.02466	0.482	
rs4416670	-0.0194	0.511	-0.01528	0.6242	-0.0162	0.6012	
rs6993770	-0.01718	0.6107	-0.00339	0.9251	-0.0048	0.8941	
rs7043199	0.02666	0.5029	0.003378	0.9353	0.000455	0.9913	
rs10738760	0.02319	0.4658	0.02242	0.5016	0.02371	0.4762	
rs2375981	0.02867	0.3747	0.02603	0.441	0.02572	0.4462	
rs10761741	0.0237	0.4588	0.01415	0.6735	0.01207	0.7179	
rs4782371	-0.04092	0.2165	-0.03658	0.3002	-0.03689	0.2958	
rs2639990	-0.05523	0.2803	-0.05647	0.2884	-0.05193	0.3325	

Table 3. Cont.

Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex, Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex and exercise, Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, exercise and dietary patterns. BMI: Body Mass Index, SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure, DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure, PP: Pulse Pressure, LDL: Low-density cholesterol, HDL: High-density cholesterol, CRP: C-reactive protein.

3.3. Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS and the Cardiometabolic Indices

In the effort to examine the potential effect of uGRS in the formation of the investigated indices, we separated the 9-SNP uGRS into the two categories of "low" and "high" risk based on the sample median, where logBMI displayed statistically significant differences between the two groups (Figure 1), with individuals in the higher category presenting greater logBMI (*p*-value < 0.05), indicating that higher risk for increased VEGF-A levels is also associated with elevated logBMI. People in the higher percentile of uGRS also presented statistically significantly higher values of logSBP compared to the ones in the lower group (*p*-value < 0.05), also denoting that elevated risk for increased VEGF-A levels is further associated with increased logSBP. To boot, individuals with higher versus lower uGRS did display statistically significantly lower levels of logHDL (*p*-value < 0.05), highlighting an inverse association between increased risk for VEGF-A and levels of logHDL.



Figure 1. Cont.

n O

<u></u>

0 0

<u>ب</u>

logHDL 1.7





(C)

Figure 1. Violin plots depicting the distribution of (**A**) logBMI, (**B**) logSBP and (**C**) logHDL between the two groups of the 9-SNP VEGF-A unweighted GRS (low versus high), separated by the sample median (*p*-values < 0.05).

Furthermore, the creation of the 9-SNP uGRS was followed by association testing for all cardiometabolic indices explored via linear regressions after adjusting for age and sex (Model 1), age, sex and exercise (Model 2) and age, sex, exercise and dietary patterns (Model 3). Similar to the results deriving from the within-group comparisons and as shown in Table 4, significant associations were observed between higher uGRS values and increased levels of logBMI across all models (Model 1: $\beta = 0.0044$, *p*-value = 0.003, Model 2: $\beta = 0.0043$, *p*-value = 0.005, Model 3: $\beta = 0.004$, *p*-value = 0.009). Additionally, a statistically significant, positive association was also observed between the uGRS and logSBP, again after adjusting for all models (Model 1: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.03, Model 2: $\beta = 0.019$, *p*-value = 0.047, Model 3: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.037). The score was further negatively associated with logHDL levels after adjustment for age and sex (Model 1: $\beta = -0.005$, *p*-value = 0.032), an association which was not maintained after correcting for the additional confounders (exercise and dietary patterns).

		Model 1			Model 2			Model 3	
	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value
logBMI 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.004445	0.001494	0.00305	0.004349	0.001553	0.005277	0.0040937	0.0015678	0.009281
logTriglycerides 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.005892	0.003854	0.127	0.004260	0.003915	0.2771	0.004650	0.003994	0.2450
logCholesterol 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	-0.0001979	0.0017479	0.90992	-0.000716	0.001859	0.70024	-0.0007685	0.0018917	0.68474
logSBP 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.002006	0.000924	0.0303	0.0019840	0.0009974	0.047203	0.0020983	0.0010045	0.037205
logDBP 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.001891	0.001351	0.161963	0.002211	0.001441	0.12569	0.002365	0.001455	0.10458
LogPP 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.002425	0.002268	0.2854	0.001599	0.002413	0.50779	0.0015523	0.0024439	0.52558
LogGlucose 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.0009057	0.0036448	0.804	0.001952	0.003840	0.611	0.0028415	0.0038989	0.4665
logLDL 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.003038	0.002688	0.2589	0.002300	0.002818	0.4148	0.001733	0.002863	0.5454
LogHDL 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	-0.005336	0.002493	0.03279	-0.004999	0.002631	0.05812	-0.004455	0.002673	0.09630
LogCRP 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A	0.001437	0.012397	0.90778	-0.0001663	0.0131008	0.98988	-0.001631	0.013250	0.90207

Table 4. Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS and selected cardiometabolic indices in the TEENAGE cohort.

Model 1: Adjusted for age and sex, Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex and exercise, Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, exercise and dietary patterns. BMI: Body Mass Index; SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure; PP: Pulse Pressure; LDL: Low-density cholesterol; HDL: High-density cholesterol; CRP: C-reactive protein; SE: Standard Error.

3.4. Interactions between the uGRS and Dietary Patterns

After calculating the 9-SNP uGRS, we carried on to examine the potential associations between the cardiometabolic indices and their interactions with the five previously extracted patterns of food choices in the teenagers, namely the "Western Breakfast", the "Legumes and Good Fat", the "Homemade Meal", the "Chickens and Sugars", and the "Eggs and Fibers" patterns [19]. Table 5 shows the multivariate linear regressions carried out for each examined index and the interaction between the uGRS and each of the dietary patterns after adjusting for age, sex, uGRS and each dietary pattern (Model 1) and age, sex, and exercise. uGRS and each dietary pattern (Model 2).

Table 5. Associations between the 9-SNP uGRS for VEGF-A and dietary patterns in the TEENAGE cohort.

	Model 1 *			Model 2 *			
-	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	
logBMI uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	0.0006259 0.0004362 -0.001836 -0.001955 -0.000687	0.0016544 0.0014115 0.001302 0.001442 0.001204	0.70532 0.75742 0.15906 0.17566 0.56840	0.0009623 -0.0002951 -0.001894 -0.001508 0.0004325	0.0016699 0.0015027 0.001326 0.001577 0.0014616	0.564684 0.844375 0.153652 0.339236 0.767393	
logTriglycerides uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.003976 -0.003084 -0.0003673 -0.000562 0.0004714	0.004121 0.003643 0.0031521 0.003527 0.0029163	0.335 0.398 0.907 0.873 0.872	$\begin{array}{c} -0.003394 \\ -0.002993 \\ -0.0004249 \\ 0.000446 \\ -8.952 \times 10^{-7} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.004147\\ 0.003701\\ 0.0031042\\ 0.003723\\ 3.645\times10^{-3} \end{array}$	0.4135 0.4192 0.8912 0.9047 0.9998	
logCholesterol uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	$\begin{array}{c} -0.0003120\\ 4.399\times 10^{-4}\\ 0.0022544\\ 0.0005882\\ -0.0024429\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0018673\\ 1.654\times10^{-3}\\ 0.0014247\\ 0.0015997\\ 0.0013171 \end{array}$	0.86737 0.79038 0.11421 0.71324 0.064231	-0.0003595 0.0006190 0.0024594 0.0011419 -0.0035654	0.0019652 0.0017604 0.0014679 0.0017668 0.0017221	0.85495 0.72529 0.09455 0.51840 0.0390	
logSBP uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	0.0019835 0.0009800 0.0004048 0.0003776 0.0011855	0.0010171 0.0008694 0.0008249 0.0008987 0.0007341	0.05164 0.2601 0.6238 0.6745 0.1068	0.0021791 0.001112 -0.0006534 0.0003459 -0.0018073	0.0010716 0.000966 0.0008508 0.0010081 0.0009354	0.042500 0.250296 0.442827 0.731659 0.053889	
logDBP uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0060753\\ 0.0009039\\ -0.0008981\\ 1.822\times10^{-5}\\ 0.0001876\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0014736\\ 0.0012713\\ 0.0012064\\ 1.316\times10^{-3}\\ 0.0010752 \end{array}$	$4.28 imes 10^{-5}$ 0.477344 0.45691 0.988960 0.86156	0.005687 0.001483 -0.001097 0.001229 -0.0009524	0.001537 0.001396 0.001229 0.001457 0.0013559	0.000239 0.28856 0.37234 0.39932 0.48273	
logPP uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.004375 0.0006745 0.0001585 0.0006736 -0.003235	0.002501 0.0021355 0.0020281 0.0022094 0.001801	0.08081 0.75221 0.93772 0.76055 0.07296	$\begin{array}{c} -0.003179\\ 0.0001765\\ -5.986\times10^{-5}\\ -0.001662\\ -0.002587\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.002602\\ 0.0023393\\ 2.067\times10^{-3}\\ 0.002442\\ 0.002269\end{array}$	0.22237 0.93989 0.97691 0.49637 0.2548	
logGlucose uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	$\begin{array}{c} -0.0002371\\ -0.004075\\ -0.0035228\\ 0.003550\\ 5.869\times10^{-3}\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0038992\\ 0.003441\\ 0.0029773\\ 0.003317\\ 2.745\times10^{-3}\end{array}$	0.952 0.237 0.237 0.285 0.0330	-0.0006882 -0.002575 -0.003946 0.003922 0.008830	0.0040671 0.003628 0.003039 0.003634 0.003550	0.866 0.478 0.195 0.281 0.0132	
logLDL uGRS*Western Breakfast uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat uGRS*Homemade Meal uGRS*Chicken and Sugars uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.0003845 0.001102 0.002229 0.0024563 -0.004027	0.0028733 0.002545 0.002194 0.0024563 0.002024	0.8936 0.6652 0.3103 0.9468 0.0472	-0.0008217 0.001857 0.002617 0.0008795 -0.005950	0.0029791 0.002669 0.002230 0.0026757 0.002606	0.7828 0.4870 0.2412 0.7425 0.0229	

		26 1 1 4 4			Nr 110*		
_		Model 1 *		Model 2 *			
	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	Estimate	SE	<i>p</i> -Value	
logHDL							
uGRS*Western Breakfast	0.0007058	0.0026675	0.79145	0.001002	0.002789	0.71958	
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.0004628	0.0023529	0.84413	$-7.341 imes 10^{-5}$	$2.485 imes10^{-3}$	0.97644	
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.003719	0.002032	0.06787	0.003693	0.002080	0.07649	
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.001880	0.002275	0.40903	0.002321	0.002496	0.3529	
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.0003372	0.0018861	0.85819	-0.0007087	0.0024472	0.77227	
logCRP							
uGRS*Western Breakfast	-0.009797	0.013082	0.45430	-0.0072781	0.0136345	0.59379	
uGRS*Legumes and Good Fat	0.002883	0.011393	0.80035	-0.0031947	0.0119986	0.79019	
uGRS*Homemade Meal	0.010795	0.009823	0.27239	0.011024	0.010010	0.27144	
uGRS*Chicken and Sugars	0.004140	0.010979	0.70632	-0.0006592	0.0120081	0.95625	
uGRS*Eggs and Fibers	-0.006220	0.008995	0.48963	0.0010038	0.011644	0.93135	

* Model 1: Adjusted for age, sex, uGRS and each dietary pattern, Model 2: Adjusted for age, sex, and exercise. uGRS and each dietary pattern. BMI: Body Mass Index; SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure; PP: Pulse Pressure; LDL: Low-density cholesterol; HDL: High-density cholesterol; CRP: C-reactive protein; SE: Standard Error.

As shown in the table, after evaluation based on the adjusted threshold (p = 0.01), the interaction between the uGRS and the "Western Breakfast" was associated with higher levels of logDBP (Model 1: $\beta = 0.0060$, p-value = 4.28×10^{-5} , Model 2: $\beta = 0.00568$, p-value = 0.000239), suggesting that increased risk for high VEGF-A and adherence to a western-diet-like pattern is associated with elevated logDBP. A different nominally statistically significant, positive association was found for the interaction between the uGRS and consumption of the "Eggs and Fibers" pattern and increased levels of logGlucose after adjusting for age, sex, and exercise (Model 2: $\beta = 0.00883$, p-value = 0.0132), potentially indicating that elevated risk for increased VEGF-A and increased consumption of fiber-rich foods or eggs is associated with increased levels of logGlucose.

4. Discussion

Table 5. Cont.

The present study sought to conduct the first-ever attempt to investigate the role of VEGF-A-related variants on adolescent cardiometabolic profile, as well as their potential interplay with dietary habits. In this population of Greek teenagers, two VEGF-A-related SNPs, namely the rs7043199 and the rs4416670 variants, presented significant relations with blood pressure indices. Moreover, the 9-SNP uGRS constructed out of risk variants for higher VEGF-A levels was associated with higher levels of logBMI and logSBP but lower levels of logHDL. Furthermore, the exploration of associations between the uGRS and the teenagers' dietary patterns revealed a significant relationship between the adherence to the "Western Breakfast" pattern and higher logDBP, as well as a nominal association for the "Eggs and Fibers" pattern and higher logGlucose.

In our sample, the negatively associated with VEGF-A levels C allele of the rs4416670 SNP was also negatively associated with logSBP levels. Debette et Visvikis-Siest et al. previously showed a positive relationship between the allele and increased pulse pressure in a healthy population [10]; this could potentially be attributed to the relationship between lower levels of SBP, which would subsequently signify greater values of pulse pressure. On the contrary, the A allele of the rs7043199 variant, which was previously negatively associated with VEGF-A [10,11], was hereby linked with higher levels of logSBP and logDBP. Although not as statistically strong (p-value = 0.004), this observed effect could possibly be attributed to the yet-to-be-fully elucidated pleiotropic influence of the variant, the role of which has been previously investigated for overall risk for other disorders related to cardiometabolic profile, namely ischemic heart disease [27] and osteoporosis [28].

To the best of our knowledge, VEGF-A has not been extensively and exclusively examined in adolescents, and the present constitutes the first attempt to construct a uGRS for teenagers using VEGF-A-associated variants. The present 9-SNP uGRS was linked to higher levels of logSBP (Model 1: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.03, Model 2: $\beta = 0.019$, *p*-value = 0.047, Model 3: $\beta = 0.002$, *p*-value = 0.037) and individuals with high GRS presented greater values compared to the ones with low GRS (*p*-value = 0.027), showing that increased genetic predisposition to higher levels of VEGF-A is associated with higher blood pressure in adolescents. This finding is aligned with the well-known relationship between VEGF-A and hypertension, as the current literature has shown that the inhibition of VEGF-A receptors signifies higher levels of circulating VEGF-A, which have, in turn, been associated with a greater risk for hypertension [29–31]. In a similar manner and supporting the reciprocal relationship between the VEGF family and hypertension, Zorena et al. showed that adolescents with type 1 diabetes and hypertension displayed greater levels of VEGF compared to healthy individuals or patients with type 1 diabetes but without hypertension [32].

Although this is an overall healthy population with most adolescents presenting normal weight, the accumulating effect of the nine examined SNPs from Choi et al. displayed a statistically significant, positive association with higher logBMI values. In addition to the already underlined positive relationship between VEGF-B and VEGF-C levels and obesity presence [33,34], the current literature further highlights the role of VEGF-A in obesity control [2,35,36]. In the presence of obesity and fat cell proliferation, VEGF-A expression increases as it participates in angiogenesis, cell differentiation and thermogenesis in the white and brown adipose tissues. In this context, VEGF-A contributes to the subsequent increase in energy expenditure and attempts to suppress further diet-induced increase and ameliorate insulin resistance in a compensatory effect [2,35,36]. However, as the increase in adipocytes progresses, VEGF-A is produced more, and angiogenesis is further promoted in the white adipose tissue, thus allowing for further obesity establishment. This cascade of events creates a reciprocal circle where obesity presence induces VEGF-A expression and vice versa. For that reason, the effect of VEGF-A on increased weight can be described as reciprocal and context-dependent, being mainly influenced by the potential pre-existence of increased body weight [1,35]. Hereby, the positive association between the uGRS and logBMI was steadily maintained after adjustments for all three models of confounding factors (Model 1: $\beta = 0.0044$, *p*-value = 0.003, Model 2: $\beta = 0.0043$, *p*-value = 0.005, Model 3: $\beta = 0.004$, *p*-value = 0.009) and adolescents with high versus low genetic risk also presented higher values of logBMI, suggesting an aggravating effect in BMI as a genetic risk for higher VEGF-A increases. In a similar context to the present, Novikova et al. showed that compared to individuals of normal weight, adolescents with obesity presented a 12-fold increase in corresponding VEGF-A levels [37]. To boot, Loebig et al. showed a similar positive association in healthy young men (aged 18–30 years old) under normal blood sugar conditions, where higher levels of VEGF-A were consistently associated with increased weight [38]. VEGF-A was also related to abdominal obesity in a sample of young individuals, as demonstrated by Guzman-Guzman et al. when investigating relations with parameters of the metabolic syndrome [39]. Our present findings show that increased predisposition to higher levels of VEGF-A is related to higher BMI; however, according to the aforementioned, it should be noted that the reciprocity of the relationship remains significant, as increased VEGF-A levels can generally be observed due to increased BMI, thus potentially aggravating the positive predisposing genetic effect.

Another significant relation was observed between the uGRS and lower levels of logHDL (Model 1: $\beta = 0.005$, *p*-value = 0.032). Although this association was not maintained after correction for multiple confounding factors, when looking at individuals with higher versus lower genetic risk for increased VEGF-A, the former did present lower values of logHDL. When looking into potential associations between VEGF-A variants and HDL, both Debette et Visvikis-Siest and Stathopoulou et al. showed that the negatively associated with VEGF-A A allele of rs6921438 SNP was related to lower HDL levels in healthy populations [10,12]. The present finding denoting a positive association between increased VEGF-A and lower HDL levels can, thus, potentially be explained by the general overview of the role of elevated VEGF-A in worse lipidemic profile, rather than the direct effect of VEGF-A on HDL per se [40].

Furthermore, taking the biomarker's role in metabolism into account [2,6,7], we further attempted to unravel the meaning of the interplay between genetic predisposition for higher VEGF-A levels and multiple cardiometabolic indices by examining the potentially modifying role of dietary habits. In our sample, the interaction between the uGRS and the consumption of the "Western Breakfast" was associated with higher levels of logDBP (Model 1: $\beta = 0.0060$, *p*-value = 4.28×10^{-5} , Model 2: $\beta = 0.00568$, *p*-value = 0.000239). This finding can be explained by the fact that the "Western Breakfast" pattern consists of food groups with high-fat content, namely cheese, dairy and processed meat [19], which have already been shown to associate with increased blood pressure in the literature [41]. Hojhabrimanesh et al. showed similar significant associations between a "Western" dietary pattern and overall and systolic blood pressure in Iranian adolescents, as well as a positive but not statistically significant association for diastolic pressure [42]. Although the pattern was not unilaterally associated with blood pressure measurements in our team's previous analyses [19], and an increased predisposition to higher VEGF-A appears to bring its aggravating effect to the forefront and vice versa. This could be partly attributed to the positive effect of the Western diet and red meat-derived protein, which has been previously shown to elevate VEGF-A expression among patients with breast cancer [43].

Furthermore, although the 9-SNP uGRS was not alone associated with glucose in our sample, it did present a nominally significant interaction with the protein-rich "Eggs and Fibers" dietary pattern (consisting of non-refined cereals, vegetables and eggs) in increasing logGlucose levels (Model 2: $\beta = 0.00883$, *p*-value = 0.0132). The involvement of VEGF-A in glucose homeostasis is well-known [8], as low levels of the biomarker are linked to insulin resistance, while its overexpression is associated with impaired insulin production and increased glucose levels [2,8]. Consequently, research in adolescent cohorts to date mainly surrounds diabetic individuals or related complications [30,44] and has yet to yield significant results in healthy populations. Although fiber intake is generally regarded as having protective effects in the production of inflammatory biomarkers [45], the present finding could possibly refer to the reciprocal effect of dietary carbohydrate and protein intake on aggravating the genetic risk for VEGF-A levels and subsequent influence the elevated glucose levels.

Moreover, similar gene-diet interactions have also been explored in individuals with metabolic syndrome in studies examining target SNPs for VEGF-A rather than using a holistic genetic risk score approach. Ghazizadeh et al. showed that individuals with the AA genotype for the rs10738760 variant, which was also included in the present uGRS, and higher adherence to foods with increased sugar and saturated fatty acids, among others, presented a greater risk for metabolic syndrome [16]. It was further demonstrated that the presence of the same A allele can significantly interact with even favorable dietary components (e.g., PUFAs) in ultimately elevating the risk for worse glycemic and lipidemic profile and, thus, metabolic syndrome [16]. Taking it one step further, Chedid et al. showed a significant association between BMI and the rs10738760 polymorphism in decreasing iron levels, an effect shown to be more prominent in individuals with obesity [18]. Finally, a different relation concerned the observed associations between the presence of the 9-SNP-uGRS rs6921438 and rs6993770 included SNPs and micronutrient contents, namely high manganese, low zinc, and low iron intakes in patients with metabolic syndrome [46–48].

The strengths of the present study concern its hypothesis of investigating demonstrated effects of known VEGF-A variants on the cardiometabolic profile of healthy adolescents for the first time. Various associations presented hereby underline the effect of the SNPs in this age group and further highlight the complementary and modifying effect of diet in this vulnerable and crucial for future development life stage. The limitations of the study are summarized as follows: (i) the limited but substantial number of participants compared to larger cohorts examining VEGF-A-related variants; (ii) the overall health status of the population used, which might not have promoted the identification of distinct associations with cardiometabolic risk factors, as for example in the case of patients with obesity or disrupted glucose metabolism and; (iii) the restricted variance of the populations' habits explained by the previously extracted dietary patterns (46.69%) [19].

5. Conclusions

The results from the present study suggest that well-identified VEGF-A-related variants in adults affect the parameters of adolescent cardiometabolic profiles. Our findings highlight the complexity of the mechanisms in which VEGF-A-related variants affect cardiometabolic risk factors both directly but also potentially through pleiotropic effects. Assessment of the role of diet showed that interaction between genetic makeup and dietary habits could significantly influence the variation of glycemic and blood pressure indices in this age group. In this spectrum, our findings promote the enhancement of our understanding of VEGF-A influence and its individual interaction with dietary aspects. We hereby lay the ground for future GWAS studies to be held that include larger adolescent sample sizes, allowing for the establishment of corresponding effect sizes and the subsequent construction of weighted GRSs for VEGF-A in teenagers. The latter would broaden our abilities in evaluating this reciprocal relationship and even allow for the use of the risk scores as tools of individual and clinical utility in assessing the risk for adolescent cardiometabolic disorders.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.K., S.S. and G.V.D.; methodology, M.K., S.S. and G.V.D.; validation, M.K.; formal analysis, M.K. and I.P.K.; investigation, S.S. and G.V.D.; resources, S.S. and G.V.D.; data curation, M.K., I.P.K. and I.G.; writing—original draft preparation, M.K.; writing—review and editing, M.K., I.P.K. and S.S.; visualization, M.K., S.S. and G.V.D.; supervision, S.S. and G.V.D.; project administration, S.S. and G.V.D.; funding acquisition, S.S. and G.V.D. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The TEENAGE study received funding from the European Social Fund-ESF of the European Union and the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF)- Research Funding Program: Heracleitus II through its Operational Program "Education and Lifelong Learning". The present research was financed from the project "La Région Grand Est, France-GUTENBERG chair 2018, grant number 18CP-1413".

Institutional Review Board Statement: The TEENAGE study received approval from the Institutional Review Board of Harokopio University of Athens, as well as the Greek Ministry of Education, Lifelong Learning and Religious Affairs.

Informed Consent Statement: All participants in the TEENAGE study provided verbal consent in combination with their parents' written consent before enrolling in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Access to the study data is available upon request due to participants' privacy and ethical restrictions.

Acknowledgments: This work makes part of the VEGF Consortium (https://www.santoriniconference. org/ accessed on 11 March 2023).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. di Somma, M.; Vliora, M.; Grillo, E.; Castro, B.; Dakou, E.; Schaafsma, W.; Vanparijs, J.; Corsini, M.; Ravelli, C.; Sakellariou, E.; et al. Role of VEGFs in metabolic disorders. *Angiogenesis* **2020**, *23*, 119–130. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Elias, I.; Franckhauser, S.; Bosch, F. New insights into adipose tissue VEGF-A actions in the control of obesity and insulin resistance. *Adipocyte* 2013, 2, 109–112. [CrossRef]
- Abhinand, C.S.; Raju, R.; Soumya, S.J.; Arya, P.S.; Sudhakaran, P.R. VEGF-A/VEGFR2 signaling network in endothelial cells relevant to angiogenesis. J. Cell Commun. Signal. 2016, 10, 347–354. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Guangqi, E.; Cao, Y.; Bhattacharya, S.; Dutta, S.; Wang, E.; Mukhopadhyay, D. Endogenous Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A (VEGF-A) Maintains Endothelial Cell Homeostasis by Regulating VEGF Receptor-2 Transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2012, 287, 3029–3041. [CrossRef]
- Gennari-Moser, C.; Khankin, E.V.; Escher, G.; Burkhard, F.; Frey, B.M.; Karumanchi, S.A.; Frey, F.J.; Mohaupt, M.G. Vascular endothelial growth factor-A and aldosterone: Relevance to normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 2013, *61*, 1111–1117. [CrossRef]

- Pi, X.; Xie, L.; Patterson, C. Emerging Roles of Vascular Endothelium in Metabolic Homeostasis. *Circ. Res.* 2018, 123, 477–494. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhou, Y.; Zhu, X.; Wang, H.; Duan, C.; Cui, H.; Shi, J.; Shi, S.; Yuan, G.; Hu, Y. The Role of VEGF Family in Lipid Metabolism. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 2022, 24, 253–265. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Staels, W.; Heremans, Y.; Heimberg, H.; De Leu, N. VEGF-A and blood vessels: A beta cell perspective. *Diabetologia* **2019**, 62, 1961–1968. [CrossRef]
- 9. Braile, M.; Marcella, S.; Cristinziano, L.; Galdiero, M.R.; Modestino, L.; Ferrara, A.L.; Varricchi, G.; Marone, G.; Loffredo, S. VEGF-A in Cardiomyocytes and Heart Diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21*, 5294. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Debette, S.; Visvikis-Siest, S.; Chen, M.-H.; Ndiaye, N.-C.; Song, C.; Destefano, A.; Safa, R.; Nezhad, M.A.; Sawyer, D.; Marteau, J.-B.; et al. Identification of *cis-* and *trans-*Acting Genetic Variants Explaining Up to Half the Variation in Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Levels. *Circ. Res.* 2011, 109, 554–563. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Choi, S.H.; Ruggiero, D.; Sorice, R.; Song, C.; Nutile, T.; Smith, A.V.; Concas, M.P.; Traglia, M.; Barbieri, C.; Ndiaye, N.C.; et al. Six Novel Loci Associated with Circulating VEGF Levels Identified by a Meta-analysis of Genome-Wide Association Studies. *PLoS Genet.* 2016, 12, e1005874. [CrossRef]
- 12. Stathopoulou, M.G.; Bonnefond, A.; Ndiaye, N.C.; Azimi-Nezhad, M.; El Shamieh, S.; Saleh, A.; Rancier, M.; Siest, G.; Lamont, J.; Fitzgerald, P.; et al. A common variant highly associated with plasma VEGFA levels also contributes to the variation of both LDL-C and HDL-C. *J. Lipid Res.* **2013**, *54*, 535–541. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Petrelis, A.M.; Stathopoulou, M.G.; Kafyra, M.; Murray, H.; Masson, C.; Lamont, J.; Fitzgerald, P.; Dedoussis, G.; Yen, F.T.; Visvikis-Siest, S. VEGF-A-related genetic variants protect against Alzheimer's disease. *Aging* 2022, 14, 2524–2536. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Salami, A.; El Shamieh, S. Association between SNPs of Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Levels, Hypercholesterolemia and Metabolic Syndrome. *Medicina* **2019**, *55*, 464. [CrossRef]
- 15. Kim, Y.R.; Hong, S.-H. The Protective Effects of the VEGF-2578C>A and -1154G>A Polymorphisms Against Hypertension Susceptibility. *Genet. Test. Mol. Biomark.* **2015**, *19*, 476–480. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Ghazizadeh, H.; Esmaeily, H.; Sharifan, P.; Parizadeh, S.M.R.; Ferns, G.A.; Rastegar-Moghaddam, A.; Khedmatgozar, H.; Ghayour-Mobarhan, M.; Avan, A. Interaction between a genetic variant in vascular endothelial growth factor with dietary intakes in association with the main factors of metabolic syndrome. *Gene Rep.* **2020**, *21*, 100813. [CrossRef]
- Hoseini, Z.; Azimi-Nezhad, M.; Ghayour-Mobarhan, M.; Avan, A.; Eslami, S.; Nematy, M.; Mirhafez, S.R.; Ghazavi, H.; Ferns, G.A.; Safarian, M. VEGF gene polymorphism interactions with dietary trace elements intake in determining the risk of metabolic syndrome. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 2018, 120, 1398–1406. [CrossRef]
- 18. Chedid, P.; Salami, A.; Ibrahim, M.; Visvikis-Siest, S.; El Shamieh, S. The association of vascular endothelial growth factor related SNPs and circulating iron levels might depend on body mass index. *Front. Biosci.* **2022**, 27, 27. [CrossRef]
- 19. Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Kumar, S.; Kontoe, M.S.; Masson, C.; Siest, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Dietary Patterns, Blood Pressure and the Glycemic and Lipidemic Profile of Two Teenage, European Populations. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 198. [CrossRef]
- Ntalla, I.; Panoutsopoulou, K.; Vlachou, P.; Southam, L.; Rayner, N.W.; Zeggini, E.; Dedoussis, G.V. Replication of Established Common Genetic Variants for Adult BMI and Childhood Obesity in Greek Adolescents: The TEENAGE Study. *Ann. Hum. Genet.* 2013, 77, 268–274. [CrossRef]
- 21. Ntalla, I.; Yannakoulia, M.; Dedoussis, G.V. An Overweight Preventive Score associates with obesity and glycemic traits. *Metabolism* **2016**, *65*, 81–88. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ntalla, I.; Giannakopoulou, M.; Vlachou, P.; Giannitsopoulou, K.; Gkesou, V.; Makridi, C.; Marougka, M.; Mikou, G.; Ntaoutidou, K.; Prountzou, E.; et al. Body composition and eating behaviours in relation to dieting involvement in a sample of urban Greek adolescents from the TEENAGE (TEENs of Attica: Genes & Environment) study. *Public Health Nutr.* 2014, 17, 561–568. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Yannakoulia, M.; Ntalla, I.; Papoutsakis, C.; Farmaki, A.-E.; Dedoussis, G.V. Consumption of Vegetables, Cooked Meals, and Eating Dinner is Negatively Associated with Overweight Status in Children. *J. Pediatr.* **2010**, *157*, 815–820. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. McCarthy, S.; Das, S.; Kretzschmar, W.; Delaneau, O.; Wood, A.R.; Teumer, A.; Kang, H.M.; Fuchsberger, C.; Danecek, P.; Sharp, K.; et al. A reference panel of 64,976 haplotypes for genotype imputation. *Nat. Genet.* **2016**, *48*, 1279–1283. [CrossRef]
- 25. Ihaka, R.; Gentleman, R. R: A Language for Data Analysis and Graphics. J. Comput. Graph. Stat. 1996, 5, 299–314. [CrossRef]
- Purcell, S.; Neale, B.; Todd-Brown, K.; Thomas, L.; Ferreira, M.A.R.; Bender, D.; Maller, J.; Sklar, P.; de Bakker, P.I.W.; Daly, M.J.; et al. PLINK: A Tool Set for Whole-Genome Association and Population-Based Linkage Analyses. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 2007, *81*, 559–575. [CrossRef]
- 27. Yeung, S.L.A.; Lam, H.S.H.S.; Schooling, C.M. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Ischemic Heart Disease Risk: A Mendelian Randomization Study. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2017, 6, e005619. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Keller-Baruch, J.; Forgetta, V.; Manousaki, D.; Zhou, S.; Richards, J.B. Genetically Decreased Circulating Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Osteoporosis Outcomes: A Mendelian Randomization Study. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2020, 35, 649–656. [CrossRef]
- 29. Robinson, E.S.; Khankin, E.V.; Karumanchi, S.A.; Humphreys, B.D. Hypertension Induced by Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathway Inhibition: Mechanisms and Potential Use as a Biomarker. *Semin. Nephrol.* **2010**, *30*, 591–601. [CrossRef]

- Pandey, A.K.; Singhi, E.K.; Arroyo, J.P.; Ikizler, T.A.; Gould, E.R.; Brown, J.; Beckman, J.A.; Harrison, D.G.; Moslehi, J. Mechanisms of VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) Inhibitor–Associated Hypertension and Vascular Disease. *Hypertension* 2018, 71, e1–e8. [CrossRef]
- Mäki-Petäjä, K.M.; McGeoch, A.; Yang, L.L.; Hubsch, A.; McEniery, C.M.; Meyer, P.A.; Mir, F.; Gajendragadkar, P.; Ramenatte, N.; Anandappa, G.; et al. Mechanisms Underlying Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor Inhibition-Induced Hypertension: The HYPAZ Trial. *Hypertension* 2021, 77, 1591–1599. [CrossRef]
- Zorena, K.; Myśliwska, J.; Myśliwiec, M.; Rybarczyk-Kapturska, K.; Malinowska, E.; Wiśniewski, P.; Raczyńska, K. Association between vascular endothelial growth factor and hypertension in children and adolescents type I diabetes mellitus. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 2010, 24, 755–762. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zafar, M.I.; Mills, K.; Ye, X.; Blakely, B.; Min, J.; Kong, W.; Zhang, N.; Gou, L.; Regmi, A.; Hu, S.Q.; et al. Association between the expression of vascular endothelial growth factors and metabolic syndrome or its components: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetol. Metab. Syndr.* 2018, 10, 62. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Mazidi, M.; Rezaie, P.; Kengne, A.; Stathopoulou, M.G.; Azimi-Nezhad, M.; Siest, S. VEGF, the underlying factor for metabolic syndrome; fact or fiction? *Diabetes Metab. Syndr.* 2017, *11* (Suppl. S1), S61–S64. [CrossRef]
- Herold, J.; Kalucka, J. Angiogenesis in Adipose Tissue: The Interplay Between Adipose and Endothelial Cells. *Front. Physiol.* 2021, 11, 624903. [CrossRef]
- 36. Sun, K.; Asterholm, I.W.; Kusminski, C.M.; Bueno, A.C.; Wang, Z.V.; Pollard, J.W.; Brekken, R.A.; Scherer, P.E. Dichotomous effects of VEGF-A on adipose tissue dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2012**, *109*, 5874–5879. [CrossRef]
- Novikova, V.; Gritsinskaya, V.; Petrenko, Y.V.; Gurova, M.; Gurina, O.; Varlamova, O.; Blinov, A.; Strukov, E.; Smirnova, N.; Kuprienko, N.; et al. Level of erythropoietin, sVCAM-1 and VEGF in blood of obese adolescents. *Abstracts* 2021, 106, A87–A88. [CrossRef]
- Loebig, M.; Klement, J.; Schmoller, A.; Betz, S.; Heuck, N.; Schweiger, U.; Peters, A.; Schultes, B.; Oltmanns, K.M. Evidence for a Relationship between VEGF and BMI Independent of Insulin Sensitivity by Glucose Clamp Procedure in a Homogenous Group Healthy Young Men. *PLoS ONE* 2010, *5*, e12610. [CrossRef]
- Guzmán-Guzmán, I.P.; Zaragoza-García, O.; Vences-Velázquez, A.; Castro-Alarcón, N.; Muñoz-Valle, J.F.; Parra-Rojas, I. Concentraciones circulantes de MCP-1, VEGF-A, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, sE-selectina y sVE-cadherina: Su relación con componentes del síndrome metabólico en población joven [Circulating levels of MCP-1, VEGF-A, sICAM-1, sVCAM-1, sE-selectin and sVE-cadherin: Relationship with components of metabolic syndrome in young population]. *Med. Clin.* 2016, 147, 427–434. [CrossRef]
- 40. Dabravolski, S.A.; Khotina, V.A.; Omelchenko, A.V.; Kalmykov, V.A.; Orekhov, A.N. The Role of the VEGF Family in Atherosclerosis Development and Its Potential as Treatment Targets. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2022**, *23*, 931. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schwingshackl, L.; Schwedhelm, C.; Hoffmann, G.; Knüppel, S.; Iqbal, K.; Andriolo, V.; Bechthold, A.; Schlesinger, S.; Boeing, H. Food Groups and Risk of Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. *Adv. Nutr. Int. Rev. J.* 2017, *8*, 793–803, Correction in *Adv Nutr.* 2018, *9*, 163–164. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hojhabrimanesh, A.; Akhlaghi, M.; Rahmani, E.; Amanat, S.; Atefi, M.; Najafi, M.; Hashemzadeh, M.; Salehi, S.; Faghih, S.; Akhlaghi, M. A Western dietary pattern is associated with higher blood pressure in Iranian adolescents. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 2017, 56, 399–408. [CrossRef]
- Shokri, A.; Pirouzpanah, S.; Foroutan-Ghaznavi, M.; Montazeri, V.; Fakhrjou, A.; Nozad-Charoudeh, H.; Tavoosidana, G. Dietary protein sources and tumoral overexpression of RhoA, VEGF-A and VEGFR2 genes among breast cancer patients. *Genes Nutr.* 2019, 14, 22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chiarelli, F.; Spagnoli, A.; Basciani, F.; Tumini, S.; Mezzetti, A.; Cipollone, F.; Cuccurullo, F.; Morgese, G.; Verrotti, A. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in children, adolescents and young adults with Type 1 diabetes mellitus: Relation to glycaemic control and microvascular complications. *Diabet. Med.* 2000, 17, 650–656. [CrossRef]
- 45. Swann, O.G.; Breslin, M.; Kilpatrick, M.; O'Sullivan, T.A.; Mori, T.A.; Beilin, L.J.; Oddy, W.H. Dietary fibre intake and its association with inflammatory markers in adolescents. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2021**, *125*, 329–336. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Lu, C.-W.; Lee, Y.-C.; Kuo, C.-S.; Chiang, C.-H.; Chang, H.-H.; Huang, K.-C. Association of Serum Levels of Zinc, Copper, and Iron with Risk of Metabolic Syndrome. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 548. [CrossRef]
- 47. Wong, M.M.H.; Chan, K.Y.; Lo, K. Manganese Exposure and Metabolic Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients* **2022**, *14*, 825. [CrossRef]
- Ma, J.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, D.; Guo, Y.; Wang, B.; Xu, Y.; Chen, W. Associations between essential metals exposure and metabolic syndrome (MetS): Exploring the mediating role of systemic inflammation in a general Chinese population. *Environ. Int.* 2020, 140, 105802. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.
Appendix E: Scientific Publication on Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index





Article Robust Bioinformatics Approaches Result in the First Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek Adults

Maria Kafyra¹, Ioanna Panagiota Kalafati^{1,2}, Maria Dimitriou^{1,3}, Effimia Grigoriou¹, Alexandros Kokkinos⁴, Loukianos Rallidis⁵, Genovefa Kolovou⁶, Georgios Trovas⁷, Eirini Marouli⁸, Panos Deloukas⁸, Panagiotis Moulos^{9,*} and George V. Dedoussis^{1,10}

- ¹ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Health Science and Education, Harokopio University, 17671 Athens, Greece
- ² Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Physical Education, Sport Science and Dietetics, University of Thessaly, 42132 Trikala, Greece
- ³ Department of Nutritional Science and Dietetics, School of Health Science, University of the Peloponnese, Antikalamos, 24100 Kalamata, Greece
- ⁴ First Department of Propaedeutic and Internal Medicine, Laiko General Hospital, Athens University Medical School, 11527 Athens, Greece
- ⁵ Second Department of Cardiology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Attikon Hospital, 12462 Athens, Greece
- ⁶ Cardiometabolic Center, Metropolitan Hospital, 18547 Piraeus, Greece
- ⁷ Laboratory for the Research of Musculoskeletal System "Th. Garofalidis", School of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, KAT General Hospital, Athinas 10th Str., 14561 Athens, Greece
- ⁸ William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, London EC1M 6BQ, UK
- ⁹ Institute for Fundamental Biomedical Research, Biomedical Sciences Research Center 'Alexander Fleming', 16672 Vari, Greece
- ¹⁰ Genome Analysis, 17671 Athens, Greece
- Correspondence: moulos@fleming.gr

Abstract: Quantifying the role of genetics via construction of polygenic risk scores (PRSs) is deemed a resourceful tool to enable and promote effective obesity prevention strategies. The present paper proposes a novel methodology for PRS extraction and presents the first PRS for body mass index (BMI) in a Greek population. A novel pipeline for PRS derivation was used to analyze genetic data from a unified database of three cohorts of Greek adults. The pipeline spans various steps of the process, from iterative dataset splitting to training and test partitions, calculation of summary statistics and PRS extraction, up to PRS aggregation and stabilization, achieving higher evaluation metrics. Using data from 2185 participants, implementation of the pipeline enabled consecutive repetitions in splitting training and testing samples and resulted in a 343-single nucleotide polymorphism PRS yielding an R² = 0.3241 (beta = 1.011, *p*-value = 4×10^{-193}) for BMI. PRS-included variants displayed a variety of associations with known traits (i.e., blood cell count, gut microbiome, lifestyle parameters). The proposed methodology led to creation of the first-ever PRS for BMI in Greek adults and aims at promoting a facilitating approach to reliable PRS development and integration in healthcare practice.

Keywords: polygenic risk score (PRS); bioinformatics; body mass index (BMI); Greek adults

1. Introduction

According to WHO estimates for 2016, a considerable 49% and 13% of the global adult population presented overweight or obesity, whereas worldwide obesity prevalence has tripled since 1975 [1]. In this context, respective linear predictions dictate that about 50% of the global population will suffer from obesity by 2030 should similar increasing trends continue uninterrupted [2]. Increased body weight and fat accumulation are evidently directly related to elevated cardiometabolic risk and, subsequently, augmented prevalence of chronic diseases related to glycemic and lipidemic profile, such as type 2 diabetes and



Citation: Kafyra, M.; Kalafati, I.P.; Dimitriou, M.; Grigoriou, E.; Kokkinos, A.; Rallidis, L.; Kolovou, G.; Trovas, G.; Marouli, E.; Deloukas, P.; et al. Robust Bioinformatics Approaches Result in the First Polygenic Risk Score for BMI in Greek Adults. *J. Pers. Med.* 2023, *13*, 327. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jpm13020327

Academic Editor: Salvatore Scacco

Received: 23 December 2022 Revised: 29 January 2023 Accepted: 10 February 2023 Published: 14 February 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). cancer [3]. Due to its preventable nature and demand for effective prevention strategies [4], current research focuses on deepening understanding of multifactorial obesity etiology by focusing on the quantified role of genetic predisposition and its reciprocal relation with lifestyle and environmental determinants in populations with various characteristics.

Indeed, aggregation of multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in construction of polygenic risk scores (PRS) is increasingly gaining ground as a practical tool to enable quantification and interpretation of genetic information on phenotypic variance. From identification of the first 97 key BMI-related variants [5] up to creation of multiple BMI-specific PRSs presented in the PGS Catalog database [6], using polygenic predictions is increasingly viewed as a useful tool to assess and explain the relevant attributed obesity variance [7–11]. The advantages of the role of PRS use for disease prevention and augmented accuracy in precision medicine are discussed in the context of potentially increasing both personal and clinical utility [12]. Recent studies show that inclusion of PRS in prediction models for certain disease outcomes, such as cardiovascular disease or cancer, carries similar importance to other contributing factors, namely lipidemic biomarkers or smoking [13–15]. For that reason, future PRS integration in personalized medicine is deemed useful for disease diagnosis, risk prediction and forming contextualized lifestyle recommendations [13].

The current literature highlights the need for an efficient translational approach to integrating PRS use into daily practice, potentially via inclusion in tools predicting disease risk [13]. In an effort to increase validity and straightforward application, various methodologies for PRS creation have been suggested. In the case of examining BMI, such examples refer to conduct of large genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and subsequent inclusion of significant SNPs in the form of a score [11,16], a priori aggregation of literature-based SNPs [9] or even use of other techniques, such as functional data analysis [17]. However, most approaches suggested to date focus on the use of one methodology and do not display increased portability and applicability across populations [18]. The need of improving their constructive parameters is, therefore, deemed central in order to increase PRS validity and wider implementation [12].

Hereby, we introduce the use of a novel, automated and iterative approach for PRS construction using repetitive sample splitting processes, informed decision-making through real-time comparison of different summary statistics' methodologies and aggregation of PRS candidates based on a stabilizing iterative procedure. We present the results of its application in creating the first PRS for BMI in Greek adults using data from a unified database of three separate cohorts. The suggested outlined pipeline constitutes an innovative approach in facilitating PRS construction in a straightforward manner, applicable to cohorts of various sizes and characteristics.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Population

For the purpose of the present analyses, data from three cohorts of Greek adults were used, namely the case-control Greek Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) study [19], the cross-sectional OSTEOS study [20] and the case-control THISEAS (The Hellenic Study of Interactions between Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Eating in Atherosclerosis Susceptibility) [21] study. All studies were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio University of Athens and further required participants' written informed consent prior to enrolment (NALFD protocol number: 38074/13-07-2012, OSTEOS protocol number: 15/8-12-2005, 8/12/2005, THISEAS protocol number: 10/9-6-2004, 14/6/2004).

The detailed protocols of all three studies have been previously described elsewhere [19–23]. Briefly, the NAFLD study recruited adult participants without liver disease/injury and reporting absence of excess alcohol drinking at the time of induction to the study. Volunteers were recruited from the Outpatient Clinics of the First Department of Propaedeutic and Internal Medicine in Laiko General Hospital, during the period 2012 to 2015 [19]. Recruits were further screened for NAFLD through abdominal ultrasound and deemed as controls

in the absence of hepatic steatosis or in the presence of mild-stage, or cases in presence of moderate or severe hepatic steatosis [20]. Concerning the nodes of the OSTEOS study, 970 community-dwelling adults were recruited from rural and urban areas of Greece and assessed for quantitative ultrasound (QUS) parameters of bone health during the 2010–2012 period and in cooperation with the Hellenic Society for the Support of Patients with Osteoporosis and the Laboratory for the Research of Musculoskeletal System "Th. Garofalidis", School of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens [21]. Last, within the THISEAS study, a total of 2565 participants were recruited from three Athenian hospitals, open protection centers and municipalities during the years 2006–2010. Recruits were mainly assessed using coronary angiography information and were categorized as controls if they presented negative coronary findings or a negative stress test or did not report any related clinical symptoms. Volunteers were categorized as cases in the presence of acute coronary syndrome or stable coronary artery disease (> 50% stenosis in $\geq 1/3$ main coronary vessels) [22,23].

2.2. Anthropometric Measurements

Anthropometric characteristics, including body weight and body height, were measured for all three studies. Body weight was measured using the TANITA Segmental Body Composition Analyzer BC-418 and a calibrated scale to the nearest 0.1 kg. Height was calculated to the nearest 0.5 cm using a mounted stadiometer. Participants were barefoot and maintained light clothing and measurements occurred twice and average values were kept as final in all projects. All measurements were conducted by trained professionals. BMI was calculated for all participants via use of the following formula:

$$BMI\left(\frac{kg}{m^2}\right) = Body Weight(kg) / (Body Height)^2 (m^2)$$

Participants in all studies were classified based on BMI values in the categories of underweight (BMI < 18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (18 kg/m² \leq BMI < 25 kg/m²), overweight (25 kg/m² \leq BMI < 30 kg/m²) or obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²). Within-study group differences in BMI were calculated using Kruskal–Wallis tests.

2.3. Genotyping Analyses

For the NAFLD study, DNA samples were isolated using peripheral blood lymphocytes and genotyped via use of the Infinium CoreExome-24 BeadChip, Illumina genomewide SNP array (with 567,218 fixed markers). OSTEOS' DNA samples were isolated from buffy coats and genotyped using the Axiom Precision Medicine Diversity Research Array [with over 850,000 SNPs, insertions, deletions and copy number variations (CNVs)]. DNA samples from the THISEAS study were extracted from whole blood and genotyped using the Illumina Metabochip (with about 200.000 SNPs).

2.4. Preprocessing and Statistical Analysis

2.4.1. Dataset Merging and Genotype Imputation

Prior to joint statistical analysis and PRS derivation, the phenotypic and genotypic data of the three populations were merged. While the phenotypic integration was straightforward and comprised the simple join of the common phenotypes across the three datasets, the following steps were followed for the genotypic data which were converted to PLINK [24] 1.9 BED+BIM+FAM filesets. First, the PLINK filesets from NAFLD and THISEAS were imported into R version 4.2.0. using facilities from the package snpStats, version 1.46.0. Then, the process of merged dataset creation started with identifying the identical SNPs between the two datasets in terms of accession numbers, position and alleles. For the common but non-identical SNPs in terms of alleles, it was checked whether they could be resolved with strand-flipping. Those SNPs that could not be resolved with strand-flipping were not pointing to the same risk allele. This was resolved by querying online resources (Ensembl with the R package biomaRt, version 2.52.0 and dbSNP with

the R package rsnps, version 0.5.0). After the resolution, samples where the risk allele was changed based on online search were subjected to allele switching to maintain proper risk allele copies in the merged dataset. SNPs for which alleles could not be resolved by any means were dropped from the merged dataset. Finally, the SNPs and genotypes unique to each dataset were appended to the common ones to form the final SNP set. The same appending was applied to the samples of each dataset.

As expected, the aforementioned process created many missing genotypes, especially regarding non-common SNPs between the two datasets. To impute them, an iterative imputation approach was followed using facilities from package snpStats. The package includes genotype imputation functions based on linear regression of neighboring SNPs. This process was repeated until no further genotype imputation was possible. For the remaining missing genotypes of the merged dataset, a k-nearest-neighbors-based imputation technique was applied, implemented in the R package scrime, version 1.3.5.

The merging and the imputation process resulted in a merged NAFLD–THISEAS dataset. The OSTEOS dataset was merged with the latter by repeating all the aforementioned steps, resulting in a merged NAFLD–THISEAS-OSTEOS dataset. The final merged dataset was exported to PLINK format using functions from the snpStats package. Next, to enhance the pool of SNPs for PRS derivation, the merged dataset was extended using IMPUTE2 software [25] using the bundled 1000 Genomes Project reference panel. The imputed and extended dataset was re-imported to R for further analysis.

2.4.2. Data Filtering and Summary Statistics

The first filter applied to genotypic data was to exclude poorly imputed genotypes; therefore, SNPs with an IMPUTE2 INFO score less than 0.9 were excluded. Additional genotype and sample filtering was performed using functionalities from the snpStats package. Specifically, SNPs with an SNP call rate < 95% and minor allele frequency (MAF) < 5% and samples with a sample call rate < 90% were excluded from further analysis. The resulting filtered dataset was further subjected to a second round of genotype filtering based on the Hardy–Weinberg (HWE) equilibrium, where SNPs with HWE *p*-value < 10^{-9} were also excluded from further analysis.

After dataset filtering, principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to capture any underlying population stratification not reflected by the confounders used in the subsequent association tests using R package SNPRelate, version 1.30.1. Subsequently, regression models were fitted for each SNP against BMI phenotype using sex, age, NAFLD case/control and cardiovascular disease status along with selected PCs as correction covariates with the purpose of deriving summary statistics for each SNP, namely effects and statistical significance for contribution of each single SNP to the phenotype. The number of PCs was automatically selected using the Tracy–Widom statistic for assessment of the most significant PCs based on their eigen values [26]. Four different algorithms were used for derivation of summary statistics, namely simple General Linear Models (GLM, R version 4.2.0), statgenGWAS version 1.0.8. [27], SNPTEST version 2.5.4 [28] and PLINK.

2.4.3. Derivation of PRS

Several PRS candidates were derived using PRSice2 [29] combined with an iterative process for PRS derivation and validation and based on the merged dataset from the three populations. The PRS was calculated with the default PRSice2 option, which is:

$$PRS = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\beta_i G_i}{N}$$

where β is represents the effect of PRS SNP i, Gi is the genotype coding (0, 1, 2 following PLINK notation, for the number of copies of risk alleles) and N the number of samples in the population. The PRS is reported in the figures of the present articles after applying min–max normalization to scale it to values between 0 and 1.

In each iteration, the following actions were performed: first, the total dataset was split to a training set (source set, 80% of samples) and a testing set (target set, 20% of samples). Then, the source set was used to perform de novo association tests for each SNP with four different methods (GLM, statgenGWAS, SNPTEST, PLINK) against the BMI phenotype. Sex, age, NAFLD status and several automatically selected PCs (varying between 5-12 across multiple iterations), using the Tracy–Widom test, were used as confounders in the regression models underlying each of the four methods, resulting in sets of summary statistics derived with each method. Then, these summary statistics were used along with the target dataset as inputs to PRSice2 for extraction of the optimal number of SNPs that would comprise a candidate PRS for the specific iteration. The aforementioned steps, from data splitting up to PRS synthesis with PRSice2, were repeated 100 times. At each iteration, several performance metrics were collected, among which the statistical significance of the PRS and the percentage of additional variance explained by the PRS (R^2) as returned by PRSice2. At this point, it should be noted that the PRSice2 PRS R² is the difference between the R2 of the "full" model, i.e., a regression model including all the covariates/confounders and the PRS, and the "null" or "reduced" model, i.e., a regression model only with the other covariates without the PRS. The PRS R² values were collected for each iteration, resulting in a baseline distribution that would be used later for assessing the statistical significance of the final PRS.

After completion of PRS derivation iterations, SNPs comprising PRS candidates for each summary statistics method were aggregated and number of appearances (frequency) of each SNP in the 100 iterations was counted considering an SNP to be appearing at least 5 times in order to further proceed to the downstream procedures. Then, for each frequency, a PRS comprising the SNPs appearing equally or above this frequency was assembled with effects averaged over iterations where each SNP appears and evaluated using previously described source/target dataset splits and linear regression, resulting in a series of evaluation metrics, among which also the PRS R2 as described above. This was repeated for all observed frequencies and a distribution of PRS R2 values was created. The PRS R² values were further penalized based on number of SNPs in PRS according to the following formula:

$$R_P^2 = \sqrt{\frac{R_{PRS}^2}{log(N)}}$$

where R_P^2 is the PRS R^2 and N is the number of SNPs in the PRS. Then, a set of pre-final PRS candidates was defined by detecting local maxima in the R_P^2 distribution, reflecting PRSs with high values of R_P^2 . The final PRS was selected based on the highest R_P^2 value. The statistical significance of the aggregated PRS R^2 as well as the R_P^2 was assessed using an empirical bootstrap defined as number of times where the baseline PRS R^2 was greater than the aggregated PRS R^2 divided by number of iterations.

3. Results

3.1. Population Characteristics

The anthropometric characteristics of the unified sample are described in Table 1. Overall, we used available data from 2083 participants, namely 342 participants from the NAFLD study, as well as 791 and 950 participants from the OSTEOS and THISEAS studies, respectively. A total of 841 men and 1242 women were included, with a median age of 53 years (calculated at 2075 participants) and a median BMI of 27.38 kg/m². Within the respective databases, participants presented median BMIs in the spectrum of overweight for all three studies (NAFLD median BMI = 26.5 kg/m², OSTEOS median BMI = 26.91 kg/m² and THISEAS median BMI = 27.81 kg/m²). BMI was not statistically significantly different between the NAFLD and OSTEOS studies but did present a statistically significant difference between the NAFLD and THISEAS as well as the OSTEOS and THISEAS studies (*p* < 0.001 for both pairs). Differences in age were also statistically significant between all studies (*p* < 0.001 for the Kruskal–Wallis test).

		All			NAFLD			OSTEOS		THISEAS		
	All (n = 2075 for age, n = 2083 for BMI)	Men (n = 841)	Women (n = 1234 for age, n = 1242 for BMI)	All (n = 342)	Men (n = 140)	Women (n = 202)	All (n = 783 for age, n = 791 for BMI)	Men (n = 101)	Women (n = 682 for age, n = 690 for BMI)	All (n = 950)	Men (n = 600)	Women (n = 350)
						Med (IQI	R)					
Age BMI (kg/m ²)	53 (18) 27.38 (6.18)	54 (19) 27.68 (5.34)	52 (19) 27.02 (7.10)	47 (18) 26.5 (6.23)	44 (17) 26.8 (4.54)	50 (16) 25.9 (6.98)	50 (18) 26.91 (6.81)	47 (28.5) 26.70 (5.13)	51 (16.25) 26.94 7.01)	59 (19) 27.81 (5.80)	58 (18.75) 27.88 (5.43)	60 (21) 27.77 (6.51)

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of the NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS study populations.

BMI: body mass index, Med: median, IQR: interquartile range.

Differences in BMI levels across the two sexes were statistically significant in the overall sample (*p*-value < 2.2×10^{-16}), with men presenting higher values. Among the overall sample, 614 participants presented BMI in the range of 18.5–24.99 kg/m² (31.43% men, 68.56% women), whereas 875 and 579 participants presented overweight and obesity, respectively (Table 2). Most participants presenting overweight or obesity were in the THISEAS study (n = 730).

Table 2. Frequencies of BMI categories across the three studies.

	BMI < 18.5 kg/m ²			$18.5~kg/m^2 \leq BMI < 25~kg/m^2$			$25~kg/m^2 \leq BMI < 30~kg/m^2$			$BMI \geq 30 \; kg/m^2$		
	All	Men	Women	All	Men	Women	All	Men	Women	All	Men	Women
All	15	0	15	614	193	421	875	405	470	579	243	336
NAFLD	3	0	3	117	36	81	141	74	67	81	30	51
OSTEOS	10	0	10	279	34	245	300	43	257	202	24	178
THISEAS	2	0	2	218	123	95	434	288	146	296	189	107

BMI: body mass index.

Regarding genotypic data, after imputation of IMPUTE2 with data from 1000 genomes project as a reference panel, a total of 24,307,245 variations were made available. Subsequently, variants with imputation confidence (INFO score returned by IMPUTE2) less than 0.9, structural and copy-number variations were excluded from further analysis. All downstream analyses were based only on known variants (i.e., variants recorded in dbSNP). This process led to 1,454,104 variants interrogated for PRS candidates. With respect to samples, 1970 (94.6%) had complete phenotypic records for covariates interrogated in regression models and included in further analyses.

3.2. Summary Statistics for PRS Derivation

Summary statistics for the merged dataset were calculated with BMI phenotype as a response variable and using the extended (imputed based on the 1000 genomes external reference panel) and further filtered genotypic dataset. In order to properly estimate the effects of individual SNPs that potentially contributed to the BMI phenotype in the unified dataset, we applied four different frameworks for summary statistics estimation, namely a simple generalized linear model (GLM) as implemented in the R statistical language, the regression algorithm implemented in the R package statgen GWAS as well as the SNPTEST software and the more generalized PLINK framework. In all cases, the sex, age, NAFLD status and cardiovascular disease status of individuals were incorporated in the regression models as confounders, along with several automatically selected principal components to capture potential underlying population stratifications not reflected by the other confounders. The four sets of summary statistics were used as input to PRSice2 along with the target samples in an iterative PRS derivation procedure, as described in Materials and Methods. To evaluate the performance of each summary statistics estimation method, we used the PRS R^2 metric returned by PRSice2, which measures percentage of BMI variability explained by the PRS in the regression models. The PRS R^2 values for each method were averaged over 100 PRS derivation iterations (Supplementary Figure S1) and the method that yielded the highest PRS R2 was selected to provide the summary statistics for final PRS derivation. In our case, SNPTEST yielded the highest average

PRS R² (0.012 \pm 0.006, pmin = 0.0002, pmedian = 0.0375, pmax = 0.3194), followed by GLM (0.011 \pm 0.006, pmin = 0.0003, pmedian = 0.0697, pmax = 0.4251) and statgenGWAS (0.010 \pm 0.006, pmin = 0.0005, pmedian = 0.0718, pmax = 0.3579). PLINK yielded the lowest average PRS R² values but with the smallest variability across 100 iterations (0.009 \pm 0.004, pmin = 0.0002, pmedian = 0.0802, pmax = 0.5282).

3.3. Selection of a PRS

After completion of 100 PRS derivation iterations, we assessed the stability of the extracted PRSs (Supplementary Figure S2). We observed that, in our case, PRS extraction process was highly dependent on source (training) dataset summary statistics. As a result, the SNP content of each PRS greatly varied between iterations, therefore affecting the performance of the latter and its contribution in explaining BMI. In order to mitigate the observed PRS instability, the 100 different SNP sets comprising the 100 different PRSs returned by PRSice2 with SNPTEST summary statistics were aggregated (Supplementary Table S1) as described in Materials and Methods, requiring that an SNP considered for inclusion in a PRS candidate should appear at least five times in the end of the iterative procedure.

Subsequently, several PRS candidates were assembled with SNP content based on frequency of appearance of the latter across the aggregated SNP set, new regression models were created based on the initial target dataset splits used by PRSice2 and PRS R² values were assembled (Figure 1A) along with their respective significance when compared with the baseline PRSice2 PRS R² distribution. As our goals included derivation of a PRS with a less extended number of SNPs but of high predictive value as a PRS with a larger number of SNPs, the new PRS R² values were further penalized based on the number of SNPs that each PRS candidate included (Figure 1B). Then, using the resulting distribution of penalized PRS R² values, we detected local maxima, denoting both high predictive value and lower SNP content. The number of SNPs yielding an adequately high penalized PRS R² while maintaining significance when compared to the baseline PRS R² distribution was found to be 343 (PRS R² = 0.1156 ± 0.0277). Notably, our iterative and aggregative PRS derivation process resulted in a PRS with ~10 times improved explanatory power (bootstrap *p*-value = 0, Figure 1A) than using PRSice2 alone.

3.4. PRS Evaluation

Next, we further evaluated the final 343-SNPs-selected PRS for BMI using the total merged dataset coupled with an iterative 10-fold cross-validation process, where, in each iteration of the process, we left out 5–50% of the total dataset samples, each time increasing the left-out samples by 5% and creating regression models including (full) and excluding (reduced) the PRS while maintaining the other covariates (Supplementary Table S2). Overall, the PRS increased the predictive power of the models by 31–33%, with the minimum PRS R² value observed at 0.3159 ± 0.0190 (*p*-value = 4×10^{-87}) when leaving out 50 of samples, with the maximum value at 0.3279 ± 0.0114 (*p*-value = 9×10^{-130}). A final regression model using the 343-SNP PRS for BMI with the total merged dataset yielded a PRS R² = 0.3241 (beta = 1.011, *p*-value = 4×10^{-193}). Finally, to evaluate the ability of the 343-SNP PRS to characterize close phenotypes, we created a regression model with the same covariates but using population weight instead of BMI. The model yielded PRS R² = 0.2313 (beta = 2.702, *p*-value = 4.15×10^{-158} , Supplementary Figure S3).



Figure 1. Mean PRS and penalized PRS R² for the assembled PRS candidates based on their frequency of appearance over 10 iterations as described in Materials and Methods. (**A**). Mean PRS R2 +/- standard deviation for PRS candidates assembled from SNPs at different frequencies of appearance in the PRS candidates across 100 PRS extraction iterations. The vertical axis depicts the mean adjusted PRS R², while the horizontal axis depicts the number of SNPs in each PRS candidate. The number inside the parentheses next to the number of SNPs in the horizontal axis depicts the SNP frequency of appearance in the PRS. For example, 393 (34) means that the PRS at that particular R² consists of 393 SNPs that appear at least 34 times over 100 iterations. The color scale denotes the statistical significance (Student's *t*-test *p*-value in $-\log 10$ scale) of the adjusted R² distribution over 100 de novo PRS extraction iterations (baseline R²) as compared to the adjusted R2 distribution of each assembled PRS candidate in the horizontal axis. The mean baseline (derived directly from PRSice2 outcomes for each iteration) R2 is depicted with the dashed grey horizontal line, and the dotted grey horizontal lines depict the standard deviation of the former. (**B**). Mean penalized according to the number of SNPs PRS R².

3.5. PRS for BMI

The aforementioned 343-SNP PRS deriving from using SNPTEST displayed a statistically significant association for BMI (beta = 1.011, *p*-value = 4×10^{-193}) and a positive correlation, where increased PRS values were associated with increased BMI levels. As shown in Figure 2, the examined population presented an overall median risk, with most observations met in the 0.25–0.50 range. Out of the 343 SNPs identified in the PRS (see Supplementary Table S3), automatically identified known associations included in the GWAS Catalog were displayed for 16 SNPs, namely rs2710804 (27 associations) and rs2955742 (five associations) (see Table 3).



Figure 2. Correlation of the 343-SNP PRS for BMI with the phenotype and PRS distribution. (**A**). The BMI phenotype across the merged dataset is plotted against the min–max-normalized PRS value for each individual. (**B**). Histogram depicting the min–max-normalized PRS distribution for all individuals in the merged dataset.

	Consortial Sum	mary Statistics (GWAS	Catalog)			Known Associated Traits	Unified Cohort Summary Statistics		
SNP	Nearest gene	Position (Chr:bp)	Alleles	MAF	Effect Allele	Associated Traits	Effect allele	Beta ¹	
rs11668205	IZUMO4	19:2096429-2099593	G/A	0.09 (A)	N/A	Abnormality of chromosome segregation	G	-0.32575	
rs488248	LOC728192	13:105944370	C/A/T	0.23 (C)	Т	Response to docetaxel, antineoplastic agent	C	-0.17048	
rs480039	SLC35F3	1:234290732	G/A/C/T	0.37 (A)	N/A	Gut microbiome measurement	G	-0.17361	
rs2288061	RPL18P13	16:76135833	G/A/C	0.34 (A)	G	Delta-5 desaturase measurement	G	-0.17776	
rs2807854	HLX-AS1	1:220856499	T/C/G	0.25 (T)	T	LDL, apoB measurements	Т	-0.13816	
rs2955742	TMEM266	15:76153791	G/A	0.10 (A)	А	Serum urea, cystatin c, creatinine, urate, glomerular filtration measurement	G	-0.19108	
Rs2710804	SEPT7, EEPD1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	#N/A	Fibrinogen measurement	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Serum alanine aminotransferase measurement	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	С	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Platelet count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Lymphocyte count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	KIAA1706	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	C-reactive protein measurement	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Leukocyte count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	č	Neutrophil count	T	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7.36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	č	Myeloid white cell count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	N/A	Leukocyte count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	SEPT7 EEPD1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	N/A	Fibringgen measurement	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	C C	Lymphocyte count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Platelet count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	т	Platelet count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Leukocyte count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Neutrophil count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Serum albumin measurement	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	č	C-reactive protein measurement	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	EEPD1	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	č	Fibringen measurement	T	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7.36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	č	Neutrophil count	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	LOC101928618	7.36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ť	Serum alanine aminotransferase measurement	Т	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Ċ	Myeloid white cell count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Platelet count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	I vmphocyte count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Platelet count	Ť	-0.1356	
rs2710804	AC083864.3	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Platelet crit	Ť	-0.1356	
re2710804	N/A	7:36044919	T/C	0.23 (C)	Č	Neutrophil count	Ť	-0.1356	
re2251188	ZNIE12 ZNIE316	7:6664701	A/C/C/T	0.16 (A)	G	Basonbil count neutronbil count	Δ	0.13807	
re7589592	ENSC00000237720	2.2709171	T/A/C	0.41(C)	N/A	Diffuse plaque measurement	T	0.133007	
13/ 50/5/2	EIN3G0000257720	2.2/0/1/1	1/11/0	0.41 (C)	14/11	Memory performance word list delayed recall	1	0.11591	
rs1010304	CHD6, EMILIN3	20:41473007	A/G	0.30 (G)	A	measurement	A	-0.28657	
rs12673506	CHN2	7:29382170	G/A	0.24 (A)	A	Gut microbiome measurement	G	-0.185	
rs17662327	HNRNPA1P41,JAK2	9:4967587	T/C/G	0.16 (C)	Т	Wellbeing measurement	Т	0.14714	
rs2485662	MEX3A/LMNA	1:156113677	T/C	0.31 (T)	N/A	Triacylglycerol 48:1, triacylglycerol 50:2 measurements	Т	0.11601	
rs4718965	AUTS2	7:70575462	C/A/T	0.08 (C)	С	Cortical surface area measurement	С	0.19049	
rs9847987	Intergenic/CFAP20DC- DT	3:59432807	C/T	0.20 (T)	Т	Neuritic plaque measurement	С	0.26274	
rs10252228	DPY19L1, NPSR1	7:34900427	A/G	0.29 (G)	G	Exercise	А	0.12063	

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism, Chr: chromosome, bp: base pairs, MAF: minor allele frequency, beta: effect size for BMI. ¹ Results were derived via linear regressions after adjusting for sex, age, NAFLD status and number automatically selected PCs for population stratifications. Effect sizes (betas) and ORs shown for the corresponding SNP and effect sizes (betas) are reported for the respective effect allele.

4. Discussion

The present study sought to investigate application of an automated pipeline for PRS extraction using data from the three Greek studies of NAFLD, OSTEOS and THISEAS. In this population of Greek adults, the constructed PRS displayed a statistically significant association for BMI, with an R² of 0.3241 (beta = 1.011, *p*-value = 4×10^{-193}). The iterative pipeline presented here attempts to address various matters on PRS extraction, namely

selection of an appropriate threshold for SNP inclusion and prediction accuracy [18] as well as stability of the SNP content of PRS candidates across different training and test dataset splits.

In attempting to strengthen PRS construction methodology [30], this pipeline proposes implementation of iterative processes through repetitive steps of sample splitting, aggregating SNP frequency and effect size as well as comparative use of summary statistic metrics and consideration of lifestyle and genetic covariates. As a result, the suggested PRS includes a less extended number of variants but of high explanatory power. In this spectrum, this effort aims at facilitating construction of high-validity PRSs and subsequently promoting their use as a diagnostic tool accounting for various individual characteristics in daily practice. Use of the information of increased or reduced genetic risk for elevated BMI values, as demonstrated by the PRS, can potentially be translated in clinical practice to intensify (in the case of increased risk) or modify and personalize recommendations on lifestyle parameters to combat overweight and obesity.

To the best of our knowledge, the present study constitutes the first attempt to develop a PRS for BMI using data from a Greek population and a previous attempt for construction of a PRS has only been referred to once before in the current literature, exploring Parkinson's disease in older Greek adults [31]. Implementation of the suggested aggregated methodology refers, among others, to (a) repetitive splitting of the overall sample; (b) comparative use of different summary statistics in an attempt to reduce population size and SNP selection bias, respectively. Thus, future work will concern attempts in replicating the proposed PRS in wider populations of different ancestry.

Other attempts to create PRSs for BMI in populations of European ancestry are extensively described in the current literature, with an overall number of 56 BMI-related entries in the PGS Catalog [6]. All referred entries include parts of populations of European ancestry but present a wide range in the numbers of PRS-included variants, from a few tens up to several thousand or millions, with these numbers possibly limiting their effective usage in research or clinical settings. Although the PRS proposed here includes only 343 SNPs, the yielded R² of 0.3241 is substantially comparable, and, in some cases, higher, than the ones presented in other PRSs from BMI, which include thousands of SNPs [6]. An overall advantage is also observed when comparing the present results to other attempts in European populations, which have a priori calculated the effect of literature-based PRSs using a limited amount of SNPs. Use of our proposed pipeline is an advanced tool due to the notion that the aggregated approach of splitting processes strengthens identification of appropriate and sometimes novel SNPs increases the validity of the results and makes up for the need to have a very large sample size.

In the current study, we observe links for various indices related to cardiovascular profile for twelve out of the sixteen variants with GWAS-Catalog-identified associations. The latter could be explained by inclusion of data for THISEAS participants with diagnosed cardiovascular disease (19.58% of the participants). Although the mediating effect of BMI is usually accounted for when investigating the effect of genetic or polygenic risk scores on indices of cardiovascular disease, the reciprocal relation between variation in cardiometabolic indices levels and BMI levels has not been extensively demonstrated through BMI-PRS-included, CVD-related variants. Out of the associated SNPs, the C allele of the rs2710804-included variant presents the majority of reported associations, namely with cell count types (platelets, leukocytes, lymphocytes) and even measurements of C-reactive protein. In this context, the negative effect of the T allele observed in our study ($\beta = -0.1356$) could denote a positive relation of the C allele with metabolic pathways of inflammation and disturbed immunological responses in the subsequent increasing effect of BMI values.

Interestingly and among this PRS's novel associations, we find two variants previously linked to gut microbiome measurements in populations of European ancestry. More specifically, Rühlemann MC et al. previously associated the rs480039 SNP with a 0.082571946 unit increase in P_Bacteroidetes abundance among German individuals [32]. Similarly, a 0.1019 unit increase in the abundance of parabacteroides in stools of individuals of Finnish ancestry for the A allele of the rs12673506 SNP was shown by Qin et al. [33]. Comparably, our study showed that the G allele of the rs480039 and rs12673506 variants was negatively related to BMI levels ($\beta = -0.1736$ and $\beta = -0.1850$, respectively). This is not the first time that the *Parabacteroides* genus has been linked to body weight. The majority of studies denote a higher *Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes* ratio and a generalized reduction in species variation in individuals with increased body weight or obesity [34], and different studies have found positive associations between genus and normal weight or weight loss in mice, as well as fat loss in humans [35–39]. It is plausible that the corresponding SNPs are further linked to BMI through the genus's role in gut production of bile acids and succinate, which have, in turn, been associated with reduction in body weight [38].

When referring to SNPs related to lifestyle, our suggested PRS included one variant related to well-being (variant rs17662327) and one variant associated with exercise (rs10252228). More specifically, in our sample, presence of the T allele of the former SNP was linked to a 0.1471 change in BMI levels. Previously, Okbay et al. demonstrated a 0.0182 unit increase in sentiment of life satisfaction or emotional well-being of adults for the T allele [39]. Our study further showed that presence of the A allele of the rs10252228 SNP was related to higher BMI values (β = 0.1206). This finding could be in accordance with the 0.027 unit increase in exercise associated with leisure time shown for the SNP's G allele in Japanese adults [40], meaning that the positive effect of the A allele on BMI could be mediated by individuals' low exercise levels.

One of the great strengths of the present study entails implementation of our novel methodology for extraction of PRS, which enables effective management and analysis of the vast amounts of genetic data required for such analyses. The automated pipeline enables practical application of our suggested holistic approach for extensive examination of thousands of SNPs, leading to identification of various novel associations. Through the methodological approach of applying a repetitive process of continuous adjustment of the R² measure for the number of each-time-associated SNPs, the pipeline aims to facilitate integration of PRS use in daily healthcare practice, for example as part of widely distributed consumer reports. It should be stressed that, as this methodology is based on the highest R² values of the aggregate PRS candidates, it ensures high explanatory power of the reduced signature. At the same time, it mitigates any computational and data management burden imposed by PRSs with large (up to millions) numbers of SNPs.

Limitations of the present study mainly concern power given the restrained participant sample size available for conducting analyses. Another limitation refers to use of a unified database of participants from three different studies. It is possible that variation in participant characteristics and bias accompanying use of a large analogic sample size of participants with cardiovascular disease played a considerable part in identifying associations between BMI and SNPs related to regulation of cardiovascular indices. However, we determined that much of the potential variability introduced by the fact of joining three databases was successfully captured by one of the PCs incorporated in the model. In addition, although the hypothesized pathways through which the identified SNPs potentially affect BMI levels provide insight for novel relations, there is little evidence to establish direct causal relationships. However, the present analysis sets a foundation for the suggested causal SNPs, and further research is also needed to explore the possibility of relations through their role as proxies for different associated variants.

5. Conclusions

The present paper describes creation of the first PRS for BMI in Greek adults by introducing use of a novel, automated pipeline for PRS extraction. The findings of this study lead to identification of several novel SNPs associated with BMI, potentially through their implication in various metabolic pathways related to traits of cardiometabolic profile and gut microbiome. Our data provide novel insights into interactions of various biological pathways implicated in formation of BMI levels and subsequently affecting its individual variation across different populations. The suggested pipeline aims at promoting maximization of PRS integration in daily healthcare practice by enabling rapid and straightforward development of risk scores. In this regard, this first-ever PRS of a Greek population highlights the need for further development of PRSs for anthropometric traits in larger databases of Greek adults and sets a foundation for wider use of the described iterative PRS methodology.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https:// www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/jpm13020327/s1, Figure S1: Mean PRSice2 PRS R² +/- standard deviation for each performed summary statistics derivation method across 100 PRS extraction iterations; Figure S2: Stability of the PRS candidates over 100 PRS extraction iterations as described in the main text; Figure S3: Correlation of the 343-SNP PRS for BMI with the weight phenotype and PRS distribution; Table S1: Number of iterations and effect of all SNPs examined; Table S2: PRS cross-validation statistics; Table S3: List of all single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (n = 343) included in the PRS for BMI, sorted by number of times they appeared in the split datasets (largest to smallest).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, P.M.; methodology, P.M.; validation, P.M.; formal analysis, P.M.; investigation, P.M.; resources, G.V.D. and P.D.; data curation, I.P.K., M.D., E.G., A.K., L.R., G.K., G.T. and E.M.; writing—original draft preparation, M.K. and P.M.; writing—review and editing, M.K. and P.M.; visualization, P.M.; supervision, P.M. and G.V.D.; project administration, G.V.D.; funding acquisition, G.V.D. and P.D. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: The Greek NAFLD study was financially supported in the context of the project entitled "Obesity and metabolic syndrome: dietary intervention with Greek raisins in NAFLD/NASH. Investigation of molecular mechanisms", approved by the Greek Secretariat for Research and Technology (Cooperation 890/2009) and by "Research Project for Excellence IKY/SIEMENS". The OSTEOS study was partially funded by the Hellenic Society for the Study of Bone Metabolism through a research grant. The THISEAS study was funded by the General Secretary of Research and Technology (PENED 03E Δ 474), by the Targeted Financing from the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (SF0180142s08), EU FP7 grant ECOGENE (#205419) and by EU through the European Regional Development Fund grant to the Centre of Excellence in Genomics, Estonian Biocentre and University of Tartu. For THISEAS, the work of P.D. formed part of the research themes contributing to the translational research portfolio of Barts Cardiovascular Biomedical Research Unit, which was supported and funded by the National Institute for Health Research.

Institutional Review Board Statement: All studies contributing data in the analyses of the present paper were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Harokopio, University of Athens (NALFD protocol number: 38074/13-07-2012, OSTEOS protocol number: 15/8-12-2005, 8/12/2005, THISEAS protocol number: 10/9-6-2004, 14/6/2004).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Summary statistics and data used for the purposes of the present study are available upon request from the corresponding author. Participant data are not publicly available due to participants' privacy and ethical restrictions.

Acknowledgments: All the computations described in the manuscript were performed in the Hypatia cloud infrastructure (https://hypatia.athenarc.gr/, accessed on 8 October 2022). Hypatia was implemented within the framework of the project "ELIXIR-GR: Managing and Analyzing Life Sciences Data" (MIS: 5002780) which is implemented under the Action "Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure", funded by the Operational Program "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (NSRF 2014–2020) and co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Regional Development Fund). Furthermore, the authors would like to thank all the professionals, staff, participants and volunteers who participated in conducting the studies.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- World Health Organization. Obesity and Overweight. 2021. Available online: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight#:~:text=Key%20facts.%20Worldwide%20obesity%20has%20nearly%20tripled%20since, were%20overweight%20in%202016%2C%20and%2013%25%20were%20obese (accessed on 8 October 2022).
- 2. Finkelstein, E.A.; Khavjou, O.A.; Thompson, H.; Trogdon, J.G.; Pan, L.; Sherry, B.; Dietz, W. Obesity and severe obesity forecasts through 2030. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 2012, *42*, 563–570. [CrossRef]
- 3. Bray, G.A.; Clearfield, M.B.; Fintel, D.J.; Nelinson, D.S. Overweight and obesity: The pathogenesis of cardiometabolic risk. *Clin. Cornerstone* **2009**, *9*, 30–42. [CrossRef]
- 4. Chan, R.S.; Woo, J. Prevention of overweight and obesity: How effective is the current public health approach. *IJERPH* **2010**, *7*, 765–783. [CrossRef]
- Locke, A.E.; Kahali, B.; Berndt, S.I.; Justice, A.E.; Pers, T.H.; Day, F.R.; Powell, C.; Vedantam, S.; Buchkovich, M.L.; Yang, J.; et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. *Nature* 2015, *518*, 197–206. [CrossRef]
- 6. PGS Catalog. Available online: https://www.pgscatalog.org/ (accessed on 16 December 2022).
- Murthy, V.L.; Xia, R.; Baldridge, A.S.; Carnethon, M.R.; Sidney, S.; Bouchard, C.; Sarzynski, M.A.; Lima, J.; Lewis, G.D.; Shah, S.J.; et al. Polygenic Risk, Fitness, and Obesity in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2020, *5*, 40–48. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dashti, H.S.; Hivert, M.F.; Levy, D.E.; McCurley, J.L.; Saxena, R.; Thorndike, A.N. Polygenic risk score for obesity and the quality, quantity, and timing of workplace food purchases: A secondary analysis from the ChooseWell 365 randomized trial. *PLoS Med.* 2020, 17, e1003219. [CrossRef]
- 9. Dashti, H.S.; Miranda, N.; Cade, B.E.; Huang, T.; Redline, S.; Karlson, E.W.; Saxena, R. Interaction of obesity polygenic score with lifestyle risk factors in an electronic health record biobank. *BMC Med.* **2022**, *20*, 5. [CrossRef]
- Sapkota, Y.; Qiu, W.; Dixon, S.B.; Wilson, C.L.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Leisenring, W.; Chow, E.J.; Bhatia, S.; Armstrong, G.T.; et al. Genetic risk score enhances the risk prediction of severe obesity in adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Nat. Med.* 2022, 28, 1590–1598. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Weissbrod, O.; Kanai, M.; Shi, H.; Gazal, S.; Peyrot, W.J.; Khera, A.V.; Okada, Y.; Biobank Japan Project; Martin, A.R.; Finucane, H.K.; et al. Leveraging fine-mapping and multipopulation training data to improve cross-population polygenic risk scores. *Nat. Genet.* 2022, 54, 450–458. [CrossRef]
- 12. Polygenic Risk Score Task Force of the International Common Disease Alliance. Responsible use of polygenic risk scores in the clinic: Potential benefits, risks and gaps. *Nat. Med.* **2021**, *27*, 1876–1884. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Moorthie, S.; Hall, A.; Janus, J.; Brigden, T.; Babb de Villiers, C.; Blackburn, L.; Johnson, E.; Kroese, M. Polygenic Scores and Clinical Utility. PHG Foundation. 2021. Available online: https://www.phgfoundation.org/media/35/download/polygenicscores-and-clinical-utility.pdf?v=1 (accessed on 24 January 2023).
- Kumuthini, J.; Zick, B.; Balasopoulou, A.; Chalikiopoulou, C.; Dandara, C.; El-Kamah, G.; Findley, L.; Katsila, T.; Li, R.; Maceda, E.B.; et al. The clinical utility of polygenic risk scores in genomic medicine practices: A systematic review. *Hum. Genet.* 2022, 141, 1697–1704. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Lewis, C.M.; Vassos, E. Polygenic risk scores: From research tools to clinical instruments. Genome Med. 2020, 12, 44. [CrossRef]
- 16. Privé, F.; Aschard, H.; Carmi, S.; Folkersen, L.; Hoggart, C.; O'Reilly, P.F.; Vilhjálmsson, B.J. Portability of 245 polygenic scores when derived from the UK Biobank and applied to 9 ancestry groups from the same cohort. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2022**, *109*, 12–23, Erratum in *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2022**, *109*, 373. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Craig, S.J.C.; Kenney, A.M.; Lin, J.; Paul, I.M.; Birch, L.L.; Savage, J.S.; Marini, M.E.; Chiaromonte, F.; Reimherr, M.L.; Makova, K.D. Constructing a polygenic risk score for childhood obesity using functional data analysis. *Econom Stat.* **2023**, *25*, 66–86. [CrossRef]
- 18. Janssens, A.C.J.W. Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are? *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2019, 28, R143–R150. [CrossRef]
- Kalafati, I.P.; Dimitriou, M.; Borsa, D.; Vlachogiannakos, J.; Revenas, K.; Kokkinos, A.; Ladas, S.D.; Dedoussis, G.V. Fish intake interacts with TM6SF2 gene variant to affect NAFLD risk: Results of a case-control study. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 2019, *58*, 1463–1473. [CrossRef]
- 20. Kalafati, I.P.; Borsa, D.; Dimitriou, M.; Revenas, K.; Kokkinos, A.; Dedoussis, G.V. Dietary patterns and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a Greek case-control study. *Nutrition* **2019**, *61*, 105–110. [CrossRef]
- Grigoriou, E.V.; Trovas, G.; Papaioannou, N.; Makras, P.; Kokkoris, P.; Dontas, I.; Makris, K.; Tournis, S.; Dedoussis, G.V. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status, quantitative ultrasound parameters, and their determinants in Greek population. *Arch. Osteoporos.* 2018, 13, 111. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Theodoraki, E.V.; Nikopensius, T.; Suhorutsenko, J.; Peppes, V.; Fili, P.; Kolovou, G.; Papamikos, V.; Richter, D.; Zakopoulos, N.; Krjutškov, K.; et al. Fibrinogen beta variants confer protection against coronary artery disease in a Greek case-control study. *BMC Med. Genet.* 2010, *11*, 28. [CrossRef]
- 23. Marouli, E.; Kanoni, S.; Dimitriou, M.; Kolovou, G.; Deloukas, P.; Dedoussis, G. Lifestyle may modify the glucose-raising effect of genetic loci. A study in the Greek population. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* **2016**, *26*, 201–206. [CrossRef]
- Purcell, S.; Neale, B.; Todd-Brown, K.; Thomas, L.; Ferreira, M.A.R.; Bender, D.; Maller, J.; Sklar, P.; de Bakker, P.I.W.; Daly, M.J.; et al. PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 2007, *81*, 559–575. [CrossRef]

- Howie, B.N.; Donnelly, P.; Marchini, J. A flexible and accurate genotype imputation method for the next generation of genomewide association studies. *PLoS Genet.* 2009, *5*, e1000529. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhao, H.; Mitra, N.; Kanetsky, P.A.; Nathanson, K.L.; Rebbeck, T.R. A practical approach to adjusting for population stratification in genome-wide association studies: Principal components and propensity scores (PCAPS). *Stat. Appl Genet. Mol. Biol.* 2018, 17. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Biometris/statgenGWAS. 2022. Available online: https://github.com/Biometris/statgenGWAS/ (accessed on 7 December 2022.).
- 28. Marchini, J.; Howie, B.; Myers, S.; McVean, G.; Donnelly, P. A new multipoint method for genome-wide association studies by imputation of genotypes. *Nat. Genet.* **2007**, *39*, 906–913. [CrossRef]
- 29. Choi, S.W.; O'Reilly, P.F. PRSice-2: Polygenic Risk Score software for biobank-scale data. *Gigascience* 2019, 8, giz082. [CrossRef]
- 30. Mostafavi, H.; Harpak, A.; Agarwal, I.; Conley, D.; Pritchard, J.K.; Przeworski, M. Variable prediction accuracy of polygenic scores within an ancestry group. *eLife* 2020, *9*, e48376. [CrossRef]
- Maraki, M.I.; Hatzimanolis, A.; Mourtzi, N.; Stefanis, L.; Yannakoulia, M.; Kosmidis, M.H.; Dardiotis, E.; Hadjigeorgiou, G.M.; Sakka, P.; Ramirez, A.; et al. Association of the Polygenic Risk Score With the Probability of Prodromal Parkinson's Disease in Older Adults. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 2021, 14, 739571. [CrossRef]
- Rühlemann, M.C.; Hermes, B.M.; Bang, C.; Doms, S.; Moitinho-Silva, L.; Thingholm, L.B.; Frost, F.; Degenhardt, F.; Wittig, M.; Kässens, J.; et al. Genome-wide association study in 8,956 German individuals identifies influence of ABO histo-blood groups on gut microbiome. *Nat. Genet.* 2021, 53, 147–155. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Qin, Y.; Havulinna, A.S.; Liu, Y.; Jousilahti, P.; Ritchie, S.C.; Tokolyi, A.; Sanders, J.G.; Valsta, L.; Brożyńska, M.; Zhu, Q.; et al. Combined effects of host genetics and diet on human gut microbiota and incident disease in a single population cohort. *Nat. Genet.* 2022, 54, 134–142. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Aoun, A.; Darwish, F.; Hamod, N. The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Obesity in Adults and the Role of Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Synbiotics for Weight Loss. *Prev. Nutr. Food Sci.* 2020, 25, 113–123. [CrossRef]
- 35. Palmas, V.; Pisanu, S.; Madau, V.; Casula, E.; Deledda, A.; Cusano, R.; Uva, P.; Vascellari, S.; Loviselli, A.; Manzin, A.; et al. Gut microbiota markers associated with obesity and overweight in Italian adults. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, *11*, 5532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. Liang, D.; Zhang, X.; Liu, Z.; Zheng, R.; Zhang, L.; Yu, D.; Shen, X. The Genus Parabacteroides Is a Potential Contributor to the Beneficial Effects of Truncal Vagotomy-Related Bariatric Surgery. *Obes. Surg.* **2022**, *32*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Jian, C.; Silvestre, M.P.; Middleton, D.; Korpela, K.; Jalo, E.; Broderick, D.; de Vos, W.M.; Fogelholm, M.; Taylor, M.W.; Raben, A.; et al. Gut microbiota predicts body fat change following a low-energy diet: A PREVIEW intervention study. *Genome Med.* 2022, 14, 54. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, K.; Liao, M.; Zhou, N.; Bao, L.; Ma, K.; Zheng, Z.; Wang, Y.; Liu, C.; Wang, W.; Wang, J.; et al. Parabacteroides distasonis Alleviates Obesity and Metabolic Dysfunctions via Production of Succinate and Secondary Bile Acids. *Cell Rep.* 2019, 26, 222–235.e5. [CrossRef]
- Okbay, A.; Baselmans, B.M.; De Neve, J.E.; Turley, P.; Nivard, M.G.; Fontana, M.A.; Meddens, S.F.; Linnér, R.K.; Rietveld, C.A.; Derringer, J.; et al. Genetic variants associated with subjective well-being, depressive symptoms, and neuroticism identified through genome-wide analyses. *Nat. Genet.* 2016, 48, 624–633. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hara, M.; Hachiya, T.; Sutoh, Y.; Matsuo, K.; Nishida, Y.; Shimanoe, C.; Tanaka, K.; Shimizu, A.; Ohnaka, K.; Kawaguchi, T.; et al. Genomewide Association Study of Leisure-Time Exercise Behavior in Japanese Adults. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 2018, 50, 2433–2441. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

Appendix F: Supplementary Material

Appendix F. Supplementary Material

F1. iMPROVE Study

Supplementary Table S1. List of all BMI-related Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) (n=84) identified by Locke et al. and included in the uGRS and wGRS for BMI.

Consortial Summary Statistics												
SNP	Gene	Chr	Position	Alleles	Effect Allele	Direction of Effect	beta					
rs977747_T	TAL1	1	1:47219005	T/C/G	Т	Positive	0.017					
rs657452_?	AGBL4	1	1:49124175	A/G	А	Positive	0.023					
rs11583200_C	ELAVL4	1	1:50094148	C/T	С	Positive	0.018					
rs3101336_C	RPL31P12, NEGR1	1	1:72285502	T/C	С	Positive	0.033					
rs1514174_C (proxy_for_rs12566985)	TNNI3K,FPGT-TNNI3K	1	1:74527379	C/T	С	Positive	0.024					
rs12401738_A	GIPC2,DNAJB4	1	1:77981077	G/A	А	Positive	0.021					
rs11165643_T	EEF1A1P11, RN7SL831P	1	1:96458541	C/G/T	Т	Positive	0.022					
rs17024393_C	GNAT2	1	1:109612066	T/C	С	Positive	0.066					
rs543874_G	LINC01741, SEC16B	1	1:177920345	A/G	G	Positive	0.048					
rs2820292_C	IPO9-AS1,NAV1	1	1:201815159	A/C/T	С	Positive	0.02					
rs7570232(proxy_for_rs13021737)_C	TMEM18,LINC01875	2	2:632348	A/C/G/T/	С	Positive	0.06					
rs10182181_G	DNAJC27,ADCY3	2	2:24927427	A/G	G	Positive	0.031					
rs11126666_A	KCNK3	2	2:26705943	G/A/C	А	Positive	0.021					
rs1016287_T	LINC01122	2	2:59078490	T/A/C/G	Т	Positive	0.023					
rs11688816_G	EHBP1	2	2:62825913	G/A	G	Positive	0.017					
rs2121279_T	TMEM163	2	2:142285716	C/T	Т	Positive	0.025					
rs1460676_C	FIGN	2	2:163711179	T/C	С	Positive	0.02					
rs1528435_T	SCHLAP1	2	2:180686235	C/G/T	Т	Positive	0.018					
rs17203016_G	LINC01802,CREB1	2	2:207390794	A/G	G	Positive	0.021					
rs7599312_G	LINC01878,ERBB4	2	2:212548507	G/A	G	Positive	0.022					
rs492400_C	USP37	2	2:218485029	C/T	С	Positive	0.016					
rs2176040_A	NYAP2,MIR5702	2	2:226228086	A/G/T	А	Positive	0.014					
rs6804842_G	RARB	3	3:25064946	A/C/G/T	G	Positive	0.019					
rs2365389_C	FHIT	3	3:61250788	C/A/G/T	С	Positive	0.02					
rs3849570_A	GBE1	3	3:81742961	C/A	А	Positive	0.019					

rs13078960_G	CADM2	3	3:85758440	T/G	G	Positive	0.03
rs16851483_T	RASA2	3	3:141556594	G/T	Т	Positive	0.048
rs1516725_C	ETV5,DGKG	3	3:186106215	T/A/C	С	Positive	0.045
rs17001654_G	SCARB2	4	4:76208415	C/G	G	Positive	0.031
rs13107325_T	SLC29A8	4	4:102267552	C/A/T	Т	Positive	0.048
rs11727676_T	HHIP	4	4:144737912	T/C	Т	Positive	0.036
rs2112347_T	SLC25A5P9,POC5	5	5:75719417	T/G	Т	Positive	0.026
rs7715256_G	MFAP3	5	5:154158333	G/T	G	Positive	0.016
rs205262_G	ILRUN	6	6:34595387	A/G	G	Positive	0.022
rs2207139_G	RPS17P5,FTH1P5	6	6:50877777	A/G	G	Positive	0.045
rs9400239_C	FOXO3	6	6:108656460	T/C/G	С	Positive	0.019
rs6931818_A(proxy_for_rs9374842)	Intergenic	6	6:119864519	C/G/T	А	Positive	0.019
rs13201877_G	OLIG3, IFNGR1	6	6:137354404	A/G	G	Positive	0.023
rs13191362_A	PRKN	6	6:162612318	A/G	А	Positive	0.028
rs1167827_G	HIP1	7	7:75533848	G/A	G	Positive	0.02
rs2245368_C	DTX2P1-UPK3BP1-	7	7:76978826	C/G/T	С	Positive	0.032
	PMS2P11,DTX2P1	0	0.75004240	TINIC	Ŧ	Desitive	0.000
rs1/405819_1	KNU2-54P, HNF4G	8	8:75894349	T/A/C	l C	Positive	0.022
rs2033732_C	IPM3P3,RALYL	8	8:84167474	1/0	C T	Positive	0.019
rs4/40619_1	CCDC1/1	9	9:15634328	1/A/C	I	Positive	0.018
rs10968576_G	LINGO2	9	9:28414341	A/G	G	Positive	0.025
rs6477694_C	EPB41L4B,FRRS1L	9	9:109170062	C/T	C	Positive	0.017
rs1928295_T	RPL35AP22,ASTN2	9	9:117616205	T/C/G	T	Positive	0.019
rs10733682_A	LMX1B	9	9:126698635	A/G/T	A	Positive	0.017
rs76223526_T(proxy_for_rs7899106)	GRID1	10	10:85651147	A/G	Т	Positive	0.04
rs17094222_C	HIF1AN	10	10:100635683	T/C	С	Positive	0.025
rs11191560_C	NT5C2	10	10:103109281	T/C	С	Positive	0.031
rs7903146_C	TCF7L2	10	10:112998590	C/G/T	С	Positive	0.023
rs4256980_G	TRIM66	11	11:8652392	C/A/G	G	Positive	0.021
rs11030104_A	BDNF-AS,BDNF	11	11:27662970	A/G	А	Positive	0.041
rs3817334_T	MTCH2	11	11:47629441	C/T	Т	Positive	0.026
rs12286929_G	CADM1	11	11:115151684	A/C/G	G	Positive	0.022

rs11057405_G	CLIP1	12	12:122297350	G/A/C	G	Positive	0.031
rs12429545_A	LINC00558, ZNF646P1	13	13:53528071	G/A/C/T	А	Positive	0.033
rs1441264_A	CCT5P2,NIPA2P5	13	13:79006784	G/A/T	А	Positive	0.018
rs10132280_C	OR7K1P,LINC02306	14	14:25458973	C/A	С	Positive	0.023
rs12885454_C	RNU11-5P,LINC02326	14	14:29267632	C/A/T	С	Positive	0.021
rs11847697_T	PRKD1	14	14:30045906	C/T	Т	Positive	0.049
rs7141420_T	NRXN3	14	14:79433111	C/G/T	Т	Positive	0.024
rs16951275_T	MAP2K5	15	15:67784830	T/C/G	Т	Positive	0.031
rs7164727_T	ADPGK-AS1,NPM1P42	15	15:72801650	C/G/T	Т	Positive	0.018
rs758747_T	NLRC3	16	16:3577357	C/T	Т	Positive	0.023
rs12446632_G	GPRC5B,GPR139	16	16:19924067	G/A	G	Positive	0.04
rs2726034_C(proxy_for_rs2650492)	NPIPB6,SBK1	16	16:28325561	T/C	С	Positive	0.021
rs3888190_A	ATP2A1,SH2B1	16	16:28878165	C/A/T	А	Positive	0.031
rs9925964_A	KAT8	16	16:31118574	A/C/G/T	А	Positive	0.019
rs2080454_C	RNU6-257P,MTND4LP25	16	16:49028679	C/A/G	С	Positive	0.017
rs99401289_A(proxy_for_rs1558902)	FTO	16	16:53769662	T/A	А	Positive	0.082
rs9914578_G	SMG6	17	17:2101842	C/G	G	Positive	0.02
rs1000940_G	NUP88,RABEP1	17	17:5379957	A/C/G/T	G	Positive	0.019
rs12940622_G	RPTOR	17	17:80641771	G/A	G	Positive	0.018
rs1808579_C	RMC1,NPC1	18	18:23524924	C/T	С	Positive	0.017
rs7243357_T	SEC11C,GRP	18	18:59216087	T/G	Т	Positive	0.022
rs10871777_G(proxy(for_rs6567160)	MC4R,RNU4-17P	18	18:60184530	A/G/T	G	Positive	0.056
rs17724992_A	PGPEP1	19	19:18344015	A/G	А	Positive	0.019
rs29941_G	KCTD15,SUNO1	19	19:33818627	A/G/T	G	Positive	0.018
rs2075650_A	TOMM40	19	19:44892362	A/G	А	Positive	0.026
rs2287019_C	QPCTL	19	19:45698914	C/T	С	Positive	0.036
rs3810291_A	ZC3H4	19	19:47065746	G/A	А	Positive	0.028
rs6091540_C	LINC01524	20	20:52471323	C/T	С	Positive	0.019

F2. Polygenic Risk Score for Body Mass Index on the NAFLD, THISEAS and OSTEOS studies

Supplementary Table S2. List of all Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) (n=343) included in the PRS for BMI, sorted by the N° of times they appeared in the split datasets (largest to smallest).

SNP	chromosome	position	Nearest	Risk Allele	Reference	beta	OR	Frequency
			Gene		Allele			
rs11668205	19	2099250	IZUMO4	G	А	-0.325754	1.385075	96
rs11994887	8	4391719	CSMD1	Т	С	-0.262923	1.300727	64
rs9295609	6	23979222	#N/A	G	А	-0.221097	1.247444	62
rs4279903	1	205439769	#N/A	G	А	0.198356	0.820078	61
rs16883347	5	9667798	LINC02112	А	С	0.232483	0.792563	60
rs1332010	6	38996875	DNAH8	Т	С	0.197648	0.820659	60
rs2108929	7	13146222	#N/A	С	Т	-0.281552	1.325184	60
rs12588521	14	30475398	#N/A	А	С	-0.290499	1.337095	60
rs1499951	3	115195109	#N/A	С	Т	-0.28408	1.32854	58
rs9848915	3	167160291	SERPINI2	G	А	-0.272895	1.313763	58
rs1213402	5	111112309	NREP	Т	С	-0.277976	1.320455	58
rs7407266	18	6568765	#N/A	Т	С	0.162551	0.849973	58
rs1461920	1	226794525	STUM	А	G	-0.144307	1.155238	57
rs2691505	6	71310131	#N/A	А	G	0.150908	0.859927	57
rs12941504	17	72478313	CD300A	Т	С	-0.213346	1.237812	57
rs4861680	4	186721885	SORBS2	G	А	0.156324	0.855282	56
rs113990664	5	71376237	#N/A	G	А	-0.163085	1.177137	56
rs7122189	11	24407108	#N/A	С	Т	-0.219925	1.245984	56
rs7176478	15	66534231	MEGF11	G	А	0.21009	0.810511	56
rs962682	16	84846251	#N/A	А	G	-0.171701	1.187323	56
rs9303353	17	52728276	#N/A	Т	G	0.140039	0.869324	56
rs9897526	17	42426940	GRN	G	А	0.191341	0.825851	56
rs1056896	4	185677363	ACSL1	т	С	0.185506	0.830684	55
rs12478622	2	204979611	#N/A	G	А	-0.234437	1.264197	54
rs4906842	15	26274261	LINC02346	А	G	-0.173873	1.189905	54

rs1604953	16	78942601	WWOX	G	А	-0.17161	1.187214	54
rs12959396	18	60039309	TNFRSF11A	Т	G	0.147374	0.862971	54
rs12145632	1	247393142	#N/A	Т	С	-0.182569	1.200297	53
rs6541160	1	220981358	MTARC1	Т	С	-0.209923	1.233583	53
rs756325	1	110478064	#N/A	Т	С	0.211103	0.809691	53
rs6827349	4	122980440	#N/A	А	G	0.14465	0.865325	53
rs983585	7	107656377	#N/A	Т	С	-0.169588	1.184817	53
rs55906926	3	143159873	SLC9A9	А	G	0.283481	0.753158	52
rs1563556	5	174770776	#N/A	G	А	-0.150676	1.16262	52
rs10500800	11	13929427	#N/A	G	Т	-0.230429	1.259141	52
rs56115087	17	71660771	#N/A	А	G	-0.222391	1.249059	52
rs13058401	22	29862247	#N/A	G	А	-0.236776	1.267157	52
rs6677968	1	65776702	DNAJC6	G	А	0.144549	0.865412	51
rs989632	5	7823382	ADCY2	А	G	-0.250872	1.285146	51
rs1128250	7	21956405	CDCA7L	G	А	0.164662	0.848181	51
rs7101190	10	71588349	COL13A1	С	Т	0.170232	0.843469	51
rs8064152	16	5721431	#N/A	А	С	-0.224151	1.251259	51
rs1673000	19	35575767	HPN-AS1	Т	С	-0.215948	1.241038	51
rs12139329	1	193463330	#N/A	Т	С	-0.165837	1.180381	50
rs11904043	2	53644605	#N/A	G	А	-0.160222	1.173771	50
rs16838023	2	207053416	GPR1	G	Т	0.16384	0.848878	50
rs1109771	6	32187605	#N/A	А	G	0.151916	0.859061	50
rs10901376	10	127085818	#N/A	G	А	0.15818	0.853696	50
rs7925657	11	44287292	ALX4	А	G	0.142327	0.867337	50
rs488248	13	106596719	#N/A	С	Т	-0.170482	1.185876	50
rs12909478	15	33829250	RYR3	С	Т	0.16306	0.84954	50
rs12052178	19	46114829	EML2	С	Т	-0.136768	1.146562	50
rs17455693	1	165917820	#N/A	А	G	-0.168336	1.183334	49
rs6694023	1	62130167	#N/A	Α	G	-0.161533	1.175312	49
rs12466395	2	190780698	#N/A	А	G	-0.143846	1.154706	49
rs8016755	14	25111113	#N/A	С	Т	-0.132007	1.141116	49
rs78457560	17	13657119	#N/A	G	А	-0.25513	1.29063	49

rs2839644	21	44604272	#N/A	Т	С	-0.17819	1.195052	49
rs480039	1	234426478	SLC35F3	G	А	-0.173613	1.189596	48
rs987174	3	5925865	#N/A	А	G	-0.265751	1.30441	48
rs9877544	3	97684754	RIOX2	G	А	-0.135372	1.144963	48
rs4346760	5	150493470	ANXA6	С	А	-0.127959	1.136506	48
rs1345934	7	136772275	LOC349160	А	G	-0.144756	1.155758	48
rs955975	9	85117420	#N/A	G	А	0.165892	0.847138	48
rs3912662	11	92595671	FAT3	G	А	0.158048	0.853808	48
rs4937166	11	126506712	KIRREL3	С	Т	-0.170755	1.1862	48
rs9924586	16	59533731	#N/A	С	Т	-0.151622	1.16372	48
rs6016500	20	39634488	#N/A	С	Т	0.220392	0.802204	48
rs7264181	20	13231342	ISM1	G	А	0.197286	0.820956	48
rs6449263	4	16669406	LDB2	G	А	-0.123672	1.131645	47
rs6881547	5	158946495	#N/A	G	А	-0.174727	1.19092	47
rs6900225	6	9314807	#N/A	G	А	0.189038	0.827755	47
rs2856330	12	11942777	ETV6	С	Т	-0.213801	1.238376	47
rs7989395	13	38010367	#N/A	А	С	-0.172584	1.188372	47
rs7279498	21	42253571	#N/A	G	А	-0.169416	1.184613	47
rs11121141	1	8294662	#N/A	G	А	-0.166324	1.180956	46
rs2807854	1	221029841	#N/A	Т	С	-0.13816	1.148159	46
rs237108	6	79415015	#N/A	С	Т	-0.161081	1.17478	46
rs2392445	7	36547667	#N/A	А	G	-0.211141	1.235086	46
rs7943949	11	40840931	LRRC4C	Т	С	-0.200311	1.221783	46
rs11106815	12	93428691	LOC643339	G	А	-0.190596	1.209971	46
rs575478	12	114166291	#N/A	C	Т	-0.257003	1.293049	46
rs2288061	16	76169731	#N/A	G	А	-0.177761	1.19454	46
rs9897341	17	9123894	NTN1	Т	C	-0.174271	1.190378	46
rs4599028	19	53970581	#N/A	А	G	-0.18578	1.204157	46
rs6510364	19	33671172	#N/A	C	Т	-0.120742	1.128334	46
rs1382425	4	189541446	#N/A	А	С	-0.209858	1.233502	45
rs284729	5	35457590	#N/A	А	G	0.197514	0.820768	45
rs4867856	5	176144471	#N/A	Т	С	-0.148169	1.159709	45

rs540375	5	152878727	GRIA1	G	А	-0.138013	1.147991	45
rs233958	16	4340305	#N/A	С	Т	-0.146388	1.157646	45
rs17008392	3	71291620	#N/A	А	G	0.240232	0.786446	44
rs13357315	5	56809263	#N/A	Т	С	-0.193457	1.213437	44
rs901285	11	12160054	MICAL2	Т	С	-0.238964	1.269933	44
rs7144237	14	80897656	DIO2-AS1	А	G	-0.137906	1.147868	44
rs17776995	16	49447822	#N/A	G	А	-0.209867	1.233514	44
rs5765681	22	46259060	#N/A	Т	С	-0.167349	1.182166	44
rs11121937	1	12625844	#N/A	Т	С	0.13541	0.873358	43
rs16846210	2	212322255	ERBB4	С	Т	-0.165111	1.179524	43
rs1357134	3	186979768	MASP1	А	G	-0.136223	1.145937	43
rs2309942	4	184839829	STOX2	G	А	0.138368	0.870778	43
rs13182748	5	5915186	#N/A	С	А	0.156118	0.855458	43
rs697505	6	158816875	TULP4	Т	G	-0.175773	1.192167	43
rs6981400	8	23104612	CHMP7	Т	С	-0.16746	1.182298	43
rs13297661	9	132926080	#N/A	G	А	0.130994	0.877223	43
rs2852786	11	61514085	DAGLA	С	Т	0.145421	0.864659	43
rs3808986	11	129910584	#N/A	С	А	-0.231172	1.260076	43
rs3741565	12	130557260	#N/A	А	G	-0.182105	1.19974	43
rs1959169	14	33473192	NPAS3	С	Т	-0.212534	1.236808	43
rs1860304	16	5631166	#N/A	А	G	-0.170029	1.185339	43
rs4807505	19	3750869	APBA3	G	А	0.171137	0.842706	43
rs4925403	22	49070719	TAFA5	G	А	-0.203892	1.226165	43
rs2758615	1	156158367	#N/A	Т	С	0.129133	0.878857	42
rs11689662	2	154003392	#N/A	G	А	-0.18104	1.198463	42
rs12614570	2	228651252	#N/A	G	Т	0.133843	0.874727	42
rs4852508	2	79906739	CTNNA2	C	Т	-0.197861	1.218793	42
rs6730873	2	216346048	#N/A	С	Т	0.129299	0.878711	42
rs10935254	3	137254071	#N/A	А	G	-0.150471	1.162382	42
rs7430102	3	54537866	CACNA2D3	G	А	0.185439	0.830739	42
rs9882796	3	189330551	#N/A	G	A	0.147893	0.862523	42
rs6822346	4	190065197	#N/A	G	А	0.138813	0.870391	42

rs7694518	4	7459344	SORCS2	G	А	0.180304	0.835017	42
rs2281144	6	167091844	RPS6KA2	А	G	-0.190103	1.209374	42
rs1420123	7	29647662	#N/A	Т	С	0.155306	0.856153	42
rs4979009	9	114347774	PTGR1	А	G	-0.142361	1.152993	42
rs7077407	10	8140574	#N/A	А	G	0.120968	0.886062	42
rs7104900	11	64303696	#N/A	G	А	0.153867	0.857386	42
rs11608342	12	67406881	#N/A	А	G	-0.176385	1.192898	42
rs59038615	12	82253603	#N/A	С	Т	-0.17599	1.192427	42
rs78036224	12	39279534	CPNE8	G	Т	0.248957	0.779613	42
rs586379	13	27029720	#N/A	Т	С	0.179712	0.835511	42
rs11157000	14	38920795	#N/A	G	Т	-0.135777	1.145426	42
rs2955742	15	76446132	TMEM266	G	А	-0.191082	1.210559	42
rs12931774	16	6965041	#N/A	G	А	-0.183571	1.2015	42
rs4806908	19	1004823	GRIN3B	G	А	0.134689	0.873987	42
rs7256086	19	327182	MIER2	С	Т	-0.20064	1.222184	42
rs8111919	19	54128771	#N/A	G	А	-0.171	1.186491	42
rs11687151	2	87949635	#N/A	С	Т	-0.18503	1.203254	41
rs12466549	2	192615315	#N/A	G	А	-0.135485	1.145091	41
rs4341972	2	69042142	ARHGAP25	G	А	0.138324	0.870816	41
rs483394	2	14137805	#N/A	С	Т	0.156618	0.85503	41
rs62107643	2	3882074	#N/A	G	А	-0.244019	1.276368	41
rs9878545	3	171621021	#N/A	Т	С	-0.120873	1.128481	41
rs1400871	5	124678629	#N/A	С	А	-0.144597	1.155573	41
rs3101186	5	71409569	MAP1B	А	C	0.198388	0.820052	41
rs440583	5	80322231	RASGRF2	Т	С	-0.169856	1.185134	41
rs12192629	6	8426587	SLC35B3	G	Т	-0.159928	1.173426	41
rs1556675	6	141737996	#N/A	Т	C	0.162115	0.850343	41
rs2472802	6	14767419	#N/A	G	А	-0.169044	1.184172	41
rs6455019	6	65668333	EYS	Т	C	-0.180085	1.197319	41
rs6906804	6	1490582	#N/A	G	А	0.150242	0.860499	41
rs6918155	6	167145388	RPS6KA2	G	А	0.16043	0.851778	41
rs12681882	8	103578377	#N/A	G	А	-0.178524	1.195452	41

rs36107033	8	37556987	ZNF703	C	Т	-0.247376	1.28066	41
rs10959370	9	10923969	#N/A	G	Т	0.249514	0.779179	41
rs10508741	10	29252309	#N/A	Т	G	-0.146386	1.157642	41
rs11259736	10	15595361	ITGA8	G	А	-0.167693	1.182573	41
rs2813458	10	1574443	ADARB2-AS1	С	т	-0.175466	1.191802	41
rs11224017	11	134655690	#N/A	Т	С	0.150652	0.860147	41
rs12581737	12	63125469	PPM1H	Т	G	-0.196294	1.216885	41
rs879681	13	106800033	#N/A	G	А	0.197196	0.821029	41
rs8003359	14	57126170	#N/A	Т	С	-0.181305	1.198781	41
rs8013199	14	23247486	SLC7A7	Т	С	-0.181414	1.198912	41
rs1015310	15	102110442	#N/A	G	Т	-0.132038	1.141152	41
rs11648289	16	7773250	#N/A	G	Т	-0.129338	1.138075	41
rs1561699	18	47996600	#N/A	С	Т	-0.162987	1.177021	41
rs9304414	18	49515554	#N/A	Т	G	-0.152022	1.164185	41
rs2076408	20	2313059	TGM3	Т	G	-0.161035	1.174727	41
rs817362	20	62559964	DNAJC5	G	А	-0.22142	1.247847	41
rs857138	1	57191924	FYB2	С	Т	-0.156906	1.169885	40
rs16838452	2	202798759	#N/A	С	А	-0.181695	1.199249	40
rs1354350	3	113960449	#N/A	Т	G	-0.130177	1.13903	40
rs1405406	3	73946124	#N/A	G	А	-0.180443	1.197747	40
rs2863384	3	166085645	#N/A	С	Т	0.180731	0.83466	40
rs17237942	4	105425576	#N/A	А	G	-0.146612	1.157905	40
rs2503815	6	5391268	FARS2	G	А	-0.185625	1.203971	40
rs17171046	7	37477863	ELM01	C	Т	-0.177167	1.193831	40
rs6989157	8	96320757	C8orf37-AS1	G	А	-0.189935	1.209171	40
rs9325887	10	48461083	#N/A	А	G	0.168659	0.844797	40
rs342174	12	63065145	PPM1H	G	А	-0.182831	1.200611	40
rs10148212	14	67095613	GPHN	А	С	-0.192537	1.212322	40
rs1822809	15	95798343	#N/A	G	А	-0.16178	1.175601	40
rs11866097	16	55104462	#N/A	G	А	-0.197333	1.21815	40
rs2589141	17	78843139	RPTOR	С	Т	-0.148067	1.15959	40
rs4790904	17	64779154	PRKCA	Т	С	-0.138626	1.148695	40

rs55667536	17	39293446	#N/A	А	G	-0.331439	1.392971	40
rs1106978	20	41678428	PTPRT	G	А	-0.14801	1.159525	40
rs6007778	22	48392923	#N/A	G	А	-0.200854	1.222446	40
rs11811436	1	97940231	DPYD	Т	С	0.174909	0.839533	39
rs147762374	1	106873477	#N/A	G	А	-0.160322	1.173889	39
rs2376100	2	197833530	#N/A	Т	С	0.270528	0.762976	39
rs6712770	2	164106998	#N/A	А	С	-0.161215	1.174937	39
rs1163377	3	108937719	#N/A	G	А	-0.1455	1.156618	39
rs11922267	3	65401156	MAGI1	С	Т	-0.176977	1.193604	39
rs2649188	3	65780102	MAGI1	А	С	0.122599	0.884619	39
rs7620686	3	26413729	#N/A	Т	С	-0.116506	1.123565	39
rs10076573	5	2094148	#N/A	Т	С	0.165889	0.847141	39
rs10477436	5	108421424	FER	А	С	-0.129262	1.137988	39
rs4388209	5	125758373	GRAMD2B	Т	С	0.113824	0.892415	39
rs6925019	6	1588714	#N/A	G	А	-0.179622	1.196765	39
rs2710804	7	36084529	#N/A	Т	С	-0.135608	1.145233	39
rs4724298	7	44320434	CAMK2B	С	Т	-0.179291	1.196369	39
rs2173537	8	129047325	PVT1	G	А	-0.180237	1.197501	39
rs1556146	9	132022478	#N/A	Т	С	-0.198734	1.219857	39
rs16907144	9	93852382	#N/A	G	А	0.158523	0.853403	39
rs824003	9	113972955	#N/A	Т	С	-0.162957	1.176986	39
rs12772906	10	62804925	#N/A	А	G	-0.184202	1.202258	39
rs12417297	11	128185154	#N/A	С	Т	-0.232895	1.262248	39
rs10492094	12	5478148	#N/A	G	Т	-0.125703	1.133945	39
rs1544686	12	107579464	#N/A	G	Т	-0.184251	1.202317	39
rs17091684	12	43076137	#N/A	С	А	-0.169665	1.184908	39
rs1170994	13	36581177	DCLK1	C	Т	0.161757	0.850648	39
rs9533784	13	44761837	#N/A	G	А	-0.182495	1.200208	39
rs10146690	14	79890456	NRXN3	G	А	-0.145193	1.156263	39
rs11621403	14	53877638	#N/A	А	G	0.203013	0.816268	39
rs1791159	18	29136463	DSG2-AS1	Т	С	-0.134932	1.144459	39
rs275339	20	57988701	#N/A	С	Т	0.17152	0.842384	39

rs4816499	21	36293381	RUNX1	А	С	-0.256245	1.292069	39
rs10458443	1	242712951	#N/A	Т	С	0.157657	0.854143	38
rs285461	1	165497692	LRRC52-AS1	Т	С	-0.221145	1.247505	38
rs4559489	1	240698138	GREM2	С	Т	-0.232214	1.26139	38
rs12473883	2	236559912	AGAP1	G	Т	-0.163999	1.178213	38
rs13405786	2	70844394	#N/A	Т	С	-0.190585	1.209958	38
rs4253427	4	187209225	F11-AS1	G	А	0.127626	0.880183	38
rs11759402	6	42723809	#N/A	С	Т	-0.154175	1.166695	38
rs1248465	7	129179844	#N/A	С	Т	-0.118936	1.126298	38
rs2251188	7	6704332	#N/A	А	G	0.138076	0.871032	38
rs6973044	7	107416602	SLC26A3	Т	С	-0.228111	1.256225	38
rs11780206	8	59385164	#N/A	Т	С	-0.204419	1.226812	38
rs11783343	8	62673021	#N/A	Т	С	-0.178607	1.195551	38
rs12246329	10	17059462	CUBN	С	Т	-0.148457	1.160043	38
rs4751284	10	132653619	#N/A	G	А	0.116341	0.890172	38
rs1032151	11	12219217	MICAL2	G	Т	-0.1486	1.160209	38
rs11602776	11	15448704	#N/A	А	G	0.170025	0.843643	38
rs11106473	12	92627100	#N/A	Т	С	-0.185816	1.2042	38
rs9562038	13	96802616	HS6ST3	А	G	-0.166981	1.181732	38
rs34361729	15	56387142	RFX7	G	А	-0.211004	1.234918	38
rs4794785	17	36810197	#N/A	А	G	0.226712	0.797151	38
rs8464	17	64806716	PRKCA	С	А	-0.175982	1.192417	38
rs2422840	20	3076384	#N/A	А	G	-0.170721	1.18616	38
rs6065084	20	59862269	CDH4	G	А	0.157302	0.854446	38
rs1786412	21	21849932	#N/A	Т	С	-0.144162	1.155071	38
rs7275495	21	33533452	#N/A	Т	С	-0.159611	1.173054	38
rs1287949	1	226703467	#N/A	C	Т	-0.135919	1.145589	37
rs2297563	1	109241669	PRPF38B	G	А	-0.138652	1.148725	37
rs3849346	2	163502721	KCNH7	C	Т	-0.191176	1.210672	37
rs7589592	2	2712943	#N/A	Т	С	0.113915	0.892334	37
rs10939667	4	16531086	LDB2	G	А	0.143542	0.866285	37
rs72696876	4	171635905	#N/A	А	G	0.17133	0.842543	37

rs11752561	6	128187461	THEMIS	А	G	0.178228	0.836752	37
rs2382394	9	13227063	MPDZ	Т	С	-0.295083	1.343238	37
rs10508561	10	18734235	CACNB2	G	А	0.155748	0.855775	37
rs4143630	10	5063944	#N/A	С	Т	-0.125875	1.134141	37
rs4261213	10	58261332	#N/A	G	А	0.121382	0.885696	37
rs10765861	11	11525424	GALNT18	А	G	-0.123483	1.131431	37
rs2581925	11	57207414	#N/A	G	А	0.135819	0.873	37
rs1446427	12	118153788	KSR2	G	А	0.145306	0.864758	37
rs2274442	14	69787749	GALNT16	Т	С	-0.222228	1.248856	37
rs7144194	14	103495963	CDC42BPB	А	G	-0.131499	1.140536	37
rs1476078	15	91736401	SV2B	G	А	-0.207155	1.230173	37
rs2880974	15	86415200	#N/A	G	Т	-0.143929	1.154802	37
rs12928792	16	60321890	#N/A	G	А	-0.11811	1.125368	37
rs9807305	18	59634276	#N/A	С	Т	0.176512	0.838188	37
rs12118086	1	101732914	#N/A	G	А	0.181836	0.833738	36
rs1570818	1	29804613	#N/A	А	С	0.161503	0.850864	36
rs17366341	1	163834280	#N/A	А	G	-0.162322	1.176239	36
rs2485662	1	156083468	#N/A	Т	С	0.116015	0.890461	36
rs784612	1	40122939	#N/A	Т	С	-0.173568	1.189541	36
rs4850836	2	199122020	#N/A	С	А	-0.146091	1.157302	36
rs17009383	3	21771769	ZNF385D	А	G	0.168139	0.845236	36
rs7623055	3	7510891	GRM7	G	Т	0.123122	0.884156	36
rs9847987	3	59418533	#N/A	С	Т	0.26275	0.768934	36
rs1491386	4	23663069	#N/A	А	С	0.208738	0.811608	36
rs7732443	5	166290093	#N/A	С	Т	0.1964	0.821683	36
rs2459110	6	152450763	SYNE1	C	А	-0.123803	1.131793	36
rs9363725	6	67931025	#N/A	G	А	0.277937	0.757344	36
rs9377661	6	105091850	#N/A	C	Т	0.189219	0.827605	36
rs12673506	7	29421786	CHN2	G	Α	-0.185004	1.203223	36
rs4718965	7	70040448	AUTS2	С	Т	-0.190496	1.20985	36
rs4729041	7	92063500	#N/A	G	Т	-0.18693	1.205543	36
rs10101912	8	88218888	CNBD1	С	Т	-0.217885	1.243444	36

rs3913641	8	140342525	#N/A	С	Т	-0.127474	1.135955	36
rs12337816	9	117125236	AKNA	Т	С	-0.222317	1.248967	36
rs17662327	9	4967587	#N/A	Т	С	0.14715	0.863165	36
rs7861175	9	113857337	#N/A	Т	С	0.140404	0.869007	36
rs17106110	10	125601307	CPXM2	С	Т	-0.139741	1.149975	36
rs10899014	11	74325109	POLD3	А	G	-0.299626	1.349355	36
rs2302688	12	15673103	PTPRO	С	Т	0.13391	0.874669	36
rs7295237	12	71016832	PTPRB	Т	С	-0.252748	1.287558	36
rs10851193	13	107335929	#N/A	Т	С	0.105358	0.900002	36
rs1617356	14	43194459	#N/A	С	Т	-0.131898	1.140992	36
rs17126387	14	90301314	EFCAB11	А	С	0.223227	0.799933	36
rs7149564	14	23912361	#N/A	Т	С	-0.261682	1.299113	36
rs8009629	14	33379559	#N/A	G	А	-0.130628	1.139543	36
rs13335201	16	50912221	#N/A	G	А	-0.171548	1.187141	36
rs1350888	16	82784943	CDH13	С	Т	0.11881	0.887977	36
rs12948545	17	30867317	MY01D	С	Т	-0.139738	1.149973	36
rs218685	17	6623172	#N/A	А	G	0.142751	0.86697	36
rs1790692	18	28644751	DSC2	G	А	-0.16607	1.180656	36
rs7241127	18	6651210	#N/A	Т	С	-0.140085	1.150371	36
rs8088662	18	60928341	BCL2	Т	С	0.212307	0.808717	36
rs1010304	20	40101647	CHD6	Α	G	-0.28657	1.331852	36
rs1016071	20	40931328	PTPRT	Т	С	-0.123569	1.131528	36
rs6019784	20	48002575	KCNB1	С	Т	0.137512	0.871524	36
rs6084802	20	511356	CSNK2A1	С	А	-0.13511	1.144663	36
rs1808973	1	112487834	KCND3	С	Т	-0.119334	1.126746	35
rs3820383	1	202197551	LGR6	С	А	0.171723	0.842213	35
rs4658879	1	231742575	LINC00582	Т	С	-0.174403	1.190535	35
rs6436132	2	220160644	PTPRN	G	Т	0.137995	0.871103	35
rs12485826	3	71342132	#N/A	А	G	-0.16939	1.184582	35
rs75838234	3	7534370	GRM7	А	G	-0.184033	1.202056	35
rs11726275	4	185348916	IRF2	А	G	-0.132627	1.141824	35
rs13128106	4	25325264	ZCCHC4	С	Т	-0.237812	1.26847	35

rs6810740	4	17294785	#N/A	Т	С	-0.159123	1.172483	35
rs6821900	4	158574310	#N/A	А	С	-0.188469	1.2074	35
rs2567819	5	121064897	#N/A	С	А	0.195192	0.822676	35
rs3853241	5	166379772	#N/A	С	Т	-0.170603	1.186019	35
rs10252228	7	34940039	#N/A	А	G	0.120631	0.886361	35
rs17158276	7	29648077	#N/A	Т	С	-0.178448	1.195361	35
rs73371641	8	142864765	#N/A	А	G	-0.251769	1.286298	35
rs2384792	9	138324679	#N/A	С	Т	-0.129733	1.138525	35
rs4295727	9	112578906	PALM2AKAP2	G	А	-0.141765	1.152306	35
rs9696313	9	136406725	ADAMTSL2	А	G	-0.123854	1.13185	35
rs10824306	10	77160682	ZNF503	С	Т	-0.144774	1.155778	35
rs11013723	10	18632601	CACNB2	А	G	0.205084	0.814579	35
rs12221258	10	107582259	#N/A	Т	С	-0.149856	1.161666	35
rs2265958	10	10141681	#N/A	С	Т	-0.182243	1.199906	35
rs7894073	10	28648001	#N/A	С	Т	-0.256118	1.291906	35
rs12290206	11	107761113	#N/A	А	G	-0.153478	1.165882	35
rs4938044	11	113584177	#N/A	G	А	-0.204375	1.226758	35
rs12584740	13	98315257	#N/A	А	G	-0.140091	1.150379	35
rs714668	13	105019361	#N/A	С	А	0.237791	0.788368	35
rs73168114	13	22716081	#N/A	А	С	-0.221493	1.247939	35
rs7323430	13	65285662	#N/A	G	А	0.150152	0.860577	35
rs10131354	14	25499521	STXBP6	Т	G	-0.183645	1.201589	35
rs2842344	14	68976971	RAD51B	С	Т	-0.199264	1.220504	35
rs71415931	14	30683170	#N/A	Т	С	-0.203381	1.22554	35
rs7499658	16	14430442	#N/A	С	Т	0.15436	0.856963	35
rs2332264	17	52830577	#N/A	Т	С	0.132596	0.875819	35
rs2850929	18	75068081	#N/A	G	А	0.157779	0.854039	35
rs755719	18	56877489	#N/A	Т	С	0.111622	0.894382	35
rs762418	21	45610893	#N/A	С	Т	0.142348	0.867319	35
rs5761487	22	26738225	SEZ6L	А	G	0.141173	0.868339	35
*Freg: Number of times the SNPs appeared on the split datasets.								